Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes

Edited by Wolfgang G. Weber, Thomas Faurholt Jønsson and Christine Unterrainer

Published in Frontiers in Psychology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-842-7 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-842-7

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes

Topic editors

Wolfgang G. Weber — University of Innsbruck, Austria Thomas Faurholt Jønsson — Aarhus University, Denmark Christine Unterrainer — University of Innsbruck, Austria

Citation

Weber, W. G., Jønsson, T. F., Unterrainer, C., eds. (2023). Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-842-7



Table of contents

05 Editorial: Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes

Wolfgang G. Weber, Christine Unterrainer and Thomas Faurhold Jønsson

Spillover effect

09 Spillover effect of workplace democracy: A conceptual revision

Irma Rybnikova

26 The Spillover of Socio-Moral Climate in Organizations Onto Employees' Socially Responsible Purchase Intention: The Mediating Role of Perceived Social Impact Marlies Schümann, Maie Stein, Grit Tanner, Carolin Baur and Eva Bamberg

Research on democratically structured enterprises

38 Organizational and psychological features of successful democratic enterprises: A systematic review of qualitative research

Christine Unterrainer, Wolfgang G. Weber, Thomas Höge and Severin Hornung

71 Employee Perceptions About Participation in Decision-Making in the COVID Era and Its Impact on the Psychological Outcomes: A Case Study of a Cooperative in MONDRAGON (Basque Country, Spain)

Aitziber Arregi, Monica Gago and Maite Legarra

 90 Participation and Organizational Commitment in the Mondragon Group
 Alfonso Rodríguez-Oramas, Ana Burgues-Freitas, Mar Joanpere and Ramón Flecha

Works Council Participation

104 Success of Process Innovations Through Active Works Council Participation Kai Breitling and Wolfgang Scholl

Intercultural comparison

124 Preferences and Perceptions of Workplace Participation: A Cross-Cultural Study

Sherry Jueyu Wu, Bruce Yuhan Mei and Jose Cervantez



Empirical studies investigating the effects of organizational democracy

141 Perceived Organizational Democracy and Associated Factors: A Focused Systematic Review Based on Studies in Turkey

Tahsin Geçkil

167 Organizational democracy and meaningful work: The mediating role of employees corporate social responsibility perceptions

Mari Svendsen and Thomas Faurholt Jønsson

178 Perceptions of Customer Incivility, Job Satisfaction, Supervisor Support, and Participative Climate: A Multi-Level Approach

Zselyke Pap, Delia Vîrgă and Guy Notelaers

TYPE Editorial PUBLISHED 10 February 2023 DOI 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1135138

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Zengji Song, Chongqing University, China

*CORRESPONDENCE Christine Unterrainer Christine.unterrainer@uibk.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 31 December 2022 ACCEPTED 25 January 2023 PUBLISHED 10 February 2023

CITATION

Weber WG, Unterrainer C and Jønsson TF (2023) Editorial: Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes. *Front. Psychol.* 14:1135138. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2023.1135138

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Weber, Unterrainer and Jønsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes

Wolfgang G. Weber¹, Christine Unterrainer^{1*} and Thomas Faurhold Jønsson²

¹Applied Psychology – Work and Organizational Psychology, Institute of Psychology, University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria, ²Department of Psychology and Behavioural Sciences, School of Business and Social Sciences, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

KEYWORDS

organizational democracy, workplace democracy, participation, employee ownership, organizational behavior, collective decision-making, social sustainability, civic engagement

Editorial on the Research Topic

Organizational democracy, organizational participation, and employee ownership: Individual, organizational and societal outcomes

Organizational democracy (OD) refers to broad-based, and institutionalized employee participation that is not occasional in nature. Written rules, regulations and boards enable employees to exert influence on tactical and strategic decisions. This is realized through direct or representative co-determination or collective self-determination of the employees (e.g., worker cooperatives, self-governed firms). Additionally, employees often hold a share of their organization's equity capital (employee ownership) (Wegge et al., 2010; Weber et al., 2020). In contrast to research on decision making on the level of the individual job (e.g., job control) or the leadership dyad (e.g., participative goal setting) studies on the effects of democratic decision making or participation on higher levels exist only to a much lesser extent. Hence, this Research Topic aimed at collecting theoretical contributions, systematic research reviews and quantitative or qualitative empirical studies that help to clarify how OD, higher level participation or employee ownership are associated with psychological, organizational, or societal outcomes. Researchers have postulated that organizational participation and democracy would form a socialization field for personality development and societal responsibility through allowing employees to gather experiences in planning and decision making as well as mutual responsibility-taking (e.g., Pateman, 1970; Greenberg et al., 1996; Cohen, A., and Vigoda, 1998). Such a potential spillover effect is relevant for sustainable and democratic societies since we live in times of increasing debates about corporate corruption, the global environmental crisis, global inequality, or endangered societal cohesiveness.

Two articles in this Research Topic explicitly referred to this possible spillover effect. Rybnikova conceptually reflected Pateman (1970)'s spillover hypothesis and pointed to controversial considerations as empirical studies provided inconsistent evidence so far. The author identified main conceptual shortcomings for Pateman (1970)'s spill over hypothesis and provided avenues for future theoretical undertakings in analyzing whether and how employees' OD on the strategic level (in general meetings or representative boards) and their participation in lower organizational units (e.g., working groups) is related to participation in social and political domains. Such avenues encompass, e.g., employees' psychological ownership and moral development (Hannah et al., 2011), or the theoretical perspective of neo-institutionalism. The latter exemplifies how implicit cultural norms in a society may frame the status of workplace democracy as legitimate or not, fostering or inhibiting spillover effects as a result. Though, Breitling and Scholl showed in their empirical contribution that the one-sided economistic motivation concept of parts of neo-institutionalism is not able to explain prosocial organizational behavior of works councils.

Schümann et al. argued with the help of the relational job design framework (Grant, 2007) how and why the effects of a participative work climate spill over to employees' prosocial behavior outside the work context. In concrete terms, this means that employees take the working conditions of workers in the supply chain into account when selecting and buying goods. Analyses of two-wave data that were collected via an online panel questionnaire from 492 employees working in various industries in Germany provided evidence that the relationship between employees' individually perceived socio-moral climate and their socially responsible purchase intention was mediated by their perceived social impact. With their question of the extent to which a participatory organizational climate through socialization of employees can contribute in the long term to eliminating the global grievances of the unjust distribution of working and living conditions, the authors are treading on a still little cultivated scientific land. We would be pleased if their exploratory study could stimulate future research that also incorporates, through a multi-level design, the potential influence of strategic codetermination and employee ownership on global solidarity behavior.

Three contributions of this Research Topic focused on democratic enterprises, whose financial viability in a capitalist market environment has long been contested (e.g., "degeneration thesis" by Webb and Webb (1914); "iron law of oligarchy" by Michels, 1915). In a systematic review of 77 qualitative studies from nearly 50 years, Unterrainer et al. were able to disprove those deterministic hypotheses by showing that democratic enterprises can economically survive, prosper, and resist degenerative tendencies in the long run. For practitioners, organizational and external conditions, practices and psychological phenomena that contribute to the degeneration, regeneration, or resistance to degeneration were extensively described.

In a mixed-methods study on a large cooperative of the Spanish Mondragon Corporation Arregi et al. found that due to COVID-19 participation in decision-making has declined in certain governance channels. This was especially true for blue collar employees. On the other hand, degenerative tendencies could be countered, e. g., the General Assembly was implemented online after holding informative talks in small groups. COVID-19 had strengthened employees' commitment with the economic situation of the cooperative and acts of solidarity with colleagues indicating a sign of robustness and regeneration, since socially-oriented targets prevailed over profit ones. Organizational commitment was also the focus of a qualitative study by Rodríguez-Oramas et al., centered on two big cooperatives of the Mondragon Corporation. The authors found three ways how democratic participation of worker-members may have contributed to the development of affective commitment: identification with the representatives of the governing bodies, intensive learning processes, and acknowledgment as co-owners and as part of collective business efforts. These antecedents correspond with factors supporting retention or regeneration of democratic enterprise structure that were identified in the systematic review by Unterrainer et al. like intensive cooperative education and training, open criticism and discussion and permanent requirement for accountability of managers, and, further, workers' strong commitment to cooperative idea.

The German model of co-determination through union representatives represents a further domain of this Research Topic. Breitling and Scholl investigated how works council and employee participation affected 45 organizational and process innovations in large businesses representing a wide spectrum of economic sectors. Qualitative case analyses revealed different profiles of works council participation depending on the innovation type. Quantitative analyses showed that both forms of participation delivered positive contributions to innovation success *via* knowledge growth. Furthermore, coordination capability partially mediated the relation only between works councils and innovation success. These results correspond with earlier findings on the positive impact on productivity that works councils supporting participation enhancing interventions demonstrated in a study representative for the German economy (Zwick, 2004).

Using a free association test, a survey and a vignette method, Wu et al. provided an intercultural comparison of preferences and perceptions of voice- and group-based workplace participation. Chinese and American employees differed in their construal of workplace participation, yet both groups valued the concept of participation positively. In both cultures participation was positively associated with the experience of productivity and job satisfaction, and negatively with workplace conflict. Finally, American employees favored a high-participation workplace and predicted positive outcomes, while Chinese employees were slightly more supportive of a low-participation workplace associating it with higher productivity.

The last three articles of this Research Topic deal with empirical studies that investigated possible effects of OD. Geçkil presented a focused systematic review based on 37 studies in different private and public enterprises that applied the multi-dimensional Organizational Democracy Scale in Turkey. The main results suggested that perceived OD was positively related with organizational citizenship behavior, organizational commitment, psychological capital, and job satisfaction, whereas OD was negatively related with job stress and organizational depression. This paper represents the first focused overview of quantitative relationships between experienced OD and organizational psychological outcomes in Turkey. Its results allow comparisons with findings on OD from other countries. On this basis, conclusions can be drawn about the expression of psychological phenomena under different political and cultural conditions.

The relationship between OD and meaningful work considering corporate social responsibility (CSR) as a potential mediator was investigated by Svendsen and Jønsson. The authors collected self-reported, cross-sectional, individual-level data (N = 204) at two measurement points from different nations and industries. The

results of the SEM analyses confirmed that CSR perceptions partially mediated the relationship between OD and meaningful work. Hence, OD can play a direct role in increasing the experience of meaningful work, but also an indirect role trough employees' experience of CSR.

The final article of this Research Topic by Pap et al. deals with the protective function of a participative climate and supervisor support on service employees of a large clothing shop chain in Belgium. The authors applied a multi-level analysis and showed that participative climate (at the work-unit level) and supervisor support (at the employee level) significantly moderated the negative relationship between perceived customer incivility and job satisfaction.

Considering the articles gathered in this Research Topic together with existing research reviews from recent years (Lee and Edmondson, 2017; Battilana et al., 2018; Weber et al., 2020; Unterrainer et al.), at least the following research gaps and desiderata appear in addition to the new findings already mentioned:

(1) The importance of participation and democracy in enterprises as a field of socialization for democracy in the society has hardly been adequately researched empirically. Both conceptual (Rybnikova) and methodological problems have been clearly identified (Kim, 2021). Nevertheless, nearly no sophisticated longitudinal studies seem to exist of how socio-moral competencies and civic and political behavioral orientations can be fostered by democratic organizational structures and organizational practices, and what mediating psychological mechanisms and developmental processes play a role (cf. a meta-analysis by Weber et al. (2020)). Such longitudinal studies—with a contemporary theoretical-conceptual and methodological foundation—should also take into account the weight of other socialization instances in family, education and leisure time with regard to the outcomes mentioned.

(2) Even if the following tendency is not in the foreground of the contributions to this Research Topic, a contrast to economistically reduced motivation theories (which are based on postulates of the so-called rational choice paradigm and its axioms of hedonism, selfinterest and egoistically directed social exchange) is noticeable in their majority. Authors of the present Research Topic refer in this respect to humanistically oriented theories like Deci and Ryan's self-determination theory, Pierce et al.'s psychological ownership theory, Bandura's social-cognitive theory, Kohlberg's approach of moral education, Grant's relational job design framework, Freeman's participation theory, and various offshoots of Pateman's spillover hypothesis. It seems to us an important task of future theoretical contributions in the field of organizational democracy research to investigate to what extent the included components of these theories are compatible with each other. To the extent that they are, appropriate theoretical elements could be integrated into a more complex theoretical framework. This could help to explore the interplay of societal and organizational conditions of democracy in the enterprise, participatory practices (knowledge exchange, planning, discourse, decision-making), collective and individual basic needs, values, motives, attitudes, experiences, and competencies, and resulting personal, organizational, and societal outcomes.

(3) Finally, the contributions of Geçkil, Svendsen and Jønsson, and Pap et al. suggest that the extent of organizational democracy

experienced by employees correlates positively with indicators of wellbeing and negatively with health-related indicators. Both a meta-analysis (Weber et al., 2020) and a systematic review (Unterrainer et al.) provided evidence that the impact potential of substantive organizational democracy (as opposed to non-binding workplace participation and voice) in terms of self-actualization, wellbeing (with the exception of job satisfaction), and psycho-physical health of workers has hardly been explored so far. Looking at recent research reviews from the field of Positive Psychology (for example, the contributions to the Research Topic edited by Van Zyl and Salanova (2022)), it is striking that even within the conceptualizations of "positive organizations" or of "positive participatory organizational interventions," employee-owned democratic enterprises and their typical collective communication and decision-making practices are completely ignored. As Battilana et al. (2018) have stated in their thorough conceptual review: "Yet surprisingly-as we will discuss-most of the discourse on alternative ways of organizing does not substantially invoke notions of democracy" (p. 259). Though, organizational democracy can be interpreted as a specific form of employees' control over their work environment. An extensive body of research has provided evidence that control on the level of the individual or the group plays in the prevention of work strain and impaired health (e.g., Theorell, 2004). Therefore, we would like to encourage psychological researchers to investigate whether control of employees at the level of the company is also an important resource not only for the overall wellbeing of the individual employee. It may also be a resource for the optimal functioning of the company and society according to the basic republican values of integrity, freedom, equality and fraternity.

Author contributions

WW and CU wrote the original draft of this editorial jointly. TJ reviewed and revised it. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Battilana, J., Fuerstein, M., and Lee, M. (2018). "New prospects for organizational democracy? How the joint pursuit of social and financial goals challenges traditional organizational designs," in *Capitalism Beyond Mutuality? Perspectives Integrating Philosophy and Social Science*, ed S. Rangan (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 256–289.

Cohen, A., and Vigoda, E. (1998). The growth value of good citizenship: An examination of the relationship between civic behavior and involvement in the job. *App. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 47, 559–570.

Grant, A. M. (2007). Relational job design and the motivation to make a prosocial difference. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 32, 393–417. doi: 10.5465/ amr.2007.24351328

Greenberg, E. S., Grunberg, L., and Daniel, K. (1996). Industrial work and political participation: Beyond "simple spillover". *Polit. Res. Q.* 49, 305–330.

Hannah, S. T., Avolio, B. J., and May, D. R. (2011). Moral maturation and moral conation: A capacity approach to explain moral thought and action. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 36, 663–685.

Kim, J. (2021). Democratic spillover from workplace into politics: What are we measuring and how? *Adv. Indust. Labor Relat.* 26, 145–176. doi: 10.1108/S0742-618620210000026006

Lee, M. Y., and Edmondson, A. C. (2017). Self-managing organizations: Exploring the limits of less hierarchical organizing. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 37, 35-58. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2017.10.002

Michels, R. (1915). Political Parties: A Sociological Study of Oligarchical Tendencies of Modern Democracy. New York, NY: Hearst's International Library Co. Pateman, C. (1970). Participation and Democratic Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Theorell, T. (2004). "Democracy at work and its relationship to health," in *Emotional* and Physiological Processes and Positive Intervention Strategies (Research in Occupational Stress and Well-being, Vol. 3), eds P. L. Perrewe and D. C. Ganster (New York, NY: Emerald), 323–357.

Van Zyl, L. E., and Salanova, M. (2022). Editorial: Facilitating the Third Wave of Positive Psychology: Perspectives on the future of the discipline. *Front. Psychol.* 13, 963167. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.963167

Webb, S., and Webb, B. (1914). Co-operative Production and Profit Sharing. New Statesman (Special Supplement).

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organizational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organizational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps. 12205

Wegge, J., Jeppesen, H. J., Weber, W. G., Pearce, C. L., Silva, S., Pundt, A., et al. (2010). Promoting work motivation in organizations: should employee involvement in organizational leadership become a new tool in the organizational psychologist's kit? *J. Pers. Psychol.* 9, 154–171. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/ a000025

Zwick, T. (2004). Employee participation and productivity. *Labour Econom.* 11, 715–740.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Christine Unterrainer, University of Innsbruck, Austria

REVIEWED BY Armin Pircher Verdorfer, University of Amsterdam, Netherlands Mário Nuno Mata, Instituto Politécnico de Lisboa, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Irma Rybnikova Irma.Rybnikova@hshl.de

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 30 April 2022 ACCEPTED 10 November 2022 PUBLISHED 08 December 2022

CITATION

Rybnikova I (2022) Spillover effect of workplace democracy: A conceptual revision. *Front. Psychol.* 13:933263. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.933263

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Rybnikova. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Spillover effect of workplace democracy: A conceptual revision

Irma Rybnikova*

Department Lippstadt 2, Hamm-Lippstadt University of Applied Sciences, Hamm, Germany

The so-called "spillover thesis" by Pateman is one of the prominent theoretical explanations for why workplace-based participation and democracy could induce stronger political participation. By this thesis, Pateman underscored the relevance of industrial workplaces as relevant places where citizens can be socialized regarding democratic attitudes while proposing the educative effect of workplace democracy and assuming a strong linkage between workplace-based and political participation as moderated by self-efficacy. The spillover thesis has received a controversial consideration as previous empirical studies have provided inconsistent evidence. Some empirical undertakings support the assumption by Pateman and indicate a positive relationship between workplace democracy and societal effects, like increased moral and community orientation or higher levels of political participation among employees from companies with higher degrees of workplace democracy. Other empirical studies yield results that do not confirm the thesis. Scholars have discussed method-based shortcomings of the previous empirical research while pointing to the inconsistency of definitions and operationalizations as the main shortcoming. In contrast to that, systematic conceptual consideration of the spillover thesis and the accompanying scholarship are still lacking. The present article addresses this shortcoming and provides a critical reflection on the spillover thesis and corresponding research. It aims at identifying the main conceptual shortcomings and providing avenues for future theoretical undertakings in analyzing whether and how participation at the workplace is related to participation in political domains.

KEYWORDS

workplace democracy, political participation, spillover effect, Pateman, conceptual revision

Introduction

Although democracy is one of the contested terrains of social societies, the relationship between political democracy and workplace democracy represents a relatively understudied issue of political sciences as well as organizational sociology and psychology. In 1916, John Dewey pointed out, in his seminal work "Democracy and Education," that democracy in society is an educative project. According to him, schools could be considered hotbeds of democratic society since democratic practices can be

learned there. While proposing the genuine nexus between the educational realm and the development of democracy, Dewey (1916/1997) suggested that democratic skills could be acquired in institutional settings beyond the mere political context.

Currently, in many European democratic societies, widespread disillusionment and apathy regarding democratic systems could be observed; in some of those, oligarchic tendencies are becoming evident. The unsettling diagnosis, as formulated in the debate on post-democracy (Crouch, 2004), is seemingly becoming true: Small economic elites seem to dominate political decisions, whereas political parties and their leaders are largely concerned with marketing strategies and tools for vote generation. Given this diagnosis, the question whether political participation and genuine interest in democratic mechanisms could be nurtured by workplace democracy becomes particularly important.

In the field of industrial relations, it has been widely acknowledged that employment and its quality could have relevant social consequences. Scholars pointed to the nexus between workplaces and social domains by using the metaphor "the long arm of the job" (e.g., Meissner, 1971). One of the research areas that are particularly informative for dealing with this issue is the literature on workplace democracy. It includes research that spans different disciplines, including industrial relations, management and organization studies, organizational sociology, and psychology, and is related to different forms of work autonomy and organizational democracy.

When it comes to the question whether workplace democracy is related to political participation, scholars frequently refer to the so-called "spillover hypothesis" by Pateman (1970) as the conceptual foundation. The thesis points to the general educative effect of employee participation at the workplace, which is assumed to lead to higher political efficacy and civic attitudes among employees. Over time, employees are supposed to take part in political processes beyond the workplace in a way that is in line with democratic ideas. Pateman (1970) extended the focus beyond educative systems, as argued by Dewey (1916/1997), and supposed that business companies and workplaces bear an important educative effect of democracy.

The vast majority of the research on workplace democracy has focused exclusively on the analysis of individual or organizational effects such as employee satisfaction, company loyalty, innovative behaviors, or financial performance of the company (e.g., Long, 1982; McNabb and Whitfield, 1998; Cox et al., 2006). The extent to which workplace democracy can make a contribution beyond the focal company, that is, to society and politics by strengthening political democracy has received relatively little attention from scholars. Moreover, existing empirical studies (e.g., Adams, 1992; Weber et al., 2009; Weber and Unterrainer, 2015; Budd et al., 2018; Timming and Summers, 2020; Weber et al., 2020) have yielded inconsistent results. The meta-analysis performed by Weber et al. (2020) indicated that employees from companies with higher degrees of workplace democracy tend toward an increased moral and community orientation and higher levels of political participation than individuals from organizations with lesser or no democratic arrangements. From the methodological perspective, empirical undertakings in this field have been criticized because of measurement problems, like inconsistent operationalization of dependent and independent variables (e.g., Kim, 2021). Until now, a research synthesis and a critical conceptual reflection of the studies undertaken in regard to democratic spillover from workplace contexts into political settings have only occurred in a fragmented way and thus calls for a more systematic and comprehensive approach.

Thus, the present article is a conceptual contribution that seeks to challenge the existing debate regarding the relationship between workplace democracy and its political effects by, first, identifying limitations and blind spots of previous conceptual discussion in this field and, second, by figuring out avenues for how our thinking of the nexus between the workplace-based democracy and political participation could be improved and could be studied empirically in prospective research.

While seeking to critically summarize and redirect existing research on democratic spillover, the present study rests on an integrative literature review as a method tool (e.g., Cronin and George, 2020). Empirical and conceptual articles that explicitly address the democratic spillover, according to Pateman (1970), were gathered through the search in academic databases, extended by specific references on the side of colleagues. The resulting research stems from various sub-disciplines of social sciences and respective communities of practice, including industrial sociologists, organizational psychologists, and management scholars. As the topic of this conceptual synthesis is the democratic spillover, the focus was solely given to the respective literature. In order to keep the scope of the article consistent, research that indirectly relates to the field of workplace democracy, for example, studies on participative leadership in organizations, has been omitted from the analysis as long as it does not explicitly deal with societal effects. All gathered articles have been juxtaposed and analyzed thematically regarding the main empirical and conceptual issues, like the operationalization of dependent and independent variables or conceptual frameworks used. The final list of the articles considered is provided in Table 1.

Since, Kim (2021) provided a comprehensive literature review on methodological shortcomings of the literature on democratic spillover, the main focus in the present analysis is given to the conceptual features of the selected literature, for example, the way the democratic spillover is conceptualized, different mechanisms of democratic spillover, and mainly neglected alternative explanations.

Before we proceed with the analysis of the debate on democratic spillover, one more comment is needed. There is a long-lasting controversy regarding suitable terminology. Some scholars more or less strictly discerned "organizational/workplace democracy" from "employee

Rybnikova

TABLE 1 Overview of empirical studies addressing democratic spillover.

	Authors	Research context	Variables	Method	Results
1	Adman, 2008	Sweden	Independent variables: Workplace influence and participation (e.g., job autonomy in terms of perceived influence over the work conditions, face-to-face participation in terms of taking part in decision-making at work, workplace skill acts in terms of preparing meetings, holding presentations or writing letters) Dependent variable(s): Political participation (e.g., voting, membership in a political party, signing a petition)	Quantitative panel survey	No significant effect in long-term consideration
2	Budd et al., 2018	27 EU-countries	Independent variables: Employee participation (e.g., taking part in strategic decisions or decision about when to start and to finish work) Dependent variable(s): Political participation (e.g., voting, membership in a political party, signing a petition)	Quantitative survey (European Social Survey)	Support for a democratic spillover
3	Elden, 1981	USA; a non-union company	<i>Independent variables:</i> Job autonomy; beliefs regarding equity in decision making <i>Dependent variable(s):</i> Feelings of political efficacy; personal potency;	Quantitative case-study	A significant relationship between job autonomy, political efficacy, and social participation
			social participation		
4	Geurkink et al., 2020	The Netherlands	Independent variables: Responses of supervisors to employee voices (suppressive vs. supportive)	Quantitative survey	A negative spillover between work and politics: suppressive responses of supervisors to employee voices trigger political participation
			Dependent variable(s): Political participation (e.g., voting, membership		
5	Greenberg, 1986	USA; employee-owned companies contrasted with traditional companies	in a political party, signing a petition) <i>Independent variables</i> : Workplace participation (i.e., being an employed member of a cooperative or not)	Case studies based on qualitative interviews and quantitative survey (cross-sectional and long-term)	Limited and mixed effects of workplace participation on dependent variables; workers in cooperatives are not more politically efficacious than employees of conventional firms and only slightly more participating in politics
			Dependent variable(s): Dealienation; democratic citizenship; class		
			consciousness		

(Continued)

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.933263

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Authors	Research context	Variables	Method	Results
	Greenberg et al.,	Democratic (e.g.,	Independent variables: Job autonomy index including participation in	Quantitative survey	Political participation is lower in democratic
	1996	cooperatives, employee	decision making, voting for board members, representative		plants than in conventional plants; a negativ
		stock ownership) vs.	participation		relationship between workplace democracy
		conventional union and			and participation in voting; different forms of
		non-union enterprises			workplace democracy are related to different
		(wood mills)			indicators of political participation, e.g.,
					autonomy on the job is linked to
					participation in community affairs but not to
					voting or political campaigns; representative
					participation is negatively associated with all
					three forms of political participation
			Dependent variable(s): Participation in voting, participation in		
			campaign activities participation in community affairs		
7	Jian and Jeffres,	USA	Independent variables: Decision involvement at work; job autonomy;	Quantitative survey	Partial support of the democratic spillover:
	2008		work community participation		Decision involvement at work is positively
					associated with political voting; work
					community participation is positively
					associated with involvement in local
					communities, political parties, and campaign
					activities
			Dependent variable(s): Political participation (e.g., voting, membership		
			in a political party, signing a petition)		
3	Lopes et al., 2014	15 EU countries	Independent variables: Autonomy at work (e.g., ability to change work	Quantitative panel	There is a positive link between work
			methods, speed rate, independency from direct control, ability to learn	survey (European	autonomy and all indicators of civic behavior
			new things)	Working Conditions	
				Survey)	
			Dependent variable(s): Civic behavior (e.g., membership in political		
			parties, trade unions, or volunteer work)		
)	Madsen, 1997	Denmark; trade union	- Independent variables: Work organization, e.g., self-governing groups,	Quantitative survey	The link between workplace democracy and
		members	on-the-job-liberties; personal development and self-management at	·	political participation is moderated by
			work; workplace participation in terms of workplace meetings,		employees' orientations: the spillover effect
			after-work meetings, having elected posts		proves valid for collectivistic, but not for
					individualistic-oriented employees
			Dependent variable(s): Political participation (e.g., voting, membership		· ·
			in a political party, signing a petition)		

Rybnikova

TABLE 1 (Continued)

	Authors	Research context	Variables	Method	Results
10	Mays, 2018	Germany	<i>Independent variables:</i> Autonomy at work (i.e., supervisory job, flexible working hours, degree of professional autonomy)	Longitudinal panel survey (SOEP)	Partial support for the democratic spillover: For the period 1985-2001, there is a link between some indications of autonomy at work (esp. having a supervisory position) and political interest as well as civic engagement
			Dependent variable(s): Political interest; political participation (e.g.,		
11	Peterson, 1992	USA; residents of a small city	voting, membership in a political party, signing a petition) <i>Independent variables:</i> Workplace politicization (e.g., workplace as politics, workplace efficacy, workplace participation, i.e., taking part in workplace decisions) <i>Dependent variable(s):</i> Political orientations (e.g., political interest and efficacy); political participation (e.g., voting, membership in a political party, signing a patiency)	Quantitative survey	A significant positive relationship between workplace politicization (all elements considered) and political participation
12	Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013	North Italy; cooperatives and conventional firms compared	party, signing a petition) <i>Independent variables:</i> Organizational democracy (i.e., working in a cooperative)	Quantitative survey	Organizational democracy has a positive impact on the perceived socio-moral climate in organizations which is positively related to pro-social work-related employees' attitudes
			Dependent variable(s): Perceived socio-moral climate (e.g., support and care by supervisors and colleagues; organizational concern for the individual); pro-social and community-related behavioral orientations (e.g., altruism, solidarity at work, democratic engagement orientation)		
13	Sobel, 1993	USA	<i>Independent variables</i> : Occupational involvement, e.g., authority in terms of formal ability to instruct others, supervisory responsibility, work participation in terms of involvement in workplace decisions, job participation in terms of participation in running own job <i>Dependent variable(s)</i> : Political participation (e.g., voting, membership in a political party, signing a petition)	Quantitative survey	Partial support for the democratic spillover: occupational involvement leads to political participation
14	Spreitzer, 2007	32 countries	<i>In a political party, signing a peritony</i> <i>Independent variables:</i> Participative leadership; empowerment at work in terms of decision-making freedom	Quantitative secondary analysis from the GLOBE project and European Value Survey	The relationship between participative leadership, employee empowerment at work, and peace is moderated by the legitimacy of leadership style, reduced feelings of helplessness, and building capability for voice
			<i>Dependent variable(s)</i> : Peace in terms of the perceived level of corruption within a country, risk of political instability, armed conflict, social unrest, and international disputes and tensions		

Rybnikova

Frontie	
ers in	
Psyc	
hold	
ygo	

TABLE 1	(Continued)
---------	-------------

	Authors	Research context	Variables	Method	Results
15	Tak, 2017	Venezuela; cooperative members compared with members from other associations	Independent variables: Frequency of attending membership meetings	Quantitative survey	Cooperative members have a higher likelihood of being involved in community matters than those from other types of associations
			<i>Dependent variable(s):</i> Community involvement (e.g., donating money, attending community meetings, trying to organize groups to solve specific problems)		
16	Timming and Summers, 2020	27 EU-countries	<i>Independent variables</i> : Participation in decision-making (i.e., perceived ability to decide how the work is organized, to influence workplace decisions and work pace) <i>Dependent variable(s)</i> : Interest in politics; pro-democracy affect	Quantitative survey (European Social Survey)	Participation in decision-making is strongly linked to an increased interest in politics and wider pro-democracy affect
17	Weber et al., 2008	Austria, North Italy, South Germany, and Liechtenstein; employees from small and medium-sized enterprises	Independent variables: Organizational democracy (i.e., different forms of structurally embedded workers'participation in decision making including co-determination; seven levels of organizational democracy)	Quantitative survey	Democratic structures lead to a higher level of socio-moral atmosphere which positively influences employees' solidarity and the willingness to engage in democratic undertakings
			<i>Dependent variable(s):</i> Socio-moral atmosphere; work-related pro-social orientations (e.g., empathy, solidarity at work); community-related value orientations (e.g., willingness to act socially responsible)		
18	Weber et al., 2009	Austria, North Italy, and Southern Germany	Independent variables: Perceived participation in decision-making	Quantitative survey	Workplace democracy is positively related to the socio-moral climate, organizational commitment, and prosocial and community-related behavioral orientations of employees
			Dependent variable(s): Perceptions of socio-moral climate; pro-social behavioral orientations; democratic values; commitment to the firm		
19	Weber et al., 2020	Democratic enterprises; national and international samples	Independent variables: Organizational democracy (i.e., participation structures, employee ownership, perceived participation in organizational decision-making) Dependent variable(s): Psychological outcomes (e.g., job satisfaction, job involvement/work motivation); prosocial work behaviors; civic and democratic work behaviors; perceived supportive organizational climate	Meta-analysis	Employees' perceived participation in decision-making is related to pro-social and civic behavioral orientations; employees' direct participation in strategic and tactical organizational decisions are related to value-based commitment, job involvement, and job satisfaction as well as to a supportive

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.933263

participation," arguing that employee participation is a preliminary form of workplace democracy that is usually arranged by managers and mainly relates to operational issues (Weber, 1999). In contrast to this, workplace democracy is said to refer to structural instances of co-determination and strategic co-decision-making by employees or organizational members. Other authors (e.g., Dachler and Wilpert, 1978) did not distinguish between these terms so strictly, arguing that they are strongly interlinked and there exist only slight or gradual differences between them Wegge et al. (2010) provided an integrative approach toward the conceptualization of workplace democracy, which encompasses institutional (e.g., employee-managed organizations), organizational (e.g., employee participation in decision-making, works councils), and group-related (e.g., shared leadership) levels of workplace democracy (Wegge et al., 2010; p. 155). Following the latter and for the aims of consistency, the term "employee participation" will be abandoned in the following text, and the terms workplace and organizational democracy will be used synonymously for depicting any institutional arrangements that aim at providing employees with opportunities to take part in workplace-related decision-making.

The argument of the present conceptual analysis will proceed as follows: After delineating the argument on democratic spillover, as made by Pateman (1970), I summarize the main results and limitations of previous empirical studies that have tried to verify Pateman's thesis. In the main section of the article, I discuss the most relevant conceptual limitations of the previous debate, like different mechanisms of the democratic spillover, different potential kinds of this relationship, and the multidetermined nature of the considered link. The last section of the article includes several conceptual and methodological avenues for prospective research in this field.

The "spillover hypothesis" by Carole Pateman

Although based in political sciences, Carole Pateman, a British-American scholar, is one of the few authors who are referred to in organizational psychology and sociology when it comes to conceptual underpinnings of workplace democracy as she provides one explanation for how organizational and societal layers of democracy could be linked. Nevertheless, Pateman's argument is driven by the democracy debate in political sciences. In "Participation and Democratic Theory" (1970), one of her earlier works, Pateman differentiated between two concepts of democracy. The first concept is the "elitist" understanding of democracy, which is based on the elite power of a few due to the apathy of voters. In contrast to it, Pateman proposed an alternative, "participative" understanding of democracy. This concept draws on wider participation by the masses, pointing to the fact that the apathy of voters is not the premise of democracy but the result of an elitist approach that limits participation opportunities to few individuals.

The argument developed by Pateman rests on two major assumptions. The first goes back to Jean-Jacques Rousseau's political theory. Based on that, Pateman assumed that individuals and social institutions "cannot be considered in isolation" (Pateman, 1970; p. 42). As psychological attitudes of individuals are strongly interlinked with authority structures in institutions individuals are encountered with, these institutions could have educative effects and frame individual attitudes in favor of democratic developments. Accordingly, Pateman argued that "the major function of participation is an educative one" (Pateman, 1970, p. 38). Together with Rousseau, Pateman based her argument on the wide understanding of "education" that refers to developing "responsible, individual social and political action," during which individuals learn to take "wider matters than their own immediate private interest" into account and to learn "that the private and public interests are interlinked" (Pateman, 1970, p. 24-25). Pateman summarized that "participation in the workplace" or "industrial democracy" (Pateman, 1970, p. 54) bears the humanistic potential of personality development toward a democratic personality. This kind of education takes place through the psychological mechanism of increased political efficacy as well as through gaining practice in political skills and procedures (Pateman, 1970, p. 42).

In her second major proposition, Pateman has dealt with the role of immediate workplaces while developing democratic personalities. Here, she referred to George D.H. Cole and John Stuart Mill, both of whom argued that democratic principles can be applied beyond the purely political sphere. Among others, labor structures and workplaces could be approached from the perspective of democracy and participation since here, issues such as task differentiation and collective task accomplishment, subordination, and superiority stand at the core of social activity. Because of that, workplaces represent suitable settings for the educative effects of participation. Furthermore, Pateman pointed out that democracy requires a wide net of "social training" toward democratic attitudes and psychological qualities that take part in workplaces through the process of everyday participation. To be educative in democratic terms, workplaces should entail democratic or participative elements. Pateman stressed the utmost relevance of democratization of the authority structures in industry. According to the author, individuals who are able to exercise a certain amount of control "over their job and job environment" and are participating in decision-making in their companies can develop attitudes and qualities as required by the democratic processes (Pateman, 1970, p. 56). Pateman suggested enabling such participative structures at workplaces in order to establish a basis for a democratic society (Pateman, 1970, p. 43). By democratizing industrial settings and by providing equal participation to ordinary people, the author said that the reasons for economic and political inequality could be diminished too.

To sum up, Pateman claimed that industry and work organizations play a crucial role in socializing employees toward democracy through participative workplaces (Pateman, 1970, p. 42–43). Hence, workplace democracy is supposed to have an educative function in democratic terms, and the industry is assumed to play a crucial role in sustaining a democratic society (Pateman, 1970, p. 44).

Although her first proposition is based on a genuine psychological effect, Pateman did not explicate the role of underlying psychological processes sufficiently. According to the author, "experiences of participation in some way leaves the individual better psychologically equipped to undertake further participation in the future" (Pateman, 1970, p. 45). Participation may induce "the sense of political efficacy and political competence" (Pateman, 1970, p. 46). While quoting some psychologists of her time, Pateman argues that the sense of political efficacy is related to personal effectiveness and belief in one's competence, which leads people to be more likely to participate in politics (Pateman, 1970, p. 46). Based on selected empirical studies at the time of her writing this article, Pateman could see evidence supporting her theory and confirming that participation in different spheres is necessary to develop political efficacy and that industry represents the most important sphere for participative education (Pateman, 1970, p. 50-21).

Two notes are relevant concerning the terminology used in the debate. First, Pateman does not use the term "spillover" in her work. It could be an intriguing undertaking to figure out how the original thesis of democratic socialization became "the spillover hypothesis" in the research literature. Second, it is relevant to mention that "spillover" represents a metaphor describing the processes mentioned. However, this metaphor is not completely adequate for what Pateman proposes since it implies a rather mechanistic view of participation. The metaphor of a spillover frames participation as a liquid that cumulates and spills over from one barrel (sphere) into the next as soon as a critical point is achieved. In contrast to that, Pateman's argument represents in its core a "socialization and learning hypothesis," pointing to the fact that people become socialized or learn democratic and participative processes in different domains (e.g., education, work, and politics) through accumulating skills and qualities, like political efficacy, as needed for political participation.

Spillover thesis: Empirical and method-based issues

Mixed empirical findings from previous research

For many decades, workplace democracy has attracted the attention of scholars and researchers from different subfields of social sciences, including organizational psychology. One of the questions workplace democracy research traditionally deals with is the issue of the consequences of democratic and participative schemes in companies. The vast majority of existing research has focused on organizational and thus company-based consequences, either in terms of psychological performance, such as employee satisfaction, motivation, loyalty, and innovative behaviors (e.g., Jenkins and Lawler, 1981; Miller and Monge, 1986; Geralis and Terziovski, 2003; Bakan et al., 2004; Wright and Kim, 2004; Pereira and Osburn, 2007), or in terms of financial performance (e.g., Long, 1982; McNabb and Whitfield, 1998; Cox et al., 2006).

Although mentioned several times (e.g., Dachler and Wilpert, 1978; Adams, 1992), the extent to which workplace democracy can contribute to society by strengthening processes of political democracy has been addressed considerably less, with the result that empirical findings are relatively scant. In his critical overview, Kim (2021) identified 25 studies published in international journals between 1981 and 2020, where scholars have explicitly dealt with the relationship between workplace democracy and political participation. Empirical findings regarding the spillover effect have been heterogeneous and contradicting so far.

The majority of empirical findings from previous studies (Elden, 1981; Peterson, 1992; Madsen, 1997; Spreitzer, 2007; Weber et al., 2008, 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013; Lopes et al., 2014; Tak, 2017; Budd et al., 2018; Timming and Summers, 2020) has indicated a more or less significant relationship between workplace democracy and political activities. This result proves true despite the highly diverse research settings and contexts that are encountered here. Some studies are based on cross-sectional data from one particular country, like the United States, Italy, Denmark, or Venezuela (Elden, 1981; Peterson, 1992; Madsen, 1997; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013; Tak, 2017); other studies are conducted by drawing on international panel data (Spreitzer, 2007; Lopes et al., 2014; Budd et al., 2018; Timming and Summers, 2020). Some work particularly has focused on cooperatives and employee-owned organizations (e.g., Weber et al., 2008; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013; Tak, 2017) while assuming a dense workplace democracy there; the remaining work has not taken this specific form of organizations into account.

However, there is also empirical work that has yielded only partial or limited empirical proof (Sobel, 1993; Jian and Jeffres, 2008; Mays, 2018; Weber et al., 2020). Studies performed by Greenberg (1986), Greenberg et al. (1996), and Adman (2008) have shown that the relationship between workplace democracy and political participation is either insignificant or inconclusive or there is no link. Moreover, Geurkink et al. (2020) observed an oppositional relationship in their study, with political participation being triggered not because of democratic workplaces but also because democratic instances at work are lacking or opportunities for workplace democracy and voice expression are suppressed by supervisors. This shows that not workplace democracy but its prevention leads to political activities, such as voting or becoming a member of a political party.

Method-based debates

Even though there are a number of empirical studies that provide at least partial support for a spillover effect from the workplace context into the political sphere, definitive empirical evidence of the conceptual argument by Pateman is still weak and not sufficient. Potential reasons for that have been seen in several methodological shortcomings of the empirical undertakings so far. In a self-critical manner, authors have mentioned a number of methodological challenges, like endogeneity, selection biases, generally omitted variable biases, and reverse causality (Budd et al., 2018). In his analysis of measurement issues in the previous empirical research regarding democratic spillover, Kim (2021) identified several shortcomings that limit the validity of previous empirical research. In particular, Kim (2021) pointed to heterogeneous construct operationalizations, which lead to inconsistent and mainly insufficient measures as used by the scholars in the case of the independent variable (i.e., workplace democracy) and dependent variable (i.e., political activity). In the following paragraphs, I deal with both variables and respective constructs in more detail.

Workplace democracy as the independent variable is a particularly complex terrain. This has to do a lot with the research history. The concept of workplace democracy goes back to the humanistic perspective on organizations (Adams, 1992). It mainly draws on the idea that employees "should be able to participate in decisions which critically affect their conditions of employment" (Adams, 1992, p. 19). One of the characteristics that have been featured as related to workplace democracy is that this term represents a relative category (Stohl and Cheney, 2001). First and foremost, workplace democracy is considered a term that expresses an "alternative" way to manage and structure organizations in contrast to the traditional and thus hierarchical ways of organizing work.

Initially, there was a shared understanding that workplace democracy is characterized by non-hierarchical modes of management, private collective ownership, and democratic decision-making (Diefenbach, 2020). Similarly, Battilana et al. (2018) pointed out that different positions share the idea of workplace democracy as an organizational model that "involves (a) a broad diffusion of decision rights and (b) an organizational culture that entails some form of commitment to integrate individual perspectives with that of the broader organization; and finally, (c) in some cases, a broad diffusion of ownership rights."

A more thorough look reveals that there is a wide array of heterogeneous organizational practices that are subsumed to workplace democracy with the result that its operationalization becomes a particularly challenging issue. In the conceptual considerations, different forms and areas of workplace democracy are discerned. Accordingly, Marchington and Wilkinson (2005) differentiated between (a) direct communication (e.g., face-to-face or written communication), (b) participation in decision-making and problem-solving (e.g., work circles, quality circles, health and project circles, and organizational systems for suggestions and complaints), (c) representative participation (e.g., representatives as elected by employees like works councils, trade unions, and collective bargaining), and (d) financial participation (e.g., profit-sharing, bonuses or stock options, and employee-owned companies).

One popular way to bring some differentiation into the operationalization of workplace democracy is to discern several degrees of it along the so-called "escalator of employee participation"—a metaphor that expresses various levels of participation provided to employees. the lowest level is represented by "information and communication to employees," for example, providing selected business information to employees; it is followed by steadily rising degrees of participation at work, like "consultation," for example, managers being formally or informally consulted by employees, and "co-determination," which means that employees are taking part in strategic decision-making. "Employee control," for example, employees making strategic decisions, represents the highest level of organizational participation (Wilkinson et al., 2010).

To sum up, workplace democracy remains an "umbrella concept" that encompasses different and highly heterogeneous models of decision-making structures as well as modes of organizational ownership. There are good reasons to assume that each form of workplace democracy can exert different influences on organizations and their members, including their skills and attitudes. Pateman (1970) pointed out in her work that different forms of workplace democracy assumingly lead to quite different effects in terms of political efficacy and participation skills to be learned. For example, representative forms of workplace democracy, Pateman argued, potentially have the lowest effect. Similarly, Greenberg et al. (1996) proposed that the research should go "beyond simple political spillover" and take into account different forms of workplace democracy. The scholars have also stressed that the effects of direct and representative workplace democracy should be considered separately.

As Adman (2008) and Kim (2021) pointed out, empirical studies till now fail to consider a full range of different types and levels of workplace democracy. There is also a lack of thorough consideration of formal and informal ways of workplace democracy. In the majority of the considered research, workplace democracy is measured as perceived autonomy at work in terms of being free to take part in decision-making and being able to change working methods or to decide when to start and to stop working (e.g., Elden, 1981; Peterson, 1992; Spreitzer, 2007; Budd et al., 2018;

Timming and Summers, 2020). Although of crucial importance, perceived work autonomy only insufficiently covers structurally embedded modes of workplace democracy, like face-to-face participation or participation through works councils. There are only a few studies where structural types of workplace democracy are considered explicitly, with Weber et al. (2008) providing one of the rare examples of how institutional formats of workplace democracy could be operationalized. Based on such instances of workplace democracy, like the existence of works councils or similar collective decision-making structures, the authors distinguish seven levels of workplace democracy and provide a type-based index of workplace democracy for companies. Some authors (e.g., Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013; Tak, 2017) have tended to tackle the issue of the structural side of workplace democracy while contrasting cooperatives and employee-owned companies with conventional firms, assuming that the former, in general, provide more democratic work settings than the latter. However, this implicit assumption has to be scrutinized since research on cooperatives demonstrates a huge diversity of cooperatives and shows that cooperatives are not necessarily democratic organizations since their aims, values, and ways of organizational decision-making are highly varying and oligarchic tendencies are one of the essential struggles in cooperatives (e.g., Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004; Heras-Saizarbitoria, 2014; Jaumier, 2017).

Similar criticisms have been raised in regard to the measurement of political participation as the dependent variable. A wide range of variables has been used as indicators of political participation. Several studies (e.g., Peterson, 1992; Sobel, 1993; Adman, 2008) used a summative index that consists of several indications of political participation, including highly heterogeneous variables as interest in politics, voting, membership of a political party, campaigning, and community activities. A critical consideration of potential discrepancies between these separate indicators is still lacking, although results from several studies pointed to the importance of considering these indicators in a differentiated way since different forms of political participation relate differently to perceived workplace democracy (e.g., Sobel, 1993; Greenberg et al., 1996). Another measuring approach is based on using rather general indicators, such as civic behavior, solidarity, or moral and pro-community orientation (e.g., Weber et al., 2008; Lopes et al., 2014). Although of high value, these variables are quite distal to political participation in terms of taking part in political decisions. To sum it up, political participation as a dependent variable has been operationalized in previous research either in a too wide or too strict sense, with both ways having farreaching consequences for the validity of empirical findings. The empirical evidence is considerably threatened by the resulting inconclusiveness of operationalization and by lacking consideration of differences between included foci of political participation (Kim, 2021).

Spillover thesis: Conceptual issues

In addition to the measurement-based limitations of the previous scholarship regarding the spillover thesis as discussed earlier, there is a number of conceptual limitations and unresolved questions too. As conceptual and empirical issues are strongly interlinked, a one-sided discussion regarding the democratic spillover and lacking solid empirical proof are the results of it. Although most of the conceptual questions are not new since they have been raised in previous research, the considerations until now have remained highly fragmented. In the following text, I provide a more systematic overview of the most relevant conceptual limitations and discuss them in more detail.

Heterogeneous mechanisms of democratic spillover

The complexity of the argument by Pateman and, at the same time, its vagueness have led to different reinterpretations of it. The basic assumption, as shared by all these reinterpretations, is the idea of formal similarity between political and workplace realms. Both domains are assumed to be alike in that they share authority structures and main processes of decision-making (Greenberg, 2008), with the result that the potential transfer of participation experiences between the workplace settings and political settings could be assumed as high. When it comes to concrete reasoning of what constitutes the democratic spillover, an array of slightly different reconsiderations of Pateman's idea can be found in the research that has been conducted in the field. In his literature review, Greenberg (2008) pointed out at least three subsequent theses that have been derived by scholars from the original work by Pateman to undergird the nexus between workplace democracy and political participation. Each of these theses represents slightly different underlying psychological mechanisms in explaining how and why workplace democracy could have an impact on political participation. The theses are as follows:

1) The thesis of increased efficacy states that the sense of personal efficacy achieved by participating in one realm can be carried into other institutions. This is the main argument as proposed by Pateman (1970), who argued that when people are given opportunities to participate in their workplace context, they gain personal efficacy, which can lead to stronger or more effective participation in political processes.

2) The thesis of the increased sense of commonality suggests that opportunities to take part in decision-making regarding one's work, to discuss relevant issues with colleagues, and to reach an agreement lead to an increased social orientation of individuals. Such circumstances encourage people to deal with different positions and require that diverse interests are considered. Individuals become familiar with going beyond their personal interests and taking the needs of others more into account. Thus, this thesis claims for changes in interests and motives of behaving when having an opportunity to participate in decision-making at own workplace.

3) The thesis of increased democratic skills proposes that democratic workplaces with factual participation opportunities equip employees with relevant skills that are needed in any democratic setting and could be transferred beyond workplaces. According to Greenberg (2008), these skills include rhetorical competencies, such as speaking publicly, or organizational competencies, like moderating meetings and discussions.

The last thesis has currently received scholarly attention, for example, the study conducted by Summers and Chillas (2021) on employee-owned companies. The authors suppose that workplace democracy, for instance, concretely firm ownership by employees, supports individual democratic skills and competencies. Based on results from a qualitative study, Summers and Chillas (2021) further differentiated between two sets of democratic skills: First, there are democratic skills related to economic issues. The authors call them "skills in economic democracy." These skills represent business owner skills, like financial literacy, business planning, and considering strategic issues of the business. Second, some skills directly link to democratic questions and give more emphasis to democracy and democratic functions, like building egalitarian relationships, achieving collective aims, and expressing opinions, but also socio-emotional skills, like empathy, caring, and regard for others. The authors call those "economic democracy skills." They argue that these skills are the results of democratic workplace settings as they are often given in employee-owned companies and as they are required by a democratic society, just like Pateman (1970) claimed. Summers and Chillas (2021) considered these two sets of skills in economic democracy as a crucial factor for answering the question of organizational performance in the case of employee-owned companies.

As Pateman (1970) considered political efficacy as the most crucial moderator between workplace democracy and political participation, the issue of remaining potential moderators also deserves to be raised in regard to the underlying mechanisms of democratic spillover. This particular issue has received only scarce scholarly attention until now and still lacks a systematic analysis. For example, Greenberg et al. (1996) argued in favor of the economic situation of the firm (i.e., being in trouble or not) as a potentially important moderator for the relationship in question.

Notwithstanding the considerations provided, there are several unresolved issues related to the different mechanisms of democratic spillover. First, there remains to be clarified how different mechanisms of democratic spillover are interlinked, for example, whether acquiring political efficacy corresponds with gaining democratic skills and an increased sense of commonality. Second, a robust explanation of how and under which circumstances respective skills are acquired and under which conditions they are not is still lacking. Here, an indepth consideration of potential moderators could be of particular importance when revealing the explanatory processes of democratic spillover. It is also to be clarified which skills acquired in the course of workplace democracy are related to political participation and which are not and thus when the mechanisms mentioned work and when they do not and why. It becomes clear that these issues need additional and substantial conceptual attempts in order to be resolved and to provide a more precise idea concerning the questions of "how" and "what" of democratic spillover.

Alternative explanations

Empirical scholars have repeatedly pointed out that the relationship between workplace democracy and political participation is probably more complex than assumed by Pateman. The argument of democratic socialization and political efficiency through workplace democracy, as conveyed by Pateman, deserves to be scrutinized. Beyond the mere positively moderated spillover, different types of links between organizational and political democracy can be identified.

One alternative kind of relationship that has received only scarce attention by researchers until now is reverse causality as the democratic spillover can be thought of in the reversed direction: as a spillover from the political realm to the workplace settings. It means that not workplace democracy leads to political participation, but vice versa is the case: because of political participation, citizens are more prone to take part in democratic measures at work (or to expect such opportunities). It could thus be assumed that experience made in political settings can affect workplace behavior and expectations regarding job autonomy and decision-making at the workplace. Nevertheless, this relationship could potentially be moderated by political efficacy. Early support for the thesis of reversed causality was provided by Witte (1980), who stated that employees taking part in participation programs are significantly more likely to have participation experiences in the political realm. In a similar vein, the study by Pineiro Harnecker (2009) in the field of Venezuelan worker cooperatives has yielded results that at least indirectly point to the reverse causality. The author argued that when cooperative members have experiences in community participation, these cooperatives develop a higher degree of social consciousness and solidarity with local communities. Accordingly, Kim (2021) suggested performing research that would be able to rule out alternative explanations, like reverse causality. From a conceptual perspective, a broader minded and thorough analysis of possible relationships between workplace-based and political participation, as well as of political learning processes, in general, would be more fruitful than just ruling it out.

19

The next alternative way of framing the nexus between the workplace and politics is the negative spillover: It could be assumed that under certain conditions, workplace democracy leads to lesser political activity, like lower participation in elections. In the debate on democratic spillover, this issue has been considered only by a few scholars till now. Schweizer (1995) and Carter (2006) pointed to a potentially negative spillover from workplace democracy to the political realm because of structural differences. The authors pointed to the fact that workplace democracy and political efficacy as resulting from it are mostly nurtured by direct participation at the workplace; in contrast to this, political democratic structures are mainly based on representative formats. This structural difference may discourage employees who are familiar with taking part in workplace-oriented decisions from participating in the political realm.

In addition, we should take the complexity of potential effects into account since in the context of workplace democracy, employees gain different experiences, with some of them contributing to the sense of efficacy and others not. For example, in the case of pseudo-participation, where employees are not provided with serious opportunities to take part in decision-making and are instead increasingly controlled by participative measures (Mccarthy, 1989), the development of political effectiveness is rather less likely. Instead, in this case, political disappointment, powerlessness, or senselessness could be expected. Political disappointment could also be the case when workplace democracy is seriously intended, as soon as democratic undertakings are experienced as particularly time-and resource-consuming, often fraught with conflicts.

Negative spillover also relates to increased political participation not because of workplace democracy but because of the absence of it. For example, Geurkink et al. (2020) showed in their study that suppressing the voice of employees triggers their political participation. Supporting the same thread of argument, Lup (2022) provided results indicating that there is a path between discrimination experienced by employees at the workplace and their subsequent political activity.

To sum it up, positive spillover from the workplace to politics, as argued by Pateman, seems to be an ideal and not a regular case. Different (positive as well as negative) effects on political participation from successfully practiced workplace democracy as well as from failed workplace democracy (e.g., pseudo-participation) are possible. This requires a more differentiated consideration of the underlying mechanisms than was the case in previous studies.

Dynamic nature of democratic spillover

One additional issue that underscores the fact that the relationship between workplace democracy and political participation is a non-direct relationship refers to dynamic and time-based processes. As Adman (2008) has demonstrated in his work, cross-sectional results show some significant associations between workplace and political participation. However, these links prove insignificant in long-term consideration. It remains open to what might be the role of time and time lag in this respect. Our knowledge is still limited on how long it takes to "learn" democracy and participation at the workplace and whether democratic spillover could be assumed immediately after first encounters with workplace democracy or rather with a considerable time lag. When dealing with these issues, research on time in organizational socialization processes (e.g., Ashforth, 2012) might be of particular help.

The time dimension implies that the spillover effect may follow a dynamic trajectory and leads us to think about a stagebased relationship between workplace democracy and political participation as one potentially helpful way to explain it. That would mean that this relationship should be considered a developing relationship, as framed by certain dynamic patterns. As workplace democracy is a process with its ups and downs, different stages can be assumed, such as the "first encounter," "euphoric stage," "stage of disillusionment," and "stage of realistic agency," with each stage potentially bearing different effects regarding political participation.

Institutional settings to be considered

One additional issue that deserves explicit attention, but has received only cursory consideration in the previous studies, is the institutional layer of the democratic spillover. In previous research, country-related issues, if any, have received rather formal attention by treating them merely as a control variable, although the countries studied have a quite specific historical legacy and present agenda in regard to workplace democracy, be it the law of co-determination in Germany or the self-management in the Balkan countries. A thorough analysis of local beliefs and formal institutions regarding workplace democracy and political participation is mainly absent. The result is that our knowledge regarding the effects of workplace democracy is particularly generic and cursory as long as local country- and company-specific institutional settings remain disregarded.

Previous research has also mainly ignored any interconnections between different institutional levels of democratic socialization, including families and the educational sector. Thus, our knowledge about how experiences from the education system relate to workplace democracy is limited. We still do not know whether styles of primary and secondary socialization (e.g., education in families, schools, and high schools) cumulate or rather collate with tertiary socialization (e.g., workplaces). We also do not know what happens when education and the workplace stand in a sharp conflict, as might be the case when democratically socialized young employees are confronted with hierarchic authority structures at the workplace and lacking elements of participation and workplace democracy. We also do not know whether these collusions of socialization lead to a negative or rather positive spillover regarding political behavior.

Future research prospects

Previous sections indicate numerous ways prospective research on democratic spillover needs to consider in order to achieve more consistent and comprehensive results. Ideally, conceptual and empirical issues should simultaneously be taken into account as unresolved conceptual shortcomings cannot be counterbalanced without empirical and method-based progress. In the following paragraphs, I indicate general avenues that may pave the way for prospective research on democratic spillover.

Extended theoretical framework

Although the sheer elegance of Pateman's (1970) argument is beckoning, the analysis provided earlier makes clear that the original model, as proposed by Pateman, is too vague and needs theoretical amendments or theoretical syntheses with other theories or frameworks in order to adequately explain underlying processes and to guide respective empirical undertakings.

A potentially fruitful approach is the concept of *psychological* ownership (Pierce et al., 2001, 2004; Pierce and Jussila, 2010). drawing on the idea of collective ownership, the concept of psychological ownership points to, for example, a higher selfefficacy (Bandura, 2006), a sense of belonging, the perceived responsibility, and identification with a certain social group (e.g., Pierce et al., 2001; Avey et al., 2009) as mechanisms that explain why workplace democracy could have positive effects onto organizational behavior of individuals. Whether psychological ownership could be fruitful when explaining democratic spillover and how these explanations could look like might be valuable undertakings for prospective studies. In particular, the arguments of psychological ownership might be useful when tackling the issue of different mechanisms of democratic spillover, as considered in heterogeneous mechanisms of democratic spillover. When trying to consolidate previous heterogeneous assumptions regarding the democratic spillover, mechanisms of psychological ownership like the sense of belonging or the perceived responsibility might be relevant explanations for when workplace democracy spills over to social and political activities of employees beyond their workplaces and when not.

The concept of psychological ownership could also be helpful when dealing with non-participation, both in the case of employees at the workplace and citizens in the political realm. This issue has been neglected until now in the field of democratic spillover since scholars have implicitly assumed that participation is the regular case, and non-participation is just a marginal sub-topic. Looking for when and why workers or citizens refuse to take part in decision-making, despite manifold opportunities provided (Mccarthy, 1989), is an issue that deserves in-depth theoretical considerations. Psychological ownership could be one potential point of departure since it allows raising such questions as when self-efficacy and sense of belonging do not evolve and what consequences it could have for democratic engagement.

What deserves explicit consideration too are new issues emerging from current management practices, for example, agile work methods. Although claimed to represent modern forms of workplace democracy (e.g., Boes et al., 2018; Sauer et al., 2021), the issues of workplace agility are still barely covered by the previous research from the democratic spillover. Once again, the concept of psychological ownership could be helpful in analyzing and explaining various effects of agile working on employees, including the consequences of workplace agility on societal and political participation.

Although, Pateman (1970) has argued in favor of the educative effects of workplace democracy in regard to political democracy, she remains quite generic in explaining it. The consequence is that alternative explanations, like reverse causality or negative spillover, should be taken into account, as discussed in alternative explanations. A potential theoretical underpinning for the original argument as brought forward by pateman could be provided by the concept of moral development in organizations (Hannah et al., 2011). The concept proposed by Hannah et al. (2011) links moral sensitivity to moral action, just like the democratic spillover relates employees' experiences at the workplace to the increased sensitivity toward democratic issues and actions (e.g., political activity). Hence, the concept of moral development in organizations could be a promising theoretical frame when explaining whether and under which conditions democratic learning is taking place in working settings and leads to political activities of employees, as proposed by Pateman (1970).

When it comes to an insufficient consideration of institutional settings of democratic spillover, as mentioned in institutional settings to be considered, the integration of arguments from the theoretical perspective of *the sociological neo-institutionalism* (e.g., Scott, 1995) might be of particular relevance. The neo-institutionalism points to the relevance of taken-for-granted beliefs, which constitute the legitimacy of certain issues or practices. Accordingly, we could suppose that broader institutional settings, like implicit cultural norms in a society, significantly frame the status of workplace democracy as legitimate and acceptable (or not) and can support or impede democratic spillover. In a narrower sense, country-specific, local institutional settings, such as industrial laws, could also be assumed of particular importance when explaining

10.3389/fpsyg.2022.933263

whether and what kind of experiences workers are making with workplace democracy and how these experiences affect the political attitudes and behavior of employees. Especially, the research on legitimacy (e.g., Suchman, 1995) or on institutional logics considered as cultural frames of reference that condition sensemaking and actions of individuals (e.g., Thornton and Ocasio, 2008; Cornelissen and Werner, 2014) could provide suitable conceptual complement when explaining when and why workplace democracy is considered as legitimate and when political participation by employees becomes taken for granted. By drawing on the theoretical perspective of the neo-institutionalism, the debate regarding democratic spillover could receive important conceptual stimulation for developing a more comprehensive theoretical model and for generating context-sensitive knowledge on democratic spillover.

Qualitative method approaches

Previous empirical research on democratic spillover is dominated by quantitative approaches, as shown in Table 1. Future studies should include much more diverse approaches and complement dominating quantitative survey-based studies with qualitative inquiries, based, for example, on long-term observations, case studies, or narrative interviews. Especially, when trying to empirically approach the dynamic nature of democratic spillover, as argued in Dynamic nature of democratic spillover, scholars should take qualitative methods much more into account than previously. Long-term interviews, case studies, or ethnographical approaches would be able to provide a much higher degree of context-sensitive and comparative material about the societal effects of workplace democracy than this is the case in most quantitative undertakings. For example, research drawing on contrasting cases that include companies with established elements of workplace democracy as well as firms with absent or failed workplace democracy might be of particular value here when trying to determine different effects on political participation. Numerous examples of qualitative undertakings based on case studies of cooperatives might serve as helpful references in terms of method, like the analysis of cooperatives in the United States by Rothschild and Whitt (1986), a comparative study between John Lewis Partnership in the United Kingdom and Eroski in Spain as conducted by Storey et al. (2014), or a case study-based typology of participation patterns in German cooperatives by Hühn et al. (2021).

When using qualitative approaches, more attention could also be given to country-based studies that allow an in-depth analysis of local institutional settings as well as qualitative comparisons between selected countries. By doing this, a deeper understanding of the institutional and country-specific influences would be possible, which frame the relationship between organizational and political democracy. A countrysensitive in-depth analysis, as well as systematic qualitative cross-country comparisons, would be able to provide fruitful insights into the debate surrounding workplace democracy. Furthermore, in difference to individual variables that mainly stood at the focus in previous quantitative undertakings, much more attention could receive institutions of industrial relations and employee representations, as well as varieties of capitalism, including country- and region-specific patterns of democracy. Given the assumed relevance of regional and historical legacies in the case of democratic spillover, specific regions could be purposefully addressed in such empirical undertakings. One example would be the Central and Eastern European countries and thus former European socialist countries. This region represents a particularly beneficial research context in terms of workplace democracy and its transformations due to specific historical legacies like workers' self-management in the former Yugoslavia or due to current democratic struggles and oligarchic tendencies, like in Poland or Hungary.

Summary, conclusion, and practical implications

In her seminal work on how workplace settings might be related to the political participation of citizens, Pateman (1970, p. 66) highlighted that industry plays a central role "in the democratic socialization process." By pointing to the political efficacy as stemming from democratic encounters at the workplace, Pateman provided a psychological argument for why working life and democratic measures provided in industrial and workplace settings are of crucial relevance for political democracy in societies. Considering current political upheavals and increased populist tendencies in the EU, the United States, and elsewhere, the argument by Pateman proves even more important at current times than at the time of its original publication as it provides a path for how democratic societies could be strengthened.

Nevertheless, it should be stated that research that has been made on the democratic spillover represents an academic niche. Moreover, existing empirical findings are inconsistent and provide mixed evidence for the original thesis. Following, Greenberg et al. (1996), we have to state that the spillover effect is not suited to argue for the strength of workplace democracy as there is no definitive evidence for this. The debate suffers several methodological and conceptual limitations that hamper yielding consistent results and that future research needs to tackle. From the conceptual point of view, these limitations include, in particular, the heterogeneity of potential spillover mechanisms, a lacking consideration of alternative explanations (e.g., reversed causality or negative spillover), an insufficient analysis of the potentially dynamic nature of the relationship, and a lacking in-depth consideration of institutional settings, like country-based specifics in relation to workplace democracy and formats of political participation. By scrutinizing existing research and by identifying its main shortcomings from the conceptual perspective as well as by showing some possible paths for prospective research, the present article provides a relevant theoretical contribution to the debate on democratic spillover.

The argument by Pateman (1970) should be yet considered a relevant point of departure, but not the end of the conceptual debate. The conceptual progress of this debate remains particularly challenging because of the issue of multiple determinants of political participation: workplace democracy represents one potentially relevant, but not an exclusive, reason for the political participation of employees. Moreover, as existing research still lacks a robust theoretical explanation of the relationship between workplace democracy and its political effects, there is an urgent need for concise and fine-grained conceptual developments that would tackle the question of how and when workplace democracy leads to political learning or political efficacy (and when not). Among others, the processes related to workplace democracy, including the absence and failure of workplace democracy, require more comprehensive analyses that would be able to cover the complexity of the issue and reinvigorate the debate on democratic spillover.

In particular, interdisciplinary work approaches are needed to intersect different fields, as touched upon by democratic spillover. In order to establish a solid conceptual and empirical scholarship on democratic spillover and to appropriately cover the complexity of related issues and counterbalance the one-sidedness of previous conceptual considerations, undertakings are needed where scholars from political sciences, organizational sociology, psychology, pedagogy, management studies, and industrial relations take part.

The present analysis primarily deals with research that has been carried out in the field of democratic spillover with the aim to critically reflect research-based assumptions and results yielded and does not deal with practical techniques, tools, or training programs in this field. Nevertheless, the results obtained have a lot to do with the work practice. Thus, we end this article with practical implications. The primary practical implication of this article is sensitizing: it matters whether workplaces include democratic elements or not. It matters surely in terms of individual measures, like job satisfaction and job commitment; it matters in terms of organizational effectiveness, like organizational performance and innovativeness. Potentially, yet not consistently confirmed in empirical studies, it matters in terms of the political participation of employees. Until now, there is no clear evidence that workplace democracy leads to increased political participation of employees, but there is also no clear support that it does not. "The long arm of the job" in mind we have to conclude that industrial companies and organizations are not insular elements of the economy; as providers of workplaces for the majority of societal members, companies and industries represent one potentially relevant dimension of sustaining democratic systems of respective societies. Managers should have this in mind when designing workplaces and jobs when considering communication processes and decision-making in their organizations. From this perspective, the "democratic dimension" should be considered a part of social responsibility in organizations since it represents a suitable way to contribute to democratic societies by establishing workplaces that could socialize employees as democratic citizens.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

Funding

The author acknowledges the financial support for Open Access publication by the Hamm-Lippstadt University of Applied Sciences, Germany.

Conflict of interest

The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

Adams, R. J. (1992). Efficiency is not enough. Labor Stu. J. 17, 18-28.

Adman, P. (2008). Does workplace experience enhance political participation? a critical test of a venerable hypothesis. *Political Behav.* 30, 115–138. doi: 10.1007/s11109-007-9040-y

Ashforth, B. E. (2012). "The role of time in socialization dynamics", in *The Oxford Handbook of Organizational Socialization*, ed. C.R. Wanberg (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 161–186. doi: 10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199763672.013.0009

Avey, J. B., Avolio, B. J., Crossley, C. D., and Luthans, F. (2009). Psychological ownership. theoretical extensions, measurement and relation to work outcomes. *J. Organ. Behav.* 30, 173–191. doi: 10.1002/job.583

Bakan, I., Suseno, Y., Pinnington, A., and Money, A. (2004). The influence of financial participation and participation in decision-making on employee job attitudes. *Int. J. Human Res. Manag.*15, 587-616. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2004.10057654

Bandura, A. (2006). Toward a psychology of human agency. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 1, 164–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6916.2006.00011.x

Battilana, J., Fuerstein, M., and Lee, M. Y. (2018). New Prospects for Organizational Democracy? how the joint pursuit of social and financial goals challenges traditional organizational designs. in Capitalism Beyond Mutuality?: Perspectives Integrating Philosophy and Social Science, ed. S. Rangan (Oxford University Press), 256–87. doi: 10.1093/oso/9780198825067.003.0013

Boes, A., Kämpf, T., Lühr, T., and Ziegler, A. (2018). Agilität als chance für einen neuen anlauf zum demokratischen unternehmen? *Berliner. J. Soc.* 28, 181–208. doi: 10.1007/s11609-018-0367-5

Budd, J. W., Lamare, J. R., and Timming, A. R. (2018). Learning about democracy at work: cross-national evidence on individual employee voice influencing political participation in civil society. *ILR Rev.* 71, 956–985. doi: 10.1177/0019793917746619

Carter, N. (2006). Political participation and the workplace: the spillover thesis revisited. Br. J. Politics Int. Rel. 8, 410–426. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-856x.2006.00218.x

Cornelissen, J. P., and Werner, M. D. (2014). Putting framing in perspective: a review of framing and frame analysis across the management and organizational literature. *Academy Manag. Annals.* 8, 181–235. doi: 10.5465/19416520.2014.875669

Cox, A., Zagelmeyer, S., and Marchington, M. (2006). Embedding employee involvement and participation at work. *Human Res. Manag. J.* 16, 250–267. doi: 10.1111/j.1748-8583.2006.00017.x

Cronin, M. A., and George, E. (2020). The Why and How of the Integrative Review. Organizational Research Methods, online first. doi: 10.1177./1094428120935507

Crouch, C. (2004). Post-Democracy. Cambridge: Polity Press.

Dachler, P. H., and Wilpert, B. (1978). Conceptual dimensions and boundaries of participation in organizations: a critical evaluation. *Admi. Sci. Q.* 23, 1–39. doi: 10.2307/2392432

Dewey, J. (1916/1997). *Democracy and Education*. MacMillan: Illinois University Press.

Diefenbach, T. H. (2020). The democratic organisation. in *Democracy and the Future of Work*. New York and London: Routledge.

Elden, J. M. (1981). Political efficacy at work: the connection between more autonomous forms of workplace organization and more participatory politics. *Am. Polit. Sci. Rev.* 75, 43–58. doi: 10.2307/1962158

Geralis, M., and Terziovski, M. (2003). A quantitative analysis of the relationship between empowerment practices and service quality outcomes. *Total Qual. Manag.* 14, 45–62. doi: 10.1080/14783360309707

Geurkink, B., Akkerman, A., and Sluiter, R. (2020). *Political Participation and Workplace Voice: The Spillover of Suppression by Supervisors*. Political Studies. doi: 10.1177/0032321720960969

Greenberg, E. S. (1986). Workplace Democracy: The Political Effects of Participation. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.

Greenberg, E. S. (2008). Spillovers from Cooperative and Democratic Workplaces: Have the Benefits been oversold?, in *Cooperation: The Political Psychology of Effective Human Interaction, editors.* B.A. Sullivan, M. Snyder, and J.L. Sullivan (Malden, Mass: Blackwell Publishing) 219–239.

Greenberg, E. S., Grunberg, L., and Daniel, K. (1996). Industrial work and political participation: beyond "simple spillover". *Polit. Res. Q.* 49, 305–330. doi: 10.1177/106591299604900204

Hannah, S. T., Avolio, B. J., and May, D. R. (2011). Moral maturation and moral conation: a capacity approach to explain moral thought and action. *Academy Manag. Rev.* 36, 663–685. doi: 10.5465/AMR.2011.65554674

Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2014). The ties that bind? exploring the basic principles of worker-owned organizations in practice. *Organization* 21, 645–665. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537623

Hühn, M., Rybnikova, I., Tümpel, M., and Hartz, R. (2021). Partizipation und sinnstiftung in genossenschaften. *Zeitschrift für Gemeinwirtschaft und Gemeinwohl* 44, 519–36. doi: 10.5771/2701-4193-2021-4-518

Jaumier, S. (2017). Preventing chiefs from being chiefs: an ethnography of a co-operative sheet-metal factory. *Organization* 24, 218–239. doi: 10.1177/1350508416664144

Jenkins, G.D. Jr., and Lawler, E. E. III. (1981). Impact of employee participation in pay plan development. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Perform.* 28, 111–128. doi: 10.1016/0030-5073(81)90018-0

Jian, G., and Jeffres, L. (2008). Spanning the boundaries of work: workplace participation, political efficacy, and political involvement. *Commun. Stud.* 59, 35–50. doi: 10.1080/10510970701849370

Kim, J. (2021). Democratic spillover from workplace into politics: what are we measuring and how? *Advan. Indus. Labor Rel.* 26, 145–176. doi: 10.1108/S0742-61862021000026006

Long, R. (1982). employee ownership and work attitudes. *Ind. Relat.* 21, 196–215. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.1982.tb00228.x

Lopes, H., Lagoa, S., and Calapez, T. (2014). Declining autonomy at work in the eu and its effect on civic behaviour. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 35, 341-366. doi: 10.1177/0143831X13484606

Lup, D. (2022). What makes an active citizen? A test of multiple links between workplace experiences and civic participation. *Br. J. Indus. Rel.* 60, 563–584. doi: 10.1111/bjir.12669

Madsen, M. (1997). The "classroom hypothesis" and individualization. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 18, 359–391. doi: 10.1177/0143831X97183002

Marchington, M., and Wilkinson, A. (2005). "Direct participation and involvement," in *Managing Human Resources. Personnel Management in Transition*, ed. S. Bach (Malden, Mass: Blackwell), 398–423.

Mays, A. (2018). Fordert partizipation am arbeitsplatz die entwicklung des politischen interesses und der politischen beteiligung? *Zeitschrift für Soziologie* 47, 418–437. doi: 10.1515/zfsoz-2018-0126

Mccarthy, S. (1989). "The Dilemma of Non-participation", in *International Handbook of Participation in Organizations. For the Study of Organizational Democracy, Co-operation, and Self-Management, Vol. I, eds C.J. Lammers and G. Széll (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 115–129.*

McNabb, R., and Whitfield, K. (1998). The impact of financial participation and employee involvement on financial performance. *Scott. J. Polit. Econ.* 45, 171–187. doi: 10.1111/1467-9485.00088

Meissner, M. (1971). The long arm of the job: a study of work and leisure. *Ind. Relat.: J. Econ. Soc.* 10, 239–260. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.1971.tb00023.x

Miller, K. I., and Monge, P. R. (1986). Participation, satisfaction and productivity: a meta-analytic review. *Academy Manag. J.* 29, 727–753. doi: 10.2307/255942

Pateman, C. (1970). Participation and Democratic Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Pereira, G. M., and Osburn, H. G. (2007). Effects of participation in decision making on performance and employee attitudes: a quality circles meta-analysis. *J. Business Psychol.* 22, 145–153. doi: 10.1007/s10869-007-9 055-8

Peterson, S. A. (1992). Workplace politicization and its political spillovers: a research note. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 13, 511–524. doi: 10.1177/0143831X921 34004

Pierce, J. L., and Jussila, I. (2010). Collective psychological ownership within the work and organizational context: construct introduction and elaboration. *J. Organ. Behav.* 31, 810–834. doi: 10.1002/job.628

Pierce, J. L., Kostova, T., and Dirks, K. T. (2001). Toward a theory of psychological ownership in organizations. *Academy Manag. J.* 26, 298–310. doi: 10.2307/259124

Pierce, J. L., O'Driscoll, M. P., and Coghlan, A. M. (2004). Work environment structure and psychological ownership: the mediating effects of control. *J. Soc. Psychol.* 144, 507–534. doi: 10.3200/SOCP.144.5.507-534

Pineiro Harnecker, C. (2009). Workplace democracy and social consciouisness: a study of venezuelan cooperatives. *Sci. Soc.* 73, 309–339. doi: 10.1521/siso.2009.73.3.309

Pircher Verdorfer, A., Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Seyr, S. (2013). The relationship between organizational democracy and socio-moral climate: exploring effects of the ethical context in organizations. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 34, 423–449. doi: 10.1177/0143831X12450054

Rothschild, J., and Whitt, J. A. (1986). *The cooperative workplace* in *Potentials and Dilemmas of Organizational Democracy and Participation*. New York: Cambridge University Press.

Sauer, S., Nicklisch, M., and Pfeiffer, S. (2021). "The Agile Imperative: A Multi-Level Perspective on Agility as a New Principle of Organizing Work", in *The Agile Imperative: Teams, Organizations and Society under Reconstruction?*, ed. S. Pfeiffer, M. Nicklisch, and S. Sauer (London: Palgrave Macmillan) 1–15.

Schweizer, S. (1995). Participation, workplace democracy, and the problem of representative government. *Polity* 27, 359–377. doi: 10.2307/3235003

Scott, W. R. (1995). Institutions and Organizations. in Ideas, Interests and Identities. Thousand Oaks: Sage.

Sobel, R. (1993). From occupational involvement to political participation: an exploratory analysis. *Political Behav.* 15, 339–353. doi: 10.1007/BF00992102

Spreitzer, G. (2007). Giving peace a chance: organizational leadership, empowerment, and peace. J. Organ. Behav. 28, 1077–1095. doi: 10.1002/job.487

Stohl, C., and Cheney, G. (2001). Participatory processes/paradoxical practices communication and the dilemmas of organizational democracy. *Manag. Commu. Quar.* 14, 349–407. doi: 10.1177/0893318901143001

Storey, J., Basterretxea, I., and Salaman, G. (2014). Managing and resisting "degeneration' in employee-owned businesses: a comparative study of two large retailers in Spain and the United Kingdom. *Organization* 21, 626–644. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537624

Suchman, M. C. (1995). Managing legitimacy: strategic and institutional approaches. Academy Manag. Rev. 20, 571–610. doi: 10.2307/258788

Summers, J., and Chillas, S. (2021). Working in employee-owned companies: the role of economic democracy skills. *Econo. Indus. Democracy* 42, 1029–1051. doi: 10.1177/0143831X19835319

Tak, S. (2017). Cooperative membership and community engagement: findings from a latin american survey. *Soc. Forum.* 32, 566–586. doi: 10.1111/socf.12349

Thornton, P. H., and Ocasio, W. (2008). "Institutional logics", in *The SAGE Handbook of Organisational Institutionalism*, eds. by R. Greenwood, K. Sahlin, and R. Suddaby (London: Sage), 99–129. doi: 10.4135/9781849200 387.n4

Timming, A., and Summers, J. (2020). Is workplace democracy associated with wider pro-democracy affect? a structural equation model. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 41, 709–726. doi: 10.1177/0143831X17744028

Varman, R., and Chakrabarti, M. (2004). Contradictions of democracy in a workers' cooperative. Org. Stud. 25, 183-208. doi: 10.1177/0170840604036913

Weber, W. G. (1999). Organisationale demokratie. anregungen für arbeitsformen jenseits bloßer partizipation. Zeitschrift für Arbeitswissenschaften 4, 270–281.

Weber, W. G., and Unterrainer, C. (2015). Arbeit in demokratischen Unternehmen: Ihr Potenzial für eine demokratische Gesellschaft. Zeitschrift für Sozialpsychologie Gruppendynamik Wirtschaft Gesellschaft 40, 20–39.

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl Psychol.: Int. Rev.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, Ch., and Höge, T. (2008). Sociomoral atmosphere and prosocial and democratic value orientations in enterprises with different levels of structurally anchored participation. *Zeitschrift für Personalforschung* 22, 171–194. doi: 10.1177/239700220802200205

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, Ch., and Schmid, B.E. (2009). The influence of organizational democracy on employees' socio-moral climate and prosocial behavioral orientations. *J. Organ. Behav.* 30, 1127–1149. doi: 10.1002/job.615

Wegge, J., Jeppesen, H. J., Weber, W. G., Pearce, C. L., Silva, S. A., Pundt, A., et al. (2010). Promoting work motivation in organizations. *J. Pers. Psychol.* 9, 154–171. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000025

Wilkinson, A., Gollan, P.J., Marchington, M., and Lewin, D. (2010). "Conceptualizing Employee Participation in Organizations," in *The Oxford Handbook of Participation in Organizations*, eds. A. Wilkinson, P.J. Gollan, M. Marchington, D. Lewin (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 4–24.

Witte, J. F. (1980). Democracy, Authority and Alienation in Work. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Wright, B. E., and Kim, S. (2004). Participation's influence on job satisfaction: the importance of job characteristics. *Rev. Public Per. Admin.* 23, 18–40. doi: 10.1177/0734371X03259860





The Spillover of Socio-Moral Climate in Organizations Onto Employees' Socially Responsible Purchase Intention: The Mediating Role of Perceived Social Impact

Marlies Schümann^{1,2*}, Maie Stein², Grit Tanner^{1,2}, Carolin Baur^{2,3} and Eva Bamberg²

¹Department of Work and Organizational Psychology, Beuth University of Applied Sciences Berlin, Berlin, Germany, ²Department of Work and Organizational Psychology, Universität Hamburg, Hamburg, Germany, ³Leadership Excellence Institute Zeppelin, Zeppelin University, Friedrichshafen, Germany

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christine Unterrainer, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Monika Eigenstetter, Hochschule Niederrhein, Germany Cristina Di Tecco, National Institute for Insurance Against Accidents at Work (INAIL), Italy Brigitte Steinheider, Oklahoma State University at Tulsa, United States

*Correspondence:

Marlies Schümann marlies.schuemann@beuthhochschule.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 16 February 2021 Accepted: 08 June 2021 Published: 08 July 2021

Citation:

Schümann M, Stein M, Tanner G, Baur C and Bamberg E (2021) The Spillover of Socio-Moral Climate in Organizations Onto Employees' Socially Responsible Purchase Intention: The Mediating Role of Perceived Social Impact. Front. Psychol. 12:668399. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.668399 Due to the pressing environmental and social issues facing the global economic system, the role of organizations in promoting socially responsible behavior among employees warrants attention in research and practice. It has been suggested that the concept of socio-moral climate (SMC) might be particularly useful for understanding how participative organizational structures and processes shape employees' prosocial behaviors. While SMC has been shown to be positively related to employees' prosocial behaviors within the work context, little is known about the potential spillover effects of SMC (i.e., associations between SMC and employees' prosocial behaviors outside the work context). The present study aims to address this gap by investigating how and why SMC is related to employees' socially responsible purchase intention. Drawing on the relational job design framework, we argue that employees' perceptions of their social impact may explain why SMC is positively related to responsible purchase intentions. We collected data from 492 employees working in various industries at two measurement points with a time lag of 12 months. Hypotheses were tested using path analysis, in which we controlled for the temporal stability of the study variables. The results showed that SMC was positively related to perceived social impact and socially responsible purchase intention and that perceived social impact was positively related to socially responsible purchase intention. In addition, we found a significant indirect relationship between SMC and socially responsible purchase intention through perceived social impact. The findings provide initial support for the spillover of employees' work-related experiences onto their responsible purchase intentions within the nonwork domain. This study contributes to the literature by extending the traditional focus of SMC research on the development of moral reasoning skills to suggest that perceived social impact is an important mechanism underlying the relationship between SMC and prosocial behaviors. In terms of practical implications, this study suggests that organizational interventions designed to increase SMC may enhance employees' perceptions of their social impact.

Keywords: socio-moral climate, perceived social impact, work-consumption spillover, work-nonwork, employee participation, socially responsible purchase intention

INTRODUCTION

In light of the environmental and social issues in the global economic system, an important question concerning both researchers and practitioners is how organizations can promote socially responsible behavior among their employees. An increasing body of research has addressed this issue by examining the effects of ethical organizational climate (Newman et al., 2017) and socially responsible organizational initiatives (Aust et al., 2020; van Dick et al., 2020) on prosocial behavior and decision-making within organizations. Recently, it has been suggested that the concept of socio-moral climate (SMC; Weber et al., 2009) might be particularly useful for understanding how organizational structures and processes shape employee prosocial behavior (e.g., Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016; Steinheider et al., 2020). Integrating principles of communication, cooperation, and conflict resolution, SMC is closely linked employees' participation in discursive-democratic to decision-making in organizations and their prosocial behaviors, such as organizational citizenship behavior, workplace solidarity, and democratic engagement (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013).

While several studies indicate that SMC is related to prosocial behavior within organizations, little is known about how SMC affects employees' prosocial behavior outside the work context. This is a major gap, considering that understanding the spillover of SMC on employees' prosocial behavior beyond organizational boundaries may broaden our view of how organizations can meet their social responsibilities. Responsible purchasing, which refers to consumers' purchase intentions to minimize harmful effects and maximize positive impacts on society in the long term (Mohr et al., 2001), is an important form of prosociality in the nonwork domain. In fact, all employees are consumers, making more or less responsible purchase decisions in their private lives. A spillover of SMC onto employees' socially responsible purchase intentions would highlight the societal and macroeconomic significance of a participative organizational climate that stimulates employees' prosocial behavior.

This study aims to move beyond understanding the effects of SMC within the organizational context and investigate the relationship between SMC and employees' socially responsible purchase intention. We combine Grant's (2007) relational job design framework and learning-generalization theory (Kohn and Schooler, 1973) to gain an in-depth understanding of the process by which SMC is related to employees' socially responsible purchasing. The relational job design framework links job design and prosocial employee behavior, focusing on the psychological experience of perceived social impact (Grant, 2007). As a reflection of the extent to which employees are aware that their work impacts other people's lives (Grant, 2007; Bolino and Grant, 2016), perceived social impact is an important driver of prosocial employee behavior (Grant, 2008a,b). By linking employees' experiences in the work context to their broader attitudes and beliefs underlying their behavior in other contexts, the concept of perceived social impact is particularly useful for investigating the potential spillover of SMC on employees' socially responsible purchase intention. We suggest that work environments characterized by SMC contribute to the perception of social impact among employees, which in turn affects the extent to which they intend to make responsible purchase decisions. **Figure 1** shows the conceptual model.

This study contributes to the literature in three significant ways. First, by integrating research on SMC with the responsible purchasing literature, we advance the understanding of how organizational climate is related to employees' behavioral intentions in other life domains. Extant research examining the effects of SMC on prosocial employee behavior has focused on the organizational context (e.g., Weber et al., 2009; Schnell et al., 2013; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2015). By examining prosocial behavioral intentions outside the organizational context, we contribute to the understanding of the spillover effects of SMC. Second, by investigating the mediating role of perceived social impact, we add a different perspective to the theoretical conceptualization of SMC and advance the understanding of why SMC is related to employees' prosocial behavior. Traditionally, the rationale for expecting SMC to promote employees' prosocial behavior is that the work environment facilitates the development of moral reasoning skills (Weber et al., 2009). However, empirical research did not support such an underlying process (Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016). By investigating employees' perceived social impact, we integrate an alternative mechanism that may explain the link between SMC and prosocial behavior. Finally, previous findings on the relationship between SMC and prosocial behavior derive almost exclusively from cross-sectional studies (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013, 2015), making it difficult to draw firm conclusions about the effects of SMC on employees' prosocial behavior. Conducting a two-wave study, we contribute to the understanding of how SMC is related to employee prosocial behavior over time.

THEORETICAL BACKGROUND

Socio-Moral Climate and Employee Participation

Socio-moral climate (Weber et al., 2009) refers to "employees' perceptions of organizational practices and procedures, including principles of communication, teamwork, and participative decision-making assumed to shape the development of ethical attitudes and value orientations of the members of an organization" (Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2015, p. 233–234). According to Pircher Verdorfer et al. (2013, 2015), SMC comprises five components: (1) open confrontation with conflicts of interests, values, and norms, (2) reliable appreciation, including mutual care, respect, and support, (3) cooperation and communication as equals, including opportunities to challenge established norms, (4) trust-based assignment of responsibility for the wellbeing of others inside and outside the organization, and (5) organizational concern for individuals, including the extent to which the organization adopts the perspective of individual employees.

The concept of SMC is rooted in research on democratic participation in organizations. Weber et al. (2008) postulated that employees' substantial involvement in organizational decision-making nurtures perceptions of a SMC in organizations



that facilitates prosocial behavioral orientations. From a theoretical perspective, the notion of moral socialization in organizations induced by democratic participation is based on the just community approach of moral education (Power et al., 1989; Power and Higgins-D'Alessandro, 2008). Inspired by educational structures and principles in Israeli kibbutzim, the just community approach is based on practices of deliberative democracy, including consensus seeking through sustained dialog and participation of all (Power and Higgins-D'Alessandro, 2008). Through its structures of deliberation and accountability, the just community approach is thought to support a sense of responsibility, solidarity, and civic engagement among community members (Power and Higgins-D'Alessandro, 2008). This goal is to be achieved by fostering a moral atmosphere in the community (Power et al., 1989). Drawing primarily on Lempert's (1988, 1993) work, Weber et al. (2008) adapted this concept for the organizational context, emphasizing its structural dimension of organizational democracy. Specifically, it is proposed that SMC evolves within democratic organizational structures (Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016), forming a socializing context for employees' social and moral actions (Weber et al., 2009).

Socio-Moral Climate and Perceived Social Impact

Research has commonly investigated SMC as an antecedent of employees' positive affective-motivational states toward their organization, including their sense of psychological ownership (Steinheider and Pircher Verdorfer, 2017), work engagement (Steinheider et al., 2020), and organizational commitment (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013). In this study, we draw on the relational job design framework (Grant, 2007) to argue that SMC increases employees' perceptions of social impact. The job design framework is useful in understanding why work contexts affect employees' prosocial motivation and behavior.

At the heart of the relational job design framework is the idea that perceived social impact is the psychological mechanism linking job design and employee prosocial behavior. Perceived social impact refers to the recognition that one's efforts at work make a positive difference in the lives of others (Grant, 2007; Bolino and Grant, 2016). This focus on employees' work-related experiences and the fundamentally social nature of the concept distinguishes perceived social impact from related concepts, such as self-efficacy. Whereas perceived social impact refers to the *experience* that one's actions at work have succeeded in benefiting others, self-efficacy concerns the *belief* in one's capability to achieve desired outcomes and does not speak to the idea that one's work is benefiting others. Conceptually, the

relational job design framework suggests that employees who perceive that their actions have a positive impact on others are more likely to seek to benefit others (Grant, 2007). As the definition of SMC includes employees' perceptions of cooperation, mutual care, and responsibility for the wellbeing of others, we suggest that SMC strengthens the perception of social impact because organizations characterized by SMC offer their employees various opportunities to have a positive impact on others. Specifically, work environments characterized by SMC involve frequent prosocial interactions in the workplace (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013), which may enable employees to see how their actions benefit others.

Socio-moral climate is inherently participative in that it involves employees having opportunities to contribute and influence. Although varying in the degree of actual influence in decision-making (Dachler and Wilpert, 1978), employee participation describes a process that focuses on employees' needs and gives them a voice (Earley and Lind, 1987). A participative climate allows employees to experience that they have the power to influence their environment (Spreitzer, 1996). A recent meta-analysis indicates that a participative work climate promotes prosocial behavior within organizations (Weber et al., 2020). Moreover, Lee et al. (2019a) investigated the effects of participative human resource practices and found a positive association between information sharing in organizations and perceived social impact. These findings suggest that opportunities for prosocial influence might be more salient for employees experiencing higher levels of SMC, thus promoting their perception of social impact. Drawing on the relational job design framework and the empirical findings mentioned above, we hypothesize the following:

Hypothesis 1: SMC is positively related to employees' perceived social impact.

Perceived Social Impact and Socially Responsible Purchase Intention

According to the relational job design framework (Grant, 2007), perceived social impact is necessary for prosocial behavior to occur. Prosocial behaviors refer to various actions that are intended to protect or promote the wellbeing and welfare of other individuals or groups (Bolino and Grant, 2016; Ma et al., 2017; Jung et al., 2020), such as neighbors, coworkers, or the superordinate group of humankind (Reese and Kohlmann, 2015; Costa Pinto et al., 2020). When employees feel that their actions at work have a positive impact on others, they are more likely to engage in behavior that positively impacts the lives of others (Grant, 2007). Empirical support for this notion comes from studies with employees in the airline industry (Ho and Wu, 2019) and the military service (Castanheira et al., 2016). Employees who perceive that they can positively influence others through their work feel closer and emotionally attached to others (Grant, 2008a), promoting prosocial behavior toward them (Korchmaros and Kenny, 2001). Experimental research provides evidence for such an effect for different prosocial

work behaviors. For example, enhancing perceived social impact was found to increase employees' efforts to collect money for those in need among employees of a fundraising organization (Grant et al., 2007) and the helpfulness of lifeguards toward guests (Grant, 2008b).

When employees repeatedly perceive that they can positively influence the lives of others at work, they should become increasingly convinced that their actions generally have a positive impact. This notion is in line with learninggeneralization theory (Kohn and Schooler, 1973), suggesting that experiences in the organizational sphere translate into nonoccupational realities. Extant research has found evidence for such a learning-generalization effect, indicating that people learn from experiences in their jobs and generalize what they have learned to nonwork realities (Spenner, 1988). Abundant empirical support for this proposition also stems from research on work-family spillover, which has revealed that experiences at work or in the family domain (e.g., support, conflict, and satisfaction) have a considerable impact on behavior, psychological functioning, and wellbeing in the respective other domain (Ford et al., 2007; Beigi et al., 2019). In support of this view, research on bottom-up processes indicates that domain-specific evaluations may generalize over time to global evaluations. For example, it has been shown that task-specific and occupational self-efficacy beliefs predict subsequent changes in general self-efficacy beliefs (Miyoshi, 2012; Grether et al., 2018). Utilizing this bottom-up perspective, we argue that the work-related perception of social impact generalizes over time to a more global perception of social impact in areas of life other than work.

The perception of social impact implies the awareness that one's actions indeed have consequences for the lives of others (Grant, 2007). Awareness of consequences is central to the definition of moral decision-making (Schwartz, 1968) and has been highlighted as a key component in influential models of ethical behavior (Schwartz, 1977; Rest, 1984). Being aware of the overall consequences of their actions for the lives of others is necessary for people to feel responsible for engaging in prosocial actions. In the specific case of socially responsible purchasing, awareness of one's own impact on others is particularly important. Individuals who intend to engage in responsible purchasing aim to mitigate the harm and exploitation of humans, animals, and the environment through their purchase decisions (Burke et al., 2014). Given that these goals can only be achieved if many people purchase responsibly, consumers commonly overlook or deny their own contribution and influence (Schlaile et al., 2018). Conversely, a strong sense of consumer effectiveness has been shown to facilitate responsible consumerism (e.g., Cojuharenco et al., 2016). Based on these considerations, we suggest that the perception of social impact is related to prosociality in the form of socially responsible purchase intention. Specifically, we hypothesize the following:

Hypothesis 2: Employees' perceived social impact is positively related to their socially responsible purchase intention.

Socio-Moral Climate and Socially Responsible Purchase Intention

According to Karasek's (2004) idea of job socialization, workplaces are social environments in which adult learning processes occur, and the effects of these learning processes are not limited to the work domain but extend to other areas of life. This is consistent with the conceptualization of spillover as an intraindividual contagion process that occurs across different roles (Bolger et al., 1989; Carlson et al., 2019). For example, employees with opportunities for social interaction at work may develop conversational skills, which are also helpful for conciliation between friends or family members. Work environments characterized by SMC likely contribute to the perception of social impact among employees, which may stimulate socially responsible purchasing in their private sphere. Previous studies that investigated spillover effects of SMC provide support for the potential of SMC to initiate socialization and suggest that SMC is related to employee prosocial behavior. In a crosssectional study, SMC was shown to be related to communityrelated prosocial attitudes, indicating that the experience of socio-moral practices at work may generalize to other contexts (Weber et al., 2009). Another cross-sectional study found that SMC was positively related to employees' ethics-related attitudes and behavioral orientations beyond their pre-occupational childhood socialization experiences (Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013). We extend this line of research by suggesting that SMC affects employees' prosocial behavioral intentions outside the work context. In particular, we hypothesize that SMC has an indirect effect on employees' socially responsible purchase intention through changes in their perceptions of social impact.

Hypothesis 3: SMC is positively and indirectly related to employees' socially responsible purchase intention *via* perceived social impact.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample and Procedure

We tested the hypotheses using a two-wave study design with a time lag of 12 months. This time lag is widely considered to be an appropriate period to capture socialization (Bauer et al., 1998; Woodrow and Guest, 2020). Participants were recruited via a German online panel platform. The use of an online panel allowed us to collect a large and heterogeneous sample. Online panel data are comparable to data collected via conventional methods in terms of reliability and validity (Buhrmester et al., 2011; Walter et al., 2019). The participants had to answer all items to complete the survey. To ensure data quality, we followed recommendations for detecting careless responders (Meade and Craig, 2012) and excluded participants based on their response time (< 2 s per item), response consistency (even-odd consistency), and bogus items. Of the 605 employees who participated at T1, 113 participants were excluded due to careless responding. Of the remaining 492 employees at T1, 191 employees completed the questionnaire at T2, yielding a response rate of 39%.

At T1, 48% of the respondents were female. Participants' mean age was 41.8 years (SD = 10.8). A total of 27% held a bachelor's degree or better, and 46% had a secondary school diploma or less. A total of 51% of the participants had a monthly net income of up to 1,500 Euros minus rent. The mean weekly working hours were 38.4 (SD = 10.0), and 26% of the participants held supervisory positions. Approximately half of the sample (49%) had worked in their organization for at least 5 years, and approximately two-thirds (65%) worked in the private (vs. public) sector. At T2, the mean age was 45.5 years (SD = 10.6). A total of 51% of employees had an income of up to 1,500 Euro minus rent. The mean weekly working hours were 37.5 (SD = 10.3), and 22% of the participants held supervisory positions.

Attrition Analysis

To explore whether there was differential attrition, we conducted a series of t-tests and chi-square tests using sociodemographic variables and the study variables. We compared the employees who participated at T1 and T2 with those who participated at T1 only and found no differences between the samples in terms of socially responsible purchase intention [t(391.11) = -1.59, p = 0.11], perceived social impact [t(408.45) = -0.71, p = 0.47], SMC [t(389.68) = 0.04, p = 0.97],working hours [t(392.07) = -1.49, p = 0.14], supervisory position $[\gamma^2(1) = 0.29, p = 0.59]$, sector $[\gamma^2(2) = 0.61, p = 0.73]$, education level $[\chi^2(7) = 12.05, p = 0.10]$, tenure $[\chi^2(2) = 2.52, p = 0.28]$, income $[\chi^2(4) = 2.01, p = 0.73]$, and gender $[\chi^2(1) = 0.04,$ p = 0.84]. However, those who participated at T1 and T2 were slightly older (M = 44.71, SD = 10.36) than the dropouts (M = 39.94, SD = 10.68), t(413.51) = 4.91, p < 0.01.

Measures

The German versions of the scales are provided in the **Appendix**.

Socio-Moral Climate

Socio-moral climate was assessed with the validated 21-item version of the SMC scale (Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2015) developed by Weber et al. (2009). The scale measures the five components of SMC: (1) open confrontation with conflicts (e.g., "In our organization, we deal openly with conflicts and disagreements"), (2) appreciation and respect (e.g., "Our employees are treated with respect regardless of their qualifications or position"), (3) open communication and participative cooperation (e.g., "In our organization, everyone has a voice on important organizational matters"), (4) allocation of responsibility (e.g., "In our organization, everyone is challenged according to his/her skillset"), and (5) organizational concern (e.g., "Although difficult, our organization attempts to meet the needs of all its members"). The items were rated on a 5-point scale with response options ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree). Cronbach's alpha was 0.95.

Perceived Social Impact

We assessed perceived social impact with three items developed by Grant (2008b). A sample item is "I feel that I can have a

positive impact on others through my work." The response scale ranged from 1 (*strongly disagree*) to 7 (*strongly agree*). Cronbach's alphas were 0.92 at both T1 and T2.

Socially Responsible Purchase Intention

Socially responsible purchase intention was measured using an adapted version of the six-item Consciousness for Fair Consumption Scale developed and validated by Balderjahn et al. (2013). In the original version, the Consciousness for Fair Consumption Scale is computed by multiplying the scores of the two subscales believe (e.g., "I only buy a product if I believe that in its production the workers' rights were adhered to.") and importance (e.g., "How important is it for you personally that in companies the workers' rights were adhered to."). We used a different introduction to reflect the actual buying situation that consumers find themselves in by incorporating a tradeoff between social and utilitarian product attributes (e.g., "I would spend more money on products if I had information that in product manufacturing the workers' rights were adhered to."). This approach reduces the potential bias due to social desirability. The response scale ranged from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree). Cronbach's alphas were 0.96 at T1 and 0.98 at T2.

Control Variables

We decided to include gender as a control variable in the analyses because women have been found to be more willing to consume responsibly than men (e.g., Costa Pinto et al., 2014). Additionally, gender is associated with perceptions of and behavior in prosocial contexts (Croson and Gneezy, 2009).

Data Analysis

Data were analyzed using path modeling as implemented in the lavaan package (Rosseel, 2012) using the statistics software R (R Core Team, 2019). Model fit was evaluated using the Yuan-Bentler scaled chi-square (χ^2) statistics (Yuan and Bentler, 2000), the comparative fit index (CFI), the Tucker-Lewis index (TLI), the root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), and the standardized root mean residual (SRMR). CFI and TLI values close to 0.90, RMSEA values less than 0.06, and SRMR values less than 0.08 indicate an acceptable fit of the model with the data (Hu and Bentler, 1999). Maximum likelihood estimation with robust standard errors is used.

In testing Hypothesis 1, we estimated the effect of SMC at T1 on perceived social impact at T2 while controlling for perceived social impact at T1. To evaluate Hypothesis 2, we tested the effect of perceived social impact at T1 on socially responsible purchase intention at T2, controlling for the effect of socially responsible purchase intention at T1. We followed Little's (2013) recommendations for testing indirect effects using two measurement points. Path *a* of the indirect effect represents the effect of SMC at T1 on perceived social impact at T2 (controlling for its temporal stability), and path *b* represents the effect of perceived social impact at T1 on socially responsible purchase intention at T2 (controlling for its temporal stability). To test for mediation, we estimated unstandardized indirect

effects (*ab*) and 95% bias-corrected confidence intervals derived from 1,000 bootstrap samples (BCa CI; Davison and Hinkley, 1997).

In longitudinal research, missing data are inevitable (Jeličić et al., 2009). Ignoring missing data may produce biased estimates, potentially leading to erroneous conclusions. Multiple imputation is a state-of-the-art missing data technique that helps avoid bias (D. A. Newman, 2014). While there is some debate about how to handle whole-wave missing data (Young and Johnson, 2015), multiple imputation has been shown to outperform listwise and pairwise deletion, even when the amount of missing data is large (D. A. Newman, 2014; Madley-Dowd et al., 2019) and data are not missing at random (MNAR; Mustillo and Kwon, 2015). We imputed missing data at the item level for all variables included in the model. We performed multivariate imputation by chained equations using the mice package in R (Van Buuren and Groothuis-Oudshoorn, 2011). In addition to the study variables, we included age, supervisory position, and weekly working hours as auxiliary variables in the imputation model. We used Bayesian linear regression to impute missing data in the continuous variables and logistic regression for the binary variables. The number of imputed datasets was set to m = 100. The fraction of missing information values ranged between 0.44 and 0.47, indicating an adequate level variability between imputed data sets (Madley-Dowd et al., 2019).

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the means, standard deviations, and intercorrelations of the study variables. Socio-moral climate was positively related to perceived social impact and socially responsible purchase intention at T1 and T2. In addition, we found positive correlations between perceived social impact and socially responsible purchase intention at T1 and T2. As expected, the correlations among the same variables over time were relatively high, indicating high temporal stabilities. For the control variable gender, there was a significant positive correlation only for socially responsible purchase intention at T1.

Following the recommendations of Becker et al. (2016), we conducted the analyses with and without gender as a control variable. The analyses revealed that the path coefficients were essentially the same for the models with and without control variables,¹ indicating that gender did not account for the findings. Therefore, we report only the findings of the model without gender. The fit indices indicated a good fit of the hypothesized model with the data: χ^2 (1) = 10.08, p < 0.01; TLI = 0.86; CFI = 0.99; SRMR = 0.04; and RMSEA = 0.14, 90% CI (0.07, 0.22). While the RMSEA value is above the generally recommended threshold of 0.06 (Hu and Bentler, 1999),

other model fit indices indicate an acceptable model fit. We note that using the RMSEA value for evaluating model fit in this case is problematic given that the RMSEA has been shown to falsely indicate poor fit for models with small degrees of freedom (Kenny et al., 2015). Table 2 shows the results of the path model. The significant path a (b = 0.29, SE = 0.07, 95% CI [0.15, 0.42]) indicates that SMC at T1 was positively related to perceived social impact at T2, and the significant path b (b = 0.09, SE = 0.04, 95% CI [0.01, 0.17]) shows that perceived social impact at T1 was positively related to socially responsible purchase intention at T2. Thus, the results supported Hypotheses 1 and 2. The significant direct effect c'(b = 0.22), SE = 0.07, 95% CI [0.08, 0.36]) indicates a positive relationship between SMC (T1) and socially responsible purchase intention (T2). Hypothesis 3 predicted that SMC is indirectly associated with socially responsible purchase intention via perceived social impact. The results showed that the indirect effect of SMC on socially responsible purchase intention via perceived social impact (ab) was significant (b = 0.03, SE = 0.01, 95% CI [0.01, 0.05]). Thus, Hypothesis 3 was also supported. Finally, the total effect (c) was significant and positive (b = 0.25, SE = 0.07, 95% CI [0.11, 0.39]).

To explore the potential effects of multiple imputation on the study results, we performed a supplementary sensitivity analysis, in which we included only complete cases. The results of the analysis showed that the path coefficients were very similar, except for the direct effect which was somewhat higher when using the multiply imputed data (path *a* (*b* = 0.28, *SE* = 0.10, 95% CI [0.09, 0.48]), path *b* (*b* = 0.11, *SE* = 0.06, 95% CI [0.00, 0.23]), direct effect path *c*' (*b* = 0.12, *SE* = 0.10, 95% CI [-0.08, 0.32]), indirect effect ab (*b* = 0.03, *SE* = 0.02, 95% CI [-0.01, 0.07]), and total effect *c* (*b* = 0.15, *SE* = 0.10, 95% CI [-0.04, 0.34]).

DISCUSSION

This study aimed to investigate the spillover effects of SMC on employees' prosocial behavior outside the work domain in the form of socially responsible purchase intention *via* perceived social impact. Linking the relational job design framework (Grant, 2007) and learning-generalization theory (Kohn and Schooler, 1973) with research on SMC, we have sought to contribute to a deeper understanding of the processes by which SMC is related to employees' responsible purchasing. Analyses of two-wave data revealed that SMC was positively related to perceived social impact and that perceived social impact was positively related to socially responsible purchase intention over a period of 1 year. In addition, the indirect effect of SMC *via* perceived social impact on socially responsible purchase intention was significant.

Theoretical Implications

This study advances research on SMC by providing evidence for a positive relationship between SMC and perceived social impact over the course of 1 year. Longitudinal investigations of SMC are scarce. To the best of our knowledge, only one

¹Fit indices of the model, including gender, were χ^2 (1) = 9.35, p < 0.01; TLI = 0.81; CFI = 0.99; SRMR = 0.03; RMSEA = 0.13, 90% CI [0.06, 0.21]. Standardized path coefficients controlling for temporal stability effects of the respective variables: path *a* (*b* = 0.29, *SE* = 0.07, 95% CI [0.16, 0.42]), path *b* (*b* = 0.09, *SE* = 0.04, 95% CI [0.01, 0.17]), direct effect path *c*' (*b* = 0.22, *SE* = 0.07, 95% CI [0.09, 0.37]), indirect effect *ab* (*b* = 0.03, *SE* = 0.01, 95% CI [0.00, 0.05]), total effect *c* (*b* = 0.25, *SE* = 0.07, 95% CI [0.12, 0.39]).

S. No.		М	SD	1	2	3	4	5
1	Socio-moral climate T1	3.29	0.83	0.95				
2	Perceived social impact T1	5.05	1.47	0.40***	0.92			
3	Perceived social impact T2	5.13	1.41	0.35***	0.59***	0.92		
4	Socially responsible purchase intention T1	5.15	1.53	0.09*	0.18***	0.27**	0.96	
5	Socially responsible purchase intention T2	4.95	1.54	0.16*	0.26**	0.34***	0.66***	0.98
5	Gender ^a	0.48	0.05	-0.04	0.01	-0.12	0.11*	0.07

TABLE 1 | Descriptive statistics, reliabilities, and bivariate correlations of the study variables.

Pearson correlation coefficients: T1/T1: N = 492; T1/T2 and T2/T2: N = 191. M, mean; SD, standard deviation. Cronbach's alphas are given along the diagonal. *0 = male; 1 = female. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001, two-tailed.

TABLE 2 | Results of path analyses of the hypothesized model.

	Perceived social impact (T2)					S	ocially respo	ly responsible purchase intention (T2)			
	Est	SE	z	95% CI	β	Est	SE	z	95% CI	β	
SMC (T1)	0.29***	0.07	4.26	[0.15, 0.42]	0.17	0.22**	0.07	3.09	[0.08, 0.36]	0.12	
PSI (T1) SRPI (T1)	0.51***	0.04	13.67	[0.44, 0.59]	0.53	0.09* 0.63***	0.04 0.04	2.12 17.91	[0.01, 0.17] [0.56, 0.70]	0.08 0.60	

Pooled estimates of 100 imputed datasets. Sample size after imputation: N = 492. SMC, socio-moral climate; PSI, perceived social impact; SRPI, socially responsible purchase intention; and β , standardized regression coefficient. *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001.

study has examined the effects of SMC using more than one measurement point and found that SMC was positively related to employees' exercise of individual character strengths at work over a period of 6 months (Höge et al., 2020). We found that SMC was positively related to perceived social impact over 1 year. This result advances the understanding of how SMC affects employees' prosocial behavior over time. In its original conceptualization, SMC is assumed to stimulate moral socialization at work by promoting social and moral skills and competencies (Weber et al., 2009). However, empirical research did not find evidence for this idea (Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016). Our results indicate that perceived social impact may be an alternative mechanism linking SMC and prosocial employee behavior.

Consistent with Grant's (2007) relational job design framework, empirical research has found that perceived social impact predicts prosocial work motivation (Castanheira et al., 2016; Ho and Wu, 2019) and prosocial behavior at work (Grant et al., 2007; Grant, 2008b). Building on the learninggeneralization hypothesis (Kohn and Schooler, 1973) and its empirical evidence, we proposed that the perception of social impact may affect prosocial behavioral intentions beyond the work domain due to the generalization of perceived social impact. The findings provide initial support for this idea. By linking the work-related construct of perceived social impact with a prosocial intention outcome outside work, we complement the relational job design framework (2007) and its empirical support (Grant et al., 2007; Grant, 2008b; Castanheira et al., 2016; Ho and Wu, 2019).

Drawing on Karasek's (2004) work on job socialization, we provided arguments for a spillover effect of SMC at

work on prosocial behavior outside the work context and found initial evidence for such an effect. This study complements prior research indicating that the characteristics of work have long-term effects on personal attitudes (Weston et al., 2021), family life (Lee et al., 2019b), and leisure behavior (Staines, 1980). With respect to prosocial behavioral orientations, the results of our study support and extend previous findings on spillover effects of SMC (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013) by providing evidence for perceived social impact as an underlying mechanism. Considering that SMC is an indicator of the presence of participative organizational structures and practices (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013), the results of the study are consistent with recent meta-analytic findings on organizational democracy, suggesting that employees are socialized through participative organizational structures and practices to the extent that their prosocial behavioral orientations further develop (Weber et al., 2020).

Practical Implications

This study provides organizations with guidance on how to increase the perception of social impact among their employees. Considering that employees who are aware of their social impact in the workplace are more likely to make efforts to help customers (Grant et al., 2007; Grant, 2008b) and to contribute to service quality and organizational success (Anderson and Zeithaml, 1984), the findings may be particularly relevant for organizations in the service sector. To develop high levels of SMC, organizations may implement interventions designed to increase cooperation, egalitarian communication, mutual care, and respect in the organization. In this respect, leadership interventions may be particularly effective because leaders play an important role in establishing and developing the organizational climate, including prosocial norms and values (Grojean et al., 2004).

The organizational democracy literature (Weber et al., 2020) and the just community approach as the foundation of the SMC concept suggest that it is important to not only rethink the role and behavior of leaders but also the hierarchical structures and principles of command and control in organizations. Concerns about the decline of participation in social organizations (Putnam, 2000) and the critique of privatism in modern Western societies (Power et al., 1989) point to the importance of a greater consideration of the just community approach in companies and democratic organization of work. Democratically organized companies that enable employee participation may lead to employees taking responsibility for others and becoming involved in societal issues.

Moreover, the findings of this study indicate that employees who feel that their work positively affects others' lives have higher intentions to make responsible purchase decisions. Governments and nongovernmental organizations that aim to support responsible purchasing should include labor contexts in their campaigns, reminding employees that they are able to make a difference in the lives of others. Such an intervention is relatively easy to implement for employees in social professions (e.g., nurses and childcare workers) because their work offers many opportunities to affect others positively. In contrast, employees in other professions may have fewer opportunities to recognize their positive impact on the lives of others (e.g., warehouse workers). These employees may benefit most from interventions aimed at increasing perceived social impact.

Limitations and Future Directions

As with other studies, this study is not without limitations. In this study, all variables were assessed using self-reports, which raises concerns about potential bias due to common method variance (Podsakoff et al., 2012). By using two waves of data collection, we followed Podsakoff et al.'s (2012) suggestion to mitigate common method bias by introducing a temporal separation between the predictor and outcome variables. Therefore, it seems relatively unlikely that the results are biased due to common method variance. Self-reports also carry the risk of social desirability bias, which raises the possibility that employees overreported their socially responsible purchase intentions. However, we assured the participants of their anonymity, which lowers concerns with social desirability. In addition, research suggests that forcing respondents to weigh tradeoffs between social and utilitarian product attributes may prevent overreporting of socially responsible purchasing behavior (Auger et al., 2008). To obtain more realistic reports of socially responsible purchasing intentions, we included this tradeoff in the introduction of the items ("I would spend more money on products if I had information that ... ").

Additionally, it should be noted that the effects were relatively small in magnitude. However, small effect sizes are common in autoregressive models and should not be dismissed as trivial because controlling for temporal stability removes a large portion of the variance in the outcome variable (Adachi and Willoughby, 2015). Another explanation for the small effects is that we examined relationships between employees' experiences at work and their behavioral intentions in the nonwork domain. Indeed, small effect sizes are common in spillover research (Maki et al., 2019). However, even small effects may have meaningful practical implications (Prentice and Miller, 1992).

On a related note, the relatively small effect sizes found in this study indicate that moderators may be present. The relational job design framework suggests that affective commitment to beneficiaries moderates the relationship between perceived social impact and the motivation to make a prosocial difference (Grant, 2007). That is, prosocial behavior is influenced not only by the perception of one's impact but also by the extent to which one cares about the other person. Thus, the effect of perceived social impact on socially responsible purchase intention may vary depending on employees' affective commitment to, for example, factory workers. Previous research has shown that people who feel more connected to others are more likely to believe that their actions have a substantial impact (Cojuharenco et al., 2016) and that feeling connected and emotionally bound to humanity predicts Fairtrade consumption (Reese and Kohlmann, 2015). Therefore, we recommend that further research on responsible purchasing takes a closer look at the temporal dynamics and reciprocal effects of employees' feelings of connectedness and their perceptions of (social) impact.

We argued that the association between perceived social impact and socially responsible purchase intention is due to generalization processes from specific (i.e., work-related) perceived social impact to more global assessments of one's positive impact on others. The finding of a significant relationship between perceived social impact and socially responsible purchase intention does not directly support the notion that generalization is the underlying process, as we did not assess employees' general perceptions of social impact. In fact, the effect of perceived social impact on socially responsible purchase intention may occur through processes other than generalization. For example, Sonnentag and Grant (2012) conducted a daily diary study with rescue workers and found that the experience of helping others at work was positively related to positive affectivity at bedtime. Considering that responsible purchasing has been shown to be strongly influenced by consumers' positive emotional states (Ladhari and Tchetgna, 2017), future studies may explore the role of positive affectivity in the relationship between perceived social impact and responsible purchasing.

In addition to the mediating effect *via* perceived social impact, we found a direct effect of SMC on socially responsible purchase intention, suggesting that other processes may explain the effect. Future research might examine moral values and emotions as mechanisms underlying the relationship between SMC and socially responsible purchasing. For example, previous studies have shown that moral elevation – the feeling of warmth

and expansion in response to other people's goodness, kindness, and compassion (Haidt, 2003) – is an important mechanism underlying associations between prosocial contexts and prosocial intentions (Pohling et al., 2019).

More research is needed that investigates the effects of SMC over time. The only other longitudinal study thus far has examined the effects of SMC on the applicability of signature character strengths at work 6 months later (Höge et al., 2020). Previous studies on the potential spillover effects of SMC on prosocial attitudes and behavioral intentions beyond the work context have used cross-sectional data (Weber et al., 2009; Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2013). Although this study provides initial longitudinal evidence for the spillover of SMC, future research should aim to provide more in-depth insights into the temporal dynamics of SMC and employees' experiences and behavior outside the work context. Because there was no theoretical basis for defining optimal time lags between the measurements of the variables examined in this study, we followed the job socialization research (Bauer et al., 1998; Woodrow and Guest, 2020) and used two measurement points with a time lag of 12 months. Future studies should use multiple measurement points to examine when the effects of SMC on employee prosociality occur. This knowledge will be particularly useful for researchers investigating the effects of organizational interventions designed to increase SMC.

CONCLUSION

This study sought to gain an in-depth understanding of the process by which SMC in organizations spills over to employees' prosocial behavioral intentions outside work. We examined the relationships between SMC, perceived social impact, and socially responsible purchase intention over a time period of 1 year and tested the indirect relationship between SMC and socially responsible purchase intention *via* perceived social impact. The results showed that SMC was positively related to perceived social impact, which, in turn, was positively related to employees' socially responsible purchase intention. The study results suggest that experiences at work may affect employees' socially responsible purchasing in their private lives.

REFERENCES

- Adachi, P., and Willoughby, T. (2015). Interpreting effect sizes when controlling for stability effects in longitudinal autoregressive models: implications for psychological science. *Eur. J. Dev. Psychol.* 12, 116–128. doi: 10.1080/1740 5629.2014.963549
- Anderson, C. R., and Zeithaml, C. P. (1984). Stage of the product life cycle, business strategy, and business performance. *Acad. Manag. J.* 27, 5–24. doi: 10.2307/255954
- Auger, P., Devinney, T. M., Louviere, J. J., and Burke, P. F. (2008). Do social product features have value to consumers? *Int. J. Res. Mark.* 25, 183–191. doi: 10.1016/j.ijresmar.2008.03.005
- Aust, I., Matthews, B., and Muller-Camen, M. (2020). Common good HRM: a paradigm shift in sustainable HRM? *Hum. Resour. Manag. Rev.* 30:100705. doi: 10.1016/j.hrmr.2019.100705

This study advances research on SMC and the relational job design framework by providing evidence for longitudinal relationships of their core constructs in the context of responsible purchasing. The findings provide organizations with guidance on how to increase employees' perceptions of social impact and their responsible purchasing.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the German Psychological Society (DGPs) guidelines and the Local Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Psychology and Human Movement at the University of Hamburg. The protocol was approved by the Local Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Psychology and Human Movement at the University of Hamburg. The participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MSc, GT, CB, and EB contributed to the conception and design of the study. MSc organized the database, performed the statistical analyses, and wrote the first draft of the manuscript. MSt contributed to the data analysis. MSt, GT, CB, and EB contributed to the manuscript revision, and read and approved the submitted version. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the Federal Ministry of Education and Research (grant number 02L14A040).

- Balderjahn, I., Peyer, M., and Paulssen, M. (2013). Consciousness for fair consumption: conceptualization, scale development and empirical validation. *Int. J. Consum. Stud.* 37, 546–555. doi: 10.1111/ijcs.12030
- Bauer, T. N., Morrison, E. W., and Callister, R. R. (1998). "Organizational socialization: A review and directions for future research," in *Research in Personnel and Human Resources Management. Vol. 16.* ed. G. R. Ferris (Bingley, UK: JAI Press), 149–214.
- Becker, T. E., Atinc, G., Breaugh, J. A., Carlson, K. D., Edwards, J. R., and Spector, P. E. (2016). Statistical control in correlational studies: 10 essential recommendations for organizational researchers. *J. Organ. Behav.* 37, 157–167. doi: 10.1002/job.2053
- Beigi, M., Shirmohammadi, M., and Otaye-Ebede, L. (2019). Half a century of work–nonwork interface research: a review and taxonomy of terminologies. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 68, 449–478. doi: 10.1111/apps.12168
- Bolger, N., DeLongis, A., Kessler, R. C., and Wethington, E. (1989). The contagion of stress across multiple roles. J. Marriage Fam. 51, 175–183. doi: 10.2307/352378

- Bolino, M. C., and Grant, A. M. (2016). The bright side of being prosocial at work, and the dark side, too: a review and agenda for research on other-oriented motives, behavior, and impact in organizations. Acad. Manag. Ann. 10, 599–670. doi: 10.5465/19416520.2016.1153260
- Buhrmester, M., Kwang, T., and Gosling, S. D. (2011). Amazon's mechanical Turk. Perspect. Psychol. Sci. 6, 3–5. doi: 10.1177/1745691610393980
- Burke, F. P., Eckert, C., and Davis, S. (2014). Segmenting consumers' reasons for and against ethical consumption. *Eur. J. Mark.* 48, 2237–2261. doi: 10.1108/EJM-06-2013-0294
- Carlson, D. S., Thompson, M. J., and Kacmar, K. M. (2019). Double crossed: the spillover and crossover effects of work demands on work outcomes through the family. *J. Appl. Psychol.* 104, 214–228. doi: 10.1037/ apl0000348
- Castanheira, F., Chambel, M. J., Lopes, S., and Oliveira-Cruz, F. (2016). Relational job characteristics and work engagement: mediation by prosocial motivation. *Mil. Psychol.* 28, 226–240. doi: 10.1037/mil0000116
- Cojuharenco, I., Cornelissen, G., and Karelaia, N. (2016). Yes, I can: feeling connected to others increases perceived effectiveness and socially responsible behavior. *J. Environ. Psychol.* 48, 75–86. doi: 10.1016/j. jenvp.2016.09.002
- Costa Pinto, D., Borges, A., Maurer Herter, M., and Boto Ferreira, M. (2020). Reducing in group bias in ethical consumption: the role of construal levels and social goodwill. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 30, 31–63. doi: 10.1017/ beq.2019.25
- Costa Pinto, D., Herter, M. M., Rossi, P., and Borges, A. (2014). Going green for self or for others? Gender and identity salience effects on sustainable consumption. *Int. J. Consum. Stud.* 38, 540–549. doi: 10.1111/ijcs.12114
- Croson, R., and Gneezy, U. (2009). Gender differences in preferences. J. Econ. Lit. 47, 448–474. doi: 10.1257/jel.47.2.448
- Dachler, H. P., and Wilpert, B. (1978). Conceptual dimensions and boundaries of participation in organizations: a critical evaluation. Adm. Sci. Q. 23, 1–39. doi: 10.2307/2392432
- Davison, A. C., and Hinkley, D. V. (1997). Bootstrap Methods and Their Application. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- Earley, P. C., and Lind, E. A. (1987). Procedural justice and participation in task selection: the role of control in mediating justice judgments. J. Pers. Soc. Psychol. 52, 1148–1160. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.52.6.1148
- Ford, M. T., Heinen, B. A., and Langkamer, K. L. (2007). Work and family satisfaction and conflict: a meta-analysis of cross-domain relations. J. Appl. Psychol. 92, 57–80. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.92.1.57
- Grant, A. M. (2007). Relational job design and the motivation to make a prosocial difference. Acad. Manag. Rev. 32, 393–417. doi: 10.5465/ amr.2007.24351328
- Grant, A. M. (2008a). Designing jobs to do good: dimensions and psychological consequences of prosocial job characteristics. J. Posit. Psychol. 3, 19–39. doi: 10.1080/17439760701751012
- Grant, A. M. (2008b). The significance of task significance: job performance effects, relational mechanisms, and boundary conditions. J. Appl. Psychol. 93, 108–124. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.93.1.108
- Grant, A. M., Campbell, E. M., Chen, G., Cottone, K., Lapedis, D., and Lee, K. (2007). Impact and the art of motivation maintenance: the effects of contact with beneficiaries on persistence behavior. *Organ. Behav. Hum. Decis. Process.* 103, 53–67. doi: 10.1016/j.obhdp.2006.05.004
- Grether, T., Sowislo, J. F., and Wiese, B. S. (2018). Top-down or bottom-up? Prospective relations between general and domain-specific self-efficacy beliefs during a work-family transition. *Personal. Individ. Differ.* 121, 131–139. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2017.09.021
- Grojean, M. W., Resick, C. J., Dickson, M. W., and Smith, D. B. (2004). Leaders, values, and organizational climate: examining leadership strategies for establishing an organizational climate regarding ethics. *J. Bus. Ethics* 55, 223–241. doi: 10.1007/s10551-004-1275-5
- Haidt, J. (2003). "The moral emotions," in *Handbook of Affective Sciences*. eds.R. J. Davidson, K. R. Scherer and H. H. Goldsmith (New York: Oxford University Press), 852–870.
- Ho, C. W., and Wu, C. C. (2019). Using job design to motivate employees to improve high-quality service in the airline industry. J. Air Transp. Manag. 77, 17–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jairtraman.2019.02.008
- Höge, T., Strecker, C., Hausler, M., Huber, A., and Höfer, S. (2020). Perceived socio-moral climate and the applicability of signature character strengths

at work: a study among hospital physicians. Appl. Res. Qual. Life 15, 463–484. doi: 10.1007/s11482-018-9697-x

- Hu, L., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model. Multidiscip. J.* 6, 1–55. doi: 10.1080/10705519909540118
- Jeličić, H., Phelps, E., and Lerner, R. M. (2009). Use of missing data methods in longitudinal studies: the persistence of bad practices in developmental psychology. *Dev. Psychol.* 45, 1195–1199. doi: 10.1037/a0015665
- Jung, H., Seo, E., Han, E., Henderson, M. D., and Patall, E. A. (2020). Prosocial modeling: a meta-analytic review and synthesis. *Psychol. Bull.* 146, 635–663. doi: 10.1037/bul0000235
- Karasek, R. A. (2004). Job socialization: the carry-over effects of work on political and leisure activities. *Bull. Sci. Technol. Soc.* 24, 284–304. doi: 10.1177/0270467604267544
- Kenny, D. A., Kaniskan, B., and McCoach, D. B. (2015). The performance of RMSEA in models with small degrees of freedom. *Sociol. Methods Res.* 44, 486–507. doi: 10.1177/0049124114543236
- Kohn, M. L., and Schooler, C. (1973). Occupational experience and psychological functioning: an assessment of reciprocal effects. Am. Sociol. Rev. 38, 97–118. doi: 10.2307/2094334
- Korchmaros, J., and Kenny, D. A. (2001). Emotional closeness as a mediator of the effect of genetic relatedness on altruism. *Psychol. Sci.* 12, 262–265. doi: 10.1111/1467-9280.00348
- Ladhari, R., and Tchetgna, N. M. (2017). Values, socially conscious behaviour and consumption emotions as predictors of Canadians' intent to buy fair trade products. *Int. J. Consum. Stud.* 41, 696–705. doi: 10.1111/ ijcs.12382
- Lee, S., Mogle, J. A., Jackson, C. L., and Buxton, O. M. (2019b). What's not fair about work keeps me up: perceived unfairness about work impairs sleep through negative work-to-family spillover. *Soc. Sci. Res.* 81, 23–31. doi: 10.1016/j.ssresearch.2019.03.002
- Lee, J. W., Zhang, L., Dallas, M., and Chin, H. (2019a). Managing relational conflict in Korean social enterprises: the role of participatory HRM practices, diversity climate, and perceived social impact. *Bus. Ethics* 28, 19–35. doi: 10.1111/beer.12204
- Lempert, W. (1988). Individual morality and industrialized work: some theoretical considerations. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 9, 475–496. doi: 10.1177/0143831X8894004
- Lempert, W. (1993). Moralische Sozialisation im Beruf: Bedingungsvarianten und -konfigurationen, Prozeßstrukturen, Untersuchungsstrategien. Zeitschrift Für Sozialisationsforschung Und Erziehungssoziologie. 13, 2–35.
- Little, T. D. (2013). Longitudinal Structural Equation Modeling. New York: The Guilford Press.
- Ma, L. K., Tunney, R. J., and Ferguson, E. (2017). Does gratitude enhance prosociality?: a meta-analytic review. *Psychol. Bull.* 143, 601–635. doi: 10.1037/ bul0000103
- Madley-Dowd, P., Hughes, R., Tilling, K., and Heron, J. (2019). The proportion of missing data should not be used to guide decisions on multiple imputation. *J. Clin. Epidemiol.* 110, 63–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2019.02.016
- Maki, A., Carrico, A. R., Raimi, K. T., Truelove, H. B., Araujo, B., and Yeung, K. L. (2019). Meta-analysis of pro-environmental behaviour spillover. *Nat. Sustainability* 2, 307–315. doi: 10.1038/s41893-019-0263-9
- Meade, A. W., and Craig, S. B. (2012). Identifying careless responses in survey data. *Psychol. Methods* 17, 437–455. doi: 10.1037/a0028085
- Miyoshi, A. (2012). The stability and causal effects of task-specific and generalized self-efficacy in college. *Jpn. Psychol. Res.* 54, 150–158. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-5884.2011.00481.x
- Mohr, L., Webb, D., and Harris, K. (2001). Do consumers expect companies to be socially responsible? The impact of corporate social responsibility on buying behavior. *J. Consum. Aff.* 35, 45–72. doi: 10.1111/j.1745-6606.2001. tb00102.x
- Mustillo, S., and Kwon, S. (2015). Auxiliary variables in multiple imputation when data are missing not at random. *J. Math. Sociol.* 39, 73–91. doi: 10.1080/0022250X.2013.877898
- Newman, D. A. (2014). Missing data: five practical guidelines. Organ. Res. Methods 17, 372-411. doi: 10.1177/1094428114548590
- Newman, A., Round, H., Bhattacharya, S., and Roy, A. (2017). Ethical climates in organizations: a review and research agenda. *Bus. Ethics Q.* 27, 475–512. doi: 10.1017/beq.2017.23
- Pircher Verdorfer, A., Steinheider, B., and Burkus, D. (2015). Exploring the socio-moral climate in organizations: an empirical examination of determinants, consequences, and mediating mechanisms. *J. Bus. Ethics* 132, 233–248. doi: 10.1007/s10551-014-2319-0
- Pircher Verdorfer, A., and Weber, W. G. (2016). Examining the link between organizational democracy and employees' moral development. J. Moral Educ. 45, 59–73. doi: 10.1080/03057240.2015.1136600
- Pircher Verdorfer, A., Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Seyr, S. (2013). The relationship between organizational democracy and socio-moral climate: exploring effects of the ethical context in organizations. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 34, 423–449. doi: 10.1177/0143831X12450054
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 63, 539–569. doi: 10.1146/annurevpsych-120710-100452
- Pohling, R., Diessner, R., Stacy, S., Woodward, D., and Strobel, A. (2019). Moral elevation and economic games: the moderating role of personality. *Front. Psychol.* 10:1381. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01381
- Power, C., Higgins, A., and Kohlberg, L. (1989). Lawrence Kohlberg's Approach to Moral Education. New York: Columbia University Press.
- Power, C., and Higgins-D'Alessandro, A. (2008). "The just community approach to moral education and the moral atmosphere of the school," in *Handbook* of Moral and Character Education. eds. L. Nucci and D. Narvaez (Abingdon: Routledge), 230–248.
- Prentice, D. A., and Miller, D. T. (1992). When small effects are impressive. *Psychol. Bull.* 112, 160–164. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.112.1.160
- Putnam, R. D. (2000). Bowling Alone: The Collapse and Revival of American Community. New York: Simon and Schuster.
- R Core Team (2019). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing. Available at: https://www.r-project. org/ (Accessed January 13, 2020).
- Reese, G., and Kohlmann, F. (2015). Feeling global, acting ethically: global identification and fair trade consumption. J. Soc. Psychol. 155, 98–106. doi: 10.1080/00224545.2014.992850
- Rest, J. R. (1984). Research on moral development: implications for training counseling psychologists. *Couns. Psychol.* 12, 19–29. doi: 10.1177/ 0011000084123003
- Rosseel, Y. (2012). lavaan: an R package for structural equation modeling. J. Stat. Softw. 48, 1–36. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i02
- Schlaile, M. P., Klein, K., and Böck, W. (2018). From bounded morality to consumer social responsibility: a transdisciplinary approach to socially responsible consumption and its obstacles. J. Bus. Ethics 149, 561–588. doi: 10.1007/s10551-016-3096-8
- Schnell, T., Höge, T., and Pollet, E. (2013). Predicting meaning in work: theory, data, implications. J. Posit. Psychol. 8, 543–554. doi: 10.1080/17439760. 2013.830763
- Schwartz, S. H. (1968). Awareness of consequences and the influence of moral norms on interpersonal behavior. Sociometry 31, 355–369. doi: 10.2307/2786399
- Schwartz, S. H. (1977). Normative influences on altruism. Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 10, 221–279. doi: 10.1016/S0065-2601(08)60358-5
- Sonnentag, S., and Grant, A. M. (2012). Doing good at work feels good at home, but not right away: when and why perceived prosocial impact predicts positive affect. *Pers. Psychol.* 65, 495–530. doi: 10.1111/j.1744-6570.2012.01251.x
- Spenner, K. I. (1988). Social stratification, work, and personality. Annu. Rev. Sociol. 14, 69–97. doi: 10.1146/annurev.so.14.080188.000441
- Spreitzer, G. M. (1996). Social structural characteristics of psychological empowerment. Acad. Manag. J. 39, 483–504. doi: 10.2307/256789

- Staines, G. L. (1980). Spillover versus compensation: a review of the literature on the relationship between work and nonwork. *Hum. Relat.* 33, 111–129. doi: 10.1177/001872678003300203
- Steinheider, B., Hoffmeister, V., Brunk, K., Garrett, T., and Munoz, R. (2020). Dare to care: exploring the relationships between socio-moral climate, perceived stress, and work engagement in a social service agency. J. Soc. Serv. Res. 46, 394–405. doi: 10.1080/01488376.2019.1575324
- Steinheider, B., and Pircher Verdorfer, A. (2017). "Climate change? Exploring the role of organisational climate for psychological ownership," in *Theoretical Orientations and Practical Applications of Psychological Ownership*. eds. C. Olckers, L. van Zyl and L. van der Vaart (Cham, Switzerland: Springer Nature), 275–293.
- Van Buuren, S., and Groothuis-Oudshoorn, K. (2011). mice: multivariate imputation by chained equations in R. J. Stat. Softw. 45, 1–68. doi: 10.18637/ jss.v045.i03
- van Dick, R., Crawshaw, J. R., Karpf, S., Schuh, S. C., and Zhang, X. (2020). Identity, importance, and their roles in how corporate social responsibility affects workplace attitudes and behavior. *J. Bus. Psychol.* 35, 159–169. doi: 10.1007/s10869-019-09619-w
- Walter, S. L., Seibert, S. E., Goering, D., and O'Boyle, E. H. (2019). A tale of two sample sources: do results from online panel data and conventional data converge? *J. Bus. Psychol.* 34, 425–452. doi: 10.1007/s10869-018-9552-y
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2008). Sociomoral atmosphere and prosocial and democratic value orientations in enterprises with different levels of structurally anchored participation. *Zeitschrift Fur Personalforschung* 22, 171–194. doi: 10.1177/239700220802200205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Schmid, B. E. (2009). The influence of organizational democracy on employees' socio-moral climate and prosocial behavioral orientations. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 1127–1149. doi: 10.1002/job.615
- Weston, S. J., Hill, P. L., and Cardador, M. T. (2021). Working toward a purpose: examining the cross-sectional and longitudinal effects of work characteristics on sense of purpose. *J. Pers.* 89, 244–257. doi: 10.1111/ jopy.12579
- Woodrow, C., and Guest, D. E. (2020). Pathways through organizational socialization: a longitudinal qualitative study based on the psychological contract. J. Occup. Organ. Psychol. 93, 110–133. doi: 10.1111/joop.12285
- Young, R., and Johnson, D. R. (2015). Handling missing values in longitudinal panel data with multiple imputation. J. Marriage Fam. 77, 277–294. doi: 10.1111/jomf.12144
- Yuan, K.-H., and Bentler, P. M. (2000). Three likelihood-based methods for mean and covariance structure analysis with nonnormal missing data. *Sociol. Methodol.* 30, 165–200. doi: 10.1111/0081-1750.00078

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Schümann, Stein, Tanner, Baur and Bamberg. This is an openaccess article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

APPENDIX

German Items of the Socio-Moral Climate Scale (Pircher Verdorfer et al., 2015):

Wenn es bei uns unterschiedliche Ansichten bei wichtigen Angelegenheiten gibt, wird offen damit umgegangen.

Bei uns geht man offen mit Konflikten und Interessensgegensätzen um.

Wenn es zu Spannungen zwischen Unternehmensinteressen und den Interessen der Arbeitenden kommt, sprechen alle Beteiligten offen darüber.

Wenn hier jemand ungerecht behandelt oder übergangen wird, so wird dies offen angesprochen.

Man kann bei uns auch Fehler machen, ohne dafür bestraft zu werden.

Gegenseitiger Respekt wird bei uns groß geschrieben.

Das Vertrauen untereinander lässt bei uns einiges zu wünschen übrig.

Die Mitarbeiter*innen werden unabhängig von der Ausbildung und Qualifikation geachtet.

Niemand muss sich hier ein Blatt vor den Mund nehmen; jeder kann sich offen zu Meinungen von Entscheidungsträgern äußern, ohne negative Folgen fürchten zu müssen.

Mitarbeiter*innen werden ermutigt und bestärkt, den eigenen moralischen Standpunkt hinsichtlich Vorgehen und Vorhaben des Unternehmens zu äußern.

Auch bei weit reichenden Veränderungen im Unternehmen haben die Mitarbeiter*innen ein Wörtchen mitzureden.

Wichtige Entscheidungen, die bei uns getroffen werden, beruhen auf der Meinung einiger Weniger.

Bei uns gibt es kaum "heilige Kühe". Es ist möglich, Prinzipien in Frage zu stellen, falls sie für den gemeinsamen Erfolg oder die gute Zusammenarbeit nicht mehr geeignet sind.

Bei uns wird jeder - seinen Fähigkeiten entsprechend - auch mit schwierigen Aufgaben betraut.

Das Vertrauen der Führungspersonen in die Fähigkeit der Mitarbeiter*innen, verantwortlich zu handeln, ist nicht sehr groß. Es wird bei uns gefördert, dass man sich für andere einsetzt.

Wer sich dazu berufen fühlt, dem wird bei uns Verantwortung für andere Kolleginnen/Kollegen übertragen.

Den Bedürfnissen aller Mitarbeiter*innen gerecht zu werden ist eine echte Herausforderung, aber es wird bei uns ernsthaft versucht. Wenn jemand bei uns persönliche Probleme hat, kann er mit dem Verständnis der Anderen rechnen.

Auf persönliche Gefühle der Mitarbeiter*innen wird bei uns wenig Rücksicht genommen.

Bei wichtigen Entscheidungen berücksichtigen die Verantwortlichen normalerweise das Wohl der betroffenen Mitarbeiter*innen.

German Translation of the Perceived Social Impact Scale (Grant, 2008b):

Ich bin mir der positiven Auswirkungen, die meine Arbeit auf andere Menschen hat, sehr bewusst.

Ich bin mir sehr darüber bewusst, auf welche Weise meine Arbeit anderen Menschen zugutekommt.

Ich habe das Gefühl, dass ich durch meine Arbeit einen positiven Einfluss auf andere haben kann.

Socially Responsible Purchase Intention Scale (Adapted and Translated From

Balderjahn et al., 2013):

Ich würde mehr Geld für Produkte ausgeben wenn mir Informationen darüber vorliegen würden, dass bei der Herstellung... die Rechte der Arbeitnehmer*innen eingehalten wurden.

kein Arbeitnehmer*innen zur Zwangsarbeit verpflichtet wurde.

keine Kinder beteiligt gewesen sind.

Arbeitnehmer*innen nicht diskriminiert wurden.

die Arbeitsbedingungen den internationalen gesetzlichen Standards entsprachen.

die Arbeitnehmer*innen gerecht bzw. Fair entlohnt wurden.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Md. Mahmudul Alam, Universiti Utara Malaysia, Malaysia

REVIEWED BY

Muhammad Rehan Masoom, United International University, Bangladesh Ramón Flecha García, University of Barcelona, Spain

*CORRESPONDENCE Christine Unterrainer christine unterrainer@uibk.ac.at

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 18 May 2022 ACCEPTED 17 October 2022 PUBLISHED 04 November 2022

CITATION

Unterrainer C, Weber WG, Höge T and Hornung S (2022) Organizational and psychological features of successful democratic enterprises: A systematic review of qualitative research. *Front. Psychol.* 13:947559. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.947559

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Unterrainer, Weber, Höge and Hornung, This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Organizational and psychological features of successful democratic enterprises: A systematic review of qualitative research

Christine Unterrainer*, Wolfgang G. Weber, Thomas Höge and Severin Hornung

Institute of Psychology, Applied Psychology – Work and Organizational Psychology, University of Innsbruck, Innsbruck, Austria

In organizational psychology the positive effects of democratically structured enterprises on their employees are well documented. However, the longstanding viability as well as economic success of democratic enterprises in a capitalistic market environment has long been contested. For instance, this has given rise to widespread endorsement of the "degeneration thesis" and the so-called "iron law of oligarchy". By reviewing 77 qualitative studies that examined 83 democratic enterprises (including 15 studies on nine enterprises of the Mondragon Cooperative Cooperation network) within the last 50 years, the present systematic review provides evidence that such enterprises are able to economically survive and prosper. The majority of studied enterprises (63.5%) either resisted pressures toward degeneration or subsequently regenerated after undergoing degenerative processes. Only 9.5% fully degenerated in accordance with the degeneration thesis and the "iron law of oligarchy", while 27.0% of the democratic enterprises showed diverse and mixed forms of degeneration tendencies, indicating that the notion of an "iron law" needs to be revised. Within the nine investigated cases of Mondragon not one single enterprise or group fully degenerated. Three cases showed degenerative tendencies, another three one degeneration tendencies and simultaneously regeneration, one case fully resisted degeneration tendencies (retention) and two cases regenerated. Further, this systematic review provides an overview of organizational and external conditions, non-/democratic or non-/participative practices and psychological phenomena that contribute to the degeneration, regeneration, or resistance to degeneration (i.e., retention). The described examples of such practices may help practitioners to implement and maintain democratic structures and processes in contemporary organizations.

KEYWORDS

democratic enterprises, organizational democracy, workplace democracy, worker cooperatives, retention, degeneration, regeneration

Introduction

Democratic enterprises are characterized by binding organizational structures and processes that entitle a substantial number of employees (at least one third) to participate directly (e.g., in general assemblies, meetings, or votes) or through elected representatives (e.g., on representative boards) in decision-making on strategic and tactical issues (Wegge et al., 2010; Unterrainer et al., 2011; Weber et al., 2020). Worker cooperatives, employee stock ownership plans (ESOPs, if owned by the majority of workers), democratic reform enterprises practicing representative participation and those social enterprises that employ core ideas of deliberative democracy, are prime examples of democratic enterprises. Recently, a comprehensive meta-analysis of quantitative studies has confirmed positive relationships between different types of democratic structures and participatory practices in organizations and positive employee outcomes, such as a perceived supportive climate, civic and prosocial (work) orientations, organizational commitment, and job involvement or work motivation (Weber et al., 2020).

Positive effects of democratic enterprises on employees and society as a whole are more or less well recognized among organizational scholars (see Parker, 2017; Weber et al., 2020). However, the economic success and viability of democratic enterprises, especially of worker cooperatives are more controversial.

Degeneration thesis

Several sociologists and economists have voiced pessimistic views, questioning the potential for economic success and contesting the practical viability of democratic enterprises in a capitalist market environment (see overviews by Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020). Specifically, the *degeneration thesis* by Webb and Webb (1914) posits that:

"[W]orker cooperatives will have to adopt the same organizational forms and priorities as capitalist businesses in order to survive. As a result, it is argued that cooperatives will gradually become dominated by a managerial elite who will effectively take decisions in the cooperative and so undermine democracy and the influence that other workers can exert" (Cornforth, 1995, p. 488).

On the one hand, the principles of capitalistic market economies will put pressure on democratic companies to adapt their internal structure accordingly (isomorphism). On the other hand, Webb and Webb (1914; according to Cornforth, 1995) stated that the worker-owners in worker cooperatives would demonstrate bad work discipline, a lack of operational knowledge and an unwillingness to adopt technical innovations, because they were masters who ruled their own enterprise. In the longer term, because of decreasing efficiency, democratic enterprises would fail economically or be forced to adopt capitalistic, non-democratic forms of ownership and management.

Strengthening Webbs' argumentation and focusing on internal organizational mechanisms of degeneration, Michels' (1915) "iron law of oligarchy" asserts that all democratic structures will eventually become dominated by powerful elites. This may happen because employees experience a need for leaders. Further, a growing size of a firm makes participative communication, the resolving of conflicts, and quick decisions in democratic meetings difficult, and favors the appointment of a permanent senior management in order to assure consistent corporate governance. Finally, technical specialization requires corresponding experts who gain strong organizational power because of their specific knowledge. Thus, an oligarchy of technological and management specialists will develop, who progressively evade democratic control, thus making their dominance and ruling permanent (Cornforth, 1995; Diefenbach, 2019).

Meister (1984) incorporated this proposition into his cooperative's life cycle model. Accordingly, the process of democratic degeneration comprises four stages: conquest, economic consolidation, coexistence, and administrative power (Bretos et al., 2020). The first stage, conquest, marks the starting point of a cooperative, characterized by direct democratic decision-making, high idealism, and commitment, as well as common economic, social and cultural goals shared by a small cohesive group of members. Economic functions are still poorly established and governing bodies not well defined. The second stage, economic consolidation, is one of transition, when conventional principles of organization develop and initial idealism decreases. Conflicts between egalitarian idealists and managers escalate, strengthening the power of management. In the third stage, *coexistence*, the cooperative loses its radical ideals and social goals, accepting market values instead. This phase is characterized by increases in size, division of labor, and role specialization. Direct democratic practices erode and representative boards are installed, leading to greater distance between managers and regular members. In the fourth stage, administrative power, members and representatives lose their influence, because economic logics dominate and an elite of managers takes full control (Meister, 1984; Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020).

In his more recent conceptual overview, Diamantopoulos (2012) argues that worker cooperatives suffer from their dual nature, namely from a structural tension between their function as economic enterprise, on the one hand, and their identity which represents a democratic organization following social goals, on the other hand. The longer cooperatives operate economically, the more they grow, and the more the value-oriented, idealistic founders meet a younger generation of pragmatists, the more conflicts between economic and social goals will arise. Market pressures

from economic rivals will increasingly favor the primacy of economic goals and the power of in-house experts to impose capitalist accounting and management methods. According to Diamantopoulos (2012), mature cooperatives are tempted to downplay their socio-political objectives to attract customers and sponsors. Both goal and organizational degeneration, namely, the removal of structures of democratic decisionmaking and collective ownership, as well as an erosion of the cooperative culture including its democratic values, is becoming increasingly likely. What is more, those large and economically successful cooperatives which undergo a degenerative process may transfer their decline in values to regional cooperative associations and, thus, contribute to a further spread of degeneration.

Additionally, Chaves and Sajardo (2004) analyze the role that managers play in the process of organizational degeneration. They refer to two premises that underlie Michels' (1915) and, following him, Meister's theories: First, social and professional leadership abilities are unequally distributed among the members of a democratic organization. Thus, only a minority of the members possesses strong managerial capabilities. Second, with increasing size and complexity of democratic organizations operating within a competitive market, there is growing pressure for permanent management positions to be created. Persons with comprehensive technological and organizational knowledge will occupy permanent management positions, and will progressively gain control of strategic information, intangible strategic company assets (e.g., exploiting social networks), and experiencebased leadership expertise. If those management experts were educated in the spirit of neoliberal ideology, then they will counteract and transform the social and democratic culture. Their growth of expert power will supersede the participation of other employee-owners or their representatives in strategic organizational decision-making. This happens because the latter lack sufficient professional knowledge and social/communicative competence to act as a counterweight. Rather, employee representatives in government councils of democratic enterprises are captured by managers' influence tactics inducing co-opting and connivance (Chaves and Sajardo, 2004).

Following those authors' conceptual considerations, we will review the existing studies with respect to what proportion degeneration takes among the documented cases. Furthermore, we will investigate which of the described conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena that contribute to the degeneration of organizational democracy were observed empirically and whether others, not yet described, can be found, too. Accordingly, Research Question 1 reads:

RQ1: What organizational and external conditions, non-democratic or non-participative practices, and

psychological phenomena contribute to the degeneration of democratic enterprises?

Retention thesis

Criticizing the deterministic character of the degeneration thesis, Rothschild-Whitt (1976; cf. Rothschild-Whitt and Whitt, 1986) introduced the *retention* thesis (also called: maintenance thesis) in demonstrating that democratic modes of organizations are conditional. Rothschild-Whitt argued that under favorable conditions, democratic enterprises can retain structures and practices of direct democracy and maintain adherence to cooperative, democratic, and humanistic values. Retention does not imply that there are no changes in structural elements, principles, procedures, and participative practices of an organization. Rather, retention means that there are limited changes, which prevent processes of degeneration of the respective democratic enterprise.

Several scholars identified conditions and practices through which democratic enterprises resisted degenerative developments. This was done either theoretically in conceptual essays or empirically in (limited) narrative reviews (see Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020; and below).

Organizational conditions which were reported in these reviews included structural aspects, such as

- a small size of the company,
- alternative growth patterns (e.g., fission of the company),
- and appropriate technology that does not require a rigid division of labor (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976).

Democratic and participative practices: Frequently identified in previous reviews and conceptual essays were practices that aim to foster and maintain co-operative principles and ideals by sustaining the democratic values and culture. These include:

- "Cooperativization" of capitalist subsidiaries: The transformation of hierarchically structured enterprises purchased by a democratic parent enterprise into democratic companies may prevent a degenerative process of the respective democratic enterprise group (Bretos et al., 2020).
- Linking the social goals of the enterprise to wider social movements and coordinating the activities with neighboring communities can sustain an orientation of organizational members toward achieving a transition of the capitalist economic system into a more communitarian or alternative-socialist economy (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Pineiro Harnecker, 2009; Diamantopoulos, 2012; Bretos et al., 2020).

- Complementarily, having a base in professionals from the regional or local community, who support the democratic enterprise in providing their knowledge or political assistance, or buying its products, will counteract competitive pressure on the market (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Diamantopoulos, 2012).
- Further practices to maintain democratic values are institutionalized opportunities for open criticism and discussions among employees (including self-criticism), as well as between hierarchical levels in forums to prevent "oligarchization" (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Cornforth, 1995; Eikenberry, 2009).
- In line with a culture of open discussion, institutionalizing the re-enactment of democratic discourse focusing on issues of democracy, social transformation, and community development is considered a promising practice to internalize co-operative principles among employees (Eikenberry, 2009; Bretos et al., 2020).
- Value-based processes of common recruitment, personnel selection, and induction procedures, institutionalization of cooperative education and training, and centrality of a thorough socialization of members (especially also future managers) with regard to cooperative values are suggested to contribute to the cultivation of shared meaning and commitment to the co-operative's aims and practices (Cornforth, 1995; Chaves and Sajardo, 2004; Sauser, 2009; Bretos et al., 2020).
- Transparency, knowledge- and information sharing in addition to the aforementioned HRM methods, periodic rotation of staff among departments and jobs, and task sharing, are suggested as ways of spreading professional skills, expertise, and experience within the workplace as an internal resource base (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020).
- A further principle to prevent degeneration concerns organizing of work in ways to maximize broad-based participation on the shop-floor (e.g., self-managed work groups) and at the management-level to foster a democratic and participatory culture grounded in self-determination, egalitarianism, and solidarity among workers (Hernandez, 2006; Sauser, 2009; Bretos et al., 2020).
- Additionally, democratic and supportive leadership on the level of the organizational units (e.g., departments and work groups) will provide psychological safety and opportunities for the organizational members to participate directly in operational or tactical decisionmaking and, thus, counteract degenerative tendencies (Sauser, 2009).
- Finally, integrating representatives of the concerned union into democratic decision-making and taking care for

their role to protect the employees' interests can help to prevent an erosion of the democratic processes (Sauser, 2009).

Referring those authors' conceptual considerations and narrative reviews, we are interested in available studies with regard to what proportion retention takes among the documented cases. Furthermore, we will investigate which of the described conditions and practices that contribute to the retention of organizational democracy can be observed empirically and whether others, not yet described, can be identified. We will also consider associated psychological phenomena and formulate the following Research Question 2:

RQ2: What organizational and external conditions, democratic or participative practices, and psychological phenomena contribute to the retention of democratic structures and principles in an enterprise?

Regeneration thesis

The dual nature of cooperatives means that they are both an economic enterprise and a democratic as well as a social association. Despite this inherent conflictual character, cooperatives have been shown to possess the potential to regenerate from degenerative processes (Diamantopoulos, 2012). For instance, Batstone's (1983) Life-Cycle Model of cooperatives is an alternative conception, assuming a resurgence or regeneration of organizational democracy. Accordingly, cooperatives initially start out with a system of direct (primitive) democracy. In the second phase, after the first crucial years, the financial basis will have developed and the co-operative is established. In this ensuing phase of degeneration, the original spirit and culture will be diluted over time, as the organization becomes more routinized and some members will serve in specialized managerial functions. As the organization increases in size, new workers will be recruited not all of which will become full members of the cooperative. As a result, the extent of direct democracy declines and new forms of representative bodies and institutions are established. This is regarded as "the low point of democracy". In the third and last stage, a regeneration (of democracy) can occur. This regeneration is often not a return to the initial form of direct democracy, but associated with a decline in the dominance of professional management and a re-focusing on the interests of workers, as opposed to an economic emphasis on capital or profits. After this final stage is completed, another cycle can commence (Batstone, 1983, p. 150ff; Bretos et al., 2020, p. 439).

The mechanisms regarding how democratic enterprises can regenerate from degenerative tendencies may be similar to the practices promoting retention of organizational democracy described before. In his narrative review, Diamantopoulos

(2012, p. 211) emphasizes the crucial role of the reconstruction of mobilizing social economy networks, multi-stakeholder cooperatives acting as institutional intermediaries, visionary social movement entrepreneurs providing value-activating leadership, and educational and cultural interventions (e.g., fostering engagement for the local economy, creating intercooperative solidarity) in the regeneration process. Batstone (1983) pointed out the importance of trainings with regard to co-operative values and Cornforth (1995) and Bretos et al. (2020) refer to the importance of revitalizing the democratic culture as a central practice of regeneration or retention. Revitalizing or preserving the democratic culture and social objectives requires the creation of professional associations and training institutions. Those provide professional education and help to teach comprehensive knowledge and skills concerning democratic, social, and cooperative values and purposes of social economy enterprises for managers. These support organizations should also help democratic companies to recruit or internally select suitable managers (see a conceptual overview by Chaves and Sajardo, 2004).

However, Bretos et al. (2020) criticize that proponents of the regeneration thesis assume a consistent and homogeneous process. More recent studies would emphasize the inherent paradoxical characteristics of cooperatives as members permanently struggle to find a balance between competing market and social demands (Ng and Ng, 2009; Storey et al., 2014; Narvaiza et al., 2017). This implies that cooperatives might undergo processes of partial regeneration, reverting only to some democratic organizational structures and practices, while others remain unaltered. In this vein, the cooperative can benefit from participatory and democratic processes, but continue to also have access to resources based on a market logic (Bretos et al., 2020, p. 440). Thus, regeneration may not be a consistent homogeneous process. On the contrary, degeneration and regeneration are not mutually exclusive, but can occur simultaneously.

In developing this theorizing on paradoxical tensions and partial regeneration Bretos et al. (2020) draw on and elaborate the previous life-cycle models by Batstone (1983) and Meister (1984). The revised process-oriented differentiation proposed by Bretos et al. (2020) is the most comprehensive and best developed model and particularly valuable for more in-depth empirical analyses of transformation processes in democratic organizations. Bretos et al.'s (2020) life-cycle model mirrors Meister's (1984) model in Stages 1 (conquest) to 4 (administrative power). The new Stage 5 proposes processes of regeneration-according to Batstone's (1983) model-but additionally includes pathways of institutional isomorphism (capitalistic solidification) or dissolution and exit from the industry. After regeneration, a new life-cycle may start and these processes seem to suggest more or less permanent changes and continuous passages from one stage to another. However, after institutional isomorphism and dissolution and exit the industry, the life cycle of a cooperative will end (Bretos et al., 2020).

According to the above-mentioned conceptual considerations of different scholars, we will review existing studies with respect to what proportion regeneration takes among the documented cases. Furthermore, we will investigate which of the described conditions and practices that contribute to the regeneration of organizational democracy can be observed empirically and whether others, not yet described, can be identified. We will also consider related psychological phenomena. Accordingly, Research Question 3 asks:

RQ3: What organizational and external conditions, democratic or participative practices, and psychological phenomena contribute to the regeneration of an enterprise?

The Mondragon Cooperative Corporation—A special case

The Mondragon Cooperative Corporation is the biggest democratic network of worker cooperatives worldwide (see results - research question 4). Because of its vast size and complex organizational structure, enterprises belonging to this conglomerate will be treated in a separate research question:

RQ4: What forms of transformation and related organizational and external conditions, democratic or participative practices, and psychological phenomena can be found in the Mondragon Cooperative Cooperation network?

Objectives and contributions of this review

To conclude, while a considerable number of studies on transformation processes of democratic enterprises have been conducted, no systematic review exists which indicates the proportion of democratic enterprises undergoing degeneration, regeneration, or retention. Available conceptual essays or narrative reviews each refer only to a rather limited (Sauser, 2009; Diamantopoulos, 2012; Lee and Edmondson, 2017; Diefenbach, 2019) or a corporation-specific (Bretos et al., 2020) selection of existing studies compared to the studies included within our review presented in the following. None of them applied systematic review methodology (e.g., providing criteria for minimal methodological standards of the included studies). We consider this research gap not only of great theoretical but also practical importance. Particularly, as, in additional to a secondary analysis and evaluation of proposed democratic transformation theses, we also seek to explore what external conditions, organizational practices and related psychological resources are associated with the identified processes of degeneration, regeneration, and resisting the degeneration (i.e., retention). Therefore, our aim is to close this research gap by providing a systematic review on relevant qualitative research studies (published between 1970 and 2020). We focus on qualitative studies, as these are most adequate to answer our research questions. The latter require the analysis of concrete transformation processes of organizational democracy and their accompanying participative or non-participative practices and psychological phenomena (representing resources or obstacles for a vital organizational democracy) in the specific context of the respective enterprises.

Methods

Identification of studies

For conducting a systematic literature review on qualitative research studies examining democratic enterprises, the PRISMA model was used (Moher et al., 2009). The PRISMA flow diagram is depicted in Figure 1. Focusing on studies published between 1970 and 2020, the databases PsycINFO, PSYNDEX, PsycArticles, Business Source Premier, ECONLIT, ERIC, SOCINDEX, and Medline were searched, using 51 different search strings (e.g., "organizational democracy," "industrial democracy," "workers' self-management," "worker co-operative," "democratic firm"; the full list of search terms is provided in Supplementary Table 1). The starting point of 1970 was chosen, because a first wave of empirical studies on employee ownership emerged in the 1970ies (e.g., Obradovic, 1970; Kavcic et al., 1971; Goldstein, 1978; Long, 1978; Nightingale, 1979; Russell et al., 1979). Based on searches of the electronic database, initially 4,054 records were identified. Additionally, by scanning our own extensive literature archive and reference lists of all publications that met the inclusion criteria, 276 additional articles were included.

Screening the literature

Out of the total number of identified articles (4,330), we excluded 2,047 duplicates, articles in daily newspaper or magazines and non-English language articles, thus, yielding 2,283 abstracts to be screened. Based on the abstracts, we further eliminated monographs, reviews, strictly quantitative studies, and non-empirical studies, resulting in 369 full text articles. We assessed full texts according to our inclusion and exclusion criteria, excluding another 292 articles that did not meet standards. Finally, 77 articles were included in the systematic review. These articles were published between 1980 and 2020 and investigated 74 enterprises, plus nine enterprise groups from the Mondragon Cooperative Corporation as a special case. Several identified studies published between 1970 and 1979 did not meet inclusion criteria.

Inclusion and exclusion criteria

Inclusion and exclusion criteria were specified prior to the literature search. In terms of publication type, the focus was on qualitative journal or editorial book articles. Excluded, due to limited resources relative to the extensive number of publications, were monographs, unpublished dissertations, conference proceedings, gray literature, reviews, quantitative studies, non-empirical studies, and articles that were not accessible. Further excluded were articles that examined several democratic enterprises, but reported only general findings, such that no clear inference could be made with regard to the individual enterprises (e.g., Pineiro Harnecker, 2007, 2009, 2012; Brown et al., 2019). In the process of reviewing full-text articles, inclusion/exclusion criteria were further refined. Eventually, we included studies that met the following criteria:

- a) Qualitative empirical studies that provide at least a minimum of information on methodology. This means, studies had to specify the number of conducted interviews and, in case of observational or ethnographic studies, the number of conducted observations and duration of the ethnographic field work.
- b) To be included, publications needed to focus on issues of degeneration, regeneration, and/or retention of democratic structures and practices or investigate psychological and organizational concepts and features that enhance or impede retention, degeneration or regeneration of democratic enterprises.
- c) Democratic structure and practices of the investigated enterprise(s) had to be described in sufficient detail. This means that studied organization(s) can be classified, at the time of their foundation, as a democratic enterprise according to Weber et al.'s (2020) classification criteria: the enterprise has a binding organizational decision-structure that entitles a substantial number of employees (at least one third) to participate directly (e.g., in general assemblies, meetings or votes) or through elected representatives (e.g., on representative boards) in making decisions on strategic or tactical issues (Unterrainer et al., 2011; Weber et al., 2020). Accordingly, networks of freelancers, traditional consumer co-operatives, as well as banking co-operatives and building cooperatives, in which <1/3 of employees possessed ownership and collective decision rights (or with missing data regarding worker ownership), were excluded.



- d) A sample description of the studied enterprises has to be provided, specifying, at least, the country where the research was conducted, the year the organization was founded, the year when the democratic model was implemented, the number of employees, the distribution of ownership rights, and the examined branch(es) or division(s).
- e) For a valid assessment of the retention thesis, studies are included only if the democratic model of the investigated enterprises has been in place for at least for 5 years. An exception to this criterion are studies reporting on enterprises which degenerated earlier than after 5 years of democratic functioning.

Necessary refinement of different forms of degeneration, retention, and regeneration

According to the research question, the level of analysis is the individual enterprise. Thus, an enterprise represents one case, the empirical studies of which can encompass one or several publications. Based on Batstone's (1983) and Bretos et al.'s (2020) expanded Life-Cycle Model of cooperatives, we developed a retention-degeneration-regeneration classification scheme. Considering the sample of studies resulting from the systematic literature search, we elaborated this classification scheme by including "degeneration tendency" as an additional category. Thus, our primary classification comprised the four categories of "degeneration," "degeneration tendency," "retention," and "regeneration".

Further, we drew on Cornforth et al.'s (1988) work on three main degenerative dynamics in cooperatives to assess in which form (constitutional, organizational, or goal/democraticcultural-values-driven) the respective enterprise degenerated or regenerated. The first form, "... constitutional degeneration involves cooperatives adopting capitalist forms of organization in which employees are excluded from the rights and benefits of cooperative membership" (Bretos et al., 2020, p. 438). This means that, while the number of employees increases over time, the number of working cooperative members or other employee-owners, entitled to organizational decision-making and participation in collective ownership, decreases. The second form, "... organizational degeneration implies that employee involvement in decision-making is diminished in favor of control by a managerial elite or technocracy." (Bretos et al., 2020, p. 438). The third form, "... goal/cultural degeneration, entails the prevalence of the conventional business goals of profit seeking and growth over socially-oriented targets" (Bretos et al., 2020, p. 438, following Cornforth et al., 1988). This type of degeneration occurs, when democratic enterprises "are increasingly prioritizing profits or growth as their prime purpose" (Basterretxea et al., 2019, p. 587). Additionally, we also distinguished different degrees or specific combinations within these main categories, see our elaborated classification scheme in the following.

Degeneration

Constitutional degeneration

According to our conceptual elaboration, it is useful to distinguish three forms of *constitutional degeneration*. These forms are empirically interrelated but can be analytically separated:

- A moderate constitutional degeneration tendency is present when, although the proportion of employees without democratic rights has increased, the majority (50% or more) still possesses full ownership and collective decision rights.
- A strong constitutional degeneration tendency is attested when, after a decline in the proportion of employee-owners relative to the non-owning employees, only a minority of at least 1/3 of employees are still collective owners. This distinction was made because the exclusion of a majority of employees from participation in democratic decisionmaking represents a significant indication for a process of constitutional degeneration. The more employees are excluded, the smaller the proportion of staff who have opportunities for developing positive organizational attitudes and behaviors or community-related orientations through

practicing democratic participation and responsibility (see reviews by Weber et al., 2020; Kim, 2021).

- A *full constitutional degeneration* applies when, after a decline of the proportion of employee-owners, only a minority of <1/3 of the employees participate in ownership of their enterprise (whereas at least 1/3 of the staff had been employee-owners before). In this case, a formerly democratic and employee-owned enterprise ends up very closely resembling an autocratically structured and managed firm, because a relatively small group of owners and managers exerts control.

Organizational degeneration

- A organizational degeneration tendency is defined as a change of the "gestalt" or form of democratic participation, specifically, when decisions that were formerly made in general employee assemblies (direct democracy), are delegated to councils, committees or boards (representative democracy).
- A *full organizational degeneration* is indicated by an increase in functional specialization, for example, in the form of experts and managers who are difficult to replace. Important strategic and tactical decisions, which used to be made in representative democratic bodies (or general assemblies), are referred to the decision-making power of a management elite, which is not elected (and cannot be voted out of office) by the employees. Although a non-binding say or consultative participation of employees may be sought, final decisions are determined by the management elite.

Goal/cultural degeneration

- A form of a goal/cultural degeneration tendency is characterized by increasing importance attributed to business objectives within organizational communication, planning, and decision-making, relative to social goals of a cooperative economy. Social goals comprise employment security, just or needs-related income, education and training in cooperative values, inter-organizational solidarity, retention of organizational democracy, quality of working life, creating socially useful products or services, or contributing to the local community (cf. Cheney, 1997; Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Bretos et al., 2020). This growing influence of economic relative to social goals in a democratic enterprise can be observed when the rhetoric of business economics is increasingly assimilated in the discourse among managers, among non-managing employees or between both groups (cf. Taylor, 1994; Cheney et al., 2004).
- A *full form* of a *goal/cultural degeneration* manifests in the observation that economic goals and values clearly dominate strategic decisions and shape intraorganizational communication at the expense of social objectives both among managers and between managers and non-managing employees.

Retention

In the case of *retention* of the democratic structure, we did not differ between constitutional, organizational and goal/cultural forms, based on a decision to apply a conservative analytical strategy. Thus, an enterprise was only included in the retention category if no indication for any form of degeneration or degeneration tendency was found.

Within the "retention" category, we differentiated between enterprises on which we only had *cross-sectional information* and enterprises for which we had *longitudinal information*. Several studies had investigated the same enterprise at different points in time. For example, a bicycle-hire and sales shop in Scotland was studied by Oliver (1984), Cornforth (1995), and Sacchetti and Tortia (2020). Such investigations provided us with longitudinal information on whether the enterprises' democratic structure and practices had remained stable or changed over time. Additionally, we included several studies that provided only cross-sectional information on the examined enterprise but did not report any organizational transformations that, possibly, had occurred in the past. For these studies, we were not able to describe the development, but only the status quo of democratic structures and practices at the time of investigation.

Regeneration

Our categorization of different forms of *regeneration* of organizational democracy follows Bretos et al.'s (2020) extension of Batstone's life-cycle model:

"A smaller but growing line of research has highlighted cooperatives' potential to *regenerate*; that is, to revive cooperative values and re-assemble democraticallystructured forms of decision making as a reaction to degeneration" (e.g., Ng and Ng, 2009; Diamantopoulos, 2012; Giagnocavo et al., 2014; Storey et al., 2014; Narvaiza et al., 2017). "These studies illustrate how cooperatives can regenerate by mobilizing resources to trigger organizational change, such as by reinforcing a culture of discussion and open criticism and strengthening members' active participation." (Bretos et al., 2020, p. 436)

Complementary to the three distinguished forms of degeneration (Cornforth et al., 1988), we also differentiate between three forms of regeneration.

Constitutional regeneration

Constitutional regeneration means that in a democratic enterprise that has gone through a process of constitutional degeneration, measures are taken to increase the proportion of employees who participate in democratic decision-making and collective ownership, such that eventually at least the majority of employees (50% or more) is able to participate in democratic processes and ownership.

Organizational regeneration

Organizational regeneration is attested, if in a democratic enterprise that has gone through a process of organizational degeneration, the dominance of managers or other experts in the democratic bodies of this firm is overcome *by changing at least some of the actors* participating in strategic and tactical planning and decision-making.

Goal/cultural regeneration

Goal/cultural regeneration applies when in a democratic enterprise that has gone through a process of goal/cultural degeneration, the dominance of a mindset of economistic values among management or employees has been overcome by facilitating a culture of humanistic, communitarian or cooperative goals and social values that are at least attributed a similar importance.

Results

Preliminary, descriptive results

Table 1 provides a summary of the classification of all N = 74 democratic enterprises investigated in the studies included in this systematic review (excluding the Mondragon Cooperative Corporation which is separately described in Section Research question 4: The Mondragon Cooperative Cooperation Network and its forms of transformation as well as relating conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena). This classification demonstrates how many of the studied democratic enterprises show indications for the degeneration thesis and the "iron law of oligarchy" and how many support the counterpropositions of retention and regeneration.

Evidence for processes that amounted to *full degeneration* of democratic structures and processes was reported for n = 7 formerly democratic enterprises (9.5%). Out of those, n = 2 indicated full constitutional degeneration and n = 1 full goal/cultural degeneration. While no example of a full organizational degeneration was found by itself, n = 4 cases reported indications for more than one form of full degeneration. In one case, the Kompro (Kalmi, 2002) displayed full constitutional and full organizational degeneration, since the management team bought out all worker shareholders and the decision-making power was confined to this manager elite. The three other originally democratic enterprises underwent transformations into two investor-owned, and one family-owned firm, respectively.

Further, indications for *tendencies of democratic degeneration* were found in overall n = 20 cases (27.0%). These could further be subdivided into a moderate (n = 7) and strong (n = 1) constitutional degeneration tendency, an organizational degeneration tendency (n = 5) and a goal/cultural degeneration tendency (n = 3). Additionally, n = 4 democratic enterprises showed signs of more than one

TABLE 1 Number of companies per transformation form (Mondragon Cooperative Corporation is not included).

Transformation form	Number of enterprises
Full degeneration	(n = 7)
Full constitutional degeneration	2
Full organizational degeneration	0
Full goal/cultural degeneration	1
More than one form of full degeneration	4
Degeneration tendency	(<i>n</i> = 20)
Moderate constitutional degeneration tendency	7
(worker owner = majority)	
Strong constitutional degeneration tendency	1
(worker owner = minority)	
Organizational degeneration tendency	5
Goal/cultural degeneration tendency	3
More than one form of degeneration tendency	4
Retention	(<i>n</i> = 39)
Cross-sectional information	8
Longitudinal information	31
Regeneration	(n = 8)
Constitutional regeneration	1
Organizational regeneration	3
Goal/Cultural regeneration	4

Overall number of enterprises N = 74.

form of degeneration tendency. One experienced a slight organizational and goal/cultural degeneration tendency, another one a goal/cultural and moderate constitutional degeneration tendency, and the third one a goal/cultural and strong constitutional degeneration tendency.

By far the largest number of n = 39 democratic enterprises (52.7%) were allocated to the group that resisted any form of degeneration (classified as *retention*). Out of these, only cross-sectional information was available for n = 8 enterprises, whereas longitudinal information was available for n = 31 democratic enterprises.

Finally, a number of n = 8 cases of *regeneration* could be identified (10.8%), out of which n = 1 fulfilled the criteria for constitutional regeneration, n = 3 conformed with organizational regeneration, and n = 4 showed signs of goal/cultural regeneration.

Supplementary Tables 2–4 provide an overview of all identified enterprises between 1970 and 2020 (Mondragon Cooperative Corporation is not included) that were classified in terms of *full degeneration, degeneration tendency, retention,* and *regeneration.* The Tables also include information on the country where the respective site is located, the number of employees, the founding year of the company as well as the year of the introduction of the democratic model,

the tenure of democratic practices, and the studies' authors. Additionally, Supplementary Tables 2-4 provide information about the proportion of employee-ownership in each enterprise. For the assessment of organizational democracy, it is relevant whether the majority of employees was participating in democratic governance at the time of study. Out of the 74 enterprises, in n = 62 enterprises (83.7%) the majority of employees were collective owners, in n = 4 enterprises (5.4%) ownership among workers was <50% (minority were owners), but higher than 1/3, in n = 3 enterprises (4.1%) <1/3 of workers were owners; in two cases (2.7%) the description was not completely clear, but suggested that the majority of employees collectively owned the firm. However, n = 3(4.1%) formerly democratic enterprises had degenerated into a state without employee-ownership by the time of the study (see above). Overall, in most of the cases, the majority of the employees participated in collective ownership of their respective enterprise, which allowed them to participate in strategic and tactical decisions, either directly or indirectly via electing their representatives into the democratic boards.

Research question 1: Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena contributing to degeneration

Research question 1 aimed to identify detrimental organizational and external conditions, non-democratic or non-participative practices, and psychological phenomena that contribute to the degeneration of an enterprise. For a better overview we differentiated between all forms of *full degeneration* (Table 2) and all forms of *degeneration tendency* (Table 3).

Full degeneration

Out of 74 studied enterprises, only seven were classified as *full degeneration*. Table 2 provides the organizational and external conditions, non-democratic and non-participative practices, and psychological phenomena found in those fully degenerated enterprises.

Organizational and external conditions

In more than half of the cases, fully degenerated enterprises were faced with strong and changing market conditions, including market deregulation measures (Ji, 2018; Borowiak and Ji, 2019) or distrust of customers toward democratic enterprises (Bittencourt Meira, 2014) that caused decreases in sales (Narvaiza et al., 2017), forcing them to reduce the workforce (Lindenfeld, 2001). Three enterprises received pressure from external stakeholders, in the sense of being dependent on one single bank influencing their financial (Kranz and Steger, 2016) and personnel decisions (Narvaiza et al., 2017). Further mentioned were union passivity in ownership-related TABLE 2 Frequencies of conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena of all forms of full degeneration mentioned (n = 7 enterprises).

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	References
1. Organizational/external conditions:	15	
Market demands/pressure/competition	4	Lindenfeld, 2001; Bittencourt Meira, 2014; Narvaiza et al., 2017; Borowial
		and Ji, 2019
Financial crisis	1	Narvaiza et al., 2017
Forces of external stakeholders (bank, customer)	3	Bittencourt Meira, 2014; Kranz and Steger, 2016; Narvaiza et al., 2017
Insufficient support through external expertise	2	Bittencourt Meira, 2014; Narvaiza et al., 2017
Passivity of union/ambivalent union relations	2	Kalmi, 2002; Borowiak and Ji, 2019
Wrong business decisions	1	Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020
Issued more shares for liquidity/worker owner expectations not fulfilled	1	Lindenfeld, 2001
Product quality problems	1	Bittencourt Meira, 2014
2. Non-democratic or non-participative practices:	11	
2.1 Exclusion	2	Kalmi, 2002; Bittencourt Meira, 2014
Excluding new employees from ownership		
2.2 Dysfunctional Human Resources management	1	Kalmi, 2002
No/insufficient cooperative education and training		
2.3 Deficient cooperative culture and climate	2	Kranz and Steger, 2016; Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020
Shaping a culture of involvement and deliberation failed/unfamiliarity with		
employee ownership concept		
Competitive climate against external competitors	1	Borowiak and Ji, 2019
Intraorganizational conflicts	2	Lindenfeld, 2001; Narvaiza et al., 2017
2.4 Neglect of participation	1	Kalmi, 2002
Goals of employee ownership were not democratizing but dividends and secure		
employment		
Organization of labor: Low participation opportunities in decision-making	2	Kalmi, 2002; Borowiak and Ji, 2019
3. Psychological phenomena:	4	
Weak initial commitment to employee ownership/forced choice of employee buy	3	Lindenfeld, 2001; Kalmi, 2002; Kranz and Steger, 2016
out		
Low employee commitment to the cooperative idea/low willingness to participate	e 1	Borowiak and Ji, 2019

matters (Kalmi, 2002), ambivalent relations of employee-owners toward the union that had supported the foundation of the cooperative (Ji, 2018), and ineffective support through external business consultants not familiar with democratic enterprises (Bittencourt Meira, 2014; Narvaiza et al., 2017). Product quality problems (Bittencourt Meira, 2014), making wrong business decisions with respect to expansion (Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020), and issuing additional shares to raise cash for modernization, which meant that worker-owners received reduced benefits and were disappointed by the ownership-model (Lindenfeld, 2001), represented additional detrimental organizational conditions.

Non-democratic or non-participative practices

Concerning non-democratic or non-participative practices, fully degenerated enterprises excluded new employees from being owners (Kalmi, 2002; Bittencourt Meira, 2014) and worker-owners were not offered trainings regarding their rights and responsibilities (Kalmi, 2002). Subsequently, such enterprises failed in shaping a culture of involvement and deliberation that could turn unfamiliarity with the worker-ownership concept into something familiar and trustable (Kranz and Steger, 2016; Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020). Additionally, ruthless business practices applied by competing transportation network companies strongly harmed the climate within a taxi cooperative (Borowiak and Ji, 2019). Further, conflicts between management and hourly workers arose due to unequal power relations. Hourly workers typically needed to work harder, were not as respected, and did not wield comparable power and authority, but received lower wages than managers (Lindenfeld, 2001; see also Narvaiza et al., 2017). Obviously, maintaining such inequalities undermines a cooperative culture and climate. Moreover, the organization of labor in two fully degenerated companies was characterized by low opportunities for participation in the daily work, and preconditions for effective participation were not addressed (Kalmi, 2002; Borowiak and Ji, 2019). In addition, the aim of employee ownership was not predominantly focused on TABLE 3 Frequencies of conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena of all forms of degeneration tendency mentioned (n = 20 enterprises).

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	References
1. Organizational/external conditions:	20	
Market demands/pressure/competition	10	Schoening, 2006; Jensen, 2011 (5 enterprises); Vieta, 2012; Cathcart,
		2014; Meyers and Vallas, 2016; Pansera and Rizzi, 2020
Size of the company (growth)/expansion	6	Meyers, 2006, 2011; Schoening, 2006; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016;
		Meyers and Vallas, 2016; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018; Pansera and
		Rizzi, 2020
Crisis (ideological scandal)	1	Meyers, 2006, 2011
Passivity of union/ambivalent union relations	3	Kalmi, 2002 (2 enterprises); Calo and Shipper, 2018
2. Non-democratic or non-participative practices:	27	
2.1 Exclusion		
Excluding new employees from ownership	9	Kalmi, 2002 (3 enterprises); Jensen, 2011 (5 enterprises); Pansera and
		Rizzi, 2020
2.2 Dysfunctional human resources management		
No / insufficient cooperative education and training	4	Kalmi, 2002 (3 enterprises); Vieta, 2014
2.3 Deficient cooperative culture and climate		
Competitive climate against external competitors	1	Calo and Shipper, 2018
Economistic managerial rhetoric	1	Cathcart, 2014
Intraorganizational conflicts	2	Darr, 1999; Cathcart, 2014
Fostering inequality	4	Jensen, 2011 (3 enterprises); Cathcart, 2014
2.4 Neglect of participation		
Goals of employee ownership were not democratizing but dividends and secure	4	Kalmi, 2002 (3 enterprises); Cathcart, 2014
employment		
Organization of labor: Low participation opportunities in decision-making	2	Kalmi, 2002 (2 enterprises)
3. Psychological phenomena:	10	
Weak initial commitment to employee ownership	3	Kalmi, 2002 (3 enterprises)
Perceived weak organizational justice	1	Darr, 1999
High praise of the director prevents redemocratization	1	Jochmann-Döll and Wächter, 2008
Managers caused a breach of trust	1	Meyers, 2011
Managers use democratic organs as career instrument	1	Cathcart, 2013
Work/performance pressure, stress	1	Calo and Shipper, 2018
Job/organizational dissatisfaction	1	Berry and Schneider, 2011
Strong job satisfaction prevents the formation of democratic work teams	1	Jochmann-Döll and Wächter, 2008

democratizing labor relations, but on providing dividends and secure employment (only) for the employee-owners (Kalmi, 2002).

Psychological phenomena

Psychological phenomena found in fully degenerated enterprises mainly referred to employees' weak commitment to employee ownership and to the cooperative idea. Due to a forced choice of "taking over the enterprise or losing the job", initial commitment of workers to employee ownership was weak, as case studies from Estonia, Germany, and Canada indicate (Lindenfeld, 2001; Kalmi, 2002; Kranz and Steger, 2016).

Degeneration tendency

Compared to enterprises with full degeneration (n = 7), far more enterprises (n = 20) were attested only a *degeneration tendency* (see Table 3).

Organizational and external conditions

The most frequent organizational/external conditions found to threaten democratic enterprises were unfavorable market demands, pressure and competition in half of the cases (e.g., see Jensen, 2011; Vieta, 2012; Cathcart, 2014). Expansion and enlarging the workforce were also common features limiting organizational democracy. However, growing in size is often an indicator of prosperous organizations. This is also true for democratic enterprises. Due to our definition of constitutional and organizational degeneration tendencies, enterprises can be allocated to this category even if they flourish. For example, the cooperative Home Care Associates started as a small basic-democratic collective with 12 employees, 100% employeeowned. As a result of their success, the number of employees rose to about 2,300 and about 70% of them were worker-owners (Berry and Schneider, 2011; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016). However, since the percentage of worker-owners decreased, this case was categorized as a moderate constitutional degeneration tendency (cf. several publications by Meyers). Finally, passivity of union members in ownership-related matters (Kalmi, 2002), ambivalent relations between worker owners and unions (Calo and Shipper, 2018), and an ideological scandal in one enterprise, were identified as other organizational issues that can foster degenerative tendencies.

Non-democratic or non-participative practices

Reviewed studies provide several examples of nondemocratic or non-participative practices contributing to degeneration tendencies. Nine enterprises reported that tensions in the workforce existed concerning the issue of exclusion of new employees from ownership. Some argued that it was too expensive for workers to buy in, or that not all workers would want to become owners and assume associated responsibilities, or that new members would not share the values of the founding members (Jensen, 2011). However, especially in the Estonian employee-owned enterprises, it was the management team that did not encourage new employees to acquire ownership, because managers were reluctant to enlarge the number of owners (Kalmi, 2002). In three of the Spanish Sociedades Laborales (SAL) described by Jensen (2011), goal/cultural degeneration tendencies occurred, since these enterprises differentiated between members and non-members when paying the annual bonus. This non-democratic practice undermines cooperative culture by fostering inequality and tensions between cooperative attitudes of solidarity and the self-interest of the respective group of employees (see also Darr, 1999; Jensen, 2011). In some enterprises, missing cooperative education and training (Kalmi, 2002), low opportunities for and inefficient participation in decision-making (Kalmi, 2002) as well as concerns with dividends and secure employment for the employee-owners, instead of democratizing labor relations, as the primary goals of employee ownership, contributed to degenerative tendencies (Kalmi, 2002; Cathcart, 2013).

Psychological phenomena

With respect to psychological phenomena that contribute to degenerative tendencies, Kalmi (2002) observed weak initial commitment to employee ownership in three Estonian enterprises. A forced choice between an employee buy-out and losing one's job may explain this weak initial commitment. At Opel Hoppmann, a large German automobile trade (Jochmann-Döll and Wächter, 2008), high praise of the director and high job satisfaction among employees may be responsible for an organizational degeneration tendency. These authors explained that the collective image of the director as a highly competent and "perfect" person permitted employees to justify their own shortcomings and lack of initiatives. Furthermore, due to high job satisfaction, employees felt less compelled to get involved in activities like work teams. Accordingly, Jochmann-Döll and Wächter (2008) reported that work teams, which are one pillar of the democratic model as conceived by the founder, were practically nonexistent. In one enterprise, the People's Daily Bread Bakery (California) internal struggles with accountability led to a breach of trust in the democratic founding principles. Instead, a managerial system was established based on representative government rights (Meyers, 2011), indicating an organizational degeneration tendency. Finally, employeeowners' perception that some managers instrumentalized democratic boards for their individual career, may have contributed to a tendency of organizational degeneration (Cathcart, 2013).

Research question 2: Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena contributing to retention

Research question 2 referred to the organizational conditions, democratic or participative practices, and psychological phenomena that contribute to the *retention* of organizational democracy (see Table 4). As reported above, the majority of the investigated 74 enterprises, precisely 39 (52.7%), resisted degeneration and degenerative tendencies and were classified as retention. In his context, we found several beneficial conditions and practices previously reported by other scholars (e.g., Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020), but also identified several practices not discussed elsewhere.

Organizational and external conditions

Organizational and external conditions were relatively sparsely reported. Small company size was mentioned in six cases as a supportive condition to maintain basic democratic practices, facilitating direct participation in decision-making (Cornforth, 1995; Ng and Ng, 2009; Gupta, 2014; Jaumier, 2017), which is also the case for low complexity of the production process. Further, apparently, a stable market and consumer base can support the economic survival of democratic enterprises. Finally, some industries might be better suited for sustaining democratic principles. For example, deep miners showed a strong worker identity and thus also hold strong commitments to their Welsh cooperative colliery (Hoffmann, 2006), which is an important prerequisite for the retention of democratic structures.

Democratic or participative practices

Democratic and participative practices contributing to retention are mentioned in numerous instances. Linking with broader social movements to promote community-based goals is a practice that has been suggested before (Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Diamantopoulos, 2012; Bretos et al., 2020). In the present systematic review, 21 successful, i.e., not degenerated, democratic enterprises showcased different ways of connecting with social movements and the community. For example, W. L. Gore and Associates permits every employee 8-16 paid hours per year to work with non-profits in their community (Hoffman and Shipper, 2018). The Cheeseboard Collective (a bakery and restaurant in USA) donates money and in-kind products to local public schools, gives away food to homeless shelters, and strengthens the cooperative movement by sending their members to workshops and conferences, creating networks, and encouraging schools to visit them to see how a cooperative operates (Gupta, 2014; for cases from different contexts see, e.g., Hadley and Goldsmith, 1995; Majee and Hoyt, 2009, 2010; Vieta, 2012; 2014; Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021). Furthermore, the Cheese Board Collective and Scopex (a shaping of sheet firm in France) put effort into consciously staying small in order not to endanger their basic democratic principles and practices (Gupta, 2014; Jaumier, 2017).

Applying methods of Human Resources Management (HRM) that are based on cooperative and democratic values, 18 enterprises that resisted degeneration and degenerative tendencies indicated that they continuously educate employees on cooperative values and train them in new skills (e.g., see Hoffmann, 2003; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018; Wren, 2020). Thus, workers acquire knowledge about entrepreneurial tasks, participation rights, and responsibilities. Moreover, democratic and cooperative principles can be internalized by introducing or connecting new and older members (Ng and Ng, 2009). Value-based employee selection, common recruitment and induction procedures, as well as further socialization processes are frequently used participative practices that consolidated the retention of democratic enterprise structures. Democratic enterprises put a lot of effort into the recruitment and subsequent socialization process: first they make sure that the applicants' values are aligned with the company's democratic and cooperative ideals; second, the applicant has to pass a probation period of working in different areas to get to know as many members as possible; and, thirdly, the decision for or against hiring a new member is based on consensus of all members or a membership committee. Through mentoring programs, newcomers are introduced into the company and trained in cooperative practices through collaborative and informal

learning (e.g., Vieta, 2012, 2014; Wren, 2020). Information-, knowledge-, and experience-sharing as well as personalitypromoting forms of working (like job rotation between production, service, and administrative tasks; job enlargement; job enrichment) are further important participative practices that many enterprises used for resisting degeneration (e.g., see Oliver, 1984; Cornforth, 1995; Jensen, 2011; Harrison et al., 2018; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018). These practices include, for example, an open book and open-door policy, newsletters, annual reports, and the publication and discussion of minutes of board meetings (Greenberg, 1984; Majee and Hoyt, 2009). Information transfer seems to be most effective if board members hold regular jobs and disseminate information to their colleagues on the shop floor as it was the case in the Pacific-Northwest plywood cooperatives in the USA (Greenberg, 1984).

Supporting the development of a cooperative culture and work climate, e.g., through fostering equality among employees, was a frequently applied practice realized in 20 cases. For instance, this was achieved by distributing the annual bonus equally among members and non-members (Jensen, 2011), exercising the one person-one-vote principle, upholding similar rights for old and new members, and equal pay (Jackall, 1984) or at least limited wage differentials (Jaumier, 2017). Open criticism and discussion as well as accountability and overt scrutiny of managers are further democratic practices mentioned frequently as contributing to democratic retention (e.g., see Greenberg, 1980, 1984; Jackall, 1984; Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021). In respective enterprises, conflicts were not suppressed (Ng and Ng, 2009; Ashforth and Reingen, 2014), official grievance and dispute resolution procedures were implemented and frequently used (Hoffmann, 2001, 2006; Ashforth and Reingen, 2014), and members refused the division into those who command and those who obey-adhering to an attitude of "we are all bosses" instead (Jaumier, 2017). In Natura, a natural foods coop in a large US city, conflicts are an integral component of their democratic functioning (Ashforth and Reingen, 2014). By advocating and practicing rituals "... the messiness of managing the duality was held somewhat in check by regularized calls before meetings for keeping conflict in bounds, regularized interventions during meetings when conflict went out of bounds, and regularized compliments and thank-yous to opponents after contentious meetings" (Ashforth and Reingen, 2014, p. 505). Another democratic practice was that, members were encouraged to engage in ongoing social discourses on democracy, social transformation, and community development as it was common in Argentinian worker recuperated enterprises (Vieta, 2012, 2014). Similarly, in the Caring Home Services cooperative (Majee and Hoyt, 2009), values like fairness, equity, and respect were constantly reviewed, updated, and reinforced to secure that business operations and workers' actions were aligned with these principles.

The organization of labor plays a crucial and frequently mentioned role in the socialization process by supporting TABLE 4 Frequencies of conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena of *all forms of retention* mentioned (*n* = 39 enterprises).

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	References
1. Organizational/external conditions:	14	
Small size of the company	6	Jackall, 1984; Cornforth, 1995 (2 enterprises); Ng and Ng, 2009 (3 enterprises);
Stable consumer base/market, access to a strong market	2	Majee and Hoyt, 2009; Gupta, 2014
Low capital intensity	1	Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020
Low complexity of the production processes	2	Greenberg, 1980, 1984
Support through union/positive union relations	2	Timur and Timur, 2016; Dai et al., 2019
ndustry: strong worker identity with their profession as deep niners	1	Hoffmann, 2006
2. Democratic or participative practices:	181	
2.1 Integration and delimitation (boundary management)		
Linking with broader social movements to promote	21	Hadley and Goldsmith, 1995; Ng and Ng, 2009; Majee and Hoyt, 2010; Cornwell
community-based goals		2012; Vieta, 2012; 2014 (3 enterprises); Gupta, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017;
		Sobering, 2016; Timur and Timur, 2016; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (2
		enterprises); Dai et al., 2019; Westoby and Shevellar, 2019; Wren, 2020 (3
		enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2 enterprises)
Effort to stay small/resist to grow	2	Gupta, 2014; Jaumier, 2017
2.2 Value-based human resources management		
Value-based personnel selection	11	Cornforth, 1995; Hoffmann, 2001, 2003, 2006; Majee and Hoyt, 2009; Gupta,
		2014; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (2 enterprises); Wren, 2020 (3 enterprises)
Common recruitment and induction procedures	13	Jackall, 1984; Hoffmann, 2003, 2006; Timur and Timur, 2016; Langmead, 2017 (
		enterprises); Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (2 enterprises); Wren, 2020 (3
		enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021
Cooperative education and training	18	Hoffmann, 2003; Ng and Ng, 2009 (3 enterprises); Majee and Hoyt, 2010;
		Cornwell, 2012; Vieta, 2012; 2014 (3 enterprises); Ashforth and Reingen, 2014;
		Boguslaw and Taghvai-Soroui, 2018; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (2 enterprises);
		Sobering, 2019; Wren, 2020 (3 enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021
Further value-based socialization process	16	Jackall, 1984; Hoffmann, 2001, 2003; Atzeni and Ghigliani, 2007; Majee and Hoy
		2010; Cornwell, 2012; Vieta, 2012; 2014 (3 enterprises); Langmead, 2016, 2017;
		Timur and Timur, 2016; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018; Wren, 2020 (3 enterprises)
Knowledge/information/experience sharing	15	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (3 enterprises); Cornforth, 1995 (2 enterprises); Ng and
		Ng, 2009 (3 enterprises); Majee and Hoyt, 2010; Langmead, 2016, 2017; Hoffmar
		and Shipper, 2018 (3 enterprises); Sobering, 2019
Job rotation/job enlargement/job enrichment (production,	15	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (2 enterprises); Cornforth, 1995 (2 enterprises); Ng and
service or administrative tasks)		Ng, 2009; Jensen, 2011; Gupta, 2014; Sobering, 2016; Langmead, 2017; Harrison
		et al., 2018; Wren, 2020 (2 enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2 enterprises)
2.3 Support of cooperative culture and climate		
Open criticism and discussion, permanent requirement for	14	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (2 enterprises); Hoffmann, 2005, 2006 (2 enterprises); Ng
accountability and overt critique of managers or elected		and Ng, 2009; Ashforth and Reingen, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017; Jaumier,
representatives		2017; Sobering, 2019; Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2 enterprises)
Social discourses emphasizing democracy, social transformation,	7	
and community development		Majee and Hoyt, 2009; Vieta, 2012, 2014 (3 enterprises); Ashforth and Reingen,
		2014; Sobering, 2016; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018
Fostering equality	20	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (2 enterprises); Hoffmann, 2006; Jensen, 2011; Cornwell,
		2012; Vieta, 2012; 2014 (3 enterprises); Gupta, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017;
		Sobering, 2016, 2019; Jaumier, 2017; Harrison et al., 2018; Hoffman and Shipper
		2018 (2 enterprises); Dai et al., 2019; Wren, 2020 (2 enterprises); Kociatkiewicz
		et al., 2021

(Continued)

52

TABLE 4 (Continued)

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	References
Dispute resolution system	3	Hoffmann, 2001, 2005; Ashforth and Reingen, 2014
2.4 Support of participation		
Random selection or frequent change of democratic board members	4	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (3 enterprises); Hoffmann, 2005
Democratic leadership/peer monitoring/weak span of control	5	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (3 enterprises); Atzeni and Ghigliani, 2007; Jensen, 2011
Organization of labor: reinforcement of broad-based participation	17	Greenberg, 1984 (2 enterprises); Hadley and Goldsmith, 1995; Majee and Hoyt,
		2010; Jensen, 2011; Cornwell, 2012; Gupta, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017; Jaumier,
		2017; Boguslaw and Taghvai-Soroui, 2018 Harrison et al., 2018; Hoffman and
		Shipper, 2018; Sobering, 2019; Sacchetti and Tortia, 2020; Kociatkiewicz et al.,
		2021 (2 enterprises)
3. Psychological phenomena:	78	
Strong commitment to cooperative idea and to the	24	Greenberg, 1984 (2 enterprises); Hadley and Goldsmith, 1995; Hoffmann, 2005,
enterprise/loyalty/"family"		2006; Ng and Ng, 2009 (3 enterprises); Jensen, 2011; Cornwell, 2012; Ashforth
		and Reingen, 2014; Gupta, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017; Sobering, 2016; Timur
		and Timur, 2016; Harrison et al., 2018; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018; Dai et al.,
		2019; Wren, 2020 (3 enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2 enterprises)
Psychological ownership	17	Greenberg, 1984 (2 enterprises); Ng and Ng, 2009 (2 enterprises); Hoffmann,
		2016 (2 enterprises); Timur and Timur, 2016; Langmead, 2017 (2 enterprises);
		Harrison et al., 2018; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (2 enterprises); Wren, 2020 (3
		enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2 enterprises)
Generativity	1	Langmead, 2017
Perceived organizational justice	3	Hoffmann, 2001, 2005; Cornwell, 2012
Mutual perspective taking and care/prosociality	15	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (3 enterprises); Jackall, 1984; Vieta, 2012; 2014 (3
		enterprises); Ashforth and Reingen, 2014; Hoffmann, 2016 (4 enterprises);
		Harrison et al., 2018; Dai et al., 2019; Westoby and Shevellar, 2019
Social inclusion	4	Sobering, 2016; Westoby and Shevellar, 2019; Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021 (2
		enterprises)
Sacrifices for the organizational community	9	Oliver, 1984; Gupta, 2014; Langmead, 2016, 2017; Boguslaw and Taghvai-Soroui,
		2018; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018 (3 enterprises); Kociatkiewicz et al., 2021
Entrepreneurial motives/readiness for innovative behavior	5	Greenberg, 1980, 1984 (3 enterprises); Langmead, 2016, 2017
Job/organizational satisfaction	1	Dai et al., 2019

broad-based participation. In smaller enterprises, consensusbased decision-making is common to make sure that diverse opinions and viewpoints are taken seriously, leading to an ongoing negotiation of social reality (e.g., Oliver, 1984). In bigger enterprises, like the Scott Bader Commonwealth (Hadley and Goldsmith, 1995) or the Plywood Cooperatives (Greenberg, 1984), both direct and representative forms of participation were practiced in each case. Members typically participated directly in the assembly and voted for representatives in boards or councils with regular rotations (e.g., Cornforth, 1995; Jensen, 2011). In a few cases, members of boards were randomly selected or frequently rotated to prevent organizational degeneration (e.g., Greenberg, 1980; Hoffmann, 2005). In this vein, members maintained control of the enterprise, and, as Greenberg (1984) summarized: "... direct and representative democracy can not only exist together but can also serve to enrich each other" (p. 213). In five cases, democratic or self-leadership was practiced, creating broad spans of control and allowing employees more autonomy in their daily work (e.g., Greenberg, 1980; Atzeni and Ghigliani, 2007; Jensen, 2011).

Psychological phenomena

Several psychological phenomena that may foster the retention of democratic enterprises could be identified. First, 24 companies indicated a strong commitment to the cooperative idea and the enterprise. Member employees are convinced of the founding principles of democracy, solidarity, and equality and, due to constructively resolving conflicts, feel a strong bonding among members, experiencing the collective as a family unit (e.g., Ng and Ng, 2009; Gupta, 2014; Harrison et al., 2018). A second psychological phenomena, found in 17 democratic enterprises resisting degeneration, is strong psychological ownership experienced by working members, e.g., see the ethnographic study on two Polish co-operatives practicing solidarity economy by Kociatkiewicz et al. (2021; cf. also studies by Hoffmann, 2016; Wren, 2020). Pierce et al. (2001) defined psychological ownership as an affective and cognitive state of mind "in which individuals feel as though the target of ownership (material or immaterial in nature) or a piece of it is 'theirs'. The core of psychological ownership is the feeling of responsibility and being psychologically tied to an object" (Pierce et al., 2001, p. 299). Through possessing shares, employees are real owners and have a strong sense that it is them who run the enterprise. Accordingly, they feel responsible and accountable for their actions, developing an identity of ownership (Greenberg, 1984; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018). In connection with this ownership identity, in nine enterprises, employees were willing to accept personal sacrifice for the success and survival of the community; e.g., accepting pay cuts and unpaid overtime before considering leaving (Oliver, 1984; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018), and 15 companies emphasized their employees' mutual perspective taking, caring for and helping out colleagues if necessary (e.g., see Greenberg, 1980, 1984; Harrison et al., 2018; Dai et al., 2019; Westoby and Shevellar, 2019).

Research question 3: Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena contributing to regeneration

Research question 3 asked what organizational/external conditions, democratic or participative practices, and psychological phenomena contribute to the regeneration of an enterprise (see Table 5). Overall, we identified eight democratic enterprises as fulfilling conditions for *regeneration* (10.8%).

Organizational and external conditions

Concerning the regenerated enterprises, the studies reported no organizational or external conditions that were helpful in the regeneration process.

Democratic or participative practices

With respect to democratic or participative practices that contribute to regeneration, we found fewer but similar aspects as for retention (presented in Section Research question 2: Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena contributing to retention). In three enterprises, a small Spanish baking equipment firm, a medium-sized French construction cooperative, and an Argentinean recuperated cooperative, links with broader social movements, namely a network of companioned worker cooperatives and a business ethics network, respectively, supported their goal and cultural regeneration process (see Bryer, 2011; Narvaiza et al., 2017). Two other small worker cooperatives countered organizational degeneration when growing larger through segmentation in basic-democratic divisions (Cornforth, 1995).

Knowledge-, information-, or experience- sharing were reported as participative practices in two enterprises that had degenerated due to unequal treatment of members and mistrust in management. Both enterprises were thus able to rebuild trust in management. In one enterprise, a small British wholesaler cooperative, the management committee, which was elected by the workers, regularly reported their activities, including presenting and discussing the business plan, installing a weekly discussion for current issues, and making available meeting minutes for all members to scrutinize (Jones, 2000). In the other enterprise, a big Indian jute mills, the new president held a series of meetings with all employees, made himself accessible, and asked for employee opinions and suggestions via installing complaint boxes. In combination with treating all employees equally, e.g., through consistent and fair rules, the new president achieved to rebuild trust in management and contributed to the improvement of the cooperative climate (Kandathil and Varman, 2007). As mentioned above, fostering equality by electing unskilled workers as representatives was a rather unusual democratic practice implemented in a medium-sized Indian service cooperative to facilitate the regenerating process (Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004). As an example, for value-based HRM, cooperative education and training was another supporting democratic practice. Unskilled workers were empowered by skill development and enhanced democratic consciousness. This socialization process as a democratic practice for fostering regeneration resulted in the implementation of a culture of equality (Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004). Within a recuperated cooperative in Argentina open criticism and discussion were important ingredients in ongoing dialogues between individual and collective needs as well as about the purposes of their activity within society. Hence, social discourses emphasizing democracy, social transformation and community development were psychological practices that supported the cooperative to regenerate from their degenerating tendencies (Bryer, 2011). Further, HRM practices that helped in the regeneration process were common recruitment and induction procedures. Applicants had longer probationary periods, were mostly local workers, and consensual decisions were made after getting feedback from the whole staff (Kennelly and Odekon, 2016).

The organization of labor and the reinforcement of broadbased participation were reported as democratic practices TABLE 5 Frequencies of conditions, practices and psychological phenomena of all forms of regeneration mentioned (n = 8 enterprises).

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	References
1. Organizational/external conditions:	0	
2. Democratic or participative practices:	21	
2.1 Integration and delimitation (boundary management)	3	
Linking with broader social movements to promote community-based goals		Bryer, 2011; Narvaiza et al., 2017 (2 enterprises)
Effort to stay small/resist to grow/cell division	2	
		Cornforth, 1995 (2 enterprises)
Support through external expertise	1	Namerica et al. 2017
	1	Narvaiza et al., 2017
2.2 Value-based human resources management	1	Kennelly and Odekon, 2016
Common recruitment and induction procedures	2	,
Cooperative education and training	2	Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004; Narvaiza et al., 2017
Further value-based socialization process	1	
I		Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004
Knowledge/information/experience sharing to rebuilt trust	2	
		Jones, 2000; Kandathil and Varman, 2007
Job rotation/job enlargement/job enrichment (production, service or	1	Crashed 1005
administrative tasks)		Cornforth, 1995
2.3 Support of cooperative culture and climate	2	
Fostering equality		Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004; Kandathil and Varman, 2007
Open criticism and discussion, permanent requirement for accountability and	1	D
overt critique of managers or elected representatives		Bryer, 2011
Social discourses emphasizing democracy, social transformation, and	1	
community development		Bryer, 2011
2.4 Support of participation	4	
Organization of labor: reinforcement of broad-based participation		Jones, 2000; Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016
		Narvaiza et al., 2017
3. Psychological phenomena:	4	
Strong commitment to cooperative idea and to the enterprise/loyalty/"family"	3	Bruer 2011, Kennelly and Odekon 2016, Nervoire et al. 2017
Constitution of constraints in the constraints in the	1	Bryer, 2011; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016; Narvaiza et al., 2017
Sacrifices for the organizational community	1	Bryer, 2011

fostering regeneration in four of the eight cases. In two enterprises (Jones, 2000; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016), direct elements of participation were re-introduced (e.g., consensual decisions and general meetings). In the third enterprise, unskilled workers took the initiative in the general assembly until all elected positions were held by these low skilled employees (Varman and Chakrabarti, 2004). In the fourth company, the strongly hierarchical organizational structure was replaced by a horizontal structure focusing on democratic work groups whose members elected their leaders (Narvaiza et al., 2017).

Psychological phenomena

We identified only two psychological phenomena that contributed to enterprises' regeneration. Three enterprises reported employees' strong commitment to the cooperative idea and to the enterprise (Bryer, 2011; Kennelly and Odekon, 2016; Narvaiza et al., 2017). Additionally, in an Argentinean recuperated cooperative, members' willingness to accept personal sacrifices for the organizational community was one psychological phenomenon considered vital to their regeneration process (Bryer, 2011).

Research question 4: The Mondragon Cooperative Cooperation network and its forms of transformation as well as relating conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena

In 2019, the Mondragon Cooperative Corporation (MCC) encompassed about 264 firms, 98 of them worker cooperatives, and had 81,837 employees. It was divided into an industrial, a retail, a service, and an educational sector (see, also in the

following, Basterretxea et al., 2022). In 2020, 75.0% of employees in the industrial sector were cooperative members (https://www. mondragon-corporation.com/urtekotxostena/datos-basicos. php?l=en; retrieved April 19, 2022). In the following, a multinational worker cooperative that comprises a parent cooperative and several subsidiaries is termed an *enterprise group*.

Table 6 shows an overview of all nine cases of enterprises or enterprise groups within the Basque Mondragon network, which met inclusion criteria based on methodological standards. Overall, the included studies contain only one democratic enterprise group, namely the ULMA group, which represented a case of *retention* at the time of investigation. Further, three other enterprises (Fagor Electrodomésticos Group, LANA cooperative, MAPSA cooperative) exhibited degeneration tendencies without any successful attempts of regeneration reported in the available studies. One of these, the Fagor Electrodomésticos group-which some years prior was the largest industrial worker cooperative in the worldclosed in 2013 because of insolvency after 57 years of mostly successful democratic and economic activity (Basterretxea et al., 2019). Five democratic enterprises (Coprecci cooperative, EB cooperative, Eroski group, Fagor Ederlan group, Maier group) underwent processes of regeneration, although three of those still showed moderate (Coprecci cooperative, Fagor Ederlan group) or stronger *tendencies* (Eroski group) of a fragmentary form of degeneration during the investigation period (cf. the conclusions regarding an "ongoing tension" of degenerative and regenerative processes by Storey et al., 2014; Bretos et al., 2020).

To evaluate the state of organizational democracy it is relevant whether the majority of employees was participating in democratic governance of their company at the time of investigation. Supplementary Table 5 provides this information. Five of the nine cases represent enterprises in which the majority of workers were owners (Coprecci, EB cooperative, Fagor Ederlan group, LANA, ULMA group), whereas in two enterprises (Fagor Electrodomésticos group, Eroski group) ownership by workers was <50%, but higher than 33%. This is considered a structural polarization-representing a structural indicator of constitutional degeneration-between a democratically ruling minority of working members and a majority of salaried workers excluded from democratic decision-making. For two enterprises (Maier group, MAPSA cooperative), the proportion of employee-owners was not specified in the respective studies.

Available studies do not provide a clear-cut picture of transformation tendencies in the overall Mondragon network. However, considering the size and complexity of the included enterprise groups, a closer look at these cases seems warranted.

Degeneration tendency

The Fagor Electrodomésticos group (founded in 1956; comprising 10,470 employees at 18 plants in Spain, France,

China, Poland, Morocco, and Italy in 2006, but in 2013, the year of closure, only 5,500 employees remained; Bretos et al., 2019) represents an example of MCC multinational industrial cooperatives. Both showed tendencies of strong constitutional degeneration through acquiring capitalist subsidiaries in several continents in the mid-2000s. This expansion was partly forced by the capitalist "liberation" of international markets. In contrast to Fagor Ederlan, Fagor Electrodomésticos did not solve the programmatic contradiction between cooperative and capitalist principles: Only 35.4% of its workforce were cooperative members in its last years (Basterretxea et al., 2019), and, finally, it became insolvent after 50 years of economic success. In their grounded-theory based study, Basterretxea et al. (2019, p. 589) summarize the following main reasons for failure as perceived by experienced long-time executives, managers, workers, and other stakeholders:

"The burst of Spanish property bubble and the consequent drop in sales of household appliances, marketing and product positioning problems, the increased bargaining power of big retailers entrants ..., the increased competitive rivalry, the poor implementation of the internationalization strategy, the size problem (too small compared to main competitors and too big to be efficiently run as a cooperative), failures in the cooperative governing bodies, and—above all—poor decisions about major investments."

Further organizational conditions and practices that may have contributed to tendencies of constitutional and goal/cultural degeneration of the enterprise group and, eventually, to its demise, are reported in the respective studies included in the present review (see Table 7 and, in detail, Errasti et al., 2016, 2017; Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022; Bretos et al., 2019), for example: product quality problems, resistance of unions against crises-induced dismissals, inappropriate personnel recruitment and selection (e.g., nepotism resulting in skills gaps and shirking), insufficient cooperative training and transfer of the cooperative values to new workers, lack of trust between parent coops and foreign subsidiaries, lack of cooperative tradition in foreign subsidiaries, reverse dominance hierarchy (basis-democratic governance and stakeholder democracy hampered the implementation of unpopular adaptation measures) and unbalanced power of interest groups leading to a climate of critique and accusation against management, abrupt turnover in the company's top management and councils, deskilling Tayloristic work organization, toleration of absenteeism and shirking through laissez-faire leadership. Psychological phenomena that were associated with degeneration tendencies comprise the lack of expertise of democratic board members and top managers, slow and often difficult decision-making and conflicts in democratic bodies, waiving the inclusion of independent

TABLE 6 Number of enterprise cases per transformation form from the Mondragon Cooperatives network.

Deg	generation tendency (number of enterprises) <i>r</i>	1 = 3	
Goal/cultural degeneration tendency	Moderate Constitutional degeneration tendency	Strong Constitutional degeneration tendency	
	(worker owners = majority) AND Goal/cultural	(worker owners = minority) AND goal/cultural	
	degeneration tendency	degeneration tendency	
MAPSA cooperative (Cheney, 1997, 2001)	LANA cooperative/part of EREIN group (Taylor,	Fagor Electrodomésticos Group Bankrupt in 2013	
	1994)	(Errasti et al., 2016, 2017; Bretos and Errasti, 2018;	
		Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022; Bretos et al., 2019)	
Degeneration tendency AND regeneration (number	of enterprises) $n = 3$		
Moderate constitutional degeneration tendency	Strong constitutional degeneration tendency	Goal/cultural degeneration tendency AND	
(worker owners = majority) AND goal/cultural	(worker owners = minority) AND goal/cultural	constitutional AND organizational regeneration	
regeneration	regeneration		
Coprecci cooperative / part of the then FAGOR	Eroski group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Storey et al.,	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017,	
group (Taylor, 1994)	2014; Basterretxea and Storey, 2018)	2018; Bretos et al., 2018)	
Retention (number of enterprises) $n = 1$ (Longitudin	al information)		
ULMA group (Cheney, 1997, 2001; Flecha and Ngai, 20	114; left MCC temporarily in 1992)		
Regeneration (number of enterprises) $n = 2$			
Constitutional AND goal/cultural regeneration	Organizational and goal/cultural regeneration		
Maier group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014)	EB cooperative (anonymized) (Narvaiza et al.,		
	2017)		

experts into the councils, high work pressure and employee resistance against humanization of work and participative practices, especially in several subsidiaries. In contrast to its foreign subsidiaries, considered by itself, the parent cooperative of Fagor Electrodomésticos did not display any substantive constitutional or organizational degeneration. Cooperative members without any management functions, including both skilled and unskilled workers, technicians, and craftsmen, maintained a strong influence on strategic decisions in the general assembly, the governing council, and the social council (Errasti et al., 2017; Basterretxea et al., 2019). In sharp contrast to most conventional capitalist corporations, the majority of working members of Fagor Electrodomésticos were reallocated to other MCC cooperatives after the closure (Errasti et al., 2017; Arando and Bengoa, 2018).

Additionally, several studies report three-empirically interrelated—indicators of goal/cultural degeneration tendencies within some MCC cooperatives. The first one refers to the lack of willingness of managers and worker owners in parent cooperatives to transform their foreign subsidiaries into worker cooperatives, which contradicts basic cooperative principles like open admission to the cooperative, democratic organization, sovereignty of labor, and the subordinate character of capital (see Heras-Saizarbitoria, 2014). The increasing importance that (capitalist) market economy-related business objectives gain over basic cooperative principles (see Blawat, 2014) represents the second indicator. As Cheney (1997, 2001) has demonstrated for the MAPSA cooperative and Taylor (1994) for the LANA agricultural cooperative, the

rhetoric of business economics increasingly shaped discourses among managers and/or among non-managing employees. In the latter case, small farmer members who were strongly committed to the cooperative idea but could not afford to pay their share in collective investments, were urged to leave the cooperative. The MAPSA cooperative-a maker of aluminum wheels that was converted from a traditional capitalist firm to a cooperative in 1991 and 1992 suffered from the introduction of semi-autonomous group work that failed because neo-Tayloristic HRM tools like Total Quality Management (TQM) allowed the employees only low participation opportunities in decision-making (Cheney, 1997, 2001). In an extensive discourse-analytical investigation of business documents from 70 MCC cooperatives, Heras-Saizarbitoria and Basterretxea (2016) demonstrated that the prevailing topics represented conventional business management concepts. While costumer focus/TQM, business excellence, innovation capabilities, policy of internationalization, and strengths of integration into a corporate structure dominated in the majority of cases, only about a quarter of the cooperatives emphasized topics like cooperative values or corporate social responsibility. Thus, discourses in the majority of worker cooperatives seemed to be disconnected from the cooperative principles represented by the MCC. Furthermore, the discrepancy between proclaimed cooperative principles and the experience of those principles in the daily work life reflects a third indication of goal/cultural degeneration, as demonstrated by Heras-Saizarbitoria (2014) in his study of 27 worker-members from 11 MCC member cooperatives. The majority of those workers did not experience the core principles of democratic organization, participatory

57

TABLE 7 Frequencies of conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena of *all forms of degeneration tendency* mentioned (n = 6 cases of the Mondragon Cooperative Corporation).

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	Enterprise groups and publications
1. Organizational/external conditions:	13	
Market demands/pressure/competition/no stable consumer base/market	3	Eroski group (Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*); Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022; Bretos et al., 2019)
Forces of (semi-external) stakeholders (MCC bank)	2	Coprecci cooperative (Taylor, 1994)*; LANA (Taylor, 1994)
Size of the company (growth)/expansion	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Basterretxea et al., 2019; Bretos et al., 2019)
Financial crisis	2	Eroski group (Storey et al., 2014*; Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016, 2017; Bretos et al., 2019)
Wrong business decisions	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2017; Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022)
Lack of unions/ambivalent union relations/union resistance against bad working conditions	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos et al., 2019)
Product quality problems	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2022)
2. Non-democratic or non-participative practices:	24	
2.1 Exclusion and boundary management		
Missing Cooperativization of capitalist subsidiaries/economistically motivated	3	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*;
exclusion of ownership/cooperative members		Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Bretos et al., 2019); LANA (Taylor, 1994)
Waiver of external expertise in democratic boards	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2022)
2.2 Dysfunctional human resources management		
Dysfunctional recruitment, selection, and induction procedures	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019)
No/insufficient cooperative education and training	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019; Bretos et al., 2019)
2.3 Deficient cooperative culture and climate		
Lack of a collectivistic culture and cooperative tradition in foreign subsidiaries	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018)
Lack of trust between parent coops and foreign subsidiaries	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Bretos et al., 2019)
No communication among the foreign subsidiaries	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016)
Intraorganizational conflicts	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2017; Basterretxea et al., 2022)
Economistic managerial rhetoric	2	MAPSA (Cheney, 2001); LANA (Taylor, 1994)
Aggressive/offensive requirement for accountability and overt critique of managers	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022)
2.4 Neglect of participation	<u>,</u>	
Goals of employee ownership were not democratization but dividends and secure employment	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos et al., 2019)

(Continued)

TABLE 7 (Continued)

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	Enterprise groups and publications
Organization of work: low participation opportunities in	4	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2018*; Bretos et al., 2018*;
decision-making/transfer of management-controlled, economistic HRM		Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Bretos and
practices/Tayloristic division of labor		Errasti, 2018; Basterretxea et al., 2019; Bretos et al., 2019); MAPSA
		(Cheney, 2001)
Laissez-faire leadership	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019)
3. Psychological phenomena:	15	
Lacking skills and knowledge for strategic decisions/slow decision-making in	2	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Errasti et al., 2017; Basterretxea et al.,
democratic panels		2022)
Weak commitment to employee ownership/cooperative idea (employees in	2	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos et al., 2018*); Fagor Electrodomésticos
subsidiaries)		group (Basterretxea et al., 2019)
Lack of employees' psychological ownership	1	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos et al., 2019*)
Work pressure/stress	3	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos et al., 2019*); Fagor Electrodomésticos
		group (Bretos et al., 2019)
High manager and council representatives turnover	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2022)
Job/organizational dissatisfaction of worker members	2	Eroski group (Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*); Fagor
		Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019)
Freeriding/shirking and absenteeism of worker members	2	Eroski group (Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*); Fagor
		Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019)
Employees' resistance against humanization of work	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019; Bretos et al.,
		2019)
Wage solidarity against sacrifices for the community	1	Fagor Electrodomésticos group (Basterretxea et al., 2019, 2022)

Several studies described the same conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena for the same enterprise. These phenomena were counted only once for each enterprise. Therefore, the number of publications may exceed the number of counted conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena.

^{*}Degenerative tendency and regeneration activity appear simultaneously in this case.

management, and cooperative education as well integrated in their everyday work (cf. Bretos and Errasti, 2017, 2018). However, the core principle of secure membership and employment was appreciated and applicable to interviewees, forming a starting point for goal/cultural regeneration (cf. the studies on the Eroski group by Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Basterretxea and Storey, 2018).

Degeneration tendency and regeneration

This review identified three cases of persistent interweaving of degenerative and regenerative processes (as conceptualized by Storey et al., 2014; Bretos et al., 2020), represented by the Eroski group, the Fagor Ederlan group, and the Copreci cooperative. The Eroski group (founded in 1969) represents the largest MCC enterprise with 30,903 employees in 2018 (Basterretxea et al., 2022). Eroski is a combined consumer and worker cooperative allowing consumer-members and worker-members equal representation in elected governing bodies, namely the general assembly and the Governing Council, elected by all cooperative members. Empirical evidence indicates that the Eroski group has undergone a process of *constitutional degeneration* after incorporation: among its employees the rate of working members (i.e., employee-owners participating equally in ownership and democratic decision-making) fell from about 47% in 2005 to about 33% in 2014 (see, also in the following, Storey et al., 2014; Basterretxea and Storey, 2018). It follows, that two thirds of employees, among them the great majority of those working in hierarchically structured subsidiaries acquired by the Eroski parent cooperative, did not possess democratic decision-making rights at the time of investigation. In contrast, a two third majority of working members within the parent company Eroski S. Coop participated in governing the whole Eroski group. Thus, the biggest enterprise within MCC exhibits strong structural polarization between the parent cooperative and the majority of subsidiaries.

Nonetheless, empirical evidence indicates that several *goal/cultural regeneration* efforts occurred. Following the social expansion strategy adopted by the Mondragon congress in 2003, within the democratic entities in the Eroski group and, similarly, in the Fagor Electrodomésticos group, the Fagor Ederlan group, the Maier group (and, presumably, further MCC enterprise groups that have not been investigated), a debate on the regeneration of democratic principles and social objectives began. It caused the Eroski parent cooperative to transform several of their domestic subsidiaries into a variant of *mixed cooperatives* as an intermediate stage to later integrate them fully into the Eroski parent cooperative (Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Storey

et al., 2014). Further participative practices (see, also in the following, Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Storey et al., 2014; Basterretxea and Storey, 2018) were applied in other Eroski subsidiaries not earmarked for cooperativization (i.e., for a transformation into a mixed cooperative): Employees of Eroski stores were allowed to participate in short-term operational or some tactical decisions and in minor capital stakes of the parent cooperative. In 2011, 33.6% of the total employees of the Eroski group had such partial ownership stakes in subsidiaries. Moreover, management and democratic representatives participated in discourses within the Eroski groups and in the MCC self-reflection debate emphasizing the regeneration of democracy and cooperative values. Additionally, an expansion of cooperative education was initiated and employee representatives successfully prevented the modification of egalitarian principles (e.g., concerning profit sharing).

In contrast to Fagor Electrodomésticos, after symptoms of constitutional and goal degeneration had appeared in the course of internationalization caused by global market pressures toward high productivity and quality, the Fagor Ederlan group, an automotive supplier founded in 1963; about 3,600 workers at 16 plants in Spain, China, Brazil, and Slovakia in 2014 (Bretos et al., 2019), succeeded both economically and in the cooperativization of several subsidiaries, such that working members again constituted the majority of employees (65% in 2014, see Bretos and Errasti, 2017; 72% in 2021, see https:// www.fagorederlan.com/en/about-us, retrieved April 21, 2022). Thus, the constitutional degeneration tendency was reduced significantly. For example, in the governing board of Ederlan's mixed cooperatives, working members from the subsidiary have a greater representation than the proportion that they would have been allocated on the basis of their part of ownership (the parent cooperative holds the majority of the equity capital) and important decisions require a two-thirds majority. Further, regeneration measures comprised cooperative education parallel to technical training, fostering equality through a policy of job security, reduction of wage gap, horizontal communication, and an employee suggestion system in agreement with the unions. Additionally, participation practices included efforts to humanize production work through job enlargement and enrichment and a reinforcement of participation through forming a delegate committee of the worker members of the governing board (Bretos and Errasti, 2017; Bretos et al., 2018).

Notwithstanding these practices, both Fagor groups showed a structural polarization between the Basque parent cooperatives and several domestic mixed cooperatives, on the one hand, and the foreign subsidiaries that enjoy no democratic and collective ownership rights, on the other hand. Several studies have demonstrated that participative practices and components of HRM were distributed unequally among the foreign subsidiaries of both Fagor groups (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos and Errasti, 2018; Bretos et al., 2018, 2019). Lean production and TQM seem to be widespread in all subsidiaries, allowing many employees only limited participation opportunities in decisionmaking. Nonetheless, the studies mentioned above indicate that the subsidiaries differed strongly with regard to job security, professional and cooperative training, internal promotion, pay equity, willingness to cooperate between MCC management and foreign trade unions, and employees' stress at work. A lack of trust between parent coops and foreign subsidiaries is mirrored in the lack of a collectivistic culture and cooperative tradition and a weak initial commitment of workers in the majority of foreign subsidiaries. These findings are mirrored by Errasti's (2015) investigation of 11 Mondragon subsidiaries in the Kunshan Industrial Park in China, However, Errasti (2015) conceded that a more participative and considerate leadership style prevailed there, compared to the authoritarian style normally found in capitalistic Chinese subsidiaries. The inclusion of trade union representatives on the subsidiary's board of directors of the Polish subsidiary Fagor Mastercook (then belonging to the Electrodomésticos group) was a further positive exception (Errasti et al., 2016; Bretos et al., 2019). In contrast to the Catholic social doctrine and humanism of the founders, several studies indicate that not only the subsidiaries but also production plants belonging to the MCC parent cooperatives were affected by semi-Tayloristic principles of work organization, modulated by management-controlled participative practices stemming from lean production and TQM (Cheney, 2001; Basterretxea et al., 2019; Bretos et al., 2019, 2020). This corresponds with findings of an interview study by Heras-Saizarbitoria (2014), in which the majority of 27 workerowners in 11 MCC cooperatives perceived few possibilities to participate in everyday decision-making (however, the sample was small and not representative for those large enterprises).

In contrast, influenced by the approach of sociotechnical work design, some MCC cooperatives like Fagor Edelan and Copreci have adopted semi-autonomous group work and similar interventions oriented toward the humanization of work (see Taylor, 1994; Cheney, 2001; Bretos and Errasti, 2017; Bretos et al., 2019). Taylor's (1994) study describes the development of competing rhetorical strategies between economic and social goals in the Coprecci cooperative which nurtured a social discourse emphasizing democracy, social transformation, and community development as constituents of goal and cultural regeneration. A more participative reorganization of social councils and the constitution of permanent and ad hoc committees and study teams represent further practices to reinforce employees' participation in organizational decisionmaking and, thus, support constitutional and organizational regeneration of the Coprecci cooperative.

Retention

The ULMA group (a supplier and service provider for various industries) demonstrated goal/cultural and constitutional retention through practices (see Table 8) like

cell-division as a consequence of identification with the local community: Because of its strong commitment to the Mondragon founding values, the ULMA group consisting of five worker cooperatives encompassing 1,200 employee-owners at the time had left MCC in 1992 after debating threats that the internationalization strategy posed to democratic functioning and community development (Cheney, 1997, 2001). The members of the ULMA group decided to retain their regional grouping instead of adopting the new sectoral reorganization of MCC. This indicates their considerable orientation to promote community-based goals in the region and their strong commitment to the cooperative idea. Eventually, the group re-united with the industrial division of MCC and is represented by one member in the governing council of MCC in 2020 (see https://www.mondragon-corporation.com/ urtekotxostena/organos.php?l=en, retrieved April 19, 2022). About 20 years later, 93% of its employees were still cooperative members (Blawat, 2014). This is also due to the fact that the parent cooperative's worker owners are motivated to retain the cooperative identity also in the acquired subsidiaries through practices like cooperativization, reinforcing participation through self-managed group work and intensive sharing of knowledge and information (Flecha and Ngai, 2014).

Regeneration

Finally, two cases demonstrate strong tendencies of goal/cultural regeneration. The Maier group, a manufacturer of plastic parts and complex injection moldings for the automotive industry (meanwhile encompassing about 3,200 employees, see https://www.maier.es/), started extensive activities of constitutional regeneration through transforming a big subsidiary into a mixed cooperative (Flecha and Ngai, 2014). Further participative practices have been applied to counter degeneration tendencies in the parent cooperative and subsidiaries (see Table 8). These include widespread education in cooperative values and technical-organizational training, measures to increase transparency and knowledge-sharing across all organizational levels, and to reduce wage gaps to foster income equality. Further, principles of sociotechnical work design like job rotation, job enrichment, and semiautonomous group work as well as employee suggestions systems were introduced at some subsidiaries to transform the Tayloristic work organization. The EB cooperative (anonymized), a manufacturer of copper wires with 170 employees (90% of them are employee-owners) engaged external consultants, psychologists and senior managers with expertise in cooperativism to strengthen the cooperative spirit of newcomers (Narvaiza et al., 2017). These practices helped to recover the cooperative spirit among the members of the cooperative.

Whereas, one of two further studies indicated goal/cultural retention concerning basic values like autonomy,

empowerment, egalitarianism, and fairness (Hoffman and Shipper, 2018), the other study showed more ambivalent findings regarding tensions between retention and degeneration of values (Blawat, 2014). However, because both do not refer to specific MCC cooperative groups or cooperatives, but to the overall MCC network, and because the samples of interviewed employees are extremely small, these studies were not included in the table of results.

Discussion

Summary of main findings

Summing up the results of research questions 1–3, the present systematic review provides compelling evidence that the majority of investigated democratically structured enterprises operate at least sufficiently economically successful in capitalist market environments, thereby resisting Webb and Webb's (1914) deterministic degeneration thesis and defying the so-called "iron law of oligarchy" (Michels, 1915).

The most frequently reported organizational/external condition for the retention of organizational democracy was small size of the enterprise. The most widely mentioned democratic or participative practices and psychological phenomena that foster retention were similar to those of regeneration or retention as previously identified by several other scholars (e.g., Rothschild-Whitt, 1976; Cornforth, 1995; Bretos et al., 2020). Participative practices included activities of boundary management (Ulich, 2011) like linking with broader social movements to promote community-based goals, measures of HRM based on cooperative values like personnel selection, common recruitment and induction procedures as well as cooperative education and training and supporting the further socialization knowledge/information/experience process, sharing and job rotation/job enlargement/job enrichment. Our systematic review revealed measures to support cooperative culture and climate like open criticism and discussion, permanent requirement for accountability and overt critique of managers, social discourses emphasizing democracy, social transformation, and community development and, finally, practices to support employee participation also in operational and tactical decisions in the daily work through a democratic organization of labor as frequently used participative practices. The psychological phenomena reported in the analyzed studies encompassed strong commitment to the cooperative idea and to the enterprise/loyalty/framing as "family" and psychological ownership. However, we found some additional practices that seem to foster the retention or regeneration of democratic enterprises that were not reported in earlier conceptual reviews: Fostering equality and the effort of enterprises to stay small and resist growth. The psychological phenomena of employees' mutual perspective taking and caring as well as making TABLE 8 Frequencies of conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena of *all forms of retention or regeneration* mentioned (n = 6 cases) of the Mondragon Cooperative Corporation.

Conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena	Frequency	Enterprise groups and publications
1. Organizational/external conditions:	1	
Support through the union	1	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos et al., 2018*)
2. Democratic or participative practices:	24	
2.1 Integration and delimitation (boundary management)		
Linking with broader social movements to promote community-based goals/intercooperative solidarity	1	Grupo ULMA (Cheney, 1997, 2001)
Cooperativization of (capitalist) subsidiaries/remutualization	3	Eroski group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014; Storey et al., 2014*); Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017*); Maier group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014)
Effort to stay small/resist to grow/cell division	1	Grupo ULMA (Cheney, 1997, 2001)
Support through external expertise	1	EB cooperative (Narvaiza et al., 2017)
2.2 Value-based human resources management		
Value-based personnel selection of the CEO	1	EB cooperative (Narvaiza et al., 2017)
Cooperative education and training	3	Eroski group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014); Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017*; Bretos et al., 2019*); Maier group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014)
Knowledge/information/experience sharing	2	Maier group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014); ULMA group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014)
Job rotation/job enlargement/job enrichment	1	Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017*)
2.3 Support of cooperative culture and climate		
Open criticism and discussion, permanent requirement for accountability and overt critique of managers	1	Eroski group (Storey et al., 2014*)
Social discourses emphasizing democracy, social transformation, and community development	3	Coprecci cooperative (Taylor, 1994)*; Eroski group (Storey et al., 2014*); Grupo ULMA (Cheney, 1997, 2001, 2004)
Fostering equality	2	Eroski group (Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*); Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos et al., 2018*)
2.4 Support of participation		
Organization of labor: reinforcement of broad-based participation	5	Coprecci cooperative (Taylor, 1994)*; Eroski group (Storey et al., 2014*); Fagor Ederlan group (Bretos and Errasti, 2017*); Maier group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014); ULMA group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014)
3. Psychological phenomena:	5	
Strong commitment to cooperative idea and to the	4	EB cooperative (Narvaiza et al., 2017); Eroski group (Basterretxea and
enterprise/loyalty/"family"/strong willingness to participate		Storey, 2018*); Grupo ULMA (Cheney, 1997, 2001, 2004; Flecha and Ngai, 2014)
Sacrifices for the organizational community	1	Eroski group (Basterretxea and Storey, 2018*)

Several studies described the same conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena for the same enterprise. These phenomena were counted only once for each enterprise. Therefore, the number of publications may exceed the number of counted conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena.
*Degenerative tendency and regeneration activity appear simultaneously in this case.

sacrifices for the community, and, social inclusion orientation and employees' entrepreneurial motives were also not discussed in earlier reviews.

Overall, the number of enterprises that *fully degenerated* or that showed *forms of degeneration tendencies* was smaller than the number of enterprises categorized as retention or regeneration (36.5 vs. 63.5%). However, the studies included in the systematic review considered *organizational/external conditions* far more relevant for enterprises that have

degenerated fully or tendentially than for enterprises categorized as retention or regeneration. The most common conditions reported were market demands, pressure, or strong competition, the (large) size of company and expansion, and the passivity of unions in ownership matters. We found several *nondemocratic or non-participative practices* and *psychological phenomena* that had been identified in earlier conceptual reviews as counterproductive to retention, such as excluding new employees from ownership, lack of cooperative education and training, semi-/Tayloristic organization of labor and low participation opportunities in decision-making, and a weak initial commitment to employee ownership. Furthermore, we also detected new practices, which had not been previously mentioned. Two of them represent a deficient cooperative culture or climate, namely fostering inequality, and failing to shape a culture of involvement and deliberation or unfamiliarity with the employee ownership concept and, the third one means that goals of employee ownership were not democratizing, but to gain dividends and secure employment.

The findings concerning MCC (RQ 4) indicate that vast organizational size and integration of an enterprise into the global capitalist market economy do not automatically determine organizational democracy to fail. However, permanent tensions between market-induced pressures to adopt principles of capitalistic accounting and values of cooperativism and economic democracy exist. Those tensions can culminate in processes of organizational change that represent simultaneous or successive degenerative and regenerative tendencies (cf. Cheney et al., 2014; Storey et al., 2014; Bretos et al., 2020). The results of this systematic review suggest, that, in the long term and depending on their specific resources, participative practices, and strategic decisions, big democratic enterprises are able to maintain or regenerate democratic and cooperative principles of decision making on a broad scale. Alternatively, they may be able to restore democratic structures only on a smaller scale compared to their earlier life-cycle phases or regenerate by partitioning into separate divisions or enterprises (as in the case of ULMA, see Cheney, 1997, 2001). In less resilient cases, they either fully degenerate and give up democratic principles and collective ownership or stay democratic but fail economically. All those different cases are represented in MCC. Participative practices in MCC subsidiaries are mostly restricted to voice and problem solving with regard to operational-but not tactical or strategic-planning and decision-making. Such conditional participative practices are dominated and channeled by economistic management concepts like semi-Tayloristic lean production and TQM. These were introduced to adapt workers' behaviors to customer demands on the global markets for home appliances, industrial facilities, or commercial vehicles. Depending on circumstances, such restricted participation may support employees in developing basic social competences and organizing skills that are expedient for projects of democratic regeneration. However, they cannot replace cooperativization or, at least, projects of "democratic Taylorism", which include strategic co-determination by representatives of the workers (see Adler, 1995).

Included studies on the John Lewis Partnership (JLP) in the UK corroborate our rejection of the deterministic degeneration hypothesis. In contrast to the MCC network, JLP represents a single retail enterprise group. Nearly all of the 86,700 employees have the right to participate in strategic decision-making *via* their elected representatives in the JLP council (encompassing representatives of all department stores) and the JLP management board, and in collective ownership via a trust controlled by democratic representatives (Hoffman and Shipper, 2018). While both main boards of representative democracy on the level of the enterprise group continued to exist since several decades, the study by Cathcart (2013, 2014) indicated a moderate organizational degeneration tendency because democratic branch councils were replaced with merely consultative branch forums; the same happened in 29 from 37 department stores. However, parallel to this limitation of democracy, an ongoing debate on the importance of democratic, social and economic goals evolved, whereby economistic management positions did not gain dominance over the cooperative values of the JLP constitution. Further, several democratic renewal initiatives have been developed indicating a case of goal/cultural retention at the time of the study (see also Storey et al., 2014; Storey and Salaman, 2017; Hoffman and Shipper, 2018). Thus, neither overly optimistic assessments (e.g., Forcadell, 2005) nor totally pessimistic views (like Kasmir, 2016) draw a realistic picture of the democratic situation in the MCC or the JLP.

Theoretical and practical implications

Theoretically, we see the most important implication of this systematic review in the further development of proposed life-cycle models of cooperatives (Batstone, 1983; Meister, 1984; Bretos et al., 2020) based on empirical evidence. The extended model is substantiated with the above summarized concrete organizational/external conditions, democratic/participative practices and psychological phenomena, which are associated with different stages of a democratic enterprise' life-cycle. Figure 2 provides an overview of this revised model. The lower part of the model reflects Bretos et al.'s (2020) five stages of cooperative life-cycles, which, until now, has been the most comprehensive and best developed model. Stages 1 (conquest) to 4 (administrative power) mirror Meister's (1984) life-cycle model of degeneration. Stage 5 allows for processes of regeneration, but also includes pathways of institutional isomorphism (capitalistic solidification) or dissolution and exit from the industry. After regeneration, a new life-cycle may start, however, after institutional isomorphism and dissolution and exit the industry, the life cycle of a cooperative will end (Bretos et al., 2020). In our systematic review we identified enterprises in all of the proposed stages of Bretos et al.'s (2020) model. However, we designated Stage 1 as retention instead of conquest, Stage 2 as moderate goal/cultural degeneration tendency instead of economic consolidation, Stage 3 as organizational and constitutional degeneration tendency instead of coexistence, Stage 4 as full degeneration instead of administrative power,



and, finally, Stage 5 was maintained as a possible phase of *regeneration*.

Additionally, and neither included in the initial model (Meister, 1984) nor in the revised life-cycle models (Batstone, 1983; Bretos et al., 2020), we found that the majority of investigated democratic enterprises resisted degeneration and degeneration tendencies. The majority of enterprises (half of them small-, half of them medium-sized) categorized as retention (upper part of Figure 2), remained in Stage 1 for long periods of time (about two thirds of them at least 20 years) and did not underwent democratic changes. Such processes were also proposed by Rothschild-Whitt (1976), however they were never included in a cooperative's life-cycle model. The Cheese Board Collective in Berkeley, USA (Gupta, 2014) is a concrete example for such a retention process. This small grassroots worker-cooperative maintains direct democracy through frequent general assemblies, a comprehensive job rotation scheme, and founding spin-offs (instead of organizational growth) without creating representative democratic boards or hiring non-participating or non-owning employees. Finally, it may also happen that some enterprises, which remained in Stage 1 for a long period of time, will may experience unfavorable conditions in future. As a consequence, they will

drive the adoption of non-democratic practices or psychological phenomena that force them into a new developmental stage in the sense of Bretos et al.'s (2020) life-cycle model.

In the middle part of Figure 2, we depict two further possible configurations for which we found evidence. In MCC, two large cooperatives showed forms of constitutional degeneration tendency and goal/cultural regeneration simultaneously. Furthermore, one cooperative was facing a goal/cultural degeneration tendency while simultaneously undergoing constitutional and organizational regeneration. Theoretically, other combinations of different forms of re- and degeneration may occur at the same time. Such simultaneous processes may result under specific conditions at the outset of a new developmental stage. Empirically, these simultaneous configurations are not fully in line with the linear structure of Bretos et al.'s (2020) stage model (especially the path from Stage 2-5). We suggest that there are several pathways for democratic enterprises to develop simultaneously and in different causal sequences.

Practical implications can be derived from the identified practices that foster the retention of democratic enterprises, providing helpful guidelines for their continued existence.

Furthermore, described retention and regeneration practices may be fruitful measures for democratizing hierarchically structured enterprises. Findings of this review study suggest that the larger a democratic enterprise grows the more necessary it will become to integrate the big majority (or all) of the employees directly into practices of decision-making. Otherwise, democratic structures run the risk of becoming eroded, that is, there will be a threat of degeneration processes. This does not mean that large democratic corporations must necessarily be split up (although in some cases this would be better for the inter-/national economy). Rather, several of the reviewed case studies indicate that structures of representative democracy can be combined with practices of direct democratic decisionmaking on the level of the department or the work group and, particular participatory practices even on the level of the organization. For example, as the findings about MCC (see Section Research question 4: The Mondragon Cooperative Cooperation Network and its forms of transformation as well as relating conditions, practices, and psychological phenomena) converge with studies on more conventional enterprises, semiautonomous work groups can be established in industrial areas characterized by small or medium series production or, in form of self-managed teamwork, in specific domains of service or administrative work (see a review by Ulich, 2011; Lee and Edmondson, 2017). Here the members of the working groups in a respective company are participating directly in collective tactical or operational decisions associated with planning, coordinating, and controlling the carrying out of the necessary, interrelated subtasks that serve the production of jointly produced products or services. Direct democratic group work lets employees experience a sense of control and mastery and counteracts the risk of feeling alienated from large enterprises practicing representative democracy in which only the elected organization members can directly play a decisive part (Bartoelke et al., 1982).

In cases where democratization of certain work activities does not seem feasible, some of the case studies reviewed demonstrate other ways in which a considerable number of employees can be directly involved. In democratic enterprises like Cooperative Home Care Associates (Berry and Schneider, 2011), JEBA Manufacturing and Supply Inc. (Boguslaw and Taghvai-Soroui, 2018), in several John Lewis department stores (Nicholson et al., 2020), or in the MCC cooperative Coprecci (Taylor, 1994) several organization members were delegated to working groups, committees or project groups in which certain strategic or tactical decisions were prepared for general meetings of those enterprises. These include economic, technical (including product or process quality), and personnel-related (including occupational health and safety) issues or decisions on caregiving or support of the local communities.

Provided that these delegates are exchanged after longer periods of function and, thus, numerous employees gradually will carry out responsible planning tasks or problem-solving tasks together, this democratic practice also represents an important method of counteracting degenerative tendencies.

Only a few of the reviewed studies included or suggested any method or intervention to prevent organizational or goal degeneration. Mainly, these referred to larger enterprises that were governed based on representative democracy. In such cases, frequent direct communication on substantial decisions (including different options) between employees eligible to vote and their representatives, is recommendable. Based on their contextual knowledge, the voters can then point out problems or alternatives concerning current planning of the representative body. In medium-sized companies, this participative communication may be realized spontaneously as needed if this doesn't disturb production flows (see Greenberg, 1984; Atzeni and Ghigliani, 2007). In large enterprises, recurring meetings between representatives and their organizational units should be institutionalized, e.g., monthly or every 2 months.

Notwithstanding this, it is surprising that in hardly any of the reviewed cases established participatory intervention methods from organizational development were used. After all, these participatory methods, following the work of Kurt Lewin and his successors, as well as the sociotechnical systems approach, are at the starting point of a democracy-oriented research and design of democratic work systems (see Trist and Murray, 1993). Democratic Dialogue conference (Gustavsen, 1992), Search Conference (Emery and Purser, 1996), Future Search (Weisbord and Janoff, 2000), Twenty-first Century Town Meeting (Lukensmeyer and Brigham, 2002), or Constructive Controversy (Johnson et al., 2006) are all prominent examples. These conferences, workshops, or encounters enable employees to directly participate democratically in planning or design processes in addition to electing their representatives. These approaches offer a wide range of possibilities involving a large number of organization members in annual-or more frequent-retreats (all together or specific groups at different times) in joint planning of the further development of the company or specific departments. Various methods are used for participative preparation of product and process innovation, others for resolving factual conflicts in development processes. Furthermore, these large-group methods, comprising exchanges between parallel work in small groups and integration of the proposals in plenums, also aim to promote democratic, social, communicative, or cognitive-moral learning processes among the participants. We encourage future studies to investigate how these intervention methods reinforcing broadbased participation in democratic enterprises will interact with further participative practices in terms of value-based HRM and support of cooperative culture and climate, like those that our review has identified. Against the background of our findings, it can be assumed that such participatory interventions together with participative practices in everyday work may facilitate participants' commitment to the cooperative idea and

65

to their enterprise, their collective psychological ownership, their prosocial behavior, and their readiness to make sacrifices for their company.

Thus, the findings of this review study may contribute knowledge to the multifarious governmental programs, interventions and political activities aiming all over the world at a democratic and ecological transformation of the economy in the global context that, for example, Ferreras et al. (2022) have proposed. Thus, extracted results are of high practical applicability.

Limitations and future research

A first major limitation concerns the available data for the described enterprises. The analytical depth and level of detail of included qualitative studies varied considerably. Some studies describe in great detail the structures, bodies, principles and typical practices of organizational democracy with regard to the three forms of transformation. In other studies, democratic structures and participatory practices were outlined only sparsely and vaguely. Surprisingly, the included studies only rarely provided a detailed and comprehensive analysis of (a) what percentage of those working in a given democratic enterprise participated, (b) how frequently, (c) in which specific strategic or tactical decisions, (d) directly or via elected representatives, (e) through what panels or practices, (f) or how the employees participated in the equity capital of their company. Frequently, some of this information was missing. The inclusion of larger parts of staff members from different departments and hierarchical levels through standardized survey questionnaires (see, e.g., IDE International Research Group, 1981; Heller et al., 1988; Weber and Unterrainer, 2012) would have allowed to assess the constitutional and organizational degenerative or regenerative tendencies with higher internal validity than this was typically done in the studies reviewed here. In future research, such standardized questionnaires assessing the above aspects should be integrated into mixed methods designs wherever possible.

A second limitation refers to the theoretical foundation of the identified psychological phenomena. Focusing on organizational change and sustainability, organizational psychology has suspiciously neglected research on organizational democracy, which was also demonstrated in our meta-analysis (Weber et al., 2020). Therefore, it is not surprising that, although the majority of included studies pursue psychologically relevant questions, discovered phenomena are often only superficially (if not at all) related to established theories, constructs, or models of work, organizational, or social psychology. This shortcoming should be addressed in future studies using the findings of this systematic review to collaborate across disciplines in both theory and hypothesis development and in planning mixed-methods research designs. If the-politically induced-artificial disciplinary divisions

were abandoned in favor of a scientific cross-fertilization of perspectives, this would offer opportunities to better understand the interactions among psychological, organizational, economic, and social characteristics and processes. This would contribute to shaping the frequently invoked social and ecological transformation locally as well as globally.

Furthermore, eight enterprises that were categorized as retention provided only cross-sectional information. This means that at the time of investigation all indicators pointed to a retention. Since information was missing on the enterprise' development from its founding until the time of study, it is possible that these enterprises earlier went through a cycle of degeneration and were at the time of investigation already fully regenerated. However, since the democratic practices and psychological phenomena of retention and regeneration processes turned out to be very similar, this limitation seems to be less of a concern.

Another limitation refers to the respective samples of interviewees. Although in several cases, some theoretical sampling procedures were applied, especially studies on big enterprise groups like the MCC network or John Lewis Partnership cannot claim representativeness.

Included research designs are only limitedly comparable. Qualitative methodology is much more diverse and less standardized than quantitative questionnaire surveys. Specifically, the latter facilitate systematic reviews on highly aggregated characteristics. However, this means that possible external and internal organizational influencing factors and complex interaction processes, which are due to the specific context of concrete cases, are overlooked.

A final limitation applies only to MCC. The nine cases that met the inclusion criteria were representing only a part of the MCC enterprises. In this sub-sample, big cooperative groups were overrepresented compared to small or mediumsized MCC cooperatives.

Conclusion

The present article reviews qualitative research on democratically structured enterprises, published between 1970 and 2020, with respect to their potential for retention, degeneration, and regeneration. We were able to provide strong evidence that the pessimistic view regarding the short-lived survival of democratic enterprise in a capitalistic market environment—the degeneration thesis by Webb and Webb (1914) and further scholars—is completely overblown. Out of 83 investigated enterprises 50 showed no signs of degeneration or even degeneration tendencies, and most of the enterprises that showed degeneration tendencies were still far away from full degeneration [e.g., Equal Exchange (USA), Cooperative Home Care Associates (USA), One World Natural Grocery (USA), or Opel Hoppmann (Germany)]. The present study therefore raises the hope that democratically structured enterprises in the sense of "real utopias" (Wright, 2010) have the potential of contributing to a socio-ecological transformation especially by connecting and networking with broader social movements to promote a more socially and ecologically just and sustainable economy and humanist society.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

Funding

This article was supported by the Publishing Fund of the University of Innsbruck in cooperation with the Faculty of

References

Adler, P. S. (1995). "Democratic taylorism: the toyota production system at NUMMI," in *Lean Work: Empowerment and Exploitation in the Global Auto Industry*, eds S. Babson (Detroid, MI: Wayne State University Press), 209–219.

Arando, S., and Bengoa, I. A. (2018). "Inter-cooperation mechanisms in Mondragon: Managing the crisis of Fagor ElectrodomEsticos," in Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory and Labor-Managed Firms. Employee Ownership and Employee Involvement at Work: Case Studies, Vol. 18, eds D. Berry and T. Kato (Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited), 7–35.

*Ashforth, B. E., and Reingen, P. H. (2014). Functions of dysfunction: managing the dynamics of an organizational duality in a natural food cooperative. *Admin. Sci. Quart.* 59, 474–516. doi: 10.1177/0001839214537811

*Atzeni, M., and Ghigliani, P. (2007). Labour process and decision-making in factories under workers' self-management: empirical evidence from Argentina. *Work Empl. Soc.* 21, 653–671. doi: 10.1177/0950017007082875

Bartoelke, K., Eschweiler, W., Flechsenberger, D., and Tannenbaum, A. S. (1982). Worker's participation and the distribution of control as perceived by members of ten German companies. *Admin. Sci. Quart.* 27, 380–397. doi: 10.2307/2392318

*Basterretxea, I., Cornforth, C., and Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2022). Corporate governance as a key aspect in the failure of worker cooperatives. *Econ. Indust. Democ. Int. J.* 43, 362–387. doi: 10.1177/0143831X19899474

*Basterretxea, I., Heras-Saizarbitoria, I., and Lertxundi, A. (2019). Can employee ownership and human resource management policies clash in worker cooperatives? Lessons from a defunct cooperative. *Hum. Resour. Manag.* 58, 585–601. doi: 10.1002/hrm.21957

Basterretxea, I., and Storey, J. (2018). Do employee-owned firms produce more positive employee behavioural outcomes? If not why not? A British-Spanish comparative analysis. *Br. J. Indust. Relat.* 56, 292–319. doi: 10.1111/bjir. 12247 Psychology and Sport Science. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyg.2022.947559/full#supplementary-material

Batstone, E. (1983). Organization and orientation: a life cycle model of French co-operatives. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 4, 139–161. doi: 10.1177/0143831X8342002

*Berry, D. P., and Schneider, S. (2011). "Improving the quality of home health aide jobs: a collaboration between organized labor and a worker cooperative," in Labor and Employment Relations Association Series. Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism: New Directions in Research, 1st Edn. eds E. J. Carberry (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press/IIR Press), 59–89.

^{*}Bittencourt Meira, F. (2014). Liminal organization: organizational emergence within solidary economy in Brazil. *Organization* 21, 713–729. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537621

*Blawat, A. (2014). Employee participation in management. Case study of a democratic organization – Mondragón Corporate Cooperativa. J. Posit. Manag. 5, 30–42. doi: 10.12775/JPM.2014.011

*Boguslaw, J., and Taghvai-Soroui, S. (2018). "Structuring firms to benefit lowincome workers: an employee ownership case study," in *Employee Ownership and Employee Involvement at Work: Case Studies (Advances in the Economic Analysis* of Participatory and Labor-Managed Firms, Vol. 18), eds D. Berry and T. Kato (Emerald Publishing Limited), 153–177.

*Borowiak, C., and Ji, M. (2019). Taxi co-ops versus Uber: struggles for workplace democracy in the sharing economy. *J. Labor Soc.* 22, 165-185. doi: 10.1111/wusa.12388

*Bretos, I., and Errasti, A. (2017). Challenges and opportunities for the regeneration of multinational worker cooperatives: lessons from the Mondragon Corporation—a case study of the Fagor Ederlan Group. *Organization* 24, 154–173. doi: 10.1177/1350508416656788

*Bretos, I., and Errasti, A. (2018). The challenges of managing across borders in worker cooperatives: insights from the Mondragon cooperative group. J. Co-Operative Organ. Manag. 6, 34-42. doi: 10.1016/j.jcom.2018.04.001 *Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2018). Ownership, governance, and the diffusion of HRM practices in multinational worker cooperatives: casestudy evidence from the Mondragon group. *Hum. Resour. Manag. J.* 28, 76–91. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12165

^{*}Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2019). Multinational expansion of worker cooperatives and their employment practices: markets, institutions, and politics in Mondragon. *ILR Review* 72, 580–605. doi: 10.1177/0019793918779575

Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2020). Is there life after degeneration? The organizational life cycle of cooperatives under a 'grow-or-die' dichotomy. *Ann. Public Cooperat. Econ.* 91, 435–458. doi: 10.1111/apce.12258

Brown, R., McQuaid, R., Raeside, R., Dutton, M., Egdell, V., and Canduela, J. (2019). Buying into capitalism? Employee ownership in a disconnected era. *Br. J. Indust. Relat.* 57, 62–85. doi: 10.1111/bjir.12309

^{*}Bryer, A. R. (2011). Accounting as learnt social practice: the case of the empresas reuperadas in Argentina. *Account. Organiz. Soc.* 36, 478–493. doi: 10.1016/j.aos.2011.09.002

*Calo, T. J., and Shipper, F. (2018). "Atlas container corporation: thinking outside the box," in Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory and Labor-Managed Firms. Employee Ownership and Employee Involvement at Work: Case Studies, Vol. 18, eds D. Berry and T. Kato (Emerald Publishing Limited), 193–219.

*Cathcart, A. (2013). Directing democracy: competing interests and contested terrain in the John Lewis Partnership. *J. Indust. Relat.* 55, 601–620. doi: 10.1177/0022185613489424

*Cathcart, A. (2014). Paradoxes of the participation: non-union workplace partnership in John Lewis. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 25, 762–780. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2012.743476

Chaves, R., and Sajardo, A. (2004). Social economy managers: between values and entrenchment. *Ann. Public Cooperat. Econ.* 75, 139–161. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8292.2004.00246.x

*Cheney, G. (1997). "The many meanings of "solidarity": the negotiation of values in the Mondragon worker-cooperative complex under pressure," in *Case Studies in Organizational Communication, 2nd Edn.* eds B. D. Sypher (New York, NY: Guilford), 68–83.

*Cheney, G. (2001). "Forms of connection and "severance" in and around the Mondragon worker-cooperative complex," in *Communication and Community*, eds G. Shepherd and E. Rothenbuhler (Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum), 135–155.

*Cheney, G. (2004). "Arguing about the place of values and ethics in marketoriented discourses of today," in *New Approaches to Rhetoric*, eds E. Sullivan and S. Goldzwig (Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications), 61–88.

Cheney, G., Christensen, L. T., Conrad, C., and Lair, D. J. (2004). "Corporate rhetoric as organizational discourse," in *The SAGE Handbook of Organizational Discourse*, eds D. Grant, C. Hardy, and C. E. A. Oswick (SAGE Publications Ltd.), 79–104.

Cheney, G., Cruz, I. S., Peredo, A. M., and Nazareno, E. (2014). Worker cooperatives as an organizational alternative: challenges, achievements and promise in business governance and ownership. *Organization* 21, 591-603. doi:10.1177/1350508414539784

*Cornforth, C. (1995). Patterns of cooperative management: beyond the degeneration thesis. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 16, 487–523. doi: 10.1177/0143831X95164002

Cornforth, C., Thomas, A., Lewis, R., and Spear, R. (1988). *Developing Successful* Greenberg *Working Co-operatives*. London: Sage.

Cornwell, J. (2012). Worker Co-operatives and spaces of possibility: an investigation of subject space as collective copies. Antipode 44, 725–744. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8330.2011.00939.x

*Dai, H., Lau, Y., and Lee, K. H. (2019). Social innovation, value penetration, and the power of the nonprofit sector: workers' co-operative societies in Hong Kong. *Nonprofit Volunt. Sector Quart.* 48, 1210–1228. doi: 10.1177/0899764019863107

*Darr, A. (1999). Conflict and conflict resolution in a cooperative: the case of the Nir taxi station. *Hum. Relat.* 52, 279–301. doi: 10.1177/001872679905200301

Diamantopoulos, M. (2012). Breaking out of co-operation's 'iron cage': from movement degeneration to building a developmental movement. *Ann. Public Co-operative Econ.* 83, 199–214. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-8292.2012.00461.x

Diefenbach, T. (2019). Why Michels' 'iron law of oligarchy' is not an iron law – and how democratic organisations can stay 'oligarchy-free'. *Organ. Stud.* 40, 545–562. doi: 10.1177/0170840617751007

Eikenberry, A. M. (2009). Refusing the market. Nonprofit Volunt. Sector Quart. 38, 582–596. doi: 10.1177/0899764009333686

Emery, M., and Purser, R. E. (1996). The Search Conference. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.

*Errasti, A. (2015). Mondragon's Chinese subsidiaries: coopitalist multinationals in practice. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 36, 479-499. doi: 10.1177/0143831X13511503

*Errasti, A., Bretos, I., and Etxezarreta, E. (2016). What do Mondragon coopitalist multinationals look like? The rise and fall of Fagor Electrodomesticos S. Coop. and its European subsidiaries. *Ann. Public Cooper. Econ.* 87, 433–456. doi: 10.1111/apce.12137

*Errasti, A., Bretos, I., and Nunez, A. (2017). The viability of cooperatives: the fall of the mondragon cooperative fagor. *Rev. Rad. Polit. Econ.* 49, 181–197. doi: 10.1177/0486613416666533

Ferreras, I., Battilana, J., and Méda, D. (eds.) (2022). *Democratize Work. The Case for Reorganizing the Economy*. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.

*Flecha, R., and Ngai, P. (2014). The challenge for Mondragon: searching for the cooperative values in times of internationalization. *Organization* 21, 666–682. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537625

Forcadell, F. J. (2005). Democracy, cooperation and business success: the case of Mondragon Corporacion Cooperativa. J. Bus. Ethics 56, 255–274. doi: 10.1007/s10551-004-5094-5

Giagnocavo, C., Gerez, S., and Campos Climent, V. (2014). Paths to cooperative survival: structure, strategy and regeneration of fruit and vegetables cooperatives in Almeria and Valencia, Spain. *Ann. Public Coop. Econ.* 85, 617–639. doi: 10.1111/apce.12054

Goldstein, S. G. (1978). Employee share ownership and motivation. J. Indust. Relat. 20, 311–330. doi: 10.1177/002218567802000306

*Greenberg, E. (1984). "Representative and direct democracy in self-managed enterprises," in *Worker Cooperatives in America*, eds R. Jackall and H. M. Levin (Berkeley, CA: University of California Press; University of California Press), 171–214.

*Greenberg, E. S. (1980). Participation in industrial decision-making and worker satisfaction: the case of producer cooperatives. *Soc. Sci. Quart.* 60, 551–569.

*Gupta, C. (2014). The co-operative model as a 'living experiment in democracy'. J. Co-Operat. Organiz. Manag. 2, 98–107. doi: 10.1016/j.jcom.2014.09.002

Gustavsen, B. (1992). Dialogue and Development. Assen: Van Gorcum.

*Hadley, R., and Goldsmith, M. (1995). Development or convergence? Change and stability in a common ownership firm in three decades: 1960-89. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 16, 167–199. doi: 10.1177/0143831X95162002

*Harrison, J. A., Singh, P., and Frawley, S. (2018). What does employee ownership effectiveness look like? The case of a Canadian-based firm. *Can. J. Admin. Sci. Revue Canadienne Des Sciences De L'administration* 35, 5–19. doi: 10.1002/cjas.1371

Heller, F. A., Drenth, P., Koopman, P., and Rus, V. (1988). Decisions in Organizations: A Three Country Comparative Study. London: Sage.

*Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2014). The ties that bind? Exploring the basic principles of worker-owned organizations in practice. *Organization* 21, 645–665. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537623

*Heras-Saizarbitoria, I., and Basterretxea, I. (2016). Do co-ops speak the managerial lingua franca? An analysis of the managerial discourse of Mondragon cooperatives. *J. Co-Operative Org. Manag.* 4, 13–21. doi: 10.1016/j.jcom.2016.02.001

Hernandez, S. (2006). Striving for control: democracy and oligarchy at a Mexican cooperative. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 27, 105–135. doi: 10.1177/0143831X06060593

Hoffman, R. C., and Shipper, F. M. (2018). Shared core values of high performing employee-owned enterprises. J. Manag. Spirit. Relig. 15, 285–304. doi: 10.1080/14766086.2018.1482474

*Hoffmann, E. A. (2001). Confrontations and compromise: dispute resolution at a worker cooperative coal mine. *Law Soc. Inquiry* 26, 555–596. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4469.2001.tb00189.x

*Hoffmann, E. A. (2003). Legal consciousness and dispute resolution: different disputing behavior at two similar taxicab companies. *Law Soc. Inquiry* 28, 691–716. doi: 10.1111/j.1747-4469.2003.tb00212.x

*Hoffmann, E. A. (2005). Dispute resolution in a worker cooperative: formal procedures and procedural justice. *Law Soc. Rev.* 39, 51–82. doi: 10.1111/j.0023-9216.2005.00077.x

*Hoffmann, E. A. (2006). Exit and voice: organizational loyalty and dispute resolution strategies. *Social Forces* 84, 2313–2330. doi: 10.1353/sof.2006.0093

*Hoffmann, E. A. (2016). Emotions and emotional labor at worker-owned businesses: deep acting, surface acting, and genuine emotions. *Sociol. Quart.* 57, 152–173. doi: 10.1111/tsq.12113

IDE International Research Group (1981). Industrial democracy in europe: differences and similarities across countries and hierarchies. *Org. Stud.* 2, 113–129. doi: 10.1177/017084068100200201

*Jackall, R. (1984). "Paradoxes of collective work: a study of the Cheeseboard, Berkeley, California," in *Worker Cooperatives in America*, eds R. Jackall and H. M. Levin (Univ. of California Press; University of California Press), 109–136.

*Jaumier, S. (2017). Preventing chiefs from being chiefs: an ethnography of a co-operative sheet-metal factory. *Organization* 24, 218–239. doi: 10.1177/1350508416664144

*Jensen, A. (2011). Saving companies worth saving: Spain pioneers a sustainable model of democratic corporate governance. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 32, 697–720. doi: 10.1177/0143831X10394881

*Ji, M. (2018). "Limitations of business unionism and co-op conservatism: a case study of Denver's taxi driver union-cooperatives," in Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory and Labor-Managed Firms. Employee Ownership and Employee Involvement at Work: Case Studies, Vol. 18, eds D. Berry and T. Kato (Emerald Publishing Limited), 121–152.

*Jochmann-Döll, A., and Wächter, H. (2008). Democracy at work - revisited. Manag. Revue. Socio-Econ. Stud. 19, 274–290. doi: 10.5771/0935-9915-2008-4-274

Johnson, D. W., Johnson, R. T., and Tjosvold, D. (2006). "Constructive controversy," in *The Handbook of Conflict Resolution: Theory and Practice, 2nd Edn*, eds M. Deutsch, P. T. Coleman and E. C. Marcus (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 69–91.

*Jones, D. R. (2000). Leadership strategies for sustainable development: a case study of Suma Wholefoods. *Bus. Strat. Environ.* 9, 378–389. doi: 10.1002/1099-0836(200011/12)9:63.3.CO;2-6

*Kalmi, P. (2002). Does employee ownership survive the transition? *Acta Oeconomica* 52, 307–325. doi: 10.1556/aoecon.52.2002.3.2

*Kandathil, G. M., and Varman, R. (2007). Contradictions of employee involvement, information sharing and expectations: a case study of an Indian worker cooperative. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 28, 140-174. doi:10.1177/0143831X07073033

Kasmir, S. (2016). The Mondragon Cooperatives and global capitalism. New Labor Forum 25, 52–59. doi: 10.1177/1095796015620424

Kavcic, B., Rus, V., and Tannenbaum, A. S. (1971). Control, participation, and effectiveness in four Yugoslav industrial organizations. *Admin. Sci. Quart.* 16, 74–86. doi: 10.2307/2391290

*Kennelly, J. J., and Odekon, M. (2016). Worker cooperatives in the United States, redux. *Working USA* 19, 163–185. doi: 10.1111/wusa.12235

Kim, J. (2021). " spillover from workplace into politics: what are we measuring and how?," in *Advances in Industrial and Labor Relations, Vol. 26*, eds D. Lewin and P. J. Gollan (Emerald Publishing Limited), 145–176.

*Kociatkiewicz, J., Kostera, J., and Parker, M. (2021). The possibility of disalienated work: Being at home in alternative organizations. *Hum. Relat.* 74, 933–957 (online first 2020). doi: 10.1177/0018726720916762

*Kranz, O., and Steger, T. (2016). Resurrected, recovered, but still didn't survive? A case study on the viability of employee-owned companies. *Manag. Revue* 27, 234–260. doi: 10.5771/0935-9915-2016-4-234

*Langmead, K. (2016). Challenging the degeneration thesis: the role of democracy in worker cooperatives? *J. Entrep. Org. Div.* 5, 79–98. doi: 10.5947/jeod.2016.005

*Langmead, K. (2017). From cooperative practice to research and back: learning from the emotional experience of ethnography with two social enterprises. *Soc. Enterp. J.* 13, 194–212. doi: 10.1108/SEJ-07-2016-0028

Lee, M. Y., and Edmondson, A. C. (2017). Self-managing organizations: exploring the limits of less hierarchical organizing. *Res. Org. Behav.* 37, 35–58. doi: 10.1016/j.riob.2017.10.002

*Lindenfeld, F. (2001). Worker ownership at Algoma Steel. *Hum. Soc.* 25, 3–18. doi: 10.1177/016059760102500102

Long, R. J. (1978). The relative effects of share ownership vs. control on job attitudes in an employee-owned company. *Hum. Relat.* 31, 753–756. doi: 10.1177/001872677803100901

Lukensmeyer, C. J., and Brigham, S. (2002). Taking democracy to scale: creating a town hall meeting for the twenty-first century. *National Civic Rev.* 91, 351-366. doi: 10.1002/ncr.91406

*Majee, W., and Hoyt, A. (2009). Building community trust through cooperatives: a case study of a worker-owned homecare cooperative. *J. Commun. Pract.* 17, 444–463. doi: 10.1080/10705420903299995

*Majee, W., and Hoyt, A. (2010). Are worker-owned cooperatives the brewing pots for social capital? *Commun. Dev.* 41, 417-430. doi: 10.1080/15575330.2010.488741

Meister, A. (1984). Participation, Associations, Development, and Change. New Brunswick: Transaction Books.

*Meyers, J. S. (2006). "Workplace democracy comes of age: economic stability, growth, and workforce diversity," in *Research in the Sociology of Work: v. 16. Worker Participation: Current Research and Future Trends, Vol. 16*, eds V. Smith (Bingley: Elsevier JAI), 205–237.

*Meyers, J. S. M., and Vallas, S. P. (2016). Diversity regimes in worker cooperatives: workplace inequality under conditions of worker control. *Sociol. Quart.* 57, 98–128. doi: 10.1111/tsq.12114

*Meyers, J. S. M. (2011). "Employee ownership, democratic control, and working-class empowerment," in *Labor and Employment Relations Association* Series. Employee Ownership and Shared Capitalism: New Directions in Research, 1st Edn, eds E. J. Carberry (Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press/IIR Press), 113–145.

Michels, R. (1915). Political Parties: A Sociological Study of Oligarchical Tendencies of Modern Democracy. New York, NY: Hearst's International Library Co.

Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G., and The PRISMA Group (2009). Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *PLoS Med.* 6, e1000097. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1000097

*Narvaiza, L., Aragon-Amonarriz, C., Iturrioz-Landart, C., Bayle-Cordier, J., and Stervinou, S. (2017). Cooperative dynamics during the financial crisis: evidence from Basque and Breton case studies. *Non-profit Volunt. Sector Quart.* 46, 505–524. doi: 10.1177/0899764016661775

*Ng, C., and Ng, E. (2009). Balancing the democracy dilemmas: experiences of three women workers' cooperatives in Hong Kong. *Econ. Indust. Democ. Int. J.* 30, 182–206. doi: 10.1177/0143831X09102419

*Nicholson, H., Beadle, R., and Slack, R. (2020). Corporate philanthropy as a context for moral agency, a MacIntyrean enquiry. *J. Bus. Ethics* 167, 589–603. doi: 10.1007/s10551-019-04188-7

Nightingale, D. V. (1979). The formally participative organization. *Indust. Relat.* 18, 310–321. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.1997.tb00930.x

Obradovic, J. (1970). Participation and work attitudes in Yugoslavia. Indust. Relat. 9, 161–169. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.1970.tb00503.x

*Oliver, N. (1984). An Examination of organizational commitment in six workers' cooperatives in Scotland. *Hum. Relat.* 37, 29–45. doi: 10.1177/001872678403700102

*Pansera, M., and Rizzi, F. (2020). Furbish or perish: Italian social cooperatives at a crossroads. *Organization* 27, 17–35. doi: 10.1177/1350508418760980

Parker, M. (2017). Alternative enterprises, local economies, and social justice: why smaller is still more beautiful. *Management* 20, 418-434. doi: 10.3917/mana.204.0418

Pierce, J. L., Kostova, T., and Dirks, K. T. (2001). Toward a theory of psychological ownership in organizations. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 26, 298–310. doi: 10.2307/259124

Pineiro Harnecker, C. (2007). Workplace democracy and collective consciousness: a study of Venezuelan Gooperatives. *Monthly Rev.* 59, 27–40. doi: 10.14452/MR-059-06-2007-10_5

Pineiro Harnecker, C. (2009). Workplace democracy and social consciouisness: a study of Venezuelan cooperatives. *Sci. Soc.* 73, 309–339. doi: 10.1521/siso.2009.73.3.309

Pineiro Harnecker, C. (2012). "Democracy and solidarity: a study of Venezuelan cooperatives," in *Alternative Work Organization*, eds M. Atzeni (London: Palgrave Macmillan), 103–128.

Rothschild-Whitt, J. (1976). Conditions facilitating participatory-democratic organizations. *Sociol. Inquiry* 46, 75–86. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-682X.1976.tb00752.x

Rothschild-Whitt, J., and Whitt, J. A. (1986). Worker-owners as an emergent class: effects of cooperative work on job satisfaction, alienation, and stress. *Econ. Indust. Democ.* 7, 297–317. doi: 10.1177/0143831X8673004

Russell, R., Hochner, A., and Perry, S. E. (1979). Participation, influence, and worker-ownership. *Indust. Relat. J. Econ. Soc.* 18, 330–341. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X.1997.tb00932.x

*Sacchetti, S., and Tortia, E. (2020). Social responsibility in non-investor-owned organisations. Corporate Governance. *Int. J. Effect. Board Perform.* 20, 343–363. doi: 10.1108/CG-04-2019-0123

Sauser, W. I. Jr. (2009). Sustaining employee owned companies: seven recommendations, J. Bus. Ethics 84, 151–164. doi: 10.1007/s10551-008-9679-2

*Schoening, J. (2006). Cooperative entrepreneurialism: reconciling democratic values with bussiness demands at a worker-owned firm. *Res. Sociol. Work* 16, 293–315. doi: 10.1016/S0277-2833(06) 16011-2

*Sobering, K. (2016). Producing and reducing gender inequality in a workerrecovered cooperative. *Sociol. Quart.* 57, 129–151. doi: 10.1111/tsq.12112 *Sobering, K. (2019). Watercooler democracy: rumors and transparency in a cooperative workplace. *Work Occup.* 46, 411–440. doi: 10.1177/0730888419860176

*Storey, J., Basterretxea, I., and Salaman, G. (2014). Managing and resisting 'degeneration' in employee-owned businesses: a comparative study of two large retailers in Spain and the United Kingdom. *Organization* 21, 626–644. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537624

*Storey, J., and Salaman, G. (2017). Employee ownership and the drive to do business responsibly: a study of the John Lewis Partnership. Oxford Rev. Econ. Policy 33, 339–354. doi: 10.1093/oxrep/grx022

*Taylor, P. L. (1994). The rhetorical construction of efficiency: restructuring and industrial democracy in Mondragon, Spain. *Sociol. Forum* 9, 459–489. doi: 10.1007/BF01466318

*Timur, S., and Timur, A. T. (2016). Employee ownership and sustainable development in tourism: a case in North Cyprus. *Sustain. Dev.* 24, 89–100. doi: 10.1002/sd.1610

Trist, E., and Murray, H. (eds.) (1993). *The Social Engagement of Social Science* - *A Tavistock Anthology. Vol. II: The Socio-Technical Perspective.* Philadelphia, PA: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Ulich, E. (2011). Arbeitspsychologie [Work psychology] (7. Auflage). Zuerich/ Stuttgart: vdf, Poeschel.

Unterrainer, C., Palgi, M., Weber, W. G., Iwanowa, A., and Oesterreich, R. (2011). Structurally anchored organizational democracy in organizations: does it reach the employee? *J. Pers. Psychol.* 10, 118–132. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000038

*Varman, R., and Chakrabarti, M. (2004). Contradictions of democracy in a workers' cooperative. Org. Stud. 25, 183–208. doi: 10.1177/0170840604036913

* References marked with an asterisk indicate studies included in the systematic review.

*Vieta, M. (2012). "From managed employees to self-managed workers: the transformations of labour at Argentina's worker-recuperated enterprises," in *Alternative Work Organization*, eds M. Atzeni (London: Palgrave Macmillan), 129–156.

Vieta, M. (2014). Learning in struggle: Argentina's new worker cooperatives as transformative learning organizations. *Relat. Indust./Indust. Rel.* 69, 186–218. doi: 10.7202/1024212ar

Webb, S., and Webb, B. (1914). Co-operative Production and Profit Sharing. New Statesman (Special Supplement).

Weber, W. G., and Unterrainer, C. (2012). "Analysis of preconditions for the fostering of democratic behavioral orientations in business organizations – The POPD questionnaire," in *Democratic Competences and Social Practices in Organizations*, eds W. G. Weber, M. Thoma, A. Ostendorf, and L. Chisholm (Wiesbaden: Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften (VS)); 118–143.

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organizational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organizational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205

Wegge, J., Jeppesen, H. J., Weber, W. G., Pearce, C. L., Silva, S., Pundt, A., et al. (2010). Promoting work motivation in organizations: should employee involvement in organizational leadership become a new tool in the organizational psychologist's kit? *J. Pers. Psychol.* 9, 154–171. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000025

Weisbord, M. R., and Janoff, S. (2000). Future Search: An Action Guide to Finding Common Ground in Organizations and Communities, 2nd Edn. San Francisco, CA: Berrett-Koehler.

*Westoby, P., and Shevellar, L. (2019). The possibility of cooperatives: a vital contributor in creating meaningful work for people with disabilities. *Disabil. Soc.* 34, 1613–1636. doi: 10.1080/09687599.2019.1594699

*Wren, D. (2020). The culture of UK employee-owned worker cooperatives. Empl. Relat. Int. J. 42, 761–776. doi: 10.1108/ER-12-2018-0327

Wright, E. O. (2010). Envisioning Real Utopias. London: Verso.





Employee Perceptions About Participation in Decision-Making in the COVID Era and Its Impact on the Psychological Outcomes: A Case Study of a Cooperative in MONDRAGON (Basque Country, Spain)

Aitziber Arregi*[†], Monica Gago[†] and Maite Legarra[†]

Faculty of Business Studies, Mondragon University, Gipuzkoa, Spain

This research aims to study possible effects or impacts of COVID-19 in the context of a democratic organizational system analyzing how COVID-19 has influenced employees' perception of their participation in decision-making and its impact on some psychological outcomes and emotions. COVID-19 has accelerated the process of implementation of new frameworks at work (digitalization, teleworking, new skills, and abilities) that have generated the modification of culture and employee management practices. Our hypothesis are, on the one hand, that COVID-19 has generated changes in participation structures and internal communication mechanisms, having to make modifications not to deteriorate the perception of employees about their participation in decision making. On the other hand, COVID-19 has generated changes in the psychological outcomes and emotions of the employees. In the study, we analyze a cooperative belonging to the MONDRAGON cooperative group, where participation in decision-making and ownership is in its DNA. Through qualitative (5 focus groups) and quantitative (short questionnaire) methodologies, involving 42 employees, we investigate firstly, how COVID-19 has affected perceptions about participation in decision-making analyzing what role has played internal communication in these perceptions. Secondly, we investigate how COVID-19 has affected psychological outcomes and emotions. In this case, the perceptions arising from participation in decision-making focus on the assessment that participators make of the governance channels and the day-to-day meetings. Therefore, their appropriateness seems to be a key factor in the perception of participation in the COVID-19 era. Differences have been detected between the perceptions of blue and white collar employees. Such differences have also been

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christine Unterrainer, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

George Cheney, University of Colorado Colorado Springs, United States David Wren, Sheffield Hallam University, United Kingdom

*Correspondence:

Aitziber Arregi aarregui@mondragon.edu †These authors have contributed

Specialty section:

equally to this work

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 21 July 2021 Accepted: 10 January 2022 Published: 04 February 2022

Citation:

Arregi A, Gago M and Legarra M (2022) Employee Perceptions About Participation in Decision-Making in the COVID Era and Its Impact on the Psychological Outcomes: A Case Study of a Cooperative in MONDRAGON (Basque Country, Spain). Front. Psychol. 13:744918. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.744918
founded in the psychological outcomes and emotions. Although this is a single case study, the analysis carried out provides elements of reflection to modify and restructure the decision-making and participation mechanisms, adapting them to the needs of blue and white collar employees in order to "guarantee" the expected outcomes.

Keywords: employee participation, COVID, psychological wellbeing, MONDRAGON, degeneration, regeneration

INTRODUCTION

COVID-19 has provoked a new economic crisis that has forced many organizations to close, but it has also accelerated the implantation of new approaches to work and new human resource management practices, such as digitalization and remote working, thus reinforcing the need to acquire new knowledge and skills in one's job in order to meet the new strategic goals of the business (Carnevale and Hatak, 2020; DeFilippis et al., 2020; Xifra, 2020; Yawson, 2020). In addition, there is a new discourse regarding the need to modify the work culture of organizations (Spicer, 2020) which moreover may lead to reassess employees' participation in organizations (Child, 2021). In this new paradigm, the mechanisms of participation and the structures of decision-making seem to be rethought and adapted to the new reality. Structures of governance and communication and information policies that facilitate participation may be questioned and redefined, and this may affect the way the principle of democratic organization is exercised within cooperatives. Moreover, COVID-19 has an effect to the emotions and psychological outcomes, not only as citizens, but also as employees (e.g., Tang et al., 2020).

In this regard, a case study has been carried out of the cooperative ULMA Architectural Solutions (UAS) belonging to MONDRAGON, in which the influence of COVID-19 on employee's perception of their participation in decision-making (PDM) and internal communication (IC) has been analyzed. In addition, employees were asked about their perceptions regarding psychological outcomes affected, and the emotions experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic. Some years before, Arregi et al. (2018) carried out a quantitative study in the same organization, UAS, in order to examine perceptions of organizational atmosphere and joint ownership, and they reinforced the fundamental roles of information-sharing and participation in enterprises with shared ownership.

This article allows us to examine, from different angles, the impact of COVID-19 on an organization where participation is a central element due to its nature as a cooperative. As far as we know, this is one of the few studies, or even the first one, in which democratic processes and IC practices in a MONDRAGON cooperative have been examined at the level of employee-owners in the COVID-19 era.

Additionally, it permits an analysis of the point of view of both white and blue collar employees, a perspective that is unusual in the scientific literature, but of great interest given that the two groups differ considerably in terms of their perceptions of the workplace (Hu et al., 2010). The study carried out by Arregi et al. (2018) found key distinctions between blue collar (BC) and white collar (WC) workers' experiences and perceptions in UAS.

Our first research aim will be the analysis of the employees' perceptions about PDM. At organizational level, employee participation has a special relevance as a lever of business innovation. In today's global economy, organizations are realizing that people are at their neurological core (Noe et al., 2017). The approach related to the participative organizational model stands on the idea of placing the person at the center of the organization. In this regard, a new form of internal governance and employee participation may prove to be decisive. Wegge et al. (2010), based on Weber et al. (2009), suggest that Organizational Democracy (OD) is the most radical form of employee participation. This concept includes direct or representative joint consultation, co-determination and self-determination in organizations (Heller et al., 1998) and employees often hold a share in their organization's equity capital. We add to the OD literature by gathering contributions from Strategic Human Resources Management (HRM) theory, which endorses High Performance Working Systems (HPWS) which in turn, encompass employee PDM, among other aspects.

Within participative models, cooperatives are by nature the organizations with the greatest potential to integrate involved, active and participative people into their projects, as participation is a basic principle of their business formula (Altuna Gabilondo, 2008). Cooperatives differ substantially from the conventional companies in their basis purpose, property rights and decision making processes and "they are in tune with a more participatory and democratic society" (Forcadell, 2005, p. 255). Indeed, in the cooperatives within MONDRAGON, participation (according to the principles of democratic organization and PDM) is the spine of the group's cooperative experience (Altuna Gabilondo, 2008). The philosophy of cooperativism, particularly as manifest in worker cooperatives, gathers economic and democratic rights and the ownership has economic and socio-political senses (Cheney, 2006). MONDRAGON is one of the most studied success stories in the scientific literature (Whyte, 1995; Forcadell, 2005; Basterretxea and Albizu, 2011; Freundlich et al., 2013; Heras-Saizarbitoria, 2014; Gallego-Bono and Chavez-Avila, 2016; Azkarraga and Cheney, 2019). However, PDM in the cooperatives in general, and also in MONDRAGON, has presented some "dilemmas and paradoxes" focused on the degeneration and regeneration of the cooperatives that scientific literature gathers (e.g., Greenwood and González, 1991; Stohl and Cheney, 2001; Cheney, 2006; Azkarraga et al., 2012; Agirre et al., 2014; Errasti et al., 2016, 2017; Bretos et al., 2017, 2020).

MONDRAGON is a well-known example of an organization in which employees of the cooperatives are also "joint owners" (Forcadell, 2005) of the organization, that is, organizational democracy is conceived as "each member has one vote regardless of their capital contribution." In cooperatives, there exist governance channels through which democratic principles are put into practice, where communication takes place and participation is made possible; namely, the General Assembly, the Governing Council, the Audit Committee, the Social Council and the Management Council.

In MONDRAGON, IC and PDM cannot be separated from each other in this case study. According to the social and business policy of MONDRAGON for the period 2009– 2012, IC was related with participation, involvement, cohesion and motivation of employees, thus conceiving IC as much more than simple channels and tools (Belategi et al., 2019). Moreover, the MONDRAGON Corporate Management Model in 2013 emphasized three aspects of promoting democratic governance and participation: self-management, communication and corporate development (Bretos et al., 2020). The research is based on the idea that IC is an essential foundation for PDM to function. While IC can be practiced without democratic decisionmaking (such as, for example, in hierarchical companies), mechanisms of IC need to be functioning in order for PDM be exercised.

As a result of the pandemic some organizations had to find new ways of communicating and organizing due to the social distancing, digitalization or remote working. The challenges in this field seem to be changing and this topic is relevant as the health crisis forces organizations to adapt work processes and it has an enormous impact on the individual as an employee (Li et al., 2021). In this situation, democratic governance channels and methods together with IC and information policies may be reassessed.

In this new paradigm where the COVID-19 has affected psychological outcomes, as numerous recent studies have addressed (i.e., Adhitama and Riyanto, 2020; Carnevale and Hatak, 2020; Bulińska-Stangrecka and Bagieńska, 2021), our second research aim is to analyze the impact of the COVID-19 in psychological outcomes and emotions, although we recognize that the empirical study does not allow to measure the impact of PDM on psychological outcomes arising from COVID-19. However, this research allows to theorize about the relations among all the factors analyzed in the study.

Within all this context, the present research aims to illuminate how COVID-19 has influenced: (1) employees' perceptions of their PDM through formal governance channels and IC mechanisms; and (2) psychological outcomes and the emotions experienced by employees; with special attention given to whether there is a divergence between BC and WC employees.

The Case: ULMA Architectural Solutions

ULMA Architectural Solutions is a small-to-medium-sized employees' cooperative based in the Basque Country, Spain, with a population of approximately 2.19 million in 2020. It's a region with a strong industrial past, and, although COVID-19 has had a negative impact on industry, unemployment remained at 11.2% and the working population increased by 1.5% in the fourth quarter of 2020 (Eustat, 2021). Comparing it with other regions of Spain, it has not suffered the effects of the health crisis to the same extent. The firm was founded in 1990 as a worker cooperative. It designs and manufactures prefabricated products for the construction of drainage and external wall systems, architectural precast and ventilated facades. It's workforce has averaged approximately 254 people in 2021, of which approximately 82% are employee-members, with 115 employees BC and 139 WC.

ULMA Architectural Solutions belongs to MONDRAGON, which is an integrated network of over 95 cooperatives and approximately 135 affiliated organizations. Together, these firms generated \in 12,320 million in sales and had a workforce of over 81,000 people in 2019.

In cooperatives, participation can occur in three differentiated areas; PDM, economic participation, and participation in ownership, as will be explained below.

In MONDRAGON cooperatives, the members' participation is fostered in three areas: in the ownership of the organization, as they contribute to the cooperative economically and therefore, they become owner-members; in the so-called "economic participation," as they receive their corresponding economic reward; and in the decision-making of the cooperative through their voice and/or vote by means of the institutional (formal) democratic structures (governance channels) provided by the cooperatives. These governance channels provide the members with the mechanism for individual participation (either directly or through their representatives) and allow and promote PDM.

- 1. *The General Assembly*: according to article 1 of the law of cooperatives of the Basque Country, "this is a meeting of the employee-members, held to deliberate on and make decisions about matters of their competence." It is the supreme body of the cooperative (Larrańaga, 2005) and one that expresses the communal will of all the participating employee-members (Altuna Gabilondo, 2008). Its functions are: to adopt strategic plans of action and annual management plans, to name and revoke the members of the Governing Council, and to adopt agreements regarding the cooperative's legal system (i.e., statutes or internal rules of procedure). The General Assembly is composed by all the members of the cooperative where each of them has one vote, regardless of the contribution to the capital done.
- 2. *Governing Council*: this is the representative, managing and governing body of the cooperative (Larrańaga, 2005; Altuna Gabilondo, 2008; Altuna and Grellier, 2008), and its role is to exercise all the faculties that by law or according to the statutes are not expressly the function of the other corporate bodies. Its members are appointed by all the members of the cooperative in the General Assembly. Its functions are divided into (a) social functions, (b) legislative and institutional functions, and (c) functions related to financial management.¹

¹The social functions of the Governing Council are related with employeemembers (new contracts, canceling of contracts, leave of absence, professional qualifications, rewards...). It interprets the cooperative's statutes and Rules of Procedure in the case of doubts and proposals by the Assembly to modify the statutes or procedures, and it represents the cooperative before third parties. It carries out a monthly control of the cooperative's economic activity, presents

- 3. Audit Committee: it is the supervising body, whose functions are surveillance, mediation and transmission of information. Other functions are the control of accounts and audits: review of the annual accounts, end-of-year balance sheets, etc. (Larrańaga, 2005). It oversees the process of election and designation by the General Assembly of the members of the other bodies. Its members are elected by all the owner-members in the General Assembly.
- 4. Social Council: this is an advisory representative body of the employee-members without any decision-making capacity, as it merely fulfils an advisory, informative and consultant role in all aspects affecting labor relations. It is the main channel of dialogue for the employees. It is common practice in cooperatives for its members to be named by the different departments or sections; in this way, the representatives of the Social Council represent the employees of the department or section to which they belong. The meetings that each representative holds with his/her department/section are known as social council constituents' meetings (*consejillos*) (Larrańaga, 2005).
- 5. *Management Council.* This is the executive body and is formed by managers and directors of the cooperative. It coordinates the functions of the management team and the advisory role of the Governing Council. Its main function is to coordinate and stimulate the day-to-day business management; i.e., to advise Management in aspects of business promotion and development, making forecasts and carrying out planification, and proposing actions to be taken with respect to business activity. It is responsible for monitoring the work of the executive branch of the company (Larrańaga, 2005) and its members are appointed by the member's representatives on the Governing Council.

Apart from the above-mentioned governance channels, diverse types of meetings serve as channels of communication in UAS, as they do in other types of businesses. Meetings are one of the most known forms of IC (Ongallo, 2001; Enrique, 2007), and in cooperatives they include meetings of collaborators, departmental/area meetings, etc.

Since the aim of the article is to analyze the impact of COVID-19 in UAS, we should highlight that, due to the declaration by the Spanish government of a national state of alarm on 14 March 2020, UAS ceased its activity for 2 weeks, and thereafter modified its work practices. WC employees began working from home and BC employees returned physically to their workplace and began to work on a flexible timetable.² In the case of those on temporary contracts, 20 employees were let go with a commitment to contract them again as soon as there was work, which occurred in less than 2 months.

THEORETICAL FRAMEWORK

Employee participation has been widely studied, among others, within the fields of OD and HRM. In these fields, the academic approach to the concept of participation has different perspectives.

According to authors such as Harrison and Freeman (2004), Kerr and Caimano (2004), Weber et al. (2009), and Yazdani (2010) OD is an approach related to the management where employees are involved in the decision-making and management process. OD describes an organizational climate where employee participation is institutionalized, broad-based and ongoing (Wegge et al., 2010). Therefore, OD comprises the idea that employees participate in the organizational and governance processes (Harrison and Freeman, 2004) and where the majority of employees "participate in the form of institutionalized and binding involvement (mandatory joint consultation) or decision-making (i.e., codetermination with equal representation or collective self-determination), refer to tactical or strategic decisions; considers issues at the organizational level (a large unit, plant, corporation, etc.); participate either directly (within meetings or general assemblies) or indirectly through their representatives who are elected or appointed into a representative board/committee; and often hold a share in their organization's equity capital" (Wegge et al., 2010, p. 162; Weber et al., 2020).

Focusing on organizational participation and its definition, Wilpert (1989, p. 79) states that "participation is the totality of forms, that is, direct (immediate, personal) or indirect (via representatives or institutional means) and intensities, ranging from negligible to comprehensive, through which individuals, groups, collectives ensure their interests through self-determined choices of possible actions."

At this respect, some authors differentiate three areas in which participation can occur: PDM, economic participation and participation in ownership (Rodríguez-Sañudo Gutierrez, 1979; Hermel, 1990; Albizu et al., 2005).

- 1. PDM includes employee participation in day-to-day management activities; sense-making; and governance decision-making, which refers to decisions related to overall control through formal governance bodies (Baniandrés and Larrinaga, 2013). This classification is in line with the distinction found in Eurofound (2013), where PDM is divided into three levels: one's job; the department or section the employee belongs to; and strategic decisions. Bernstein (1976b, p. 492) distinguished between: "the degree of control employees enjoy over any particular decision; the issues over which that control is exercised; and the organizational level at which their control is exercised" and settled that PDM was the first necessary component of democratic workplaces (Bernstein, 1976a).
- 2. Economic participation refers to the economic rewards employees receive: salary, recognition, profit- or gainsharing, or any other economic benefit.

the annual report and end-of-year balance sheets and proposes the allocation of surplus to the General Assembly, among other financial functions (Altuna and Grellier, 2008).

² A work schedule that varies depending on demand and which adapts to the needs of the company.

3. Participation in ownership refers to the relationship of the employee with respect to ownership of the enterprise, as a shareholder or as employee-member.

As said before, participation has also been studied from the HRM field. The focus has been on the importance of the person according to the resource-based theory that stressed the importance of internal resources of an organization (Barney, 1991) in generating a competitive advantage (Wright et al., 1994; Jackson and Schuler, 1995; Chadwick and Dabu, 2009). In this sense, employees can be considered fundamental in generating this advantage (Wright and McMahan's, 1992), especially if they are aligned with the organization's strategy (Begin, 1991; Capelli and Singh, 1992; Jackson and Schuler, 1995).

The Strategic HRM theory holds that what are known as HPWS increase the knowledge, abilities and skills of people, thus empowering them, enhancing their motivation (Becker and Huselid, 1998; Delery and Shaw, 2001), and creating the competitive advantage that has proved to be so necessary in organizations in recent times (Xian et al., 2019; Miao et al., 2020; Wattoo et al., 2020).

There is no consensus among academics regarding the definition of HPWS, or about what practices they should involve (Boxall and Macky, 2014). However, one of the practices usually included within the system is PDM (Huselid, 1995; MacDuffie, 1995; Appelbaum et al., 2000; Combs et al., 2006; Guthrie et al., 2009; Boselie, 2010; Zhang et al., 2013; García-Chas et al., 2014; Ramdani et al., 2014). Apart from being the first necessary component for a workplace democratization (Bernstein, 1976a), PDM can be considered one of the stalwart practices of HPWS, and one which allows businesses to achieve competitiveness (Messersmith et al., 2011).

In this context, cooperatives are by nature the organizations with the greatest potential to integrate involved, active and participative people into their projects. In fact, the three areas of participation mentioned above, are present in the cooperatives. Moreover, participation is a basic principle of their business formula and in the cooperatives within MONDRAGON, participation is the spine of the group's cooperative experience (Altuna Gabilondo, 2008) and one of its identifying features (Agirre et al., 2015). However, as mentioned before, the participation in cooperatives has some lights and shadows that literature gathers. Bretos et al. (2020) offer a detailed revision of the debate on degeneration and regeneration, where "the organizational degeneration implies that employee involvement in decision making is diminished in favor of control by a managerial elite or technocracy," and the regeneration thesis implies that "democracy is reinvented." In particular, Bretos et al. (2020) revealed that the life cycle of international cooperatives evolves differently to those small and medium-sized cooperatives that operate exclusively locally and that cooperatives are able to activate processes of organizational change tended to revitalize cooperative values and practices. Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, they found that degenerative and regenerative tendencies can occur simultaneously. In light of the conclusions and questions arisen from such study and in this scenario of COVID-19, we consider

it interesting to analyze whether the pandemic had lead a cooperative such as UAS to develop any symptom related to a degeneration or regeneration process.

As mentioned in the introduction, in the case of MONDRAGON, IC is related with participation. In accordance with Belategi et al. (2019), the principle of PDM, implies a progressive development of self-management and, consequently, the participation requires the development of adequate mechanisms and channels of participation and transparency of information.

Wilkinson et al. (2010) define employee participation as the range of mechanisms used to involve the employee in decisions at all levels of the organization where information and communication are considered to be main components of the process. They proposed the "escalator of participation" where it can be observed a progression upwards from information to make decisions (information, communication, consultation, codetermination, and control). So, in this sense, IC is a key aspect to develop employee participation.

Internal communication is a practice by which information is collected, shared and distributed to ensure that employees understand the organization's objectives and goals (Verčič et al., 2012; Uysal, 2016; Smaliukienė and Survilas, 2018). According to García Jiménez (1998) and Del Pozo (2000), investment in IC generates participation, identity, unity and a sense of belonging within the organization. Kovaitė et al. (2020) affirm that IC plays a key role in maintaining employees informed about the plans, vision and business ideas of the organization and it encourages them to participate in the decision-making process. In this way, IC can be considered an indispensable tool for organizations (Carrascosa, 1992; Peters, 1995; Sánchez and Shimón, 1997; Elías and Mascaray, 1998; Gonzalo, 2002; Jaén Díaz et al., 2006; Saló, 2007; Welch and Jackson, 2007; Hargie and Tourish, 2009; Tessi, 2012; Vilanova, 2013) and to develop employee participation (Belategi et al., 2019).

Moreover, Belategi et al. (2019) endorse the importance of listening in IC in one cooperative in MONDRAGON, based on Tessi (2012, p. 65), who says that "one of the most important and strategic decisions to be made in terms of IC is to actually prioritize listening above everything else." In line with this, in the 89th Session of the Communication Forum, held in Spain in 2020, under the title "IC in times of COVID: a turbulent present and a gaze toward tomorrow" (translation of the original title), a key aspect of human resources departments seems to be a drive to ensure IC based on the ability to listen, leadership and empathy.

The COVID-19 pandemic has modified the way organizations act and work (DeFilippis et al., 2020) and has also accelerated the implantation of new approaches to work, such as digitalization and remote working (Carnevale and Hatak, 2020; Xifra, 2020; Yawson, 2020). Indeed, there is a new discourse regarding the need to modify the work culture of organizations (Spicer, 2020). The pandemic has affected the means and techniques of IC (Sanders et al., 2020; Xifra, 2020) and has highlighted the need for new styles of management of IC, with traditional forms of IC becoming digital (Ruck and Welch, 2012; Ewing et al., 2019), in the form of social networks, streaming etc. According to Gallup (2020), IC has allowed people to work in a more productive manner and to maintain their work commitments in a context of uncertainty, ambiguity and changes.

In scientific terms, it is interesting to study the impact of COVID-19 on democratic structures and practices in a cooperative belonging to MONDRAGON. This research will be done through the analysis of the impact of COVID-19 on the employees' perceptions about PDM, governance channels and IC. Changes in these indicators may prevent or foster tendencies of the generation or degeneration in cooperatives.

We are interested in performing this analysis from the perspective of WC and BC employees, an approach that is unusual in the scientific literature, but of great interest given that the two groups differ considerably in their perceptions. Many of the cooperatives within MONDRAGON are manufacturing businesses where employees perform jobs of a diverse nature and have qualitatively different experiences and perceptions concerning their work.

It is relevant to underline that the literature has not taken into consideration the importance of the type of job/professional group to which employees belong when explaining employees' perceptions of their job and organization (Blauner, 1964; Dubin et al., 1975).

Historically, the term known colloquially as WC has been used to refer to office employees, while that of BC has been employed for manual employees (Shirai, 1983). Hopp et al. (2009) noted that BC employees carry out physical and routinary tasks while WC employees perform any task that requires intellect or creativity. However, as Ramirez and Nembhard (2004) pointed out, this distinction does not necessarily mean that there are jobs which are purely BC or WC.

It is relevant to consider this classification of employees, as the literature shows that, for diverse reasons, including frequently lower levels of job complexity and autonomy, higher levels of physical effort and other less favorable working conditions, worse career prospects, less formal education, factory/manual and other BC employees' perspectives are generally found to be more negative than those of WC employees; in fact, research suggests that their very conceptions of work, satisfaction and career and related experiences are notably different from those of the other group (Hu et al., 2010).

UAS is an industrial cooperative whose percentages of BC and WC employees are 45 and 55%, respectively. Arregi et al. (2018) in the same cooperative observed that, when questioned, employees' perceptions of the organizational atmosphere and of cooperative ownership beliefs and behavior were strongly associated with whether they were BC or WC. Consequently, this classification has been taken into account as far as possible in the present research.

In summary, working conditions for employees have been altered drastically in COVID-19 era; from working on the premises of the organization to working on-line or under new company policy and procedures that reduce physical contact among employees (Carnevale and Hatak, 2020). This represents a great challenge to employee participation (spine of the experience of MONDRAGON), with a subsequent need to modify the channels and mechanisms of decision-making and communication. This context leads us to the first research question:

To analyze how COVID-19 has affected employees' perceptions of their PDM and how governance and communication channels have been adapted to satisfy the new needs arising out of the current situation, differentiating between BC and WC.

Beyond the effect of COVID-19 on PDM, it has clearly influenced employees' psychological situation. Some of the most studied psychological outcomes in the literature are satisfaction, commitment, trust and motivation (Meyer and Allen, 1991; Meyer, 2001; Colquitt et al., 2007; Allan et al., 2019). A year after the first global lockdown, diverse studies have analyzed the psychological consequences the pandemic has had for employees in the workplace. In this new paradigm, there is a clear effort on the part of scientific research to assess the psychological impact of COVID-19 on the well-being of employees (Carnevale and Hatak, 2020; Lee et al., 2021; Meyer et al., 2021; Möhring et al., 2021); on their motivation and commitment (Adhitama and Rivanto, 2020; Chanana, 2020; Kaushik and Guleria, 2020; Mani and Mishra, 2020; Risley, 2020; Yuan et al., 2020; Jung et al., 2021); on their satisfaction (Bulińska-Stangrecka and Bagieńska, 2021; Ojo et al., 2021); trust (Gillespie et al., 2020); health/stress (Hamouche, 2020; Teng et al., 2020; Reizer et al., 2021), or on their sense of uncertainty (Tang et al., 2020); several of which aspects were analyzed in the previous crisis of 2008 (Tonkiss, 2009; Biswas and Biswas, 2010; Markovits et al., 2014; Závadský et al., 2015; Meyer et al., 2018; Charles et al., 2019).

Relationship between PDM and psychological outcomes has been largely studied. We find interesting to overview the literature corresponding to such relationship. This review offers arguments/evidences to be taken into account, not only by organizations to foster employee participation, but also by employees to participate.

Several studies in the OD field have showed that employee participation is related to psychological outcomes such as satisfaction, commitment, motivation, organizational civism and other similar (see some references in Weber et al., 2020). Jarley et al. (1997) stated that democratic governance is considered key to greater organizational effectiveness and is mandatory to achieve higher levels of innovation and performance (Manville and Ober, 2003).

Within the HRM field, many studies have explored the relation between HPWS (where PDM is one of the practices taken into account more commonly) and competitiveness (Paauwe, 2009; Guest, 2011; Jiang et al., 2012; Paauwe et al., 2013; Elorza et al., 2016). Other studies have analyzed the relationship between HPWS and individual employee psychological outcomes, such as satisfaction, commitment and well-being (García-Chas et al., 2015; Huang et al., 2016, 2018; Teo et al., 2020).

If we focus on organizations where the ownership is broadly shared, literature suggests that such organizations tend to generate more positive psychological outcomes than those enterprises where the ownership is not broadly shared (Long, 1978, 1980; Wilson and Peel, 1991; Van Dyne and Pierce, 1993; Kruse, 2002; Höckertin and Härenstam, 2006; Reeves, 2007; McQuaid et al., 2012; Poutsma et al., 2015), although there are studies that reach the opposite conclusion (Arando et al., 2015).

With regard to cooperatives, Ortega (2019) concludes that academic literature tends to confirm that cooperatives have greater resistance to maintaining activity and employment in periods of economic recession (Pomares Hernández and Grávalos Gastaminza, 2001; Díaz Foncea and Marcuello Servós, 2010; Cantarero Sanz et al., 2013; Morandeira, 2014; Sala Ríos et al., 2014, 2015; Villafańez, 2014; Bretos and Morandeira, 2016; Perad, 2016; Soto Gorrotxategi and Diaz Molina, 2018).

Numerous studies have demonstrated the positive aspects and economic or social benefits of financial participation, for employees (Rhodes and Steers, 1981; French and Rosenstein, 1984; Oliver, 1984, 1990; Klein, 1987; Dong et al., 2002; Gamble et al., 2002; Kruse, 2002; Kuvaas, 2003; Höckertin and Härenstam, 2006; Kruse et al., 2008, 2010; Employee Ownership Association [EOA], 2010), for the company (Employee Ownership Association [EOA], 2010), and for the broader community (Kruse et al., 2010).

Although the above literature only focus on economic participation and ownership, some authors argue that is the combination of different areas of participation within companies that can help to achieve different psychological results. Klein (1987) proposed the Instrumental Satisfaction Model, by which capital ownership is widely shared and accompanied by other organizational policies and practices related in particular to information-sharing and employee PDM. This combination of policies and practices and shared ownership will lead employeemembers to be satisfied with their ownership and will bring other positive outcomes to the company.

Therefore, employee participation is one of the tools with most potential available to companies, and through more participative organizational models, employees can participate in the company, from decision-making to ownership (Elorza et al., 2016), allowing the best organizational and psychological results to be achieved.

In addition, several studies highlight a positive relation between an adequate policy of IC and various psychological outcomes, such as employee satisfaction (Bustamante, 2013), motivation (Opitz and Hinner, 2003; Bustamante, 2013), the identification of employees with the company (Smidts et al., 2001), and employee well-being (Welch, 2011; Ruck and Welch, 2012; Verčič et al., 2012; Ruck, 2020).

In this regard, although we will not analyze the relation between the changes of perceptions related to PDM and psychological outcomes derived from the COVID-19 era, we have considered it interesting to address the second research question:

To analyze how COVID-19 has had an effect on psychological outcomes and the emotions experienced by employees during this period.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

With the aims explained above, we have used a qualitative and quantitative design for this study.

The research was carried out at UAS, an employees' cooperative within MONDRAGON, as already mentioned (see section "The Case: ULMA Architectural Solutions").

To explore the gaps detected in the theoretical framework, we considered that a case study was the methodology that would best fulfill the needs and objectives of our research. As indicated by Yin (2013) and Maxwell (1996), the case study methodology is the most appropriate when the research questions require a profound exploration of a social phenomenon (such as COVID-19), when the focus of the research is to understand said phenomenon and its processes, and when it is important to analyze the how and why of the phenomenon.

One of the limitations of this methodology is that the interpretations of data are based on the impressions of the researchers and, therefore, cannot be extrapolated to other contexts. In order to reduce the impact of this limitation, we have used different techniques to triangulate the evidence and not base conclusions solely on the researchers' interpretation. In addition, we have applied validity criteria such as the use of multiple sources of evidences, the maintaining of the chain of evidence that allows to trace the data and the revision of the draft of the results by a key informant in UAS (Yin, 1998). On the other hand, it has not been our intention to generalize the results or conclusions drawn in this article, as each business has its peculiarities and nuances that make it unique and impede the extrapolation of results to other companies. Nevertheless, the results obtained in this research through the case study model try to facilitate the construction of arguments, interpretations and insight into employee experiences, all of which can be of use to other organizations that are preoccupied about how COVID-19 may affect the participation of its employees and IC, and which are conscious of the concerns of this new paradigm. With this study we invite other academics for further studies in the field of the participation in the new era after COVID-19, either in cooperatives or other democratic organizations.

In the qualitative methodology, the focus group, described below, is the main method used to address the research questions. For the quantitative methodology, on the other hand, an online questionnaire was employed with the aim of encouraging the employees' participation by enquiring about their opinions and perceptions. The two methodologies are considered to be complementary when seeking responses to the research questions put forward.

That said, the principle technique of data collection in the study has been the employment of a focus group. The technique consists of organizing meetings of small or mediumsized groups in which participants discuss one or various subjects in an informal environment, with guidance from researchers (Hernández et al., 2010). In this regard, the data collection has followed a case study protocol designed by the researcher in order to deal with the reliability of the study (Yin, 1998).

Five focus groups were carried out on the 12th (1 focus group), 13th, and 14th (2 focus groups each day) October 2020. The number of participants in each focus group varied, from 6 to 11 people, with a total of 42 participants among the five groups. By request of the company, the groups lasted an average of 30 min. The duration of the focus and the number of participants can be seen as a limitation of the study. However, the researcher tried to foster the involvement of all the 42 participants and the duration was not understood as a limitation for expressing their perceptions freely. All the focus groups but one were recorded, with the authorization of all the participants.

The focus group participants were volunteers and were recruited from among both BC and WC employees. In addition, we made a point of recruiting members from some of the governance and other elected social bodies (due to their knowledge of the governance channels). In total, 24 BC employees and 16 WC employees participated, 8 of the total belonged to governance bodies. Two participants chose not to give information about their professional status or whether or not they were members of any of the cooperative's bodies.

To encourage debate and discussion among the participants, they were given a brief questionnaire prior to the focus group (see Annex 1). The questionnaire is a quantitative method of data collection in which the perceptions of the participants about the subject under analysis are recorded in a quantitative manner. The questions in the questionnaire designed at MIK, the management research center in Mondragon University, were approved by the company's HRM department.

The questionnaire consisted of eight items and one control question. The items were related to perceptions about PDM at the three levels identified in the literature (in the individual's job, in the department/unit/section, and in strategic decisions). The items also enquired about perceptions of the psychological consequences of COVID-19 in their lives. In the survey, a variety of answers was provided in order the participants to understand the questions. Lastly, there was a control question related to the professional circumstances of the employee; namely, whether he/she was BC or WC, and whether or not they formed part of one of the governance bodies.

The questionnaire was completed by all the employees who participated in the focus groups and thus served as a starting point for the analysis of their perceptions. The responses of the questionnaire were visualized on a screen and analyzed by both participants and researchers, thus stimulating a dialogue with which to probe, question by question, the quantitative responses and understand the employee's perceptions in a qualitative way. This dynamic led participants to express perceptions and feelings beyond the provided questions and answers.

In respect of the analysis, a descriptive analysis of the quantitative data was done. In relation to the qualitative data, the recorded focus groups were transcribed and the notes taken in the non-recorded focus group were included in the transcription. Then, the data was organized by each of the research questions. And finally an interpretation of the results was done in order to understand the impact of the COVID-19 in UAS.

In short, we decided to use a methodology that was both quantitative and qualitative in this research. Quantitative research allows us to determine the relation between elements, but it does not provide information about the *hows* and *whys*, which permit a qualitative point of view (Villarreal Larrinaga and Landeta Rodríguez, 2010), and which is the aim of this article.

RESULTS

Research Question 1

Research question 1 asked how COVID-19 has affected employees' perceptions on PDM and how governance and communication channels have been adapted to satisfy the new needs arising out of the current situation. **Table 1** summarizes the quantitative results for Research Question 1 for the overall sample as well as for the both groups (WC and BC separately). The results related to PDM have been classified according to the three levels cited above: in the individual's job; in the department/business unit; and in strategic decisions. We have also included in the **Table 1** the results regarding the perceptions about IC. As said before, both concepts are linked in our reality.

When participants answer the questions about IC, they refer to both governance channels and day-to-day communication channels. The participators themselves link IC with PDM.

It is interesting to observe that, while only 28.21% of the employees think that COVID-19 has not affected their level of PDM in their job, this percentage rises to 50% in the case of strategic decisions. However, it is also of note that, while only 5% think that the crisis has affected their PDM in job considerably, this proportion doubles in the case of strategic decisions. In this way, there seems to be different perceptions about PDM according to the level.

Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, we must highlight that, in general, when asking the employees about their perception related to IC, they perceive that it has been affected somewhat or considerably by COVID-19 (more than 80% in both cases).

If we focus on PDM in the job, the predominant perception among BC employees is that COVID-19 has had only a slight effect (56.5%), while less than half that percentage of WC employees have the same opinion (20%). On the other hand, among the WC employees, 47% conclude that COVID has had a considerable (7%) or intermediate (40%) influence, in contrast to 17.3% of the BC employees. Therefore, it can be observed that the impact of COVID-19 has more affected the WC employees in their perceptions of PDM in the first level.

In terms of PDM in the department/business unit, the percentages of employees that perceive considerable changes are low. It is noticeable that 27% of WC employees identify an intermediate effect (somewhat), while a large percentage of BC employees consider that the effect has been slight or null. In addition, it is noteworthy that the perception among BC employees that COVID-19 has had a slight effect is around 15 points higher than that of their WC colleagues.

In relation to strategic decisions, the prevailing perception among both BC and WC employees is that COVID-19 has not affected PDM. More than half the WC employees and almost half the BC employees perceive no effect. However, it is noteworthy that, among the former group, 23% consider COVID-19 to have affected PDM in strategic decisions considerably, while 26% of the latter group perceive the effect to be intermediate, both of which percentages exceed those attributed to other levels. This implies a disparity of perceptions among

TABLE 1 | Perception about PDM and IC. Percentage per each job-professional group.

	To what extent has COVID-19 affected your perception of											
	PDM in your job?			PDM in your department/business unit?			PDM in strategic decisions?			IC?		
	wc	BC	Total	WC	BC	Total	wc	BC	Total	wc	BC	Total
Considerably	7.0%	4.3%	5.13%	7.0%	9.5%	8.11%	23.0%	8.7%	13.16%	37.5%	58.3%	50.0%
Somewhat	40.0%	13.0%	25.64%	27.0%	0	10.81%	8.0%	26.1%	18.42%	43.8%	29.2%	35.0%
Slightly	20.0%	56.5%	41.03%	27.0%	42.9%	35.14%	15.0%	21.7%	18.42%	6.3%	8.3%	7.5%
No effect	33.0%	26.1%	28.21%	40.0%	47.6%	45.95%	54.0%	43.5%	50.00%	12.5%	4.2%	7.5%

employees, even among those belonging to the same category (in this case, WC).

When we explore PDM in their job further, the employees related this sensation with a reduction in interpersonal communication and the impact of COVID-19 on their day-to-day job. In this sense, in the feelings expressed by the workers, it seems that something has been lost in this communication, and therefore, in their PDM.

"participation..., to a certain extent it has affected us... Not in a serious way, but yes...I've been here practically every time, but there was always somebody missing...either they aren't here...they don't log on, or they can't log on... that kind of thing...if you aren't near..."

"some have been (working) at home, and although the telephone is there, it just isn't the same"

"I haven't been on site: I might have been there to make decisions... meetings via Skype...a lot of e-mails"

Therefore, we can derive that when employees perceive that job participation has been affected considerably (5.13%) or quite a lot (25.64%), this change is perceived negatively.

In the department/business unit, on the other hand, PDM was related to modifications in the way of working. In this case, there is a high percentage of employees that perceives that PDM was slightly affected (35.14%) or not affected (45.95%). This result reflects that the COVID-19 has not affected the perception of employees in terms of PDM itself, but it has affected the type of decisions that had to be taken in order to face the economic situation derived from the COVID-19.

"for example, in my area. . . Decisions have had to be taken up until now that had practically never been taken. . . there were some things that we didn't do as a rule"

"a lot of projects have been paralysed, visits to quarries to check materials, etc. all these processes have been paralysed. In the department we have had to redistribute positions..."

In UAS, as in other firms, diverse types of meetings serve as channels of communication. In this case, when asking about IC the participants mentioned meetings of collaborators and departmental meetings, both of them related to employee PDM in department/business unit.

In this context, BC employees perceive the need to maintain or to resume monthly meetings that were called off because of COVID-19. The absence of these meetings means they have not had access to information.

"the fact is we don't receive information"

"there is some information, but in comparison to before there is a real lack of information"

"if there is information, it doesn't reach us"

"the information is incomplete; we receive a document with the most important points, which are usually about results. At the social level, before there was much more extensive information than what you can send now in a document."

Some of the BC employees feel there should be more information, with the same structure and of the same type as that which existed before COVID-19: "*Yeah, yeah, they need to hold the meetings, the same as before.*"

In the case of WC employees, departmental meetings have not taken place in all departments/sections, but in some cases they do not know if this is due to COVID-19 or other reasons.

"in the department we belong to, the last two meetings haven't taken place, but I'm not sure if it's because of this or not"

"we've had meetings, different to before, but we have had them. It isn't the same, but, well..."

"...yes, we should have the monthly meeting, me and my department, and we don't do it.you can see there that...somebody will say, man, we need to talk..."

When we enquired about the perception of their voice having been heard by their direct boss during COVID-19, differences were apparent between BC and WC employees. The majority of participants felt they had been heard by their direct boss during the pandemic, but the extent varied, with more positive perceptions among WC employees:

"I've felt listened to"

"in my case, with my boss, as he's an individual person, it's easy, but when it's a team I think it will be more and more difficult"

"with COVID I think even more, I reckon..."

"there has been more communication with the direct boss"

"I always do, because I have a close relationship...We work alongside each other every day."

However, negative perceptions were also expressed: "well, not in every case...personally, I do, but I know there are some people who feel somewhat abandoned, people who were (working) at home".

In the case of BC employees, their perceptions were generally negative:

"I miss the monthly meetings, where we talk about the line...it's a forum for discussion...yeah, when I've had something to say I've gone, and yes, I've been listened to, but it isn't a natural forum...as a team, as a group...Things that go on in the line are spoken about in the bi-monthly meetings, and seeing as they aren't being held...a lot of things aren't discussed."

"we can't feel listened to all the time on the production line, because there's a single person responsible for 20 people, so it's understandable that you don't feel listened to at certain moments because one person can only do so much...but this hasn't got worse during the COVID-19 period"

"In production, it's because of lack of time. . . . Because we can't leave our work post, neither you nor he"

Thus, in this case, we can conclude pointing out that the perception about PDM in department has been neither positive nor negative. The perceptions are neutral. However, regarding to the IC related to the department/business unit, most of the evidence comes from the BC employees, practically all of which is negative, with regard to the holding of meetings, the absence of channels, the lack of information and the perception of being heard. There is no evidence from WC employees other than a positive feeling regarding listening from their leaders.

Lastly, when we asked employees about their perception of their PDM in strategic decisions, they also referred to changes derived from COVID-19, as in the case of the PDM in the department/business unit:

"... and then also the decisions, you know,...there are decisions that have been put on hold because of COVID-19"

"the whole aspect of investments... what was planned has been postponed"

"even the management plan, it was changed after it having being agreed on 1^{st} January"

In the focus groups there was talk of the Governing Council, and the fact that it had to adopt decisions of major importance that would not have been taken pre-COVID-19.

"in the governing council, we have made decisions... it has been..."

"the situation with COVID has led us to engage in a series of important decisions, talks, assemblies... it has meant extra work, much more than during normal times..."

In the more institutional sphere, there is a general negative perception related to the lack of celebration to the social council constituents' meetings among the BC workers. Indeed, they require to hold these meetings, because of the interaction they facilitate. They even propose ideas to celebrate them, in smaller groups. In the case of WC, they propose to hold these types of meetings following a different format, maintaining the pre-COVID-19 structure.

"face-to-face in the end is the same as on paper, but if you have any queries, you have someone to ask, they clear up any doubts you might have there and then..."

"I sincerely believe that, the way things are now, several of the meetings, with the people who usually attend and everything, they could easily be held here...not the very big groups, but the rest could be"

"not only insofar as the information you receive, but also when it is given..."

"for me it's different if they explain things to you or... there isn't any interaction, questions and the rest"

"I've heard that people feel much more comfortable if the meeting is in person"

Additionally, some participants proposed mechanisms that could be used to allow the information to be transmitted satisfactorily. In the BC workforce, they proposed physical meetings per line or shift "*perhaps there needs to be a meeting for every shift/line*". In the WC workforce, on the other hand, they suggested using the on-line format because the employees have the necessary resources "I think that the social council constituents' meetings can be held by Skype, for example in the offices," "yeah, they are missed. . . people feel much more comfortable holding social council constituents'meetings."

In terms of how PDM in said meetings had changed, part of the WC employees indicated that attendance was low, though the reason was unknown (among the BC employees, it is compulsory to attend these meetings because the production line stops because of it).

With respect to informative talks (pre-General Assembly), which were held in smaller groups, one of the members of the Social Council affirmed that the Council had come to the conclusion that PDM had improved.

This affirmation is reflected in the generally positive evaluation by employees of the General Assembly; the fact it had taken place on-line, and that there had been informative talks given prior to the event, in which almost the entire content of the Assembly could be downloaded, was considered to have facilitated understanding.

"it was more positive,...especially the key points that were to be voted on, much better than arriving and..."

"I think that it has been rated very well in general"

"personally, I think it went very well"

"there were debates, and those debates don't always arise in an assembly"

It seems, therefore, that workers perceive differences between the governance channels above explained. Thus, for the most operational and frequently used channels, such as social council constituents' meetings, it seems that BC employees perceive that they miss holding these meetings and they require to hold them, while WC ask for changes in the way they are held. So the general impression is that PDM in this channel can be improved and/or modified.

On the other hand, the most important channel of strategic participation, the General Assembly, is valued positively, and this positive perception is related to the effort made by the cooperative to carry it out online, after holding informative talks in small groups.

In conclusion, we found evidence that COVID-19 has influenced the perceptions of PDM at the three levels explored: in the individual's job, in the department/business unit, and in strategic decisions. Such perceptions are positive or negative depending, on the one hand, on the job-professional group (BC-WC) and, on the other hand, on the level of participation and the governance and communication channels.

Research Question 2

Secondly, we asked the employees about how COVID-19 had affected some psychological outcomes, in particular, their satisfaction, motivation, commitment or trust, requesting that they identify the outcome which had been most negatively and positively affected. The results are shown in **Table 2**.

Regarding the outcomes that employees perceive to have been most negatively affected, more than a third of those questioned did not answer, as they considered that none of the possible responses represented the outcome they personally felt had been the most NEGATIVELY affected during the period of COVID-19, or because, in their opinion, no outcome had been affected negatively.

"I haven't voted because I haven't recognized any of those...I don't know, personal uncertainty..."

"I don't think any of them have"

"in my case, it hasn't affected me negatively"

"here, internally, I don't think it has affected us as much as we thought it was going to affect us..."

Satisfaction, motivation and trust (in that order) have been the outcomes most negatively affected, with similar percentages among the three. It is noteworthy that nobody identified commitment.

"Tve chosen satisfaction because of how uncomfortable it is to wear a facemask"

"I chose satisfaction too...apart from the sense of insecurity that COVID creates in normal life, to tell the suppliers that you aren't going to be able to do it because you're afraid and to say no to them, delay things, well, that isn't satisfactory."

"I said satisfaction. because the satisfactions you might have had before, they've been taken away... well, they haven't been taken away, but they've been diluted a bit or put to one side"

"in the beginning it was scary, the threat of being let go...but in the end it didn't turn out to be the case"

"I chose motivation, you got up every day without knowing exactly what to expect, what you were going to find. the situation has been complicated and to be motivated...is complicated" "I voted for trust, because the situation creates distrust and insecurity, not only at work...24 hours a day"

"I voted for trust, in part because of the uncertainty of not knowing if the guy you have next to you is going to be ok, if you're going to be all right, that fear, a little..."

"I chose security, because of the present situation, because of the health threat...economic too, but more because of health"

In the qualitative part of the focus groups, some of the participants who did not answer mentioned uncertainty as the outcome that had been most negatively affected for them.

"there's a lot of uncertainty there...to do with everything, economic, personal..."

"initially we did feel a lot of uncertainty about how and when it was going to bring pressure - at the business level (meaning that expectations as a company at the beginning were bad, but time has shown that expectations weren't so bad)

"I also voted for uncertainty in a generic way, maybe tomorrow we'll all be sent home and have to wait to see what happens..."

With respect to the positive perception of the pandemic, 45% of the employees considered that their level of commitment had been the clearest outcome.

"In this sense, I've also chosen commitment, because I think it has been demonstrated by actions...they cancelled the contract of several temporary employees and they made a commitment to contract them again and they did; the company committed itself to a series of people that were going to be temporary members later on, and they did that too...so, on the part of the organization, a series of commitments were undertaken and fulfilled"

"from the outset, we gave ourselves 85%³. Once more, our commitment has been firm... and in general we have committed ourselves fully to complying with the safety measures that have been implemented"

"in terms of remote working, I think the commitment of the employees and the mutual trust among employees and as a team have been enormous..."

"really in a situation where you are confronted with these difficulties, the urge to lend a hand..."

"yeah, the commitment to help one another... it's at difficult times like these that you can see it..."

"in the end we were in a situation that was so...one day we had to come in, the next day we had to go to the post office, the next day...you did things that...I don't know how to explain it, you just had to muck in"

"I voted for commitment...it was like that before, you know, but now there's more commitment, for safety's sake, because of what could happen..."

"I picked commitment too because as individual people and a cooperative we are committed to eradicating this pandemic,

³In this case the participant refers to a payroll advance (a payment option within cooperatives). The percentage of salary to be received can be lowered if agreed by the General Assembly as a measure to counteract or improve the economic situation of the cooperative.

TABLE 2 | Impact of COVID-19 on psychological outcomes.

	Which of the following outcomes has been most NEGATIVELY affected for you during COVID-19?	Which of the following outcomes has been most POSITIVELY affected for you during COVID-19?		
Satisfaction	26.0%	5.0%		
Motivation	21.0%	14.0%		
Commitment	0.0%	45.0%		
Trust	19.0%	14.0%		
No answer	33.0%	21.0%		

everyone in his/her own way, and also as a cooperative, using our resources, showing solidarity with our colleagues..."

Motivation and trust were also outcomes the participants felt had been most positively affected in their case.

"trust, in the sense that the work will get done even though the employees aren't there physically"

"I had chosen trust, but they (motivation and trust) were also factors...maybe more in the company, and it was a general comment...It's when there are blows like this that you realize the value of the company you work for..."

"insofar as remote working, I think we've been able to see that the commitment of the employees and the mutual trust amongst them and as a team has been considerable..."

"I've felt motivation to come to work every day, whenever we could come, the fact that we still have a job...that's good motivation"

However, in this case too, 22% of those surveyed did not respond, as they considered that none of the possible answers aligned with the factor they personally felt had been most POSITIVELY affected during the COVID-19 period. Empathy was mentioned as another outcome that had varied positively.

"and something that was not among the answers and that for me has been very enriching is that, in our team, there are people who work remotely, and we have put ourselves in their shoes and we've learned about the implications of other forms of work, and it has been a way of empathizing, totally"

Another topic that was addressed among the participants was the emotions experienced during the COVID-19 period. In this regard, we observed a disparity in the results. For example, 14 people experienced fear as employee-members during COVID-19, while 13 lived through it in a calm way.

There was talk of tranquillity in both the economic-business and personal spheres.

"from almost the beginning we could see that, as soon as things got going again there was demand from the market, so in the end that was calming; and, in terms of the work itself, it was evident that the work was getting done... from a lack of tranquility, which there might have been in the days when we didn't really know what was happening... it lasted a very short time... there was tranquility because all the data proved things were going well"

"Twe been calm enough. at home the norms have been complied with, and at work too \ldots "

In contrast, the employees who recognised having experienced fear were referring to the personal, family sphere.

"I was scared because this is such a shocking thing that has come out of nowhere that..."

"I was afraid and stressed, because living in such a small apartment, with the kids, not being able to go and see the grandparents,... it was crazy"

"fear of the unknown... in the end everything was scary"

"I was afraid, but because fear is irrational... and then there was the uncertainty of each day... to cope with uncertainty is very complicated"

"yes, I also felt afraid, and anxious...to a certain point yes...most of the day I was calm, but yes..."

"with me it's fear, it's not that I feel mentally blocked, but...perhaps it's more apprehension, but..."

Those that chose anxiety or stress were generally referring to their personal life, rather than work.

"Tve chosen anxious because of the whole situation we had with construction projects...plus, you had to go out, you were on site with 100 people who had travelled there on public transport...and then you went home and...you'd think to yourself, "What do I do? Do I change out of my clothes before I go in?"...I know, you're not in a hospital, but in the end...you ask yourself "Could I have been infected?"

"in terms of work... stressed"

"Tve been anxious...in general, a bit, with the family,... but I also have relatives who live alone... and that creates anxiety. Or it could be fear too..."

Again, some of the people who had not voted said they had experienced the COVID-19 period with uncertainty and with a sense of not knowing what to expect.

"I'd say it was uncertainty with me..."

"I put fear, but you don't really live in fear, it's uncertainty, really. More than anything because of those around me, not me personally...I've had that worry, it isn't fear. If I chose fear, it's more to do with personal factors."

"I didn't vote, for example, because I haven't been anxious, or afraid...I've been a bit on edge about what was happening"

In conclusion, it seems that satisfaction, motivation and trust are outcomes that have been valuated more negatively

PDM in the COVID Era

during the pandemic. Some of the participants mentioned the uncertainty and the anxiety suffered when talking about psychological outcomes. In relation to the most positively valuated psychological outcome, the one that stands out is the commitment: commitment among colleagues, commitment with the economic situation of the cooperative, solidarity with colleagues and with the cooperative itself.

With regard to the emotions that arose during the period, some people experienced it with tranquility, while others said that they had experienced fear, but mainly in relation to the family environment and not to the work environment.

DISCUSSION

At both the qualitative and quantitative level, we have found evidence that COVID-19 has affected differently employees' perceptions of their PDM on three levels: in their individual job, in their department or business unit, and in strategic decisions. The distinction among the levels of the PDM settled by Bernstein (1976b), Albizu et al. (2005), Baniandrés and Larrinaga (2013) and Eurofound (2013) is appropriate as it has been observed that COVID-19 has affected such levels in a differentiated manner. In this regard, although the majority of employees perceive that COVID-19 has had a slightly or no effect in their PDM, it is striking that the 80% of the employees perceive that IC, that includes channels where employees participate, has been considerably/somewhat affected. Therefore, we could conclude stating that COVID-19 has affected PDM fundamentally through the communication channels.

In UAS, participation in one's job has been related with interpersonal communication. And the perceptions gathered in the focus groups can be interpreted as negative, where there is a lack of relationship, and therefore interpersonal communication. In this sense, in the job level, the participants linked their PDM with the digitalization and remote working imposed by COVID-19 (DeFilippis et al., 2020).

Regarding to the department/business unit and in particular, BC employees, taking into account that the monthly meetings are not held, employees perceive that the absence of channels leads to a perception of a lack of information. Moreover, there is a feeling of not being heard due to the lack of effective communication channels with those responsible. We can conclude that due to these circumstances, the perception of PDM seems to have been deteriorated.

Referring to strategic decisions, among others, Wegge et al. (2010) and Weber et al. (2020) suggest that employees can participate directly or indirectly, through representative channels, in the organisations. In this regard, the participants perceive that there is a need to improve the closest and most operational and frequently used channel, such as the social council constituents' meeting, especially from the point of view of the BC workers. Employees miss such meetings. Indeed, among other channels, information related to the cooperative is transmitted via the social council constituents' meeting, and if such meetings are not held, the possibility of interaction and participation is lost. However, the holding of informative talks in smaller groups has led to the conclusion (by the Social Council) that participation in certain channels has improved. There is a positive perception of the effort made by the cooperative to hold the General Assembly online after holding small informative talks which has strengthened participation in the cooperative's highest decision-making body. The strengthening of participation of members of the cooperative in the supreme decision making body, where each member has one vote regardless the contribution made, supports the idea that the main democratic channel has to function even in a pandemic and uncertainty context. Thus, in UAS, worker-members could participate in organizational and governance processes (Harrison and Freeman, 2004) also during the COVID-19 era.

Moreover, it can be said that the perception of PDM is directly connected with the celebration, or not, of both governance channel meetings and day-to-day meetings (e.g., social council constituents'meetings, informative talks, department/business unit meetings...); in other words, with the efficiency of all these channels.

In conclusion, in this case, we have found evidence that the PDM in certain channels has deteriorated due to COVID-19 and this conclusion can be linked with the degeneration thesis that is being discussed within the cooperatives. However, in this particular and exceptional situation, UAS has implemented regeneration initiatives in order to celebrate successfully the meeting of the supreme body of the cooperative, that is, the General Assembly. Moreover, the employee-members also make some proposals to foster PDM in this COVID era that can be seen as regeneration initiatives. Therefore, as it stated in Bretos et al. (2020), degenerative and regenerative tendencies can occur simultaneously in the cooperative because as demonstrated, the cooperative has mechanisms and resources to revitalize democracy.

Furthermore, on the three levels, perceptions about the effect of COVID-19 on PDM are manifested as a disparity of opinions, and belonging to one labour category or another – BC versus WC – is a defining element. Therefore, job classification is a key point as in Hu et al. (2010), Arregi et al. (2018), and Belategi et al. (2019).

When employees were questioned about the psychological outcomes most negatively affected by COVID-19, there was not a predominating outcome. However, it is worth mentioning uncertainty as an outcome highlighted by those who did not identify with any of the proposals (satisfaction, motivation, trust). In this sense, we should underline that this outcome is not a trivial one in the era of COVID-19, as studies (Rettie and Daniels, 2021; Reizer et al., 2021) indicate that intolerance to uncertainty has constituted a significant risk factor for mental and psychological distress during the COVID-19 outbreak.

With respect to the outcomes that have been affected positively, there has been a clear boost of commitment among the employees, which is linked to the effort that each person has made within the company as a result of the pandemic. The commitment of employees in the current situation derived from the COVID-19 outbreak has become one of the utmost prominent primacies for human resource departments (Chanana, 2020); in fact, commitment has been shown to foster employee performance (Adhitama and Riyanto, 2020). Although commitment is not one of the first outcomes to take into account when preparing for and combating against the new challenges raised by the pandemic, it is relevant to highlight that the academic sphere has demonstrated a correlation between the commitment of employees and mental health, causing for example insecurity, confusion, emotional isolation and stigma for employees in times of uncertainty (Pfefferbaum and North, 2020). In the present case study, in contrast to that shown by other research (Jung et al., 2021), there is an evident perception among employees that COVID-19 has not had negative effects on commitment, and that, rather than deteriorating, it has been strengthened. The commitment among colleagues, with the economic situation of the cooperative, solidarity with colleagues and with the cooperative itself shown by participants can be a sign of robustness and regeneration, since socially-oriented targets prevail over profit ones. One of the possible reasons that can explain the positive perception of commitment is that UAS has guaranteed, as far as possible, workplace democracy.

Lastly, with respect to their experience as employees/employeemembers during COVID-19, those who mentioned "fear" have done so from a family/personal perspective, while those who have identified "anxiety" and "stress" as outcomes have generally done so with respect to work. In contrast, a perception of tranquillity has been transmitted from both the professional and personal spheres. According to the literature available, all these feelings and emotions are fruit of the pandemic. Indeed, as a result of the changes brought about by COVID-19, employees' anxiety, stress (Rossi et al., 2020; Sahni, 2020), risk perception (Baldassarre et al., 2020; Dryhurst et al., 2020; Wise et al., 2020), and anxiety regarding isolation, stigma and discrimination have all increased significantly. Evidence shows that this stress has been caused by new factors, such as the threat represented by the virus to health and life itself, the restrictions and recommendations implemented by the authorities (home confinement), isolation and lack of social support (Irigoyen-Camacho et al., 2020).

CONCLUSION

In this article, with the aim of filling in the gaps detected in the theoretical framework, we have employed the case study methodology and analyzed the quantitative and qualitative data that it provides. Although we do not claim to be able to generalize regarding the results and conclusions, as each company/business has its peculiarities and nuances, the data obtained as a result of our research are relevant in terms of constructing arguments, forming interpretations and gaining insight into experiences, and can be of use to future research in democratic enterprises in this new era.

In our case study, PDM has been affected by COVID-19. With regard to the day-to-day meetings and governance channels, although there are improvements and changes that still need to be implemented, the cooperative has responded well by continuing the work of its most important body, the General Assembly, with positive results. The findings reveal differences between BC and WC employees that are proof of the need for academics to perform research that seeks to explain employees' perceptions with respect to the work they do and how they participate.

It is well-known that academics have studied the phenomenon of MONDRAGON and that exists a discussion about the dilemmas and paradoxes arising from the PDM (e.g., Greenwood and González, 1991; Stohl and Cheney, 2001; Cheney, 2006; Azkarraga et al., 2012; Agirre et al., 2014; Errasti et al., 2016, 2017; Bretos et al., 2017, 2020). With this article, we provide another evidence to this discussion about the PDM in MONDRAGON. Our research has found, on the one hand, that degeneration and regeneration tendencies can occur simultaneously in a cooperative and on the other hand that UAS has mechanisms to regenerate the workplace democracy. The study has also focused, in the different perceptions of WC and BC, topic that had not been included in the previous literature.

Our psychological results revolve around commitment to the cooperative and uncertainty. The positive effect of this situation on perceptions of commitment is of note. An interesting line of research in the future would be to analyze if this is a specific effect of this company, of cooperatives in general, or of companies that have resumed their activity following an initial period of closure. And in case this phenomenon applies to other companies, it would be interesting to research about which are the antecedents and consequences of it. With respect to uncertainty, this outcome is more associated with life in general, and with the global climate of uncertainty, than with the work sphere specifically.

The health crisis has represented a turning point in the field of human resources and has made patent once more the need to treat employees as a central and fundamental element of an organization. COVID-19 has implied a change in our understanding of employee participation, an important and central aspect in democratic organizations.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank Fred Freundlich for his support and help in writing this manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.744918/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Adhitama, J., and Riyanto, S. (2020). Maintaining employee engagement and employee performance during Covid-19 pandemic at PT. Koexim Mandiri finance. J. Res. Bus. Manag. 8, 6–10.
- Agirre, I., Reinares, P., and Agirre, A. (2014). Antecedents to market orientation in the worker cooperative organization: the Mondragon Group. Ann. Public Cooper. Econ. 85, 387–408.
- Agirre, I., Reinares, P., and Freundlich, F. (2015). Does a democratic management model enhance performance through market orientation?: empirical evidence from the Mondragon industrial group. *Rev. Radic. Polit. Econ.* 47, 345–367. doi: 10.1177/0486613414542770
- Albizu, E., Altzerreka, R., Cerrato, J., Etxaniz, F. J., García, R., Hoyos, J., et al. (2005). Participación de las Personas. 7 Claves Para Añadir Valor a las Organizaciones. Bilbao: Servicio Editorial de la Universidad del País Vasco/Euskal Herriko Unibertsitatea.
- Allan, B. A., Batz-Barbarich, C., Sterling, H. M., and Tay, L. (2019). Outcomes of meaningful work: a meta-analysis. J. Manag. Stud. 56, 500–528.
- Altuna Gabilondo, L. (2008). La Experiencia Cooperativa de Mondragon: Una Síntesis General. Mondragón: Mondragon Unibertsitatea.
- Altuna, R., and Grellier, H. (2008). Bases culturales e institucionales del desarrollo empresarial cooperativo de Mondragón. *Mondragón Bilduma* 1, 33–90.
- Appelbaum, E., Bailey, T., Berg, P., and Kalleberg, S. (2000). Manufacturing Advantage: Why High Performance Work Systems Pay Off. Londres: Cornell University Press.
- Arando, S., Gago, M., Jones, D., and Kato, T. (2015). Efficiency in employee-owned enterprises: an econometric case study of Mondragon. *Ind. Labor Relat. Rev.* 68, 398–425. doi: 10.1177/0019793914564966
- Arregi, A., Freundlich, F., and Gago, M. (2018). "ULMA architectural solutions: a case from the Mondragon cooperative group," in *Employee Ownership and Employee Involvement at Work: Case Studies*, (Bingley: Emerald Publishing Limited).
- Azkarraga, J., and Cheney, G. (2019). "Mondragon: cooperatives in global capitalism," in *The Palgrave Handbook of Workers' Participation at Plant Level*, eds S. Berger, L. Pries, and M. Wannöffel (New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan), doi: 10.1057/978-1-137-48192-4_11
- Azkarraga, J., Cheney, G., and Udaondo, A. (2012). "Workers participation in a globalized market: reflections on and from Mondragon," in *Alternative Work Organizations*, ed. M. Atzeni (New York, NY: Palgrave Macmillan), 76–102. doi: 10.1057/9781137029041_4
- Baldassarre, A., Giorgi, G., Alessio, F., Lulli, L. G., Arcangeli, G., and Mucci, N. (2020). Stigma and Discrimination (SAD) at the time of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 17:6341. doi: 10.3390/ ijerph17176341
- Baniandrés, J., and Larrinaga, M. A. (2013). Siete Experiencias de Participación: Luces y Sombras En el Caminar. Bilbao: Bizkaiko Foru Aldundia.
- Barney, J. (1991). Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage. *J. Manag.* 17, 99–120. doi: 10.1177/014920639101700108
- Basterretxea, I., and Albizu, E. (2011). Management training as a source of perceived competitive advantage: the Mondragon cooperative group case. *Econ. Ind. Democracy* 32, 199–222. doi: 10.1177/0143831x10377809
- Becker, B. E., and Huselid, M. A. (1998). High performance work systems and firm performance: a synthesis of research and managerial implications. *Res. Personnel Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 16, 53–101.
- Begin, J. P. (1991). Strategic Employment Policy. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Belategi, O., Gago, M., and Egaña, T. (2019). La comunicación interna en las cooperativas: la percepción de las personas trabajadoras sobre la escucha y la información [Internal communication in cooperatives: the perception of working people about listening and information]. *Rev. Estudios Cooper.* 130, 9–32.
- Bernstein, P. (1976b). Necessary elements for effectissve worker participation in decision making. J. Econ. Issues 10, 490–522. doi: 10.1080/00213624.1976. 11503358
- Bernstein, P. (1976a). Workplace Democratization-Its Internal Dynamics. Kent: Kent Corporative Administration Research Institute.
- Biswas, U. N., and Biswas, S. N. (2010). Organizational health, stress & commitment during global financial crisis. *Indian J. Ind. Relat.* 46, 112–125.

- Blauner, R. (1964). Alienation and Freedom: The Factory Worker and His Industry. Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press.
- Boselie, P. (2010). High performance work practices in the health care sector: a Dutch case study. *Int. J. Manpower* 31, 42–58.
- Boxall, P., and Macky, K. (2014). High-involvement work processes, work intensification and employee well-being. Work Employment Soc. 28, 963–984.
- Bretos, I., and Morandeira, J. (2016). La economía social ante la actual crisis económica en la comunidad autónoma del País Vasco. *Rev. Estud. Coop.* 122, 7–33.
- Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2017). Ownership, governance, and the diffusion of HRM practices in multinational worker cooperatives: case-study evidence from the Mondragon group. *Hum. Resourc. Manag. J.* 28, 76–91. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12165
- Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2020). Is there life after degeneration? The organizational life cycle of cooperatives under a 'grow-or-die' dichotomy. Ann. Public Cooper. Econ. 91, 435–458.
- Bulińska-Stangrecka, H., and Bagieńska, A. (2021). The role of employee relations in shaping job satisfaction as an element promoting positive mental health at work in the era of COVID-19. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health* 18:1903. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18041903
- Bustamante, E. (2013). El clima de comunicación, la motivación y la satisfacción laboral en un proceso de atención primaria en Colombia. *Rev. Comun. Salud* 3, 35–49. doi: 10.35669/revistadecomunicacionysalud.2013.3(1).35-49
- Cantarero Sanz, S., González-Loureiro, M., and Puig Blanco, F. (2013). El efecto "economía social" en la supervivencia empresarial. CIRIEC-España Rev. Econ. Pública Soc. Cooper. 78, 175–202.
- Capelli, P., and Singh, H. (1992). "Integrating human resource management and strategic management," in *Research Frontiers in Industrial Relations*, eds D. Lewin, O. S. Mitchell, and P. D. Sherer (Madison, WI: Industrial Relations Research Association), 165–192.
- Carnevale, J. B., and Hatak, I. (2020). Employee adjustment and well-being in the era of COVID-19: implications for human resource management. *J. Bus. Res.* 116, 183–187. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.05.037
- Carrascosa, L. (1992). Comunicacción. Madrid: Ciencias de la Dirección.
- Chadwick, C., and Dabu, A. (2009). Human resources, human resource management, and the competitive advantage of firms: toward a more comprehensive model of causal linkages. Organ. Sci. 20, 253–272. doi: 10.1287/ orsc.1080.0375
- Chanana, N. (2020). Employee engagement practices during COVID-19 lockdown. J. Public Aff. e2508. Online ahead of print, doi: 10.1002/pa.2508
- Charles, A., Wu, D., and Wu, Z. (2019). Economic shocks on subjective well-being: re-assessing the determinants of life-satisfaction after the 2008 financial crisis. *J. Happ. Stud.* 20, 1041–1055. doi: 10.1007/s10902-018-9986-y
- Cheney, G. (2006). Worker participation: current research and future trends. *Res.* Soc. Work 16, 179–203. doi: 10.1016/s0277-2833(06)16007-0
- Child, J. (2021). Organizational participation in post-covid society its contributions and enabling conditions. *Int. Rev. Appl. Econ.* 35, 1–30. doi: 10.1080/02692171. 2020.1774976
- Colquitt, J. A., Scott, B. A., and LePine, J. A. (2007). Trust, trustworthiness, and trust propensity: a meta-analytic test of their unique relationships with risk taking and job performance. J. Appl. Psychol. 92, 909. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 92.4.909
- Combs, J., Liu, Y., Hall, A., and Ketchen, D. (2006). How much do highperformance work practices matter? A meta-analysis of their effects on organizational performance. *Personnel Psychol.* 59, 501–528. doi: 10.1111/j. 1744-6570.2006.00045.x
- DeFilippis, E., Impink, S. M., Singell, M., Polzer, J. T., and Sadun, R. (2020). Collaborating During Coronavirus: The Impact of COVID-19 on the Nature of Work (No. w27612). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Del Pozo, M. (2000). Gestión de la Comunicación Interna en las Organizaciones. Casos de Empresa. Pamplona: Ediciones Universidad de Navarra, S.A.
- Delery, J. E., and Shaw, J. D. (2001). The strategic management of people in work organizations: review, synthesis, and extension. *Res. Personnel Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 20, 165–197. doi: 10.1016/s0742-7301(01)20 003-6
- Díaz Foncea, M., and Marcuello Servós, C. (2010). Impacto económico de las cooperativas. La generación de empleo en las sociedades cooperativas y su relación con el PIB. CIRIEC-España Rev. Econ. Pública Soc. Cooper. 67, 23–44.

- Dong, X. Y., Bowles, P., and Ho, S. P. S. (2002). Share ownership and employee attitudes: some evidence from China's post-privatization rural industry. *J. Comp. Econ.* 30, 812–835. doi: 10.1006/jcec.2002.1801
- Dryhurst, S., Schneider, C. R., Kerr, J., Freeman, A. L. J., Recchia, G., Van Der Bles, A. M., et al. (2020). Risk perceptions of COVID-19 around the world. *J. Risk Res.* 23, 994–1006.
- Dubin, R., Champoux, J. E., and Porter, L. W. (1975). Central life interests and organizational commitment of blue-collar and clerical workers. *Adm. Sci. Q.* 20, 411–421. doi: 10.2307/2392000
- Elías, J., and Mascaray, J. (1998). *Mas Allá de la Comunicación Interna*. Barcelona: Edicionssses Gesstión 2000.
- Elorza, U., Harris, C., Aritzeta, A., and Balluerka, N. (2016). The effect of management and employee perspectives of high-performance work systems on employees' discretionary behaviour. *Personnel Rev.* 45, 121–141. doi: 10.1108/ pr-07-2014-0167
- Employee Ownership Association [EOA] (2010). *The Employee Ownership Effect:* A Review of the Evidence. Brough: Employee Ownership Association.
- Enrique, A. M. (2007). La Comunicación Empresarial en Casos de Crisis. Estudio de Caso: La Crisis de Fontaneda [Thesis Doctoral]. Barcelona: Universitat Autònoma de Barcelona.
- Errasti, A., Bretos, I., and Etxezarreta, E. (2016). What do Mondragon coopitaist multinationals look like? The rise and fall of Fagor Electrodomésticos, S. Coop. and its European Subsidiaries. Ann. Public Cooper. Econ. 87, 433–456. doi: 10.1111/apce.12137
- Errasti, A., Bretos, I., and Nuńez, A. (2017). The viability of cooperatives: the fall of the Mondragon cooperative Fagor. *Rev. Radic. Polit. Econ.* 49, 181–197. doi: 10.1177/0486613416666533
- Eurofound (2013). Work Organisation and Employee Involvement in Europe. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.
- Ewing, M., Men, L. R., and O'Neil, J. (2019). Using social media to engage employees: insights from internal communication managers. *Int. J. Strategic Commun.* 13, 110–132. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-0906-x
- Forcadell, F. J. (2005). Democracy, cooperation and business success: the case of mondragon corporacion cooperative. J. Bus. Ethics 56, 255–274. doi: 10.1007/ s10551-004-5094-5
- French, J. L., and Rosenstein, J. (1984). Employee ownership work attitudes, and power relationships. Acad. Manag. J. 27, 861–869. doi: 10.5465/255883
- Freundlich, F., Arando, S., Gago, M., Jones, D. C., and Kato, T. (2013). Institutional Innovation in Mondragon: Context, Shape and Consequence. Auckland: Hamilton Digital Commons.
- Gallego-Bono, J. R., and Chavez-Avila, R. (2016). Innovation cooperative systems and structure change: an evolutionary analysis of Anecoop and Mondragon cases. J. Bus. Res. 69, 4907–4911.
- Gallup (2020). How Coronavirus will Change the 'Next Normal' Workplace. Washington, DC: Gallup.
- Gamble, J. E., Culpepper, R., and Blubaugh, M. G. (2002). ESOPs and employee attitudes. The importance of empowerment and financial value. *Personnel Rev.* 31, 9–26.
- García Jiménez, J. (1998).). La Comunicación Interna. Madrid: Ediciones Díaz de Santos, S.A.
- García-Chas, R., Neira-Fontela, E., and Castro-Casal, C. (2014). Highperformance work system and intention to leave: a mediation model. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 25, 367–389. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2012.05 968.x
- García-Chas, R., Neira-Fontela, E., and Varela-Neira, C. (2015). Comparing the explanatory capacity of three constructs in the prediction of engineers' proficiency, adaptivity, and proactivity. *Hum. Resour. Manag.* 54, 689–709. doi: 10.1002/hrm.21639
- Gillespie, N., Searle, R., Gustafsson, S., and Hailey, V. H. (2020). Preserving employee trust during crisis. *Behav. Sci. Policy* 6, 1–10.
- Gonzalo, P. (2002). La utilidad de la comunicación interna para los directivos. Harvard Deusto Bus. Rev. 107, 36-44.
- Greenwood, D. J., and González, S. J. (1991). Industrial Democracy as Process: Participatory Action Research in the Fagor Cooperative Group of Mondragon. Maastricht: Van Gorcum Arbetslivscentrum.
- Guest, D. E. (2011). Human resource management and performance: still searching for some answers. *Hum. Resourc. Manag. J.* 21, 3–13.

- Guthrie, J. P., Flood, P. C., Liu, W., and MacCurtain, S. (2009). High performance work systems in Ireland: human resource and organizational outcomes. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 20, 112–125.
- Hamouche, S. (2020). COVID-19 and employees' mental health: stressors, moderators and agenda for organizational actions. *Emerald Open Res.* 2:15. doi: 10.35241/emeraldopenres.13550.1
- Hargie, O. E., and Tourish, D. E. (2009). Auditing Organizational Communication: A Handbook of Research, Theory and Practice. New York, NY: Routledge.
- Harrison, J. S., and Freeman, R. E. (2004). Special topic: democracy in and around organizations. Acad. Manag. Executive 18, 49–53.
- Heller, F. A., Pusic, E., Strauss, G., and Wilpert, B. (1998). Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2014). The ties that bind? Exploring the basic principles of worker-owned organizations in practice. Organization 21, 645–665.
- Hermel, P. (1990). La Gestión Participativa (Management Participativo). Barcelona: Ediciones gestión 2000, S.A.
- Hernández, R., Fernández, C., and Baptista, P. (2010). Metodologísa de la Investigación. Mexico, DF: McGraw-Hill.
- Höckertin, C., and Härenstam, A. (2006). The impact of ownership on psychological working s multi-level analysis of 60 workplaces. *Econ. Ind. Democracy* 27, 245–284. doi: 10.1177/0143831x06063099
- Hopp, W. J., Iravani, S. M. R., and Liu, F. (2009). Managing white-collar work: an operations-oriented survey. *Prod. Operat. Manag.* 18, 1–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1937-5956.2009.01002.x
- Hu, X., Kaplan, S., and Dalal, R. S. (2010). An examination of blue- versus whitecollar workers' conceptualizations of job satisfaction facets. J. Vocat. Behav. 76, 317–325. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2009.10.014
- Huang, L. C., Ahlstrom, D., Lee, A. Y. P., Chen, S. Y., and Hsieh, M. J. (2016). High performance work systems, employee well-being, and job involvement: an empirical study. *Personnel Rev.* 45, 296–314. doi: 10.1108/pr-09-2014-0201
- Huang, Y., Ma, Z., and Meng, Y. (2018). High-performance work systems and employee engagement: empirical evidence from China. Asia Pacific J. Hum. Resourc. 56, 341–359. doi: 10.2147/PRBM.S195533
- Huselid, M. A. (1995). The impact of human resource management practices on turnover, productivity, and corporate financial performance. Acad. Manag. J. 38, 635–672. doi: 10.2307/256741
- Eustat (2021). Press Release (22-01-2021). Donostia-San Sebastian: Eustat.
- Irigoyen-Camacho, M. E., Velazquez-Alva, M. C., Zepeda-Zepeda, M. A., Cabrer-Rosales, M. F., Lazarevich, I., and Castańo-Seiquer, A. (2020). Effect of income level and perception of susceptibility and severity of COVID-19 on stay-athome preventive behavior in a group of older adults in Mexico city. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health.* 17:7418. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17207418
- Jackson, S. E., and Schuler, R. S. (1995). Understanding human resource management in the context of organizations and their environments. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 46, 237–264. doi: 10.1146/annurev.ps.46.020195.001321
- Jaén Díaz, M., Luceño Moreno, L., Martín García, J., and Rubio Valdehita, S. (2006). La comunicación interna como herramienta estratégica al servicio de las organizaciones. *EduPsykhé Rev. Psicol. Psicopedag.* 5, 3–31.
- Jarley, P., Fiorito, J., and Delaney, J. T. (1997). A structural contingency approach to bureaucracy and democracy in U.S. national unions. Acad. Manag. J. 40, 831–861. doi: 10.2307/256950
- Jiang, K., Lepak, D. P., Hu, J., and Baer, J. C. (2012). How does human resource management influence organizational outcomes? A meta-analytic investigation of mediating mechanisms. *Acad. Manag. J.* 55, 1264–1294.
- Jung, H. S., Jung, Y. S., and Yoon, H. H. (2021). COVID-19: the effects of job insecurity on the job engagement and turnover intent of deluxe hotel employees and the moderating role of generational characteristics. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 92:102703. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2020.102703
- Kaushik, M., and Guleria, N. (2020). Employee relations and engagement during covid-19. Sparkling Int. J. Multidiscip. Res. Stud. 3, 1–11.
- Kerr, J. L., and Caimano, V. F. (2004). The limits of organizational democracy. *Acad. Manag. Rev.* 18, 81–97. doi: 10.5465/ame.2004.14776172
- Klein, K. J. (1987). Employee stock ownership and employee attitudes: a test of three models. J. Appl. Psychol. Monogr. 72, 319–332. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010. 72.2.319
- Kovaitė, K., Šūmakaris, P., and Stankevičienė, J. (2020). Digital communication channels in Industry 4.0 implementation: The role of internal communication.

Manag. J. Contemporary Manag. Issues 25, 171–191. doi: 10.30924/mjcmi.25.1. 10

- Kruse, D. (2002). Research evidence on prevalence and effects of employee ownership. J. Employee Ownersh. Law Finance 14, 65–90.
- Kruse, D. L., Freeman, R. B., and Blasi, J. R. (2010). "Do workers gain by sharing? Employee outcomes under employee ownership, profit-sharing and broadbased stock options," in *Shared Capitalism at Work: Employee Ownership, Profit and Gain Sharing and Broad-Based Stock Options*, eds D. L. Kruse, R. B. Freeman, and J. R. Blasi (Chicago, IL: University of Chicago Press), 257–289.
- Kruse, D., Freeman, R., and Blasi, J. (2008). Do Workers Gain by Sharing? Employee Outcomes Under Employee Ownership, Profit Sharing, and Broad-Based Stock Options (No. w14233). Cambridge, MA: National Bureau of Economic Research.
- Kuvaas, B. (2003). Employee ownership and affective organizational commitment: employees' perceptions of fairness and their preference for company shares over cash. *Scand. J. Manag.* 19, 193–212. doi: 10.1016/s0956-5221(01)00044-6
- Larrańaga, A. (2005). "Kooperatibetako organo sozialak," in *Kooperatiben Enpresa-Ekonomia*, eds A. Agirre, B. Bakaikoa, and A. M. Errasti (Arrasate-Mondragon: Mondragon Unibertsitatea Zerbitzu Editoriala), 37–59.
- Lee, T. C., Yao-Ping Peng, M., Wang, L., Hung, H. K., and Jong, D. (2021). Factors influencing employees' subjective wellbeing and job performance during the COVID-19 global pandemic: the perspective of social cognitive career theory. *Front. Psychol.* 12:577028. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.577028
- Li, J.-Y., Sun, R., Tao, W., and Lee, Y. (2021). Employee coping with organizational change in the face of a pandemic: the role of transparent internal communication. *Public Relat. Rev.* 47:101984. doi: 10.1016/j.pubrev. 2020.101984
- Long, R. J. (1978). The effects of employee ownership on organizational identification, employee job attitudes, and organizational performance: a tentative framework and empirical findings. *Hum. Relat.* 31, 29–48. doi: 10. 1177/001872677803100102
- Long, R. J. (1980). Job attitudes and organizational performance under employee ownership. Acad. Manag. J. 23, 726–737. doi: 10.1186/s12913-017-2151-1
- MacDuffie, J. P. (1995). Human resource bundles and manufacturing performance: organizational logic and flexible production systems in the world auto industry. *Review* 48, 197–221. doi: 10.1177/001979399504800201
- Mani, S., and Mishra, M. (2020). Non-monetary levers to enhance employee engagement in organizations-"GREAT" model of motivation during the Covid-19 crisis. *Strategic HR Rev.* 19, 171–175. doi: 10.1108/shr-04-2020-0028
- Manville, B., and Ober, J. (2003). A Company of Citizens: What the World's First Democracy Teaches Leaders about Creating Great Organizations. Cambridge, MA: Harvard Business School Press.
- Markovits, Y., Boer, D., and van Dick, R. (2014). Economic crisis and the employee: the effects of economic crisis on employee job satisfaction, commitment, and self-regulation. *Eur. Manag. J.* 32, 413–422. doi: 10.1016/j.emj.2013. 09.005

Maxwell, J. A. (1996). Qualitative Research Design. Newbury Park, CA: Sage.

- McQuaid, R., Hollywood, E., Bond, S., Canduela, J., Richard, A., and Blackledge, G. (2012). Fit for Work? Health and Wellbeing of Employees in Employee Owned Business. Final Report to Employee Ownershipss Association, Employment Research Institute, Edinburgh Napier University/John Lewis Partnership, Edinburgh, Scotland. Ephraim, UT: Employment Research Institute.
- Messersmith, J. G., Patel, P. C., Lepak, D. P., and Gould-Williams, J. S. (2011). Unlocking the black box: exploring the link between high-performance work systems and performance. J. Appl. Psychol. 96:1105. doi: 10.1037/a0024710
- Meyer, B., Zill, A., Dilba, D., Gerlach, R., and Schumann, S. (2021). Employee psychological well-being during the COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: a longitudinal study of demands, resources, and exhaustion. *Int. J. Psychol.* 56, 532–550. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12743
- Meyer, J. (2001). "Organizational commitment," in Personnel Psychology and Human Resource Management: A Reader for Students and Practitioners, eds I. T. Robertson and C. Cooper (Chichester: Wiley), 289–342.
- Meyer, J. P., and Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Hum. Resourc. Manag. Rev.* 1, 61–89. doi: 10.1016/ 1053-4822(91)90011-z
- Meyer, J. P., Morin, A. J., and Wasti, S. A. (2018). Employee commitment before and after an economic crisis: a stringent test of profile similarity. *Hum. Relat.* 71, 1204–1233. doi: 10.1177/0018726717739097

- Miao, R., Bozionelos, N., Zhou, W., and Newman, A. (2020). High-performance work systems and key employee attitudes: the roles of psychological capital and an interactional justice climate. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 32, 443–477. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2019.1710722
- Möhring, K., Naumann, E., Reifenscheid, M., Wenz, A., Rettig, T., Krieger, U., et al. (2021). The COVID-19 pandemic and subjective well-being: longitudinal evidence on satisfaction with work and family. *Eur. Soc.* 23, S601–S617.
- Morandeira, J. (2014). Euskal gizarte ekonomiaren bilakaera krisi garaian. Rev. Vasca Econ. Soc. 137–153.
- Noe, R. A., Hollenbeck, J. R., Gerhart, B., and Wright, P. M. (2017). Human Resource Management: Gaining a Competitive Advantage. New York, NY: McGraw-Hill Education.
- Ojo, A. O., Fawehinmi, O., and Yusliza, M. Y. (2021). Examining the predictors of resilience and work engagement during the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Sustainability* 13:2902.
- Oliver, N. (1984). An examination of organizational commitment in six workers' cooperatives in Scotland. *Hum. Relat.* 37, 29–45. doi: 10.1177/ 001872678403700102
- Oliver, N. (1990). Work rewards, work values, and organizational commitment in an employee-owned firm: evidence from the UK. *Hum. Relat.* 43, 513–526. doi: 10.1177/001872679004300602
- Ongallo, C. (2001). La Comunicación Interna en la Empresa Espssańola. Trujillo: Ediciones La Coria.
- Opitz, I., and Hinner, M. B. (2003). Good Internal Communication Increases Productivity (No. 2003/07). Freiberger Arbeitspapiere. Freiberg: Technische Universität Bergakademie.
- Ortega, I. (2019). "Empresas participadas por las personas trabajadoras y su contribución al territorio," in *Participation de las Personas Trabajadoras en Gipuzkoa: Bienestar, Rendimiento, Territorio,* eds A. Arregi, M. Gago, I. Gómez, I. Ortega, and U. Uribetxeberria (Mondragón: Mondragon Unibertsitatea), 106–127.
- Paauwe, J. (2009). HRM and performance: achievements, methodological issues and prospects. J. Manag. Stud. 46, 129–142.
- Paauwe, J., Boon, C., Boselie, J. P. P. E. F., and den Hartog, D. (2013). "Reconceptualizing fit in strategic human resource management: 'lost in translation?," in *HRM & Performance: Achievements & Challenges*, eds J. Paauwe, D. M. Guest, and P. M. Wright (New York, NY: Wiley), 61–78.
- Perad, P. (2016). La crisis, ¿Una Oportunidad Para la Economía Social Española?. Madrid: Funcas.
- Peters, T. (1995). Nuevas Organizaciones en Tiempos de Caos. Bilbao: Ed. Deusto.
- Pfefferbaum, B., and North, C. (2020). Mental health and the Covid-19 pandemic. *N. Engl. J. Med.* 383, 510–512.
- Pomares Hernández, I., and Grávalos Gastaminza, M. A. (2001). Cooperativas, desempleo y efecto refugio. *REVESCO Rev. Estudios Cooper.* 69–84.
- Poutsma, E., van Eert, C., and Ligthart, P. E. M. (2015). "Employee ownership and organizational citizenship behavior: high performance ownership systems and the mediating role of psychological ownership," in Advances in the Economic Analysis of Participatory & Labor-Managed Firms, Vol. 16, ed. A. Kauhanen (Bingley: Emerald), 223–248. S0885-333920150000016015 doi: 10.1108/
- Ramdani, B., Mellahi, K., Guermat, C., and Kechad, R. (2014). The efficacy of high performance work practices in the middle east: evidence from algerian firms. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 25, 252–275.
- Ramirez, Y. W., and Nembhard, D. A. (2004). Measuring knowledge worker productivity. J. Intellect. Capital 5, 602–628.
- Reeves, R. (2007). CoCo Companies: Work, Happiness and Employee Ownership. London: Employee Ownership Insight (Employee Ownership Association).
- Reizer, A., Geffen, L., and Koslowsky, M. (2021). Life under the COVID-19 lockdown: on the relationship between intolerance of uncertainty and psychological distress. *Psychol. Trauma* 13, 432–437. doi: 10.1037/tra00 01012
- Rettie, H., and Daniels, J. (2021). Coping and tolerance of uncertainty: predictors and mediators of mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. Am. Psychol. 76, 427–437. doi: 10.1037/amp0000710
- Rhodes, S. R., and Steers, R. M. (1981). Conventional vs. worker-owned firms. *Hum. Relat.* 34, 1013–1035. doi: 10.1177/001872678103401201

- Risley, C. (2020). Maintaining performance and employee engagement during the COVID-19 pandemic. J. Library Adm. 60, 653–659. doi: 10.1080/01930826. 2020.1773716
- Rodríguez-Sañudo Gutierrez, F. (1979). Participación de los trabajadores en la empresa. *Rev. Polít. Soc.* 121, 415–437.
- Rossi, R., Socci, V., Talevi, D., Mensi, S., Niolu, C., Pacitti, F., et al. (2020). COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown measures impact on mental health among the general population in Italy. *Front. Psychiatry* 11:790. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020. 00790
- Ruck, K. (2020). "Internal communication and the associations with organizational purpose, culture and strategy," in *Exploring Internal Communication, Towards Informed Employee Voice*, 4th Edn, ed. K. Ruck (Abingdon: Routledge).
- Ruck, K., and Welch, M. (2012). Valuing internal communication; management and employee perspectives. *Public Relat. Rev.* 38, 294–302.
- Sahni, J. (2020). Impact of COVID-19 on employee behavior: stress and coping mechanism during WFH (Work From Home) among service industry employees. Int. J. Operat. Manag. 1, 35–48. doi: 10.18775//ijom.2757-0509. 2020.11.4004
- Sala Ríos, M., Torres Solé, T., and Farré Perdiguer, M. (2015). El empleo de las cooperativas. Un análisis comparativo de sus fases cíclicas y de su grado de sincronización. CIRIEC-España Rev. Econ. Pública Soc. Cooper. 83, 115–141.
- Sala Ríos, M., Farré Perdiguer, M., and Torres Solé, T. (2014). Un análisis del comportamiento cíclico de las cooperativas y sociedades laborales españolas y de su relación con la actividad económica. *Rev. Estud. Coop.* 115, 7–29.
- Saló, N. (2007). La Comunicación Interna. Instrumento fundamental de la Fundación Directiva. Barcelona: BMR.
- Sánchez, S. G., and Shimón, D. (1997). La Dirección por Valores. New York, NY: Mcgraw Hill.
- Sanders, K., Nguyen, P. T., Bouckenooghe, D., Rafferty, A., and Schwarz, G. (2020). Unraveling the what and how of organizational communication to employees during COVID-19 pandemic: adopting an attributional lens. J. Appl. Behav. Sci. 56, 289–293.
- Shirai, T. (1983). "A theory of enterprise unionism," in *Contemporary Industrial Relations in Japan*, ed. T. Shirai (Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin press), 117–143.
- Smaliukienė, R., and Survilas, A. (2018). Relationship between organizational communication and creativity: how it advances in rigid structures? *Creativity Stud.* 11, 230–243. doi: 10.3846/cs.2018.4004
- Smidts, A., Pruyn, H., and Van Riel, C. (2001). The impact of employee communication and perceived external prestige on organizational identification. Acad. Manag. J. 44, 1051–1062. doi: 10.2307/3069448
- Soto Gorrotxategi, A., and Diaz Molina, L. (2018). Hego euskal herriko kooperatiba ehunaren bilakaeraren lurralde analisia. *Rev. Vasca Econ. Soc.* 15, 77–102. doi: 10.1387/reves.20506
- Spicer, A. (2020). Organizational culture and COVID-19. J. Manag. Stud. 57, 1737–1740. doi: 10.1186/s12913-021-06454-9
- Stohl, C., and Cheney, G. (2001). Participatory processes/paradoxical practices. Manag. Commun. Q. 14, 349–407. doi: 10.1177/0893318901143001
- Tang, C., Ma, H., Naumann, S. E., and Xing, Z. (2020). Perceived work uncertainty and creativity during the COVID-19 pandemic: the roles of zhongyong and creative self-efficacy. *Front. Psychol.* 11:596232. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.59 6232
- Teng, Y. M., Wu, K. S., and Lin, K. L. (2020). Life or Livelihood? Mental Health Concerns for Quarantine Hotel Workers During the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Front. Psychol.* 11:2168. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.02168
- Teo, S. T., Bentley, T., and Nguyen, D. (2020). Psychological work environment, work engagement, and employee commitment: a moderated, mediation model. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 88:102415. doi: 10.1111/jan.13043
- Tessi, M. (2012). Comunicación Interna en la Práctica. Siete Premisas Para la Comunicación en el Trabajo. Buenos Aires: Granica.
- Tonkiss, F. (2009). Trust, confidence and economic crisis. *Intereconomics* 44, 196–202. doi: 10.1007/s10272-009-0295-x
- Uysal, N. (2016). Social collaboration in intranets: the impact of social exchange and group norms on internal communication. *Int. J. Bus. Commun.* 53, 181– 199. doi: 10.1177/2329488415627270
- Van Dyne, L., and Pierce, J. L. (1993). "Employee ownership: empirical support for mediated relationships," in *Paper Presented at the Eighth Annual Conference of the Society for Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, (San Francisco, CA) (Found in Pierce, J. and Jussila, I. (2011))

- Verčič, A. T., Verčič, D., and Sriramesh, K. (2012). Internal communication: definition, parameters, and the future. *Public Relat. Rev.* 38, 223–230. doi: 10.1016/j.pubrev.2011.12.019
- Vilanova, N. (2013). Micropoderes. Comunicación Interna Para Empresas Con Futuro. Barcelona: Plataforma, 137.
- Villafańez, I. (2014). Kooperatiben konkurtsoaren inguruan zenbait datu eta hausnarketa. Rev. Vasca Econ. Soc. 0, 117–135.
- Villarreal Larrinaga, O., and Landeta Rodríguez, J. (2010). El estudio de casos como metodología de investigación científica en dirección y economía de la empresa: una aplicación a la internacionalización. *Investigaciones Eur. Direc. Econ. Empresa* 16, 31–52.
- Wattoo, M. A., Zhao, S., and Xi, M. (2020). High-performance work systems and work–family interface: job autonomy and self-efficacy as mediators. *Asia Pacific J. Hum Resourc* 58, 128–148.
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organizational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organizational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol. Int. Rev.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps. 12205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Schmid, B. E. (2009). The influence of organizational democracy on employees' socio-moral climate and prosocial behavioral orientations. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 1127–1149.
- Wegge, J., Jeppesen, H. J., Weber, W. G., Pearce, C. L., Silva, S. A., Pundt, A., et al. (2010). Promoting work motivation in organizations: should employee involvement in organizational leadership become a new tool in the organizational psychologists's kit? *J. Personnel Psychol.* 9, 154–171. doi: 10.1027/ 1866-5888/a000025
- Welch, M. (2011). The evolution of the employee engagement concept: communication implications. *Corporate Commun. Int. J.* 16, 328–346.
- Welch, M., and Jackson, P. R. (2007). Rethinking internal communication: a stakeholder approach. Corporate Commun. Int. J. 12, 177–198. doi: 10.1108/ 13563280710744847
- Whyte, W. F. (1995). Learning from the Mondragón cooperative experience. Stud. Comp. Int. Dev. 30, 58–67.
- Wilkinson, A., Gollan, P. J., Marchington, M., and Lewin, D. (2010). "Conpectualizing employee participation in organizations," in *The Oxford Handbook of Participation in Organizations*, eds A. Wilkinson, P. Gollan, M. Marchington, and D. Lewin (Oxford: Oxford University Press).
- Wilpert, B. (1989). "Participation behavior and personal growth," in Self-Realization, Success, and Adjustment, ed. E. Krau (New York, NY: Praeger), 77–90.
- Wilson, N., and Peel, M. J. (1991). The impact on absenteeism and quits of profitsharing and other forms of employee participation. *Ind. Labor Relat. Rev.* 44, 454–468.
- Wise, T., Zbozinek, T. D., Michelini, G., Hagan, C. C., and Mobbs, D. (2020). Changes in risk perception and self-reported protective behaviour during the first week of the COVID-19 pandemic in the United States. *R. Soc. Open Sci.* 7:200742. doi: 10.1098/rsos.200742
- Wright, P. M., and McMahan, G. C. (1992). Theoretical perspectives for strategic human resource management. J. Manag. 18, 295–320. doi: 10.1177/ 014920639201800205
- Wright, P. M., McMahan, G. C., and McWilliams, A. (1994). Human resources and sustained competitive advantage: a resource-based perspective. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 5, 301–326. doi: 10.1080/09585199400000020
- Xian, H., Atkinson, C., and Meng-Lewis, Y. (2019). Guanxi and high performance work systems in China: evidence from a state-owned enterprise. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 30, 2685–2704. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2017.1332670
- Xifra, J. (2020). Comunicación corporativa, relaciones públicas y gestión del riesgo reputacional en tiempos del Covid-19. *Prof. Inform.* 29:e29ss0220.
- Yawson, R. (2020). Strategic flexibility analysis of HRD research and practice post COVID-19 pandemic. *Hum. Resourc. Dev. Int.* 23, 406–417. doi: 10.1080/ 13678868.2020.1779169
- Yazdani, N. (2010). Organizational democracy and organization structure link: role of strategic leadership and environmental uncertainty. *Business Review* 5, 51–73. doi: 10.54784/1990-6587.1244
- Yin, R. K. (1998). "The abridged version of case study research: design and method," in *Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*, eds L. Bickman and D. J. Rog (New York, NY: Sage Publications, Inc), 229–259.
- Yin, R. K. (2013). Case Study Research: Design and Methods, 5th Edn. New York, NY: Sage publications.

- Yuan, Z., Ye, Z., and Zhong, M. (2020). Plug back into work, safely: job reattachment, leader safety commitment, and job engagement in the COVID-19 pandemic. J. Appl. Psychol. 106, 62–70. doi: 10.1037/apl0000860
- Závadský, J., Hitka, M., and Potkány, M. (2015). Changes of employee motivation of Slovak enterprises due to global economic crisis. *Ekonomie a Manag.* 18, 57–66. doi: 10.15240/tul/001/2015-1-005
- Zhang, M., Zhu, C. J., Dowling, P. J., and Bartram, T. (2013). Exploring the effects of high-performance work systems (HPWS) on the work-related well-being of Chinese hospital employees. *Int. J. Hum. Resourc. Manag.* 24, 3196–3212.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Arregi, Gago and Legarra. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Participation and Organizational Commitment in the Mondragon Group

Alfonso Rodríguez-Oramas¹, Ana Burgues-Freitas^{2*}, Mar Joanpere³ and Ramón Flecha¹

¹ Department of Sociology, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain, ² Department of Sociology, University of Granada, Granada, Spain, ³ Department of Business Management, Rovira i Virgili University, Tarragona, Spain

The scientific literature has shown Mondragon Corporation (MC), with 65 years of history, as a clear example that cooperativism can be highly competitive in the capitalist market while being highly egalitarian and democratic. This cooperative group has focused on its corporate values of cooperation, participation, social responsibility, and innovation. Previous scientific research reports its enormous transformative and emancipatory potential. However, studies on the effects of various types of worker participation on competitiveness and workers' psychological wellbeing in this cooperative group exist to a lesser extent. Specifically, one aspect that needs further empirical research and that represents a competitive advantage for Mondragon is the degree of commitment and emotional attachment that can be observed in the people who work there. For this reason, this article aims to identify key elements of the democratic participation of workers in these cooperatives that relate to the development of organizational commitment. Based on a communicative and gualitative approach, data collection included 29 interviews to different profiles of workers (senior and junior workers, members and non-members of the cooperative, and researchers involved in the cooperatives) from eight different cooperatives of the Corporation. Through this research methodology, the participants interpret their reality through egalitarian and intersubjective dialogue because their voices are considered essential to measure the social impact. This study found three different ways in which the democratic participation of worker-members in management and ownership contributes to developing affective organizational commitment among those working in Mondragon cooperatives, generating positive psychological and economic outcomes for both workers and cooperatives.

Keywords: Mondragon Corporation, worker cooperatives, organizational commitment, participation, psychological wellbeing, organizational democracy

INTRODUCTION

Worker cooperatives represent a democratic alternative to the traditional mainstream model of creating value and organizing work. In them, workers are highly involved in labor and capital, mainly through shared equity and participation in decision making at all levels (Cheney et al., 2014). According to the literature, cooperatives and worker-owned enterprises that combine employee

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wolfgang G. Weber, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Thomas Kuehn, International Psychoanalytic University Berlin, Germany Elizabeth Hoffmann, Purdue University, United States

> *Correspondence: Ana Burgues-Freitas anaburgues@ugr.es

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 31 October 2021 Accepted: 31 January 2022 Published: 15 March 2022

Citation:

Rodríguez-Oramas A, Burgues-Freitas A, Joanpere M and Flecha R (2022) Participation and Organizational Commitment in the Mondragon Group. Front. Psychol. 13:806442. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.806442

90

involvement and ownership can match or even exceed the productivity of conventional enterprises (Bradley et al., 1990; Bartlett et al., 1992; Doucouliagos, 1995; Logue and Yates, 2006; Artz and Kim, 2011). At the same time, cooperatives provide greater job security, particularly during times of crisis (Birchall and Ketilson, 2009), often report higher pay and benefits relative to conventional firms when they succeed in a particular industry (Artz and Kim, 2011), and contribute to dignify working life and reduce poverty (Logue and Yates, 2006). Furthermore, worker cooperatives can create some stress and demand specific emotional labor due to the complexities of their democratic organization. But compared to conventional firms, they usually offer greater emotional freedom and a more comprehensive range of genuine emotional displays (Hoffmann, 2016). For these and other reasons, cooperatives are broadly considered a factor promoting their communities' economic and social development (Johnstone and Lionais, 2004; Erdal, 2011; United Nations General Assembly, 2017).

The Mondragon Corporation (MC) is the largest and most successful group of cooperatives globally (Wright, 2010; International Co-operative Alliance, 2012), a clear example that worker cooperatives can be competitive in the capitalist market, egalitarian, and democratic. The group comprises more than 200 firms, 96 cooperatives and employs more than 81,000 people worldwide (Mondragon Corporation, 2021). MC is the leading business group in the Basque Country, where its headquarters are located, and one of the largest in Spain, having sales in more than 150 countries. In 2003, Fortune magazine ranked one of the best places to work in Europe due to the working conditions, absence of hierarchical atmosphere, equality, and personal decision-making capacity, among other aspects. Unlike most worker cooperatives, which are rare in capitalintensive sectors such as domestic appliances and industrial machinery (Dow, 2003), the Mondragon cooperatives have a presence in the finance, industry, retail, and knowledge sectors (Mondragon Corporation, 2020). Furthermore, MC has successfully managed to overcome economic recessions and internal challenges while continually expanding since its inception back in 1956, remaining committed to democratic work practices and dedication to local communities where they have a presence (Cheney et al., 2014).

The characteristics of the democratic model of MC and its relation to its economic and social success have long interested the scientific community (e.g., see Meek and Woodworth, 1990; Moye, 1993; Taylor, 1994; Whyte, 1995; Cheney, 2002; Mintzberg, 2009; Campbell, 2011; Redondo et al., 2011). However, one aspect that needs to be explored in more depth is the impact of the democratic participation of MC worker-members on their affective organizational commitment (Allen and Meyer, 1996), a factor that may represent a competitive advantage for the cooperatives (Agirre et al., 2014). Previous research has pointed to generalized satisfaction among worker-members of MC, particularly among highly qualified professionals who could earn more in traditional mainstream companies but who instead decide to remain in Mondragon (Flecha and Santa Cruz, 2011). Consistent with this assertion, there is evidence showing how

the organizational commitment of MC workers may be caused by the democratic management model implemented in those cooperatives (Agirre et al., 2014). This management model relies on decentralizing and distributing power, promoting employee participation in decision-making, and implementing a qualitybased management based on cooperative principles. Similarly, studies have found that organizational democracy positively impacts value-based commitment (Weber et al., 2020). Besides, workers are less likely to leave their companies due to job demands in worker cooperatives than in traditional mainstream companies (Park, 2018). However, more empirical research is still needed to fully understand how the democratic participation and involvement in the Mondragon cooperatives may lead to enhanced organizational commitment of their workers.

This article aims to contribute to fill this gap in the literature by presenting the results of a qualitative study carried out in MC cooperatives, which focused on identifying ways in which the democratic participation of workers in management and ownership influences the development of affective organizational commitment. The evidence presented suggests that participation in management increases the identification of worker-members with the governance of the cooperative (i.e., the democratically elected members of the governing bodies and the leadership of the company) and promotes involvement of the workermembers in decision-making at the highest level which increases their understanding of the business and empathy toward the management. Participation in ownership appears to generate emotional attachment to the cooperatives as worker acknowledge themselves as co-owners of the cooperatives and part of a collective business effort. In sum, participation in management and ownership appears to generate identification with, involvement in, and emotional attachment of workers to their cooperatives, all of which are elements that relate to the definition of affective organizational commitment (Allen and Meyer, 1996).

In the following, the article begins with a brief review of scientific literature on the relationship between organizational commitment and organizational democracy is reviewed. Then, the types of participation and involvement of workers that exist in MC cooperatives are contextualized. Third, the methodology followed is presented in detail. Fourth, the study's main findings are presented in three main sections. Finally, conclusions are presented drawn from the findings, as well as a critical discussion about them.

ORGANIZATIONAL COMMITMENT AND ORGANIZATIONAL DEMOCRACY

The leading concept of organizational commitment, which emerged three decades ago as a construct related to the study of work attitudes and behavior, is defined as "a psychological link between the employee and his or her organization that makes it less likely that the employee will voluntarily leave the organization" (Allen and Meyer, 1996). According to this conceptual model, the psychological linkage between employees and their organizations can take three distinct forms (Meyer and Allen, 1991): *affective commitment*, which refers to identification with, involvement in, and emotional attachment to the organization; *continuance commitment*, which refers to commitment based on the employee's recognition of the costs associated with leaving the organization; and *normative commitment*, which refers to commitment based on a sense of obligation to the organization. In other words, employees may decide to remain with an organization because they want to (affective), because they have to (continuance), or because they ought to (normative) (Allen and Meyer, 1996).

While all three forms of organizational commitment correlate negatively with withdrawal cognition and turnover, they differ in the way they correlate with organization-relevant and employeerelevant outcomes: affective commitment has been found to have the strongest positive correlation with attendance, job performance, and organizational citizenship behavior, and to be negatively correlated with stress and work-family conflict; besides, affective commitment correlates strongly with job involvement, occupational commitment, and, most vital of all, job satisfaction (Meyer et al., 2002). Thus, of the three forms of organizational commitment, affective commitment has the most positive consequences for employees, just as it does for employers (Meyer and Maltin, 2010). From the point of view of the firms, affective commitment represents a competitive advantage. When employees want to remain in the organization and believe it is the right thing to do, they tend to be happier, more satisfied, more self-directed, healthier, more engaged, and more willing to exert discretionary effort on behalf of the organization (Meyer et al., 2012).

In the last decade, a large body of research has widely studied the correlation and interaction of organizational commitment with numerous psychological variables in conventional organizations and capitalist firms (e.g., Morin et al., 2011; Farooq et al., 2014; Choi et al., 2015; Kim et al., 2016; Meyer et al., 2018; Yao et al., 2019). However, democratic workplaces and democratic organizations have received far less attention on this matter. Notable exceptions are the studies that have analyzed the relationship between organizational democracy and different psychological and behavioral outcomes, including affective and normative commitment (e.g., Weber et al., 2009, 2020; Unterrainer et al., 2011). The term organizational democracy is referred to as an on-going, broad-based, and institutionalized employee participation that is not ad hoc or occasional in nature (Weber et al., 2009). In a recent meta-analysis of psychological research on organizational democracy, Weber et al. (2020) used three indicators of this construct: (1) Structurally anchored employee participation in organizational decisions (SAEP), focused on the organizational decision structure, distinguishing among several types of enterprises according to a typology that ranges from hierarchically structured enterprises to selfgoverned employee-owned firms and worker cooperatives; (2) Employee participation in collective ownership (EO), focused on the property situation, encompassing two variants: whether an employee possesses ownership shares of the company or not, and the number of his/her ownership shares; (3) Individually

perceived participation in organizational decision making (IPD), focused on the participation of individual employees, reflecting the degree of employees' actual and direct participation in strategic or tactical decision making as perceived by themselves. According to their findings, value-based commitment [an aggregate of affective and normative commitment derived from Meyer et al. (2006)] is positively influenced by all three indicators of organizational democracy almost to the same extent. Additionally, the authors found that IPD partially mediated the positive effects of SAEP and EO on value-based commitment, showing the specific relevance of workers' direct involvement in strategic and tactical decisions for promoting positive forms of organizational commitment.

Only a handful of studies have analyzed aspects related to organizational commitment in worker cooperatives. However, none have analyzed the relationship between the democratic participation of worker-members and the development of organizational commitment. A study of French agricultural cooperatives concluded that members participate in the governance of their cooperative when they are attached to it affectively and trust the directors (Barraud-Didier et al., 2012). Another study in cooperatives in Ecuador found that certain variables related to job position such as higher salary levels, involvement in strategic management (specifically being an executive), or temporary contracts all had a significant and positive relationship with organizational commitment (Hidalgo-Fernández et al., 2020). In a comparative analysis between worker cooperatives and capitalist firms in South Korea, Park (2018) found that the increase in job demands and workloads in cooperatives did not seem to reduce the organizational commitment of their members, most likely because they are provided with greater autonomy, organizational support, decision-making participation, and social support as compared to their capitalist counterparts. The only study on MC cooperatives is that of Agirre et al. (2014), which found that decentralization and participative decision making, both critical components of Mondragon's management model, have a significant influence on worker's organizational commitment. Additionally, the authors found that organizational commitment in MC cooperatives has a positive albeit indirect influence on business performance through its impact on the market orientation of the cooperatives (i.e., the generation and distribution of market information and subsequent response to it).

In retrospect, research on organizational commitment has made significant contributions in areas such as behavioral sciences and organization studies. The universal character of the construct allows the replication of quantitative research methods in various types of organizations, as is the case of the studies on worker cooperatives described above. To strengthen this fruitful area of investigation, researchers could complement the existing quantitative studies with qualitative analyzes that allow them to recover the voices and interpretations of the investigated subjects. This would contribute to broadening scientific knowledge about the processes that underlie the development of organizational commitment in organizations and its interaction with diverse psychological and social variables.

WORKERS' PARTICIPATION IN MONDRAGON CORPORATION COOPERATIVES

Participation in Management

The worker cooperatives are the base level of organization in MC. In them, workers have multiple opportunities to extensively participate in decision-making processes of issues that are transcendental to the cooperatives' trajectory and their own work life. The democratic participation in the management of worker-members takes place through specific governing bodies shared by all Mondragon cooperatives (see Forcadell, 2005, p. 260-261). At the top, composed of all workermembers, the General Assembly is the supreme authority of the cooperative, which gathers at least once per year to approve strategic plans, nominate the Governing Council, the Audit Committee, and the Social Council. Every member of the cooperative can vote in the General Assembly, and their votes are weighted equally. The Governing Council is a group of up to twelve worker-members elected for 4-year periods. It is in charge of presenting the annual operational plan for approval to the General Assembly, nominating the managers of the cooperative, and periodically monitoring their performance to assure that the company's management complies with the directives of the General Assembly. The Audit Committee audits all the accounts presented to the General Assembly and obtains supplementary information when required by the cooperative members.

The governing bodies mentioned above assure workers' participation in management in the form of control instead of directly making management decisions (Campbell, 2011), which are the responsibility of the Manager and the Management Committee, a consultative body of managers of the cooperative. Along with them, another body called Social Council represents the worker-members before the authorities of the cooperative, having an advisory character to the Governing Council, and acts as a labor union and a communication channel between management and workers (Forcadell, 2005). Their co-workers directly elect the representatives of the Social Council, and the issues that they address include working conditions, compensations, remunerations, social security, and many other social topics (Campbell, 2011). Additionally, each member of the Social Council organizes individual meetings with the workers that they represent, called Small Councils, where all the issues mentioned above are discussed in-depth (Altuna, 2008).

Participation in Ownership

As worker-owned enterprises, the MC cooperatives are characterized by high levels of participation of their workers in decision-making processes and equity through individual participation of their members in ownership. Once they are eligible for membership and contribute their respective share of capital to the firm, workers acquire a series of obligations toward the cooperative, including participating in democratic processes of the cooperative and taking part in economic losses when applicable. In addition, they obtain rights such as participating and voting in decision-making processes, being eligible to become part of governing bodies, and participating in the cooperative's profits. Of any given MC cooperative, not more than 20% of its workforce are non-member workers, and temporary contracts cannot last more than 5 years, as set by local regulations for worker cooperatives in the Basque Country (Altuna, 2008; Flecha and Santa Cruz, 2011).

In recent years CM has carried out different actions to replicate its successful cooperative model abroad. It includes the creation of mixed cooperatives and the implementation in its subsidiaries of its Corporate Management Model to promote the dissemination of democratic organization practices and participatory management (Flecha and Ngai, 2014), or the collaboration between MC and the United Steelworkers Union in the United States to develop a union co-op model based on the values of worker ownership, collective organization, democracy, and solidarity (Schlachter, 2017).

Tensions and Contradictions in a Context of International Growth

The extent to which MC cooperatives maintain their cooperative values and assure workers' participation as they grow and compete in international markets has been the subject of discussion in the past decades. A good part of the analyses has been framed within the degeneration vs. regeneration debate (Cornforth, 1995). The degeneration thesis (Webb and Webb, 1921; Meister, 1984) states that to survive worker cooperatives gradually and inevitably adopt organizational practices and priorities that erode the democratic participation of workers in decision making, thus becoming increasingly capitalist. In contrast, several authors that criticize such a deterministic stance state that worker cooperatives can maintain their original nature in the long-term, since worker-members can set up regeneration processes that contribute to restoring democratic, participative, and social functioning (Batstone, 1983; Rosner, 1984; Hunt, 1992; Cornforth, 1995).

A number of recent studies have criticized degenerative processes that have eroded the democratic participation of workers in MC cooperatives, although in some cases also acknowledging efforts in the opposite direction. For instance, Heras-Saizarbitoria (2014) states that Mondragon's basic cooperative values such as democratic organization, participatory management and education have become decoupled from worker's daily activity, and that the principle of secure membership and employment is the only one that encourages "most workers to remain quiet and compliant in a system that gives them limited ways to participate." On a qualitative study of Fagor Ederlan, an MC multinational worker cooperative, Bretos et al. (2018) found that international growth contributed to lessen worker-members participation in favor of managerial control. Similarly, during its expansion period, Storey et al. (2014) found that Eroski, MC largest retail cooperative, experienced a sharp reduction of its percentage of members, gave greater priority to its economic goals, and suffered from passivity and loss of interest by its members. However, the authors also assert that the economic crisis in the post-2008 period played an essential role in the re-emergence of cooperative practices in the cooperative, as members showed an increasing desire to be informed, attend meetings and actively take part in decision-making committees and governing bodies. In a study of Fagor Ederlan, Fagor Electrodomésticos, and Maier Group, Bretos et al. (2020) state that those cooperatives have developed interesting regeneration initiatives such as cooperativizing some of their domestic subsidiaries, updating and institutionalizing cooperative education and training for managers and members of the governing bodies, and revitalizing certain employee voice structures. However, the authors emphasize that the cooperatives have kept growing through the acquisition of capitalist firms. Participation in their work areas continues to be shaped by dominant, managerially controlled systems, and education and training offered to rank-and-file worker-members suffer from a systematic deficit. It suggests that regeneration and degeneration are not mutually exclusive and can occur simultaneously.

Transferring the democratic participation of workers in management and ownership to subsidiaries of MC cooperatives has also been the subject of debate. While MC has been criticized for prioritizing the transfer of shallow, managerially oriented forms of workers' participation (Bretos and Errasti, 2017), research also suggests that some worker cooperatives have taken interesting steps toward "cooperativizing" their subsidiaries. They include the transformation of Eroski hypermarkets into cooperatives (Arando et al., 2015), the transformation into mixed cooperatives of some subsidiaries of Maier Group (Flecha and Ngai, 2014), the creation of a mixed cooperative subsidiary by Copreci, or the integration as production plans of Fagor Ederlan's subsidiaries Automoción and Victorio Luzuriaga Usurbil with the inclusion of their workers as members of the parent cooperative (Bretos et al., 2020). However, according to research MC cooperatives have been less successful in transferring their cooperative model to their subsidiaries abroad. Bretos et al. (2019) state that Fagor Ederlan and Fagor Electrodomésticos became "capitalist" firms composed of a cooperative headquarter in their multinational expansion and a capitalist periphery of subsidiaries in which cooperative membership rights are restricted for workers.

Similarly, in an analysis of Mondragon's Chinese factories, Errasti (2015) suggests an apparent disconnect between the organization's discourse regarding the encouragement of worker participation in subsidiaries and the practices observed in the Kunshan Industrial Park and concludes by stating that its Chinese subsidiaries do not differ significantly from traditional foreign subsidiaries. In this regard, Flecha and Ngai (2014) suggest that economic aspects, legal difficulties in the destination countries, the lack of a cooperative culture, and a desire to protect investments hinder MC from effectively expanding its cooperative model to its international subsidiaries. Nevertheless, the authors acknowledge that the actions taken by some cooperatives (specifically Maier, ULMA Construction and RPK, a former MC cooperative) to implement a corporate management model in their subsidiaries, albeit limited to one concrete dimension, are valuable first steps toward the objective of expanding the cooperative culture abroad.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Research Question and Context of the Study

The present study aims to address the following research question: How does the democratic participation of workermembers in management and ownership influence the development of affective organizational commitment in MC cooperatives?

The results presented here build on the research "The Contribution of Competitive Cooperativism to Overcoming Current Economic Problems" (Cooperativismo Competitivo: Aportacions a la sostenibilidad y calidad del empleo en el momento económico actual) (CREA, 2012-2014), funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation through the National R&D Program. The two main objectives of the R&D project were, first, to identify successful practices developed by worker cooperatives that improve the quality of work, particularly of the groups that suffer greater vulnerability; and second, to identify the possibilities of transferring those successful cooperative actions to other companies and other territories. For that purpose, numerous case studies of Spanish worker cooperatives were carried out, as well as four cross-sectional studies to identify and analyze elements that have a positive impact on the quality of work and life of different groups such as: women, young people, people with low qualifications and people with disabilities.

The study presented below corresponds to a subset of the project's field work. Specifically, 16 interviews corresponding to two in-depth case studies of the Alecop and Maier cooperatives are used in this study. In addition, with the aim of achieving a better understanding of the matter, the field work was complemented with 13 interviews of workers from six additional MC cooperatives: Fagor Automation, Laboral Kutxa Mondragon University, Orona, ULMA Architectural Solutions-Polymers, and ULMA Group. **Table 1** shows the distribution of interviews carried out for this study.

Data Collection and Analysis

This study was carried out using a qualitative methodology, which allows delving into routines, problematic moments and the meaning in the lives of individuals (Denzin and Lincoln, 2011). Specifically, the research was developed using the communicative

TABLE 1	Distribution of communicative interviews.

Sector	Cooperative	Participants
Finance	Laboral Kutxa	1
Industry	Fagor Automation	2
	Maier	7
	Orona	1
	ULMA Architectural Solutions–Polymers	1
	ULMA Group	2
Knowledge	Alecop	9
	Mondragon University	6
Total:		29

methodology (Gomez, 2021), which aims not only to describe social phenomena but also to provide scientific evidence of how social realities can be changed. In this methodology, researchers establish an egalitarian dialogue with the people investigated throughout the research process, searching for a common understanding of the reality based on validity claims. During the interviews, researchers bring to the dialogue the scientific evidence on the subject in question while the participants contribute with their daily life knowledge and experience. The joint interpretation of reality on an egalitarian level allows the identification of relevant topics that would not otherwise emerge in the research, and the active participation of the people whose reality is being studied increases the social impact of such research (Gómez et al., 2019). In the field of psychological research, this methodology has proven useful for generating scientific knowledge with substantial potential to improve peoples' lives (Redondo-Sama et al., 2020).

In this study, to ensure a broader understanding of the reality, it was sought that the participants of the study had different profiles that allowed achieving a better interpretation of the situation in their cooperatives. The diversity of participants contributes to overcome the biased view of reality that some previous academic studies have offered when studying MC cooperatives derived from unilateral visions of the phenomenon (Morlà-Folch et al., 2021). In our study, profiles of interviewees included senior and junior workers, worker-members and nonmembers, management staff and members of the governing bodies, and researchers involved in the university of the corporation. Specifically, **Table 2** details the profile of the people interviewed.

Regarding the two in-depth study cases carried out in Alecop and Maier, first, an informant in each cooperative was contacted to access the interviewees. In the first conversation, the research and its objectives were explained. Then, the contacts of people who might be interested in conducting the interviews were facilitated. Regarding the complementary interviews, a snowball sampling was carried out, in which informants who were not designated by the cooperatives facilitated the contact of various workers of MC cooperatives.

	Description	Participants
Gender	Male	16
	Female	13
Position	President of the cooperative	1
	Manager of the cooperative	1
	Former Manager of the cooperative	1
	Human Resources Manager	1
	Member of the Governing Council	3
	Member of the Social Council	2
	Worker-member	9
	Worker-member, researcher	3
	Worker-member, student	4
	Worker, not member	4
Total:		29

The interviews followed a semi-structured protocol with themes that emerged from the literature review designed to explore the relationship between the democratic participation of worker-members in management and ownership with the development of organizational commitment in the cooperatives. During the dialogue, the researcher presented the scientific evidence available, and the interviewees contributed their points of view on those investigations from their daily life knowledge. The conversations were open and allowed the interviewees to expand on the topics they wanted, offering time to discuss those issues that they considered most relevant, some of which were not considered initially. The interviews took place at the site the interviewees decided on to ensure comfort with the conversation. For this reason, some interviews took place in the workspaces of the cooperatives, while others took place in other spaces suggested by the interviewees.

The interviews were conducted between 2012 and 2014. The average duration of the interviews was approximately 1 h, but in no case did the interviewer limit the time of the interview. All were recorded and transcribed verbatim for their analysis. All participants involved in the study provided either verbal or written consent agreeing to participate in the research. They were also informed about their right to leave the research and remove their data from the analysis at any time if they wanted. The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of the Community of Research on Excellence for All (CREA) with the number 20211031.

For the analysis of the interviews, a first screening was carried out. All quotations that indicated a relationship between democratic participation of workers in MC cooperatives (i.e., participation in management and participation in ownership) were identified. In a second step, those quotations were classified following the next analysis chart (see **Table 3**). Based on the communicative methodology, the chart differentiates between transformative and exclusionary dimensions of three categories of analysis.

The results of the analysis were then classified into three final categories:

- *Identification with the democratic governance of the cooperative*, containing evidence of grassroot democracy underlying the process of election of members for the governing bodies.
- Involvement in management that enhances understanding of the business, containing evidence of learning processes that take place as worker-members participate in the governing bodies.
- Emotional attachment to a co-owned business effort, containing evidence of enhanced motivation and

TABLE 3 | Analysis chart.

Categories of analysis	Exclusionary dimension	Transformative dimension	
Emotional attachment to the cooperative	1	2	
Identification with the cooperative	3	4	
Involvement in the cooperative	5	6	

engagement of workers that acknowledge themselves as co-owners of the company.

The quotations presented in the following section represent the findings that had consensus among the interviewees. No major differences in the basic interpretation of the phenomenon were identified. However, some differences between the answers of worker-members and temporary workers are specified. Only in some specific cases, the interpretations varied, which was specified in the description of the results.

RESULTS

Our data analysis suggests that the democratic participation of worker-members in MC cooperatives (in management and ownership) contributes to developing affective organizational commitment in at least three ways. First, worker-members feel identified with the cooperative's governance since they postulate and democratically elect the colleagues they trust to be part of the governing bodies. Second, as worker-members elected for the governing bodies are involved in the most important decision-making processes of the cooperative, they must receive intensive training on the operation of the cooperative and interact with the management staff, which significantly enhances their understanding of the business. Third, worker-members become emotionally attached to their firms as they acknowledge themselves as co-owners of the cooperatives and part of a collective business effort.

Identification With the Democratic Governance of the Cooperative

The democratic functioning shared by all MC cooperatives enables worker-members to participate in transcendental decisions for the cooperative, such as the election of the company's leadership. During the General Assembly, all members vote to choose the president of the cooperative, who simultaneously presides the Governing and Social Councils. The Governing Council postulates the candidates. The General Assembly has the power to elect one or reject the nominees if they consider that none is adequate to preside the cooperative. Through this combination of representative democracy (postulation of nominees by the Governing Council) and participatory democracy (voting at the General Assembly), worker-members have a say in the appointment of the leadership:

"Normally, we in the Governing Council nominate those who we believe that may like the company, and that we like them [their profile]. And you say, "Ok, it seems to me that he is a good guy." You can nominate 2 or 3 people and then the [General] Assembly decides which one. Or they can censure, and they don't choose any of them. That has happened in [Fagor] Industrial" (*Female; worker-member; Fagor Automation*).

As expressed by this former member of the Governing Council in Fagor Automation, the presidency of the cooperative is not given for granted beforehand the General Assembly takes place. Instead, worker-members have the last word on who may preside over the company. Similarly, the management of the cooperative must count with and maintain the trust of the worker-members, although the process of choosing and removing when applicable operates indirectly through the action of the Governing Council:

The manager is elected by the Governing Council, which is the representative of the cooperative. They elect the manager for 5 years, although they can dismiss him/her at any time because it is a position of trust. In this specific case [of our cooperative], this person has been in the job for 10 years now, he was trained in the cooperative, he entered young and climbed positions, and now he is the general manager (*Male; worker-member; Laboral Kutxa*).

As explained above, the general management of the cooperative is considered a position of trust, which means that managers can be removed at any time if worker-members, through their representation in the Governing Council, assess that the direction of the cooperative is not the right one. However, as he also explains, general managers can be re-elected for additional periods if the overall results are considered positive for the cooperative.

It is worth noting that some of the interviewees coincided in pointing out that such trust in the leadership, along with other values such as transparency and honesty, may motivate the worker-members. The following quote showcases this idea:

The important thing in a company is that people who go to work motivated. (...) So, three key elements of motivation are: transparency, promotion of people, and honesty and credibility. That means that the people who are leading the company are trustworthy, that the managers are trustworthy, that they are honest. In other words, to create a climate of motivation. (...) The advantage of cooperatives is that a person feels better paid within the cooperatives, although they are never satisfied, [and] they feel they participate in the management, because they have transparency and they have information, and they feel that those who manage the cooperative are honest, they are close, and generally feel that they are honest. There will always be criticism, but I think there is honesty and credibility, and that is a bit of the great advantage of the cooperative (Male; former Manager of the cooperative; MAIER).

As seen in the previous quote, this former Manager of Maier emphasized that the perception of having honest and trustworthy leaders is vital for creating a climate of motivation in any company, be it cooperative or capitalist. Furthermore, he asserted that in worker cooperatives, worker-members might perceive the leadership as being more honest, transparent, and close to the workforce than other types of firms.

In that sense, according to the dialogues with the interviewees, it appears that the democratic process through which representatives of the governing bodies and the leadership of the cooperative are elected is a key element that contributes to develop trust and identification with the governance of the cooperative: "*There are advantages in giving a vote to the worker-members of the cooperative because it generates greater commitment in those elected [to form part of the governing bodies] and people identify themselves more*" (*Male; worker-member; ULMA Group*). As suggested by this worker-member of ULMA Group, this process appears to have a double positive effect. On the one hand, it influences the identification of worker-members with the governance of their cooperatives. Such identification appears to be based on trust, as worker-members themselves nominate and choose the colleagues who they consider most suitable for the positions. On the other hand, being designated by their colleagues for those representative positions potentially increases the commitment of the elected members, as they are backed by their peers throughout the process.

Reinforcing the previous idea, some testimonies from interviewees suggest that the grassroot democracy that underlies the election of members for the governing bodies contributes to their identification with the governance of the cooperative. Specifically, because it assures that people in whom they trust make the most important decisions in the cooperative. This was clearly stated by a college professor and worker-member of the Mondragon University cooperative:

"It is important that people choose. I mean, we choose among the people those that we see in that position. Then we make a proposal, 'Hey, we would like Pedro.' I think that's good, that in the representation be someone who is trusted. The confidence of saying, 'Look, we trust you and you are in a position where the strategic decisions [of the cooperative] are made.' I think it gives you more peace of mind. I think so" (*Female; worker-member; Mondragon University*).

As showed in the previous quote, the decision to postulate someone to the governing bodies is usually based on recognizing the commitment of a member toward the cooperative and his or her potential to look after the interests of both the business and the workers. In this process, worker-members rarely nominate themselves. Instead, worker-members postulate other colleagues they consider trustworthy and capable of achieving good results in the crucial tasks they will be assigned.

In sum, the evidence presented above suggests that the democratic election of representatives for the governing bodies may increase the identification of worker-members with the governance of their cooperatives, i.e., with the members elected for those bodies and, at least to some extent, with the leadership of their companies.

Involvement in Management That Enhances Understanding of the Business

The democratic process described in the previous section opens the possibility for any worker-member of the cooperative to be potentially elected for the governing bodies despite his or her job position or academic qualifications. Often, the members who join the governing bodies, particularly the Governing Council, lack the basic training required to understand the information at their disposal and make informed decisions. This limitation was clearly explained by this member of the Social Council at ULMA Architectural Solutions-Polymers:

Normally, the Governing Council is not all engineers or businessmen. There are people who work on the production line, people who have medium training, or even people who have high training. but in the end they are not in contact [with the administration]. For example, there may be people who are not in direct contact with the market and do not have that global perspective of the entire company to say, "this is wrong" or "this is good." It is not usually a common thing (*Female; member of the Social Council; ULMA Architectural Solutions-Polymers*).

As described above, all worker-members, including those that work on production lines and equivalent positions, are eligible for the Governing Council. Moreover, according to the interviewees, this situation is relatively common. In some cases, like in Alecop, a percentage of seats in the Governing Council (and other governing bodies) is even reserved for university students who work part-time at the cooperative. This situation represents a challenge for all MC cooperatives. They are faced with the need to provide intensive specialized training on cooperative business management to members that join the Governing Council with a wide range of profiles. While the specificities of the training may vary from one cooperative to another, they usually include some type of regulated training on technical matters like the interpretation balances and result accounts, among many other topics, as explained in the following quote of a member of the Governing Council of Maier:

"That training (...) is a challenge, a huge challenge to provide that. In the end, any member is eligible to the Governing Council, anybody, regardless of their education, and that person will have to make decisions once he/she is there. So, the regulated training is the interpretation of income statements and their values, although that isn't enough, no. [However] you learn during those 4 years in the Council so much! Of course, you have meetings that are only for the Governing Council members, and then you also have meetings with the entire Directorate, the Managing Director, the Human Resources Department. You learn about your own cooperative, the systems, the processes, how it works and how things are done" (*Male; member of the Governing Council; MAIER*).

However, as the previous quote explains, only part of the learning comes from formal training. During the years in the Council, the members learn a great deal from the direct interaction with the entire management staff of the cooperative, which may include the managing director, the finance department, the human resources department, and others. Those interactions are equally important, if not more, in helping the worker-members of the Governing Council to grasp a deeper understanding of the status of the cooperative and the business.

More importantly, joining the Governing Council entails being involved in transcendental decision-making processes for the cooperative such as elaborating the annual operational plan, nominating the management staff, and monitoring their performance. Often, the members' decisions are tough to make, as when cooperatives have needed to find ways of preserving employment at the expense of individual gains during the economic recession. Other times decisions may imply restructuring the cooperative or internationalizing its operation to compete globally. In either case, according to the interviewees, the direct involvement of worker-members in decision-making and management through their participation in the Governing Council radically transforms their understanding of the cooperative and makes them more emphatic with those in charge of managing the company. This idea was expressed by a college professor and worker-member at Mondragon University as follows:

"The experience you acquire helps a lot in the training of workers because you see how the company works. That a person who works on a machine has the possibility of being on the governing council and making decisions. that person when he returns to the machine works in a different way. Because he already knows where the company is going and why those decisions have been made, because you are the manager. And you are going to have to make some decisions that not everybody may like. The next time that you aren't in the governing council, but those same decisions are made, you'll also understand, 'Well, I had to make those decisions too.' Even if you are part of the Council only 4 years, that lasts forever" (*Female; worker-member, researcher; Mondragon University*).

Furthermore, as the interviewee emphasizes, the experience of forming part of the Governing Council has a long-lasting impact on the motivation and commitment of worker-members once they reincorporate to their job positions at their cooperatives, since they gain a perspective of the business that they could not have gained otherwise.

Similarly, according to the interviewees' testimonies, the experience of forming part of the Social Council contributes to increasing the business's understanding of those elected for this representative body. Among other responsibilities, the members of the Social Council are responsible for communicating to their colleagues the status of the cooperative, often through monthly gatherings called Small Councils. The information is provided directly by the management of the cooperative and the Governing Council. It may include financial balances, economic forecasts, or any other relevant cooperative updates. This was explained by two worker-members of Fagor Automation, one of whom previously had formed part of the Social Council:

Female worker-member: I understand now. When I see them [the current members of the Social Council] I understand them completely. We always say that each member should give those 4 years in the Social Council to value what it takes them to prepare the document they present every month. I used to prepare slides, "Here you have the economic results, the sales, the most important things that the manager says" every month.

Male wormer member: You also understand the balance sheets more.

Female worker-member: Yes, that is also positive. You learn and say, "Look, this is the operating income. Look how this affected that." Or the financial manager may come and explain how the dollar affects the operation, because we have subsidiaries outside and there we sell in dollars. You learn those things (*Female and male; worker-members; Fagor Automation*).

As shown in the quote above, the effort that the members of the Social Council put on processing and communicating the information of the business to their colleagues impacts not only their understanding of the business, but also their empathy toward the members of the governing bodies of the cooperative.

In the case of the youngest participants of this study, namely the student worker-members of Alecop who work part-time at the cooperative as they conclude their university studies, their involvement in the governing bodies appears to have had a direct impact on their commitment to the cooperative. Specifically, when asked about her appreciation of the experience as a worker in Alecop, one of the interviewees expressed that she had learned far more about cooperative companies than at the university, since there she had the chance to experience first-hand the democratic functioning of a cooperative:

The experience is very enriching. (...) I wanted to get involved and I found it very enriching. Both as a cooperative member and as a worker, I mean, as a student that I am. I learnt how a Governing Council works, how you can deal with the manager, how the Management Committee or the Audit Committee work. Until you are inside you really understand how it works. And yes, you see that it really does work (...) I do value it very positively. I actually liked it. I would like to continue working here if it were up to me (*Female; worker-member, student; ALECOP*).

Students who work in Alecop are accepted as cooperative members for as long as their university studies last. Once their studies conclude, so does their status as members in Alecop. Only occasionally do the students continue working in the cooperative, and often they join other cooperative or capitalist firms in the region. Notably, the student above expressed her wish to continue working in the cooperative, derived from her fruitful experience participating in the governing bodies and her interaction with the management staff. While this experience cannot be extrapolated to all student worker-members, it does suggest that involving young and/or temporary workers in the management of the cooperative, for instance, through the governing bodies of the cooperative, may positively impact their affective organizational commitment.

Emotional Attachment to a Co-owned Business Effort

While the evidence presented in the previous sections appears to suggest that democratic participation in the management of worker-members contributes to developing affective organizational commitment through somewhat indirect mechanisms, i.e., identification with the governance of the cooperative (trusting democratically elected representatives and leaders), and involvement in management that increases the understanding of the business (learning and developing empathy by participating in governing bodies), participation in ownership appears to contribute to the development of his type of organizational commitment in a rather straightforward way. When asked, most interviewees agreed on the idea that being a member of the cooperative, which first and foremost entails making an initial capital contribution, has a direct positive impact on the commitment that workers show in their workplaces and toward their cooperatives. This was stated as follows by a worker-member of ULMA Group with more than two decades of experience in the cooperative:

"You feel the company as yours. To become member, you must put money and that makes a big difference. You notice it with those who are not [members]. They don't have that feeling. It makes you more committed to the cooperative" (*Male; workermember; ULMA Group*). As shown in the previous quote, workers develop an emotional attachment to the company as they become members and acknowledge themselves as co-owners. Furthermore, according to this and other testimonies, such feeling is not common among temporary workers, which is to be expected as they have not yet acquired cooperative membership.

Furthermore, testimonies collected show that workermembers are more engaged in their jobs and are more willing to work harder to achieve the objectives of the cooperative when they perceive that they have opportunities to participate, and their voices are listened to. In other words, it appears that the combination of ownership and democratic participation in management, and not the former alone, is crucial for developing the emotional attachment that leads to affective organizational commitment. This was explained by a worker-member of Maier as follows:

"Because, in the end, if you think that this is really something yours, and that your opinion counts, and that you are listened to and such, the level of involvement and the level of sacrifice that you are willing to assume for something that is yours is much higher than in anywhere else" (*Male; member of the Governing Council; Maier*).

The emotional attachment that interviewees showed in the dialogues was characterized by a recognition that co-ownership is accompanied by shared responsibility. The testimonies reflected an understanding of worker cooperative as a collective project in which both benefits and risks are shared by all members. Different examples given by the interviewees showed how under certain circumstances worker-members are will in to carry out actions that may affect their individual livelihood in the short term, with the objective of strengthening the cooperative in the middle or long-term. A worker-member of Alecop expressed this idea as follows:

"I believe that for those of us who are in cooperatives, apart from the salary, the cooperative offers you other things: security, [and] you participate in the company, for me that's important. In other words, the day that I need to lower my salary, it will not be because someone else decided it, but because it is necessary. So, when we make money, we all win. And when we lose, we all lose. For me that's a completely different feeling. You have responsibility, you have power and responsibility" (*Female; worker-member; Alecop*).

As seen above at times worker-members may even be willing to take actions such as decreasing their income or taking part of the losses because, as co-owners of the cooperative, they acknowledge their shared responsibility of seeking the best for the company. Similarly, as reflected in other testimonies collected in the study, in difficult times worker-members may be willing to put extra effort into their jobs when needed, even if it requires working extra hours. Not because anyone exploits them, but because they feel part of a collective project in which their individual contribution is important for achieving the collective goals of the cooperative. That feeling of belonging to a shared business effort appears to be a source of motivation, as expressed by a worker-member of the Mondragon University in the following quote: "The other day I was talking to a friend, he is a trade unionist working in a traditional company. (...) He said that we worked more than 8 h because we wanted to. And we said that no, that here you have goals, and you have to achieve them, if it takes you 7 h as it takes you 10, that is your responsibility. (...) My job is to get this done, and that if 1 day I have to work 10 h, then the next day I work 7. But I do it. If I feel part of it. Well, I do feel part of this" (*Female; worker-member, researcher; Mondragon University*).

It is worth noting the difference in feelings that both workers have toward their companies, according to the interviewee's testimony. The worker of the capitalist firm may never consider voluntarily working additional hours because his/her work would indeed benefit the owners but not him/herself. However, the interviewee feels part of the company because she effectively is, and for that reason, she sees no trouble in working extra hours whenever is needed. In other words, she perceives that all the effort put into this job will benefit herself and all the members of the cooperative.

Interestingly, participation in ownership may also impact temporary workers' organizational commitment, albeit not in the form of an emotional attachment to the cooperative. Normally, after completing a 4-year trial period, temporary workers are invited to join as cooperative members if they perform adequately and embrace the cooperative values. According to our findings, the expectations of becoming cooperative members may play a role in motivating workers to be engaged in the cooperative and work hard in their jobs. A temporary worker of Orona explains this idea as follows:

"People like me with temporary contracts. The fact of becoming a member of a cooperative, like the one in which I am now, is an important step. In the end, becoming a member is better than a temporary contract in these times. You become member of a company that most likely won't go bad, you know? They make you a member and you are part of the cooperative, they can't kick you out. You are part of the company. So that means that during those 4 years people give everything and get involved in the company, to see if they make you a member and they consolidate you. All the people that I know that are my age. Most of them keep working hard after being consolidated as members" (*Male; worker not member; Orona*).

While the previous quote does not reflect emotional attachment to the cooperative, it does suggest that the influence of participation in ownership on organizational commitment may begin years before workers become members of the cooperative, as they engage in the cooperative culture and develop expectations of achieving a similar cooperative status.

DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSION

The Mondragon Corporation (MC) has long interested researchers for being the most explicit example that cooperatives can thrive in capitalist markets while remaining fully committed to democratic values and work practices. One aspect that represents a competitive advantage for MC cooperatives is their worker-members generalized satisfaction and engagement, particularly noticeable among highly qualified professionals (Flecha and Santa Cruz, 2011). However, the relation between the democratic functioning of MC cooperatives and the organizational commitment of their workers has been studied only to a lesser extent. The present study contributes to fill that gap in the literature by investigating how the democratic participation of worker-members in management and ownership in MC cooperatives influences the development of affective organizational commitment (i.e., emotional attachment to, identification with, and involvement in the organization: Meyer and Allen, 1991). This type of organizational commitment is considered a beneficial psychological state that correlates with positive outcomes both for companies and employees (Meyer and Maltin, 2010). Following a research design based on the communicative methodology (Gomez, 2021), the findings of this study draw from the dialogues with 29 workers of eight MC cooperatives located in the Basque Country, in Spain. The qualitative nature of this study allows complementing, albeit modestly, the vast and fruitful quantitative research on organizational commitment of the past decades.

The results of our analysis suggest that participation in management and ownership contributes to developing affective organizational commitment in at least three ways. First, in relation to participation in management, evidence was found showing that the worker-members interviewed feel identified with the members that form part of the governing bodies of their cooperatives, particularly of the Governing and Social Councils. According to the testimonies, identification originates from the fact that worker-members themselves nominate (for the Governing Council) and choose (for the Social Council) colleagues who they rely on and trust for those representative positions. This democratic process generates a feeling that trustworthy people are in charge of making the most important decisions for the cooperative, such as appointing and monitoring the management staff. While previous research had observed that cooperative values as a democratic organization and participatory management had become decoupled from worker's daily activity (Heras-Saizarbitoria, 2014), our findings do not seem to reinforce that claim. Instead, our research suggests that a grassroots democracy underlies the process by which representatives are appointed for the governing bodies in MC cooperatives, at least in the cases documented in this study. Further research could contribute to elucidating the extent to which democratic organization and practices are present in the day-to-day life of this and other cooperatives at MC.

Second, also in relation to participation in management, our evidence shows that the involvement of worker-members in governing bodies like the Governing Council and the Social Council enhances their understanding of the business and the operation of the cooperative. According to the interviewees, this happens because the members of the governing bodies must receive specialized training that enables them to understand the information that will be at their disposal and make adequate, informed decisions. Additionally, members of these bodies frequently interact with the management staff, who share information about the status of the cooperative with them. This enhanced understanding of the business by those members seems to increase the motivation, engagement, and empathy toward other members in the same representative positions. Previous research had already shown that involvement in strategic management (Hidalgo-Fernández et al., 2020), decentralization and participative decision-making (Agirre et al., 2014) all have a positive relationship with workers' organizational commitment in worker cooperatives. However, our research suggests that one factor that could explain such positive relationship is the intensive learning process that takes place as worker-members actively participate in management, for instance in the governing bodies of the cooperative.

Finally, in relation to participation in ownership, our evidence suggests that worker-members develop an emotional attachment to their cooperatives as they acknowledge themselves as coowners of the companies and part of collective business efforts. The worker-members interviewed clearly expressed that this emotional attachment increased their personal commitment toward their cooperatives, as they felt more motivated to work hard and take on greater responsibilities for the sake of the business, particularly during difficult times. This finding reinforces the argument of previous research that reported that increased job demands and workloads in cooperatives do not reduce organizational commitment of their members (Park, 2018), although our study suggests that a factor that could explain those observations is the emotional attachment that participating in ownership generates. Besides, previous research on psychological ownership had demonstrated positive links between psychological ownership for the organization and employee attitudes like organizational commitment (Van Dyne and Pierce, 2004), which seems to be clearly reinforced by the findings of our research. Future research could further explore the relationship between democratic participation in MC cooperatives, both in management and ownership, with the development of psychological ownership (i.e., the feeling of possessiveness and of being psychologically tied to an organization: Pierce et al., 2001) of their workers.

Overall, in line with the findings of Weber et al. (2020) that demonstrate a positive effect of organizational democracy (i.e., SAEP, EO, and IPD) over value-based commitment, our results show that both participation in management and participation in ownership in MC cooperatives do influence the development of affective commitment of its worker-members (and perhaps also of temporary workers as suggested by some of the testimonies presented). On the one hand, these insights may contribute to inform those worker cooperatives and other democratic organizations that seek to attract and retain human talent. By means of promoting democratic participation of workers in management and ownership, as analyzed in this study, they could potentially increase the affective organizational commitment of their workers. On the other hand, these findings may also contribute to inform the actions of worker cooperatives that deal with the challenge of developing positive types of organizational commitment in their subsidiaries, as they may decide to advance with greater determination in the transfer of these types of democratic participation.

Nevertheless, we must also acknowledge at least three limitations that are inherent to our study. First, due to the size of our sample, it is not possible to extrapolate our findings to all the cooperatives that belong to MC. Instead, the results of our research represent only the feelings of the people interviewed, which are nonetheless valuable to advance in the understanding of the reality of this cooperative group. Second, while the exclusive focus on affective organizational commitment showcased the potential of the democratic participation of workers to generate higher levels of organizational commitment, broadening the focus of analysis to other types of organizational commitment (i.e., continuance and normative) could potentially allow the identification of contradictions and/or exclusionary elements that this research did not identify. Finally, while it would be interesting to contrast the interpretations of the interviewees with quantitative measurements of organizational commitment in their cooperatives, this study did not carry out such statistical analyzes. Future studies could adopt a mixed approach that incorporates into the analysis both the voices of workers and more traditional quantitative measurements in this field of study.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The information stored on the CREA server can only be consulted upon request when the person responsible for the server and the data of the CREA center is asked. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to Community of Research on Excellence for All (CREA) crea@ub.edu.

REFERENCES

- Agirre, I., Reinares, P., and Freundlich, F. (2014). Does a democratic management model enhance performance through market orientation? Empirical evidence from the Mondragon industrial group. *Rev. Radic. Polit. Econ.* 47, 345–367. doi: 10.1177/0486613414542770
- Allen, N. J., and Meyer, J. P. (1996). Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: an examination of construct validity. J. Vocat. Behav. 49, 252–276. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.1996.0043
- Altuna, L. (2008). La Experiencia Cooperativa De Mondragon: una Síntesis General. Eskoriatza: Lanki.
- Arando, S., Gago, M., Jones, D. C., and Kato, T. (2015). Efficiency in employeeowned enterprises: an econometric case study of Mondragon. *ILR Rev.* 68, 398–425.
- Artz, G., and Kim, Y. (2011). Business Ownership by Workers: are Worker Cooperatives a Viable Option? WP #11020. Iowa: Iowa State University.
- Barraud-Didier, V., Henninger, M. C., and El Akremi, A. (2012). The relationship between members' trust and participation in governance of cooperatives: the role of organizational commitment. *Int. Food Agribus. Manag. Rev.* 15, 1–24. doi: 10.3402/ehtj.v6i0.19913
- Bartlett, W., Cable, J., Estrin, S., Jones, D. C., and Smith, S. C. (1992). Labor-managed cooperatives and private firms in North Central Italy: an empirical comparison. *Ind. Labor Relat. Rev.* 46, 103–118. doi: 10.1177/ 001979399204600108
- Batstone, E. (1983). 'Organization and orientation: a life cycle model of French cooperatives'. Econ. Ind. Democr. 4, 139–161. doi: 10.1177/0143831X834 2002
- Birchall, J., and Ketilson, L. H. (2009). Resilience of the Cooperative Business Model in Times of Crisis. Sustainable Enterprise Programme / Responses to the global economic crisis. Geneva: International Labour Organisation.
- Bradley, K., Estrin, S., and Taylor, S. (1990). Employee ownership and company performance. *Ind. Relat. J. Econ. Soc.* 29, 385–402. doi: 10.1111/j.1468-232X. 1990.tb00760.x
- Bretos, I., and Errasti, A. (2017). Challenges and opportunities for the regeneration of multinational worker cooperatives: lessons from the Mondragon

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of the Community of Research on Excellence for All (CREA) with the number 20211031. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

RF: conceptualization, funding acquisition, and supervision. AR-O and AB-F: investigation. MJ: methodology, visualization, and preparation. AR-O: writing – original draft. RF and AB-F: writing – review. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The author(s) disclosed receipt of the following financial support for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article: This research was funded by the Spanish Ministry of Science and Innovation through the National R&D Program under the grant number CSO2011-26179.

Corporation-a case study of the Fagor Ederlan Group. Organization 24, 154-173. doi: 10.1177/1350508416656788

- Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2018). Ownership, governance, and the diffusion of HRM practices in multinational worker cooperatives: case-study evidence from the Mondragon group. *Hum. Resour. Manag. J.* 28, 76–91. doi: 10.1111/1748-8583.12165
- Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2019). Multinational expansion of worker cooperatives and their employment practices: markets, institutions, and politics in Mondragon. *ILR Rev.* 72, 580–605. doi: 10.1177/0019793918779575
- Bretos, I., Errasti, A., and Marcuello, C. (2020). Is there life after degeneration? The organizational life cycle of cooperatives under a 'grow'or'die' dichotomy. Ann. Public Coop. Econ. 91, 435–458. doi: 10.1111/apce.12258
- Campbell, A. (2011). The role of workers in management the case of Mondragon. *Rev. Radic. Polit. Econ.* 43, 328–333. doi: 10.1177/0486613411407715
- Cheney, G. (2002). Values at work: employee participation meets market pressure at Mondragon. Ithaca: Cornell University Press.
- Cheney, G., Santa Cruz, I., Peredo, A. M., and Nazareno, E. (2014). Worker cooperatives as an organizational alternative: challenges, achievements and promise in business governance and ownership. *Organization* 21, 591–603. doi: 10.1177/1350508414539784
- Choi, D., Oh, I. S., and Colbert, A. E. (2015). Understanding organizational commitment: a meta-analytic examination of the roles of the five-factor model of personality and culture. J. Appl. Psychol. 100:1542. doi: 10.1037/apl0000014
- Cornforth, C. (1995). Patterns of cooperative management: beyond the degeneration thesis. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 16, 487–523. doi: 10.1177/ 0143831X95164002
- CREA (2012–2014). Cooperativismo Competitivo: aportaciones A La Sostenibilidad Y Calidad Del Empleo En El Momento Económico Actual' [The Contribution of Competitive Cooperativism to Overcoming Current Economic Problems]. National RTD Plan. Madrid: Ministry of Science and Innovation.
- Denzin, N. K., and Lincoln, Y. S. (eds) (2011). The Sage handbook of qualitative research. Thousand Oaks: Sage.
- Doucouliagos, C. (1995). Worker participation and productivity in Labor Managed and participatory capitalist firm - A meta-analysis. *Ind. Labor Relat. Rev.* 49, 56–77. doi: 10.1177/001979399504900104

- Dow, G. K. (2003). Governing the Firm: workers' Control in Theory and Practice. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Erdal, D. (2011). *Beyond the Corporation: humanity Working*. London: The Bodley Head.
- Errasti, A. (2015). Mondagon's Chinese subsidiaries: coopitalist multinationals in practice. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 36, 479–499. doi: 10.1177/0143831X1351 1503
- Farooq, O., Payaud, M., Merunka, D., and Valette-Florence, P. (2014). The impact of corporate social responsibility on organizational commitment: exploring multiple mediation mechanisms. *J. Bus. Ethics* 125, 563–580. doi: 10.1007/ s10551-013-1928-3
- Flecha, R., and Ngai, P. (2014). The challenge for Mondragon: searching for the cooperative values in times of internationalization. *Organization* 21, 666–682. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537625
- Flecha, R., and Santa Cruz, I. (2011). Cooperation for economic success: the Mondragon case. Anal. Krit. 33, 157–170. doi: 10.1515/auk-2011-0113
- Forcadell, F. J. (2005). Democracy, cooperation and business success: the case of Mondragon Corporacion Cooperativa. J. Bus. Ethics 56, 255–274. doi: 10.1007/ s10551-004-5094-5
- Gomez, A. (2021). Science with and for society through qualitative inquiry. *Qual. Ing.* 27, 10–16. doi: 10.1177/1077800419863006
- Gómez, A., Padrós, M., Ríos, O., Mara, L. C., and Pukepuke, T. (2019). Reaching social impact through communicative methodology. Researching with rather than on vulnerable populations: the Roma case. *Front. Educ.* 4:9. doi: 10.3389/ feduc.2019.00009
- Heras-Saizarbitoria, I. (2014). The ties that bind? Exploring the basic principles of worker-owned organizations in practice. *Organization* 21, 645–665. doi: 10. 1177/1350508414537623
- Hidalgo-Fernández, A., Mero, N. M., Alcivar, M. I. L., and Santa Cruz, F. G. (2020). Analysis of organizational commitment in cooperatives in Ecuador. J. Manag. Dev. [Epub Online ahead-of-print]. doi: 10.1108/JMD-05-2019-0180
- Hoffmann, E. A. (2016). Emotions and emotional labor at worker-owned businesses: deep acting, surface acting, and genuine emotions. *Sociol. Q.* 57, 152–173. doi: 10.1111/tsq.12113
- Hunt, G. C. (1992). 'Division of labour, life cycle and democracy in worker co-operatives'. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 13, 9–43. doi: 10.1177/0143831X9213 1002
- International Co-operative Alliance (2012). Global 300. Report 2012. The world's major co-operatives and mutual businesses. Available Online at: https:// www.aciamericas.coop/IMG/pdf/global300_report2011.pdf (accessed August 29, 2021)
- Johnstone, H., and Lionais, D. (2004). Depleted communities and community business entrepreneurship: revaluing space through place. *Entrep. Reg. Dev.* 16, 217–233.
- Kim, K. Y., Eisenberger, R., and Baik, K. (2016). Perceived organizational support and affective organizational commitment: moderating influence of perceived organizational competence. J. Organ. Behav. 37, 558–583. doi: 10.1002/job.2081
- Logue, J., and Yates, J. (2006). Cooperatives, worker-owned enterprises, productivity and the international labor organization. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 27, 686–690. doi: 10.1177/0143831X06069019
- Meek, V. B., and Woodworth, J. P. (1990). Technical training and Enterprise: mondragon's Educational system and its implications for other Co-operatives. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 11, 508–528. doi: 10.1177/0143831X9001100404
- Meister, A. (1984). Participation, Associations, Development, and Change. New Brunswick: Transaction Books.
- Meyer, J. P., and Allen, N. J. (1991). A three-component conceptualization of organizational commitment. *Hum. Resour. Manag. Rev.* 1, 61–89. doi: 10.1016/ 1053-4822(91)90011-Z
- Meyer, J. P., Becker, T. E., and Van Dick, R. (2006). Social identities and commitments at work: toward an integrative model. J. Organ. Behav. 27, 665–684. doi: 10.1002/job.383
- Meyer, J. P., and Maltin, E. R. (2010). Employee commitment and well-being: a critical review, theoretical framework and research agenda. J. Vocat. Behav. 77, 323–337. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2010.04.007
- Meyer, J. P., Morin, A. J., and Wasti, S. A. (2018). Employee commitment before and after an economic crisis: a stringent test of profile similarity. *Hum. Relat.* 71, 1204–1233. doi: 10.1177/0018726717739097

- Meyer, J. P., Stanley, D. J., Herscovitch, L., and Topolnytsky, L. (2002). Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: a meta-analysis of antecedents, correlates, and consequences. J. Vocat. Behav. 61, 20–52. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.2001.1842
- Meyer, J. P., Stanley, D. J., Jackson, T. A., McInnis, K. J., Maltin, E. R., and Sheppard, L. (2012). Affective, normative, and continuance commitment levels across cultures: a meta-analysis. J. Vocat. Behav. 80, 225–245. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2011. 09.005
- Mintzberg, H. (2009). Rebuilding companies as communities. *Harv. Bus. Rev.* 87, 140–143.
- Mondragon Corporation (2020). Annual Report 2019. Available Online at: https://www.mondragon-corporation.com/2019urtekotxostena/assets/ downloads/eng/annual-report-2019.pdf (accessed August 27, 2021)
- Mondragon Corporation (2021). Website. Available Online at: https://www. mondragon-corporation.com/en/about-us/ (accessed August 18, 2021)
- Morin, A. J., Morizot, J., Boudrias, J. S., and Madore, I. (2011). A multifoci person-centered perspective on workplace affective commitment: a latent profile/factor mixture analysis. Organ. Res. Methods 14, 58–90. doi: 10.1177/ 1094428109356476
- Morlà-Folch, T., Aubert Simon, A., de Freitas, A. B., and Hernández-Lara, A. B. (2021). The Mondragon Case: companies Addressing Social Impact and Dialogic Methodologies. *Int. J. Qual. Methods* 20, 1–9. doi: 10.1177/ 16094069211058614
- Moye, M. A. (1993). Mondragon: adapting Co-operative Structures to Meet the Demands of a Changing Environment. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 14, 251–276. doi: 10.1177/0143831X93142006
- Park, R. (2018). Responses to job demands: moderating role of worker cooperatives. *Empl. Relat.* 40, 346–361. doi: 10.1108/ER-06-2017-0137
- Pierce, J. L., Kostova, T., and Dirks, K. T. (2001). Toward a theory of psychological ownership in organizations. Acad. Manag. Rev. 26, 298–310. doi: 10.5465/amr. 2001.4378028
- Redondo, G., Santa Cruz, I., and Rotger, J. M. (2011). Why Mondragon? Analyzing What Works in Overcoming Inequalities. *Qual. Ing.* 17, 277–283. doi: 10.1177/ 1077800410397806
- Redondo-Sama, G., Díez-Palomar, J., Campdepadrós, R., and Morlà-Folch, T. (2020). Communicative methodology: contributions to social impact assessment in psychological research. *Front. Psychol.* 11:286. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg. 2020.00286
- Rosner, M. (1984). 'A search for "coping strategies" or forecasts of cooperative degeneration?'. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 5, 391–399. doi: 10.1177/0143831X845 3006
- Schlachter, L. H. (2017). Stronger together? The USW-Mondragon union co-op model. *Labor Stud. J.* 42, 124–147. doi: 10.1177/0160449X17696989
- Storey, J., Basterretxea, I., and Salaman, G. (2014). Managing and resisting 'degeneration' in employee-owned businesses: a comparative study of two large retailers in Spain and the United Kingdom. Organization 21, 626–644. doi: 10.1177/1350508414537624
- Taylor, P. L. (1994). The rhetorical construction of efficiency: restructuring and industrial democracy in Mondragon, Spain. Sociol. Forum 9, 459–489. doi: 10.1007/BF01466318
- United Nations General Assembly (2017). *Cooperatives in Social Development'*. Available Online at: https://base.socioeco.org/docs/a_res_72_143_e.pdf (accessed September 2, 2021).
- Unterrainer, C., Palgi, M., Weber, W. G., Iwanowa, A., and Oesterreich, R. (2011). Structurally anchored organizational democracy. J. Pers. Psychol. 10, 118–132. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000038
- Van Dyne, L., and Pierce, J. L. (2004). Psychological Ownership and Feelings of Possession: three Field Studies Predicting Employee Attitudes and Organizational Citizenship Behavior. J. Organ. Behav. 25, 439–460. doi: 10. 1002/job.249
- Webb, S., and Webb, B. (1921). The consumers' co-operative movement. London; New York: Longmans, Green.
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Schmid, B. E. (2009). The influence of organizational democracy on employees' socio-moral climate and prosocial

behavioral orientations. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 1127-1149. doi: 10.1002/j ob.615

- Whyte, W. F. (1995). Learning from the Mondragon cooperative experience. *Stud. Comp. Int. Dev.* 30, 58–67. doi: 10.1007/BF02802954
- Wright, E. O. (2010). Envisioning real utopias. London: Verso.
- Yao, T., Qiu, Q., and Wei, Y. (2019). Retaining hotel employees as internal customers: effect of organizational commitment on attitudinal and behavioral loyalty of employees. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 76, 1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2018.0 3.018

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Rodríguez-Oramas, Burgues-Freitas, Joanpere and Flecha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Success of Process Innovations Through Active Works Council Participation

Kai Breitling¹ and Wolfgang Scholl^{2*}

¹ Department of Social Security Administration, Federal University of Applied Administrative Sciences, Berlin, Germany, ² Department of Psychology, Faculty of Life Sciences, Institute for Psychology, Humboldt University of Berlin, Berlin, Germany

Successful innovations are deemed to be necessary requisites for enterprise success. On the other hand, works council participation ("co-determination" in Germany) and employee participation are judged differently as either fostering employee and enterprise benefits or only the former or even none. Both forms of participation have found diverging theoretical and empirical argumentations regarding innovations. Here, we argue and show empirically that both forms of participation deliver positive contributions to innovation success, economically and employee-related, substantiated with qualitative reports from 36 process innovation cases and quantitative data from 44 cases. Qualitative case analyses reveal different profiles of works council participation depending on the innovation type. Independent of the innovation types, more successful innovations are marked by more intensive participation. Quantitative examinations of a causal model with path analysis specify how this is achieved: works council and employee participation further the growth of appropriate knowledge and the former also raises the coordination capability; both are essential preconditions for innovation success. A direct impact of works councils on innovation success complements the indirect effects. The slightly modified path analysis explains 53% of the innovation success variance.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wolfgang G. Weber, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Eva Bamberg, University of Hamburg, Germany Charlotte Jonasson, Aarhus University, Denmark

*Correspondence:

Wolfgang Scholl schollwo@hu-berlin.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 14 October 2021 Accepted: 15 February 2022 Published: 08 April 2022

Citation:

Breitling K and Scholl W (2022) Success of Process Innovations Through Active Works Council Participation. Front. Psychol. 13:795143. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.795143 Keywords: innovation success, process innovations, co-determination, employee participation, works council, coordination capability, knowledge growth, path analysis

INTRODUCTION

Innovation is considered to be a key factor of organizations' success and prosperity (Banbury and Mitchell, 1995; Brockhoff, 1999; Artz et al., 2010). Thus, the question of what drives innovation is widely discussed. Research has focused on economic parameters as well as on social factors to predict innovation success. Among the wide range of social factors, participation has been identified as having a vital influence on the innovation process (West and Farr, 1990; Boonstra and Vink, 1996; Michie and Sheehan, 1999; Spreitzer et al., 1999; De Dreu and West, 2001; Tonnessen, 2005). Participation is referred to as the involvement of employees in decision-making and can be found in various forms: while *direct* participation is defined as the "immediate, personal involvement of organization members in decision making" (Dachler and Wilpert, 1978, p. 12), *indirect* participation is performed on behalf of the employees by an elected committee of co-workers. In Germany, *indirect* participation is legally prescribed as so-called *co-determination*: employees are represented by a works council on the factory level, as well as by employee

representatives on the board of larger corporations. We will refer to direct participation as *employee participation* and to indirect participation as *works council participation* or *co-determination*.

The positive contribution of employee participation and codetermination to employee interests is hardly contested (Scholl and Kirsch, 1986; Wagner, 1994). In fact, Weber et al. (2020) confirmed an increase in job satisfaction, work motivation, employees' organizational commitment, and the perceived supportive climate in the organization. By contrast, the impact of works councils on innovations concerning business practices is not as clear. One reason for the heterogeneous evidence is the diversity of national co-determination systems for which most countries provide their own legal framework which defines how much influence works councils can have on management decisions. In Europe, as a result of different cultural, political, and historical backgrounds, co-determination rights and their application vary substantially between countries (Knudsen, 1995; European Commission [EC], 2008). To overcome these national differences, the European Union has been taking measures to harmonize legislation and achieve a deeper integration of its member states. One major step in this process was the EU's 1994 European Works Council directive (European Commission [EC], 2011), but integration efforts are still ongoing. For future modifications of the European legislation, it is essential to generate more scientific data about the industrial relations systems of the member states to facilitate a more accurate assessment of their advantages and disadvantages. This study aims to provide deeper insights into the actions and consequences of German works councils in process innovations, which may provide further knowledge about the mechanisms of works council participation and give new directions for European legislation regarding works councils. The study comprises 45 innovation cases based on interviews with management and works council members as well as standardized questionnaires filled in by the same respondents.

WORKS COUNCILS – PROMOTERS OR INHIBITORS OF INNOVATIONS?

When we speak of innovations in this article, we refer to process and organizational innovations. Process innovations are "new or significantly improved production or delivery methods," including "new equipment, software, and specific techniques or procedures" (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development [OECD], 2005, p. 55), whereas organizational innovations are "new organizational methods in business practices, workplace, organizational, or external relations" (Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development [OECD], 2005, p. 55). We focus on these types of innovation because they usually bring a significant change of working conditions and other employee-related outcomes. According to the German Works Constitution Act, management decisions that directly affect the workplace are strongly subject to the codetermination of the works council. Thus, organizational and process innovations are more relevant to our research question than product or service innovations.

The effect of co-determination on innovations has been a source of scientific controversy. There exist two theories about the influence of works councils on innovations that make contrary predictions: new institutional economics (NIE) on the one hand and participation theory on the other (for detailed reviews of this discussion see Dilger, 2002; Hucker, 2008; Renaud, 2008). Supporters of the NIE approach contend that works councils inhibit innovations by virtue of their assumed primary goal of maximizing wages at a minimum amount of work. According to NIE, the consequences of co-determination for the company are threefold: increased transaction costs due to more extensive wage bargaining, reduced profits, and finally, weakened employers' property rights. These factors are expected to have an overall negative effect on firm innovation because capital owners will stop spending money on innovations if chances of a poor return on investment are high (Jirjahn, 2011).

In contrast, advocates of the participation theory argue that works councils promote innovations instead of inhibiting them. The positive influence of representative participation comes from the works council's role as a collective voice of the workforce (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Freeman and Lazear, 1995). Without a works council, employees have to talk to management or their superiors, personally, if they want to express dissatisfaction or make suggestions for improvements, which exposes them to the possibility of being sanctioned. In contrast, works councils cannot be sanctioned by the employer and are covered by very strong lay-off protections; for them, there is no reason to hold back demands or to bring them forward in an overly cautious way. According to the participation theory, works councils - by speaking on behalf of the employees - enhance the exchange of information over hierarchy levels, especially from the bottom upward. Knowledge at the operational/shop floor level penetrates the organization more easily and is more likely to be considered in management decisions. As a result, innovativeness is expected to increase because organizational knowledge is better exploited, problems are detected earlier, and the quality of management decisions eventually improves.

It is difficult to decide on mere theoretical grounds which approach is more appropriate to predict the factual influence of co-determination on innovations. NIE has been criticized for its one-sided and monolithic view of employers' and employees' motives (Streeck, 2008). In fact, findings from motivational and organizational psychology about workplace behavior have been widely ignored by the NIE approach. More specifically, employees as well as their representatives have an interest in the long-term success of their firm because their workplaces depend on it. Yet as a third possibility, co-determination might have simultaneous negative and positive effects on innovation, which would make it difficult to predict the net result (Bertelsmann-Stiftung and Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, 1998).

To find empirical support, a substantial number of studies on the relationship between works council participation and innovativeness have been conducted. Despite the methodological diversity of these studies, they allow some insights. In the first group of studies, the authors examine the impact of the mere presence of works councils on innovations. The findings show either no correlation (Blume and Gerstlberger, 2007; Hempell and Zwick, 2008) or a positive correlation (Hübler and Jirjahn, 2002; Zwick, 2004) between the existence of a works council and workplace innovations. These heterogeneous results still reveal a common outcome of these studies: the lack of a negative effect of works councils (see also Wilpert, 1998, p. 63; Addison et al., 1999, p. 241). This can be considered the first hint toward our research question, but definitely calls for a deeper look into the underlying processes of co-determination.

Other authors take the diversity of works councils into account. There are two dimensions commonly referred to specify this diversity: (a) the negotiation strategy of works councils, which can be either conflict-oriented or consensual, and (b) the works councils' strength or proactivity, which can range from passive-reactive to proactive and self-initiated. Various works council typologies are based on one or both of these dimensions (Kotthoff, 1981, 1994; Müller-Jentsch and Seitz, 1998). Research findings confirm a close relationship between works councils' strength and innovation output: Organizations with a strong and proactive works council have a clear lead in innovation over those with passive and reactive works councils (Nienhüser, 2005; Ziegler et al., 2010). At the same time, the conflict style of works councils seems to play no major role in innovation, since no or only weak correlations have been found (Frick, 2002; Nienhüser, 2005).

In most of the cited studies, innovativeness is defined as the number of new methods and practices (i.e., innovations) implemented in a certain time interval. This approach ignores the fact that many innovations fail because they do not achieve the expected goals of better performance and/or working conditions (Klein and Knight, 2005). In line with other authors, we took these outcomes into account to assess innovation success more adequately. However, there is currently no research that explicitly investigates the relation between co-determination and innovation outcome indicators. We tackled this question empirically in our study based on the positive interest of employees and their works councils into the firm's long-term success as well as on the above-cited literature. Our research hypotheses try to depict more closely the main processes which relate works council participation to innovation success. The first hypothesis in the research proposal read:

(H1) The stronger the works council participation during the innovation process, the stronger is its positive effect on the innovation regarding its efficiency, quality of working life, and overall effectiveness.

How Are Innovations Affected by the Co-determination of Works Councils?

Participation is sometimes referred to as a black box, because not much data exists as to *why* it has an impact (vgl. Junkes and Sadowski, 1999, p. 84; Torka et al., 2008). Many studies show correlational evidence for the link between innovation and co-determination but do not provide information about the mediating processes. The explanations of why works councils have an effect are mainly based on theoretical assumptions rather than on empirical data. Participation theory argues that the benefit of works councils on innovations is mediated by an enhanced exchange of knowledge within the organization (see above). In fact, a study by Klippert et al. (2009) shows that a high degree of cooperation between the works council and management correlates with more effective knowledge management structures in the organization. At the same time, these knowledge management structures are closely related to successful product and process innovations (Blume and Gerstlberger, 2007). Similarly, Scholl (2004) reports that the more knowledge is gained during IT-related innovation processes through participation, the more successful are these innovations.

Apart from knowledge exchange, another variable is to be considered for mediating the influence of co-determination on innovation: the capability of the organization to coordinate the ideas, interests, and actions of the persons involved in the innovation process. Coordination capability is considered essential for dealing with complex organizational processes like innovations. It comprises two dimensions: the ability of decisionmaking and the ability of implementation (Scholl and Kirsch, 1986; Scholl, 2004). While it is often argued by NIE proponents that co-determination weakens the coordination capability, empirical data show the contrary: strong co-determination facilitates and improves the coordination capability (Bartölke et al., 1982; Scholl and Kirsch, 1986). When dealing with a strong works council, management is less inclined to push forward their own ideas and instead will pay more attention to employees' concerns and the complexity of the whole innovation process (Scholl and Kirsch, 1986). If this complexity is ignored, subsequent problems, as well as more resistance, are more likely, which impairs the coordination capability more severely than when involving the works council at an early stage of the innovation process. Several studies confirm with path analyses that coordination capability is an essential success factor for innovation (Scholl, 2004, 2019; So, 2010). Therefore, we hypothesize: The promotional influence of co-determination on innovation success is - at least in part - mediated by knowledge growth and coordination capability. In detail:

(H2) The stronger the works councils' participation, the stronger is its positive effect on knowledge growth.

(H3) The stronger the works councils' participation, the stronger is its positive effect on the coordination capability during the innovation process.

(H4) The higher the knowledge growth, the more positive will be the effect on the innovation's success with regard to efficiency, the quality of working life, and overall effectiveness.

(H5) The higher the coordination capability, the more positive will be its effect on the innovation's success with regard to efficiency, the quality of working life, and overall effectiveness.

Co-determination as a Remote or Proximate Factor?

Co-determination, as well as other variables in social science, can be operationalized either on a remote or a proximate level. A remote factor is considered a context variable, assuming that it does not vary much over time and is hardly influenced by other factors (Schneider and Wagemann, 2006). In participation research, this approach can be found in studies on how the presence or absence of a works council affects organizations. Typologies of works councils, too, take a remote perspective. The categories set up to characterize works councils imply that they always act in a similar way without being affected by situational factors or the persons involved. In contrast, a proximate factor varies over time and is influenced by the situational setting and involved persons. Thereby, it is temporarily and spatially linked much more closely to the outcome (Schneider and Wagemann, 2006). A proximate view on co-determination is attained by examining the concrete behavior of works councils in specific situations or during specific events. Schneider and Wagemann (2006) as well as Kitschelt (2003) recommend distinguishing between remote and proximate aspects to analyze causal structures (remote) on the one hand and causal mechanisms (proximate) on the other. As for co-determination, studies confirm the relevance of this distinction (although the authors do not explicitly refer to the remote-proximate concept). For example, Osterloh (1993) found that the amount of information provided by management could be predicted much more precisely based on how the works council was involved in joint decision-making (proximate factor) than by the co-determination law applicable (remote factor). Similar results were reported by Horsmann and Pundt (2008). Thus, we assume that the remote aspect of co-determination, i.e., the general characteristics of a works council is more predictive for its specific participation in the innovation process than for the innovation success itself. So, we hypothesize:

(H6) The stronger the overall influence of the works council within the company, the stronger is its effect on the works council participation during the innovation process.

These six hypotheses build a small causal model which shall be tested with a path analysis (see **Figure 1**). For instance, the combination of H6 with the hypotheses H1 to H5 means that works council participation mediates the overall influence of the works council *via* three paths onto innovation success.

Works Council Participation vs. Employee Participation

German law provides the right for employees to found and establish a works council in their company if the total number of employees is more than five. Yet, if there are no candidates that are willing to run for this honorary office, then there will be no works council. In fact, only about 10% of German companies are co-determined by a works council; this rate ranges from 6% in small enterprises up to 90% in large companies with over 500 employees (Ellguth and Kohaut, 2010). In contrast, in all organizations, there is some degree of employee participation because most management decisions require the involvement of subordinate employees at a certain point to be executed. So, in co-determined organizations, we always find employee and works council participation coexisting. But how do they interact in the innovation process? Before answering this question, it has to be noted that, in the participation literature from scientists and practitioners, the term 'employee participation' has become a special term for extra-role participation or more-than-usual participation. In our qualitative and quantitative measurements, we see and register both normal role participation (e.g., general information to the workforce) and extra-role employee participation (e.g., 'Employees contributed, continually, new ideas and suggestions').

For employee participation, several authors show a positive effect on innovations (West and Farr, 1990; Wengel and Wallmeier, 1999; West, 2002; Scholl, 2004; Schepers and van den Berg, 2007). Similar to the participation of works councils, the involvement of employees is supposed to provide easier access to relevant knowledge at the operational level (Lawler, 1992; Scully et al., 1995; Wilpert, 1998) and to reduce resistance to change (Coch and French, 1948; Vahs, 2007, p. 343). However, no data is available about how the combination of employee and works council participation affects innovation. Research in the field of industrial relations provides evidence mostly about how they affect each other. In the 1970s and 1980s, unions and works councils suspected that employee participation under management control is a rival to co-determination (Leminsky, 1998, p. 58). Yet recent findings do not confirm this position and instead endorse the theory of mutual enhancement (Dörre, 1996;


Fröhlich and Pekruhl, 1996, chap. 6; Kotthoff, 1998; Helfen, 2005; Tietel, 2006; Pohler and Luchak, 2014). These findings still make it difficult to deduce implications for innovations. They allow only for the minimal assumption that the coexistence of works council and employee participation does not impair the innovation success. Therefore, we do not propose any specific hypothesis. Instead, we statistically explore how employee participation relates to works council participation as well as to innovation outcomes and the mediating variables. Considering earlier studies, we expect:

(E1) There is a positive effect of employee participation on the innovation process which has to be specified.

The combination of these hypotheses and expectations shall be tested with structural equation models, respectively, with path analyses (see below).

What Is the Contribution of Works Councils in the Innovation Process?

To draw a clearer picture of the mechanisms of co-determination, it is not sufficient to investigate the data using a quantitative questionnaire. Standardized measures of co-determination offer only a limited view because they are focused on very few dimensions, e.g., extent of participation or conflict style of works councils. These dimensions are too abstract to describe what works councils actually do in the innovation process, especially if one considers the multitude of issues attached to innovation projects on the one hand and the available options for dealing with them on the other. For a deeper understanding, it is necessary to add a qualitative view on co-determination by examining the content of works council activities.

Authors using a qualitative approach report a variety of issues works councils are concerned with in the innovation process. In the 1970s, unions in Germany began to discuss innovation more deeply (e.g., Hinz, 1978) as a possible alternative to rationalization. The German Metalworkers' Union (IG Metall) founded the local Innovation Consulting Centers which offered information and practical help for works councils about all aspects of innovation, including societal and ecological aspects (Klotz, 1987). It was explicitly intended as an alternative strategy to shape the selection and content of innovations in a socially responsible way. This includes all the topics that come along with innovations, their primary goal, technical and organizational feasibility, financial risks, and their consequences for employeerelated concerns. Despite this variety, works councils focus primarily on those topics which are considered to be most closely linked to their core responsibility: the well-being of the employees (Bartölke et al., 1991; Stracke and Nerdinger, 2010), e.g., job security, health and safety at work, company social services, re-training, etc. (see the respective paragraphs in the Works Constitution Act). Thus, they try to cope with the expected consequences of the innovation for the staff members rather than shaping the innovation process properly. Nevertheless, works councils also get involved in the innovation scope itself. Process innovations in particular more frequently deal with technical and organizational changes of the company than directly with

employee affairs, but often they have consequences for the latter, too. Depending on their expertise and demand for participation, works councils may get involved in any issue of innovation. Their involvement may range from critically observing the innovation process, intervening from time to time, making suggestions for improvement or even initiating and elaborating their own innovation concepts (Rundnagel, 2004; Ziegler et al., 2010; Schwarz-Kocher et al., 2011). Another, but rather indirect way for works councils to influence the innovation, is to enhance the context parameters (Kern and Schumann, 1984; Stracke and Nerdinger, 2010), for example by helping to eliminate organizational barriers, increasing employees' motivation and their capacity to continually improve the company, or arranging incentives for change. Finally, works councils can also oppose or completely reject an innovation. This is only an option of last resort, which can be necessary if employee interests are seriously threatened through the innovation (by layoffs, poor working conditions, etc.). It is hardly possible to predict how widely-used these different forms of works council participation in innovation processes really are and which consequences they have. Therefore, we want to qualitatively explore innovation processes with the following research questions (RQ):

(RQ1) What are the aspects of the innovation that are relevant for works council participation, and to what kind of actions do they prompt works councils within the innovation process? Aspects can be any content of the innovation, any facet of the process, or any action of management related to the innovation at stake. Like managers, works councilors have limited resources of time, knowledge, and external support, so they have to prioritize their possible actions.

(RQ2) Are there specific patterns of works council action for different types of process innovations? Process innovations can be very different, e.g., comparing structural changes with human resource improvements. So, we look for possible types of innovation which comprise similar goals and action fields but differ a lot from other types.

(RQ3) Are there specific patterns of works council action for successful innovations in contrast to less successful ones? Since H1 assumes a positive effect of works council participation on innovation outcomes, it can be expected that co-determination varies not only quantitatively but also qualitatively with innovation success.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The following study is based on a research project (conducted by the authors) with the title "Innovativität durch Mitbestimmung, untersucht an der Beteiligung von Betriebsräten an Prozessinnovationen" (Innovativeness through co-determination, investigated with regard to the participation of works councils in process innovations). It was financed by the Hans–Böckler–Stiftung (the foundation of the German Trade Union Confederation) after a competitive request for proposals. The foundation's advisory committee was informed three

times about the progress of the study while the independence of the researchers was not challenged. The final report was published by Scholl et al. (2013).

Sample and Data Collection

To examine the effect of works council participation on innovation success, we combined quantitative and qualitative methods. We draw upon a case-based sample of 45 organizational and process innovations that were introduced no more than 5 years prior to our survey. Due to the limitations of field research, it was not possible to make up a randomized sample, so we had to select innovation projects according to certain criteria. The sampling process comprised two steps. In the first, we identified suitable companies. To avoid effects caused by different legal frameworks of co-determination, we concentrated on jointstock companies and limited companies with a workforce of more than 500 employees. This made sure that in the supervisory boards, employee representatives had a mandatory share of one-third or - in the case of the workforce exceeding 2,000 employees - of half of the seats. In addition, we targeted a wide spectrum of economic sectors, so we included in our search various industrial and service branches with the presence of various unions. After a company had given its approval to participate in our research, we had to identify the innovations to be examined as a second sampling step. Our selection criteria aimed at composing a sample of innovations that featured considerable variance with respect to the (a) type/content of innovation, (b) extent of works council participation during the innovation process, and (c) innovation success (for b and c we applied rule of thumb estimates which were later assessed more precisely by our questionnaires and interviews).

The sample size of 45 cases should allow statistical analyses and still be small enough to allow in-depth analyses of every single innovation. To get a comprehensive and balanced view, we collected data both from the works council and from management about each selected innovation. For the qualitative section of our study, we conducted an interview with at least one participant from each side. Following the interviews, the interviewees were asked to fill in a standardized questionnaire for the comparative quantitative analyses. Both the interviews and the questionnaires aimed at tracing the evolution of each innovation process, thereby focusing on the participation of the works council, the employees, and their interaction with management. Interview data from both parties (works council and management) are available in 36 cases, questionnaire data in 30 cases. In 14 additional cases, the questionnaire was completed by one side only, in seven cases by a management representative and in seven cases by a works council member. For one case, only interview data were provided, which gives quantitative data on 44 cases.

Qualitative Procedure and Analysis

The interviews aimed at getting a basic understanding of the works councils' and the employees' participation in process innovations. Well-informed members of management and of the works council were contacted for so-called expert interviews (Meuser and Nagel, 2009). A guideline was developed and used in

the interviews with questions: (1) about the interviewed person, their function in the firm, and their professional role conception, (2) about the important aspects of the innovation project, (3) about the kind of participation of the works council and the employees in the innovation process, and (4) about the final assessment of the innovation, including its success. Based on a written data privacy contract, the interviews were audio-taped with the consent of the interviewees, except in 4 cases that could only be analyzed from interviewer notes. Most interviews lasted approximately 90 min.

As intended, the obtained innovations differed a lot in their characteristics. Therefore they were categorized into four groups according to their scope to examine whether the innovation type influenced the activities of the works council: (a) 10 innovations dealt with changes in the structure of the firm, e.g., rearranging business units and divisions, (b) 9 innovations dealt with changes in procedures and workflows, e.g., optimizing time and costs of processes, (c) 20 innovations concerned human resources, e.g., leadership methods, pension plans, compensation schemes, and (d) 6 innovations were about introducing new software, e.g., for accounting. Due to the complexity of innovation processes, it was not surprising that in some cases we found characteristics of more than one innovation type. However, for an unambiguous categorization, we referred to the initial trigger and/or primary goal of the innovation. For example, if new software was to be introduced and as a consequence, this required organizational adjustments or staff training, we still considered it a software innovation and not, e.g., a human resources innovation, because it was the new software that shaped and coined the whole innovation process.

The analysis of the interviews was based on *qualitative content analysis* (Mayring, 2014). This is a rather formal methodological approach, as it requires a category system that allows for the classification of contents as well as for a direct comparison of cases. Before the analysis is carried out, the original interview transcripts are paraphrased and summarized. Therefore, it is the method of choice for relatively large amounts of text as was the case in our study. We applied a specific technique of qualitative content analysis called *content structuring* (Mayring, 2014, p. 104).

In the first step, we filtered out the passages that contained statements about and descriptions of the works council activities during the innovation process from each interview transcript. We focused on statements that were closely linked to our three research questions, i.e., statements on how much the works councils contributed to the innovation proper, which employee interests they addressed, whether they enhanced the context parameters of the innovation, and whether they opposed the innovation. In the next step, these passages were summarized "to reduce the material in such a way that the essential contents remain" (Mayring, 2014, p. 64). In the third step, the summarized passages of all interviews per case were condensed to a coherent and consistent case description. Interestingly, none of the cases involved major conflicting or contradictory statements of the interviewees. However, what we were faced with rather often was the fact that interviewees mentioned certain details that others did not. These details were added up neatly and without

inconsistencies in the final case descriptions. When different points of view were apparent on occasion, they applied primarily to subjective aspects that were not significant for the analysis. This could be observed, for example, in case HR-01 (introduction of employee performance reviews, see Appendix): whereas the interviewees' descriptions of the works council's activities were very similar, their personal opinion on the same topic differed rather clearly. While the works council representative expressed her satisfaction, the management interviewee was rather critical, stating that due to the works council the innovation had become a "tortuous and exhausting process."

The category system for the analysis of the works council participation was developed by deduction from participation research literature and by induction via newly gained insights from the case descriptions (for the complete category system see **Table 1**). We defined four broader dimensions to cover works council activities comprehensively. These dimensions were further subdivided so that it was possible to classify the works council participation more precisely and specifically within a dimension:

 Activities affecting the content and design of the innovation (Bartölke et al., 1991; Kern and Schumann, 1998; Rundnagel, 2004; Horsmann and Pundt, 2008; Ziegler et al., 2010), subdivided into six values according to the intensity of these activities (ranging from minimal contribution up to initiating ideas).

- (2) Activities concerning employee-related issues (Stracke and Nerdinger, 2010; Schwarz-Kocher et al., 2011), subdivided into four values according to the scope of these activities.
- (3) Activities affecting the general conditions under which the innovation project and/or its implementation were carried out, with the aim to provide a smooth course of action within the organization (Kern and Schumann, 1984; Stracke and Nerdinger, 2010; no further subdivisions within this dimension).
- (4) Activities of resistance against the innovation (Kley, 2018), subdivided into two values according to the aim of resistance.

Additionally, for each subdivision, one or two typical "anchor samples" (Mayring, 2014, p. 95) were extracted from the case descriptions in order "to illustrate the character of those categories" (Mayring, 2014, p. 95; for details see **Table 1**).

Quantitative Measurement and Analysis

For the questionnaire, we took advantage of existing questions and items from former research on participation and/or innovation (e.g., Wilpert and Rayley, 1983; Scholl and Kirsch, 1986; Scholl, 1996, 2014; Schimansky, 2006; So, 2010; Bentz, 2011). The questions for works council and employee

TABLE 1 | Category system for the analysis of the works council (WC) participation during innovation.

s up with own idea and turns it into an
project. I is shaped profoundly by WC's impulses.
equal member of the innovation's steering and has substantial influence on its decisions.
fies yet unregarded aspects of the innovation up with its own suggestions or solutions.
about possible problems, questions decisions, sks results.
l informed about the innovation process at any osely monitors its progress.
not contribute any ideas to the innovation. tricted to its legally prescribed functions (e.g., oval of certain management decisions).
disadvantages for the employees caused by on (e.g., overtime and layoffs).
es on-the-job-training for a new software.
y discusses with the employees about the ses of the innovation or alternative solutions.
ghts the necessity and benefits of the innovation oves employees' concerns about the innovation.
ves the structure or processes of the innovation , by constantly urging management to get the project.
y tries to impede the innovation out of disadvantages for employees.
unces to reject the innovation in order to achieve

participation developed by other authors had to be adapted to the context of our study. As an example, to assess the extent of works council participation, we used the Wilpert and Rayley (1983) items as a template. Yet Wilpert and Rayley provided only one response option, i.e., out of several items that describe certain degrees of participation the survey participant selects the one he or she deems most applicable. In that case, we preferred different degrees of participation to be assessed independently to gain richer data.

The questionnaire was pretested with 20 works councilors and slightly modified for the final version. In the following, the items for each construct are given, together with their reliability. While the items demonstrate content validity, their construct validity was already shown in the above-cited former studies and can be judged from the theoretically expected correlations, which should be significant (they are significant, cf. **Table 2** in the "Results" section).

The extent of *works council participation in the innovation process* (proximate variable) was measured with the following items, tapping the full range of participation possibilities:

"How did the works council participate in the shaping of the innovation?

- The works council had to enforce his participation by legal means;
- The works council was only informed about decisions already taken;
- The works council was already informed in preparation of important upcoming decisions;
- The works council expressed its opinion in preparation of important decisions;
- Important decisions were altered because of ideas and suggestions of the works council;
- The ideas and suggestions of the works council were significantly incorporated into important decisions;
- Important decisions were partly based on own ideas and suggestions of the works council;
- Important decisions were initiated by the works council."

The items were scaled from 0 = not at all true, via 3 = partly true, and up to 6 = fully true. The reliability (Cronbach's alpha) is $\alpha = 0.82$, after excluding the first item.

In a similar way, employee participation was measured with these items:

"To what extent did the relevant employees participate in the innovation process?

- The employees were only informed just before the realization of the project;
- The employees were only informed about decisions already taken;
- The employees were already informed in preparation of important upcoming decisions;
- The employees expressed their opinions in preparation of important decisions;
- Important decisions were altered because of ideas and suggestions of employees;

- Employees contributed continually new ideas and suggestions;
- The ideas and suggestions of the employees were incorporated into important decisions;
- The employees initiated interesting project developments."

The scales were the same as above. Cronbach's alpha is $\alpha = 0.88$.

Knowledge growth was measured with the following introduction: "During the innovation process, to which extent ... were new things probed and new experiences garnered?", "... were the actual problems identified?", "... was the complexity of the task understood in depth?", "... were new insights gained?", "... were ideas and experiences of others adopted?", "... were errors detected and processes improved?" The items were scaled from 0 = not at all, via 3 = partly, and up to 6 = very much. Cronbach's alpha is $\alpha = 0.89$.

Coordination capability was measured with the general introduction: "What was your impression: how serious were the following problems during the innovation process?" "The innovation process stagnated and threatened to sand up," "Discussions went endlessly round in circles," "Urging decisions were taken with delay," "Decisions taken were not or incorrectly implemented," "Decisions taken were arbitrarily altered during the implementation," "Decisions were implemented nominally without meaningful adaptation to the situation." The items were scaled from 0 = not at all, via 3 = partly, and up to 6 = very much. Cronbach's alpha is $\alpha = 0.86$.

Innovation success was measured with items for economic outcomes, on the one hand, and benefits for the employees on the other. By measuring these two aspects, possible win-win solutions could be identified. The introduction for economic success read: "How do you rate the economic success of the innovation regarding ... the adherence to the timeline of the project?", "... the adherence to the budget frame?", "... cost reductions?", "... the expected practical benefit?", "... the achieved problem solution?" The introduction for the employee-related benefits read: "How do you rate the consequences of the innovation for the employees regarding ... the work place quality?", "... the work climate?", "... the wages?", "... the opportunities for professional development?", "... the employees' autonomy at work?" The items were scaled from -3 = total failure down to -1on the left side, 0 = partly, to +1 on the right, and up to +3 = totalsuccess. Cronbach's alpha is $\alpha = 0.80$.

The overall influence of the works council within the company (distal variable) was measured as a difference from the estimated influence of the top management, due to the fact that a leading works councilor could be also a member of the supervisory board controlling the top management. The relevant question asked for a general assessment of the time before the introduction of the innovation: "How strong or weak was the influence of the following groups on decisions in the company? Top Management/Middle Management/Works Council/Union," to be estimated for each group from 0 = very weak up to 6 = very strong. Only the difference between top management and works council was used for the overall influence of the latter in the reversed form: the lower the difference, the higher the reversed value;

no difference between management and works council influence would be 0, in reversed form 6. No reliability could be calculated from the single ratings.

As could be expected, the data varied not only between cases, but also between the assessments of the respondents of the same case: a works council member, a responsible manager, and/or a project leader. Differences in assessments might be partly due to different observations, experiences, and reports of different parts of the innovation and partly due to biases based on positional and personal interests. Thus, the correlations between the estimates from management and from the works council show medium to near-zero values: overall influence of the works council: r = 0.06, works council participation: r = 0.40, employee participation: r = 0.03, coordination capability: r = 0.31, knowledge growth: r = 0.06; and innovation success: r = 0.26. If different respondents get their impressions from different aspects of a longer innovation process, then averaging the responses is the best way to reach a reasonable picture of these co-determined innovations. Thus, the different impressions were averaged and complemented each other, which leads to a more realistic conclusion about the cases in question. So, first, the answers from a manager and a project leader (if both were available) were averaged, and secondly, the answers from management and the works council member were averaged. It can be expected that the resulting variables are more valid than the impressions of either side. The construct validity can be checked through the significance of the correlations between the averaged variables. The below reported empirical analyses confirmed this expectation (the same was already shown in Scholl and Kirsch, 1986, p. 360). Separate analyses for both groups are not useful because the kind and amount of biases cannot be assessed and compensated.

For the quantitative analysis of the hypotheses via path analysis, there were 6 unknown parameters (H1 - H6) to be estimated and one or two additional parameters if employee participation shall be included (E1). According to Bagozzi and Yi (2012), 5–10 cases per unknown parameter are necessary for a sufficient estimation, i.e., 35-40 cases are at least necessary for the intended path analysis. The 30 cases where questionnaires from both sides were available fall short of this minimum. Therefore, the 7 solitary questionnaires from management and the 7 from the works council were also used; the lack of the other side's questionnaire was compensated for by using 10 multiple imputations with PASW Statistics. A comparison between the relevant correlation coefficients of the 30 cases from both sides and of the imputed 44 cases data set showed no significant differences. Moreover, the imputed data set is somewhat more conservative because most correlations are a bit lower than those from the 30 cases. With the 44 cases, we could use the maximum of available information for computing a correlation matrix out of the measured constructs as a sufficient basis for the intended path analysis.

Because of the fully specified theoretical model, significance tests will be one-sided: with N = 44, *t*-values > 1.30 are significant at p < 0.10 ([†]); t > 1.68: p < 0.05 (*); t > 2.42: p < 0.01 (**); t > 3.30: p < 0.001 (***). Only the expected but not precisely specified causal location of employee participation will be tested

two-sided if it can be integrated at all: t > 1.68: p < 0.10 ([†]); t > 2.02: p < 0.05 (*); t > 2.70: p < 0.01 (**).

RESULTS

Qualitative Analysis

As already outlined, the innovation cases were partitioned into four types: structural changes (SC), workflow changes (WF), human resources matters (HR), and new software introductions (IT). The actions of the works councils were analyzed with the category system presented in the methods section. A detailed presentation of all works council contributions in the 36 cases is not possible within the limits of this article. Therefore, a listing of all 36 innovations is given in the Appendix where the innovation types, the contributions of the works council, complemented with relevant employee activities (from Shajek, 2013), and the innovation success are shortly indexed and described. Here, we will only discuss the main results and insights which can be drawn from the general overview. As expected, the works councils' foci varied substantially with the innovation type and innovation success.

Human Resources Innovations

The most intensive *content contributions* could be found in human resources innovations (indexed HR-01 to HR15, see Appendix), which is also the field with the most extensive co-determination rights and with the bulk of the usual works council work. The most proactive participation form, i.e., *initiating an innovation*, occurred most often in the human resources realm, e.g., in the cases HR-09 (introduction of measures to improve the work-life balance) and HR-04 (introduction of a new pension).

What was also predominantly found in these innovations was the works council's continuous participation and contribution during the entire project, as the case of the introduction of performance reviews (HR-01) shows. Here, despite not being the initiator of the innovation, the works council contributed significantly to all relevant aspects: the official guideline for the superiors to conduct performance reviews was developed jointly by the works council and management, with the works council focusing on the scope of topics to be addressed during the review, the definition and phrasing of performance objectives as well as formalities (e.g., to whom the review sheets were to be sent after completion). Furthermore, the works council made sure that the superiors received training on how to conduct the reviews and instigated the option for employees to add a written comment to the review if they wanted to state their own perspective on certain points. Also, following the works council's suggestion, an additional guideline was developed for the employees to help them to prepare for the review. Finally, the works council pursued integration of two more aspects: the employees' option to negotiate their salary and to give feedback on their superiors' leadership skills. These ideas were not implemented, however.

The human resources cluster of innovations also contains several cases that can be assigned to the third subdivision of content contributions, i.e., cases in which the works council came up with suggestions only for *specific aspects of the innovation*, but without being involved in the whole process. An example of this category is provided by case HR-06, the introduction of management by objectives: based on the works council's proposal, the number of objectives per person was limited to three; additionally, the works council influenced the way specific goals were operationalized as well as the details concerning the variable salary component.

Contrary to the notable extent of content contributions in the human resources cases, *employee interests* were rarely explicitly addressed by works councils, probably because it seemed obvious which were at stake. This is mirrored in the finding that employees did not participate very much in these cases (Shajek, 2013, p. 156). An exception from the human resources participation pattern can be found in the two introductions of suggestion schemes (HR-11 and HR-12). Here, hardly any content contributions of the works councils could be observed. Instead, they were just accepted and supported, apparently as useful for all. We were hesitant to group these two cases into the human resources cluster; this result speaks for bringing suggestion schemes into a separate innovation cluster which may be called 'establishment of innovation tools.'

Introduction of New Software

Software introductions (indexed IT-01 to IT-05) showed a contrasting action profile of works councils compared to human resources innovations. Content contributions were of minor importance whereas the bulk of participation could be assigned to the employee-related activity dimension. Within this dimension the category of *defending employees' interests* was dominating: in all cases except for one (IT-01), company agreements were negotiated which interdicted performance and behavior monitoring through the new software. This has been a crucial and much-discussed demand of unions for decades (Klotz, 1987) and our cases seem to show that works councils are very familiar with the topic. Works councils were also concerned with protective regulations for overtime work caused through the software introduction (IT-01, IT-03, and IT-05). The qualification of employees category was represented, too: in two cases (IT-01 and IT-03), additional in-company training was negotiated.

The typical features of works council participation in the software cases are illustrated in case IT-03 (introduction of a new billing and customer data management system): though several works council members were part of the project team, they did not contribute novel ideas to the innovation. However, they raised awareness for several problems, e.g., that the new software system required more personnel, that the employees were concerned about the project, and that the staff of the consultant firm seemed to be incompetent. This kind of input corresponds to the devil's advocate category, which represents a rather weak type of content contribution. By contrast, co-determination manifested itself strongly in the employee-related field. Several categories of this dimension were identified, with the defending of employees' interests subdivision being the most prominent: the works council adapted an existing company agreement to ban the monitoring of employees' work performance via the new software and made sure that overtime regulations were adjusted during implementation (i.e., employees could work overtime without a limit and recorded overtime did not expire). Furthermore,

the works council initiated follow-up training for the staff, thus displaying activity in the qualification of employee category. Lastly, the works council discussed with the employees their concerns and complaints regarding the new software, so we also assigned the *communication with employees* category to this case.

Innovations Through Structural Changes of the Organization

Innovations that aimed at structural changes of the organization (indexed SC-01 to SC-08) showed another different action profile of works councils. As in software introductions, defending employee interests was at the forefront whereas content contributions were rare and concerned only few and very specific aspects (e.g., SC-02). A good example of this participation profile is provided by SC-02 (merging of several site kitchens into one centralized kitchen) where the works council concluded collective agreements with management to prevent layoffs and to set up new protective regulations regarding weekend work, shift work, and overtime. At the same time, only one idea came from the works council related to the content of the project: providing the employees with new work clothes, e.g., thermal jackets and shoes for the deep-freeze stores. Yet, in contrast to software introductions, works councils contributed to enhancing the context parameters in some cases, e.g., SC-07 (launching the production of a new product at the plant): here, the works council acquired public funding for the expansion of the plant's infrastructure and staff retraining. In addition, the works council advertised the project to management and public authorities to receive support for the plan.

What also occurred more often in the structural change projects than in other case types was that the works council actively supported and promoted the innovation vis-à-vis the employees as SC-08 (restructuring of the corporate customer department) or SC-04 (converting a customer service call center into a separate service company) showed. Employees did not participate very much in these cases because, here, the most negative consequences, like workplace losses, could occur which precludes discussion as a possibility (Shajek, 2013, p. 155).

Workflow Innovations

Innovations dealing with workflow changes of the organization (indexed WF-01 to WF-08) showed yet another action profile of works councils: content contributions, protection of threatened employee interests, as well as active support and promotion of the innovation were equally found. In WF-06 (implementation of an efficiency enhancement program) all these fields of participation were on display. A member of the steering committee as well as of all subprojects, the works council was continually and proactively involved in the relevant content-related topics of the innovation, especially in improving the efficiency of various divisions like sales, services, technology, infrastructure, etc. Due to the goal of the innovation, it became apparent soon that jobs would be at stake. The works council, however, averted immediate layoffs in turn for accepting staff reductions through a social compensation plan and attained the preservation of jobs for disabled persons. Despite inevitable job losses, the works council still campaigned for stronger acceptance of the project because its overall advantages seemed to outweigh the disadvantages. Workflow changes may offer a larger scope for the works council than structural changes, which might explain this participation pattern. In none of the 8 cases, an additional training for employees was required. There might have been no need for a special training. In the workflow innovations, employees participated most strongly and in manifold ways because their special know-how was needed and their personal interests were at stake (Shajek, 2013, pp. 155, 156).

Of course, the influence of the innovation type on the actions of works councils is limited. Looking into the details, all cases differ at least somewhat from all other cases. The characteristics of the firm, of the leading managers, works councilors, and of the innovation itself make each case unique. Even very similar projects within the same firm can be handled quite differently by the works council. For instance, the three projects of improving the quality and efficiency of a hospital's services (WF-01 to WF-03) are handled quite differently by the works council: The works council initiates WF-01 and is involved as a member of the project team. This project ends with a positive social success and a negative economic success. In WF-02, the works council is also directly involved in a kind of co-management; here, the project ends with a negative social success and a positive economic success. In WF-03, the works council is "not very present" in the project while intensive employee participation is organized by the management. This project is judged neutral regarding its social success and very positive in its economic success. Comparing only these three adjacent projects, the different success rates cannot be consistently related to the actions of the works council or the management and are probably more dependent on the specific problems surrounding each project.

 Table 2 gives a condensed overview of the qualitative results

 of works council participation.

Works Councils' Consultations With Employees and Resistance Against Innovations

Consultations between works council members and employees about the upcoming innovation were only reported in 11 cases, sometimes primarily with employees providing information for the works council and sometimes in the other direction. From the literature, one would have expected to find this kind of interaction

Innovation type	Focus of works council activity		
Human resources innovations	Content contributions ++ Threatened employee interests 0		
Software innovations	Content contributions 0 Threatened employee interests ++ Context +		
Structural changes	Content contributions 0 Threatened employee interests + Context +/Support +		
Work flow changes	Content contributions + Threatened employee interests + Qualification 0		

++ strong focus, + medium focus, 0 not in focus.

and exchange in more cases. It seems that the works council stays constantly in touch with relevant employees such that a special consultation during the innovation process is often not necessary or worth reporting.

Even rarer are the 6 cases with acts of resistance and opposition from the works council. Opposition against the innovation or its parts (WF-05, WF-07, and HR-02) is sometimes combined with intensive content contributions (HR-06) and sometimes used as a negotiation tactic while pursuing other goals (SC-06 and IT-04).

The participation of the employees was small in many cases. Often, they were only informed about the innovation at work meetings, which were either held jointly by management and works council or separately, as reported in eight cases. At these meetings, they could ask questions and express their approval or disapproval. However, it is hard to assess how considerable the influence of these meetings was on the final result (Shajek, 2013, pp. 152–154).

Works Council Participation in Successful and Less Successful Innovations

A final interesting aspect is the relation between innovation success and the kind of works council activities. For the success assessment, the combined success questions of the questionnaires from both sides are used. Most of the innovations lie above zero, i.e., they were at least a bit successful. The upper quarter of the more successful 9 out of 35 innovation cases had a value close to one or larger (>0,90) on the scale from -3 to +3 (see SC-04, SC-06, SC-08, WF-04, WF-06, HR-02, HR-08, HR-09, and HR-14). The 8 least successful cases, the lowest quarter, had values <0 (SC-02, SC-03, SC-05, WF-01, WF-05, HR-11, HR-12, IT-03, and IT-05). It may be noted that none of the software introductions was fully successful; on the other hand, all human resources innovations are at least partly successful (if the two idea management introductions, HR-11 and HR-12, are taken out of the human resources category, see above). Additionally, from the above reported 11 cases of works council/employee consultations, 5 belong in the successful category, 6 in the partly successful group, and none in the less successful group.

The comparison delivers an interesting picture: the successful innovations often had strong content contributions and strong innovation support from the works council, and were not centered around the protection of employees' interests. The works councils involved in the unsuccessful innovations brought almost no content contributions, did not support these innovations, and concentrated their work on threatened employee interests. The differences of co-determination in successful vs. less successful cases are illustrated by two examples. HR-14 was a successful innovation with the aim to introduce a trust-based working time regulation, i.e., flextime without any recording of working hours. The idea for the project was initiated jointly by the works council and management. The works council was also continually involved in the development and implementation of the innovation: In a first step, the works council and the project leader defined the rules of the new trust-based working time regulation, e.g., that working hours would not be recorded or that team members would have the obligation to coordinate their working time with each other to get tasks done. In the following step, the works council and project leader launched and evaluated three pilot projects in different divisions of the company to test the concept. While the feedback from the participants of the pilot projects was positive, concerns among both employees and superiors were growing. Employees feared that future overtime work would be concealed by the new regulation and superiors suspected that employees would use it to work less. The works council, however, was in constant talks with both groups throughout the project, thus being able to dispel their concerns and win them over.

By contrast, in WF-05, a less successful project on deregulating and streamlining work processes, the works council was almost exclusively dealing with defending employees' interests. He made sure that the job-related activities were not evaluated on the individual employee level, but only on the team or department level so that tracing of individual performance was avoided. The works council also limited the number of performance indicators that would be recorded. Since as a consequence of the project, staff reductions were anticipated, the works council tried to avert layoffs (partly achieved) and even showed acts of resistance against the innovation by recommending employees to fill in activity lists inaccurately.

Of course, this picture is based on a relatively small sample size; no causal conclusion can be drawn from this comparison. Yet, with some caution, a causal test can be tried with the quantitative data and a path analysis.

Quantitative Analysis

First, descriptive summary data of the model variables are presented in Table 3.

The mean values for top management and works council influence on the scale from 0 to 6 are M = 5.39 and M = 3.66, i.e., works council influence is on average 1.73 units lower than management influence. Transposing this negative difference into a positive influence value by adding the scale range of 6 units gives a purely technical average works council influence value of M = 4.27 (see **Table 3**). The average intensity of works council participation during the innovation is M = 3.40, i.e., above the scale mean of 3, whereas the average score of M = 2.71 for employee participation lies below that scale mean. Knowledge growth and coordination capability are assessed quite high with M = 3.73 and M = 4.04, respectively. Innovation success, which was measured on a scale from -3 to +3, averaged just above the scale mean of 0.

The standard deviations vary between 3/4 and 1 scale units, and only innovation success has a low standard deviation of SD = 0.55, i.e., half of the innovations lie between 0 and 1. Since success estimations are often a bit upward biased (Scholl, 2004, pp. 15–20, for a validation method mix), about half of the researched innovations are just partly successful, whereas the more successful and the less successful ones each represent one-quarter of the sample (see the preceding paragraph). Thus, this sample mirrors our intention to get a broader array of innovation success for a better examination of relevant success factors.

A more detailed picture of innovation success in the different innovation types on the one hand and the beneficiary on the other is given in **Figure 2**.

Economic success is estimated higher than employee-related success in three of the four types; only IT innovations showed both beneficiaries with the same (low) success. And whereas there are clear economic success differences for the four types with structural changes as most successful, employee-related success was similar in all four types – and not very impressive. **Table 4** shows, even more convincingly, that economic and employee-related success often differs within the single case. While 13 innovations ended with similar results for economic and employee-related outcomes (3 losses, 8 partly successful, and 2 fully successful), the other 22 cases brought





Variable	М	SD	WCI	WCP	EP	KG	cc	IS
Works council influence (WCI)	4.27	1.01	1					
Works council participation (WCP)	3.40	0.99	0.27 [†]	1				
Employee participation (EP)	2.71	0.76	0.21	0.47**	1			
Knowledge growth (KG)	3.73	0.71	-0.05	0.02	0.29 [†]	1		
Coordination capability (CC)	4.04	0.81	0.09	0.26 [†]	-0.09	-0.09	1	
Innovation success (IS)	0.55	0.58	0.08	0.39**	0.30*	0.40**	0.48**	1

**p < 0.01, *p < 0.05, †p < 0.10; n = 44.

TABLE 3 Descriptive data of the model variables

Employee success					
	Economic success	<0	0–0,9	>0,9	
<0		3	2	4	9
0–1		5	8	9	22
>1		0	2	2	4
	Σ	8	12	15	35

The categorization is the same as in the combined estimates.

about different economic and employee-related success with 15 favoring economic success and 7 favoring employee success.

Whereas 15 cases were economically quite successful (M > 0,9), the same holds only in four cases for employee-related success. Within the overall success cases, only 2 have values of M > 0,9 for economic and employee-related success together. Likewise, among the overall less successful cases, there are only three where both subcategories have values of M < 0.

Table 3 also exhibits the correlations between the model variables. They show medium to high values with innovation success, except the distal variable of the overall influence of the works council. This is a happy omen for the path analysis which is shown in **Figure 3**.

As can be seen from the indices below **Figure 3**, the empirical data are almost perfectly in line with the theoretical model from **Figure 1**: The χ^2 -value with p = 0.60 shows that the empirical estimate does not significantly deviate from the theoretical assumptions of the model; the critical *RMSEA* index is zero, and the comparative fitness index (*CFI*) reaches the maximal value of *CFI* = 1.00, while the less biased normed fitness index (*NFI*) is almost as high with *NFI* = 0.98. Yet the β coefficient of the path from works council participation to knowledge growth is near zero and not significant, and H2 is not confirmed. Skipping this path cannot improve the already perfect alignment of the empirical data to the theoretical model.

Now, employee participation is introduced into the model, directed by an inspection of the correlation matrix. Employee participation shows a high correlation with works council participation (r = 0.47, p < 0.01) and – different from the works council participation – a weakly significant correlation with knowledge growth (r = 0.29, p < 0.10 versus r = 0.02). With these hints, we can specify the expectation E1 that the amount of employee participation has a positive effect on the innovation process: We test this expectation by using employee participation as a mediator between works council participation and knowledge growth, see **Figure 4**.

The fitness indices of this revised model are very similar to the former, only the *NFI* is somewhat lower. On the other hand, degrees of freedom are twice as high (df = 8 instead of df = 4); that gives a stronger model test which deviates even somewhat less from the enlarged theoretical model (p = 0.68 instead of p = 0.60). Works council participation has now an indirect total effect of $\beta = 0.14$ (p < 0.10) on knowledge growth via employee participation, which replaces the refuted H2. The total effect of employee participation on innovation

success is $\beta = 0.13$ (p < 0.10). [An additional positive effect of employee participation on the innovation success via less resistance of $\beta = 0.12$ (p not reported) was found by Shajek, 2013, p. 177]. Confirming the hypotheses H1 and H3, works council participation has positive effects of $\beta = 0.26$ (p < 0.05) on innovation success as well as $\beta = 0.26$ (p < 0.05) on coordination capability; the latter mediates a combined effect of $\beta = -0.35 \times -0.35 = 0.12$ on innovation success. The total effect of works council participation on the success of innovations, including the indirect effects, via knowledge growth and coordination capability is with $\beta = 0.44$ (p < 0.01) as positive as that of the direct determinants, knowledge growth, and coordination capability. Together, the three direct paths raise the explained variance of innovation success to 53% ($R^2 = 0.53$). This is an enormous effect, because a complete explanation could only utilize 80-90% of the variance, the rest are unavoidable measurement errors. The works council influence as a predictor for works council participation during the innovation (H6) can be confirmed, too ($\beta = 0.27$, p < 0.05). The total effect of the works council influence on innovation success is only indirect and much lower, with $\beta = 0.12$ compared to the total effect of works council participation with $\beta = 0.44$ (p < 0.01). This result supports the distinction of works council influence as a distal factor on the one hand and works council activities as a proximate factor on the other. Thus, as expected, the proximate factor is a much stronger predictor for innovation success.

Two further aspects have to be mentioned. First, the reported results are not the same for all four innovation types. Controlling the innovation type by means of a so-called cluster analysis (Muthén and Muthén, 2010, pp. 500, 501) may change the standard errors as basis for the significance tests, but cannot affect the path coefficients themselves. The cluster analysis shows a small deviation from the models in Figures 3, 4: The significance of the direct effect of works council participation on innovation success is reduced from p = 0.01 to p = 0.07, i.e., works council participation is more important for some innovation types and less important for others. A likely explanation for this innovation type dependence is the different extent of works council participation: structural changes and human resources innovations show a stronger participation (M = 3.60 and M = 3.61) than software introductions and workflow innovations (M = 3.03 and M = 2.99), although these differences are not significant. Knowledge growth and coordination capability are not dependent on the innovation type, they are equally important for all four types.

Secondly, a differentiation of innovation success into economic and employee-related success reveals some special effects (see the relevant correlations in **Table 5**). The former is important primarily for the economic prosperity of the organization and the latter for the well-being of the employees. First of all, the participation of the works council in the innovation process is positively correlated with both success types, yet a bit more for the employee-related success as the primary focus of works council activities. Employee participation, on the other hand, is primarily affecting the employee-related success, apparently together with relevant knowledge growth, as it is highlighted in the change from





Figure 3 to Figure 4. Coordination capability, in turn, is more important for the economic success, which depends heavily on works council participation, as Figure 4 reveals. The separate inspection of the two subtypes of innovation success complements and differentiates the revised model from Figure 4.

DISCUSSION

Before discussing the main results, it must be remembered that the study is about process innovations, not about the more often discussed product or service innovations. While works councils sometimes become active in these other innovations (e.g., Schwarz-Kocher et al., 2011), process innovations often demand more active engagement from works councils. In the following, we separately discuss the qualitative and the quantitative parts of the study but do, sometimes, include results gained from the other method.

Qualitative Part

The qualitative interviews and their preparation and integration to 36 cases of works council participation in innovations exhibit a diverse landscape of co-determined actions. The innovation cases show the relationship between the works council and management on the operational level. They reveal that the legal rights provided for works councils by the German Works Constitution Act are in fact a poor predictor of what is actually

TABLE 5 | Correlations with subtypes of innovation success and their determinants.

Model variable	Economic success	Employee-related success
Works council participation	0.27*	0.33*
Employee participation	0.14	0.33*
Knowledge growth	0.15	0.48**
Coordination capability	0.45**	0.24 [†]

[†]p < 0.10, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, one-sided, n = 44.

happening during innovation processes; they just offer a frame and focus for action. Sometimes, the scope of works council participation goes beyond those rights, e.g., seeking support in the public sphere (SC-07), and sometimes stays behind, e.g., without contributions of own ideas (SC-01). Innovations involve many operational and managerial aspects, a thorough distinction of actions by referring to legal rights would be difficult and hamper the innovation process.

The innovation type has a marked influence on the kind of activities of the works councils. For each type, a different activity profile could be secured which answers research questions 1 and 2 from the literature overview. Works councils actively engage themselves with content contributions if chances are high that they can directly further employee interests, like in the human resources area, and less so, in the workflow cases. And they try to avoid possible violations of employee interests, especially in IT introductions, but also in structural and workflow changes. The IT introductions show that works council activities are also influenced by union guidance in that any work monitoring is excluded by contract (e.g., Klotz, 1987; Ziegler and Grobe, 2014).

Works councils are often less involved in detailed discussions (which is more typical for employee participation), but instead, they watchfully monitor the whole innovation process. They sometimes ask management for more and earlier information to employees (the lower forms of employee participation) and safeguard their direct objections against possible personal disadvantages (Shajek, 2013, p. 153). Like managers, in most cases, works councilors are examining whether the innovation unfolds in the preferred direction instead of participating in the daily task of the project members. It is noteworthy, especially for the European discussion, that the preferred direction of most works councils includes not only direct employee aspects, i.e., aiming at social success, but also the consequences for the firm, aiming at economic success. They may even defend staff reductions if it seems to be economically necessary, and only try to ameliorate the original management plan (e.g., WF-06).

Most cases show a lot of cooperation, whereas active resistance was rare and total opposition was not found at all. Works councils primarily try to safeguard employee interests, including those which are heavily dependent on the economic success of their firm like the number of workplaces. As a consequence, the works councils even promote innovations which lead to some losses for employees to secure the economic aim of the innovation (e.g., SC-04). On the other hand, employee-related losses (9) were not more frequent than economic losses (8, cf. **Table 4**). Works councils also contribute their own ideas, initiate sometimes innovations, and even actively promote some innovations vis-à-vis employees and other stakeholders. Such an active pro-innovation stance was found most often among successful innovations and was almost completely absent among the less successful ones.

Of course, these findings do not allow causal conclusions. Are innovations more successful if works councils participate more actively, or do they engage themselves only if they expect success? The bulk of results refutes the arguments of new institutional economics advocates (see the theory section of this article), who argue that only a pure shareholder orientation of management will secure long-lasting economic success, including innovation success; co-determination will at best not disturb such a policy, but is just too expensive. These arguments have already been refuted in other investigations (e.g., Scholl and Kirsch, 1986). Instead, in line with participation theory, our research confirms that works councils are not inhibitors but promoters of innovations in many cases, because innovations can secure the future competitiveness of their firm and its workplaces. Painstakingly observing employee interests and finding ways to align them with economic challenges is a win–win situation for firms and their employees, which answers research question 3.

The investigated cases deliver rich illustrative material for researchers and practitioners which could not be analyzed here at length. All cases are presented in the Appendix and give hints for the further improvement of industrial relations in the context of innovation processes. They also suggest that successful participation of works councils in innovations depends partly on formal and informal regulations, professional and personal competencies, and attitudes and proclivities; such detailed aspects demand further research. For instance, the interest in and competence of the establishment of innovation tools like idea management systems (HR-11 and HR-12) could be enhanced with a so-called 'innovation promoter training' (Hüttner and Scholl, 2011; Bierbichler and Scholl, 2014). The largest German union, IG Metall, invests heavily in its innovation competence (Ziegler and Grobe, 2014) and has successfully taken up this idea of an 'innovation promoter training' (Erb, 2016).

Quantitative Part

While the qualitative analysis shows an abundance of facts and actions which can only roughly be categorized and summarized, the quantitative analysis concentrates a priori on selected variables, which are especially important and theoretically meaningful within a nomological network. For instance, the many different works council actions are condensed into one variable, the extent and intensity of works council participation. The theoretical model (see Figure 1) elaborates the causes and consequences of this key variable with one predictor and three consequences leading directly or indirectly to the target variable innovation success. Based on the combined assessments of management and works council members, this theoretical model was statistically almost perfectly confirmed; only the assumed direct contribution of works councils to knowledge growth for the innovation (H2) could not stand the test (see Figures 3, 4). Instead, an indirect effect via employee participation replaces this hypothesis. As a consequence, the above-mentioned role of the works council as a collective voice of the workforce (Freeman and Medoff, 1984; Freeman and Lazear, 1995) has to be modified: it is apparently not a messenger role for delivering critical information and alternative ideas of employees to management because they fear being sanctioned. It seems that the risk of employee voice is directly reduced through the visibility of their works council's actions, such that employees become more courageous themselves; this may be especially important at work meetings where employee criticism, resistance, and opposition can be directly seen and heard by management and supervisors. The expectation E1, that there is a positive effect of employee participation on the innovation process, is confirmed by employee contributions to knowledge growth. Yet this holds especially for employee-related success as the correlations with employee participation and knowledge growth in **Table 5** reveal. Direct employee participation is a worthwhile addition to works council participation, especially for themselves, because they know best what is needed for a good work life. That works councils enhance the knowledge growth for innovations (H2) can be accepted in the modified form of an indirect effect: works council participation safeguards employee participation, which enriches the knowledge base of innovations, especially that of software introductions and workflow changes, as was shown in the qualitative analysis.

The confirmed modified model from Figure 4 shows three significant influences on innovation success: Knowledge growth and a coordination capability are especially important for innovation success, as the path coefficients of $\beta = 0.44$ (p < 0.001) and $\beta = 0.45$ (p < 0.001) show, confirming H4 and H5. Both are positively influenced by an intensive participation of the works council, where knowledge growth is influenced indirectly (H2 modified, as discussed above) and coordination capability directly (H3). Coordination capability is especially important for the economic success of process innovations, a contrast to the primary importance of knowledge growth for employee-related success (see Table 5). Works council participation influences innovation success also directly with $\beta = 0.26$ (p < 0.05), confirming H1. An important part of this direct influence is probably the active support of innovations, which became manifest in the case material. If the indirect influences on innovation success via coordination capability and knowledge growth are added, the combined total impact of $\beta = 0.44$ shows a much stronger confirmation of H1. There are no other investigations into the unfolding dynamics of works council activities with which we can compare these results. But the strong effects of knowledge growth and coordination capability on innovation success found in the path model is absolutely in line with their effects in other innovation studies (So, 2010; Bentz, 2011; Scholl, 2014, 2019).

To judge the positive influence of works council participation in a broader context, three aspects are worth mentioning: (1) While works council participation, coordination capability, and knowledge growth are not the only determinants of innovation success, they do explain 53% of the larger part of the explainable variance (80-90%). (2) Looking at the explained variance of 53%, coordination capability and knowledge growth are not only enhanced by works councils but certainly also by management and especially by the innovation project members. Their combined influence can be estimated in the following way: the quantitative total impact of $\beta = 0.44$ by works council participation gives (squared) an explained variance of $R^2 = 0.19$ (or 19%), i.e., about two thirds of the innovation success explanation (53-19% = 34%; 34%/53% = 0.64) come - via coordination capability and knowledge growth - from such other sources. (3) Our sample is probably a positive selection from the range of industrial relationships in larger firms. A more representative sample might give even larger effects than the $\beta = 0.44$. Less involved works councils would contribute less to the innovation success and employees might be more reluctant to contribute their ideas, making the strength of combined participation even look brighter. On the other hand, management might find other ways to stimulate a positive innovation climate while ignoring or corrupting a weak works council.

Comparing the results of the qualitative and the quantitative study, their special advantages and disadvantages compensate each other. The qualitative case studies deliver rich material about works council activities under the special conditions of the innovation type but hint on many other specific aspects which are too different to categorize and summarize. The introduction of questionnaire-based success estimates was a first step to show that works council participation is by and large positive for process innovations. The success measures could also illuminate the relation of economic and employeerelated success for the four innovation types. Viewed from a European legislation angle, economic success is usually higher than social success even under relatively strong codetermination rights in Germany (cf. Figure 2). Yet the mainly cooperative stance of the works councils is also helpful for the represented workforce in that employee losses are confined and positive developments prevail. So, the same conclusion can be drawn for the theoretical discussion between new institutional economics (NIE) and participation theory (PT) from the qualitative material: works council participation does not endanger economic success; on the contrary, it promotes economic success, especially via strengthening the coordination capability as an important prerequisite (cf. Figure 4 and Table 5). The background assumptions of NIE should be changed from aiming at shareholders to include the other stakeholders, especially the employees (Donaldson and Preston, 1995).

The quantitative study cuts through the diverse qualitative descriptions with a few well-proven scientific constructs in order to get the essence out of these manifold processes. Thus, the quantitative study was able to predict the effect of works council participation with a few mediating variables on the success of the innovations and to explain a large part of its variance. Of course, these abstract constructs give only a few hints about action possibilities for practitioners or research gaps for scientists, which is the strength of the qualitative analysis. Yet, one aspect is especially noteworthy from the quantitative study for future research: Why does works council participation have only an indirect influence via employee participation on knowledge growth? The qualitative study hints at a low involvement into detailed discussions and at increasable consultations with concerned employees. Future studies should explore this aspect of works council participation.

Finally, the quantitative study confirms the theoretical usefulness of the chosen scientific constructs and recommends their use in other organizational research, including participation and innovation studies. A basic requisite of collaborative work is to combine a productive division of labor with a wellfunctioning coordination of the divided work pieces. For all complex problems, division of labor means to collect diverse relevant knowledge and still to keep the number of participants as low as possible. The more important and momentous decisions are, the more knowledge parts have to be assembled and integrated for reaching the growth of knowledge needed. Like managers who assemble and integrate relevant knowledge for their decisions from their subordinates, so do works councils from selected employees with a special view on the interests of the employees and the economic feasibility of their proposals. Employee participation is helpful, especially for assembling information, but the integration for the whole workforce has to be done by employee representatives like the German works council. The task of integration entails the coordination of several people with their information, experience, and opinions, for managers and works councils alike. It follows that knowledge growth and coordination capability are basic requirements of any complex collaborative endeavor, of participation regulations, innovation attempts, or any other organizational task. And it follows, too, that the participants of such a collaborative endeavor should have the necessary knowledge (parts), motivation, and legitimacy for participation. German co-determination apparently fares quite well in this regard with the election of works councils.

Limitations

Although the quantitative study delivers a clear picture confirming largely the theoretical model, there are several limitations. The most important may be the relatively low number of cases for the quantitative study while it is relatively large for analyzing the qualitative material in detail. With a larger number of cases, the causal model could be extended with one or more variables, e.g., employee resistance (Shajek, 2013, p. 177). This may not only explain more variance in innovation success but also extend the degrees of freedom and thus, enable a stronger path analytic test of the causal order. Yet, even the small model with six variables integrates more causally ordered variables than in most experimental designs of participation and tests a broader integrated nomological net. So, it would be useful to enlarge the number of cases, especially with the developed questionnaire. We would be glad to help other research on further cases with access to our data. A second limitation is the necessity of imputing the data of missing industrial relation partners from the material of other respondents. Here, too, an enlargement of the number of cases with questionnaires from both sides would be helpful. The effects might become stronger, if 44 or more cases were obtained without any missing partner because imputation somewhat lowers the correlations. A third limitation is the minimal number of respondents per case. At least two respondents on either side, i.e., four per case, would raise the reliability and validity of the qualitative and quantitative data. A fourth limitation lies in the interview guideline which was very descriptive so that it was difficult to compare qualitative and quantitative results. While it is a strength to avoid interview biases which might prefer theory-consistent results, it is a weakness if concretizations of theoretical variables are not sufficiently included in the guideline; the latter pertains primarily to concrete phenomena of knowledge growth and coordination capability. Scholl (2014) showed how it is possible to investigate knowledge growth

with interview data in a comparative way over quite different innovation cases by focusing on typical knowledge failures, called information pathologies.

CONCLUSION

The critical stance, or at least skepticism of some scientists, especially economists, and of quite a lot of managers and their representatives against strong legal co-determination rights and an intensive participation of works councils are not warranted, as demonstrated once again for innovation processes by our study. Strong works council participation has not only a positive impact on the employee-related success of process innovations but even more on their economic success. This was convincingly shown with the quantitative data and the path analysis, and it was already visible in the qualitative case material. Both analyses go beyond existing research: The qualitative study reveals not only different degrees of works council and employee participation in innovations but also specific profiles of works council activity depending on the type of innovation. The quantitative study confirms the assumptions of several distinct hypotheses and their combination into a causal model. Both analyses show that looking only at the (non)existence of a works council is not suited to understand the consequences of co-determination, the legal form of indirect participation in Germany. Instead, it is crucial to take into consideration the kind and intensity of works council participation, its combination with employee participation, and the kind of innovation or - in general - the problems to be solved. This raises the question whether the concrete actions of employee representatives in other European and Non-European countries are perhaps more similar to the German case than the legal background. On the other hand, a different national culture may preclude similar actions and similar results. Co-determination is an enduring historical learning process (Welchowski, 1981). Multinational analyses can shed more light on these questions.

Judged from a practical point of view, the innovation cases show that works councils command a broad influence repertoire, from safeguarding threatened employee interests up to proactively co-managing innovations and thereby ensuring the future of the firm. It also became clear that they could profit from specific professional training regarding process innovations, and from more support of and exchange with employee participation and union expertise.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation, to any qualified researcher.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and

institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Both authors listed have contributed equally to the work and approved it for publication.

FUNDING

We thank the Hans-Böckler-Stiftung for financing this research (PI WS) including three doctoral candidates. We acknowledge open access support by the German Research Foundation (DFG)

REFERENCES

- Addison, J. T., Schnabel, C., and Wagner, J. (1999). "Verbreitung, Bestimmungsgründe und Auswirkungen von Betriebsräten: empirische Befunde aus dem Hannoveraner Firmenpanel," in Die Wirtschaftlichen Folgen der Mitbestimmung: Expertenberichte für die Kommission Mitbestimmung, Bertelsmann Stiftung / Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, eds B. Frick, N. Kluge, and W. Streeck (Frankfurt: Campus), 223–252.
- Artz, K. W., Norman, P. M., Hatfield, D. E., and Cardinal, L. B. (2010). A longitudinal study of the impact of R&D, patents, and product innovation on firm performance. *J. Prod. Innovat. Manage.* 27, 725–740. doi: 10.1111/j.1540-5885.2010.00747.x
- Bagozzi, R., and Yi, Y. (2012). Specification, evaluation, and interpretation of structural equation models. J. Acad. Market. Sci. 40, 8–34. doi: 10.1007/s11747-011-0278-x
- Banbury, C. M., and Mitchell, W. (1995). The effect of introducing important incremental innovations on market share and business survival. *Strategic Manage. J.* 16, 161–182. doi: 10.1002/smj.425016 0922
- Bartölke, K., Eschweiler, W., Flechsenberger, D., and Tannenbaum, A. S. (1982). Workers' participation and the distribution of control as perceived by members of ten German companies. *Administrat. Sci. Q.* 27, 380–397. doi: 10.2307/ 2392318
- Bartölke, K., Henning, H., Jorzik, H., and Ridder, H.-G. (1991). Neue Technologien und Betriebliche Mitbestimmung. Opladen: Westdeutscher Verlag. doi: 10.1007/ 978-3-322-97022-0
- Bentz, M. (2011). Konflikte und ihre Bedeutung für Innovationen. Eine Feldstudie auf dem Gebiet der Nanotechnologie. Marburg: Tectum.
- Bertelsmann-Stiftung and Hans-Böckler-Stiftung (1998). Mitbestimmung und neue Unternehmenskulturen: Bilanz und Perspektiven. Bericht der Kommission Mitbestimmung. Gütersloh: Bertelsmann Stiftung.
- Bierbichler, M., and Scholl, W. (2014). "Kompetenzen von Innovationspromotoren," in *Mut zu Innovationen – Impulse aus Forschung, Beratung und Ausbildung*, eds W. Scholl, F. Schmelzer, S. Kunert, S. Bedenk, J. Hüttner, J. Pullen, et al. (Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler), 253–271. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-40227-2_18
- Blume, L., and Gerstlberger, W. (2007). Determinanten betrieblicher Innovation: Partizipation von Beschäftigten als vernachlässigter Einflussfaktor. *Industrielle Beziehungen* 14, 223–244.
- Boonstra, J. J., and Vink, M. J. (1996). Technological and organizational innovation: a dilemma of fundamental change and participation. *Eur. J. Work Organ. Psychol.* 5, 351–375. doi: 10.1080/13594329608414865
- Brockhoff, K. (1999). Technological progress and the market value of firms. Int. J. Manage. Rev. 1, 485–501. doi: 10.1111/1468-2370. 00024
- Coch, L., and French, J. R. P. (1948). Overcoming resistance to change. *Hum. Relat.* 1, 512–532. doi: 10.1177/001872674800100408
- Dachler, H. P., and Wilpert, B. (1978). Conceptual dimensions and boundaries of participation in organizations: a critical evaluation. *Administrative Sci. Q.* 23, 1–39. doi: 10.2307/2392432

and the Open Access Publication Fund of Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank our coworkers Hanna Janetzke and Alexandra Shajek for their fruitful discussions and ideas.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.795143/full#supplementary-material

- De Dreu, C. K. W., and West, M. A. (2001). Minority dissent and team innovation: the importance of participation in decision making. J. Appl. Psychol. 86, 1191– 1201. doi: 10.1037//0021-9010.86.6.1191
- Dilger, A. (2002). Ökonomik Betrieblicher Mitbestimmung: Die Wirtschaftlichen Folgen von Betriebsräten. München: Hampp.
- Donaldson, T., and Preston, L. E. (1995). The stakeholder theory of the corporation: concepts, evidence, and implications. Acad. Manage. Rev. 20, 65–91. doi: 10.5465/AMR.1995.9503271992
- Dörre, K. (1996). Die "demokratische Frage" im Betrieb: zu den Auswirkungen partizipativer Managementkonzepte auf die Arbeitsbeziehungen in deutschen Industrieunternehmen. SOFI-Mitteilungen Nr. 23, 7–23.
- Ellguth, P., and Kohaut, S. (2010). Auf der Flucht? Tarifaustritte und die Rolle von Öffnungsklauseln. *Industrielle Beziehungen* 17, 345–371.
- Erb, D. (2016). Recycling sichert Jobs. Metallzeitung 68:10.
- European Commission [EC] (2008). Employee Representatives in an Enlarged Europe. Luxemburg: European Communities.
- European Commission [EC] (2011). Industrial Relations in Europe 2010. Luxemburg: European Union.
- Freeman, R. B., and Lazear, E. P. (1995). "An economic analysis of works councils," in Works councils: Consultation, Representation and Cooperation in Industrial Relations, eds J. Rogers and W. Streeck (Chicago: University of Chicago Press), 27–50.
- Freeman, R. B., and Medoff, J. L. (1984). What Do Unions Do? New York, NY: Basic Books.
- Frick, B. (2002). "High Performance Work Practices" und betriebliche Mitbestimmung: komplementär oder substitutiv? Empirische Befunde für den deutschen Maschinenbau. Industrielle Beziehungen 9, 79–102.
- Fröhlich, D., and Pekruhl, U. (1996). Direct Participation and Organisational Change: Fashionable but Misunderstood? An Analysis of Recent Research in Europe, Japan and the USA. Dublin: European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions.
- Helfen, M. (2005). De-Institutionalisierung des Betriebsrates: Welchen Erklärungsbeitrag liefern "New Economy" und direkte Partizipation? Industrielle Beziehungen 12, 120–148.
- Hempell, T., and Zwick, T. (2008). New technology, work organisation, and innovation: evidence for Germany. *Econ. Innovat. New Technol.* 17, 331–354. doi: 10.1080/10438590701279649
- Hinz, H. (1978). Gewerkschaft auf neuem Kurs: Innovationspolitk contra Rationalisierung. Frankfurter Hefte 33, 66–71.
- Horsmann, C. S., and Pundt, A. (2008). "Vergleichende Analyse der Typologie der Beteiligungskultur," in *Erfolgsfaktor Beteiligungskultur: Ergebnisse aus dem Projekt TiM - Transfer Innovativer Unternehmensmilieus*, eds F. W. Nerdinger and P. Wilke (München: Hampp), 217–241.
- Hübler, O., and Jirjahn, U. (2002). "Arbeitsproduktivität, Reorganisationsmaßnahmen und Betriebsräte;" in *Betrieblicher Wandel* und Fachkräftebedarf, eds L. Bellmann and A. Kölling (Nürnberg: Institut für Arbeitsmarkt- und Berufsforschung), 1–45.
- Hucker, T. (2008). Betriebliche Partizipation und Gesellschaftlicher Wandel. München: Hampp.

- Hüttner, J., and Scholl, W. (2011). "Interne Innovationspromotoren als Garanten nachhaltiger Innovationsfähigkeit," in *Innovation im Dienste der Gesellschaft*, ed. S. Jeschke (Frankfurt: Campus), 73–81.
- Jirjahn, U. (2011). Ökonomische Wirkungen der Mitbestimmung in Deutschland: ein Update. Schmollers Jahrbuch 131, 3–57. doi: 10.3790/schm.131.1.3
- Junkes, J., and Sadowski, D. (1999). "Mitbestimmung im Aufsichtsrat: Steigerung der Effizienz oder Ausdünnung von Verfügungsrechten?," in Die wirtschaftlichen Folgen der Mitbestimmung: Expertenberichte für die Kommission Mitbestimmung, Bertelsmann Stiftung/Hans-Böckler-Stiftung, eds B. Frick, N. Kluge, and W. Streeck (Frankfurt: Campus), 53–88.
- Kern, H., and Schumann, M. (1984). Neue Produktionskonzepte haben Chancen. Soziale Welt 35, 146–158.
- Kern, H., and Schumann, M. (1998). "Kontinuität oder Pfadwechsel? Das deutsche Produktionsmodell am Scheideweg," in *Modell Deutschland, Modell Europa: Probleme, Perspektiven*, ed. B. Cattero (Opladen: Leske + Budrich), 85–97. doi: 10.1007/978-3-322-93287-7_4
- Kitschelt, H. (2003). "Accounting for post-communist regime diversity: what counts as a good cause?," in *Capitalism and Democracy in Central and Eastern Europe: Assessing the Legacy of Communist Rule*, eds G. Ekiert and S. E. Hanson (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press), 49–88.
- Klein, K. J., and Knight, A. P. (2005). Innovation implementation: overcoming the challenge. *Curr. Direct. Psychol. Sci.* 14, 243–246. doi: 10.1111/j.0963-7214.2005. 00373.x
- Kley, T. (2018). "Widerstand gegen Innovationen" in Unternehmen: Empirische Wirkungsanalysen in der Industriellen Forschung und Entwicklung. Bochum: Institut für angewandte Innovationsforschung.
- Klippert, J., Wölk, M., and Potzner, C. (2009). Beitrag partizipativer Aspekte der Arbeitsgestaltung und des Wissensaustausches zum Innovationserfolg. Arbeit 18, 93–106. doi: 10.1515/arbeit-2009-0203
- Klotz, U. (1987). "Innovations- und Technologieberatung als Teil eines gewerkschaftlichen Offensivkonzepts," in Konservatismus in der Strukturkrise, eds T. Kreuder and W. Loewy (Frankfurt: Suhrkamp), 440-461.
- Knudsen, H. (1995). Employee Participation in Europe. London: Sage.
- Kotthoff, H. (1981). Betriebsräte und Betriebliche Herrschaft: Eine Typologie von Partizipationsmustern im Industriebetrieb. Frankfurt: Campus.
- Kotthoff, H. (1994). Betriebsräte und Bürgerstatus: Wandel und Kontinuität Betrieblicher Mitbestimmung. München: Hampp.
- Kotthoff, H. (1998). Mitbestimmung in Zeiten interessenpolitischer Rückschritte: Betriebsräte zwischen Beteiligungsofferten und "gnadenlosem Kostensenkungsdiktat". *Industrielle Beziehungen* 5, 76–100.
- Lawler, E. E. (1992). The Ultimate Advantage: Creating the High-Involvement Organization. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Leminsky, G. (1998). "Die Weiterentwicklung von Beteiligung und Mitbestimmung," in Mitbestimmung und Beteiligung: Modernisierungsbremse oder Innovationsressource, ed. Forschungsinstitut der Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung (Bonn: Friedrich-Ebert-Stiftung), 35–64.
- Mayring, P. (2014). Qualitative Content Analysis: Theoretical Foundation, Basic Procedures and Software Solution. Weinheim: Beltz. doi: 10.1007/978-94-017-9181-6_13
- Meuser, M., and Nagel, U. (2009). "Experteninterview und der Wandel der Wissensproduktion," in *Experteninterviews: Theorien, Methoden, Anwendungsfelder*, eds A. Bogner, B. Littig, and W. Menz (Wiesbaden: VS Publisher), 35–60.
- Michie, J., and Sheehan, M. (1999). No innovation without representation? An analysis of participation, representation, R&D and innovation. *Econ. Anal.: J. Enterprise Participat.* 2, 85–97.
- Müller-Jentsch, W., and Seitz, B. (1998). Betriebsräte gewinnen Konturen: Ergebnisse einer Betriebsräte-Befragung im Maschinenbau. Industrielle Beziehungen 5, 361–386.
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2010). *Mplus: Statistical Analysis with Latent Variables. User's Guide*, 6th Edn. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nienhüser, W. (2005). Der Einfluss des Betriebsrats-Typs auf die Nutzung und Bewertung von Betriebsvereinbarungen: Ergebnisse einer empirischen Untersuchung. *Industrielle Beziehungen* 12, 5–27.
- Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development [OECD] (2005). Oslo Manual: Guidelines for Collecting and Interpreting Innovation Data, 3rd Edn. Paris: OECD & Eurostat.

- Osterloh, M. (1993). Interpretative Organisations- und Mitbestimmungsforschung. Stuttgart: Schäffer-Poeschel.
- Pohler, D. M., and Luchak, A. A. (2014). Balancing efficiency, equity, and voice: the impact of unions and high-involvement work practices on work outcomes. *Industrial Labor Relat. Rev.* 67, 1063–1094. doi: 10.1177/001979391454 6295
- Renaud, S. (2008). Arbeitnehmermitbestimmung im Strukturwandel. Marburg: Metropolis.
- Rundnagel, R. (2004). Innovation und Beschäftigung Mitgestalten der Zukunft: Konzepte - Anforderungen - Handlungsansätze für Betriebsräte und Gewerkschaften. Düsseldorf: Hans-Böckler-Stiftung.
- Schepers, P., and van den Berg, P. T. (2007). Social factors of work-environment creativity. J. Bus. Psychol. 21, 407–428. doi: 10.1007/s10869-006-9035-4
- Schimansky, A. (2006). Moderation als Strukturierungsansatz Effektiver Gruppenarbeit – eine Feldexperimentelle Evaluation. Lengerich: Pabst.
- Schneider, C. Q., and Wagemann, C. (2006). Reducing complexity in Qualitative Comparative Analysis (QCA): remote and proximate factors and the consolidation of democracy. *Eur. J. Polit. Res.* 45, 751–786. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-6765.2006.00635.x
- Scholl, W. (1996). "Effective teamwork A theoretical model and a test in the field," in Understanding Group Behavior. Vol. 2: Small Group Processes and Interpersonal Relations, eds E. Witte and J. Davis (Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum), 127–146. doi: 10.4324/9781315789293-6
- Scholl, W. (2004). Innovation und Information: Wie in Unternehmen Neues Wissen Produziert Wird. Göttingen: Hogrefe.
- Scholl, W. (2014). "Collaboration and knowledge gains in organizations," in *Learning Organizations – Extending the Field*, eds A. Berthoin Antal, P. Meusburger, and L. Suarsana (Dordrecht: Springer), 69–84.
- Scholl, W. (2019). "Innovationskultur, Innovationsprozesse und Innovationserfolge," in *Mut zu Innovationen – Impulse aus Praxis, Forschung, Beratung und Ausbildung*, 2nd Edn., W. Scholl (Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler), 89–113. doi: 10.1007/978-3-662-58390-6_9
- Scholl, W., Breitling, K., Janetzke, H., and Shajek, A. (2013). Innovationserfolg durch Aktive Mitbestimmung. Die Auswirkungen von Betriebsratsbeteiligung, Vertrauen und Arbeitnehmerpartizipation auf Prozessinnovationen. Berlin: Sigma. doi: 10.5771/9783845268415
- Scholl, W., and Kirsch, W. (1986). "Business policy and codetermination," in *Empirical Research on Organizational Decision-Making*, eds E. Witte and H. J. Zimmermann (Amsterdam: North Holland), 351–383.
- Schwarz-Kocher, M., Kirner, E., Dispan, J., Jäger, A., Richter, U., Seibold, B., et al. (2011). Interessenvertretungen im Innovationsprozess: Der Einfluss von Mitbestimmung und Beschäftigtenbeteiligung auf Betriebliche Innovationen. Berlin: Edition Sigma. doi: 10.5771/9783845269504
- Scully, J. A., Kirkpatrick, S. A., and Locke, E. A. (1995). Locus of knowledge as a determinant of the effects of participation on performance, affect, and perceptions. Organ. Behav. Hum. Decision Process. 61, 276–288. doi: 10.1006/ obhd.1995.1022
- Shajek, Α. (2013). "Muster der Arbeitnehmerbeteiligung in Verfahrensinnvationen," in Innovation durch aktive Mitbestimmung: Auswirkung Betriebsratsbeteiligung, Vertrauen Die von und Arbeitnehmerpartizipation auf Prozessinnovationen, eds W. Scholl, K. Breitling, H. Janetzke, and A. Shajek (Berlin: Edition Sigma), 127-158. doi: 10.5771/9783845268415-127
- So, C. (2010). Making Software Teams Effective: How Agile Practices Lead to Project Success Through Teamwork Mechanisms. Frankfurt: Peter Lang.
- Spreitzer, G. M., Noble, D. S., Mishra, A. K., and Cooke, W. N. (1999). Predicting process improvement team performance in an automotive firm: explicating the roles of trust and empowerment. *Res. Manag. Groups Teams* 2, 71–92.
- Stracke, S., and Nerdinger, F. W. (2010). Mitbestimmung und Innovation aus Betriebsratsperspektive: Ergebnisse qualitativer Studien. *Industrielle Beziehungen* 17, 30–53.
- Streeck, W. (2008). "Zur Zukunft der Unternehmensmitbestimmung in Deutschland," in Perspektiven der Mitbestimmung in Deutschland: Wissenschaftliche Round-Table-Jahrestagung 24. Oktober 2007 in Berlin, ed. Institut der deutschen Wirtschaft (Köln: DIV), 166–178.
- Tietel, E. (2006). Konfrontation Kooperation Solidarität: Betriebsräte in der Sozialen und Emotionalen Zwickmühle. Berlin: Edition Sigma. doi: 10.5771/ 9783845268491

- Tonnessen, T. (2005). Continuous innovation through company wide employee participation. TQM Magazine 17, 195–207. doi: 10.1108/0954478051058 3254
- Torka, N., van Woerkom, M., and Looise, J.-K. (2008). Direct employee involvement quality (DEIQ). *Creat. Innovat. Manage*. 17, 147–154. doi: 10.1111/ j.1467-8691.2008.00474.x
- Vahs, D. (2007). Organisation: Einführung in die Organisationstheorie und -Praxis, 6th Edn. Stuttgart: Schäffer-Poeschel.
- Wagner, J. A. (1994). Participation's effects on performance and satisfaction: a reconsideration of research evidence. Acad. Manage. Rev. 19, 312–330. doi: 10.2307/258707
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta- analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps. 12205
- Welchowski, P. (1981). Unternehmensverfassung im Wandel. Eine Empirische Veränderungsanalyse des Arbeitnehmereinflusses von 1962 bis 1976. Dissertation. München: Universität München.
- Wengel, J., and Wallmeier, W. (1999). "Worker participation and process innovations," in *Innovation in Production: The Adoption and Impacts of new Manufacturing Concepts in German Industry*, eds G. Lay, P. Shapira, and J. Wengel (Heidelberg: Physica), 65–78. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-998 01-0_6
- West, M. A. (2002). Sparkling fountains or stagnant ponds: an integrative model of creativity and innovation implementation in work groups. *Appl. Psychol.* 51, 355–387. doi: 10.1111/1464-0597.00951
- West, M. A., and Farr, J. L. (1990). "Innovation at work," in *Innovation and Creativity at Work: Psychological and Organizational Strategies*, eds M. A. West and J. L. Farr (Chichester: Wiley), 3–13.

- Wilpert, B. (1998). "A view from psychology," in Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality, eds F. A. Heller, E. Pusic, G. Strauss, and B. Wilpert (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 40–64.
- Wilpert, B., and Rayley, J. (1983). Anspruch und Wirklichkeit der Mitbestimmung. Frankfurt: Campus.
- Ziegler, A., and Grobe, I. (eds) (2014). *Industrial Policy Today. Regional Examples from IG Metall.* Frankfurt: IG Metall.
- Ziegler, A., Kriegesmann, B., Kley, T., and Kublik, S. (2010). Betriebliche Innovationsfähigkeit: Die Perspektive der Betriebsräte. Empirische Ergebnisse aus der WSI-Betriebsrätebefragung 2008/2009. Marburg: Schüren.
- Zwick, T. (2004). Employee participation and productivity. *Lab. Econ.* 11, 715–740. doi: 10.1016/j.labeco.2004.02.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Breitling and Scholl. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Preferences and Perceptions of Workplace Participation: A Cross-Cultural Study

Sherry Jueyu Wu*, Bruce Yuhan Mei† and Jose Cervantez†

Anderson School of Management, University of California, Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, United States

Despite the amount of theorization on the forms and effects of participation, relatively little research directly examines what the concept of workplace participation entails in the minds of employees, and whether employees across cultures think positively when the concept of participation is activated in their mental representation. Three studies (n = 1,138 full-time employees) investigated the perceptions and preferences of fulltime employees from the United States and China, cultures that might be expected to differ in their societal participation norm. Using a free association test and text analyses, Study 1 demonstrated that Chinese and American employees differed in their construal of workplace participation, yet both culture groups associated positive valence to the concept of participation. Study 2 showed that employees' preference for workplace participation is positively related to their perceptions of its outcomes on productivity, job satisfaction, and workplace conflict. Study 3 had employees interact with either a prototypically high or low participation work environment and tested whether clear cultural contrasts might occur. American employees expressed unambiguous endorsement and predicted positive outcomes of a high participation workplace, whereas Chinese employees expressed slightly higher endorsement to a low participation work environment and associated it with higher productivity. This research provides insights on how workplace participation is construed by employees from different cultures, especially from cultures where democratic participation is not the normative default. Different perspectives on workplace participation across cultures may inform practitioners of the goals and approaches when shaping a more participatory workplace and a more democratic society.

Keywords: employee participation, cross-culture, productivity, job satisfaction, conflict, norm, perception, China-US difference

INTRODUCTION

Workplace participation is a common concept across multiple disciplines. For example, scholars in social and organizational psychology have focused on the role of worker voice and the design of teams in promoting individual workers' productivity and morale (Lewin, 1947; Wu and Paluck, 2021). Scholars in industrial relations and labor studies have long studied different forms of representative participation, including co-determination and shared governance (Webb and Webb, 1902; Clegg, 1960). Political scientists have theorized the relationship between democratic practices that feature workplace participation and general civic and political engagement in the broader society (Pateman, 1970). Workplace participation is theorized at various levels of analysis by academics and practitioners (Wilkinson et al., 2010).

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Thomas Faurholt Jønsson, Aarhus University, Denmark

Reviewed by:

Jürgen Glaser, University of Innsbruck, Austria Efraín García-Sánchez, University of Granada, Spain

*Correspondence:

Sherry Jueyu Wu sherry.wu@anderson.ucla.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 31 October 2021 Accepted: 18 January 2022 Published: 14 February 2022

Citation:

Wu SJ, Yuhan Mei B and Cervantez J (2022) Preferences and Perceptions of Workplace Participation: A Cross-Cultural Study. Front. Psychol. 13:806481. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.806481

124

Despite the popularity of participatory strategies in the modern workplaces, relatively little is known about how the workers-or the targets of workplaces' written or unwritten policies, processes, or regulations-come to understand and construe the concept of workplace participation (Greasley et al., 2005; Jeppesen et al., 2011). The present research shifts the perspectives from the academics and the management to the individual workers. We aim to address three primary research questions: first, how do workers construe workplace participation; second, how do workers perceive the effects of workplace participation on individual-level job outcomes such as productivity and job satisfaction; third, whether there is a cross-cultural preference for a participatory work environment. By addressing these research questions, we aim to shed light on the debate of whether employee participation reflects employees' intrinsic motivation and provides positive outcomes from their perspectives, or whether it is simply an agenda that promotes the interest and values of the employers. We explore these questions through both surveys and experimental studies in the United States and China, two countries with drastically different cultures and political environments: namely, individualistic versus collectivistic, democratic versus nominally communist.

Below, we briefly review past research on workplace participation across different time periods and different disciplines as well as the proposed benefits and costs of participation, with a focus on research from psychology and behavioral science. We then move to the workplace contexts in the US and China, and develop our study hypotheses and experimental designs.

The Employee Participation Debate: Forms and Meanings of Participation Across Disciplines and Times

Employee participation is an interdisciplinary topic that attracts interest from various social science disciplines, including psychology, economics, sociology, political science, among many others (Lucio and Stuart, 2005; Harley et al., 2010; Donaghey et al., 2011; Gollan and Xu, 2015). In psychology and behavioral science more broadly, researchers have defined "participation" as a behavioral process in which influence or decision power is shared between hierarchical superiors and their subordinates (Wagner and Gooding, 1987, p. 241). Defined psychologically, participation is a feeling of involvement in decision processes (Ritchie and Miles, 1970; Schuler, 1980; Miller and Monge, 1986). Extant research has used different meanings and forms of participation, as Heller et al. (1998) noted in their pioneering work at the Tavistock Institute:

In general the term refers to how employees are able to have a say over work activities and organizational decision-making issues within the organization in which they work. Some authors insist that participation must be a group process, involving groups of employees and their boss; other stress delegation, the process by which the *individual* employee is given greater freedom to make decisions on his or her own. Some restrict the term 'participation' to formal institutions, such as works councils; other definitions embrace 'informal participation,' the day-today relations between supervisors and subordinates in which subordinates are allowed substantial input into work decisions. Finally, there are those who stress participation as a *process* and those who are concerned with participation as a *result* (p. 15, emphases in original).

On the employee level, workplace participation takes various forms-it can be direct or indirect. A useful taxonomy was developed by Marchington and Wilkinson (2005), in which they differentiate employee participation into four forms: direct communication, upward problem-solving, representative participation, and financial participation. The first two forms (direct communication and upward problem-solving) are essentially direct and individual focused, oftentimes operating through direct interactions between supervisors and their staff. Some take the form of informal verbal communication, while others are through written information or suggestions. The third form (representative participation) focuses on the role of employee or trade union representatives in discussions between managers and the workforce via mechanisms such as joint consultation or joint working parties (e.g., Kessler and Purcell, 1996), and worker directors or collective bargaining (e.g., Perrett, 2007). The final form (financial participation) often operates through profit sharing or employee share ownership, whereby employees have a monetary stake or extrinsic benefit from their work beyond their salary. These various forms of participation differ in the scope of decisions employees are able to make, the amount of influence they can exercise over management, and the organizational level of analysis at which decisions are made. It is worth noting that the abovementioned taxonomy is not exhaustive. Beside those four forms, there are existing democratically structured enterprises that practice various forms of workplace participation on the organizational level, such as workers cooperatives and employee-owned firms (see Heller et al., 1998; Battilana, 2018; Weber et al., 2020).

It has been pointed out these forms of participation in focus vary across time and also interact with each other in a dynamic way (Deutsch, 2005; Wilkinson et al., 2010). New forms of participation emerge across different time periods, sometimes replacing their precedents while other times coexisting with prior forms of participation. The political and economic environments across different time periods have influenced the emergence and the spread of different forms of participation practices in the workplace, as well as the types of participation research that scholars work on in the academia (Wagner and Gooding, 1987; Deutsch, 2005).

The idea of workplace participation can be traced to as early as Rousseau and other political theorists on the role of industrial democracy and civic engagement (Rousseau, 1968; Pateman, 1970). Noticeably, there might be several societal changes that correlated with the development of different forms of participation research. First, the post-Second World War period witnessed a new era of worker participation, including the 1950s and 60s work at the Tavistock Institute in England, the Yugoslavian system of self-managing socialism, and systems of co-determination and representative workers' councils and the rest (Deutsch, 2005). Parallel efforts from a research team led by Kurt Lewin, the founder of experimental social psychology, examined group decision making in the Harwood factory in West Virginia of the United States (Lewin, 1947). In the 1970s, the great amount of information flow and workplace innovations drove an enormous growth of participation research and practices in the Global North (Heller et al., 1998). After a major recession in the 1980s, issues of efficiency, productivity, and economic competitiveness-prominent challenges in a recession-became a primary focus in workplace participation. Changes in the nature of work-particularly from manufacturing to knowledge-based work and the shift toward non-unionism and individualismsaw workplace participation shifting focus again with "employee empowerment" becoming prominent in the 1990s and employee commitment and engagement taking over in the last decades (Wilkinson et al., 2010; Royle and Fox, 2011; Gollan and Xu, 2015).

Meta-analyses found a correlation between societal issues in the United States and the questions posed by American researchers, as well as a correlation between researchers' social attitudes and their chosen methodologies of research (Wagner and Gooding, 1987; Crampton and Wagner, 1994). It was shown that the questions asked by American participation researchers mirror the trends of societal issues in the United States. From time-to-time different forms and meanings of participation became popular, even fashionable, and led to a proliferation of terms such as employee involvement, consultation, influence-sharing, decentralization, power-sharing, partnership, empowerment, and so on (Heller, 2003). While participation is the most commonly used term, its lack of clarity may lend itself to inconsistent applications and confusion over its definition. Thus, a potential weakness of the literature on employee participation is its lack of theoretical resemblance between studies that purport to measure or manipulate participation.

Furthermore, most of these participation related terms were coined by researchers interested in studying different aspects of participation. Much of the prior research focused on a deduction process-constructing or taking a form of participation in the workplace and studying its antecedents, outcomes, and evolution. Relatively little is known about how the concept of participation is construed in individual employees' mental representation, and whether workplace participation, as understood by employees, is a good genuinely desired or is more a case of managerial agenda and intellectual debate imposed externally. Much of the literature assumes that employees desire participation and want a say in how they do their work, but some research suggests that we have overidealistic expectations and a tendency to implement participation measures through idiosyncratic social engineering efforts (Stein and Heller, 1979; Heller et al., 1998; Markey et al., 2013). While autonomy and social relatedness-important dimensions of participation and voice-is considered a universal need from a large amount of cross-cultural evidence (Deci et al., 2017), the desire for more influence or involvement might not be manifested in all contexts. Instead, employees' desire for participation in specific issues may be determined by the congruence of the focal issue with their daily job functions, and whether a participation scheme is perceived to be genuine (Hespe and Wall, 1976; Liverpool, 1990;

Kahnweiler and Thompson, 2000). Employees might not want more influence than what they thought they already had (e.g., voluntary non-participation, Heller, 1998); instead, employees' social identification (Platow et al., 2015), specific organizational characteristics (Markey et al., 2013), and large societal cultures play important roles. For example, Jeppesen et al. (2011) investigated whether employees desire more participation and influence in their organizations by looking at who employees think should have more influence. They found that workers would want those already in charge of one area of work to have more influence in that area. In addition, their desire for influence was congruent with the influence they already have.

An interesting research question stemming from the literature on general workplace participation is given the current societal arrangements—the rapid pace of globalization, the trend toward knowledge-based work, non-unionism, and individualism—what forms of participation are salient from workers' perspectives? We predict that individuals' perceptions of workplace participation will vary based on societal prevalence of different participation forms. Given the trend toward non-unionism and individualism, direct participation—categorized as direct communication and upward problem-solving in Marchington and Wilkinson (2005)—should be better represented in employees' mindset than less direct forms of participation such as representative participation and financial participation.

Relatively little research within psychology has directly examined what the concept of participation entails in the minds of employees, and what valence it elicits when the concept of participation is activated in individuals' mental representation. Through qualitative research on four major construction projects, Greasley et al. (2005) illustrated a gap between management's expectations and employees' perceptions regarding workplace empowerment and pointed to the importance of exploring employee perspectives and the scarcity of this type of research. Khandakar et al. (2018) conducted 57 structured interviews in India's banking industry and found a positive association between involvement in decisionmaking and the effectiveness of decision implementation and organizational performance.

The current research shifts perspectives from the academics or practitioners to individual employees who experience various forms of participation in their workplaces. Through free associations and text analyses, we elicit qualitative mental representations from employees and analyze the overarching content and valence associated with workplace participation using a mixed methods design. Recruiting full-time employees in different industries from the United States and China, we aim to provide insights on how employees define and understand workplace participation, and whether a cross-cultural preference for a participatory work environment exists.

The Normative and Perceived Impact of Workplace Participation

The extant literature is predominantly Western centered, meaning the type of participation policies, processes, and experiences are primarily studied in the context of a Western democratic world (with the exception of Japan's self-management practices pioneered in its automobile industry; it's noteworthy Japan is still nominally a full democracy). Some argued that valuebased endorsement of participation is a major contributor for participation research. Participation is a value rooted in Western political ideology. Modern notions of group participation echo 18th and 19th century western philosophical thought embodied in writings from Rousseau and John Stuart Mill, who argued that participation serves an educational function and trains individuals to be responsible citizens (Pateman, 1970). However, participation may not be universally valued in the structure of societies' workplaces and institutions. For instance, in some East Asian cultures, endorsement of strict social hierarchies featuring minimal participation is prevalent in philosophical literatures. As a particular case in point, Confucianism denotes a basic set of moral principles for women (Three Obediences and Four Virtues), which emphasize absolute obedience for females to their male counterparts. Even though these behavioral codes have been abandoned, they have shaped East Asian cultures to the extent that harmony and obedience might be prioritized over participation and dissent (Landry, 2008; Truex and Tavana, 2019). Thus, an investigation on the perceived benefits of participation is necessary in non-Western societies. Do cultural beliefs in the benefits of participation vary? Or is participation perceived as a more universal good, and just used to differing degrees across different human contexts?

The perceived benefits, or outcomes of workplace participation, are featured prominently in debates (Kessler and Purcell, 1996; Harley et al., 2010; Knudsen et al., 2011; Gollan and Xu, 2015). Participation researchers and practitioners have used various outcomes to assess the impact of participation. From an organizational perspective, research has focused on short-term impacts on productivity or profitability, while some have adopted longer-term measures such as the well-being of and the trust between management and labor (Kessler and Purcell, 1996). Recent field experiments also found that participation in local work groups has spillover effect on employees' outlook toward the society including reduced authoritarianism and belief in a just world (Wu and Paluck, 2020).

In psychology and behavioral science, a number of theories exist to explain the benefits of workplace participation. First, participation may flatten social hierarchy in one's local group and the organization, by sharing influence, decision power, or more general involvement between group members and supervisors. A less hierarchical group structure may reduce conflict among different group members and therefore increase performance (Bunderson and Reagans, 2011; Greer et al., 2017). Second, participation amplifies information sharing and builds competence for individual employees (Locke and Latham, 2002; Heller, 2003). Lastly, participation increases opportunities to voice one's perspective in decision-making processes (Vroom and Yetton, 1973). The direct experience of having one's voice heard by group members may be a motivational force for behavioral change (Tyler and Blader, 2003; Wu and Paluck, 2021).

Relatedly, several prominent psychological theories such as the self-determination theory and procedural justice theory suggest a positive perception of workplace participation and its outcomes. Self-determination theory (SDT) postulates that individuals have innate psychological needs for competence, autonomy, and relatedness (Deci and Ryan, 2000; Deci et al., 2017). These needs are likely to be influenced by participatory decision making at work because participation in group decisionmaking allows employees to feel that work goals and outcomes are within their control as they actively involve themselves in the decision-making process, compared to when a decision is handed over to them. This is consistent with procedural justice theory as well-when individuals participate in a decisionmaking process, they can observe the contingency between goal setting and its completion, increasing the perceived procedural justice of the decision process (Thibaut and Walker, 1975; Tyler and Blader, 2003). Consequently, employees may also increase their appreciation for the workplace authorities that facilitate the participatory experience and increase their decision satisfaction (Tyler and Lind, 1992). Indeed, there is consistent support for the positive relationship between participatory decision-making at work and job satisfaction (Miller and Monge, 1986; Foels et al., 2000).

Meanwhile, a cluster of factors explain the cost of participatory practices (Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Hanushek et al., 2013). One commonly cited explanation is the misalignment of incentives between principals (e.g., employers) and agents (e.g., employees) in organizations (Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Dessein, 2002; Bandiera et al., 2021). Allocation of authority to the agents might exacerbate opportunistic behavior, responsibility shirking, and agency conflict (Jensen and Meckling, 1976; Mansuri and Rao, 2013). Furthermore, it might enable workers to coordinate and protest for demands such as a fair wage and better working conditions, which employers might not value to the equal extent. Some research demonstrates the tendency of marginalizing employee participation due to employers' dominant concerns of its negative impact on efficiency or on economic growth (Kessler and Purcell, 1996).

Empirically, the benefits and costs of workplace participation vary depending on the specific outcomes measured. A study surveyed American full-time employees on their predictions regarding participation, productivity, and job satisfaction (Wu and Paluck, 2021). Over half (55.3%) indicated that a highparticipation group structure in which "workers discuss work strategies in an open discussion and set goals for themselves" would be less productive compared with a low-participation group structure in which "a supervisor talks about work strategies in a lecture and set goals for each worker," while the majority did predict that the high participation group would be more satisfied at work. The effects of participation, broadly defined, on group members' behavior vary from positive to null and even some negative effects (e.g., Latham and Yukl, 1976; Richter and Tjosvold, 1980; Schuler, 1980). According to meta-analyses, some of the inconsistent findings for the effects of participation on behavior can be attributed to methodological variations. Strong correlations between participation and behavior seem to rely on individuals' self-reports: r = 0.39, while studies that measure participation or behavior with multiple methods reveal a small average correlation of r = 0.12 (Wagner and Gooding, 1987; Crampton and Wagner, 1994). However, using objectively measure productivity and participation behavior, a recent large-scale field experiment (Wu and Paluck, 2021) demonstrates that a participatory vs. a hierarchical group meeting structure caused a 10.6% increase in worker productivity, which endured for an extended period of time even after the experiment ended. Participatory meetings also increased treatment workers' retention and feelings of empowerment such as job satisfaction and sense of control. Experimental evidence in the field is valuable in estimating the causal direction as well as the effect magnitude of participation schemes in different cultural contexts.

Another contested question pays attention to the legitimacy of workplace participation: whether workplace participation really provides employees increased voice and well-being, or whether it is simply a managerial agenda that primarily promotes the interests of employers. In other words, instead of a "contested terrain," is workplace participation more of a "captured terrain" (Gollan and Xu, 2015, p. 9)? We try to investigate this question by shifting perspectives from a top-down deduction to a bottom-up induction process, starting from the workers' point of view. Certainly, there are limitations to this approach that we will discuss at the end of the paper, but this will give us a fresh perspective on the debate. That is, from a worker's point of view, do they value workplace participation as a driver of productivity and well-being, or more of a managerial agenda that deviates from the workers' interests? We are particularly interested in employees' expectations of the outcomes from participation: whether employees across cultures regard workplace participation as a boon or a bane for their performance and well-being, especially from cultures where democratic participation is not the normative default.

Specifically, we will investigate employees' perceived outcomes of workplace participation, focusing on three important dimensions: productivity, job satisfactions, and conflict. Productivity refers to the efficacy of workplace participation stemming from the perspectives of both the management and employees. Job satisfaction represents employees' affective response, which serves as an umbrella construct covering the perceived quality of the work environment and culture, and employee interest and well-being. The first two measures are commonly studied in the past literature as primary outcomes of workplace participation. Past research argues that satisfaction levels might be a more proximal indicator of workplace participation, while productivity might be a more distant indicator, which depends on the interplay of other individual and group level factors, such as job demands and resources (Demerouti et al., 2001). In the present research, we include a third dimension-workplace conflict, or the antithesis of harmony. On one hand, research suggests that a flatter hierarchy and higher level of group participation might facilitate organizational performance through reduced intragroup conflict (De Wit et al., 2012; Greer et al., 2018). On the other hand, some have suggested the conflict between authentic participation and efficiency: managers may embrace the idea of participation because it has become a "popular mythology" (Heller, 2003, p. 147), but acting on it may engender their managerial prerogative and induce workplace conflict (Argyris, 1993). We

adapt our survey measures from established scales on perceived productivity, job satisfaction, and workplace conflict—three potential indicators of workplace participation.

We explore employees' preferences and perceived outcomes of workplace participation by focusing on two contrasting cultures—the United States and China. The United States and China are known to be distinct on various dimensions: West and East, individualistic and collectivistic, independent and interdependent cultural orientations, democratic and nominally communist (Nisbett and Masuda, 2003; Wu et al., 2018). As major competitors in today's global world, the United States and China have differing ideologies, in the past and in the present, even if both now function as market economies. The two societies seemingly differ, and little empirical participation research has ventured out of the Western democracies—but how do they vary on employees' preferences and perceptions of workplace participation?

Review of Hypotheses

The current research aims to investigate the preference and perceived outcomes of workplace participation among employees in mainland China and the United States.

We made the following hypotheses based on theories and empirical evidence:

Hypothesis 1: Employees differ in their mental representations of what workplace participation generally means. Because China and the United States differ in the prevalence of democratic and workplace participation of their citizens and employees, we predict that individuals' mental representations of workplace participation may reflect the societal norms and thus will differ across cultures.

Hypothesis 2: In both cultures, preference for workplace participation predicts perceptions of (a) increased productivity, (b) job satisfaction, and (c) reduced workplace conflict. According to Weber et al., 2020's meta-analysis, employees' perceived participation in organizational decision-making is positively related to a series of psychological outcomes such as job satisfaction, work motivation, prosocial work behaviors, among many others. Therefore, we predict employees' preference for workplace participation is related to similar psychological and performance outcomes.

Hypothesis 3: Chinese employees show a stronger belief that workplace participation will undermine worker productivity and increase conflict than American employees. Hypothesis 3 is exploratory as there is little systematic cross-cultural research on the *perceived* effect of workplace participation on conflict. From prior qualitative work of the first author of the paper, it was not uncommon for supervisors in China to describe outspoken workers as "trouble-makers" who would introduce conflict and disrupt a "harmonic" environment of a work team. While such perception might not reflect the reality on how assertive workers influence group dynamics, the perception of participation as an obstacle to group cohesion could negatively impact the adoption of workplace participatory schemes and therefore is worth exploring. Here, we make this preliminary prediction, acknowledging its purely exploratory nature.

Hypothesis 4: Employees in both cultures generally prefer a participatory work environment to a non-participatory work environment. The desire for more participation and influence at work may not be always applied to every single domain (Jeppesen et al., 2011). However, because a participatory work environment is likely to increase one's sense of relatedness and autonomy, which is deemed as fundamental needs across cultures (Deci and Ryan, 2000; Deci et al., 2017), we predict that employees *in general* prefer participation to non-participation as workplace norms.

Current Studies

Three studies test these hypotheses. Study 1 administered a wordassociation test and asked employees in mainland China and the United States to spontaneously generate as many concepts (e.g., words, phrases, and emotions) as possible associated with workplace participation. We conducted text analyses using Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (LIWC) as well as manual coding by three independent coders to investigate the content and valence associated with workplace participation from an employee's perspective. Text analysis provides an efficient method for studying the various emotional, cognitive, and structural components present in written samples (Tausczik and Pennebaker, 2010). Content word categories explicitly reveal where individuals are focusing, which would provide key insights for Hypothesis 1. Study 2 assesses employees' preference for workplace participation and its outcomes with Likert-scale items, testing hypotheses 2 and 3. We have adapted and cross-validated these survey items in both cultures to measure preference and three dimensions of participation outcomes: productivity, job satisfaction, and workplace conflict. Study 3 is a within-subject experiment that randomly assigned participants into a hypothetical participatory work environment and a non-participatory work environment in order to elicit their perceived desirability of working in each work environment and the downstream attitudes of participation at work, testing hypothesis 4. Studies 2 (China data collection) and 3 were preregistered.

This research should add to our understanding of employees' spontaneous preferences and associations of workplace participation, and shed light on the use of participatory work practices as a change vehicle to both workplace behavior and attitudes. First, negative perceptions of workplace participation effects, if any, may reveal obstacles of using workplace participation as an intervention to improve company and individual performance, especially in non-Western cultures. Second, different perspectives on workplace participation across cultures may also inform practitioners of the goals and approaches they may prioritize when shaping a more participatory work environment and a more participatory society with an increasingly diverse population.

STUDY 1

Study 1 investigates the spontaneous associations employees make when they think about the concept of workplace participation and uncovers any valence behind the automatic associations.

Method

Participants

Study 1 was a descriptive study. We aimed for 150 full-time employees from each culture; a total of 360 full-time employees across different industries in both the United States and mainland China participated in the study. American employees (n = 149)were recruited from Amazon Mechanical Turk on May 18th, 2021 (40.27% women and 59.06% men; $M_{age} = 38.56$ years, $SD_{age} = 11.97$, range = 18-80 years; 73.82% identified as White or European American, 8.72% Black or African American, 7.38% as Asian or Pacific Islander, and 4.03% Hispanic). We only recruited participants who were currently employed in a fulltime job (over 35 h per week). Chinese full-time employees (n = 211) were recruited on June 7th, 2021 from Wen Juan Xing, an online crowdsourcing platform in mainland China that provides functions equivalent to Amazon Mechanical Turk (55.92% women and 44.08% men; $M_{age} = 32.94$, $SD_{age} = 7.59$, range = 21-65 years). Employees were compensated for their participation in the study (see Supplementary Appendix Table 1 for detailed demographic summary for the cross-cultural sample for all three studies).

Procedure

Employees completed a free-association task where they made free associations with the concept of workplace participation. Specifically, they were asked to write down as many words, phrases, or sentences that immediately came to their mind while thinking about worker participation ($\Box \bot \begin{subarray}{ll} \square \begin{subarray}{ll} \square \begin{subarray}{ll} \blacksquare \begin{su$

All participants were tested in their native language. The study material was first developed in English and then translated (with back translation) into simplified Chinese. Two bilingual researchers cross-checked to make sure the survey content was equivalent across languages. This procedure was followed for all studies reported in this paper.

Results

Overarching Categories

By a word count, American participants (M = 17.73, $SD = 13.51^{1}$) wrote longer than Chinese participants did (M = 12.70, SD = 11.74), which could be a proxy for the number of associations generated. To better understand the semantic

¹We removed a word count outlier (word count = 886) in the United States dataset, who copied and pasted paragraphs from public sources. When this outlier was included in the United States word count, M = 23.56, SD = 72.39.

TABLE 1 | Major categories of associations with workplace participation in American and Chinese samples

Major category	Scope	Example responses
Extrinsic	External rewards or costs of participation	Money, time cost, what it takes, and how much paid. 发奖励, 提高工资, 持股, 分红
Teamwork	Teamwork, group dynamics, concepts of sociality or collectiveness	Working together, teamwork, and cooperate. 合作, 集体活动,团队
Negative valence	Words of negativity or disproval	Annoyed, lazy, stressed, overworked, and low-paid. 有内幕, 被动, 很反感, 忽悠
Ideology and hierarchy	Workplace hierarchies, high-level work ideologies; politics-related concepts (in China)	Equality, democracy, hierarchy, and moving up the ladder. 民主, 平等, 员工和管理层, 投票选举
Positivity	Universally positive traits; positive and encouraging language	Active, responsible, friendly, and integrity. 开心, 主动积极, 进取, 有收获
Socializing outside of work (unique to China)	Behaviors or activities shared by the work team outside of the work context	(Casual chatting, team development, traveling, picnic, and games). 社交聊天群,团建, 旅游年会, 聚餐玩游戏
Management rules (unique to China)	High-level company management, rules, structures and/or executive decision making	(Company rules on decision, suggestion, and improvement). 有决策权, 给公司建议, 参与决策管理, 参与提升管理
Actions and procedures (unique to United States) Effort (unique to United States)	Concrete actions and activities that can be performed in a workplace context, as opposed to general abstract ideas A certain level of focus, dedication, effort, attention, etc.	Having a meeting, group discussions, welcoming new colleagues, and completing projects Effortful, hard work, pay attention, and do the best work.

content associated with workplace participation, three independent research assistants (including two bilingual English–Chinese speakers) clustered all the associations into major overarching categories by grouping words and phrases with similar meanings together (see **Table 1**; refer to **Supplemantary Appendix B** for details on the coding procedure). Then two bilingual coders coded each participant's responses into these categories. The percentage of agreement between the coders was 94.0% ($\alpha = 0.78$) for the Chinese data and 94.4% ($\alpha = 0.74$) for the English data (Krippendorff, 1980).

Table 2 shows the most common categories of associations generated by American and Chinese employees, ranked by the frequency mentioned in each culture group. First, the associations of workplace participation generated by American employees were more diverse (in terms of major categories mentioned per employee: $M_{us} = 3.06$, $SD_{us} = 1.07$) compared with the associations of Chinese employees, which were likely to be focused on a single category [$M_{cn} = 1.36$, $SD_{cn} = 0.73$; $t_{(240)} = 16.83, p < 0.001, d = 2.17$]. For the overlapping categories of associations, we used a logistic regression to compare the probability of which American and Chinese employees in our sample would mention each category of associations. Results indicate that American employees were more likely to mention all of the overlapping categories between cultures except for the Ideology and hierarchy category (see Supplementary Appendix Table 2 for how results vary based on group membership). In other words, an American employee was more likely to touch base on multiple aspects of workplace participation than a Chinese employee. A Chinese employee was more likely to elaborate on one or two focused dimensions when they thought about workplace participation.

There were both similarities and differences in free associations across the two culture groups. Associations that belong to categories such as *teamwork* and *positivity* were

common-both ranked as the top two across cultures. The two culture groups, however, differed in their most frequently generated categories: Effort, actions and procedures, and extrinsic came up in the top five for American employees, whereas management rules, ideology and hierarchy, and socializing outside of work were among the top five for Chinese employees. Among these categories, extrinsic referred to the tangible outcomes of participation such as rewards or costs; both effort and actions and procedures referred to the process of participation-the former focused on the level of dedication and engagement while the latter focused on concrete activities and actions performed as part of a participatory scheme in a workplace, as opposed to abstract ideas. On the other hand, management rules and ideology and hierarchy referred to high level abstract associations of workplace participation, while socializing outside of work referred to social activities outside a workplace context. The results suggest that American employees' participation associations were more

TABLE 2 | Frequency ranking of categories of associations with workplace participation generated by American and Chinese employees.

Rank	Americans (n = 149)	Chinese (<i>n</i> = 211)
1	Positivity (64.2%)	Teamwork (35.5%)
2	Teamwork (58.8%)	Positivity (32.7%)
3	Effort (54.1%)	Management rules (27.0%)
4	Actions and procedures (36.5%)	Ideology and hierarchy (16.6%)
5	Extrinsic (27.7%)	Socializing outside of work (13.3%)
6	Ideology and hierarchy (23.0%)	Extrinsic (10.0%)
7	Negative valence (12.2%)	Negative valence (9.0%)
6 7	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	()

Numbers in parentheses indicate the percentage of employees who contributed to each category. American employees ($M_{US} = 3.06$, $SD_{US} = 1.07$) were more likely to mention multiple categories of participation associations, while Chinese employees ($M_{cn} = 1.36$, $SD_{cn} = 0.73$; $t_{(240)} = 16.83$, p < 0.001, d = 2.17] were more likely to elaborate on one or two focused categories of associations.

concrete and action oriented, whereas Chinese employees' participation associations tended to be more distant (in terms of its relevance to a focal workplace) and more high-level or abstract. In particular, management rules was a unique major category that referred to the high-level management philosophy such as the sharing of executive decision making, which was a relatively common association among Chinese employees but rarely mentioned by American employees. Socializing outside of work is also a unique major category to Chinese employees, which referred to casual team building activities outside of work, such as group picnic and traveling that was not directly related to work but was done with work teammates. These disparities in participation associations may reflect the difference in culture between the two groups, the prevalence of different workplace participation schemes, and more broadly, how employees understand workplace participation from their own perspectives.

We also found qualitative cross-cultural differences of responses within the same category. For example, when participants expressed negative attitudes toward workplace participation, the Chinese employees frequently expressed a sense of distrust with words and phrases such as ulterior motives (有内幕) and cheating (忽悠). However, we did not observe the same for the American sample, who used a larger variety of negative words that did not show a clear pattern of negativity. In addition, when participants mentioned concepts related to *ideology and hierarchy*, Chinese employees tended to associate political concepts such as democracy and equality to participation, while American employees used more general terms about workplace hierarchy such as boss and moving up the ladder, which might suggest that workplace participation has been more politicized in China. Interestingly, there was no explicit mention of representative participation forms such as unions, worker representatives, or collective bargaining from employees in either culture group.

Further Linguistic Analysis

As a robustness check, we further analyzed the content and valence of employees' freely generated associations to workplace participation using a word usage counting tool-Linguistic Inquiry and Word Count (known as LIWC, Pennebaker et al., 2001). LIWC is a software program that assesses the occurrence of a word or a category of words in text files and is validated in multiple languages including English and Mandarin Chinese. Each of individuals' generated associations was formatted as a single plain text file. LIWC reads one word at a time in each target text file and writes more than 80 variables that correspond to the linguistic and psychometric properties of the text file, including summary language variables, linguistic dimensions, grammatical usage, and psychological processes. For the purpose of the current study, we focus on the psychological constructs of the text analysis. The internal and external validity of the psychological constructs (e.g., positive and negative emotions and cognitive strategies) has been assessed in numerous studies and these constructs are generally considered valid across cultures (Tausczik and Pennebaker, 2010).

We used LIWC 2007 Dictionary for the text analysis on both American and Chinese responses. It relies on an internal

default dictionary that defines which words should be counted in the target text files and increments a particular domain (e.g., affective processes; also known as sub-dictionaries) when words within such domain are tapped. We are particularly interested in the psychological constructs that include six domains that capture the psychological processes involved in the texts. Unlike the human coding analysis that generated overarching content categories, LIWC text analysis focuses on the common processes that are shared in communication. By tapping into the relative rankings of these common processes in both culture groups, we generate insights into the construal level of employees when they think about participation.

In both groups, the occurrence of perceptual and biological processes was low (see Table 3), which was not surprising as the concept was unlikely to be directly linked to biological and sensory experiences like eating and drinking. The interesting distinction lies in the most heavily focused psychological process in each culture. Affective processes, including the expression of positive and negative emotions, were the most active in American employees' responses. In other words, American employees associated more emotions and feelings to participation. Specifically, they tended to associate more positive affects (667.68 in Chinese and 1808.44 in the United States) to workplace participation than negative affects (91.32 in Chinese and 342.90 in the United States). This is consistent with the category coding analysis above. Cognitive processes, including abstract level thinking, were the most active in Chinese employees' responses. This is also consistent with the finding that Chinese employees tended to associate high-level management rules and political ideologies to workplace participation. Social processes were active for employees in both cultures, suggesting a high level of human interaction and collective processes in the concept of workplace participation as people understand it.

Discussion

Using a free association paradigm, Study 1 uncovered qualitative associations with workplace participation in both the United States and China, giving us a better understanding of what workplace participation means from employees' perspectives. *Positive valence* was frequently mentioned by both culture groups, suggesting a general preference or liking associated with workplace participation. *Teamwork* was the most frequent association in the United States and the second most frequent

TABLE 3 | Linguistic inquiry and word count (LIWC) text analysis results.

Rank	Americans employees	Chinese employees
1	Affective processes (2155.68)	Cognitive processes (2585.02)
2	Social processes (2150.73)	Social processes (2362.12)
3	Cognitive processed (1989.99)	Relativity (1557.31)
4	Relativity (1394.33)	Affective processes (844.57)
5	Perceptual processes (407.41)	Perceptual processes (144.5)
6	Biological processes (218.24)	Biological processes (102.57)

Numbers in parentheses indicate LIWC's calculation of total category frequency based on its text analysis. The Relativity domain refers to the activation of motion, space, and time. association in China. This suggests that participation is seen as inherently a group process. In the meantime, there were culturally unique associations—such as *socialization outside of work* and the mention of democracies for Chinese employees and *concrete actions* and *effort* for American employees. Even within a major association category, the two culture groups emphasized different aspects.

These qualitative insights inform the survey development in Study 2. Next, we build on these qualitative insights and prior established scales (e.g., Dundon et al., 2004; Wu and Paluck, 2020) to construct a survey that assesses employees' preference for workplace participation and their perception of its outcomes with Likert-scale items.

STUDY 2

Study 2 tests questions on whether employees from the United States and China would in general prefer a higher level of workplace participation, as well as how both culture groups perceive the normative impact of workplace participation. We focus on three dimensions of workplace outcomes: employee productivity, work satisfaction, and workplace conflict. We hypothesize that while people from both cultures may prefer workplace participation and perceive it as conducive to employee work satisfaction, there may be cultural differences in their perceived benefits of participation to organizational productivity and reduced conflict. The Study 2 of the Chinese survey was pre-registered on AsPredicted².

Method

Participants

United States full-time employees (n = 150) were recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk (Mturk) on August 27th, 2021. 5 participants failed the attention check questions³ and were excluded from data analysis. The final sample was comprised of 145 fulltime employees (30.34% women, 69.65% men; $M_{age} = 35.64$ years, $SD_{age} = 10.34$, range = 22–67 years; 79.31% identified as White or European American, 9.66% Black or African American, 4.83% as Asian or Pacific Islander, and 2.07% Hispanic).

Chinese full-time employees (n = 205) were recruited on October 13th, 2021 through Wen Juan Xing, an online crowdsourcing platform in China. No participant failed the attention check questions. The final sample was comprised of 205 fulltime employees (64.88% women, 35.12% men; $M_{age} = 30.51$ years, $SD_{age} = 5.79$, range = 21–45). Participants were compensated for their participation in the study.

Procedure

The survey was administered online through MTurk in the United States and Wen Juan Xing in China. The survey primarily

assessed participants' preferences for different dimensions of workplace participation and their perceptions of participation's impact on their job outcomes. The survey consisted of four parts: preference for workplace participation (including preference for participatory work decisions, e.g., "I wish to carry out my work in the way I think is the best"; and preference for a flattened hierarchy, e.g., "I'd prefer to work as a partner of my manager as opposed to as a subordinate"; Cronbach's a = 0.74), participation effect on employee productivity (e.g., "Companies that let their employees talk more generally have higher productivity"; Cronbach's a = 0.61), participation effect on employee job satisfaction (e.g., "I feel happier at work when I can express my thoughts on work related issues"; Cronbach's a = 0.72), and participation effect on workplace conflict (e.g., "Companies that let employees talk more would experience more chaos"; Cronbach's a = 0.76). The survey items were measured on a 7-point Liker scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 7 (strongly agree) for both culture groups. See the Supplementary Appendix for the full survey and descriptive statistics.

Even though productivity, satisfaction, and conflict are well-established constructs in organizational psychology, no established scale is available to directly measure employees' *perceived effect* of workplace participation on these constructs. In other words, we are interested in the perceived effects, rather than the relative levels of the participation outcomes. We developed the survey items based on past studies on participation and employee voice (Dundon et al., 2004; Wu and Paluck, 2021) as well as the common themes of workplace participation emerged from the Study 1 data. Dundon et al. (2004) conducted a qualitative investigation on managerial interpretations of employee voice and extracted themes such as individual (dis)satisfaction and collective organization. We refined the dimensions that Dundon et al. (2004) extracted based on the free association results in Study 1. For the assessment of participation preference, we focused on participants' preference for participatory work decisions and hierarchy because these were the dimensions that clearly emerged from the Study 1 data.

In addition, we measured employees' baseline level of participation in workplace, family, and social life using items adapted from Wu and Paluck (2020), with a 7-point Likert scale (Cronbach's a = 0.73). Sample items include "How often do you follow news about politics, e.g., in the daily newspaper, on television, or on the radio?" and "I speak up and also encourage others go get involved in work meetings." Demographic data (age, gender, occupation, education, and political alignment) were collected at the end of the survey. All items were translated (with back-translation) into Mandarin by two Chinese–English bilingual speakers and were further refined through informal interviews with an independent convenience sample of Chinese participants with similar demographic information as those in the main study.

Results

First, we regressed the dependent variables of interest on the culture dummy variable (0 = United States, 1 = China) and a set of demographic variables including gender, education, and occupation background. Consistent with the hypothesis,

²https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=9PQ_P4H

³There were two attention check questions mixed in the survey. One question asked participants to select "Somewhat Agree" while the other asked participants to select "Strongly Disagree." We exclude the 5 participants who failed to respond to either question as directed.

both Chinese employees ($M_{cn} = 4.69$, $SD_{cn} = 0.64$) and American employees ($M_{us} = 4.59$, $SD_{us} = 0.79$) exhibited a general preference to workplace participation, conceptualized as participatory decision making and shared influence between hierarchical superiors and their subordinates at work. The group means were both above the mid-point 4 (neutral) on a 7-point Likert scale, but not much, suggesting an overall slightly positive valence. There was a marginally significant difference in the general participation preference between the two cultural groups [$\beta = 0.14$, $t_{(340)} = 1.72$, p = 0.09, d = 0.19].

For the perceived impact of workplace participation, we did not have explicit hypotheses regarding cross-cultural differences *ex ante* except for perceived productivity and workplace conflict. We used the same analysis strategy and found that contrasting to the hypothesis, Chinese employees reported significantly higher productivity from workplace participation [$M_{cn} = 5.25$, $SD_{cn} = 0.80$; $M_{us} = 4.98$, $SD_{us} = 0.98$; $\beta = 0.26$, $t_{(340)} = 2.60$, p = 0.010, d = 0.28], higher level of job satisfaction from workplace participation [$M_{cn} = 5.39$, $SD_{cn} = 0.78$; $M_{us} = 4.78$, $SD_{us} = 1.22$; $\beta = 0.60$, $t_{(340)} = 5.31$, p < 0.001, d = 0.58]. Interestingly, consistent with the hypothesis, we did find that Chinese employees were more likely to associate workplace participation with workplace conflict [$M_{cn} = 4.39$, $SD_{cn} = 0.85$; $M_{us} = 3.94$, $SD_{us} = 1.30$; $\beta = 0.42$, $t_{(340)} = 3.43$, p < 0.001, d = 0.37]. See **Table 4** for complete regression results.

Because we estimated four dependent variables from the survey data, we conducted a joint significance test against the null that none of the group difference between China and the United States in these four outcomes were significant. There was a jointly significant difference between the two culture groups in the perceptions and preferences of workplace participation, $F_{(1,348)} = 8.58$, p < 0.001.

Furthermore, we tested the correlations between each dependent variable and found significant correlations between participation preference and perceived impact from participation. Consistent with the hypothesis, in both cultures, preference for workplace participation positively predicts the impact of workplace participation. See Table 5 for the descriptive statistics and correlation coefficients in the combined sample (refer to Supplementary Appendix Tables 3, 4 for separate results for China and the United States). With regard to the demographics, employees with lower level of education predicted a larger impact on job satisfaction ($\beta = -0.21$, $t_{(340)} = -3.13$, p = 0.002, d = -0.34) and workplace conflict $(\beta = -0.25, t_{(340)} = -3.60, p < 0.001, d = -0.39)$ from workplace participation. There was no significant correlation between other demographic variables and participation preference or perceived participation outcomes.

Discussion

Study 2 demonstrates that both culture groups reported a relatively positive level of endorsement of participatory work practices, including participatory decision making and a more flattened hierarchical relationship between superiors and their subordinates. In addition, employees generally associated workplace participation with higher worker productivity and job satisfaction as well as lower workplace conflict. **TABLE 4** | Study 2 results from linear regression.

		Dependen	t variable:	
	Preference	Satisfaction	Productivity	Conflict
	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)
Culture (China = 1)	0.135	0.599***	0.262*	0.418***
	(0.082)	(0.113)	(0.102)	(0.123)
Gender (Female = 1)	0.079	-0.163	-0.095	-0.220
	(0.080)	(0.111)	(0.100)	(0.120)
Education level	-0.045	-0.235***	-0.136*	-0.262***
	(0.047)	(0.066)	(0.059)	(0.071)
Farming	0.039	-0.433	-0.025	-0.248
	(0.319)	(0.442)	(0.400)	(0.479)
Other industries	0.112	0.241	-0.065	0.124
	(0.233)	(0.323)	(0.292)	(0.350)
Production	-0.003	-0.117	-0.041	-0.247
	(0.124)	(0.172)	(0.155)	(0.186)
Sales	-0.018	0.123	-0.005	-0.002
	(0.097)	(0.134)	(0.122)	(0.146)
Service	0.030	0.061	0.088	-0.072
	(0.111)	(0.154)	(0.140)	(0.167)
Education	-0.495	1.886*	1.822*	-1.808
	(0.701)	(0.970)	(0.878)	(1.052)
Baseline participation	0.194***	0.214**	0.181**	0.056
	(0.048)	(0.067)	(0.060)	(0.072)
Constant	3.605***	4.969***	4.779***	2.726***
	(0.360)	(0.498)	(0.451)	(0.540)
Observations	350	350	350	350
R^2	0.060	0.158	0.074	0.102

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001. Numbers indicate regression coefficients, with standard errors in parentheses. Results using linear regression. Culture is a dummy variable where China = 1 and United States = 0. Gender is a dummy variable where female = 1 and male = 0. In the occupation variables, "professional and management" serves as a baseline comparison with which "farming," "other industry," "production," "sales," "service," and "education" are compared.

The current survey design cannot explicitly compare one's preference of a participatory versus non-participatory workplace. Even though both culture groups expressed endorsement of workplace participatory workplace is similarly endorsed. Next, we conduct a within-subject experiment where we randomly assign employees to mentally interact with a high or low work environment first with repeated measures for its counterpart. Therefore, we can directly compare the perceived desirability of working in each work environment and the downstream outcomes of workplace participation on productivity, job satisfaction, and conflict.

STUDY 3

Study 3 tests whether employees from the US and China prefer a participatory work environment to a non-participatory work environment, using an experimental design. We hypothesize that employees in both the US and China generally prefer a participatory work environment to a non-participatory work environment, although cross-cultural differences may exist so that employees from one culture would value a participatory

TABLE 5 | Descriptive statistics and correlations among study variables.

Variable	М	SD	1	2	3	4	5	6
(1) Preference	4.65	0.70	_					
(2) Productivity	5.14	0.89	0.35***	_				
(3) Satisfaction	5.14	1.03	0.35***	0.65***	-			
(4) Conflict	3.20	1.08	-0.16**	-0.60***	-0.74***	-		
(5) Workplace voice	4.69	1.13	0.34***	0.40***	0.39***	-0.31***	-	
(6) Social voice	5.46	0.81	0.22***	0.13*	0.11*	0.009	0.31***	-

*p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.01. Workplace voice and social voice refer to individuals' baseline level of participation at work and outside of work more generally.

workplace to a greater extent than employees from a different culture. Study 3 was a pre-registered experiment on AsPredicted⁴.

Method

Participants

United States full-time employees (n = 205) were recruited through Amazon Mechanical Turk on October 22nd, 2021 (42.44% women, 57.56% men; $M_{age} = 40.12$ years, $SD_{age} = 10.91$, range = 23–83 years; 74.15% identified as White or European American, 9.76% Black or African American, 9.27% as Asian or Pacific Islander, and 3.90% Hispanic). Chinese full-time employees (n = 218) were recruited on October 22nd, 2021 through Wen Juan Xing, an online crowdsourcing platform in China (56.42% women, 43.58% men; $M_{age} = 29.73$ years, $SD_{age} = 3.78$, range = 26–50 years).

The combined sample consists of 423 full-time employees (49.65% women, 50.35% men; $M_{age} = 37.81$ years, $SD_{age} = 11.18$, range = 23–83 years). No participant was excluded from the data analysis. Participants were compensated for their participation in the study.

Procedure

As pre-registered, we adopted a within-subject repeated measures experimental design. Employees in both the United States and China were presented with two vignettes either depicting a prototypical workplace high in participation (*high-P*) or a prototypical workplace low in participation (*low-P*). We pretested the vignettes with an independent sample of 66 online participants to ensure that the workplace environment in the *low-P* vignette was indeed perceived to be significantly lower in workplace participation compared with the workplace depicted in the *high-P* vignette (p = 0.027).

Participants were asked to imagine themselves as a midlevel employee in a large corporation that specializes in the manufacturing of household goods and services. They were given vivid depictions of their daily job functions. For example, in the *low-P* condition, the employee would report to work at 9 am and "immediately check-in with your supervisor." The supervisor would be in charge of most decision making at work. The *low-P* workplace features a highly structured and hierarchical work environment, with little chance for its employees to make decisions or voice opinions at work. In the *high-P* condition, the participants were asked to imagine reporting to work at 9 am "for your all-team group meeting." Team members would share power and influence at work meetings and in the decision-making processes. The *high-P* workplace features a more democratic work environment with opportunities for its employees to make decisions and voice opinions at work. After engaging with each work environment, participants were asked to rate the extent to which they like this workplace, and their perceived workplace outcomes such as productivity, job satisfaction, and conflict with a 7-point Likert scale from 1 (not at all) to 7 (extremely). Sample items include: "How productive are you at this workplace?", "How satisfied are you with your daily job functions?", and "How much workplace conflict do you think you will encounter?".

The order of the vignette condition presentation was counterbalanced—half of the participants viewed the *low-P* vignette first and the other half viewed the *high-P* vignette first. After the presentation of the first vignette, participants were asked to take a minute to clear their mind before engaging with the second vignette. At the end of the experiment, participants filled out standard demographic questions such as gender, age, education, and occupation.

Results

As pre-registered, we conducted a repeated measures analysis of variance (ANOVA) where we treated the vignette condition (*low-P* vs. *high-P*) as a within-subject factor and country (China vs. the United States) as a between-subject factor on the main dependent variables: the desirability of each workplace, and perceived outcomes in each workplace, including employee productivity, job satisfaction, and workplace conflict. We were interested to test whether employees in the United States and China would show differential preferences and outcome perceptions comparing a high participation workplace and a low participation work environment.

In the combined sample of American and Chinese employees (n = 423), there was a main effect of vignette condition on preference—the high participation workplace was on average rated as more desirable to the low participation workplace [$M_{high} = 4.61$, $SD_{high} = 1.27$; $M_{low} = 3.96$, $SD_{low} = 1.59$, d = 0.45; $F_{(1,421)} = 69.04$, p < 0.001]. However, there was a significant interaction effect between country and condition [$F_{(1,421)} = 109.22$, p < 0.001]. For each of the three perceived outcomes, we found significant main effects of condition as well as significant interaction effects between condition and country. In general, employees reported higher productivity [$M_{high} = 5.02$,

⁴https://aspredicted.org/blind.php?x=TYC_JNX

 $SD_{high} = 1.08; M_{low} = 4.91, SD_{low} = 1.11, d = 0.10; F_{(1,421)} = 4.34, p = 0.04], job satisfaction [<math>M_{high} = 4.74, SD_{high} = 1.25; M_{low} = 4.13, SD_{low} = 1.57, d = 0.43; F_{(1,421)} = 61.05, p < 0.001], and lower conflict [<math>M_{high} = 3.21, SD_{high} = 1.54; M_{low} = 3.42, SD_{low} = 1.41, d = -0.14; F_{(1,421)} = 10.28, p = 0.001]$ in a high participation workplace compared with a low participation workplace.

Culture is clearly a moderator as we found significant interaction effects for each of our primary dependent variables. Therefore, we conducted further analysis for employees in each country to investigate the different patterns (see **Figure 1**).

The United States

For American employees, there was a significant difference in employee preference, where they were significantly more likely to endorse a high participation work environment (M = 4.69, SD = 1.29) than a low participation work environment $[M = 3.17, SD = 1.49; F_{(1,204)} = 144.41, p < 0.001, d = 1.09]$. American employees also perceived different outcomes from a *high-P* workplace versus a *low-P* workplace. Specifically, compared with a *low-P* workplace, employees engaging in the high-P workplace reported significantly higher productivity $[M_{high} = 5.17, SD_{high} = 0.93; M_{low} = 4.69, SD_{low} = 1.12, d = 0.47;$ $F_{(1,204)} = 33.79, p < 0.001]$, significantly higher job satisfaction $[M_{high} = 4.75, SD_{high} = 1.16; M_{low} = 3.36, SD_{low} = 1.52, d = 1.03;$ $F_{(1,204)} = 134.52, p < 0.001]$, and significantly lower workplace conflict $[M_{high} = 2.23, SD_{high} = 1.06; M_{low} = 2.79, SD_{low} = 1.23,$ $d = -0.49; F_{(1,204)} = 36.34, p < 0.001]$.

China

For Chinese employees, there was also a difference in employee preference, but the direction was the opposite to that of American

employees. The Chinese employees were marginally *less* likely to endorse a high participation work environment ($M_{high} = 4.54$, $SD_{high} = 1.25$) than a low participation work environment [$M_{low} = 4.71$, $SD_{low} = 1.29$; $F_{(1,204)} = 2.86$, p = 0.09]. There was no statistically significant difference in perceived job satisfaction ($M_{high} = 4.72$, $SD_{high} = 1.33$; $M_{low} = 4.85$, $SD_{low} = 1.24$; p = 0.26, d = -0.10) or workplace conflict ($M_{high} = 4.13$, $SD_{high} = 1.34$; $M_{low} = 4.02$, $SD_{low} = 1.31$; p = 0.27, d = 0.08). However, Chinese employees saw themselves to be significantly *less* productive working in a high participation workplace ($M_{high} = 4.89$, $SD_{high} = 1.19$) than a low participation workplace [$M_{low} = 5.11$, $SD_{low} = 1.07$; $F_{(1,204)} = 6.04$, p < 0.01].

Because we tested multiple hypotheses from the Chinese and American survey data, we conducted a joint significance test against the null that none of the group difference between China and the United States in these four outcomes were significant. There was a jointly significant difference *between* the two culture groups in the perceptions and preferences of workplace participation in general, $F_{(1,420)} = 92.04$, p < 0.001, and there was a jointly significant difference *within* each culture group comparing the high versus low participatory work environment, $F_{(1,420)} = 14.81$, p < 0.001.

Discussion

When a prototypically high participation workplace was pitted against a prototypically low participation workplace, we found clear cultural differences in employees' preference and perceived job outcomes working in each environment. We found that American employees showed an ambiguously strong preference to the high participation workplace and predicted positive outcomes from working in such a workplace, while the opposite





was true for the Chinese employees. Chinese employees were marginally more likely to prefer a low participation workplace and associated it with higher productivity (but not higher job satisfaction or conflict). Culture was clearly a moderator in employees' preference and perceived impact of workplace participation.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

Across three comparative studies, we explore what the concept of workplace participation entails in the minds of employees from the United States and China as well as their general preference and predicted outcomes of workplace participation. Using a free association paradigm, Study 1 demonstrated cross-cultural similarities and differences in how employees construe workplace participation. In Study 2 with cross-cultural surveys, employees in both the United States and China reported a general preference to workplace participation, and predicted higher productivity, job satisfaction, and lower workplace conflict from workplace participation. Study 3 presented a prototypical high participation work environment and a low participation work environment in a repeated measures experimental design. American employees unambiguously preferred the high participation workplace and reported higher productivity, job satisfaction, and less conflict from it, whereas Chinese employees slightly preferred the low participation workplace and reported higher productivity from it. These findings have several implications.

Positive Valence and Preference

We found that positive valence seems to be strongly associated to workplace participation for both culture groups in Study 1, indicating a cross-cultural positive association or liking for a participatory work structure. Study 2 further reinforces the general positive valence associated with workplace participation: Chinese and American employees expressed similarly high level of endorsement for workplace participation, conceptualized as participatory decision making and a more flattened group hierarchy at workplace. The perceived impact of workplace participation was positive in both cultures. Furthermore, the self-reported preference for participation was positively correlated with perceived outcomes from participation: those who preferred workplace participation were more likely to think that participation would increase worker productivity and job satisfaction as well as reduce workplace conflict. This is consistent with prior research that self-reported participation level tends to correlate with self-reported job satisfaction and productivity (Weber et al., 2020).

These findings might be explained by theories in procedural justice and self-determination. The general positive valence associated with workplace participation is consistent with the postulation from self-determination theory that employees may have innate psychological needs for autonomy and relatedness and prefer procedures that fulfill these needs. Workplace participation is commonly associated with teamwork and social interactions (from Study 1), which exemplifies relatedness. Participation procedures commonly involve the shared influence between hierarchical superiors and their subordinates, exemplifying increase autonomy within the group. The nature of participation might be closely related to the sense of relatedness and autonomy that employees are seeking in a workplace. Therefore, we observe a general preference and positive perceptions of workplace participation across cultures. In addition, the positive correlation between participation preference and perceived participation outcomes (e.g., job satisfaction and productivity) might be explained by procedural justice: when employees perceive a decision procedure to be fair and just, they are more likely to endorse its outcomes and gain higher motivation as a group (Thibaut and Walker, 1975; Tyler and Blader, 2003). Here, satisfaction may be a more proximal indicator of participation, compared with productivity, which tends to be more distal and depend on other working conditions (Demerouti et al., 2001).

Different Associations With Workplace Participation

There were noticeable differences in how employees construe workplace participation across cultures. American employees were more likely to mention concrete activities and actions as well as levels of effort and engagement in a workplace context, which we did not observe in Chinese employees' responses. The frequent mention of day-to-day workplace activities and effort levels from American employees indicates that a participation scheme may be seen as more routinized and familiar to American than to Chinese employees. In contrast, Chinese employees were more likely to describe participation using high-level abstract rules at the company level, suggesting that the concept of participation appeared to be more detached from day-to-day job functions in China. In addition, workplace participation frequently evokes associations to socializing activities outside work, which suggests employees from China, an interdependent culture, may tend to draw a looser boundary between professional and casual settings and infer a broader sense of collectivity from the concept of participation. The associations with casual social activities outside of a workplace as well as high-level management rules did not appear in the American sample.

We also found some culturally unique associations within a given category. For example, when expressing negativity about participation, Chinese employees tended to express distrust while American employees expressed more generic negativity. In addition, when talking about hierarchy, Chinese employees almost always talked about democracy (\mathcal{R} \pm) while there was no explicit mention of democracy among the American employees. The findings may reflect the larger societal norms or lack thereof around participation and participatory democracy. Research from scarcity suggests that concepts associated with a valued scarce resource (e.g., time, money, and social influence) would become more accessible when one experience prolonged deprivation of such resource (Mullainathan and Shafir, 2013). Thus, it is possible that the lack of a democratic norm in a Chinese society writ large made the link between participation and democracy more explicit, whereas the default democratic norm for the Americans did not activate the link as much.

Regarding workplace conflict, Chinese employees were more likely to predict a higher level of conflict from participation in Study 2. Intragroup conflict is a well-studied area within organizational psychology (De Wit et al., 2012; Greer et al., 2017). Past literature distinguishes multiple forms of intragroup conflict, such as relationship conflict or disagreements about interpersonal issues within a group, task conflict or disagreements about the content and outcomes of tasks being performed within a group, and process conflict or disagreements about the logistics of task accomplishments (Jehn and Bendersky, 2003; De Wit et al., 2012). Workplace conflict as measured in the current study is closest to relationship conflict. So we discuss the conflict results from the relationship conflict perspective. Correlational analyses in both culture groups indicate negative associations between perceived participation effect on workplace conflict and individual outcomes such as productivity and satisfaction, consistent with prior findings of stable negative relationships between relationship and process conflict and group outcomes (De Wit et al., 2012). However, the higher level of perceived participation effect on conflict from Chinese employees suggest that culture might play a role in the perception of workplace conflict. Apart from cultural context, other group level contextual characteristics such as task type and co-occurrence of conflict types might also moderate the relationship between participation and conflict.

Norms of High vs. Low Workplace Participation

When asked to interact with two work environments that drastically differed in workplace participation, American employees unambiguously preferred the high participation work environment, while Chinese employees tentatively preferred the low participation work environment. This seems contradictory to Study 2's finding that both culture groups endorsed workplace participation. However, it is worth noting that Chinese employees' ratings for both types of workplaces were above the mid-point 4 (neutral), while their ratings for the low participation workplace were marginally higher compared with their ratings for the high participation workplace. This is different from the American employees who rated the low participation workplace as significantly lower than the neutral mid-point. In fact, American employees consistently rated the high participation workplace as more conductive to all measured outcomes, including productivity, job satisfaction, and reduced conflict. Interestingly, Chinese participants reported significantly higher work productivity after interacting with the low participation workplace. This points to the advantage of a repeated measures experimental design: even though a high participation workplace is perceived favorably by both culture groups, a low participation workplace is perceived even more so among the Chinese employees but not the American employees.

This may be related to the Study 1 results where the Chinese employees made less concrete mental associations of workplace participation, compared with the American employees who associated participation with specific activities in the workplace. The results suggest that it might be more difficult for the Chinese employees to translate the concept of workplace participation into a tangible and practical work scheme that incorporates into their daily routines, while American employees associated participation with specific actions that may have already been implemented in the workplace. It is possible that the slight preference to a low participation work environment reflects the familiarity to the default work environment that they encounter.

This study joins a burgeoning area of organizational democracy research. The present study addresses a relative scarce line of inquiry within this area, which focuses on employees' attitudes and perceptions of workplace participation and empowerment (Kahnweiler and Thompson, 2000; Greasley et al., 2005; Jeppesen et al., 2011; Khandakar et al., 2018). The present study represents one of the few comparative studies on organizational participation in two culture that differ in many dimensions. It uses a combination of qualitative, survey, and experimental methods to investigate how employees understand workplace participation and its associated outcomes. Consistent with prior research on voice and influence, there is no unanimous agreement on what participation represents across individuals and cultural contexts, and individuals may desire participation to a different extent based on their group membership, organizational type, and existing level of influence (Jeppesen et al., 2011; Markey et al., 2013; Platow et al., 2015). Different from prior studies that focus on individual level participation behavior or the general effects of participation, the current study focus on the meaning and normative impact of workplace participation from the standpoint of employees. Cross-cultural differences and similarities were identified regarding employees' mental representations, individual differences, and outcome attributions.

Limitations and Future Directions

The present research shows that Chinese employees are less likely to associate workplace participation with concrete activities and more likely to associate it with high-level rules. We proposed that these results might be due to the different baselines of participation in the workplace and in society more generally. However, it might also reflect culture-specific ways of thinking (e.g., construal level, dialectical thinking). A related question is given that employees' mental representations of workplace participation differed (Study 1), to what extent cross-cultural differences found in Study 2 and Study 3 might be biased by employees' different mental representations? We speculate that the results from Study 2 were more susceptible to employees' different understanding of "workplace participation." Even though we piloted our survey scales to ensure content equivalence, it is still possible that employees interpreted the survey questions differently. We are less concerned about similar biases in Study 3 as high vs. low level of workplace participation was operationalized concretely using vignettes. However, the experimental vignettes presented in Study 3 might limit the ecological validity of the study. Organizations in the real world are rarely on either side of the participation spectrum-they usually adopt a mixed set of participation schemes. While it is valuable to learn employees' general preference and perceptions of a high vs. low work environment in an experimental setting, more naturalistic studies collecting employees' perceptions of their actual organizations as well their observed behavior will complement the current set of studies. Future studies should also directly assess the baseline level of participation in Western as well as non-Western societies to understand how participation norms at workplace and the society shape individuals' narratives about workplace participation.

The extant participation research is heavily centered around Western nations and their allies. The current study focuses on China and the United States. Further tests with a diverse sample across nations and across industries are needed for the generalizability and external validity of any single set of studies (Gantman et al., 2018). The current studies relied on a paid subject pool from online survey companies, which might over-represent certain population demographics. Noticeably, our sample tend to over represent employees who have college degree and are professionals. Even though we controlled for employee demographics in the data analyses, the comparability of results from our paid sample and a nationally representative sample is unknown. Modern subject recruitment strategy such as online crowdsourcing and survey firms has made the collection of human subject data more efficient. Using a wide variety of cognitive behavioral tasks, Crump et al. (2013) demonstrates that the response patterns of Mturk participants are comparable to laboratory or field participants, supporting the reliability of Mturk as a tool of behavioral research (Crump et al., 2013). However, the testing environment of an online sample is not under the researchers' control and some crowdsourcing platforms suffered from slowing rates of population replenishment (Peer et al., 2017). Crowdsourcing platforms are tremendously useful in exploratory studies and cross-cultural studies, but a more comprehensive set of research with a wide variety of populations is needed to robustly document causality and generalizability of our results.

China can be seen as a boundary condition for the test of workplace participation. On one hand, participation might not be as welcomed by Chinese employees because it is in direct contrast to a hierarchical norm in a largely non-democratic society. On the other hand, workplace participation may present a particularly strong appeal to Chinese employees because the baseline level of participation is not as strong compared to other cultural contexts where participation in social and political decision making is more common. It will be interesting for future studies to further explore how baseline levels of participation in a cultural setting can affect individuals' preference and perceptions translate into participation behavior in their local workplace and the society at large, with a larger sample and combined with more qualitative ethnographic work.

Lastly, we found that teamwork is among the most frequent associations for employees in both China and the United States. Team seems to be a central part of participation. This is not

REFERENCES

Argyris, C. (1993). Knowledge for Action: A Guide To Overcoming Barriers To Organizational Change. Hoboken, NJ: Jossey-Bass Inc. surprising as groups lay the foundation of our cognition and behavior (Lewin, 1947). Local groups that we identify with, such as our work groups, citizen groups, and religious groups, play an important role in the socialization of our attitudes and behavior. Prior research suggests that participatory group interventions that target work group dynamics can have increase employee productivity and change social attitudes toward authority (Wu and Paluck, 2020, 2021). More research on the role of teams in shaping individual behavior is needed. Intervention research on participation and employee behavioral change should also be sensitive to cultural contexts to maximize receptivity and minimize potential backlash.

CONCLUSION

The concept of workplace participation can be construed differently by employees from different cultures. The cultural context in the workplace and in the society may play a role in shaping individuals' preferences and perceptions of workplace participation. Individuals' perceptions and preference may also inform us with the goals and approaches that we should prioritize when shaping a more participatory work environment and a more democratic society with an increasingly diverse population.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by UCLA Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work, and approved it for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.806481/full#supplementary-material

Bandiera, O., Best, M. C., Khan, A. Q., and Prat, A. (2021). The allocation of authority in organizations: a field experiment with bureaucrats. Q. J. Econo. 136, 2195–2242. doi: 10.1093/qje/qjab 029 Bunderson, J. S., and Reagans, R. E. (2011). Power, status, and learning in organizations. Organ. Sci. 22, 1182-1194. doi: 10.1287/orsc.1100.0590

Clegg, H. A. (1960). A New Approach To Industrial Democracy. Oxford: Blackwell.

- Crampton, S. M., and Wagner, I. I. J. A. (1994). Percept-percept inflation in microorganizational research: an investigation of prevalence and effect. J. Appl. Psychol. 79, 67–76.
- Crump, M. J., McDonnell, J. V., and Gureckis, T. M. (2013). Evaluating amazon's mechanical turk as a tool for experimental behavioral research. *PLoS One* 8:e57410. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0057410
- De Wit, F. R., Greer, L. L., and Jehn, K. A. (2012). The paradox of intragroup conflict: a meta-analysis. J. Appl. Psychol. 97:360. doi: 10.1037/a0024844
- Deci, E. L., and Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "why" of goal pursuits: human needs and the self-determination of behavior. *Psychol. Ing.* 11, 227–268.
- Deci, E. L., Olafsen, A. H., and Ryan, R. M. (2017). Self-determination theory in work organizations: the state of a science. Annu. Rev. Organ. Psychol. Organ. Behav. 4, 19–43.
- Demerouti, E., Bakker, A. B., Nachreiner, F., and Schaufeli, W. B. (2001). The job demands-resources model of burnout. J. Appl. Psychol. 86:499.
- Dessein, W. (2002). Authority and communication in organizations. *Rev. Econ. Stud.* 69, 811–838. doi: 10.1111/1467-937x.00227
- Deutsch, S. (2005). A researcher's guide to worker participation, labor and economic and industrial democracy. *Econ. Ind. Democr.* 26, 645–656.
- Donaghey, J., Cullinane, N., Dundon, T., and Wilkinson, A. (2011). Reconceptualising employee silence: problems and prognosis. Work Employ. Soc. 25, 51–67. doi: 10.1177/0950017010389239
- Dundon, T., Wilkinson, A., Marchington, M., and Ackers, P. (2004). The meanings and purpose of employee voice. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 15, 1149–1170.
- Foels, R., Driskell, J. E., Mullen, B., and Salas, E. (2000). The effects of democratic leadership on group member satisfaction: an integration. *Small Group Res.* 31, 676–701.
- Gantman, A., Gomila, R., Martinez, J. E., Matias, J. N., Paluck, E. L., Starck, J., et al. (2018). A pragmatist philosophy of psychological science and its implications for replication. *Behav. Brain Sci.* 41:e127. doi: 10.1017/S0140525X18000626
- Gollan, P. J., and Xu, Y. (2015). Re-engagement with the employee participation debate: beyond the case of contested and captured terrain. *Work Employ. Soc.* 29, N1–N13.
- Greasley, K., Bryman, A., Dainty, A., Price, A., Soetanto, R., and King, N. (2005). Employee perceptions of empowerment. *Empl. Relat.* 27, 354–368.
- Greer, L. L., De Jong, B. A., Schouten, M. E., and Dannals, J. E. (2018). Why and when hierarchy impacts team effectiveness: a meta-analytic integration. J. Appl. Psychol. 103:591. doi: 10.1037/apl0000291
- Greer, L. L., Van Bunderen, L., and Yu, S. (2017). The dysfunctions of power in teams: a review and emergent conflict perspective. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 37, 103–124.
- Hanushek, E. A., Link, S., and Woessmann, L. (2013). Does school autonomy make sense everywhere? Panel estimates from PISA. J. Dev. Econ. 104, 212–232.
- Harley, B., Sargent, L., and Allen, B. (2010). Employee responses to 'high performance worksystempractices: an empirical test of the disciplined worker thesis. Work Employ. Soc. 24, 740–760.
- Heller, F. (1998). Influence at work: a 25-year program of research. *Hum. Relat.* 51, 1425–1456. doi: 10.1177/001872679805101202
- Heller, F. (2003). Participation and power: a critical assessment. *Appl. Psychol.* 52, 144–163.
- Heller, F., Pusic, E., Strauss, G., and Wilpert, B. (1998). Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hespe, G., and Wall, T. (1976). The demand for participation among employees. *Hum. Relat.* 29, 411–428. doi: 10.1177/001872677602900503
- Jehn, K. A., and Bendersky, C. (2003). Intragroup conflict in organizations: a contingencyperspective on the conflict-outcome relationship. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 25, 187–242.
- Jensen, M. C., and Meckling, W. H. (1976). Theory of the firm: managerial behavior, agency costs and ownership structure. J. Financ. Econ. 3, 305–360. doi: 10.1016/0304-405x(76)90026-x
- Jeppesen, H. J., Jønsson, T., and Shevlin, M. (2011). Employee attitudes to the distribution of organizational influence: who should have the most influence

on which issues? *Econ Ind. Democr.* 32, 69–86. doi: 10.1177/0143831x1037 2432

- Kahnweiler, W. M., and Thompson, M. A. (2000). Levels of desired, actual, and perceived control of employee involvement in decision making: an empirical investigation. J. Bus. Psychol. 14, 407–427.
- Kessler, I., and Purcell, J. (1996). Strategic choice and new forms of employment relations in the public service sector: developing an analytical framework. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 7, 206–229. doi: 10.1080/09585199600000125
- Khandakar, M. S. A., Huq, K., and Sultana, S. (2018). Perception of employees regarding participation in decision making and problem solving: a study on different branches of banks in Dhaka city. ABC Res. Alert 6, 77–90.
- Knudsen, H., Busck, O., and Lind, J. (2011). Work environment quality: the role of workplace participation and democracy. *Work Employ. Soc.* 25, 379–396. doi: 10.1177/0950017011407966
- Krippendorff, K. (1980). Content Analysis: An Introduction To Its Methodology. Beverly Hills, CA: Sage.
- Landry, D. (2008). Noble Brutes: How Eastern Horses Transformed English Culture. Baltimore, MD: JHU Press.
- Latham, G. P., and Yukl, G. A. (1976). Effects of assigned and participative goal setting on performance and job satisfaction. J. Appl. Psychol. 61:166. doi: 10. 1037/0021-9010.61.2.166
- Lewin, K. (1947). Frontiers in group dynamics: II. Channels of group life; social planning and action research. *Hum. Relat.* 1, 143–153. doi: 10.1177/ 001872674700100201
- Liverpool, P. R. (1990). Employee participation in decision-making: an analysis of the perceptions of members and nonmembers of quality circles. J. Bus. Psychol. 4, 411–422. doi: 10.1007/bf01013604
- Locke, E. A., and Latham, G. P. (2002). Building a practically useful theory of goal setting and task motivation: a 35-year odyssey. Am. Psychol. 57, 705–717. doi: 10.1037//0003-066x.57.9.705
- Lucio, M. M., and Stuart, M. (2005). 'Partnership' and new industrial relations in a risk society: an age of shotgun weddings and marriages of convenience? Work Employ. Soc. 19, 797–817. doi: 10.1177/0950017005058068
- Mansuri, G., and Rao, V. (2013). Localizing Development. Does Participation Work?. Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Marchington, M., and Wilkinson, A. (2005). "Direct participation and involvement," in *Managing Human Resources: Personnel Management in Transition*, ed. S. Bach. (Oxford: Blackwell), 398–423.
- Markey, R., Ravenswood, K., Webber, D. J., and Knudsen, H. (2013). Influence at work and the desire for more influence. J. Ind. Relat. 55, 507–526. doi: 10.1177/0022185613489393
- Miller, K. I., and Monge, P. R. (1986). Participation, satisfaction, and productivity: a meta-analytic review. *Acad. Manag. J.* 29, 727–753. doi: 10.1016/j.pmedr.2016. 11.007
- Mullainathan, S., and Shafir, E. (2013). Scarcity: Why Having Too Little Means So Much. Basingstoke: Macmillan.
- Nisbett, R. E., and Masuda, T. (2003). Culture and point of view. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 100, 11163–11170.
- Pateman, C. (1970). Participation and Democratic Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Peer, E., Brandimarte, L., Samat, S., and Acquisti, A. (2017). Beyond the turk: alternative platforms for crowdsourcing behavioral research. J. Exp. Soc. Psychol. 70, 153–163. doi: 10.1016/j.jesp.2017.01.006
- Pennebaker, J. W., Francis, M. E., and Booth, R. J. (2001). Linguistic inquiry and word count:LIWC 2001. Mahwah, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, 2001.
- Perrett, R. (2007). Worker voice in the context of the re-regulation of employment: employer tactics and statutory union recognition in the UK. Work Employ. Soc. 21, 617–634. doi: 10.1177/0950017007082873
- Platow, M. J., Huo, Y. J., Lim, L., Tapper, H., and Tyler, T. R. (2015). Social identification predicts desires and expectations for voice. *Soc. Justice Res.* 28, 526–549. doi: 10.1007/s11211-015-0254-6
- Richter, F. D., and Tjosvold, D. (1980). Effects of student participation in classroom decisionmaking on attitudes, peer interaction, motivation, and learning. J. Appl. Psychol. 65, 74–80. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.65.1.74
- Ritchie, J. B., and Miles, R. E. (1970). An analysis of quantity and quality of participation as mediating variables in the participative decision making process. *Pers. Psychol.* 23, 347–359. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2019.11 2663

- Rousseau, J. J. (1968). *Politics and the Arts: Letter to M. D'Alembert on the Theatre.* Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.
- Royle, M. T., and Fox, G. (2011). The relationship between psychological strain, self-regulation, and informal accountability for others. *Int. J. Manag. Market. Res.* 4, 1–18.
- Schuler, R. S. (1980). Definition and conceptualization of stress in organizations. Organ. Behav. Hum. Perform. 25, 184–215.
- Stein, R. T., and Heller, T. (1979). An empirical analysis of the correlations between leadership status and participation rates reported in the literature. *J. Pers. Soc. Psychol.* 37, 1993–2002. doi: 10.1037/0022-3514.37.11. 1993
- Tausczik, Y. R., and Pennebaker, J. W. (2010). The psychological meaning of words: LIWC and computerized text analysis methods. J. Lang. Soc. Psychol. 29, 24–54. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8341.2012.02065.x
- Thibaut, J. W., and Walker, L. (1975). *Procedural Justice: A Psychological Analysis*. Mahwah, NJ: L. Erlbaum Associates.
- Truex, R., and Tavana, D. L. (2019). Implicit attitudes toward an authoritarian regime. J. Polit. 81, 1014–1027.
- Tyler, T. R., and Blader, S. L. (2003). The group engagement model: procedural justice, social identity, and cooperative behavior. *Pers. Soc. Psychol. Rev.* 7, 349–361. doi: 10.1207/S15327957PSPR0704_07
- Tyler, T. R., and Lind, E. A. (1992). A relational model of authority in groups. *Adv. Exp. Soc. Psychol.* 25, 115–191.
- Vroom, V. H., and Yetton, P. W. (1973). Leadership And Decision-Making, Vol. 110. Pittsburgh: University of Pittsburgh Pre.
- Wagner, I. I. J. A., and Gooding, R. Z. (1987). Effects of societal trends on participationresearch. Admin. Sci. Q. 241–262. doi: 10.2307/2393128
- Webb, S., and Webb, B. (1902). *Industrial Democracy*. Harlow: Longmans, Green and Company.
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisationaldemocracy: a meta-analysis of individual,

organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071.

- Wilkinson, A., Gollan, P. J., Marchington, M., and Lewin, D. (eds) (2010). The Oxfordhandbook of Participation In Organizations. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Wu, S. J., and Paluck, E. L. (2020). Participatory practices at work change attitudes and behavior toward societal authority and justice. *Nat. Commun.* 11, 1–8. doi: 10.1038/s41467-020-16383-6
- Wu, S. J., and Paluck, E. L. (2021). Having a Voice In Your Group: Increasing Productivity Through Group Participation. Available online at: https://ssrn.com/ abstract=3933505 (accessed September 30, 2021).
- Wu, S. J., Bai, X., and Fiske, S. T. (2018). Admired rich or resented rich? How two cultures vary in envy. J. Cross Cult. Psychol. 49, 1114–1143. doi: 10.1177/ 0022022118774943

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Wu, Yuhan Mei and Cervantez. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



Perceived Organizational Democracy and Associated Factors: A Focused Systematic Review Based on Studies in Turkey

Tahsin Geçkil*

Department of Logistic Management, Faculty of Applied Science, Necmettin Erbakan University, Konya, Turkey

This review study provides an opportunity to look at the level of organizational democracy (OD) that a large sample of private- and public-sector employees in an emerging market (Turkey) perceive. The focused systematic review includes empirical studies examining employees' level of OD and associated work and organizational psychological variables, using the Organizational Democracy Scale (ODS) in Turkey. This paper includes studies published between January 2014 and April 2021 in the Google Academic, Dergipark, and Ulakbim databases and on the Turkish National Thesis Center website. From a total of 1,778 records, 37 empirical studies meeting the inclusion criteria were included (with a total of N = 10,370 employees). Of these studies, 67.6% are published articles and manuscripts, 24% are unpublished dissertations, and 43.2% of the studies took place in the public sector. The results suggest that the level of employees' perceived OD was slightly above the medium level (mean: 3.30 ± 81), and the scores of the private-sector employees are higher than those of the public employees. Further, empirical associations between OD and 21 different outcome variables are reported and discussed. To varying extents, significant positive correlations were found between the level of employees' perceived OD and positive organizational variables, such as organizational citizenship behavior, organizational commitment, psychological capital, and job satisfaction. On the other hand, negative significant relationships occurred between OD and negatively evaluated organizational variables, such as job stress and organizational depression. The results of this study support the importance of organizational democracy as a management approach.

Keywords: organizational democracy, organizational democracy scale, business employee, participation in management, systematic review, demographic characteristics of employee, Turkey

INTRODUCTION

Organizational democracy (OD) refers to the participation of members of an organization in its management and processes (Harrison and Freeman, 2004). This participation is mandatory, continuous, broad-based, and institutionalized employee involvement, not temporary or occasional (Weber et al., 2020). Democracy in the workplace concerns sharing organizational decisions, greater employee autonomy, and strategic orientation (Drucker, 1999). Organizational Democracy promotes human development, increases a sense of political effectiveness, and reduces alienation

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Wolfgang G. Weber, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Werner Nienhüser, University of Duisburg-Essen, Germany Severin Hornung, University of Innsbruck, Austria

*Correspondence:

Tahsin Geçkil tahsingeckil@gmail.com; tgeckil@erbakan.edu.tr

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 30 August 2021 Accepted: 22 March 2022 Published: 15 April 2022

Citation:

Geçkil T (2022) Perceived Organizational Democracy and Associated Factors: A Focused Systematic Review Based on Studies in Turkey. Front. Psychol. 13:767469. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.767469

141

(Kerr, 2004). The concept of OD serves to describe all types of management, from non-authoritarian to employee-managed or participatory firms (Cheney, 1995; Harrison and Freeman, 2004; Kerr, 2004; Weber et al., 2009; Yazdani, 2010; Unterrainer et al., 2011; Geckil and Tikici, 2016). OD produces individual outputs with the participation of employees in democratic decision-making processes. In addition, it creates the democratic organization by arranging its structure and processes, thus providing the desired organizational outputs. It also enables the employees of the enterprise to experience political activity, providing access to social outputs.

Harrison and Freeman (2004) define OD as "any action, structure, or process that increases the power of a broader group of people to influence the decisions and activities of an organization can be considered a move toward democracy" (p. 49). The process concept identifies how to embed democratic principles in the organizational structure-in other words, the democratization of organizations. A democratic organization is not an organization whose conditions are standard everywhere and in every situation. There may be democratic structures whose democratic principles occur on different levels. Adoption of participatory management practices at the organizational level, tolerance in the face of criticism, creation of a transparent, fair, and egalitarian structure, and the establishment of accountability as a rule express an advanced democratic organization. Requiring shared administrative power ensures the permanence of democratic principles.

Some of the researchers working on organizational democracy tend to explain it as participation in decisions and management. Others argue that organizational democracy relates to both the economic and social aspects of organizations and affects democratic tendencies and practices in social life. Moreover, organizational democracy is not only about organizational life but also about democratic attitudes and behaviors in social life.

In addition to its social, managerial, cultural, and environmental impacts on the organization (Pircher-Verdorfer et al., 2012), researchers also consider OD an important determinant of various expected organizational outcomes, including increased shareholder engagement and enhanced innovation, as well as improved organizational performance (Harrison and Freeman, 2004; Geçkil, 2017; Han and Garg, 2018). Democratic practices in organizational life eliminate unprofessional behaviors and increase labor efficiency (Yazdani, 2010). Moreover, they help to improve the morale of the workforce (Sagie and Koslowsky, 2000), provide better control over organizational structure and processes (Foley and Polanyi, 2006), and help to renew organizational structure and practices (Harrison and Freeman, 2004; Yazdani, 2010).

The term "organizational democracy" entered the management literature in 1897, via Sidney and Beatrice Webb (Müller-Jentsch, 2008). Although OD has appeared in the literature for more than a century, studies on its measurement have intensified over the last decade. One of the first examples of scale-development studies on the measurement of OD was by Weber and Unterrainer (2012), based on earlier studies by the IDE International Research Group (1981) and Heller et al. (1998). Later, the studies of OD scale development by Geçkil and Tikici (2015) and Ahmed et al. (2019) contributed to the literature. A generally accepted standard definition of the concept of OD is not found in the research literature, due to differences in individual, organizational, and social characteristics; thus, declaring a consensus in the literature on the dimensions of OD is difficult. Yazdani (2010) examines OD in two dimensions, Weber and Unterrainer (2012) in two, Geçkil and Tikici (2015) in seven, Vopalecky and Durda (2017) in 11, and Ahmed et al. (2019) in 10. The studies of measuring OD also reflect different approaches to these dimensions. Examining the developed scales shows that their dimensions are numerically different but shaped along similar structures. The scale that Weber and Unterrainer (2012) developed in Austria is based on the participatory dimension of OD. The ODS that Geckil and Tikici (2015) developed in Turkey consists of five dimensions (participation-criticism, transparency, justice, equality, accountability). The ODS that Ahmed et al. (2019) developed in Pakistan consists of ten dimensions (freedom, fairness, integrity, tolerance, structure, shared responsibility, transparency, knowledge-sharing, accountability, learning environment). Similar to political democracy, cultural and historical differences, different perspectives on organizational democracy, and other social dynamics (religious, ethnicity, national) significantly shape organizational democracy.

Considering the contributions of business organizations to the socialization of political competencies and orientations, Pateman (1970) expresses the following spillover effect. Significant employee participation in democratic decision-making processes allows employees to experience political effectiveness. In the long run, experiencing political activity has an educational effect, promoting civic virtues, political participation, and active citizenship behaviors among employees not only in the workplace but also in civil society. Pircher-Verdorfer et al. (2012) state that democratic firms, which give their employees the opportunity to participate in tactical and strategic decision-making processes, are fractals of a democratic society and common welfare institutions. They include a field of socialization that supports employees in the (further) development of democratic competencies and orientations. We cannot completely separate organizational democracy from political democracy. Political democracy can cause many reflexes in individuals getting used to the principles of democracy, to accept it, to believe in its necessity, and to desire it in case of its absence.

This study is based on empirical studies of organizational democracy conducted in Turkey. For this reason, the reader may find useful a brief mention of Turkey's socio-political past and organizational democracy studies. Turkey shows the characteristics of a transition economy and society. One of the OECD countries, it is considered an emerging market. While economic institutions can sometimes create policies on their own, with economic priorities, unfortunately, we cannot say that they provide continuity in creating independent policies. Annual income per capita is below 10,000 \$, and the economy has faced economic and currency crises (Gök and Kara, 2021) in different periods. Turkish democracy has a history of more than 200 years. The Charter of Alliance (Sened-i Ittifak, September

28, 1808) marks the beginning of Turkish democracy, as the first document that limited the authority of the Sultan (Lewis, 2007, p. 50). Despite the country's important political background in its geographical ground, it still lacks autonomous and established political and economic institutions and seems weak in the Western sense. For this reason, we could observe some authoritarian tendencies among elected officials in several periods. Despite the experience of more than 200 years of democracy, many interventions have hindered the maturation of political democracy. During the Ottoman period, the elected parliament was shut down on the Sultan's decision (February 14, 1878) and reconvened about 30 years later (July 23, 1908). In addition, in the 40 years period between 1960 and 2000, there were four military coups (1960, 1971, 1980, and 1997). Despite frequent interruptions, the democratic process has always got on track again. Huntington (1991) states that to qualify as an established democracy, a society must have changed its government through elections at least twice (p. 266-267). Turkey has met this test more than twice (Lewis, 2007, p. 28).

In his study on cultures, Hofstede (2021) finds that high power distance is normal in Turkish culture. Turkey scores high on power distance, meaning that the Turkish style is dependent and hierarchical, with generally inaccessible superiors. Turkish society is collectivist, implying that the "We" is significant; people are members of in-groups (families, clans, or organizations) that watch out for one another, in exchange for allegiance. The connection has a moral foundation, which always takes precedence over task completion. Hofstede (2021) points out that the Turkish society's masculinity score (45) is low. This means that softer components of society are cherished and fostered, such as leveling with others, consensus, and sympathy for the underdog. In both private and professional life, conflict avoidance, and reaching an agreement at the end are crucial. For Turks, leisure time is vital, when the entire family, clan, and friends get together to enjoy life. Hofstede (2021) states that the uncertainty avoidance score (85) is quite high in Turkish culture so there is a great need for laws and rules. He emphasizes that there is no dominant culture for long-term orientation and indulgence.

Despite Turkey's history of political democracy over more than two centuries, only a few studies on organizational democracy exist, but interest in OD has increased in recent years. An all-time search in the National Thesis Center (https:// tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/tarama.jsp) with the keyword "organizational democracy" returned 21 completed theses. The first study of OD in Turkey is a master's thesis completed in 2010 (Seker, 2010), which examines the level of adoption and implementation of organizational democracy in schools. Following this study, a scale to examine the organizationaldemocracy levels of academicians in a doctoral thesis appeared (Bozkurt, 2012). Developed for working with academicians, the scale consists of two subscales (participation and autonomy). However, no other study using this scale appeared in the literature. In addition, a review article (Erkal Coşan and Altin Gülova, 2014) appears to be the first study on organizational democracy published in Turkey. The number of studies on OD in Turkey has actually increased since 2014, and they mainly focus on determining employees' organizational democracy levels and associated factors.

The ODS (Organizational Democracy Scale), the focus of this study, measures the organizational-democracy level based on employee perceptions. Individuals make decisions on the basis of not only realities but also their perceptions of those realities. Perceiving is the process of giving meaning to the stimuli in the individual's environment. Our perceptions also create in our minds values, problems, and solutions for them. As perceptions vary among individuals, they can also vary for the same individual under different conditions. Therefore, differences between reality and perceived reality may exist. The concept of reality varies from region to region, from country to country, and even from person to person (Friman, 1999, p. 6). Employee perceptions of OD express the individual's "perceived reality."

Organizational Democracy Scale

The organizational democracy scale that Geçkil and Tikici (2015) developed is based on a seven-dimension theoretical construct. A result of their literature review to prepare the scale development was defining the conceptual structure of organizational democracy using seven dimensions (participation, criticism, transparency, justice, equality, accountability, and power-sharing).

During the scale-development process, one of these dimensions (criticism) was combined with another (participation), while a further construct (power-sharing) did not emerge as a separate dimension (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015). It seems acceptable that the criticism dimension should combine with the participation dimension. A reasonable criticism may emerge more prominently as a result of supporting participation. Uninformed criticism can occur in organizations where there are insufficient or no participatory practices. The inability to confirm the power-sharing dimension in the scale-development process represents a real loss. The literature emphasizes the importance of power-sharing for an established democracy at the organizational level (Kerr, 2004, p. 81). Kerr states that while power-sharing is attractive when it comes to state affairs, managers at the organizational level hesitate to share power, and the resistance at various management levels is an obstacle to the successful implementation of democratic processes. The organizational democracy scale's six dimensions are examined below.

Participation means involving employees in all decisionmaking processes, directly or through their representatives. Many researchers equate OD with participation and try to define it on that basis (Weber et al., 2008, 2009; Yazdani, 2010). Weber et al. (2009) define OD as employees' structurally supported participation in management. This kind of participation appears directly or representationally, continuously, in broad-based, institutionalized, and non-temporary or non-random ways. Through participation, employees become an element of decision processes and practices in matters concerning their work and can evaluate the results together (Geçkil, 2013).

Criticism reflects the evaluation of policies and procedures, work, and transactions, by employees and other stakeholders
at all relevant levels, and the ability to freely express those evaluations. Thanks to criticism, mistakes do not persist. Some researchers consider criticism, also expressed as raising the employees' voice, the most important element of OD (Yazdani, 2010).

Transparency means openness in the administration, of great importance for the democratization of the administration (Üst Can, 2020). It represents not only the sharing of information but also the intention to share and the information's perceived quality. Transparency is among the ISO 26000 standards, required for OD (Hallström, 2010) since it is the availability, to every individual who participates in decision-making, of all information about transactions and actions in the organization. Also, the information must be accessible to members whom the transactions and actions affect (Forcadell, 2005).

Justice, or the concept of organizational justice, refers to distribution of gains (distributive justice), processes used in making distribution decisions (procedural justice), and interindividual relations (interactional justice) (Gilliland and Chan, 2009). Organizational justice examines the perceptions of employees regarding the fairness of their treatment (Greenberg, 1990a). The main determinants of the perception of justice are how the added value that emerges as a result of organizational activity is shared, and what criteria guide promotions. OD requires fairness in income distribution. A steep income gap among individuals prevents the democratization of organizations and makes it difficult for democratic management principles to settle in the organization (Geçkil, 2013, p. 35).

Equality is everyone having the same rights and advantages. As an element of OD, it should not be accepted as mistaken for absolute equality. However, it should be equal treatment of those whose conditions are equal. Equality between the individuals should relate to such criteria as performance, education, seniority (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015). The essence of OD includes all employees receiving equal treatment and getting equal benefits (Ahmed et al., 2019).

Accountability has become an important practice recently; the public calls for managers to be more accountable. This means that the actions of any person or organization require a statement, defense, or obligation to an affected person or group (Messner, 2009; Eryilmaz and Biricikoglu, 2011). Kerr (2004) states that the most important principle distinguishing OD from other types of management is "accountability." Unlike responsibility, accountability includes not only the ability to assume the consequences of actions but also explaining and defending the situation (Lindkvist and Llewellyn, 2003). It once represented only a concept relating to the field of accounting and finance, but after the 1980s, it began to apply to all kinds of managerial functions.

Since the ODS is published in Turkish, readers may find an explanation of the scale-development process useful. ODS is based on five point Likert-type response scales and encompasses 28 items and five subscales. The minimum score measuring employees' OD perceptions is 28, and the maximum is 140. Increasing total scores across all items and subscales reflect increased employee perception of OD. Interpretation of each subscale score is like that for the ODS total score (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015).

The scale-development process utilized a three-phase and ten-step model that Slavec and Drnovsek (2012) developed. To decide the items to include in the ODS, Geçkil and Tikici (2015) created a pool of 156 items, using the literature review and field experts. The researchers reviewed those items, deleted repetitive statements, and arrived at a 68-item draft scale. The candidate scale then went to the expert panel (11 faculty members from the relevant field) for an assessment of content validity. Items with a low Item Content Validity Index (I-CVI) were removed, and a 42-item candidate scale form resulted, with I-CVI values varying between 0.82 and 1.0. The Scale Content Validity Index (S-CVI) was calculated as 0.88. Polit and Beck (2006) recommend that the I-CVI value be higher than 0.78 and the S-CVI value higher than 0.80 (p. 491). Thus, the content validity of the scale was rated as good.

Thereafter, the candidate scale was applied to the sample of 438 people. The data were analyzed by mean, standard deviation, Pearson Moment Correlation, Cronbach's Alpha, Explanatory Factor Analysis, and Confirmatory Factor Analysis, using SPSS 21 and LISREL 8.8 programs. Exploratory Factor Analysis for the construct validity used the data of 285 people (42% female, 58% male, 56.1% academician, and 43.9% officer). Confirmatory Factor Analysis used data of 153 participants (65.2% female, 34.8% male; 13.6% physician, 53.7% nurse/midwife, 20.4% pharmacist, physiotherapist, laboratory worker, x-ray technician, and 12.2% medical secretary, computer technician).

As a result of the Exploratory Factor Analysis (EFA), a 28item scale encompassing five factors emerged (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015, p. 60). The first factor, Participation-Criticism, consisted of 8 items, and the factor loads of the items varied between 0.71 and 0.42. This subscale included such items as "Managers encourage me to participate in organizational decisions," and "Management takes criticism by employees into consideration." The second dimension, Transparency, identified 6 items with factor loadings ranging from 0.76 to 0.54. The Transparency subscale included such statements as "The works are carried out according to principles of transparency in my organization," and "There is an open and two-way communication in my organization." The third dimension, Justice, consisted of 5 items with factor loadings ranging from 0.63 to 0.52. The Justice dimension encompassed such statements as "My organization has a fair reward system," and "The wages and other incomes of the employees are determined by taking into account their contributions within their work and for their organization." The fourth dimension, Equality, consisted of 6 items with factor loadings ranging from 0.70 to 0.47. This subscale included such items as "There is no gender discrimination in my organization," and "Discrimination based on language, religion or race is not accepted in my organization." The last dimension, Accountability, consisted of 3 items with factor loadings varying between 0.78 to 0.43. The Accountability subscale comprises items such as "Policies and procedures in our workplace can always be questioned by employees," and "A culture of accountability has been developed in my institution" (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015, p. 61-62). The factor loads of the items in the ODS ranged from 0.42 to 0.78 (Geckil

and Tikici, 2015, p. 63). The cumulative variance of the ODS was 58.78%. The social sciences consider a variance rate in the range of 40%–60% sufficient (Scherer et al., 1988). Items 21 and 23 in the scale represent inverse statements and must be recoded.

The Cronbach's α reliability coefficient of ODS was $\alpha = 0.95$ for the total ODS scale. For the following subscales, Cronbach's α amounted to *participation-criticism* $\alpha = 0.88$, *transparency* α = 0.88, justice α = 0.80, equality α = 0.83, and accountability α = 74. The ODS scale was twice applied to a group of 45 people for test-retest within a 2-week interval. The test-retest correlation coefficient was $0.87 \ (p < 0.001)$. Confirmatory Factor Analysis was performed to confirm the model that emerged as a result of Exploratory Factor Analysis, and the findings suggested that the ODS scale had good fit values. The goodness fit indexes of the Organizational Democracy Scale with Confirmatory Factor Analysis are as follows: $\chi 2 = 575.8$, Df = 340, X²/df = 1.69, CFI = 0.97, and RMSEA = 0.064 (Geckil and Tikici, 2015, p. 67). The original Turkish form of the organizational-democracy scale appears in Appendix A and Appendix B shows the form translated into English by the author.

For cross-validation purposes, the researcher assessed the convergence between the ODS and a similar scale. First, the similarities between the Organizational Justice Scale (OJS) and ODS subscales suggested that this convergence might exist. OJ is divided into two subscales: "fairness of results" (distributive justice) and "fairness of process" (procedural justice) (Gilliland and Chan, 2009, p. 169). In the 1980s, in addition to these two types, interpersonal relations were considered a new form of justice (interactional justice), recognized as a subcomponent of procedural justice in the 1990s (Cropanzano and Greenberg, 1997). The examination of the similarity between ODS and OJ considered distributive justice and procedural justice, in two investigative steps: first, the similarities between the subscales of ODS and OJS and, second, the effects of OD and OJ on several outcome variables in the field of individual and organizational psychology.

The "fairness of results subscale" (Gilliland and Chan, 2009) is similar to the justice, equality, and accountability dimensions of the ODS scale. While the perceptions of organizational outcomes and rewards and the equitable distribution of organizational assignments and promotions shape the justice subscale of the ODS, the equality subscale is attributable to distribution in accordance with regulations or directives. Perceptions of the fairness of the results can lead to subjective results relating to individual differences. The fact that the equality dimension proceeds on written rules can prevent the emergence of subjective differences. This feature reveals ODS's wider measurement nature than OJS's. On the other hand, the accountability dimension refers to the managers' accountability for the employees whom the work and operations affect. The perception of injustice regarding the results can cause negative employee behaviors toward superiors and the organization. The culture of accountability can prevent the emergence of negative behaviors, by endowing the employee with the power to solve problems.

Further, the fact that OD and OJ had similar effects on some typical outcome variables in the fields of individual and organizational psychology strengthened the idea of convergence between the two constructs. OJ turned out to be an important determinant of attitudes and behaviors. Employees perceiving their managers and organizations to be fair partly shape job satisfaction and organizational commitment (Martin and Bennett, 1996). Equality and fairness concerns drive decisions on remuneration and other resource allocations (Scarpello and Jones, 1996). Evidence shows that voluntary behavior in organizations, both positive organizational belonging behaviors and negative antisocial behaviors, have a significant association with perceptions of justice and fairness (Greenberg, 1990b; Moorman, 1991).

Likewise, the findings of the focused systematic review that will be presented in the sections Results and Discussion indicate that OD has positive effects on employees' job satisfaction and organizational commitment as well as on Organizational Citizenship Behaviors, organizational identification and work engagement. Further, the results of this review will show that OD significantly reduces individual and organizational consequences that lead to negative behaviors, including organizational depression, job stress level, and intention to quit the job. These results of cross-validation strongly confirmed our hypothesis of conceptual relationships between ODS and OJS.

Finally, the strong correlation between the two scales indicates that the selection of OJS is appropriate in terms of convergence. The Pearson correlation amounts to r = 0.80 (p < 0.001) between the ODS and the Turkish adaptation by Yildirim (2002) of the Organizational Justice Scale (OJS) that Niehoff and Moorman (1993) developed. The subscales of the ODS correlated with the overall OJS score as follows: Participant-Criticism r = 0.700 (p = 000), Transparency r = 0.702 (p = 000), Justice r = 0.671 (p = 000), Equality r = 0.692 (p = 000), Accountability r = 0.572 (p = 000).

After the development of the scale in Turkey and its introduction to the literature, researchers began to use ODS extensively. Authors have begun to reveal the effects of OD by examining its relationship to several variables relevant to organizational behavior and organizational structure. The findings of each of these studies are valuable on their own, but examining all of them together and revealing the similarities and differences between them, through a meta-analysis or a systematic review, can identify unique contributions to the literature. Such a systematic review or meta-analysis searching OD and related factors in Turkey is lacking; thus, this study intends to close that gap. In their meta-analytical study, Weber et al. (2020) examine the psychological and social consequences of employee participation in democratic enterprises. By contrast, this systematic review covers both participation and other dimensions of OD. In this respect, it can provide important contributions to the OD literature. Thus, this study aims to present to practitioners, policymakers, and scientists the core information that will form a basis for their further studies.

The Aim and Questions of the Study

This focused systematic review aims to determine the OD levels of public- and private-sector employees in Turkey and their associated factors. The presentation of the study questions follows the PICOS format (P: Patient/Problem/ Population;



I: Intervention; C: Comparators, O: Outcomes; S: Study design) (Petticrew and Roberts, 2006; Centre for Reviews and Dissemination, 2008), and the questions are:

- 1. What is the level of perceived OD of public- and private-sector employees in Turkey?
- 2. What are the potential outcomes (and additional correlates) associated with OD?

METHODS

Article Type

This study is a focused systematic review of studies related to the OD scale in Turkey. This study establishes the systematic review protocol and the reporting of the articles in line with the PRISMA statement on systematic reviews (Page et al., 2021).

Search Strategy

The search included quantitative empirical studies using the ODS scale (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015) developed in Turkey. It was limited to literature published in journals, books, or congress books and unpublished national theses. The literature review covered the following steps:

- The following databases were searched for publications from January 2014, when the ODS was developed, to April 15, 2021, to find as many studies as possible that met the inclusion criteria. The last search was done on April 15, 2021. Using Turkish and English keywords, the search-engine databases used returned 1,767 records using Google Scholar (http://scholar.google.com.tr), the National Thesis Center (https://tez.yok.gov.tr/UlusalTezMerkezi/tarama.jsp), and Dergi Park (https://dergipark.org.tr/tr/), and Ulakbim (https://app.trdizin.gov.tr/advancedSearchs).
- To access additional publications, the researcher used personal contacts (i.e., authors who asked permission from the scale developer to use the scale in their research) and hand-searching (citations of the article reporting the ODS development and a search of conference papers). The references in the included publications were reviewed. In addition to the records identified through databases, the manual search produced a total of 11 publications.
- The Turkish keywords "örgütsel demokrasi" or "örgütsel demokrasi algisi" or "algilanan örgütsel demokrasi" or "örgütsel demokrasi ölçegi" were used for the search.
- The English keywords "organizational democracy" or "organizational democracy perception" or "perceived organizational democracy" or "organizational democracy scale" were searched.

TABLE 1 | Organizational democracy scale total and subscale scores of participants (N = 9,902).

	Studies			Organizati	onal democracy scale	subscale and total sc	ores	
	References	N	PC Mean \pm SD	T Mean \pm SD	J Mean \pm SD	E Mean \pm SD	A Mean \pm SD	ODS total Mean \pm SE
1.	Kesen (2015a) ^a	142	3.87 ± 0.78	4.04 ± 0.76	3.82 ± 0.88	4.03 ± 0.69	3.80 ± 0.97	$3.92 \pm 0.79^{*}$
2.	Kesen (2015b) ^a	174	3.84 ± 0.74	3.88 ± 0.78	3.76 ± 0.88	4.05 ± 0.67	3.79 ± 0.96	$3.87\pm0.78^{*}$
З.	Geçkil et al. (2016) ^c	363	2.69 ± 0.85	3.05 ± 0.83	2.64 ± 0.87	3.14 ± 0.59	2.82 ± 0.93	2.87 ± 0.67
4.	Geckil and Tikici (2016) ^b	582	2.47 ± 0.83	2.70 ± 0.83	2.35 ± 0.87	2.86 ± 0.75	2.53 ± 0.97	2.59 ± 0.70
5.	Bakan et al. (2017) ^a	201	3.45 ± 0.77	3.62 ± 0.74	3.52 ± 0.77	3.62 ± 0.84	3.48 ± 0.88	$3.54 \pm 0.79^{*}$
6.	Geçkil et al. (2017) ^b	405	2.22 ± 0.91	2.60 ± 0.87	2.19 ± 0.87	3.02 ± 0.66	2.42 ± 0.98	2.49 ± 0.71
7.	Geçkil and Koçyigit (2017)ª	144	3.16 ± 0.97	3.37 ± 1.01	3.10 ± 0.94	3.31 ± 0.70	3.23 ± 1.09	$3.25 \pm 0.80^{**}$
8.	lşik (2017) ^b	32	2.40 ± 0.93	3.08 ± 0.96	2.08 ± 0.86	3.23 ± 0.60	2.94 ± 1.15	2.75 ± 1.39
9.	lşikgöz et al. (2017) ^b	191	3.64 ± 1.01	3.72 ± 0.68	3.44 ± 0.67	3.84 ± 0.37	3.95 ± 1.26	3.70 ± 0.80
10.	Öge and Çiftçi (2017) ^a	77	3.02 ± 0.66	3.18 ± 0.72	2.95 ± 0.74	3.33 ± 0.54	3.11 ± 1.03	3.12 ± 0.49
11.	Atalay (2018) ^b	920	3.64 ± 0.90	3.70 ± 0.66	3.79 ± 0.78	3.30 ± 0.45	3.77 ± 0.84	$3.62 \pm 0.72^{*}$
12.	Aykanat and Yildiz (2018) ^b	120	2.72 ± 0.80	$3.15 \pm 0.1.01$	2.76 ± 0.95	3.40 ± 0.81	3.15 ± 1.19	$3.01 \pm 0.92^{*}$
13.	Çankaya (2018) ^b	200	2.40 ± 1.05	$2.46 \pm 0.1.21$	2.19 ± 1.11	2.96 ± 0.78	2.13 ± 1.11	2.42 ± 1.05
14.	Karagöz and Atilla (2018) ^c	142	3.28 ± 1.08	3.73 ± 0.96	3.33 ± 1.05	3.25 ± 1.26	3.22 ± 1.17	3.36 ± 1.11**
15.	Tokay and Eyüpoglu (2018) ^a	240	3.28 ± 0.85	3.63 ± 0.92	3.34 ± 0.84	3.21 ± 0.76	3.54 ± 0.92	3.40 ± 0.88
16.	Bakan and Gözükara (2019) ^b	181	2.80 ± 0.99	3.11 ± 1.01	$2.68 \pm 0.1.00$	3.32 ± 0.97	2.87 ± 1.05	$2.96 \pm 1.00^{**}$
17.	Barutçu (2019) ^a	120	3.08 ± 0.95	3.12 ± 0.86	3.51 ± 0.83	3.61 ± 0.74	3.66 ± 0.76	$3.34\pm0.84^{\star}$
18.	Günden (2019) ^a	367	3.24 ± 1.17	3.76 ± 1.03	3.21 ± 1.05	3.32 ± 1.19	3.11 ± 1.18	$3.33 \pm 1.12^{*}$
19.	Karatepe (2019) ^c	300	3.00 ± 0.84	3.21 ± 0.90	3.00 ± 1.00	3.20 ± 0.61	2.90 ± 0.97	$3.08\pm0.85^{*}$
20.	Naldöken and Limoncu (2019) ^b	326	2.51 ± 0.88	2.70 ± 0.91	2.19 ± 0.86	1.01 ± 0.84	2.52 ± 0.98	$2.17 \pm 0.70^{**}$
21.	Uysal (2019) ^b	316	3.85 ± 1.01	3.78 ± 1.03	3.91 ± 1.03	3.86 ± 1.02	3.80 ± 1.08	$3.87 \pm 0.1.03^{*}$
22.	Yalçinkaya (2019) ^b	397	3.08 ± 0.94	3.10 ± 0.87	3.54 ± 0.80	3.59 ± 0.74	3.70 ± 0.75	$3.34 \pm 0.84^{*}$
23.	Bilyay et al. (2020) ^b	202	3.28 ± 0.88	3.63 ± 0.94	3.06 ± 0.91	3.65 ± 0.88	3.12 ± 1.01	3.29 ± 0.72
24.	Erdal (2020) ^b	345	2.86 ± 1.16	$3.19 \pm 0.1.16$	$2.66 \pm 0.1.19$	$3.20 \pm 0.1.25$	$2.86 \pm 0.1.12$	$2.95 \pm 1.18^{*}$
25.	Erkasap (2020) ^a	509	3.14 ± 0.94	3.37 ± 0.95	3.04 ± 0.89	3.80 ± 0.86	3.25 ± 0.92	3.33 ± 0.72
26.	Erkasap and Ülgen (2020) ^a	225	3.12 ± 0.95	3.34 ± 0.96	3.07 ± 0.91	3.76 ± 0.84	3.23 ± 0.95	3.31 ± 0.73**
27.	Kara (2020) ^a	300	3.04 ± 0.99	3.48 ± 0.81	3.30 ± 0.85	3.58 ± 0.59	4.02 ± 0.77	$3.40 \pm 0.82^{*}$
28.	Karadağ and Geçkil (2020) ^b	192	2.87 ± 0.82	3.14 ± 0.91	2.74 ± 0.88	3.21 ± 0.81	2.71 ± 0.92	2.93 ± 0.76
29.	Pelenk (2020) ^a	380	4.10 ± 0.70	4.18 ± 0.58	4.16 ± 0.68	4.18 ± 0.52	4.27 ± 0.67	4.18 ± 0.63
30.	Üst Can (2020)°	281	3.01 ± 1.01	3.12 ± 0.98	$2.81 \pm 0.1.03$	3.22 ± 0.60	3.03 ± 0.83	3.04 ± 0.89
31.	Yildirim and Deniz (2020) ^a	252	2.88 ± 0.93	3.33 ± 0.92	2.69 ± 1.03	Removed	3.01 ± 1.01	2.98 ± 0.84
32.	Çavuş and Biçer (2021) ^a	257	3.42 ± 0.90	3.52 ± 0.99	$3.20 \pm 0.1.07$	Removed	$3.18 \pm 0.1.08$	$3.36\pm0.99^{\star}$
33.	Geçkil and Şendoğdu (2021)°	397	3.09 ± 0.92	3.43 ± 0.86	3.07 ± 0.93	3.37 ± 0.63	3.21 ± 0.94	3.24 ± 0.74

(Continued)

References N PC Mean ± SD JMean ± SD JMean ± SD E Mean ± SD Tokgöz and Önen (2021) ^b 622 3.80 ± 0.80 4.25 ± 0.66 3.75 ± 0.90 4.05 ± 0.67 Bilge et al. (2020 ^a 209 129 4.25 ± 0.66 3.75 ± 0.90 4.05 ± 0.67 Bilge et al. (2020 ^a 209 129 4.25 ± 0.66 3.75 ± 0.90 4.05 ± 0.67 Bilge et al. (2020 ^a 209 130 4.25 ± 0.66 3.75 ± 0.90 4.05 ± 0.67 Senol and Aktas (2017) ^a 130 3.33 ± 0.89 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 3.727 0.90 3.33 ± 0.86 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 5.160 3.10 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 3.15 ± 0.96 3.15 ± 0.96 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94 3.02 ± 0.94		Studies			Organizatio	onal democracy scale	Organizational democracy scale subscale and total scores	ores	
Tokgöz and Önen (2021) ^b 622 3.80 ± 0.80 4.25 ± 0.66 3.75 ± 0.90 4.05 ± 0.67 Bilge et al. (2020) ^a 209 129 209 4.05 ± 0.67 4.05 ± 0.66 Can and Dogan (2020) ^b 129 3.34 ± 3.59 ± 0.87 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.33 Senol and Aktaş (2017) ^a 130 3.31 ± 0.85 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.33 Icc 5,160 0.90 3.10 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.15 ± 0.96 Public 1,483 0.92 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 Public 1,483 0.92 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94		References	z	PC Mean	T Mean ± SD	J Mean	E Mean ± SD	A Mean ± SD	ODS total Mean
Bige et al. (2020) ^a 209 Can and Dogan (2020) ^b 129 Senol and Aktaş (2017) ^a 130 ate 3,727 3.34 ± 3.59 ± 0.87 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 0.900 3.31 ± 0.85 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 0.900 0.900 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.910 0.922 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.922 0.922 3.208 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.922 0.929 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 te) 0.922 0.932 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 te) 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94	34.	Tokgöz and Önen (2021) ^b	622	3.80 ± 0.80	4.25 土 0.66	3.75 ± 0.90	4.05 ± 0.67	3.71 ± 0.90	3.90 ± 0.65**
Can and Dogan (2020) ^b 129 Senol and Aktaş (2017) ^a 130 atte 3,727 3.34 ± 3.59 ± 0.87 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 0.90 0.90 3.10 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.30 ± 0.89 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.20 ± 0.89 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 tel 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94 tel 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94 0.94	35.	Bilge et al. (2020) ^a	209						No Data***
Senol and Aktaş (2017) ^a 130 rate 3,727 3.34 ± 3.59 ± 0.87 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 0.90 0.90 3.11 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 3.01 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 Public 1,483 0.92 0.92 2.98 ± 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 tel 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94 0.94	36.	Can and Dogan (2020) ^b	129						3.42 土 1.04***
ate 3,727 3.34 ± 3.59 ± 0.87 3.33 ± 0.89 3.68 ± 0.78 3.49 ± 0.93 or 0.90 0.90 3.10 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.55 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 3.11 ± 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 3.20 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 (Public 1,483 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 (te) 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94	37.	Senol and Aktaş (2017) ^a	130						2.95 ± 0.89***
lic 5,160 $3.10\pm$ 3.31 ± 0.85 3.08 ± 0.90 3.25 ± 0.74 3.15 ± 0.96 or 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 te)	¹ Private Sector	3,727	3.34 ± 0.90	3.59 ± 0.87	3.33 ± 0.89	3.68 ± 0.78	3.49 ± 0.93	3.47 ± 0.82	
Public 1,483 2.98 ± 3.26 ± 0.89 2.93 ± 0.96 3.24 ± 0.67 3.02 ± 0.94 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.92 0.94 0.94	Public Sector	5,160	3.10 ± 0.92	3.31 ± 0.85	3.08 ± 0.90	3.25 ± 0.74	3.15 ± 0.96	3.17 ± 0.80	
	°Mix(Public and ⊃rivate)	1,483	2.98 ± 0.92	3.26 ± 0.89	2.93 ± 0.96	3.24 ± 0.67	3.02 ± 0.94	3.09 ± 0.81	
10,3/0 3.18主 3.42 ± 0.36 5.17 ± 0.31 3.47 ± 0.74 3.27 ± 0.35 0.91 0.91	Total	10,370	3.18 ± 0.91	3.42 ± 0.86	3.17 ± 0.91	3.47 ± 0.74	3.27 ± 0.95	3.30 ± 0.81	

Organizational Democracy and Associated Factors

- website of the Council of Higher Education Thesis Center) were obtained between January 2014 and April 2021. After examining these records, 178 duplicate studies were removed. The remaining 1,583 studies were examined by title and abstract, and 1,430 studies that the researcher considered irrelevant were excluded. Finally, 153 studies were analyzed as full text for the research. Of these, 63 were excluded because they were conducted in countries other than Turkey. Since 52 of these studies were books, book chapters, compilations, case studies, and scale-development studies, they were excluded because they did not represent quantitative or experimental studies. Five of the remaining studies were excluded because they used a tool that measured OD with different dimensions and content. Five more were excluded because of the quality assessment. Seven out of 17 theses were excluded because they were published as manuscripts already accessed through the database search. One thesis was excluded because of a lack of data. Nine unpublished theses were included. As a result, a total of 37 studies examining the OD perceptions of employees in Turkey were included in this systematic review (see Figure 1. PRISMA 2020 flow diagram).
- The total sample size of these 37 studies was N = 10,370 participants.

Selection of Studies

Studies included in this systematic review qualified according to the inclusion and exclusion criteria.

Inclusion criteria for the study

- Quantitative empirical studies conducted in Turkey,
- Published in Turkish or English,
- Examining the level of OD in private and/or public institution employees,
- Examining the relationship between the level of OD and demographics, work characteristics.

Exclusion criteria;

- Quantitative or qualitative research review,
- A book or a book chapter that does not include an empirical study,
- Using a measurement tool other than the ODS (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015) to measure the level of OD.

Evaluation of Methodological Quality of Studies

Making a methodological quality assessment to determine the possibility of bias in the design, conduct, and analysis stages of the studies to include in systematic reviews is recommended procedure (Moola et al., 2020). The researcher determined the methodological quality of 43 studies according to inclusion and exclusion criteria in this systematic review. The types of studies this systematic review includes are analytical and crosssectional. For this reason, the quality-assessment tool used was the Analytical Cross-Sectional Studies Critical Appraisal Tool, developed by the Joanna Briggs Institute (JBI) and collaborators, and approved by the JBI Scientific Committee following extensive

TABLE 1 | Continued

are unpublished data obtained from the authors

*These data

**Studies with different scale structures

peer review (Moola et al., 2020). After the screening process examined the title, abstract and full text, 43 identified empirical studies were evaluated for quality, including 27 published articles, 10 unpublished theses (five of which were master's theses and five doctoral dissertations), five conference papers, and one working study. As a result of the quality evaluation, six studies were excluded due to sample overlap (n = 3), change in the factor structure of ODS (n = 2), and lack of data (n = 1). **Appendix C** shows the excluded studies. As a result of the quality assessment, this review included 37 studies. The master theses (Barutçu, 2019; Uysal, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Erdal, 2020; Kara, 2020) included in the present study were uploaded to a data repository (see https://osf.io).

Data Extraction

The researcher prepared the data extraction form used to obtain the relevant data for the research review. It includes information concerning the publication year, type, language, sector type, sample size, participants' education level, ODS scores of participants, demographics, and variables whose relationship with OD is examined. It also includes the main results of these studies.

RESULTS

The results of this study, whose aim was to examine the perceived OD levels of employees and associated work and organizational psychological outcomes, appear in several basic tables. First, the means of the ODS total score and subscale scores of the employees are reported in **Table 1**. Then, **Table 2** compares ODS total scores and subscale scores of private- and public-sector employees. **Table 3** indicates descriptive characteristics of the 37 studies, including variables associated with OD, and some results. Further, **Table 4** represents the main results in describing the correlation or regression coefficients of OD and its dimensions with related variables. The **Appendices D** and **E** delineate each study in more detail.

Table 1 encompasses ODS total and subscale scores (N = 9,902 participants) from the 37 studies included in this focused systematic review. Table 1 shows the calculated weighted averages of the ODS total scores of the employees (mean = 3.30 ± 0.81). The results of the subscale scores indicate that the employees show the lowest score with regard to the justice subscale (mean = 3.17 \pm 0.91), and the highest score with regard to the equality subscale (mean = 3.47 ± 0.74). The private-sector employees' ODS total score (U = 56.000; p =0.032), participation-criticism score (U = 57.000; p = 0.036), transparency score (U = 58.500; p = 0.042), equality score (U= 49.500; p = 0.048), and accountability score (U = 59.500; p = 0.047) were significantly higher than the scores of publicsector employees (Table 2). There was no significant difference between the justice subscale scores of private- and public-sector employees (U = 61.000; p = 0.055).

Table 3 indicates that 25 (67.6 %) of the 37 included studies represent published manuscripts, and 9 (24%) of them are unpublished thesis. Most of the studies (73%) are written in Turkish and 27% are in English. The sample of this systematic

review consists of N = 10,370 participants, half of whom (49.5%) were male. The venues of the studies include 43.2% in public-sector organizations and 43.2% in private-sector enterprises. Seven (18.9%) of the studies were conducted in the health sector, 7 (18.9%) in the education sector, and 4 (10.8%) in the banking sector. The professional education level of the majority of the employees (67%) was "university graduate" or higher.

A significant relationship between age and ODS scores occurred in 6 of 11 studies (Geçkil et al., 2016, 2017; Çankaya, 2018; Kara, 2020; Üst Can, 2020; Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021; see **Appendix D**). In 4 of these studies, the ODS scores of the participants over the age of 40 were significantly higher than those of participants under the age of 40 (Geçkil et al., 2016, 2017; Çankaya, 2018; Kara, 2020). In one study, the ODS score of those under the age of 31 was higher than the score of those between the ages of 32 and 37 (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021), while in another study, a negative significant but weak correlation was found between ODS accountability and age (Üst Can, 2020). In another 5 studies, no significant association between age and ODS appeared (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Erdal, 2020).

Fifteen studies investigated the relationship between gender and ODS scores (see **Appendix D**). A significant relationship between gender and ODS scores appeared in a total of 7 studies. In 6 of these, men's ODS scores were significantly higher (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Geckil et al., 2017; Çankaya, 2018; Karatepe, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Kara, 2020). In one study, female participants' scores were higher (Karadağ and Geckil, 2020). Eight studies showed no significant correlation between gender and ODS scores (Işikgöz et al., 2017; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Bilyay et al., 2020; Erdal, 2020; Üst Can, 2020; Geckil and Şendoğdu, 2021).

Eleven studies investigated the relationship between education levels and ODS scores. In 8 of these, it was reported that there was no significant relationship between both variables (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Geçkil et al., 2016; Işikgöz et al., 2017; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021). Three studies indicated a negative correlation between the two variables (Karatepe, 2019; Kara, 2020; Üst Can, 2020). On the contrary, in one study, scores of those employees with vocational school degrees were higher than those with high school degrees (Çankaya, 2018).

Appendix D further shows the findings of 11 studies that examined the relationship between the ODS and the marital status of the participants. In 6 of these studies, no significant relationship between the marital status of the participants and their ODS scores appeared (Işikgöz et al., 2017; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Erdal, 2020; Üst Can, 2020). ODS scores of singles in 4 studies (Çankaya, 2018; Karatepe, 2019; Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021; Naldöken and Limoncu) and of married participants in one study were significantly higher (Kara, 2020).

Sixteen studies examined the relationship between participants' job tenure and ODS. Eight of them indicate no significant relationship between those variables (Geçkil et al., 2016; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019; Bilyay et al., 2020; Erdal, 2020;

ODS total and subscales	Sector type	Ν	Mean rank	Sum of ranks	Mann-Whitney U	Ζ	Р
Participation-Criticism	Private	14	18.43	258.00	57.000	-2.096	0.036
	Public	15	11.80	177.00			
Transparency	Private	14	18.32	256.50	58.500	-2.030	0.042
	Public	15	11.90	178.50			
Justice	Private	14	18.14	254.00	61.000	-1.921	0.055
	Public	15	12.07	181.00			
Equality	Private	14	17.38	208.50	49.500	-1.977	0.048
	Public	15	11.30	169.50			
Accountability	Private	14	18.25	255.50	59.500	-1.987	0.047
	Public	15	11.97	179.50			
ODS total	Private	14	18.50	259.00	56.000	-2.140	0.032
	Public	15	11.73	176.00			

TABLE 2 | Comparison of ODS and subscale scores of private and public sector employees.

Üst Can, 2020). A significant relationship between the duration of job experience and ODS scores appeared in eight studies. In four of them, those participants with <5 years of experience had higher ODS scores (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Geçkil et al., 2017; Işikgöz et al., 2017; Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021); in three of them, participants with longer experience had higher ODS scores (Çankaya, 2018; Karatepe, 2019; Kara, 2020).

The other 21 variables, whose relationships with ODS the studies in this focused systematic review examine, represent typical work and organizational psychological outcomes or correlates of OD (for details see **Table 3**). The findings that **Appendix D** presents and **Table 4** summarizes relate to employees' behavior, experience, and attitudes. Following the approach of Positive Organizational Behavior (Dutton and Glynn, 2007; Campbell Quick et al., 2010), several outcome variables represent positive organization and employee effects (e.g., organizational citizenship behaviors, job satisfaction, psychological capital, organizational commitment). Organizational dissent, silence, and depression, as well as job stress and intention to quit the job, are considered negative outcomes of low levels of organizational conditions (e.g., Weber et al., 2020).

Four of the studies included in this systematic review (Işik, 2017; Işikgöz et al., 2017; Atalay, 2018; Üst Can, 2020) do not appear in Table 4 because they examined only the relationship between ODS and demographic variables. In Table 4, high regression and correlation coefficients between some variables and ODS subscales draw attention. For example, Yildirim and Deniz (2020) report very high beta coefficients between work engagement and the ODS subscale "transparency" (ß = 0.746 to 0.867). Geckil and Tikici (2016) found very high correlations between the OCB civic virtue subscale and ODS and its subscales (r = 531-892). This situation may raise the question of whether those items are so similar that they are measuring the same phenomena. However, a comparison of the item contents of these subscales showed such different semantic contents that they do not represent the same thing.

Both theory and existing empirical research let assume that features of OD will be positively associated with features of OCB (see the meta-analysis by Weber et al., 2020). This may be the case because collective planning and decision making allows as well as requires mutual help among the participating employees. OCB refers to constructive and responsible participation in organizational processes (Organ, 1988). Five studies (13.5%) investigated the relationship between ODS and organizational citizenship behaviors (OCB). Statistically significant positive relationships between total scores of ODS and OCB appeared in three studies (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Günden, 2019). In one study, the ODS total score was associated (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018), in another study it was not associated with OCB total (Geckil and Tikici, 2016). Two studies (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021) examined relationships between scores of ODS subscales and OCB subscales. In one study (Geckil and Tikici, 2016), no significant relationship between ODS and its subscales and the OCB sportsmanship subscale was found. In the same study, and not in line with OD theory, a negative and weak correlation (r = -0.118 to -0.193) was identified between ODS total and its subscales and the OCB altruism subscale. ODS total and all ODS subscales correlated significantly and positively with the OCB conscientiousness, courtesy, and civic virtue subscales (r = 0.379to 0.892; Geckil and Tikici, 2016). Despite a negative association between four of the ODS subscales and OCB courtesy, positive relationships (r = 0.414-0.487) were found between ODS subscales and OCB altruism, conscientiousness, sportsmanship, and civic virtue (Çavuş and Biçer, 2021). A further study demonstrated positive associations between ODS total, together with the transparency, justice, equality, and accountability ODS subscales and OCB total, but no relationship was found between the ODS participation-criticism subscale and OCB total (Barutçu, 2019).

Organizational dissent means that employees can express their discomfort and ideas within the organization. Organizational dissent is described as a "necessary devil" in modern organizations (Zeng, 2018). Offering work-related freedom

TABLE 3 | The characteristics of the studies included in focused systematic review.

Number of studies	Type of article and publication language	Publication language	Sector type	Sample size	Educational status	Cronbach's alpha reliability coefficient	Variables searched to be related
37	Manuscript: 25 (67.6%) Unpublished Thesis: 9 (24%) Conference Paper: 2 (5.4%) Working Paper: 1 (3%)	Turkish: 27 (73%) English: 10 (27%)	Public: 16 (43.2%) Private: 16 (43.2%) Public and Private (Mixed): 5 (13.6%) Sector: Health: 7 (18.9%) Education: 7 (18.9%) Banking: 4 (10.8%) Hospitality: 2 (5.4 %) Retail: 2 (5.4 %) Various: 3 (8.1 %) Other: 12 (32.5%)	N = 10,370 Female: 4,864 (46.9%) Male: 5,128 (49.5%) Unknown: 378 (3.6%)	Primary school+ High school: 1,781 (17.1%) Graduate+ Postgraduate: 6,949 (67%) Unknown: 1,653 (15.9%)	0.70–0.79: 40.80–0.89: 3 Over 0.90: 20 Subscales: 7 Participate-Criticism: 0.805–0.938 Transparency: 0.718–0.924 Justice: 0.712–0.889 Equality: 0.660–0.916 Accountability: 0.679–0.850	 Demographics: 20 (54.1%) Pcychological Variables (n = 21) Organizational citizenship behaviors (OCB): 5 (13.5%) Organizational dissent: 5 (13.5%) Job satisfaction: 3 (8.1%) Psychological capital: 3 (8.1%) Organizational commitment: 3 (8.1%) Organizational silence: 3 (8.1%) Organizational identification: 2 Social capital: 1 Intrapreneurship tendency:1 Organizational support:1 Political sensitivity:1 Organizational culture: 1 Job stress level: 1 Employee performance:1 Work engagement: 1 Intention to quit from job: 1 Ethical leadership: 1 Psychological empowerment: 1

TABLE 4 | The correlations and regression of related factors with ODS total and subscales.

Related factors		ODS total			ODS subscales		
			Participation-Critism	Transparency	Justice	Equality	Accountability
		r/β/ R ²	r/β	r/β	r /β	r/β	r/β
Geckil and Tikici (2016)	OCB total	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	<i>p</i> > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Altruism	-0.186**	-0.167**	-0.152**	-0.193**	-0.118*	-0.137*
	Conscientiousness	0.579**	0.486**	0.682**	0.407**	0.404**	0.379**
	Courtesy	0.786**	0.704**	0.759	0.714**	0.470**	0.577**
	Sportsmanship	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Civic virtue	0.892**	0.862**	0.857**	0.732**	0.531**	0.638**
Tokay and Eyüpoglu (2018)	OCB total	0.257**	0.245**	0.201**	0.329**	0.404**	0.309**
Barutçu (2019)	OCB total	$R^2 = 0.741; p = 0.000$	P > 0.5	β =0.074; p:0.030	$\beta = 0.454$; p:0.000	$\beta = 0.501$; p:0.000	$\beta = 0.105; p:0.00$
Günden (2019)	OCB total	0.40*					
Çavuş and Biçer (2021)	OCB total						
	Altruism		0.431**	0.357**	0.369**		0.364**
	Conscientiousness		0.496**	0.442**	0.438**		0.435**
	Courtesy		-0.458**	-0.390**	-0.468**		-0.424**
	Sportsmanship		0.432**	0.414**	0.454**		0.487**
	Civic virtue		0.676**	0.620**	0.674**		0.614**
Bilyay et al. (2020)	Organizational dissent	0.220*					
	Upward dissent	0.480*					
	Lateral dissent	p > 0.05					
Erdal (2020)	Organizational dissent	0.647					
Erkasap (2020)	Organizational dissent	$\beta = 0.304; \rho = 0.003$					
	Upward dissent	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	$\beta = 0.464; \rho = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.451; \rho = 0.001$	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.332; \rho = 0.0$
	Lateral dissent		$\beta = 0.336; \rho = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.286; p = 0.001$	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.205; p = 0.001$	p > 0.05
Erkasap and Ülgen (2020)	Organizational dissent		p > 0.05	$\beta = 0.286; \rho = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.251; p = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.150; p = 0.020$	$\beta = -0.228; \rho = 0.0$
	Upward dissent		p > 0.05	$\beta = 0.459; \rho = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.445; p = 0.001$	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.331; p = 0.0$
	Lateral dissent		$\beta = 0.267; p = 0.001$	$\beta = -0.192; p = 0.001$	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.262; p = 0.001$	p > 0.05
Pelenk (2020)	Organizational dissent						
	Upward dissent		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Lateral dissent		0.263**	0.258**	0.216*	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
Kesen (2015a)	Job satisfaction		0.372**	0.397**	0.495**	0.438**	0.237**
Geçkil et al. (2017)	Job satisfaction	0.622**	0.536**	0.566**	0.527**	0.494**	0.453**
	Intrinsic satisfaction	0.538**	0.467**	0.503**	0.415**	0.449**	0.391**
	Extrinsic satisfaction	0.613**	0.525**	0.546**	0.559**	0.468**	0.447**
Çankaya, 2018	Job satisfaction		0.475**	0.547**	0.563**	0.449**	0.517**
	Intrinsic satisfaction		0.419**	0.480**	0.498**	0.411**	0.473**

(Continued)

Geçkil

152

TABLE 4 | Continued

Related factors		ODS total			ODS subscales		
			Participation-Critism	Transparency	Justice	Equality	Accountability
		r/β/ R ²	r/β	r/β	r/β	r/β	r/β
	Extrinsic satisfaction		0.510**	0.590**	0.602**	0.457**	0.530**
Geçkil et al. (2016)	Psychological capital	0.126*	0.110*	0.174**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.153**
	Optimism	0.115*	0.110*	0.137**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.185**
	Resilience	0.118*	p > 0.05	0.164**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.141**
	Норе	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.150**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.123*
	Self-efficacy	0.106*	0.121*	0.153**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
Geçkil and Koçyigit (2017)	Psychological capital	0.338**	0.292**	0.274**	0.264**	0.349**	0.275**
	Optimism	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Resilience	0.561**	0.519**	0.477**	0.471**	0.500**	0.389**
	Норе	0.301**	0.254**	0.246**	0.227*	0.301**	0.276**
	Self-efficacy	0.268**	0.237**	0.207*	0.196*	0.270**	0.250**
Karagöz and Atilla (2018)	Psychological capital	0.391**					
Naldöken and Limoncu (2019)	Organizational commitment	0.427**	0.336**	0.302**	0.351**	0.383**	0.446**
	Affective commitment	0.368**	0.321**	0.270**	0.304**	0.296**	0.330**
	Continuance commitment	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Normative commitment	0.489**	0.401**	0.352**	0.416**	0.415**	0.470**
Uysal (2019)	Organizational commitment	p < 0.05					
Yalçinkaya (2019)	Organizational commitment	$R^2 = 0.126$; p:0.000					
	Affective commitment		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	β = 0.225; p:0.015	p > 0.05
	Continuance commitment		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Normative commitment		$\beta = -0.376$; p:0.000	$\beta = 0.482; p:0.000$	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
Erkasap (2020)	Organizational silence	$\beta = -0.309$; p:0.004					
	Acquiescent silence		$\beta = -0.274$; p:0.001	$\beta = -0.310; p:0.001$	$\beta = -0.134$; p:0.023	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Defensive silence		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.305; p:0.001$	$\beta = -0.162$; p:0.004	p > 0.05
	Pro-social silence		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	β =0.151 p:0.00
Karadağ and Geçkil (2020)	Organizational silence	-0.218**	-0.182*	-0.165*	-0.159*	-0.192**	-0.258**
	Acquiescent silence	-0.192**	-0.185*	-0.165*	p > 0.05	-0.156*	-0.218**
	Defensive silence	p > 0.05	0.149*	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Pro-social silence	-0.293**	-0.283**	-0.255**	-0.184*	-0.293**	-0.279**
Kesen (2015a)	Organizational identification		0.433**	0.383**	0.417**	0.381**	0.304**
Kesen (2015b)	Organizational identification		0.482**	0.472**	0.375**	0.399**	0.415**
Aykanat and Yildiz (2018)	Social capital						
	Structural		0.567**	0.556**	0.621**	0.600**	0.645**
	Relational		0.303**	0.327**	0.338**	0.591**	0.507**
	Cognitive		0.503**	0.516**	0.460**	0.688**	0.658**

Geçkil

Organizational Democracy and Associated Factors

TABLE 4 | Continued

Related factors		ODS total			ODS subscales		
			Participation-Critism	Transparency	Justice	Equality	Accountability
		$r/\beta/R^2$	r/ β	r/β	r/β	r/β	r /β
Öge and Çiftçi (2017)	Intrapreneurship tendency	0.668**					
	Innovation	0.521**	0.402**	0.461**	p > 0.05	0.515**	0.267*
	Risk-taking and proactivity	0.642**	0.663**	0.544**	0.268*	p > 0.05	0.419**
	Autonomy	0.353**	0.471**	0.291*	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.324**
Bakan et al. (2017)	Organizational justice						
	Distributive		0.545**	0.553**	0.595**	0.503**	0.513**
	Procedural		0.547**	0.628**	0.592**	0.575**	0.557**
	Interpersonal		0.479**	0.549**	0.523**	0.555**	0.478**
	Informational		0.498**	0.606**	0.510**	0.553**	0.769**
Bakan et al. (2017)	Organizational support		0.403**	0.476**	0.365**	0.412**	0.714**
Karatepe (2019)	Political sensitivity	0.256**	0.191**	0.259**	0.266**	0.193**	0.172**
	Knowledge	0.285**	0.208**	0.269**	0.317**	0.187**	0.254**
	Cognition	0.166*	0.130*	0.199*	p > 0.05	0.169*	0.144*
	Participation	0.136*	0.119*	0.145*	0.178*	0.202**	0.140*
	Interest	0.150**	0.136*	0.139*	0.195**	0.158*	0.147*
Bakan and Gözükara (2019)	Organizational depression		-0.601**	-0.714**	-0.602**	-0.577**	-0.620**
Geçkil and Şendoğdu (2021)	Quality of work life	0.801**	0.771**	0.776**	0.726**	0.545**	0.600**
	Job and career satisfaction	0.676**	0.628**	0.652**	0.612**	0.451**	0.539**
	General wellbeing	0.716**	0.693**	0.698**	0.634**	0.509**	0.531**
	Control at work	0.684**	0.697**	0.635**	0.624**	0.410**	0.534**
	Working conditions	0.745**	0.700**	0.738**	0.677**	0.527**	0.547**
	Stress at work	0.516**	0.463**	0.521**	0.465**	0.421**	0.359**
	Home-work interface	0.732**	0.735**	0.705**	0.676**	0.459**	0.539**
Pelenk (2020)	Organizational culture						
	Clan		-0.108*	-0.105*	-0.120*	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Adhocracy		0.103*	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	p > 0.05
	Market		0.166**	0.276**	0.223**	0.283**	0.231*
	Hierarchical		0.175**	p > 0.05	p > 0.05	0.275**	0.219*
Tokgöz and Önen (2021)	Job stress level		p > 0.05	p > 0.05	$\beta = -0.14$; p:0.01	$\beta = -0.24$; p:0.001	$\beta = 0.14$; p:0.001
Kesen (2015b)	Employee performance		0.353**	0.362**	0.308**	0.330**	0.272**
Yildirim and Deniz (2020)	Work engagement	β = 0.407; p:0.001					
	Vigor		$\beta = -0.294; \rho < 0.001$	$\beta = 0.855 p < 0.001$	$\beta = -0.288 p < 0.001$		$\beta = -0.075 \text{ p:} 0.035$
	Dedication		$\beta = -0.343 \rho < 0.001$	$\beta = 0.867 \ p < 0.001$	$\beta = -0.215 \rho < 0.001$		$\beta = -0.073 \text{ p}: 0.03$
	Absorption		$\beta = -0.205 \rho < 0.001$	$\beta = 0.746 p < 0.001$	$\beta = -0.402 \rho < 0.001$		<i>p</i> > 0.05
Kara (2020)	Intention to quit from job	-0.418**	-0.389**	-0.417**	-0.476**	-0.165**	p > 0.05

*p < 0.01, **p < 0.001.

April 2022 | Volume 13 | Article 767469

-There is no reported data for blank cells in the table.

Geçkil

of thought, OD can lead to the emergence and existence of organizational dissent. A democratic work environment leads employees to embrace work-related facts and, thus, increase their performance (Ahmed et al., 2019). This review includes 5 (13.5%) studies that explore the relationship between ODS and organizational dissent. Three report positive and significant associations between ODS total and organizational dissent total scores. The level of the relationship was weak (r = 0.220) in one study (Bilyay et al., 2020) and moderate or strong (respectively, $\beta = 0.304$; r = 0.647) in two other studies (Erdal, 2020; Erkasap, 2020) (see Appendix D and Table 4). Two studies investigated the relationship between ODS total and organizational upward dissent. One showed no relationship (p > 0.5) (Erkasap, 2020) while a moderately positive relationship was found in the other (r = 0.480; p < 0.5) (Bilyay et al., 2020). The relationship between ODS total and organizational lateral dissent was investigated in only one study, no significant correlation appeared. The studies by Erkasap (2020) and Erkasap and Ülgen (2020) revealed a positive, significant, and moderate relationship between the ODS transparency subscale and upward organizational dissent. In two studies, negative, significant, and moderate relationships were found between the ODS justice and accountability subscales and the organizational dissent total (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020). Similarly, the study of Erkasap and Ülgen (2020) found negative correlations between the ODS justice and accountability subscales and upward dissent. Further, in two studies, ODS transparency and equality subscales had weak and negative effects on lateral dissent (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020), whereas ODS transparency had a positive influence on the latter and equality had none in Pelenk's 2020 study. In three studies, ODS participation-criticism affected lateral dissent significantly positively (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020; Pelenk, 2020), thought, contrary to theoretical assumptions, no significant associations were identified with upward dissent.

It is widely believed that the employee participation may affect employee's job satisfaction, because, for example, participation satisfies employees' basic needs for autonomy and competence. Therefore, employee participation seems to be an important determinant of job satisfaction (Heller et al., 1998; Bhatti and Qureshi, 2007). As **Appendix D** and **Table 4** show that positive, significant, and moderate correlations were found in all 3 relevant studies (8.1%) that examined the relationship between the ODS subscales and job satisfaction subscales (r = 0.237-0.602) (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Çankaya, 2018). One study examined the associations between ODS total and job satisfaction and its subscales, which revealed significant and strong positive correlations (r = 0.538-0.622) (Geçkil et al., 2017).

Employees' belief in their own abilities, strong will, having a positive perspective, and being able to make positive changes in failure or distress are closely related to their psychological capital (Luthans and Youssef, 2004). Organizational democracy can improve the positive mood of the employees by changing the socio-moral atmosphere of organizations. In turn, positive mood of employees can increase their optimism, hope, resilience and self-efficacy. However, it is thought that the change in psychological capital may be related to individual factors rather than the environment. Three studies (8.1%) inspected the

relationship between ODS and psychological capital. In one (Geckil et al., 2016), a weak correlation (r = 0.126) and in the other two (Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017; Karagöz and Atilla, 2018), a moderate correlation (r = 0.338-0.391) appeared between the total scores of ODS and psychological capital. Not in line with theory, Geckil et al. (2016) found no significant relationship between ODS total and hope; further, Geckil and Kocyigit (2017) found no relation between ODS total, ODS subscales and optimism. These results, which are inconsistent with OD theory, are thought to be related to individual factors. In one study, ODS total and some of the ODS subscales were associated significantly and positively with the total score and some subscales of psychological capital, namely, resilience, hope, and self-efficiency. Weak correlations were found between the ODS participation-criticism subscale and the scores of psychological capital total, and only one subscale of psychological capital, namely, self-efficiency (Geçkil et al., 2016; Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017). The ODS transparency subscale correlated positively and weakly with the psychological capital total score and with nearly all of its subscales (Geckil et al., 2016; Geckil and Kocyigit, 2017). In contrast to Geçkil and Koçyigit (2017) and Geçkil et al. (2016) identified no significant relationships between the ODS justice and equality subscales. Significantly positive and weak correlations occurred between the ODS accountability subscale and nearly all indicators of psychological capital (Geckil et al., 2016; Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017).

Organizational democracy is expected to play a potential role that affects organizational commitment (Allen and Meyer, 1996). So many things could be affected by the lack of OD including employees' commitment to their organization. According to Harrison and Freeman (2004), organizational democracy can help to foster commitment to the organization since, through OD, employees could develop the ability to influence the organization in which they work. By increasing participation in decision-making decisions can be implemented in a smoother way, as well as the commitment of employees toward the final adoption can be increased. Three studies (8.1%) examined the relationship between ODS and organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Uysal, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019). Two studies reported significant and positive associations, and one study exhibited no correlation between the total scores of ODS and organizational commitment. The work of Naldöken and Limoncu (2019), and Yalçinkaya (2019) found no relation between continuance commitment and ODS total and the ODS subscales, though Yalçinkaya (2019) identified affective commitment associated with the ODS equality subscale, and normative commitment negatively related to ODS participationcriticism and positively to ODS transparency. Naldöken and Limoncu (2019) revealed significant positive relationships between ODS total and all ODS subscales and all indicators of organizational commitment except continuance commitment.

Organizational silence can deeply affect important areas of the organization such as organizational change, development, transformation of the organization into a pluralistic structure, and decision making (Morrison and Milliken, 2000). In the event that subordinates give incorrect or insufficient feedback or provide no feedback not at all, the organization cannot

perceive its own objective position and, thus, will be negatively affected (Milliken et al., 2003). Organizational democracy can break the silence by enabling the employee to criticize what is going on around him. Two studies examined the relationship between ODS and organizational silence. In these two studies, a negative and significant relationship appeared between the total of ODS and organizational silence scores (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). In one study, negative and significant relationships were found between acquiescent silence and ODS participation-criticism ($\beta = -0.274$; p = 0.001) transparency (β = -0.310; p = 0.001), and justice subscales ($\beta = -0.134$; p =0.023) (Erkasap, 2020). In another study, negative and significant (r = -0.156 to -0.218) relationships arose between acquiescent silence and ODS participation-criticism, equality, accountability, and transparency subscales (Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). In this study, positive and significant relationships were found between quiescent (defensive) silence and only the participant-criticism subscale (Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). Negative correlations were found between defensive silence and equality and justice subscales (Erkasap, 2020). Negative and significant relationships were present between the pro-social (protective) silence and ODS total and its subscales (Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). On the other hand, Erkasap (2020) found a weak positive correlation between pro-social silence and the accountability subscale.

Organizational identification is a type of psychological attachment that occurs when members take on key characteristics of the organization as defining characteristics for themselves (Dutton et al., 1994, p. 242). It can be expected that employees who work in organizations that create a democratic climate would be able to identify with their organizations. Two studies examined the relationship between ODS and organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b). Both studies found significant, positive, and moderate correlations between ODS subscales and organizational identification (r = 0.304-0.482).

Additionally, one study each demonstrated positive and significant relationships between ODS indicator scales and social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), intrapreneurship tendency (Öge and Çiftçi, 2017), organizational justice, organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019),

quality of work-life (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021), and employee performance (Kesen, 2015b).

One relevant study also found negative and significant relationships between most ODS subscales and organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019), and intention to quit the job (Kara, 2020). A negative relationship was reported between the equality and justice subscales of the ODS and the job stress level whereas a weak positive correlation was found between accountability and job stress (Tokgöz and Önen, 2021). Furthermore, the same study showed no significant association between ODS/participation-criticism, ODS/transparency, and job stress.

ODS total score significantly affects work engagement ($\beta = 0.407$; p = 0.001). The ODS transparency subscale strongly predicted all subscale indicators of work engagement ($\beta = 0.746$ to 0.867). Participation-criticism ($\beta = -0.205$ to -0.343), justice ($\beta = -0.215$ to -0.402), and accountability ($\beta = -0.073$ to -0.075) subscales predict the indicators of work engagement negatively (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020). Although the three subscales of ODS (participation-criticism, justice, and accountability) negatively affected the subscales of work engagement. The source of this positive effect on the work engagement total is the very high positive effect of the transparency subscale of the ODS.

Appendix E and Table 5 show the results of three studies with different scale structures. Since the 5-subscale and 28item structure of the ODS changed in these studies, it seemed appropriate to present these results in a separate table. One of the three studies (Bilge et al., 2020) examined the relationship between OD and employee demographics. No significant relationship emerged between ODS total and subscale scores and gender and age (p > 0.05). Married employees had higher ODS participation-criticism subscale scores than singles did (p = 0.020). Secondary-school graduates had high ODS justice subscale scores (p = 0.039). There is a significant relationship between ODS equality subscale scores and working time (p = 0.044). The second study (Can and Dogan, 2020) examined the relationships between OD and ethical leadership

TABLE 5 | The correlations and regression of related factors with ODS total and subscales (studies with different scale structures).

Related factors				ODS s	subscales		
		ODS total	Participation- critism	Transparency	Justice	Equality	Accountabilit
		r/β/ R ²	r/β	r/β	r/β	r/β	r/β
Bilge et al. (2020)	There is no correlat	tion or regressior	values since the rel	ationship with OD	is not the va	riable examir	ned
Can and Dogan (2020)	Ethical leadership	0.871**					
Can and Dogan (2020)	Psychological empowerment	0.580**					
	Autonomy	0.462**					
	Autonomy Impact	0.462** 0.649**					
Senol and Aktaş (2017)	,						

 $p^* < 0.01, p^* < 0.001.$

and psychological empowerment. A significant correlation was found between ODS total and ethical leadership (r = 0.871). Significant correlations were present between the ODS total and the psychological empowerment total (r = 0.580), and its autonomy (r = 0.462) and impact subscales (r = 0.649). The last study (Senol and Aktaş, 2017) examined the relationship between OD and organizational silence. The regression analysis showed organizational democracy positively affecting organizational silence ($\beta = 0.181$, p = 0.023).

DISCUSSION

Aiming to examine the organizational democracy levels and related factors for public and private sector employees in Turkey, this focused systematic review investigated the results of 37 studies, with a total of 10,370 employees. The mean of the total ODS scores was found to be 3.30 ± 0.81 (Table 1) for the employees. Considering that the scoring of the scale used a 5point Likert scale, the participants' ODS scores seem slightly above the "moderate" level and not at the desired level. A score of 4 or more on a concerning 5-point Likert scale indicates a relatively high influence of employees on organizational decision making which may promote their positive organizational attitudes and behaviors (Heller et al., 1998). In the majority of cases, and to varying degrees, OD showed positive correlations with outcomes representing positive organizational behaviors and negative correlations with outcomes assigned to negative organizational behaviors (Appendix D and Table 4). For this reason, taking initiatives to improve OD will benefit both employees and organizations. In this context, examining the factors affecting the establishment of OD in organizations can be a starting point.

As the research outcome shows, the ODS total scores of private-sector employees were higher than those of publicsector employees also in studies that included both (mixed) sectors (see Appendix D). That the OD level of employees in private-sector enterprises in Turkey is higher than those of public-sector employees, represents an expected and significant result that can be explained through the unsuitability of the public sector's bureaucratic structure for establishing OD. The bureaucratic structure was created to meet the needs of a society with a high need for uncertainty avoidance, where high power distance is considered normal (a feature of Turkish social structure mentioned before) (Hofstede, 2021). The institutions of a society with high power distance and high uncertainty avoidance scores must work with detailed rules and a hierarchical structure (Sargut, 2010), as rigid bureaucratic structures. Democratic practices will not easily settle in bureaucratic structures because the rules determine a bureaucratic organizational structure. A social transformation to an organization that can live with uncertainty can weaken bureaucratic structures and enable organic structures to emerge. The transformation of Turkish society into a society that adopts low power distance may also weaken the rigid bureaucratic structures. Ensuring such developments could enable public institutions in Turkey to become more democratic.

ODS participation-criticism subscale scores of the employees (mean = 3.18 ± 0.91) were at a moderate level. The level of participation-criticism of private-sector employees is higher than that of public-sector employees (Table 2). The higher level of participation-criticism of private-sector employees may be due to the enterprises' structural differences. The fact that the score of participation-criticism was at a moderate level can be attributable to the employees of the enterprises in Turkey being unable to participate in decisions sufficiently. They cannot criticize the policies and practices of their institutions, even when finding them incorrect, and the culture of criticism is not sufficiently developed. Insufficient participation of employees in decisionmaking processes may lead to depriving the organization of their suggestions. In this case, the organization will be managed only by the managers' capacity. That is, the organization will lack the employees' managerial contributions. Increasing the level of employee participation-criticism can lead to positive results for themselves and their organizations. Indeed, three respective studies included in this review (Appendix D and Table 4) found important positive correlations between the levels of employees' participation-criticism and job satisfaction (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Cankava, 2018), organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b), employee performance (Kesen, 2015b), psychological capital (Geckil et al., 2016; Geckil and Kocyigit, 2017), perception of organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), intrapreneurship tendency (Öge and Çiftçi, 2017), social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), OCB (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), increase in organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019), and quality of work-life (Geckil and Sendoğdu, 2021).

Appendix D and Table 4 further show negative correlations between the ODS participation-criticism level and organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019), intention to quit the job (Kara, 2020), the organizational silence total score, and its acquiescent-silence subscale (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). However, mixed findings characterize the association between participation-criticism, defensive silence, and prosocial silence. While in one study no relationship emerged between participation-criticism and job stress (Tokgöz and Önen, 2021), in another study examining the relationships between quality of work-life and ODS (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021), the stress at work subscale (of quality of work-life) and all ODS subscales were positively correlated to a considerable extent. It was expected that ODS would be negatively correlated with stress because organizational democracy includes several resources like job control and autonomy at work supposed to buffer stressing events at the workplace (Ashley et al., 2011). Some of the research results were contrary to this expectation. Organizational context factors (e.g., the economic situation of a company or features of the manufacturing technology) may play a role. Against the background of the unexpected result, new specific research on the unresolved relationship in democratic organizational settings is recommended. Participation-criticism correlation with work engagement was significantly negative (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020). This result, which contradicts the theory, suggests that this relationship should be re-examined through different samples, too.

The ODS transparency subscale scores of the employees (mean = 3.42 ± 0.86) seem slightly above the medium level, and the score of the private-sector employees is higher than the score of the public employees This finding suggests that the employees' scores for transparency regarding their organizations are reasonably good but open to improvement. Strengthening transparency will ensure that the employee is perceived as a shareholder/stakeholder in the decision processes of the organization (Geckil and Tikici, 2015). Increasing transparency can positively affect the corporate culture, in terms of communication and openness. Thus, the concerned findings indicate positive correlations between the level of transparency and job satisfaction (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Cankava, 2018), organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b), psychological capital (Geçkil et al., 2016; Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017), perception of organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), intrapreneurship (Öge and Çiftçi, 2017), social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), predominantly with OCB (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), increase in normative organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019), all subscales of work engagement (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020), and quality of work-life (Geckil and Şendoğdu, 2021). Mixed results leave open the relationship between ODS transparency and affective commitment; no relationship to continuance commitment was identified. Associations with prosocial silence seem unclear and did not exist with defensive silence. Moreover, negative correlations with organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019), acquiescent organizational silence (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020), and the intention to quit the job (Kara, 2020) were evident. Again, a positive (Geckil and Şendoğdu, 2021) or no relationship was found between transparency and job stress (Tokgöz and Önen, 2021).

The ODS justice subscales indicated the lowest level among all dimensions (mean = 3.17 ± 0.91). Justice scores of private-sector employees were higher than those of public workers, but the difference was not statically significant (Table 2). Additionally, the respected studies demonstrated positive correlations among the level of ODS justice with job satisfaction (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Çankaya, 2018), organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b), perception of organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019), employee performance (Kesen, 2015b), social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), OCB (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), and quality of work-life (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021). On the other hand, we observed negative correlations between ODS justice and organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019), work engagement (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020), intention to quit the job (Kara, 2020). Mixed results leave open the relationship between ODS justice and several forms of psychological capital (Geçkil et al., 2016; Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017), organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019), organizational silence (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020), and job stress (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021; Tokgöz and Önen, 2021). Organizational justice is an important determinant of attitudes, decisions, and behaviors (Gilliland and Chan, 2009, p. 167). The fact that the employees have a high level of justice perception regarding the organizations for which they work may produce important positive organizational and behavioral outcomes for both themselves and their organizations. Business managers should determine and implement policies that will increase their employees' perception of justice. The opinions of the employees about the fairness of their treatment affect their organizational commitment (Carmona et al., 2010, p. 210). Studies have found that justice correlates with job satisfaction, evaluation of superiors, trust in management, and turnover intentions (Gilliland and Chan, 2009, p. 172).

ODS equality subscales measurements demonstrated the highest values among all dimensions (mean = 3.47 ± 0.74) from the ODS subscales (Table 1). Equality scores of privatesector employees were higher than from public employees (Table 2). Since equality manifests in the form of rights that laws, statutes, and other general regulators at the institutional level provide, being the highest values to emerge in this dimension seems natural. Equality is equal treatment of those with equal conditions (Geçkil and Tikici, 2015). It is an egalitarian approach to evaluating all employees, regardless of religion, language, race, age, or gender, by considering the value they provide to the business (Bozkurt, 2012). Employees sensing egalitarian policies in their organizations can lead to an increase in positive organizational and behavioral outcomes and a decrease in negatively evaluated outcomes. Studies reveal positive correlations between the ODS equality subscale and job satisfaction (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Çankaya, 2018), organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), OCB (Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019), predominantly organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019), and quality of work-life (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021). However, mixed findings relate equality to psychological capital (Geçkil et al., 2016 versus Geckil and Kocyigit, 2017) organizational silence (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020), intrapreneurship (Öge and Çiftçi, 2017) and job stress (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021; Tokgöz and Önen, 2021). Negative correlations appeared between employees' scores for equality, organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019), intention to quit the job (Kara, 2020), and organizational dissent (Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020). The findings let assume that managers developing egalitarian policies and ensuring that employees notice such existing policies can contribute to the formation of several positive outputs for businesses whereas it seems still unclear how equality is related to silence behavior or stress at democratic workplaces.

Employees' level of accountability is slightly above the medium level (mean = 3.27 ± 0.95) (**Table 1**). The accountability scores of private-sector employees were higher than those of public employees (**Table 2**). The concerned studies included in this review suggest that as the level of accountability increases, positive organizational attitudes, behaviors, and competencies of employees increase—for example, job satisfaction (Kesen, 2015a; Geçkil et al., 2017; Çankaya, 2018), organizational identification (Kesen, 2015a,b), psychological capital (Geçkil et al., 2016;

Geckil and Kocyigit, 2017), perception of organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), intrapreneurship (Öge and Ciftci, 2017), social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), predominantly OCB (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Tokay and Eyüpoglu, 2018; Barutçu, 2019; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), and quality of work-life (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021). Mixed results leave open the relationship between ODS accountability and organizational commitment (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Yalcinkaya, 2019), organizational silence (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geckil, 2020) or work engagement (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020). Increase in accountability is associated with a decrease in one negative organizational and behavioral outcome, such as organizational depression (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019) but with an increase in the other negative outcome, namely job stress (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021; Tokgöz and Önen, 2021). Because of the mostly positive effects, developing a culture of accountability and practices in organizations seems recommendable.

In their majority, the five studies that examined the relationship between ODS and OCB revealed moderate or strong correlations between these two variables (Appendix D and 5). OCB, positive extra-role behaviors that employees develop toward the organization, provides various positive contributions at individual, group, and organizational levels (Podsakoff and Mac Kenzie, 1997). OCB reduces the time that managers spend on conflict-management activities by strengthening the social structure of the organization, reducing conflicts and frictions, and maintaining peace (Organ, 1988; Podsakoff et al., 2000), improving performance by increasing organizational effectiveness (Podsakoff et al., 2000). Weak and negative relationships emerged between ODS subscales and the OCB altruism subscale (Geckil and Tikici, 2016). In the same study, the OCB sportsmanship dimension did not show significant relations with ODS and all subscales. In one study, negative relationships arose between the OCB courtesy subscale and ODS subscales (Cavuş and Biçer, 2021). Significant and positive relationships existed with two other OCB subscales (conscientiousness and civic virtue). Conscientiousness includes working hard, obeying rules and regulations, going beyond the minimum role definitions (Podsakoff et al., 2000), and protecting the resources of the organization (Organ, 1988). Civic virtue expresses interest in the organization as a whole. The findings of the reviewed studies confirm that in this dimension, the individual shows the strongest citizenship-oriented behavior between himself/herself and the organization (Organ, 1988; Podsakoff et al., 2000). These dimensions closely relate to the democratic organizational environment that OD creates. In particular, courtesy and civic virtue behaviors closely relate to the culture and socio-moral atmosphere of the organization. Thus, OD can play a key role in increasing OCB, providing important outputs for businesses.

Deep differences arose between the findings of the two studies (Geckil and Tikici, 2016; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021) examining the relationships between ODS and OCB subscales. The second of these studies did not explain the reason for its differences with the first study. The reason for the discrepancy between the findings might have been sample, sector, and method differences. Both studies used similar methods (though the data-collection method is different. In the first study, data were collected through faceto-face interviews with a questionnaire. In the second study, the questionnaire form was sent to the participants). Sample characteristics show similarities. However, sample differences cannot be ignored. In the study by Geckil and Tikici (2016), 60.3% of the sample was female, and in that of Cavus and Bicer (2021), ~40.9% of the sample was female. Geckil and Tikici (2016) state that the decrease in the level of altruism due to the increase in women's OD level may relate to the nursing profession, which constituted a large part of the female sample, as well as it may relate to gender. They suggested that the fact that the nursing profession is primarily based upon assisting/caregiving to the needy could also explain the altruistic behaviors among nurses (Geckil and Tikici, 133). However, the finding that emerged in the related study and needed explanation is the inverse correlation between altruistic behavior and ODS and its subscales. The democratic environment may lead to an increased expectation of altruistic behavior toward women, and in this case, women may have responded to this excessive expectation in the opposite direction. The main reason for the disparity between the two studies seemed to be the differences between the sectors. The samples consist of the public health sector (service sector) employees on the one hand (Geckil and Tikici, 2016) and, on the other, private-sector industrial enterprise employees (Çavuş and Biçer, 2021). There are clear organizational-structure differences between the two sectors, including long hours of night shifts for health-sector workers in Turkey and many patients for each staff member. Accordingly, health-sector workers, especially nurses, are asked to make sacrifices in a tiring working environment. The other sample encompasses white-collar workers in private-sector industrial enterprises, consisting of decision-makers and those who work in managerial positions in the institutions for which they work. Presumably, they will not be exposed to external influence for demonstrating altruistic behavior, but they will exhibit this behavior dependent on their inner motivation. Cultural differences, along with organizational-structure differences in both samples, lead to differences in courtesy behavior. In Turkish culture, high power distance is considered normal (Hofstede, 2021), and courtesy can appear as weakness (especially for managers). Since the second sample consisted of white-collar private-sector employees, a negative correlation might emerge between courtesy behaviors and OD.

Participation-criticism is a democratic competency, and its use will lead to an increase in the quality of the organization. In addition to these individual and organizational outputs, the increase in the level of employee participation-criticism can also provide social outputs through political democracy, by improving their most basic democratic competencies. Weber et al. (2020) reveal that individually perceived participation positively affects employees' job satisfaction and prosocial work behaviors. Due to all these positive outputs, we recommend increasing the level of employee participation-criticism of enterprises in Turkey. The low level of participation-criticism among both public- and private-sector employees may relate to the social culture in Turkey. Carrying out studies to fully reveal the factors affecting the level of participation-criticism and determining how to improve it will be useful. Ways of encouraging participation-criticism and making it a part of business culture should be sought. Highlighting and rewarding those who openly express their ideas and suggestions as positive role models can be a method of improving participation and criticism.

In this systematic review, the relationship between ODS and organizational dissent covers five studies. Organizational dissent is any kind of protest and opposition behavior that occurs as a result of dissatisfaction with the practices within the organization, symbolizing a break from the organizational status quo (Kassing and Dicioccio, 2004). Displaced dissent behavior, the third of the three dimensions of organizational dissent, does not provide sufficient validation within the model (Kassing and Dicioccio, 2004). For this reason, studies were examined that concern the two other dimensions (upward dissent and lateral dissent). The absence of organizational dissent leads to the restriction of innovation power (Aytekin, 2019), a decrease in the learning abilities of organizations, a decrease in the diversity of perspectives, and a weakening of relations between the organization and the employee. Organizational identification, organizational citizenship, and job satisfaction are also positively associated with organizational dissent (Kassing et al., 2018).

All three concerned studies found a significantly positive relationship of low to high extent between organizational dissent total and ODS total (Bilyay et al., 2020; Erdal, 2020; Erkasap, 2020). In one of two concerned studies (Bilyay et al., 2020), the ODS total score and the upward dissent score showed a significantly positive and moderate correlation while, in the other study (Erkasap, 2020), Considered separately, ODS participation-criticism does not influence upward dissent, whereas two from threes studies (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020; Pelenk, 2020) found a positive, significant, and moderate relationship between the transparency subscale of the ODS and the upward dissent subscale. In two from threes studies studies, a negative, significant, and moderate relationship existed between the ODS justice and accountability subscales and the upward dissent subscale (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020 vs. Pelenk, 2020). The fact that employees do not feel the need to give negative feedback to their superiors in businesses where the perception of justice is high, and the culture of accountability is established, can explain this. Upward dissent means that employees share their discontent and stand against their superiors' policies. This type of opposition is desirable opposition for organizations; it is open dissent and contributes to the solution by revealing the problem or the perception of the problem. Arguably, managers can develop upward dissent with OD or with transparency practices, especially. However, not every manager will tolerate opposition and desire its emergence. For the inverse correlation of justice and accountability subscales with upward dissent, justice, and accountability eliminate the need for opposition. This result can imply that if the employee has a strong perception of justice and accountability, he or she does not need to oppose.

Lateral dissent is the opposition to the organizational decisions by members at the same level, which does not directly affect the organizational decision-making and implementation processes. Employees may resort to lateral dissent, fearing the consequences of punishment, rejection, and being ignored or put in a situation where they will feel ashamed if their opinions reach the managers (Zaini et al., 2016). In addition, the employee performs this behavior thinking that he/she is perceived as an enemy or competitor and believing that opposition cannot happen vertically (Özdemir, 2011; Erkasap, 2020). Lateral dissent is not a desirable type of opposition, and the factors leading to it must be reduced. Two of three relevant studies demonstrate that the ODS transparency and equality subscales affect lateral dissent negatively, significantly, and moderately (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020; Pelenk, 2020). In other words, perceiving high transparency and equality may decrease lateral dissent among employees. Notwithstanding that, the ODS participation-criticism dimension has a positive, significant, and moderate-to-weak effect on lateral dissent subscale scores (Erkasap, 2020; Erkasap and Ülgen, 2020; Pelenk, 2020). The fact that participation-criticism leads to an increase in lateral dissent contradicts the theoretical knowledge. Participation in management and decisions will likely increase the culture of criticism in the organization and direct the employees toward upward dissent instead of lateral dissent. Contrary to the theoretical structure, this situation requires examination in future studies.

All three studies that examine the relationship between total scores or subscale scores of ODS and job satisfaction identified positive, significant, and moderate-to-strong relationships. These results clearly demonstrate that OD is an important tool for business managers who want to increase job satisfaction. High levels of job satisfaction cause positive effects, such as strong job performance (Spector et al., 2009, p. 39; Judge et al., 2001), organizational commitment, increased organizational citizenship behaviors, decreased absenteeism, and high-level life satisfaction, toward the work, the workplace, and the individual. On the other hand, low-level job satisfaction causes an increase in staff turnover rate, absenteeism, and intention to quit the job (Geçkil et al., 2017, p. 652).

Three studies (Geçkil et al., 2016; Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017; Karagöz and Atilla, 2018) examined the relationship between total scores of ODS and psychological capital, which reflects the individual's positive psychological state. They found significantly positive correlations of weak-to-moderate size. In sum, the same is true for the relationship of ODS participation-criticism, ODStransparency, and ODS accountability with different components of psychological capital, whereas the correlations with the ODSjustice and ODS-equality subscales show an unclear picture. Sample differences and structural differences in the organizations where the studies were conducted can explain the different results in these two studies. In the first study (Geckil et al., 2016), the transparency and accountability dimensions of the ODS related to the individual's psychological capital level, while the justice and equality dimensions were completely unrelated. Participation-criticism shows mixed results. About 90% of the participants in this study worked in public organizations.

Employees in the public organization in Turkey continue to work, as long as they do not quit that job voluntarily, and their career paths are foreseeable and, compared to the hospitality industry, public organizations are stable. Certain legal regulations guarantee the rights related to business life (e.g., income, compensation, days off) in public institutions. The sample in this study consisted of physicians and nurses, and 80% of them were high-qualified employees who have undergraduate and graduate degrees. The sample of the second study (Geçkil and Koçyigit, 2017) consisted of employees in hospitality businesses, completely private-sector businesses. It consisted of less-educated and less-qualified employees than the sample of the first study. Regarding the sample of the second study, laws offer less protection for the working conditions and social rights of the employees. The effect of the law protecting the rights of state employees may have superimposed potential effects of the ODS justice and equality dimensions on the psychologicalcapital levels.

Taking these findings as a whole, psychological capital, with positivity at its center and affected by a positive sociomoral atmosphere, is an important value for organizations in achieving sustainable competitive advantage. This result is a guide for organizations and managers who want to improve their employees' psychological-capital levels.

Studies show that OD positively affects the socio-moral atmosphere, positive organizational behavior patterns of employees, and organizational commitment (Weber et al., 2008, 2009). In three studies examining the relations between the total scores of ODS and organizational commitment, positive correlations were found (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019; Uysal, 2019; Yalçinkaya, 2019), but the two relevant studies that considered subscales of both concepts demonstrated mixed results. No relationship was found between the continuance commitment subscale and the ODS total score and its subscales. Continuance commitment refers to commitment based on the employee's recognition of the costs associated with leaving the organization (Allen and Meyer, 1996). The priority for employees high on this form of commitment is the extrinsically motivating cost of leaving which seem to be independent from the more intrinsically needs fulfilling possibility to work in a democratic organization. Thus, the findings are compatible with the theory. While positive relationships of weak-to-moderate size were found between affective commitment and ODS total and all ODS subscales in one study (Naldöken and Limoncu, 2019), in another study, affective commitment was only positively affected by the equality subscale (Yalçinkaya, 2019). Naldöken and Limoncu (2019) found positive and significant relationships between normative commitment and ODS and its subscales, while another study (Yalçinkaya, 2019) found negative and significant relationships between normative commitment and ODS participation-criticism. According to theory, OD will likely affect organizational commitment positively. Organizational commitment levels of employees vary according to personal, external, and organizational factors (Northcraft and Neale, 1990). OD directly relates to only one of these three elements (organizational factors), making significant changes in that field. These mixed results are partly inconsistent with theory that assumes that affective and normative commitment are positively influenced by OD (see the meta-analysis by Weber et al., 2020). Examining the relations between organizational commitment and ODS with new studies in the context of Turkish organizations will be useful.

Employee voice is one of the dimensions of OD (Yazdani, 2010; Vopalecky and Durda, 2017; Han and Garg, 2018). Findings of two relevant studies show that as ODS total scores increase, organizational-silence total scores decrease (Erkasap, 2020; Karadağ and Geçkil, 2020). The significant relationships between organizational silence and OD are in line with the literature. Employees making their voices heard is important, in terms of both expressing themselves and conveying their knowledge, skills, and experiences to the organization's management. However, Senol and Aktas (2017) found that the increase in employees' OD level leads to an increase in the level of organizational silence. According to OD theory, this unexpected result may relate to the small sample size and sample characteristics (94.3% blue collar in the textile industry). Further, regarding specific associations between ODS subscales and different forms of organizational silence, the two relevant studies in the systematic review demonstrate only mixed results. OD revealed the effect of reducing organizational silence in general. The decrease in organizational silence is closely related to the ability of employees to raise their voices. The latter is closely related to other factors such as their personality traits, job stress in the sector, leadership behaviors and workforce qualifications. Thus, examining the effect of OD on the forms of organizational silence requires more studies in that respect. Not all problems with organizational structure may go unnoticed by managers. Accordingly, the voice of the employees will support the managers in noticing the problems. The tendency of the findings is to assume a decrease in the level of silence, in parallel with the increase in democratic practices. This decrease may not be entirely due to OD. However, arguably, employees in a democratic structure will feel more comfortable expressing themselves. It means that employees can express what they think about their environment and report to their superiors what they consider to be wrong. In addition, a more humanist organizational structure requires raising the voice of employees (Pircher-Verdorfer et al., 2012).

Both studies examining the relationship between ODS and organizational identification found moderate correlations (Kesen, 2015a,b). Organizational identification, expressed as employees' feelings of being integrated into their organizations and seeing the success of their organization as their own success, positively affects individual performance (Carmeli et al., 2007). According to Kerr (2004), intra-organizational democratic practices can play an important role in increasing employee performance in service sectors, such as retail, where individualized and one-to-one customer relations are important. Placing OD in organizations makes it more likely that the level of organizational identification of employees, and therefore individual and organizational performance, can increase.

Though based on one study only (Pelenk, 2020), the focused systematic review has revealed relevant results between ODS

subscales and types of organizational culture. The participationcriticism, transparency, and justice subscales of ODS show a weak negative correlation with clan culture. According to Cameron and Quinn (1999, p. 36), typical characteristics of clan-culture organizations are teamwork, personnel investment programs, and the organization's commitment to personnel. In a clan-type culture, the community spirit toward a common purpose is very strong, and the organization is like an extended family. According to this theory, participation-criticism, transparency, and justice subscales of ODS will likely show a positive relationship with clan-type culture. However, in a clan-type culture, the organizational system can be a priority over the individual. This approach, which pushes the individual to the second row, can explain the negative relationship. Market culture, another organizational culture types, was positively associated with all subscales of ODS. Since the market culture focuses on suppliers and customers, the positive correlations are theoryconforming (employees may act as collective entrepreneurs). Some positive correlations between the hierarchical type of culture and participation-criticism, equality, and accountability subscales of ODS are surprising. Hierarchy culture represents mechanical and bureaucratic organizations, difficult to describe as compatible with OD theory. However, order and rules are important in hierarchical cultures, and it is clear who will do what and how (Cameron and Quinn, 1999, p. 33). Ensuring participation and accountability with certain rules can help us explain this relationship. On the other hand, equality refers to the regulation and procedures of the rights of the employees, depending on the rules within the organization.

In this systematic review, one study each examined the relationship of further variables with ODS. These studies demonstrate that ODS showed a positive relationship with variables that could have a positive effect on the organization and the employee, such as social capital (Aykanat and Yildiz, 2018), intrapreneurship tendency (Öge and Çiftçi, 2017), organizational justice, organizational support (Bakan et al., 2017), political sensitivity (Karatepe, 2019), quality of worklife (Geçkil and Şendoğdu, 2021), employee performance (Kesen, 2015b). Further, all subscales of ODS were related to organizational depression in one study (Bakan and Gözükara, 2019). While the justice and equality subscales of ODS affected job stress levels negatively, accountability affected them weakly positively (Tokgöz and Önen, 2021). The ODS total score and several ODS subscales and employees' intention to quit the job also showed negative correlations (Kara, 2020). Those variables that showed negative correlations with the total score and the subscales of the ODS could negatively impact employees and the organization. Because each of these variables was examined in only one study in Turkish organizations, the level of evidence for these emerging relationships is low; for this reason, a gap exists which suggests to explore these relationships and compare the findings with those in other country contexts.

Several studies in this systematic review found a relationship between age and OD which indicates that the higher OD perception of employees aged 40 and over may relate to seniority. The perceived higher OD level of seniors may be traceable to their heightened involvement in decision-making processes. In addition, the level of forgiveness increases with age. Increased tolerance levels may also be associated with higher OD perception. Considering the positive results of the psychological and behavioral variables discussed above for employees and organizations, it may be desirable that all employees experience a high-level perception of OD. Studies involving corresponding interventions (e.g., giving employees more information, including them in decision-making processes, creating an organizational climate in which they can raise their voices) can be conducted to increase the OD perceptions of other age groups.

In 6 of the 7 studies that found a significant relationship between OD and gender. The higher OD level of men may relate to their organizational roles (such as the fact that managers are mostly men). In the working world, women are less likely to be brought to management positions and generally work at the lower levels of the career ladder (Sampson and Moore, 2008; Babic and Hansez, 2021). The lower OD level of women may relate to this. In this review, only one study found that the OD level of female employees was higher than that of male employees. The sample of this study was academicians at state universities. Many regulations regarding working life in universities are guaranteed by law. The rate of female academics in Turkey is 38.2% (O'Neil et al., 2019), relatively high compared to other organizations. Different perceptions of the OD level of women and men in their institutions may also differ according to their individual expectations. These results suggest that women's expectations about OD in their organizations may be higher than men's. Future studies may focus on examining women's expectations about OD and ways to increase OD levels.

Strengths and Limitations

The strengths of this focused systematic review chiefly rest on the inclusion of a large number of studies (N = 37) conducted in Turkey, using the same measurement tool, a large number of participants (N = 10,370), and the fact that the studies cover various types of businesses in the private and public sectors. The studies included seem rich in terms of numerous variables examined in relation to ODS. The results of this review provide important data for researchers in the field of organizational participation and behavior research. On the other hand, the existence of so many variables and results limited the discussion of each finding in detail. Until now, very few metaanalyses and systematic reviews on organizational psychological outcomes of OD exist (see Weber et al., 2020). This situation also limited the comparison and discussion of research findings. This study used a systematic-review methodology, focusing on studies conducted in one country and with only one method of data-recording. A further limitation appears in the fact that findings for several outcomes are based on only one or two studies. Although systematic review methodology is employed, the limited scope of the present review study is incompatible with the comprehensive core concept of a systematic review. The articles included are observational or correlational studies with a cross-sectional single-source design. Moreover, some articles do not report scale scores. For example, in one study on OCB correlations were reported, but scale scores were not. Such cases,

in which the data are only partially available were not excluded, even though they were of low or moderate quality, to reach as comprehensive a dataset as possible. This can be considered a limitation, but to lessen this limitation, missing data were requested from the authors, but none were obtained (Benlioglu, 2021 at **Appendix C**).

Three studies report a change in the factor structure of the ODS as a result of the Explanatory Factor Analysis. These studies are analyzed separately from the others in **Appendix E** and **Table 5** (Senol and Aktaş, 2017; Bilge et al., 2020; Can and Dogan, 2020). Supporting the construct validity of the ODS scale, the scale structure changed in only three from 37 studies. This change may be due to the small number of participants or cultural differences in the studies. Apart from these, in two studies (Yildirim and Deniz, 2020; Çavuş and Biçer, 2021) that the present study included, the equality subscale of the ODS scale was removed, but the other subscales were left as they were, and ODS scale was used. In these two studies, the researchers state that the reverse items (21 and 23) in this subscale distorted the equality subscale. One of the reasons for the different scale structures may be that these two items.

CONCLUSIONS

This focused systematic review concludes that the OD perceptions of Turkey's public- and private-sector employees are slightly above the scale mean score. The results of this study show that private-sector employees have a higher democratic level. Despite this, the OD perception of both private and public employees is below the assumed "good" level and should be improved. To varying degrees, positive

REFERENCES

- Ahmed, K., Adeel, A., Ali, R., and Rehman, R. U. (2019). Organizational democracy and employee outcomes: the mediating role of organizational justice. *Busin. Strategy Dev.* 2, 204–219. doi: 10.1002/bsd2.55
- Allen, N. J., and Meyer, J. P. (1996). Affective, continuance, and normative commitment to the organization: an examination of construct validity. J. Vocat. Behav. 49, 252–276. doi: 10.1006/jvbe.1996.0043
- Ashley, E. N., Joseph, J. M., Jeremy, B., Jeremy, R. K., and Spector, P. E. (2011). Can work make you sick? A meta-analysis of the relationships between job stressors and physical symptoms. *Work Stress* 25, 1–22, doi: 10.1080/02678373.2011.56 9175
- Atalay, A. (2018). Understanding of organizational democracy: a research on the personnel of the provincial directorate of youth services and sports. *Int. J. Sci. Cult. Sport* 6, 56–72. doi: 10.14486/IntJSC S723
- Aykanat, Z., and Yildiz, T. (2018). "A research on the relationship between organizational democracy and social capital," in *17th Internationally Participated Business Congress, Conference Papers Book*, eds. H. Usul, S. Çelik, S, D. Demirci (Izmir: Izmir Kâtip Çelebi Üniversitesi Yayin No: 10), 1963–1971.
- Aytekin, E. (2019). Demokratik liderligin örgütsel muhalefet ve örgütsel yaraticilik üzerindeki etkisi: otel işletmelerinde bir uygulama. [dissertation]. Eskişehir: Eskişehir Osmangazi Üniversitesi.
- Babic, A., and Hansez, I. (2021). The glass ceiling for women managers: antecedents and consequences for work-family interface and well-being at work. *Front. Psychol.* 12, 618250. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.618250

relationships prevail between OD and several outcomes (e.g., job satisfaction, organizational commitment, OCB, psychological capital) that can positively affect the individual, the organization, and the public—that is, OD may strengthen these outcomes. On the other hand, the results suggest negative associations between some phenomena that may cause negative effects on the individual, the organization, and the society (e.g., job stress, organizational depression, and intention to quit) and the perception of OD. The level of OD was higher among men and participants over the age of 40. Overall, these results let us recommend that managers should include democratic practices (e.g., increase participation in decision-making, anchor a culture of criticism, transparency) in their organizations to increase the OD perception of employees.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

The author confirms being the sole contributor of this work and has approved it for publication.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg. 2022.767469/full#supplementary-material

- Bakan, I., and Gözükara, H. (2019). "Örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel depresyon üzerine etkisi: Bir alan çalişması," in *Iksad 3. Uluslararasi sosyal bilimler kongresi tam metin kitabi*, eds. M. F. B. Alodali, and S. Khadhraoi (Adiyaman: Iksad Publishing House), 610–624.
- Bakan, I., Güler, B., and Kara, E. (2017). The effects of organizational democracy on organizational justice and support perceptions: a research devoted to hotel staff. Suleyman Demirel University J. Facult. Econ. Admin. Sci. 22, 1031–1048.
- Barutçu, H. (2019). Örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel vatandaşlik davranişi üzerine etkisi. [master's thesis]. Istanbul: Beykent Üniversitesi. Available online at: https://mfr.osf.io/render?url=https%3A%2F%2Fosf.io%2F57mry %2Fdownload (acessed January 30, 2022).
- Bhatti, K. K., and Qureshi, T. M. (2007). Impact of employee participation on job satisfaction, employee commitment and employee productivity. *Int. Rev. Busin. Res. Papers* 3, 54–68.
- Bilge, H., Barbuta-Misu, N., Zungun, D., and Virlanuta, F. O. (2020). Organizational democracy in the private sector: a field research. *Sustainability* 12, 3446. doi: 10.3390/su12083446
- Bilyay, S., Yalçin, S., and Özpolat, A. R. (2020). Örgütsel demokrasi ve örgütsel muhalefet arasindaki ilişki üzerine bir inceleme. *Soc. Sci. Dev. J.* 22, 36–50. doi: 10.31567/ssd.300
- Bozkurt, S. (2012). Örgütsel demokrasiyi ve akademik özgürlügü benimseme ve Türkiye'de uygulanabilir bulma düzeyine ilişkin ögretim elemanlarinin görüşleri. [Dissertation]. Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi.
- Cameron, K. S., and Quinn, R. E. (1999). Diagnosing and Changing Organizational Culture: Based on the Competing Values Framework. San Francisco, CA: Addison-Wesley Publishing Company, Inc.

- Campbell Quick, J., Cooper, C. L., Gibbs, P. C., Little, L. M., and Nelson, D. L. (2010). Positive organizational behavior at work. *Int. Rev. Indust. Organiz. Psychol.* 25, 253–291. doi: 10.1002/978047066162 8.ch7
- Can, N., and Dogan, I. F. (2020). The mediating role of organizational democracy in the relationship between ethical leadership and psychological empowerment: a field study. *J. Business Res. Turk* 12, 3828–3842. doi: 10.20491/isarder.2020. 1075
- Çankaya, M. (2018). A research on the effect of the organizational democracy on job satisfaction and the determination of the organizational democracy perceptions and job satisfaction levels of the employees of the health sector. J. Acad. Soc. Sci. 82, 404–426. doi: 10.16992/ASOS. 14342
- Carmeli, A., Gilat, G., and Waldman, D. A. (2007). The role of perceived organizational performance in organizational identification, adjustment and job performance. J. Manage. Stud. 44, 972–992. doi: 10.1111/j.1467-6486.2007.00691.x
- Carmona, A. F., Miller, A. N., Raile, A. N. W., and Roers, M. M. (2010). Fusing family and firm: employee perceptions of perceived homophily, organizational justice, organizational identification, and organizational commitment in family businesses. J. Family Business Strategy 1, 210–223. doi: 10.1016/j.jfbs.2010.10.003
- Çavuş, M. F., and Biçer, M. (2021). The effects of organizational democracy on organizational citizenship behaviors. MANAS J. Soc. Stud. 10, 387–396. doi: 10.33206/mjss.795323
- Centre for Reviews and Dissemination (2008). *Systematic Reviews CRD's Guidance for Undertaking Reviews in Health Care*. Available online at: https://www.york.ac.uk/media/crd/Systematic_Reviews.pdf (accessed August 30, 2021)
- Cheney, G. (1995). Democracy in work place: theory and practice from the perspective of communication. *J. Appl. Commun.* 23, 167–200. doi: 10.1080/00909889509365424
- Cropanzano, R., and Greenberg, J. (1997). "Progress in organizational justice: tunneling through the maze," in *International Review of Industrial and Organizational Psychology*, Vol. 12, eds C. L. Cooper, and I. T. Robertson (Chichester: Viley), 317–372.
- Drucker, P. (1999). Knowledge worker productivity the biggest challenge. Calif. Manage. Rev. 41, 79–94. doi: 10.2307/41165987
- Dutton, J. E., Dukerich, J. M., and Harquail, C. V. (1994). Organizational images and member identification. Admin. Sci. Quart. 39, 239–263. doi: 10.2307/2393235
- Dutton, J. E., and Glynn, M. (2007). "Positive organizational scholarship," in *Handbook of Organizational Behavior*, eds C. Cooper, and J. Barling (Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage), 693–712.
- Erdal, I. (2020). Ögretmen görüşlerine göre okullarda örgütsel demokrasi ve örgütsel muhalefet arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi, [master's thesis], Istanbul: Marmara Üniversitesi. Available online at: https://mfr.osf.io/render?url=https%3A%2F %2Fosf.io%2F8wvcg%2Fdownload (accessed January 30, 2022).
- Erkal Coşan, P., and Altin Gülova, A. (2014). Örgütsel demokrasi. Yönetim ve Ekonomi. 21, 231–248. doi: 10.18657/yecbu.46857
- Erkasap, A. (2020). Çalişanlarin kişilik özellikleri ile örgütsel demokrasi algilarinin örgütsel muhalefet davranişlari ve örgütsel sessizlikleri üzerindeki etkilerinin incelenmesi, [dissertation]. Istanbul: Istanbul Ticaret Üniversitesi.
- Erkasap, A., and Ülgen, B. (2020). "Data from: Örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel muhalefet üzerine etkisini inceleyen bir araştirma," in *Istanbul Ticaret Üniversitesi Diş Ticaret Enstitüsü, Working Paper Series, WPS NO/* 258/ 2020–09 (Istanbul).
- Eryilmaz, B., and Biricikoglu, H. (2011). Kamu yönetiminde hesap verebilirlik ve etik. *Iş Ahlaki Dergisi.* 4, 19–45.
- Foley, J. R., and Polanyi, M. (2006). Workplace democracy: why bother? *Econ. Indust. Democracy* 27. 173–191. doi: 10.1177/0143831X0 6060595
- Forcadell, F. J. (2005). Democracy, cooperation and business success: the case of Mondragon corporacion cooperativa. J. Business Ethics 56, 255–274. doi: 10.1007/s10551-004-5094-5
- Friman, H. (1999). "Perception warfare: a perspective for the future, discussion paper," The Swedish National Defence College. Department of Operational Studies (Stockholm), 1–9.

- Geçkil, T. (2013). Örgütsel demokrasi ile örgütsel vatandaşlik davranişlari arasındaki ilişki: trb1 bölgesindeki üniversite hastanelerinde bir uygulama, [dissertation], Sivas: Cumhuriyet Üniversitesi.
- Geçkil, T. (2017). Organizational democracy: what can it add to the organization? *Res. Soc. Sci. Stud.* 5, 747–755. doi: 10.1830 1/rss.440
- Geçkil, T., Akpinar, A. T., and Taş, Y. (2017). The Effect of organizational democracy on job satisfaction: a field research. J. Business Stud. 9, 649–674. doi: 10.20491/isarder.2017.351
- Geçkil, T., Ileri, Y. Y., Kaya, S. D., and Karadag, S. (2016). The relationship between organizational democracy perceptions and organizational psychological capital levels of physicians and nurses. *Int. J. Recent Adv. Organiz. Behav. Decision Sci.* 2, 818–835.
- Geçkil, T., and Koçyigit, N. (2017). The relationship between on organizational democracy with psychological capital: a research on hotel businesses. Soc. Sci. Res. J. 6, 331–346.
- Geçkil, T., and Şendoğdu, A.A. (2021). The impact of perceived organizational democracy on the quality of work life: an investigation in the banking sector. Anemon Muş Alparslan Üniversitesi Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi. 9, 497–507. doi: 10.18506/anemon.871987
- Geçkil, T., and Tikici, M. (2015). Örgütsel demokrasi ölçegi geliştirme çalışması. Amme Idaresi Dergisi. 48, 41–78.
- Geckil, T., and Tikici, M. (2016). Hospital employees' organizational democracy perceptions and its effects on organizational citizenship behaviors. *Asian Pacific* J. Health Sci. 3, 123–136. doi: 10.21276/apjhs.2016.3.2.23
- Gilliland, S. W., and Chan, D. (2009). "Örgütlerde Adalet: Teori, Yöntemler ve Uygulamalar," in *Endüstri, Iş ve Örgüt Psikolojisi El Kitabi. 2. Cilt: Örgüt Psikolojisi*, eds N. Anderson, D. S. Öneş, H. K. S. C. Viswesvaran, Turkish (Istanbul: Literatür Yay. Dag. Paz. San. Tic. Ltd. Sti), 167–193.
- Gök, R., and Kara, E. (2021). Testing for causality among CDS, interest, and exchange rates: new evidence from the granger coherence analysis. *Eskişehir Osmangazi Üniversitesi Iktisadi ve Idari Bilimler Dergisi* 16, 427–445. doi: 10.17153/oguiibf.854172
- Greenberg, J. (1990a). Employee theft as a reaction to underpayment inequity: the hidden cost of pay cuts. J. Manage. 75, 561–568. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.75.5.561
- Greenberg, J. (1990b). Organizational justice: yesterday, today and tomorrow. J. Appl. Psychol. 16, 399-432. doi: 10.1177/014920639001600208
- Günden, Y. (2019). Otel işletmelerinde örgütsel demokrasi algisinin örgütsel vatandaşliga etkisinde örgütsel bagliligin rolü: Kapadokya örnegi. [dissertation]. Nevşehir: Nevşehir Haci Bektaş Veli Üniversitesi.
- Hallström, K. T. (2010). "The use of democratic values in the ISO 26000 processon social responsibility", in Organizing Democracy: The Construction of Agency in Practice, eds G. Sundström, L. Soneryd, and S. Furusten (Cheltenham, Northampton: MA: Edward Elgar), 48–64.
- Han, K. S., and Garg, P. (2018). Workplace democracy and psychological capital: a paradigm shift in workplace. *Manage. Res. Rev.* 42, 1088–1116. doi: 10.1108/MRR-11-2016-0267
- Harrison, J. S., and Freeman, R. E. (2004). Is organizational democracy worth the effort? Acad. Manage. Executive 18, 49–53. doi: 10.5465/ame.2004.14776168
- Heller, F., Pusic, E., Strauss, G. and Wilpert, B. (Eds.) (1998). Organizational Participation - Myth and Reality. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hofstede, G. (2021). Hofstede Insights. Available online at: https://www.Hofstedeinsights.com/country-comparison/turkey/ (accessed August 10, 2021)
- Huntington, S. P. (1991). *The Third Wave: Democratization in the laTe Twentieth Century*. Oklahoma: University of Oklahoma Press.
- IDE International Research Group (1981). *Industrial Democracy in Europe*. London: Oxford University Press.
- Işik, M. (2017). "Kamu kurumlarinda örgütsel demokrasi algisi (Iş-kur Isparta il müdürülügü örnegi)," Süleyman Demirel Üniversitesi Iktisadi ve Idari Bilimler Fakültesi Dergisi. 22, Isparta: Kayfor15 Özel Sayisi, 1661–1672.
- Işikgöz, E., Esenta,ş, M., and Dinçer, N. (2017). Physical education and sport teachers' organizational democracy perceptions. *Turkish J. Sport Exerc.* 19, 296–306. doi: 10.15314/tsed.337603
- Judge, T. A., Thoresen, C. J., Bono, J. E., and Patton, G. K. (2001). The job satisfaction-job performance relationship: a qualitative and quantitative review. *Psychol. Bull.* 127, 376–407. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.127.3.376

- Kara, R. (2020). Aile işletmelerinde algilanan örgütsel demokrasinin işten ayrilma niyeti üzerine etkisi, [master's thesis], Mersin: Toros Üniversitesi. Available online at: https://mfr.osf.io/render?url=https%3A%2F%2Fosf.io%2F7txyv %2Fdownload (accessed January 30, 2022).
- Karadağ S., and Geçkil, T. (2020). Akademisyenlerin örgütsel demokrasi algisi ve örgütsel sessizlik düzeyi arasındaki ilişkinin incelenmesi. *Turkish Stud. Econ.* 15, 2053–2069. doi: 10.47644/TurkishStudies.46741
- Karagöz, H., and Atilla, G. (2018). Relationship between organizational democracy and psychological capital: a research on the Karaman bank workers. *Int. J. Soc. Human. Sci. Res.* 25, 2065–2074. doi: 10.26450/jshsr.574
- Karatepe, H. K. (2019). Hemşirelerde politik duyarlilik ve örgütsel demokrasi algisi arasındaki ilişkinin belirlenmesi, [dissertation], Istanbul: Istanbul Üniversitesi-Cerrahpaşa.
- Kassing, J. W., and Dicioccio, R. L. (2004). Testing a workplace experience explanation of displaced dissent. *Commun. Rep.* 17, 113–120. doi: 10.1080/08934210409389380
- Kassing, J. W., Fanelli, S. A., and Chakravarthy, L. (2018). Full- and part-time dissent: examining the effect of employment status on dissent expression. *Int. J. Business Commun.* 55, 455–465. doi: 10.1177/2329488415597518
- Kerr, J. L. (2004). The limits of organizational democracy. Acad. Manage. Perspect. 18, 81–97. doi: 10.5465/ame.2004.14776172
- Kesen, M. (2015a). Investigating the effects of organizational democracy and organizational identification on job satisfaction: a field study on retail industry. *Int. Refereed Acad. Soc. Sci. J.* 19, 61–89. doi: 10.17364/IIB.20151912613
- Kesen, M. (2015b). Örgütsel demokrasinin çalişan performansi üzerine etkileri: örgütsel özdeşleşmenin aracılık rolü. *Çankiri Karatekin Univ. J. Instit. Soc. Sci.* 6, 535–562.
- Lewis, B. (2007). Demokrasinin Türkiye Serüveni. Üçüncü Baski, Çev. Hamdi Aydogan, Esra Emert. 3. Baski Istanbul: Yapi Kredi Yayinlari.
- Lindkvist, L., and Llewellyn, S. (2003). Accountability, responsibility and organization. Scand. J. Manage. 19, 251–273. doi: 10.1016/S0956-5221(02)00027-1
- Luthans, F., and Youssef, C. M. (2004). Human, social and now positive psychological capital management: investing in people for competitive advantage. Organiz. Dynam. 33, 143–160. doi: 10.1016/j.orgdyn.2004.01.003
- Martin, C. L., and Bennett, N. (1996). The role of justice judgments in explaining the relationship between job satisfaction and organizational commitment. *Group Organiz. Manage.* 21, 84–104. doi: 10.1177/1059601196211005
- Messner, M. (2009). The limits of accountability. Account. Organiz. Soc. 34, 918–938. doi: 10.1016/j.aos.2009.07.003
- Milliken, F. J., Morrison, E. W., and Hewlin, P. F. (2003). An exploratory study of employee silence: issues that employees don't communicate upward and why. J. Manage. Stud. 40, 1453–1476. doi: 10.1111/1467-64 86.00387
- Moola, S., Munn, Z., Tufanaru, C., Aromataris, E., Sears, K., Sfetcu, R., et al. (2020).
 "Chapter 7: systematic reviews of etiology and risk," in *JBI Manual for Evidence Synthesis. JBI*, eds E. Aromataris and, Z. Munn. doi: 10.46658/JBIMES-20-08
- Moorman, R. H. (1991). Relationship between organizational justice and organizational citizenship behaviors: do fairness perceptions influence employee citizenship? *J. Appl. Psychol.* 76, 845–855. doi: 10.1037/0021-9010.76.6.845
- Morrison, E. W., and Milliken, F. J. (2000). Organizational silence: a barrier to change and development in a pluralistic world. *Acad. Manage. Rev.* 25, 706–725. doi: 10.5465/amr.2000.3707697
- Müller-Jentsch, W. (2008). Industrial democracy: historical development and current challenges. *Manage. Rev.* 19, 260–273. doi: 10.5771/0935-9915-2008-4-260
- Naldöken, Ü., and Limoncu, G. (2019). Örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel bagliliga etkisi: Saglik kurumlarında bir uygulama. *Int. J. Tourism Econ. Business Sci.* 3, 15–29.
- Niehoff, B. P., and Moorman, R. H. (1993). Justice as a mediator of the relationship between methods of monitoring and organizational citizenship behavior. *Acad. Manage. J.* 36, 527–556. doi: 10.5465/256591
- Northcraft, G. B., and Neale, M. A. (1990). Organizational Behavior, A Management Challenge. Chicago: The Dryden Press.
- Öge, H.S., and Çiftçi, N. (2017). Effect of organizational democracy perception on intrapreneurship tendency. J. Turk Islam World Soc. Stud. 15, 450–462. doi: 10.16989/TIDSAD.1436

- O'Neil, M., Aldanmaz, B., Quirant Quiles, R. M., Rose, N., Altunta, D., and Tekmen, H. (2019). *Türkiye'de Yüksekögretimdeki Cinsiyet Eşit(siz)ligi*. SAGE Toplumsal Cinsiyet Eşitligi Tutum Belgesi. Kadir Has Üniversitesi. Avaliable online at: https://gender.khas.edu.tr/sites/gender.khas.edu.tr/files/inline-files/ Turkiyede%20Yuksekogretimdeki%20Cinsiyet%20Esitsizligi.pdf (accessed November 30, 2021).
- Organ, D. W. (1988). Organizational Citizenship Behavior: The Good Soldier Syndrome. Lexington, MA: Lexington.
- Özdemir, M. (2011). Opinions of high school administrators on teachers' organizational dissent behaviors. *Educ. Sci. Theory Pract.* 11, 1905–1908.
- Page, M. J., McKenzie, J. E., Bossuyt, P. M., Boutron, I., Hoffmann, T. C., Mulrow, C. D., et al. (2021). The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. *BMJ* 372, n71. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n71
- Pateman, C. (1970). Participation and Democratic Theory. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press. doi: 10.1017/CBO9780511720444
- Pelenk, S. E. (2020). Örgüt kültürünün demokrasi ve muhalefet üzerine etkisi. *Turan-Sam* 46, 443–452.
- Petticrew, M., and Roberts, H. (2006). Systematic Reviews in the Social Sciences. Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing. doi: 10.1002/9780470754887
- Pircher-Verdorfer, A. P., Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Seyr, S. (2012). The relationship between organizational democracy and socio-moral climate: exploring effects of the ethical context in organizations. *Econ. Indust. Democracy* 34, 423–449. doi: 10.1177/0143831X12450054
- Podsakoff, P. M., and Mac Kenzie, S. B. (1997). Organizational citizenship behavior on organizational performance: a critical review and suggestions for future research. *Human Perform.* 10, 133–151. doi: 10.1207/s15327043hup1002_5
- Podsakoff, P. M., Mac Kenzie, S. B., Paine, J. B., and Bachrah, D. G. (2000). Organizational citizenship behaviors: a critical review of the theoretical and empirical literature and suggestions for future search. J. Manage. 26, 513–563. doi: 10.1177/014920630002600307
- Polit, D. F., and Beck, C. T. (2006). The content validity index: are you sure you know what's being reported? Critique and recommendations. *Res. Nurs. Health* 29, 489–497. doi: 10.1002/nur.20147
- Sagie, A., and Koslowsky, M. (2000). Participation and Empowerment in Organizations: Modeling, Effectiveness and Applications. Thousand Oaks, CA.
- Sampson, D. S., and Moore, L. L. (2008). Is there a glass ceiling for women in development? *Nonprofit Manag. Leadersh.* 18, 321–339. doi: 10.1002/nml.188
- Sargut, A. S. (2010). Kültürlerarasi Farklilaşma ve Yönetim. 3. Baski. Ankara: Imge Kitabevi.
- Scarpello, V., and Jones, F. F. (1996). Why justice matters in compensation decision making. J. Organiz. Behav. 17, 285–299. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1099-1379(199605)17:3<285::AID-JOB750>3.0.CO;2-0
- Scherer, R. F., Wiebe, F. A., Luther, D. C., and Adams, J. S. (1988). Dimensionality of coping: factor stability using the ways of coping questionnaire. *Psychol. Rep.* 62, 763–770. doi: 10.2466/pr0.1988.62.3.763
- Seker, G. (2010). Yönetici ve ögretmen algilarina göre ilkögretim okullarinda örgütsel demokrasinin benimsenme ve uygulanabilme düzeyi, [Master's thesis]. Van: Yüzüncüyil üniversitesi.
- Senol, S., and Aktaş, H. (2017). Algilanan örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel sessizlik tutumlarina etkisi: Istanbul'da tekstil sektöründe faaliyet gösteren bir işletme çalişanlari üzerinde araştirma. *Int. J. Econ. Admin. Stud.* 16, 833–850. doi: 10.18092/ulikidince.323672
- Slavec, A., and Drnovsek, M. (2012). A perspective on scale development in entrepreneurship research. *Econ. Business Rev.* 14, 39–62. doi: 10.15458/2335-4216.1203
- Spector, P., Judge, T. A., Parker, S., Colbert, A. E., Heller, D., and Ilies, R. (2009). "Iş tatmini: Kültürlerarasi bir Inceleme," in *Endüstri Iş ve Örgüt psikolojisi El Kitabi. 2. Cilt Örgüt Psikolojisi. (Çev. Zafer Ganioglu). (Eds. Neil Anderson. Deniz S. Öneş. Handan Kepir Sinangil ve Chockalingam Viswesvaran).* (Türkçe Ed. Handan Kepir Sinangil) Istanbul: Literatür Yay. Dag. Paz. San. Tic. Ltd. şti, 29–60.
- Tokay, Ö., and Eyüpoglu, S. Z. (2018). Employee perceptions of organisational democracy and its influence on organisational citizenship behavior. *South Afr. J. Business Manage*. 49, a397. doi: 10.4102/sajbm.v49i1.397
- Tokgöz, A., and Önen, Ö. (2021). Investigation of the relationship between organizational democracy and job stress level perceptions of administrators and teachers. *Shanlax Int. J. Educ.* 9, 26–33. doi: 10.34293/education.v9i2. 3591

- Unterrainer, C., Palgi, M., Weber, W. G., Iwanowa, A., and Oesterreich, R. (2011). Structurally anchored organizational democracy does it reach the employee? *J. Personnel Psychol.* 10, 118–132. doi: 10.1027/1866-588 8/a000038
- Üst Can, Ç. (2020). Örgütsel demokrasi boyutlarinin incelenmesine yönelik açiklayici bir karma yöntem araştirmasi, [dissertation], Antalya: Akdeniz Üniversitesi
- Uysal, A. (2019). Örgütsel demokrasinin örgütsel bagliliga etkisi: Istanbul deniz otobüsleri çalişanlari örnegi, [master's thesis], Istanbul: Istanbul Gelişim Üniversitesi. Available online at: https://mfr.osf.io/render?url=https%3A%2F %2Fosf.io%2Fujeam%2Fdownload (accessed January 30, 2022).
- Vopalecky, A., and Durda, L. (2017). Principles of workplace democracy: cases from the Czech Republic. Int. J. Entrepreneurial Knowledge 5, 62–76. doi: 10.1515/ijek-2017-0006
- Weber, W. G., and Unterrainer, C. (2012). "Analysis of preconditions for the fostering of democratic behavioral orientations in business organizations: the POPD questionnaire," in *Democratic Competences and Social Practices in Organizations*, eds W. G. Weber, M. Thoma, A. Ostendorf, and L. Chisholm [Wiesbaden: Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften (VS)], 118–143. doi: 10.1007/978-3-531-19631-2_8
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2008). Sociomoral atmosphere and prosocial and democratic value orientations in enterprises with different levels of structurally anchored participation. *Zeitschrift Fur Personalforschung* 22, 171–194. doi: 10.1177/239700220802200205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/ apps.12205
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Schmid, B. E. (2009). The influence of organizational democracy on employees' socio-moral climate and prosocial behavioral orientations. J. Organ. Behav. 30, 1127–1149. doi: 10.1002/job.615
- Yalçinkaya, K. (2019). Örgütsel demokrasinin çalişanlarin baglilik duygusu üzerindeki etkisi ve analitik bir çalişma, [master's thesis], Istanbul: Haliç

Üniversitesi. Available online at: https://mfr.osf.io/render?url=https%3A%2F %2Fosf.io%2F3heq9%2Fdownload (accessed January 30, 2022).

- Yazdani, N. (2010). Organizational democracy and organization structure link: role of strategic leadership & environmental uncertainty. *Business Rev.* 5, 51–73. doi: 10.54784/1990-6587.1244
- Yildirim, F. (2002). *Çalişma Yaşaminda Örgüte Baglilik ve Örgütsel Adalet Ilişkisi*, [dissertation], Ankara: Ankara Üniversitesi.
- Yildirim, M., and Deniz, M. (2020). The effect of employees' perceptions of organizational democracy on levels of work engagement: a field research. *Smart J.* 29, 279–297. doi: 10.31576/smryj.476
- Zaini, R. M., Elmes, M. B., Pavlov, O. V., and Saeed, K. (2016). Organizational dissent dynamics: a conceptual framework. *Manage. Commun. Quart.* 31, 258–277. doi: 10.1177/0893318916671216
- Zeng, C. (2018). *Exploring Organizational Dissent in a Global Setting*. Jyväskylä: Publishing Unit, University Library Of Jyväskylä.

Conflict of Interest: The author declares that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Geckil. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Michela Bonafede, National Institute for Insurance against Accidents at Work (INAIL), Italy

REVIEWED BY Dan-Cristian Dabija, Babeş-Bolyai University, Romania Rizwan Raheem Ahmed, Indus University, Pakistan Mário Nuno Mata, Instituto Politécnico de Lisboa, Portugal

*CORRESPONDENCE Mari Svendsen mari.svendsen@kristiania.no

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

RECEIVED 17 May 2022 ACCEPTED 26 September 2022 PUBLISHED 22 November 2022

CITATION

Svendsen M and Jønsson TF (2022) Organizational democracy and meaningful work: The mediating role of employees corporate social responsibility perceptions. *Front. Psychol.* 13:946656. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2022.946656

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Svendsen and Jønsson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Organizational democracy and meaningful work: The mediating role of employees corporate social responsibility perceptions

Mari Svendsen^{1*} and Thomas Faurholt Jønsson²

¹Department of Leadership and Organization, Kristiania University College, Oslo, Norway, ²Department of Psychology and Behavioural Sciences, School of Business and Social Sciences, Aarhus University, Aarhus, Denmark

Meaningful work is an important field of research, relating to both organizational outcomes and employee welfare. Organizational democracy has been theoretically proposed as an important antecedent to meaningful work. Nevertheless, this relationship is yet to be empirically explored. Thus, the objective of the current research is to explore the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. We used structural equation modeling with self-reported, cross-sectional data from different nations and industries to test a mediation model in which corporate social responsibility (CSR) perceptions mediate the positive relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. Our findings confirmed that CSR perceptions partially mediate in the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. Thus, based on our findings we can conclude that organizational democracy can play a direct role in increasing the experience of meaningful work, but also an indirect role trough the employees experience of CSR. Our findings have theoretical implications by adding to the classical theoretical literature that connect organizational democracy and meaningful work, and by disentangling the role of CSR perceptions in this relationship. Moreover, our findings have practical implications as our results give important knowledge to managers and organizational stakeholders that wish to increase the experience of meaningful work in organizations.

KEYWORDS

organizational democracy, participation in decision making, corporate social responsibility, meaning at work, meaningfulness at work, alienation

Introduction

"Striving for meaningful work is not just about obtaining certain outcomes, but being able to experience meaningfulness in one's work activities is "an important humanistic endeavor in and of itself" (Lepisto and Pratt, 2017, p. 100), and "part of what makes life good for human beings" (Yeoman, 2014).

As the above quotations describe, the importance of meaningful work has historically been recognized as crucial for human thriving and growth, whereas a lack of meaning and alienation from work has been described as toxic for human welfare (Marx, 1959; Shantz et al., 2014). For example, the experience of meaningful work is positively related to work motivation, work engagement, life meaning, and general health, and negatively related to negative affect, mortality, and withdrawal intentions (Allan et al., 2019). Meaningful work can be defined as the global judgment that one's work accomplishes significant, valuable, or worthwhile goals that are congruent work with one's existential values (Allan et al., 2019, p. 502). Due to the importance of meaningful work for individual welfare and organizational effectiveness, the question of how to create meaningful workplaces is a pertinent one. Accordingly, the main motivation of this study is to obtain a better theoretical and practical understanding of factors that may increase employees experience of meaningful work. Marx (1959) described a rigid division of labor and the ensuing lack of control in the workplace, along with the inability to develop and use one's skills and knowledge, as an important source of alienation and meaninglessness in the workplace. In extension of this argument, democratization in the workplace has been proposed as an important factor that may reduce the alienating consequences of nonautonomous work and some authors have theoretically argued that workplace democracy is a necessary requirement for meaningful work (Yeoman, 2014; Frega et al., 2019). Organizational democracy refers to ongoing, broadbased, and institutionalized employee participation that is not ad hoc or occasional in nature (Weber et al., 2020, p. 1009). Although organizational democracy has, both historically and theoretically, long been suggested as an important antecedent of meaningful work, there has not, to the best of our knowledge, been any empirical investigation of this relationship. There are some indirect empirical evidence suggesting that factors closely related to organizational democracy, such as autonomy and power sharing may be positively related to meaningful work (Jin and Drozdenko, 2010; Martela et al. 2021). However, the direct relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work has yet to be investigated and constitutes a profound research gap. This research gap is important to cover, in order to disentangle the potential that organizational democracy may have for the experience of meaning in the workplace. Moreover, as highlighted by Rosso et al. (2010), there is also a research gap, pertaining to the exploration of how different sources of meaningful work stimulate the experience of meaningfulness in the workplace simultaneously. Therefore, it is imperative to explore the mediating factors that may affect this relationship. Accordingly, the objective and the novelty of this article is to explore the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work and explore a mediating factor in this relationship.

In order to accomplish this goal, we develop a mediation model in which we propose that organizational democracy will be positively related to meaningfulness in the workplace. Moreover, we propose that the employees' CSR perception, defined as the degree to which employees perceive a company supports the activities related to a social cause (Lee et al., 2013), will mediate the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. CSR perception may be especially relevant when investigating the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. Meaningful work is strongly connected to the individual's values and the feeling that one's work is in accordance with these values. Moreover, recent conceptualizations of meaningful work highlight greater good motivation as a central part of the meaningful work concept (Lee et al., 2013). Previous research has established the relationship between CSR perceptions and meaningful work (Raub and Blunschi, 2014), but the relationship with organizational democracy is yet to be explored. We designed the study as a cross sectional survey with temporal separation (2weeks) of independent and dependent variables.

The exploration of the mediation model outlined in the present study will make three specific, novel and significant contributions to our understanding of both organizational democracy and meaningful work. First, we extend previous research on meaningful work by investigating how organizational democracy is directly related to perceived meaningful work. By doing so, we meet the call for a more thorough understanding of how the organizational context contributes to the perception of meaningful work (Lysova et al., 2019) and gain insights into a relationship that has historically been proposed as important but lacking direct empirical support. Second, we contribute to the understanding of organizational democracy by investigating how organizational democracy may lead to certain individual-level outcomes, responding to the call for research expressed by Weber et al. (2020). In their meta - analysis they find that organizational democracy is related to individual - level outcomes such as job satisfaction, work motivation and value-based commitment. Therefore, they conclude that organizational democracy may be especially suited to produce individual - level outcomes and call for research that consider other relevant individual - level outcomes. Our study will respond to this call for research and contribute to the understanding of the outcomes of having a organizational democratic work context. Third, our study contributes to the understanding of the mechanisms of which organizational democracy exerts its individual level influence in general. Weber et al. (2020) propose that organizational democracy may have a socializing effect on their employees. In accordance with that, we propose that the employees experience of CSR will be stimulated through a democratic work context. However, the relationship between organizational democracy and CSR perceptions is yet to be explored empirically. Thus, our study will also play a role in our conceptual understanding and development of organizational democracy.

The structure of the next sections of the paper is as follows. First, we will give a brief review of the empirical and theoretical literature that connects organizational democracy and meaningful work, and the relationship between organizational democracy and CSR and the relationship between CSR and meaningful work. Second, we will describe the methodology in detail. Third, the main findings of the study are discussed. Lastly, the implications for practice further research and conclusions will be presented.

Theory and hypothesis

Meaningful work

The following section will present literature on meaningful work. First, we define meaningfulness in a way that also corresponds with our measurement of the concept. Second, we review literature on the concept that is relevant in to understand the relationship between meaningful work and organizational democracy and CSR. Meaningfulness at work has been defined in various ways, with different streams of literature focusing on varying aspects of the concept (Martela and Pessi, 2018). A recent review by Martela and Pessi (2018) argued that meaningful work can be distinguished into three different categories: significance, broader purpose, and self-actualization. Significance refers to the amount of intrinsic value people assign to or are able to find from their work. Broader purpose refers to the idea that the work must contribute to some "greater good," something beyond individual's own benefits. Lastly, selfactualization refers to self-connectedness, authenticity, and how much we are able to realize and express ourselves through our work (Martela and Pessi, 2018, p. 3). In the literature on meaningful work there is a difference between meaning and meaningfulness (Rosso et al., 2010). The perception of meaning refers to employee's cognitive evaluation of their environment, and can therefore be positive, neutral, or negative. The concept of meaningfulness, on the other hand, is inherently positive and refers to the experience of work as personally significant and worthwhile (Pratt and Ashforth, 2003). Another important distinction in the literature on meaningful work is that between meaningfulness in the job, which refers to the experience of meaningfulness in executing the work roles and *meaningfulness* at the job, which refers to the experience of being part of a social category. Accordingly, meaningfulness is a complex and multifaceted construct and is not a fixed property of a job or organization. However, Pratt and Ashforth (2003) argued that there are some socially constructed archetypes within a society or social group that the individual belongs to. Moreover, they argued that the process of which the work is experienced as meaningful shares similarities across organizations and cultures. A main argument from Ashford and Pratt (2003) is that because meaningfulness at work is partially socially constructed, and because the process of experiencing meaning share similarities between organizations and societies, organizations can play a key role in influencing whether and how organizational members view their work as meaningful. Ashford and Pratt (2003) argued that there are several different ways in which organizations can influence the experience of meaningfulness in the organizations, such as through leadership processes, the creation of psychological safety, and, importantly, through employee involvement practices.

Organizational democracy and meaningful work

A concept strongly related to employee involvement practices is organizational democracy. In this section we first define the concept of organizational democracy in line with the measurement of the construct. Second, we will review both classical theoretical literature and recent empirical work to argue for the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. Organizational democracy describes organizations wherein participative decision making is mandatory and realized either directly or indirectly (Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016). Importantly, decision making in democratic organizations is not limited to the short-term decisions on an operational level, but also entails influence on long-term decisions at the strategic level (Pircher Verdorfer and Weber, 2016, p.61). According to the recent meta-analysis by Weber et al. (2020), indicators of organizational democracy can be conceptualized and measured in three ways. Firstly, through structurally anchored employee participation in organizational decisions. This indicator of organizational democracy focuses on the organizational level and is concerned with democratic enterprise structures such as selfgoverned employee-owned enterprises. The second way is through employee participation in collective ownership. This indicator focuses on *property* and is concerned with the degree to which employees own a substantial part of the shares in the enterprise. The third way is individually perceived employee participation in organizational decision making. The final indicator of organizational democracy focuses on the individual level in the organization and the extent to which the employees perceive that they have direct or indirect participation in strategic or tactical decision making.

Although, to the best of our knowledge, no empirical studies have investigated the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work, the relationship has been given theoretical attention. For example, Arneson (1987) argued that the experience of meaningful work is *"attached to a job that gives the worker considerable freedom to decide how the work is to be done and a democratic say over the character of the work process and the policies pursued by the employing enterprise*" (p. 522). In line with this, Yeoman (2014) argued that organizational democracy may be viewed as the institutional conditions that are required to achieve autonomy, which in turn are found to be imperative to the experience of meaningful work.

We argue that organizational democracy, as perceived by the employees, may directly strengthen the experience of meaning in two specific ways. First, we follow the classical work on alienation by Seeman (1959), who outline meaningfulness as one of the elements of alienation. In his analysis, meaningfulness is based on the perception of the world as comprehendible enough to form realistic expectations about how to control it. Since organizational democracy provides some control over the organization to its organizational members, participating employees may likely obtain a deeper and clearer understanding of how the organization is and why organizational decisions became as they did (Heller et al., 1998). This deeper, processual understanding of the organization may provide a meaningfulness organizational context to the employee.

Second, the experience of organizational democracy may stimulate the basic needs that are proposed by self-determination theory (the need for autonomy, the need for relatedness, and the need for competence; Deci et al., 2017), which are found to be associated with the experience of meaningful work (Martela et al. 2021). Martela et al. (2021) argued that the experience of ownership and autonomy at work makes work feel personally meaningful for the employee. Moreover, organizational democracy may stimulate the need for competence through mastery experiences and information sharing generated by employee involvement in strategic and tactical decisions (Weber et al., 2020). Lastly, the need for relatedness may be stimulated through cooperative decisions and collective identities stemming from organizational democracy. In a longitudinal investigation Martela et al. (2021) confirmed the relationship between the selfdetermination framework and the experience of meaningfulness at work, specifically underlining the strong positive relationship between autonomy and meaningful work (Martela et al. 2021). Thus, we posit the following hypothesis.

Hypothesis 1: Organizational Democracy, as perceived by the employees, are positively related to the experience of meaningful work.

The effect of organizational democracy on employees perception of CSR

In this section we will briefly present the concept of CSR. We focus on the employee's perception of CSR practices in the organization. CSR activities have been defined in different ways in the literature. Some researchers have focused on the organization's behavior toward its stakeholders, whereas others have focused on the organization's voluntary activities relating to social, political, environmental, and ethical actions (Malik, 2015). We adopt the societal perspective and follow Lee et al.'s (2013) definition of CSR as "the company's activities and status related to its perceived societal or stakeholder obligations" (p. 1717). In line with this definition, the organization focuses on both the good of society and the welfare of the organization and its members. We follow Lee et al.'s (2013) definition and understand CSR perceptions as "the degree to which employees perceive a company supports the activities related to a social cause" (p. 1717). Moreover, we understand and treat employee CSR perceptions as a second order construct and choose to focus on the two sub-dimensions; philanthropic and ethical CSR activities (Lee et al., 2013). Although environmental perspectives are a vital part of the CSR understanding (c.f Lăzăroiu et al., 2020). We have explicitly chosen not to focus on this, as previous classical literature relating to organizational meaning keeps more focus on philanthropy and ethics.

Organizational Democracy and CSR are two distinct but interrelated concepts. Banerjee (2014) argued that democratic organizations are necessary for proper CSR in organizations. In line with this, Hazarika (2013) argued that "in order to make the workforce more participatory, the firm has to uphold the principles of democracy in workplace practices and this will be a sheer move towards democratic social responsibility" (p. 12). We argue that organizational democracy, which is ingrained in values signaling equality and participation, may induce positive organizational CSR perceptions by making the employees consider these values while analyzing the CSR practices of the organization. To the best of our knowledge, no empirical studies have investigated the relationship between organizational democracy and CSR perception. However, a quantitative study by Jin and Drozdenko (2009) found that CSR in general is strengthened by power sharing, open information sharing, and democratic ideology in the organizations. Accordingly, we propose the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2: Organizational democracy, as perceived by the employees, is positively related to the employees' CSR perceptions.

The effect of CSR perceptions on the employee's experience of meaningful work

We further argue that CSR perceptions relate positively to the experience of meaningfulness at work. Rosso et al. (2010) argued that employees experience meaningfulness when they work for organizations that are engaging in socially responsible activities and see themselves contributing to a greater cause. Perceiving that the organization has high CSR may indirectly give employees the feeling that they are contributing to the economic, ecological, or social environment around them. Moreover, based on social identity theory, we know that individuals seek to identify with groups that contribute positively to their sense of self-worth (Tajfel, 1979). Having a strong perception of the organizations CSR activities will contribute to the experience that the organization has values that are useful and worth identifying with, and through that the employees experience a sense of belonging and meaningful co-existence. Recent studies support the positive relationship between CSR and the experience of meaningfulness at work (Chaudhary, 2020; Youn and Kim, 2022). Accordingly, we posit the following hypothesis;

Hypothesis 3: Employee's perception of CSR is positively related to the experience of meaningful work.



The mediating role of CSR perceptions

Organizational democracy may influence the experience of meaningful work directly through the creation of especially greater autonomy and by reducing the potentially alienating consequences of work. Nevertheless, favorable CSR perception may be conceived as an innovative mechanism that transmits the influence of on organizational democracy on meaningfulness at work. Accordingly, organizational democracy can be anticipated to affect meaningfulness both directly as well as indirectly *via* CSR perceptions. Thus, we propose the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 4: Employees' perceptions of CSR partially mediate the relationship between organizational democracy and the experience of meaningful work.

The proposed hypotheses are shown in an overall model (Figure 1).

Materials and methods

Sample and procedure

The survey was obtained *via* Prolific, which is a company with extensive experience in providing data to research institutions. Previous research has shown that similar data collection methods provide better external and internal validity than traditional data

collection methods (Berinsky et al., 2012). In our sample, every participant came from different organizations, so our sample did not violate the independence assumption that may result in spuriousness due to data clustering (Raudenbush and Bryk, 2002). Mean age was 31.1 (SD = 10.8). Six respondents had Elementary School level, 62 graduated from High School. 26 had finished undergraduate studies, 62 had a Bachelor's Degree and 54 had a Master or higher level of education.

We designed the study as a cross sectional survey with temporal separation (2 weeks) of independent and dependent variables (Podsakoff et al., 2012). The reason was to deal with potential inflation of relationship estimates due to cross sectional data collection at the same time, we collected the data two times with a few weeks between the two data collections. We applied the data from T1 to measure the independent variable and the data from T2 to measure the dependent variable. We used the mediator measures from both times with the purpose to deal with common method bias (see Figure 1). Specifically, we analyze the hypothesized relationships between variables from different data collection times, i.e., relationships between the mediator and both the independent variable and the dependent variable. We tested a structural equation model (SEM), in which the independent variable (measured at T1) was related with the mediator from T2, and the mediator from T1 was related with the dependent variable (from T2). In this way, the variables of any relationship were measured at different time points. Hence, we avoid method inflation of the regression estimates due to measurement at the same time point (i.e., mood effects and other effects of situational

mental states). Since we applied measurements the mediator from two time points, we restricted the factor loadings to be the same for both measurements of the mediator variable ("metric invariance"). Thereby, we ensured that the two measures of the mediator were fully comparable, and that different ways of measuring the mediator at T1 and T2, respectively, contaminated the regression coefficients. Since the same items from the CRS variables measured at T1 and T2 would potentially hold a similar item specific measurement error, we allowed the same items to correlate in the model.

We tested measurement validity using Confirmatory Factor Analyses (CFA). If a Modification Index (MI) analysis showed a substantial improvement of model fit (MI>10.00) by allowing items within a factor to correlate or a theoretical meaningful cross-loading of an item on to two sub-factors, we allowed this in a subsequent model. To assess reliabilities of the scales, we applied the composite reliability, which is comparable to but more precise than Cronbach's Alpha because the former does not assume that all loadings in a factor are of equal size (Raykov, 1997). Finally, we included control variables to test for possible confounding variables. We included age, education (binary coded dummy variables), and gender to control for the possibility that age, educational level or gender per se would provide the employee with more influence in an organization, gives a stronger perception of CSR and make the job feel more meaningful. We applied the statistical software Mplus v. 8.2 (Muthén and Muthén, 2017) for structural equation modeling (SEM) using maximum likelihood (ML) estimation. ML estimation assumes multivariate normal distribution though it is even consistent in violations of normality. Therefore, it is useful for the present study that have a suitable large sample size and assumed normality of the variables. We used the most applied fit indices and cutoff criteria, namely RMSEA (<0.08) and CFI (>0.95; Hu and Bentler, 1999; Schermelleh-Engel et al., 2003).

Measures

All the applied scales in this study had been previously published and validated. All continuous measures were assessed on a five-point Likert scale, with responses ranging from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree).

Organizational democracy

We measured Organizational Democracy using the 24 item Short Version of the Perceived Structure of Organizational Democracy Questionnaire (Weber and Unterrainer, 2012; POPD-S). The scale consists of three subdimensions measuring influence on issues at the operational level (employees' daily work or working time), the tactical level (e.g., employment policies or innovation of work processes), and the strategic level (financial decisions, strategic planning, election of leaders and new shareholders). A CFA confirmed the three dimensional scale structure ($\chi^2(54) = 122.98$, RMSEA = 0.076, CFI = 0.965). We also estimated the Composite Reliability (CR), to be.96, which is well beyond the.70 rule of thumb for acceptable reliability.

Corporate social responsibility perceptions

CSR perceptions included Philantropic CSR Activities and Ethical CSR Activities and we measured this construct using 11 items from the scale by Lee et al. (2013). Moreover, we found that two items (no. 7 and 8) loaded on the first subfactor rather than the second as originally suggested by Lee et al. (2013). Therefore we moved these two items to the former subscale.

An example item is "Our company has a strong sense of corporate social responsibility." A series of CFAs showed that residual variance between item 1 and item 2 as well as item6 and item 7 correlated, which we accepted. The process ended with acceptable fit indices ($\chi^2(41) = 95.67$, RMSEA = 0.080, CFI = 0.954). Reliability was also good (CR = 0.92). At T2, we obtained a satisfactory fit for the same model and the same item error correlations ($\chi^2(41) = 72.97$, RMSEA = 0.061, CFI = 0.968), and CR = 0.91. The scales correlated very highly (r=0.91), and this result supports that there is a high degree of test–retest reliability of the scale.

Meaningful work

Meaningful work was measured using a 10-item scale developed by Steger et al. (2012). The scale consists of three subscales measuring positive meaning, meaning making trough work and greater good motivation. An example item is "I understand how my work contributes to my life's meaning. Modification Index (MI) analyses revealed that the item "I view my work as contributing to my personal growth" cross-loaded on the Positive Meaning sub-factor. A SEM analysis showed acceptable fit indices of a model with the cross-loading item ($\chi^2(31) = 74.37$, RMSEA = 0.082, CFI = 0.966). In addition, the analysis showed that the reliability was good (CR = 0.93).

Results

Table 1 reports the descriptive statistics and correlations among the variables and Average Variance Extracted. The two latter estimates were based on a Measurement Model, which demonstrated satisfactory fit: $\chi^2(883) = 1413.93$, RMSEA = 0.053, CFI = 0.91. We computed the AVEs for the hierarchical constructs as the means of the completely standardized squared loadings of the first order dimensions (following MacKenzie et al., 2011). The results show that the AVEs are higher than all intercorrelations (Fornell and Larcker, 1981), with the exception from CSR perceptions at the two time points. The latter should not differ because it is the same construct. All in all, the results support the expected discriminant validity of the different variables (Table 2).

We tested the full hypothetized model in a Structural Equation Model that showed satisfactory fit indices ($\chi^2(883) = 1414.07$, RMSEA = 0.053, CFI = 0.91). The results support the hypotheses (see Figure 1). First, the results confirms that the more

	Mean	SD	1	2	3	4	AVE
1. Organizational Democracy	2.77	0.89	(0.96)				0.65
2. CSR Perceptions T1	2.99	0.91	0.35***	(0.92)			0.70
3. CSR Perceptions T2	2.97	0.87	0.29***	0.91***	(0.91)		0.78
4. Meaningful work	3.46	0.78	0.41***	0.53***	0.60***	(0.93)	0.73

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics: mean, SD, Pearson's correlations, reliabilities.

All variables' answer scales range from 1 to 5. Means and SDs calculated from scale means of manifest item values in SPSS v. 28. Pearson's Correlations between latent variables and Average Variance Extracted (AVE) was computed on basis of the Measurement Model. Composite Reliability across the diagonals in parentheses. ***p < 0.001.

organizational democracy that an employee experice, the more meaningful is work perceived to be (support for Hypothesis 1). Second, the higher the organizational democracy, the higher CSR perceptions (Hypothesis 2), and, in turn the more meaningfulness at work does a person experience (Hypothesis 3). Finally, the indirect effect (unstandardized) was estimated to be 0.46 and the biascorrected bootstrap 95% confidence intervals ranged from 0.17 to 1.1. The full effect was 1.36 [CI from 0.67 to 2.27]. These results confirm Hypothesis 4 about a partial mediation effect, i.e., that the relationship between Organizational Democracy and Meaningful work can in part be explained by CSR perceptions as an intermediate variable. The SEM model with controls showed that none of the control variables were significantly related with the other variables, the hypothesized relationships did not change substantially and were not insignificant in the model with control variables. Therefore, the results could not be due to third variable confounding effects of age, gender or education.

Discussion

The aim of this study was to test a mediation model to explore the direct effect of organizational democracy on meaningful work and to disentangle the mediating effect of the employees' CSR perceptions. The results indicated that organizational democracy has a significant direct effect on meaningful work, in line with Hypothesis 1. Regarding Hypothesis 2, our results showed that organizational democracy was related to CSR perceptions, so Hypothesis 2 was supported. Moreover, Hypothesis 3 was confirmed as CSR perceptions significantly predicted the experience of meaningful work. Lastly, our results showed that CSR perception partly mediated the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work, supporting Hypothesis 4.

Theoretical contribution

This study offers three key contributions to both theory and research on organizational democracy, CSR, and meaningful work. First, we believe that our study is the first to directly examine the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. Thus, the study aligns with and lends empirical support to a relationship that has historically been given

theoretical attention, but lacks empirical exploration (Arneson, 1987; Yeoman, 2014). Our study is in alignment and extends the longitudinal study by Martela et al. (2021), who find that the experience of autonomy was positively related to the experience of meaningful work. Organizational democracy may be one such important source of autonomy and may thus be considered an important contextual source of autonomy. Our study extends the work by Martela et al. (2021) further, by investigating how contextually experienced autonomy trough organizational democracy may affect the experience of meaningfulness in organizations. The present study also highlights the relative importance of organizational democracy in general, illustrating how organizational democracy may be important for stimulating individual-level effects. This is in accordance with the metaanalysis by Weber et al. (2020), who found that organizational democracy significantly predicts beneficial individual level outcomes. Our study adds to this finding and demonstrates how the perception of meaningful work may be another positive and notable individual-level effect of organizational democracy.

Second, our study underscores the importance of organizational democracy in shaping the employees' view of the organization. Previous research has found that CSR perceptions are related to meaningful work (Chaudhary, 2020; Youn and Kim, 2022). Our study aligns well with those findings by demonstrating a positive link between CSR perceptions and the experience of meaningfulness. However, we also extend these findings as the present study is the first to investigate and find a positive relationship between organizational democracy and CSR perceptions. This finding aligns and extends the findings of Jin and Drozdenko (2010) who find that power sharing, information sharing, and democratic ideology is related to CSR in organizations. Our results complement this finding by showing that organizational democracy, which entails power sharing, knowledge sharing, and democratic ideology is indeed related to CSR in organizations. However, our findings also extend these results by showing that democratic organizational contexts also work at an individual level by increasing the employees perception of philanthropic and ethical CSR activities. Moreover, to the best of our knowledge, our study is the first to apply CSR as a mediating mechanism in the relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work. This finding aligns well with the argument made by Unterrainer et al. (2011) that organizational democracy has a socializing effect on the employees, and that organizational democracy may contribute to a more favorable global view of the

TABLE 2 Items, subscales and standardized loadings.

Organizational democracy (Weber and Unterrainer, 2012)

How much influence do you experience on	Standardize	ed loadings
Subscale: Operational area 1. How the daily work is organized	0.94	
 How the daily work as organized How the daily work tasks are organized 	0.90	
 How working time is organized and scheduled 	0.70	
Subscale: Tactical area		
4. The employment policies of the organization	0.76	
5. Purchasing of new resources and equipment (e.g., machinery and tools, information technology/media)	0.63	
6. How health and safety are managed	0.72	
7. Process innovations (e.g., extensive improvements of technology, work organization)	0.73	
Subscale: Strategic area		
8. Appointment of a new head of department/division or of your direct superior,	0.84	
9. The financial decision-making by the organization (e.g., concerning the budget of the firm, major capital investments or applying for credit)	0.85	
10. Plans and strategies for the development of the organization (e.g., corporate constitution and governance, mission statement, restructuring of	0.86	
the company)		
11. Election of the chief executive or members of the executive board or supervisory board	0.89	
12. Admission of new shareholders, stockholders, or equity stakeholders	0.86	
Organizational democracy full scale		
Operational subscale	0.40	
Tactical subscale	0.98	
Strategic subscale	0.90	
Meaningful work (Steger et al., 2012)		
Subscale: Positive meaning		
1. I have found a meaningful career	0.78	
2. I understand how my work contributes to my life's meaning	0.87	
3. I have a good sense of what makes my job meaningful	0.84	
4. I have discovered work that has a satisfying purpose	0.81	
5. I view my work as contributing to my personal growth	0.41	
Subscale: Meaning making through work	0.45	
5. I view my work as contributing to my personal growth	0.45 0.82	
 My work helps me better understand myself My work helps me make sense of the world around me 	0.82	
Subscale: Greater good motivations	0.82	
8. My work really makes no difference to the world. (R)	0.91	
 I know my work makes a positive difference in the world 	-0.51	
10. The work I do serves a greater purpose	0.81	
Meaningful work full scale		
Subscale: Meaning making through work	0.83	
Subscale: Positive meaning	0.85	
Subscale: Greater good motivations	0.88	
CSR Perceptions (Lee et al., 2017)		
Subscale: Philanthropic CSR activities	Time 1	Time 2
Our company helps solve social problems	0.76	0.71
Our company has a strong sense of corporate social responsibility	0.76	0.72
Our company gives adequate contributions to local communities	0.76	0.71
Our company allocates some of their resources to philanthropic activities	0.65	0.61
Our company plays a role in society that goes beyond the mere generation of profits	0.72	0.72
Our company encourages its employees to participate in voluntarily activities	0.71	0.70
Our company emphasizes the importance of its social responsibilities to its employees	0.84	0.82
Our company organizes ethics training programs for its employees	0.71	0.69
Subscale: Ethical CSR activity		
Our employees are required to provide full and accurate information to all customers	0.71	0.68
Our company has a comprehensive code of conduct	0.80	0.76
Our company is recognized as a trustworthy company	0.65	0.62
CSR perceptions		
Subscale: Philanthropic CSR activities	0.89	0.99
Subscale: Ethical CSR activity	0.77	0.76

organization. Although the present study does not measure the actual CSR activities of the company *per se*, one could argue that actual CSR activities and CSR perceptions should be strongly related. This, in turn, may suggest that democratic organizations could be better equipped to promoting CSR activities, and thus contribute to a more socially responsible business world in general.

Third, our study also contributes to the literature on meaningful work and especially the call for research on which organizational antecedents promote the experience of meaningful work. Our results show that there is indeed a positive, significant relationship between organizational democracy and meaningful work, suggesting that organizational democracy may be an important contextual factor that contributes to the experience of meaningful work. Thus, our study responds to the research gap presented by Rosso et al. (2010), by giving more knowledge on how different sources of meaningful work simulate the experience of meaningfulness in the workplace simultaneously. Moreover, our findings are in alignment with the theoretical model proposed by Ashford and Pratt (2003), which highlights the importance of employee involvement practices in the understanding of how to create meaningful work.

Compared to other relevant research regarding contextual antecedents of meaningful work, our study is in alignment with the empirical work of Peng et al. (2016), who find that a leader context that grants autonomy trough intellectual stimulation, increases the perception of meaningful work from the employees. Our research expands this study by looking at how autonomy granted trough the specific organizational context that the leader operates within, affects the experience of meaningful work. In general, our study therefore underlines how it is not only the work tasks that shape the employees experience of meaningfulness, but also the *organizational context* that the employees operate within. This is in accordance with the qualitative research by Bailey and Madden (2017) who conclude that "all jobs have the potential to be both meaningful and meaningless" (p. 3), and that meaningfulness would arose through work experiences that were shared and autonomous. These findings align well with the result of our research as sharing and autonomy may be well stimulated through a context that fosters organizational democracy.

Practical implications

This study has several practical implications that are worth noting. First, we show that if organizations wish to create meaningful workplaces, they should not only focus on the work tasks that the employees are given, but also focus on the organizational context that the employees operate within. The study reveals that organizational democracy is significantly positively related to the experience of meaningful work, suggesting that fostering organizational democracy in organizations can serve as an important mechanism to improve the experience of meaningful work. However, our study also suggests that organizational democracy may be a important factor to improve the perceptions of CSR in the organization, which strengthens the experience of meaningfulness. Thus, organizations that wish to improve employees' experience of meaning and perceptions of CSR should strive to create structures where participatory decision making is mandatory, both at the operational and short-term level and at the long-term strategic level.

Limitations and further research

Although our study has several strengths, such as an original theoretical contribution and a sample representing diverse industries, it also has certain limitations that are worth noting. First, the data in our study come from only one source - the employees - so the study may be subject to common method bias. Thus, the employees in our study might for example have rated CSR perceptions high, based on their previous high rating of organizational democracy, or because they are generally satisfied with their workplace (Podsakoff et al., 2012). However, Spector (2006) and Podsakoff et al. (2012) found that common method bias may be an overrated problem in general. Moreover, in our sample we separated the collection of the independent and the dependent variables, which is found to reduce common method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2012). A second limitation of the study is the possibility of reversed causality in our data. For example, it could be that the experience of meaningfulness also leads to greater involvement in organizational practices and therefore create a perception of a more democratic organization. Therefore, further studies should aim to explore the causality between the constructs further by using objective data or experimental methods that are better suited to establish causality. For example, further research could explore and compare democratic organizations with less democratic organizations to explore differences in perceptions of meaning and CSR perceptions.

Conclusion

In this study we explored the effect of organizational democracy on meaningful work and how perceptions of CSR are involved as an important mechanism in this relationship. Specifically, we found that organizational democracy is an important antecedent of meaningful work and that the employees' perception of CSR partly mediates this relationship. Our study thus has theoretical implications for scholars doing research on both organizational democracy, CSR and meaningful work. Our study has managerial and practical contributions by showing how a specific organizational context can be arranged to stimulate CSR perceptions and meaningful work. The study has certain limitations, as the data obtained are cross sectional and comes from one source. We encourage *further research* to explore the effect of organizational democracy on meaningful work, with more objective and longitudinal data and to consider other intermediate variables in this relationship. Ultimately, this

knowledge can be an important step toward understanding how to create more meaningful work.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

Author contributions

MS and TJ developed the idea for the study and revised the paper in its final form. MS collected the data and wrote

References

Allan, B. A., Batz-Barbarich, C., Sterling, H. M., and Tay, L. (2019). Outcomes of meaningful work: a meta-analysis. *J. Manag. Stud.* 56, 500–528. doi: 10.1111/joms.12406

Arneson, R. J. (1987). Meaningful work and market socialism. *Ethics* 97, 517–545. doi: 10.1086/292864

Bailey, C., and Madden, A. (2017). Time reclaimed: temporality and the experience of meaningful work. *Work Employ. Soc.* 31, 3–18.

Banerjeey, S. B. (2014). A critical perspective on corporate social responsibility: Towards a global governance framework. Critical perspectives on international business.

Berinsky, A. J., Huber, G. A., and Lenz, G. S. (2012). Evaluating online labor markets for experimental research: Amazon. com's mechanical Turk. *Polit. Anal.* 20, 351–368. doi: 10.1093/pan/mpr057

Chaudhary, R. (2020). Authentic leadership and meaningfulness at work: role of employees' CSR perceptions and evaluations. *Manag. Decis.* 59, 2024–2039. doi: 10.1002/csr.1827

Deci, E. L., Olafsen, A. H., and Ryan, R. M. (2017). Self-determination theory in work organizations: the state of a science. *Annu. Rev. Organ. Psych. Organ. Behav.* 4, 19–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-113108

Fornell, C., and Larcker, D. F. (1981). Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. *J. Mark. Res.* 18, 39–50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104

Frega, R., Herzog, L., and Neuhäuser, C. (2019). Workplace democracy – the recent debate. *Philos. Compass* 14:e12574. doi: 10.1111/phc3.12574

Hazarika, A. (2013). Corporate social responsibility and workplace democracy: emerging issues and perspectives. *J. Manage. Public Policy* 5, 27–40.

Heller, F., Pusic, E., Strauss, G., and Wilpert, B. (1998). Organizational Participation: Myth and Reality, Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Hu, L. T., and Bentler, P. M. (1999). Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Struct. Equ. Model. Multidiscip. J.* 6, 1–55.

Jin, K. G., and Drozdenko, R. G. (2010). Relationships among perceived organizational core values, corporate social responsibility, ethics, and organizational performance outcomes: an empirical study of information technology professionals. *J. Bus. Ethics* 92, 341–359. doi: 10.1007/s10551-009-0158-1

the majority of the paper, notably theory and discussion sections and in part the methods section. TJ conducted the analyses and wrote the results section and parts of the methods section. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Lăzăroiu, G., Ionescu, L., Andronie, M., and Dijmărescu, I. (2020). Sustainability management and performance in the urban corporate economy: a systematic literature review. *Sustainability* 12:7705.

Lee, E. M., Park, S. Y., and Lee, H. J. (2013). Employee perception of CSR activities: its antecedents and consequences. *J. Bus. Res.* 66, 1716–1724. doi: 10.1016/j. jbusres.2012.11.008

Lee, M. C. C., Idris, M. A., and Delfabbro, P. H. (2017). The linkages between hierarchical culture and empowering leadership and their effects on employees' work engagement: Work meaningfulness as a mediator. *Int. J. Stress Manag.* 24, 392

Lepisto, D. A., and Pratt, M. G. (2017). Meaningful work as realization and justification: toward a dual conceptualization. *Organ. Psychol. Rev.* 7, 99–121. doi: 10.1177/2041386616630039

Lysova, E. I., Allan, B. A., Dik, B. J., Duffy, R. D., and Steger, M. F. (2019). Fostering meaningful work in organizations: a multi-level review and integration. *J. Vocat. Behav.* 110, 374–389. doi: 10.1016/j.jvb.2018.07.004

MacKenzie, S. B., Podsakoff, P. M., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2011). Construct measurement and validation procedures in MIS and behavioral research: integrating new and existing techniques. *MIS Q.* 35, 293–334. doi: 10.2307/23044045

Malik, M. (2015). Value-enhancing capabilities of CSR: a brief review of contemporary literature. *J. Bus. Ethics* 127, 419–438. doi: 10.1007/s10551-014-2051-9

Martela, F., and Pessi, A. B. (2018). Significant work is about self-realization and broader purpose: defining the key dimensions of meaningful work. *Front. Psychol.* 9:363. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2018.00363

Martela, F., Hankonen, N., Ryan,, R. M., and Vansteenkiste, M. (2021). Motivating voluntary compliance to behavioural restrictions: Self-determination theory-based checklist of principles for COVID-19 and other emergency communications. *European Rev. Soc. Psychol.* 32, 305–347.

Marx, K. (1959). Capital: A Critique of Political Economy. C. H. Kerr. Moscow.

Muthén, B., and Muthén, L. (2017). Mplus. In Handbook of item response theory. Chapman and Hall/CRC. 507–518.

Peng, A. C., Lin, H. E., Schaubroeck, J., McDonough, E. F. III, Hu, B., and Zhang, A. (2016). CEO intellectual stimulation and employee work meaningfulness: the moderating role of organizational context. *Group Org. Manag.* 41, 203–231. doi: 10.1177/1059601115592982 Pircher Verdorfer, A., and Weber, W. G. (2016). Examining the link between organizational democracy and employees' moral development. *J. Moral Educ.* 45, 59–73. doi: 10.1080/03057240.2015.1136600

Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2012). Sources of method bias in social science research and recommendations on how to control it. *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 63, 539–569. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-120710-100452

Pratt, M. G., and Ashforth, B. E. (2003). "Fostering meaningfulness in working and at work," in *Positive Organizational Scholarship: Foundations of a New Discipline*. eds. K. S. Cameron, J. E. Dutton, and R. E. Quinn (San Francisco, CA: Berret-Koehler). 309–327.

Raub, S., and Blunschi, S. (2014). The power of meaningful work: how awareness of CSR initiatives fosters task significance and positive work outcomes in service employees. *Cornell Hosp. Q.* 55, 10–18. doi: 10.1177/1938965513498300

Raudenbush, S. W., and Bryk, A. S. (2002). Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods, Vol. 1 London: Sage.

Raykov, T. (1997). Scale reliability, Cronbach's coefficient alpha, and violations of essential tau-equivalence with fixed congeneric components. *Multivar. Behav. Res.* 32, 329–353.

Rosso, B. D., Dekas, K. H., and Wrzesniewski, A. (2010). On the meaning of work: a theoretical integration and review. *Res. Organ. Behav.* 30, 91–127. doi: 10.1016/j. riob.2010.09.001

Schermelleh-Engel, K., Moosbrugger, H., and Müller, H. (2003). Evaluating the fit of structural equation models: tests of significance and descriptive goodness-of-fit measures. *Methods Psychol. Res.* 8, 23–74.

Seeman, M. (1959). On the meaning of alienation. Am. Sociol. Rev. 24, 783–791. doi: 10.2307/2088565

Shantz, A., Alfes, K., and Truss, C. (2014). Alienation from work: Marxist ideologies and twenty-first-century practice. *Int. J. Hum. Resour. Manag.* 25, 2529–2550. doi: 10.1080/09585192.2012.667431

Spector, P. E. (2006). Method variance in organizational research: truth or urban legend? *Organ. Res. Methods* 9, 221–232. doi: 10.1177/1094428105284955

Steger, M. F., Dik, B. J., and Duffy, R. D. (2012). Measuring meaningful work: the work and meaning inventory (WAMI). J. Career Assess. 20, 322–337. doi: 10.1177/1069072711436160

Tajfel, H. (1979). Individuals and groups in social psychology. British J. Soc. Clin. Psychol. 18, 183–190.

Unterrainer, C., Palgi, M., Weber, W. G., Iwanowa, A., and Oesterreich, R. (2011). Structurally anchored organizational democracy. *J. Pers. Psychol.* 10, 118–132. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000038

Weber, W. G., and Unterrainer, C. (2012). "Analysis of preconditions for the fostering of democratic behavioral orientations in business organizations: the POPD questionnaire," in *Democratic Competences and Social Practices in Organizations*. eds. W. G. Weber, M. Thoma, A. Ostendorf and L. Chisholm (Wiesbaden: Verlag für Sozialwissenschaften (VS)), 118–143.

Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205

Yeoman, R. (2014). Conceptualising meaningful work as a fundamental human need. J. Bus. Ethics 125, 235–251. doi: 10.1007/s10551-013-1894-9

Youn, H., and Kim, J. H. (2022). Corporate social responsibility and hotel employees' organizational citizenship behavior: the roles of organizational pride and meaningfulness of work. *Sustainability* 14:2428. doi: 10.3390/su14042428





Perceptions of Customer Incivility, Job Satisfaction, Supervisor Support, and Participative Climate: A Multi-Level Approach

Zselyke Pap1*, Delia Vîrgă1 and Guy Notelaers2

¹ Department of Psychology, West University of Timişoara, Timişoara, Romania, ² Department of Psychosocial Science, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

Perceived customer incivility can be a significant day-to-day demand that affects frontline service employees' job satisfaction. The current research focuses on job resources on multiple levels that serve as buffers in the face of this demand. We tested a multi-level model in which supervisor support (at the employee level) and participative climate (at the work-unit level) moderate the negative relationship between perceived customer incivility and job satisfaction. We used multi-level analysis with self-reported cross-sectional data collected from 934 employees nested in 107 work units of a large clothing shop chain in Belgium. The results showed that both supervisor support and participative climate moderate the negative relationship between perceived customer incivility and job satisfaction. The theoretical contribution of this study resides in an extension of the JD-R theory to simultaneously conceptualize resources on multiple levels. In the meantime, we focus on practical, hands-on resources that organizations can implement to protect service employees from the adverse effects of perceived customer incivility.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Christine Unterrainer, University of Innsbruck, Austria

Reviewed by:

Luigi Isaia Lecca, University of Cagliari, Italy Smirti Kutaula, Kingston University, United Kingdom

> *Correspondence: Zselyke Pap zselyke.pap@e-uvt.ro

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Organizational Psychology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychology

Received: 24 May 2021 Accepted: 23 September 2021 Published: 13 October 2021

Citation:

Pap Z, Vîrgă D and Notelaers G (2021) Perceptions of Customer Incivility, Job Satisfaction, Supervisor Support, and Participative Climate: A Multi-Level Approach. Front. Psychol. 12:713953. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.713953 Keywords: participative climate, job satisfaction, supervisor support, customer incivility, multi-level, job resources, job demands

INTRODUCTION

The frequent interactions inherent to front-line employees' jobs often include dealing with customers who behave in unfriendly and disrespectful ways (Han et al., 2016). This represents a daily hassle for retail workers, and since "the customer is always right" policies are characteristic of organizations that thrive on customer satisfaction (Wilson and Holmvall, 2013), front-line employees need to frequently regulate their emotions and spend resources to offer service with a smile to every customer (Koopmann et al., 2015). *Customer incivility* is defined as the employee's perception that the customer is behaving in an uncivil manner (e.g., being disrespectful or insulting; van Jaarsveld et al., 2010) and has been negatively related to employee well-being and job satisfaction (Alola et al., 2019). While a plethora of research has shown that it has adverse effects in terms of increasing employees' stress levels (Kim et al., 2014), leading to emotional exhaustion (van Jaarsveld et al., 2010), in a domain where customer satisfaction is a central preoccupation for organizations, employee satisfaction also represents a primary outcome due to its' consistent relationship to customer service quality and customer satisfaction (Brown and Lam, 2008). Since

interactions with the customer represent the main activity of a front-line retail employee and eliminating this stressor is not a straightforward option, we focus on finding moderators in the workplace dynamics with supervisors and colleagues (Yang and Lau, 2019).

This study is guided by the postulates of Job Demands-Resources Theory (JD-R; Bakker and Demerouti, 2017), which explains work-related outcomes like satisfaction, based on two main processes (a motivational and a health impairment process), which are a function of two key elements: job demands and resources. Central to JD-R and the present study are resources, or those physical, psychological, social, and organizational aspects of the job that motivate employees by being functional in achieving work goals, stimulating growth and development, and reducing job demands, and associated costs (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017). This definition has some theoretical limitations with implications for the design of this study and the theoretical reasoning behind our hypotheses.

First, it implies a functional equivalence of resources at all levels (be they physical, psychological, social, or organizational). It postulates that they work the same way at and across all levels (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017). However, aggregating individually perceived resources to the group level makes them phenomenologically distinct (Bliese, 2000). Transferring inferences derived from individual-level research to other organizational levels is a fallacy that can lead us to biased inferences (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000). Hence, while we can build on valuable individual-level evidence suggesting their existence and effects (Chen et al., 2021), we need to be cautious in naturally accepting that resources at higher levels work the same way they do at the individual level. To construct unbiased knowledge about multi-level phenomena in organizations, constructs need to be measured and theorized at the level they reside at Kozlowski and Klein (2000). Since theoretical reasoning for cross-level relationships within the JD-R tradition is based on a research base that for a very long time has been focused on the individual level (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017), much more evidence is needed to draw strong conclusions when it comes to cross-level moderating effects (Jex et al., 2014).

Second, the JD-R theory postulates a skeleton of various relationships but is not very specific in explaining the psychological mechanisms behind effects (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017). Consequently, researchers usually borrow from complementary theories that can help construct more in-depth theoretical reasoning in JD-R studies (Schaufeli and Taris, 2014). Similar to previous work, we also rely on postulates from Conservation of Resources Theory (COR; Hobfoll, 2011) and Self-Determination Theory (SDT, Gagné and Deci, 2005; Deci et al., 2017). According to SDT, resources have their motivational potential postulated in JD-R theory when they satisfy employees' basic needs for autonomy, competence, and relatedness (Deci et al., 2017; Nielsen et al., 2017). When employees perceive the work context as one that provides the necessary resources to satisfy these needs, they tend to develop internalized forms of motivation, be more performant in challenging tasks, and form more positive attitudes toward their jobs (Gagné and Deci, 2005). Chen et al. (2021) have argued that empowering HRM practices could represent an organization-level characteristic that buffers the impact of customer incivility on basic needs' satisfaction. These results, however, are still waiting for confirmation at higher levels of analysis that can differentiate between the individual impact of perceptions of the environment, and the actual impact of the environment, which is more than the sum of individual perceptions (Bliese, 2000; Kozlowski and Klein, 2000).

Conservation of Resources Theory theory presents another valuable theoretical reasoning for the possible cross-level moderating effects under the concept of *resource caravan passageways* (Hobfoll, 2011). These are environmental conditions offered by the organization that support, foster, enrich and protect the resources that individuals can access to cope with everyday difficulties (Hobfoll et al., 2018). From this point of view, employees can draw on these contextual resources to replenish resources that were depleted in interactions with uncivil customers (Koopmann et al., 2015; Wang and Wang, 2017). Hence, both COR and SDT theories add to the explanatory power of JD-R by elucidating processes through which higherlevel resources could minimize or recover resource loss (Schaufeli and Taris, 2014; Boukis et al., 2020).

Based on this theoretical background, we propose a multi-level JD-R model (Figure 1) of perceived customer incivility (PCI) and *job satisfaction*, conceptualized as a pleasurable emotional state derived from one's work (Brown and Lam, 2008). We argue that *supervisor support*, defined as the extent to which employees believe that their supervisors appreciate, value, and care about their well-being (Zhu et al., 2019), is an employee-level resource that can alleviate the adverse effects that PCI has on job satisfaction (Alola et al., 2019). Further, we propose *participative climate* as a shared, group-level resource that moderates the relationship between PCI and satisfaction beyond the effects of supervisor support. In this context, participative climate constitutes a resource caravan passageway that employees can turn to and replenish resources handling negative interactions with customers better (Hobfoll et al., 2018).

From a theoretical point of view, this research extends existing knowledge through the conceptualization of participation as a shared, group-level resource in the form of climate (Füllemann et al., 2016; Pap et al., 2020). Previous studies have advocated for the conceptualization of shared, group-level resources as climate in service-employee contexts (Füllemann et al., 2016) since various types of unit-climate have significant direct or buffering effects on employee subjective well-being akin to the effects of job resources (Carr et al., 2003). Hence, while there is a theoretical and empirical basis that warrants attention to these kinds of multi-level relationships (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017, 2018), this is the first study that considers participative climate as a group-level moderator in the PCI - satisfaction relationship alongside to supervisor support received at the individual level. Although a long-standing research stream indicates that all organizational phenomena are nested in a higher-level context, which often has a direct or moderating effect on lower-level outcomes (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000; Jex et al., 2014), the vast majority of studies investigating employee well-being focus on the physical and psychological level of the individual, leaving a gap around



empirical evidence supporting the proposed interaction effects across levels (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017).

Multi-level theoretical frameworks of employee well-being are still relatively new and are in need of more evidence that sustains their practical relevance in organizations (Bakker and Demerouti, 2018; Hobfoll et al., 2018). Thus, our work contributes to existing knowledge by answering the call of Bakker and Demerouti (2018) to investigate the effects of demands and resources that span organizational levels in order to develop more effective interventions. Hence, from a practical point of view, this research is valuable due to the focus on hands-on, concrete resources that managers and organizations can implement on two different but complementary levels in their attempts to help employees better cope with uncivil customers (Nielsen et al., 2017). In a literature stream that focuses mainly on the customer-employee dyad in the attempts to understand the adverse effects of customer incivility (Yang and Lau, 2019), empirical evidence that bridges multiple levels of the organizational knowledge together (employee reactions, supervisor effects, and collective resources in the work unit) can constitute significant scientific advantage (Kozlowski et al., 2013).

Perceptions of Customer Incivility and Job Satisfaction

Perceptions of customer mistreatment have been linked to significant adverse effects on employees' job satisfaction and well-being (for a review, see Koopmann et al., 2015). In the JD-R perspective, PCI represents a job demand (Boukis et al., 2020), which causes strain and adverse employee outcomes through a health impairment process in which employees' emotional and instrumental resources are drained (Bakker and Demerouti, 2018). In line with this postulate, interactions with uncivil customers have been shown to significantly increase employee's stress levels (Kern and Grandey, 2009; Kim et al., 2014), leading to emotional exhaustion (van Jaarsveld et al., 2010), and decreased satisfaction (Alola et al., 2019). Hence, perceived customer incivility is an essential demand that fuels the health impairment process, generating high levels of stress. In addition, the front-line employee can interpret customer incivility as an indicator of goal failure and lack of performance (Koopmann et al., 2015), thereby thwarting the satisfaction of basic psychological needs for competence and autonomy (Gagné and Deci, 2005; Deci et al., 2017), and decreasing satisfaction (Kim et al., 2014; Chen et al., 2021). While this relationship was primarily studied in health care settings (Wang and Wang, 2017), restaurants (Han et al., 2016), and front-line employees in hotels and resorts (Yang and Lau, 2019), there is also empirical evidence showing a negative link between PCI and job satisfaction among retail employees (Kern and Grandey, 2009; Wilson and Holmvall, 2013).

H1.: Perceived customer incivility is negatively related to job satisfaction.

Supervisor Support as a Moderator

Extensive literature indicates that certain leadership behaviors are highly effective in promoting employee job satisfaction (Wegge et al., 2010). We argue that beyond the evident direct effects that leaders can have on employee well-being, their support is also a key element in helping employees face difficult situations, such as interactions with rude and unfriendly customers (Han et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019). According to the buffering effect of job resources postulated in the JD-R theory, supervisor support can help reduce job demands and associated psychological and physiological costs (Bakker and Demerouti, 2018). Supportive supervisors, who provide guidance and training in employee's customer service role, elicit better sales skills and service performance (Liaw et al., 2010). By this, supervisors are empowering the employee to take effective action when meeting the next customer, essentially satisfying the basic needs for autonomy and competence thwarted by PCI (Gagné and Deci, 2005; Chen et al., 2021) and restoring satisfaction (Pettijohn et al., 2007; Deci et al., 2017). Also, in line with COR theory (Hobfoll, 2011), a supportive supervisor, through broader access to organizational resources and greater decision-making authority, can offer the necessary aid to deal with the situation by restoring or replacing depleted emotional and instrumental resources (Hobfoll et al., 2018) that are lost due to the frequent negative interactions with uncivil customers (Koopmann et al., 2015; Boukis et al., 2020). Supervisor support has significantly moderated the effect of PCI on forms of wellbeing in a sample of restaurant employees (Han et al., 2016) and among employees of an integrated resort (Zhu et al., 2019). However, this moderating effect was not significant among hotel front-line employees (Karatepe, 2011), which warrants a further focus on the buffering role of supervisor support in different industries (Boukis et al., 2020).

H2.: Supervisor support buffers the negative impact that perceived customer incivility has on job satisfaction.

Participative Climate

As part of the wider employee involvement and organizational leadership model (EIOL; Wegge et al., 2010), organizational participation has been defined through various processes whereby power, influence, decision-making, and responsibility are shared among employees, supervisors, and other relevant agents working in, or with the company. According to Tesluk et al.' (1999) seminal article, participative climate captures employee perceptions of such employee involvement systems, signaling to employees that participation in work planning, decision making, and on-the-job problem solving are relevant organizational goals that are expected and rewarded practices within the organization (Schneider et al., 2011). Climate exerts top-down, cross-level effects on employee wellbeing (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000; Jex et al., 2014), but is created through a bottom-up process labeled as emergence, whereby dynamic interaction processes among employees yield phenomena that originate from the cognition, affect, and behaviors of individuals, and manifests on higher levels, in the form of climate (Kozlowski et al., 2013). Employees tend to develop a shared understanding of the environment, which facilitates the emergence of climate, reflecting a sense of shared meaning among co-workers (Jex et al., 2014). Employees need to frequently experience that the organization values their input in decisions regarding their work and openly communicates about these decisions (Seki et al., 2016), but also to have experiences of concrete, individual participation, a shared meaning of participation with beneficial effects to arise (Weber et al., 2020).

In the JD-R theory perspective, participation is a resource that can be beneficial to employees at the fastest route through being directly instrumental in achieving work goals or stimulating personal growth, learning, and development (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017; Nielsen et al., 2017). Working in a participative climate, employees also perceive that more control is offered to them in making decisions regarding customers, eliciting greater experience of responsibility and recognition (Bosak et al., 2017). When employees perceive that individuals have the power to influence decisions and participate in important discussions in their work unit, they feel that their work can involve action with a sense of volition and the experience of choice (Gagné and Deci, 2005). This, in turn, can elicit internalized forms of motivation through fulfilling the needs for autonomy and competence (Gagné and Deci, 2005; Deci et al., 2017) and giving rise to more positive attitudes, like job satisfaction (Miller and Monge, 1986; Bosak et al., 2017; Weber et al., 2020; Chen et al., 2021). Empirical evidence shows that perceptions of participative climate are better predictors of job satisfaction and performance than actual participation in specific decisions (Miller and Monge, 1986). A multi-level study showed that in work units where employees perceive the existence of an involvement climate and actively participate in decision-making, they find more satisfaction in their job (Bosak et al., 2017). Finally, Tesluk et al. (1999) showed that participative climate, both perceived individually and aggregated at the unit-level (but on the higher, district level), significantly predicted satisfaction in the relationships with co-workers and supervisors and with the attention and recognition they perceived for performing well at their jobs and making suggestions (measured as intrinsic satisfaction, Tesluk et al., 1999).

H3.: Unit-level participation climate has a positive relationship with job satisfaction.

Facing rude or disrespectful customers can be a daunting task, which according to COR theory, depletes individual resources and predisposes employees to loss cycles whereby individuals have fewer and fewer resources to face further losses (Koopmann et al., 2015). However, COR theory also states that the degree to which the employee has access to contextual resources in the social environment can play an important role in resource acquisition and protection from resource depletion (Hobfoll, 2011). Participative climate can constitute a resource caravan passageway (Hobfoll et al., 2018) because it could protect existing resources (e.g., knowing that one has a voice in defining procedures and rules in dealing with rude customers might preserve self-esteem and optimism), or it can generate new resources (e.g., a greater sense of autonomy and control over the situation; Castanheira and Chambel, 2010; Chen et al., 2021). The possibility of resource gain becomes salient in the context of resource loss (Hobfoll, 2011), meaning that a shared understanding that participation is accepted rewarded, and essential in the work unit becomes especially important in the context of PCI. In such environments, employees might feel that their experience and opinion in dealing with these interactions will be listened to and considered, eliciting ownership over the situation and building resilience (Hobfoll et al., 2018). Available opportunities to propose and implement better customer service strategies might motivate the employee to be actively involved in generating performant service solutions, which drive satisfaction (Pettijohn et al., 2007; Chen et al., 2021).

There is a relative lack of empirical evidence positioning participative climate as a buffer between PCI and satisfaction. One recent longitudinal study demonstrated that individuallevel perceptions of empowerment HRM practices (including participation among other practices in one general measure) constitute a boundary condition for the relationship between customer mistreatment and employee satisfaction (Chen et al., 2021). In another individual-focused study, PCI related less positively to exhaustion in teams where employees had more participation opportunities (Hu et al., 2018). Based on the finding that it moderated the relationship between several job demands and symptoms of depression, participative climate has been advocated to be vital in creating healthy workplaces (Seki et al., 2016).

H4.: Unit-level participation climate buffers the negative effect of perceived customer incivility on job satisfaction.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Participants and Procedure

The data for this study was collected by a Monitoring and Statistical Consulting company from Belgium specialized in measuring occupational stress for Belgian Health and Safety Executives. Nine hundred thirty-four (N = 934) employees, nested in 107 work units of a large clothing shop chain, completed self-reported questionnaires. Cluster size varied from 2 to 24 members per unit with a mean of 8.7. No members of the surveyed organization had access to any of the completed questionnaires, herewith guaranteeing anonymity.

Sample Characteristics

The sample consisted of a large proportion of women (94.8%). 12.3% had a minimum of 25 years, 20.4% were situated in the range of 25–34 years, 17.1% between 35 and 44 years, 34% between 45 and 54 years, and 16.1% of participants had over 55 years. Most were part-time employees (64.4%) with a mean tenure of 14.3 years (SD = 12.3). Regarding education, 3.2% completed primary school, 82.4% had completed secondary school, and 14.3% had a Bachelor's or higher degree. 62.4% of participants worked as shop assistants, about 10% occupied posts in visual merchandising, and 25.5% held managerial positions.

Measures

Subscales of *The Short Inventory to Monitor Psychosocial Hazards* (SIMPH; Notelaers et al., 2007) were used to measure all study variables. The SIMPH was developed by Notelaers et al. as a theoretically driven and empirically solid instrument with the aim of monitoring psychological risks that employees are exposed to in organizations. It has become a very popular instrument to conduct psychosocial risk analysis in Belgium, providing a skeleton that is completed upon request by extra instruments aligned with the JD-R theory and the specific needs of different organizations. Beyond its' extensive practical use by the statistical consulting company that collected the data for this study, a number of research articles have relied on it over the years (e.g., Schreurs et al., 2011; Notelaers et al., 2012; Pap et al., 2020).

Perceptions of customer incivility were measured with four items on a 4-point Likert scale from 0 = "never" to 3 = "always". Questions referred to the frequency of interactions with unfriendly, verbally abusive clients ("How often do you have

to deal with unfriendly clients?"). The scale had good internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.76$).

Satisfaction was measured with five items on a dichotomous response scale (e.g., 0 = ``yes''; 1 = ``no''). Items, in general, referred to pleasure in work ("Mostly, I am pleased to start my day's work.") The reliability analysis revealed a good internal consistency for this scale ($\alpha = 0.72$).

Supervisor support was measured by three items on a 4point Likert scale from 0 = "never", to 3 = "always". Items referred to participants' perceptions of the availability of the direct supervisors to help when needed ("Can you count on your direct boss when you come across difficulties in your work?"). The scale had excellent reliability ($\alpha = 0.90$).

Participation was measured with three items on a 4-point response scale from 0 = "never" to 3 = "always" ("Can you participate in decisions affecting issues related to your work?"; "Can you consult satisfactorily with your boss about your work?"; "Can you participate in deciding what does and what does not pertain to your task?"). This scale also had good internal consistency ($\alpha = 0.77$).

Statistical Approach

Preliminary Analyses: Aggregation Statistics and Test for Common Method Bias

Before the aggregation of participation at the department-level, we calculated the r_{wg} index (LeBreton et al., 2003) and the intra-class correlation (ICC, Bliese, 2000) to establish if it is justified to aggregate participation to the unit level and to gauge the degree of non-independence of the satisfaction measure. *The* r_{wg} index assesses the extent of consensus or within-unit variability inside a unit, and indices of 0.70 or higher support the "shared" nature of the variable in question (LeBreton et al., 2003). *ICC*(1) represents the ratio of between-group variance to the total variance, indicating the proportion of the total variance explained by group membership (Bliese, 2000).

A series of confirmatory factor analyses (CFA) were implemented to establish the discriminant validity of our constructs and assess the risk of common method bias influencing the results (Podsakoff et al., 2003). A multi-level CFA was conducted to determine the factor loadings of the participation items and the existence of a latent participation construct on both levels.

Hypotheses Testing

We tested the proposed model through Hierarchical Linear Modeling using Maximum Likelihood estimation with robust standard errors in MPlus (Muthén and Muthén, 2007). In the first step, we ran a null model assessing the variability of satisfaction imposed by unit membership. In the next step, we added the L1 predictors (PCI and supervisor support), followed by the L1 interaction term, to assess the moderating effect of supervisor support. In the fourth step, we allowed the slopes of the relationship between PCI and satisfaction to vary randomly. In the fifth step, we tested a means as outcomes model using the L2 variable (participation climate) to predict the intercept of satisfaction. In the final step, we tested the cross-level moderating effect of participative climate by regressing the PCI – satisfaction slope on the L2 predictor. For a detailed analysis of the cross-level interaction, we performed simple slopes tests using Preacher's online tool (Preacher et al., 2006).

We centered the L2 predictor around the grand mean and the L1 predictors around the group mean. After each step, we calculated pseudo- R^2 on the total, within and between variance, tested the improvement in model fit using the Bayesian Information Criteria (BIC), and hand-calculated the chi-square difference test using Satorra-Bentler scaled chisquare based on the log-likelihood (Satorra and Bentler, 2010), which is the appropriate difference test when using the MLR estimator in Mplus.

RESULTS

Means, standard deviations, scale reliabilities, and Pearson correlations for key study variables are summarized in **Table 1**.

The ICC(1) for satisfaction had a value of 0.099. Hence, about 10% of the variance in satisfaction can be explained by department-level differences, which justifies the multi-level analysis of our data. The mean $r_{wg(j)}$ index for our measure of participation was 0.88, and the ICC(1) was 0.11, which indicates satisfactory inter-rater agreement and dependence on unit membership to aggregate participation to the department level (LeBreton et al., 2003). The multi-level CFA also supported this decision. The model which specified a latent factor of participation on both levels had a significantly better fit $[\chi^2(3) = 12.54;$ CFI = 1.00; TLI = 1.00; RMSEA = 0.00; $SRMR_{within} = 0.00$; $SRMR_{between} = 0.003$], than the one in which the items loaded only on a within-cluster factor [$\chi^2(3) = 45.394$; CFI = 0.93; TLI = 0.87; RMSEA = 0.12; SRMR_{within} = 0.02; SRMR_{between} = 0.57]. Factor loadings ranged from 0.43 to 0.74 on the within level (r^2 from 0.29 to 0.40), and from 0.20 to 0.24 on the between level (r^2 from 0.58 to 0.9).

Further, tackling the issue of common method bias, the expected four-factor solution displayed the best fit to the data $[\chi^2(84) = 462.35;$ CFI = 0.93; TLI = 0.92; RMSEA = 0.06; SRMR = 0.06]. A 3-factor model, with supervisor support and participation loading on the same factor, yielded a significantly worse fit $[\chi^2(87) = 808.04;$ CFI = 0.87; TLI = 0.85; RMSEA = 0.09; SRMR = 0.06]. The one-factor solution demonstrated an inacceptable fit to the data $[\chi^2(90) = 2460.05;$ CFI = 0.58; TLI = 0.51; RMSEA = 0.17; SRMR = 0.14], providing evidence that correlations are not driven purely by method bias (Podsakoff et al., 2003).

Table 2 reports the results of hierarchical linear regression in each step of model building. In terms of model fit, we observed a progressive decrease in BIC values, and a significant chi-squared difference between models, indicating that model fit improved by each step in the analysis.

Results show that PCI significantly and negatively predicts satisfaction ($\gamma_{10} = -0.48$, p < 0.001); hence, the first hypothesis (H1) gained support. Moreover, supervisor support positively predicted satisfaction ($\gamma_{20} = 0.44$, p < 0.001), and the two L1 predictors together explained a considerable amount

of 10.9% of the total variance in satisfaction (pseudo- $R^2 = 0.109$).

The second hypothesis (H2) referred to the buffering effect of supervisor support in the relationship between PCI and satisfaction. The results show that the L1 interaction term is a significant positive predictor of satisfaction ($\gamma_{30} = 0.50$, p = 0.004), supporting H2. In other words, employees are satisfied with their job even in the case of frequent interactions with demanding clients when they perceive that their supervisor is offering sufficient support. The simple slopes analysis depicted in **Figure 2** showed that at lower levels of supervisor support (1 SD below the mean), PCI predicts satisfaction negatively ($\beta = -0.79$, p < 0.001). However, the relationship becomes non-significant when supervisor support is high (1 SD above the mean; $\beta = -0.10$, p = 0.45).

Further, we found a significant variation from one work unit to another of the PCI – satisfaction slope ($\mu_{1j} = 0.48$, p = 0.001), which suggests that the relationship between PCI and satisfaction differs among work units. Also, there was a positive covariance of the random intercept with slope, meaning that departments with higher intercepts also show a stronger relationship between PCI and satisfaction.

The third hypothesis (H3) postulated a significant direct crosslevel effect of participation climate on satisfaction. The data confirm this assertion, showing that higher levels of participation climate at the department level indicate higher intercepts of satisfaction ($\gamma_{01} = 0.56$, p < 0.001). Not surprisingly, at the between level, the most variance (28.4%) was explained by the L2 predictor.

Furthermore, the L2 variable significantly predicted the slope $(\gamma_{11} = 0.98, p = 0.004)$, which is in line with the fourth hypothesis (H4), showing a cross-level moderating effect of participative climate (**Figure 3**). Thus, participative climate predicted the variability in the relationships between PCI and satisfaction among departments.¹ The simple slope analysis showed that, at low levels of participative climate (1 SD below the mean), PCI predicts satisfaction negatively ($\beta = -0.76, p = 0.000$), and this relationship becomes non-significant at high levels of participative climate (+1 SD above the mean; $\beta = -0.13, p = 0.286$). This means that in work units where participative climate is higher, interactions with difficult clients do not relate significantly to satisfaction anymore.

DISCUSSION

The present study investigated the effects of perceived customer incivility (PCI) on front-line employees' job satisfaction. We had the primary objective to identify theory-driven but practical resources from different organizational levels that can be useful for managers and organizations in helping front-line employees

¹As additional, post-hoc analysis, we also tested a model in which we controlled for the effect of L1 participation. Our expectation was that if participation climate has a robust and unique effect that is differentiable from the L1 measure, the results should not change in this model. The results remained stable, all effects remained significant, hence we concluded that the L2 effect is robust enough, even when the L1 participation is modeled at the employee level.

face difficult customers while still holding positive attitudes toward their jobs. To reach this objective, we built on widely used and influential theories in the organizational research domain: JD-R theory (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017), COR theory (Hobfoll, 2011), and SDT (Gagné and Deci, 2005), to construct a multi-level model in which individual-level resources (supervisor support), and shared resources at the work-unit level (participative climate), moderate the adverse effects of PCI on job satisfaction.

In line with our first hypotheses, results from employees in a large clothing shop chain suggest that PCI is a job demand that significantly and adversely impacts job satisfaction. According to JD-R theory (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017), employees go through an energy-depleting process when faced with sustained demands such as dealing with uncivil customers, which in turn affects outcomes like performance and work attitudes. Aligned with this theoretical reasoning and with our results, other crosssectional studies have indicated that customer incivility is a pervasive demand in industries that imply frequent interactions with customers (Boukis et al., 2020) because it is not only directly predictive of exhaustion (Koopmann et al., 2015) but also generating more demands (van Jaarsveld et al., 2010). As employees become exhausted by customers, they also get unhappy and dissatisfied by their jobs (Alola et al., 2019). Two underlying mechanisms have been discussed in the literature for the negative effects of this demand. According to COR theory, on the one hand, front-line employees risk losing more of their resources while trying to create a welcoming environment, control their emotions and be pleasant in delivering service to uncivil customers (Hobfoll et al., 2018; Boukis et al., 2020), and these resource loss cycles are exhausting and dissatisfying for them (Alola et al., 2019). On the other hand, interactions with such customers can thwart the basic psychological needs (Gagné and Deci, 2005) of competence (i.e., feeling like a failure at ones' job because of unfair complaints or hurtful comments at ones' service) and autonomy (i.e., being forced to suppress emotions

	M (SD)	α	Satisfaction (L1)	Supervisor support (L1)	Participation (L1)	Participative climate (L2)
Perceived customer incivility (L1)	0.86 (0.47)	0.76	-0.28**	-0.24**	-0.12**	-0.077*
Satisfaction (L1)	4.22 (1.22)	0.72		0.34**	0.31**	0.18**
Supervisor support (L1)	2.09 (.80)	0.90			0.55**	0.38**
Participation (L1)	1.57 (.65)	0.77				0.47**
Participative climate (L2)	1.57 (.32)					

N = 934. **p < 0.001, *p < 0.05. L1, level 1; L2, level 2.

TABLE 2 | Results of multi-level analysis.

				Model		
	Null model	L1 main effects	L1 interaction	Random slope	L2 main effect	Cross-level
	(step 1)	(step2)	(step 3)	(step 4)	(step 5)	interaction (Step 6
Level 1						
Intercept (γ ₀₀)	4.24*** (0.05)	4.24*** (0.05)	4.27*** (0.05)	4.27*** (0.05)	4.26*** (0.05)	4.25*** (0.05)
PCI (γ ₁₀)		-0.48*** (0.12)	-0.45*** (0.11)	-0.45*** (0.11)	-0.47*** (0.11)	-0.45*** (0.11)
Supervisor support (γ ₂₀)		0.44*** (0.06)	0.44*** (0.06)	0.43*** (0.06)	0.43*** (0.06)	0.43*** (0.06)
PCI*Supervisor support (γ ₃₀)			0.50** (0.17)	0.42** (0.01)	0.43** (0.17)	0.41** (0.16)
Level 2						
Participative climate (γ_{01})					0.56*** (0.16)	0.66*** (0.17)
Cross-level interaction						
Participative climate (γ_{11})						0.98** (0.34)
Variance components						
Within-group (L1) (ε _{ij})	1.34*** (0.12)	1.16*** (0.09)	1.14*** (0.09)	1.04*** (0.09)	1.05*** (0.09)	1.05*** (0.09)
Intercept (L2) (μ_{0j})	0.14** (0.05)	0.16** (0.05)	0.15** (0.05)	0.17*** (0.05)	0.12*** (0.03)	0.12*** (0.04)
Slope (L2) (μ_{1j})				0.48*** (0.14)	0.45*** (0.13)	0.40** (0.01)
Intercept-slope (L2) covariance				0.18*** (0.05)	0.13** (0.04)	0.12** (0.04)
Bayesian (BIC)	3,007.09	2,891.82	2,878.31	2,855.41	2,847.03	2,843.32
ΔBIC		-115.26	-13.51	-22.9	-8.38	-3.71
-2LL (df)		78.77 (2) ***	8.37 (1)**	120.8 (2)***	14.17 (1)**	8.19 (1)**
Number of free parameters	3	5	6	8	9	10
Pseudo R ² total		0.109 (10.9%)	0.021 (2.1%)		0.034 (3.4%)	0.005 (0.5%)
Pseudo R ² within		0.136 (13.6%)	0.015 (1.5%)			
Pseudo R ² between					0.284 (28.4%)	-

L1, level 1; L2, level 2; Robust standard errors of estimates are in parentheses. ***Significant at, or below $p \le 001$. **Significant below $p \le 01$; All presented coefficients are unstandardized. New estimates derived from each step in the analysis have been bolded.





and be kind to another person because of the unbalanced customer-employee relationship where the customer has more power) (Koopmann et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2021). Chen et al. (2021) have demonstrated this in a longitudinal study among real estate agents, showing that customer mistreatment predicted reduced satisfaction of the needs for competence and autonomy 3 weeks later and lower job satisfaction and supervisor-rated performance 6 weeks later.

Therefore, we further hypothesized that resources in the work environment could decrease the effects of PCI and looked for resources that, according to theory, would substitute or restore the lost resources or satisfy basic needs when they are thwarted. In support of this, our data showed that supportive supervisors could have a buffering role, diminishing the negative relationship between PCI and job satisfaction. This is explained by the JD-R theory (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017), stating that

job resources particularly lead to positive employee outcomes in the presence of high job demands, and employee well-being can be sustained when there are available resources to balance out the effects of demands. This proposition is consistent with COR theories' assertion that resource gain becomes salient after resource loss (Hobfoll et al., 2018), and employees will draw on available resources provided by a supportive supervisor (e.g., guidance, training, actual help in addressing customers, and emotional support) to replenish lost resources and cope with the situation. Supervisors who offer empowering support to front-line employees can mitigate the negative impact of customer incivility and maintain psychological well-being among employees by restoring lost resources (Boukis et al., 2020). These resources are potentially fulfilling the needs for competence and autonomy (Gagné and Deci, 2005; Deci et al., 2017), which are thwarted by negative interactions with customers

(Chen et al., 2021). Employees can maintain their sense of competence, and they even provide extra-role customer service toward unfriendly customers when they feel supported by their supervisor (Han et al., 2016). Building on a solid research base documenting the buffering role of support between various stress factors and employee health outcomes (Lecca et al., 2020), our results suggest that supportive supervisory behaviors can also preserve employees' satisfaction with their jobs, regardless of being exposed to uncivil customers. Similar to our results, Han et al. (2016) have presented multi-level moderating effects of organizational and supervisory support in the employee-level relationship between customer incivility and burnout. Our study adds to this knowledge by demonstrating that supervisor support cannot only protect mental health and well-being (Han et al., 2016; Zhu et al., 2019; Lecca et al., 2020) but can also maintain positive attitudes toward work, even when it includes handling unpleasant interactions with clients.

Furthermore, as hypothesized, this study highlights the importance of considering higher-level job resources in predicting positive employee outcomes. Our results indicated that individual reports of participatory opportunities and actions aggregate within departments to a significant level, indicating that the individual resource of participation becomes a collectively understood resource shared at the department level (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000; Füllemann et al., 2016). Participative climate has positively predicted job satisfaction and explained a considerable amount of variance in satisfaction at the department level. This beneficial effect of workplace climate built around employee involvement and inclusion in decision-making replicates previous findings by Bosak et al. (2017) regarding the positive impact of employee involvement climate on job satisfaction. The most important finding of this study resides in the cross-level buffer effect of participative climate, reducing the adverse effect of PCI on job satisfaction. The shared understanding of the possibility and importance of participating in decisions is preserving employees' satisfaction, even when interacting with unfriendly and rude customers (Han et al., 2016; Chen et al., 2021). In the COR theory perspective, participative climate constitutes a resource caravan passageway, protecting employees' resources and generating other resources that travel in caravans (Hobfoll, 2011). Resources and their positive impact can crossover among employees who share the same environment and ultimately offer a pool of necessary resources to face difficult situations (Hobfoll et al., 2018). Placing this finding in the JD-R theory, participative climate is a resource that can foster growth, development and can motivate employees (Bakker and Demerouti, 2017) to offer better solutions and services to meet this challenge, which in turn drives performance and satisfaction (Pettijohn et al., 2007), by satisfying basic needs for competence and autonomy (Chen et al., 2021). Participation climate can be interpreted as a specific type of control over the work environment, and even employees who do not frequently participate directly can benefit from it (Weber et al., 2020). While supervisor support is a resource that can help deal with actual customers when needed, participative climate seems to be more future-oriented toward decisions and policies that are implemented to handle such interactions. Our data show a positive correlation between supervisor support and participative climate, which can signal that more supportive supervisors also create more opportunities to participate or that supervisors in such climates are perceived as more supportive. According to previous evidence, leaders can shape and influence the way subordinates perceive organizational climate (Cuadra-Peralta et al., 2017), suggesting that the two types of resources may indeed come in caravans, as COR theory describes it.

Theoretical Implications

Individual resources exist in interaction with environmental conditions, and organizations play a significant role in the process of creating or blocking resources (Hobfoll et al., 2018). However, given the methodological challenges that multi-level research imposes, scholars often miss higher levels of analysis, and research incorporating climate with individual-level stressors is lacking (Jex et al., 2014) due to the field's disproportionate emphasis on the individual level (Bakker and Demerouti, 2018; Hobfoll et al., 2018). Hence, the main theoretical advancement of the current study resides in the extension of the JD-R theory to investigate individual and shared group-level resources simultaneously (Nielsen et al., 2017). The model captures the negative effect of the demand and the interaction between the demand and individual well-being, which have been thoroughly investigated in past research (Bakker and Demerouti, 2018). However, our research also establishes participative climate as an essential boundary condition for these effects and as a shared resource that can have a moderating role even after the effects of direct supervisor support have been taken into account. By building a theoretical model that goes beyond individual experiences, our study, alongside recently accumulating research (Füllemann et al., 2016; Pap et al., 2020), suggest that shared perceptions and experiences in the workplace have a significant role in defining available resources and employee well-being (Schaufeli and Taris, 2014) beyond the individually offered, hands-on, practical resources that research has traditionally focused on. Climate seems to have the role of a resource caravan passageway described in COR theory (Hobfoll et al., 2018), protecting employees from resource depletion and fostering positive outcomes by being an organization or department-level source for generating other resources and protecting the ones that employees possess (Hobfoll, 2011).

Managerial Implications

The present study identifies resources on different but complementary organizational levels, which can aid retail organizations in developing targeted interventions to reduce the negative impact of customer incivility among employees (Nielsen et al., 2017). We provide theoretically and empirically supported results, suggesting that training and encouraging leaders to offer support individually, alongside implementing HRM practices that create a participative climate among employees, can significantly reduce the effects of PCI and increase job satisfaction (Hu et al., 2018). Boukis et al. (2020) urge leaders to focus their efforts on supporting front-line employees struggling with customer verbal aggression in an empowering leadership style, which entails offering employees high guidance and training but also extensive autonomy in handling customers. Organizational participation can take various practical forms: providing information to employees, offering space to express attitudes toward this information, giving voice in decision making, involving employees in important discussions, and taking their opinions into account, veto rights, sharing power among management and employees, and importantly, leaving the freedom to decide to participate or not, to the employee (Wegge et al., 2010). For example, managers can implement Quality Circles, a participative technique that allows employees to have input into issues at work (Pereira and Osburn, 2007). These opportunities must occur frequently, and employees must be aware that they can participate in decisions regarding demanding customers if the goal is to form a climate in which employees understand that participation is an available and essential resource (Pereira and Osburn, 2007; Weber et al., 2020).

Strengths, Limitations, and Future Research

The present study has some notable strengths, but as any study, it also faces limitations. While we discussed the motivational potential of job resources and the resource depleting and emotionally exhausting effect of job demands to build the theoretical arguments, these were constructed based on previous research and the postulates of COR, SDT, and JD-R theories, and the underlying mechanisms were not explicitly tested in our model. Research on JD-R theory has frequently relied on other theories to provide explanations for underlying psychological processes (Schaufeli and Taris, 2014). A fully supported integration can happen, however, only if future research also empirically tests the postulated mechanisms, including need satisfaction, energy depletion, and exhaustion alongside other resources that are subsequently generated by the postulated resource caravan passageway, as mediators.

The main strength of our study resides in the multilevel design, which takes into account the inherently nested structure of organizational phenomena and tackles the issue of non-independence of observations that can potentially bias estimates (Raudenbush and Bryk, 2002). However, a challenge in multi-level models is to find a large enough sample to reach predicting power at the higher levels. In this study, there is a relatively large sample size on both levels. Still, all departments are nested in one organization, which increases internal validity by eliminating potential differences regarding organizational procedures and rules that employees follow in different organizations when they face uncivil customers. However, the gain in internal validity inevitably comes with a cost in terms of external validity and generalizability of results, which warrants caution in applying our findings to other types of organizations and work contexts beyond the retail industry and shop workers.

Another limitation that warrants discussion ties back to the cross-sectional and self-reported nature of the data, limiting causal inference. Still, in a research domain where obtaining an adequate sample size on the higher levels is a challenge, longitudinal and experimental designs are challenging to implement, especially when the goal is to collect real-life field data

from employees, as we did in this study. Second, the participation climate measure can spur discussions regarding the level that the construct resides on. For the most part, there is no clear consensus regarding the level of the participation construct, nor explicit discussions about whether it can most accurately be observed and measured (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000). What we assert is that a formal structure and work practices need to be in place to encourage employees to participate, but based on the emergence literature, without the individual influence that the worker exerts in decisions and the communication processes through which this resource is shared among coworkers, participation climate is unlikely to form (Kozlowski et al., 2013). This close interplay between top-down and bottomup processes in organizations is complicated to capture and study. Some researchers might justly underline that measuring individual perceptions of participation and aggregating them to the unit level does not entirely capture the climate construct. However, the emergence literature is clear about the assertion that shared unit properties like climate can be constructed by composition models from data that is collected at the individual level. Sharedness within the unit can be evaluated through assessing within-, and between-unit variance and reliability (Kozlowski and Klein, 2000), which we carefully considered in this research. Future multi-level studies can better capture climate by more complex measures and composition models (i.e., referent-shift consensus models; Chan, 1998).

CONCLUSION

This article showed that offering supervisor support and creating a work-unit climate that encourages and values participation can aid employees in dealing with customer incivility. Most importantly, not only the one-to-one support that an employee receives from a direct supervisor can maintain job satisfaction but shared understanding that one can participate in decisions that are being made in the work unit can be a source of protective resources that help the employee cope better and be satisfied with a front-line job that exposes individuals to a considerable amount of perceived incivility.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: The raw data supporting the conclusion of this article is protected by GDPR and other data privacy reglementations and legislations in Belgium that apply to the Monitoring and Statistical Consulting Company which collected the data. Requests to access these datasets should be directed to ZP, zselyke.pap@e-uvt.ro or GN, Guy.Notelaers@uib.no.

ETHICS STATEMENT

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and

institutional requirements. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZP, DV, and GN contributed to the design, choice of theories, and elaboration of hypotheses. GN collected and cleaned the data. DV contributed to the construction of arguments and coordinated

REFERENCES

- Alola, U. V., Olugbade, O. A., Avci, T., and Öztüren, A. (2019). Customer incivility and employees' outcomes in the hotel: testing the mediating role of emotional exhaustion. *Tour. Manag. Perspect.* 29, 9–17. doi: 10.1016/j.tmp.2018.10.004
- Bakker, A. B., and Demerouti, E. (2017). Job demands-resources theory: taking stock and looking forward. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 22, 273–285. doi: 10.1037/ ocp0000056
- Bakker, A. B., and Demerouti, E. (2018). "Multiple levels in job demands-resources theory: implications for employee well-being and performance," in *Handbook* of Wellbeing, eds E. Diener, S. Oishi, and L. Tay (Salt Lake City, UT: DEF Publishers).
- Bliese, P. D. (2000). "Within-group agreement, non-independence, and reliability: implications for data aggregation and analysis," in *Multilevel Theory, Research, and Methods in Organizations: Foundations, Extensions, and New Directions,* eds K. J. Klein and S. W. J. Kozlowski (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 349–381.
- Bosak, J., Dawson, J., Flood, P., and Peccei, R. (2017). Employee involvement climate and climate strength. J. Org. Eff. 4, 18–38. doi: 10.1108/JOEPP-10-2016-0060
- Boukis, A., Koritos, C., Daunt, K. L., and Papastathopoulos, A. (2020). Effects of customer incivility on frontline employees and the moderating role of supervisor leadership style. *Tour. Manag.* 77:103997. doi: 10.1016/j.tourman. 2019.103997
- Brown, S. P., and Lam, S. K. (2008). A meta-analysis of relationships linking employee satisfaction to customer responses. J. Ret. 22, 243–255. doi: 10.1016/j. jretai.2008.06.001
- Carr, J. Z., Schmidt, A. M., Ford, J. K., and DeShon, R. P. (2003). Climate perceptions matter: a meta-analytic path analysis relating molar climate, cognitive and affective states, and individual level work outcomes. J. Appl. Psychol. 88, 605–619.
- Castanheira, F., and Chambel, M. J. (2010). Reducing burnout in call centers through HR practices. *Hum. Resour. Manage.* 49, 1047–1065. doi: 10.1002/hrm. 20393
- Chan, D. (1998). Functional relations among constructs in the same content domain at different levels of analysis: a typology of composition models. J. Appl. Psychol. 83, 234–246.
- Chen, J., Kang, H., Wang, Y., and Zhou, M. (2021). Thwarted psychological needs: the negative impact of customer mistreatment on service employees and the moderating role of empowerment HRM practices. *Pers. Rev.* (in press). doi: 10.1108/PR-06-2020-0489
- Cuadra-Peralta, A. A., Veloso-Besio, C., Iribaren, J., and Pinto, R. (2017). Intervention for supervisors, based on social skills and leadership, in order to improve organizational climate perception and organizational performance outcomes. J. Org. Change Manag. 30, 281–292. doi: 10.1108/JOCM-10-2016-0205
- Deci, E. L., Olafsen, A. H., and Ryan, R. M. (2017). Self-determination theory in work organizations: the state of a science. Ann. Rev. Org. Psychol. Org. Behav. 4, 19–43. doi: 10.1146/annurev-orgpsych-032516-11 3108
- Füllemann, D., Brauchli, R., Jenny, G. J., and Bauer, G. F. (2016). Individual and group-level job resources and their relationships with individual work engagement. J. Occup. Health 58, 255–268. doi: 10.1539/joh.15-0044-OA
- Gagné, M., and Deci, E. L. (2005). Self-determination theory and work motivation. *J. Org. Behav.* 26, 331–362. doi: 10.1002/job.322

the writing process. ZP did the analyses and produced the manuscript. Hence, all authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We acknowledge the contributions of specific colleagues, institutions, or agencies that aided the efforts of the authors.

- Han, S. J., Bonn, M. A., and Cho, M. (2016). The relationship between customer incivility, restaurant frontline service employee burnout and turnover intention. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 52, 97–106. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2015.10.002
- Hobfoll, S. E. (2011). Conservation of resource caravans and engaged settings. J. Occup. Org. Psychol. 84, 116–122. doi: 10.1111/j.2044-8325.2010.02016.x
- Hobfoll, S. E., Halbesleben, J., Neveu, J. P., and Westman, M. (2018). Conservation of resources in the organizational context: the reality of resources and their consequences. Ann. Rev. Org. Psychol. Org. Behav. 5, 103–128. doi: 10.1146/ annurev-orgpsych-032117-104640
- Hu, X., Zhan, Y., Garden, R., Wang, M., and Shi, J. (2018). Employees' reactions to customer mistreatment: the moderating role of human resource management practices. Work Stress 32, 49–67. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2017.1330836
- Jex, S. M., Sliter, M. T., and Britton, A. (2014). "Employee stress and well-being," in Oxford Handbook of Organizational Climate and Culture, ed. K. M. Barbera (Oxford: Oxford University Press), 177–196.
- Karatepe, O. M. (2011). Customer aggression, emotional exhaustion, and hotel employee outcomes: a study in the United Arab Emirates. J. Trav. Tour. Mark. 28, 279–295. doi: 10.1080/10548408.2011.562855
- Kern, J. H., and Grandey, A. A. (2009). Customer incivility as a social stressor: the role of race and racial identity for service employees. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 14, 46–57. doi: 10.1037/a0012684
- Kim, G., Ro, H., Hutchinson, J., and Kwun, D. (2014). The effect of jay-customer behaviors on employee job stress and job satisfaction. *Int. J. Hosp. Tour. Adm.* 15, 394–416. doi: 10.1080/15256480.2014.961797
- Koopmann, J., Wang, M., Liu, Y., and Song, Y. (2015). Customer mistreatment: a review of conceptualizations and a multi-level theoretical model. *Res. Occup. Stress Well.* 13, 33–79. doi: 10.1108/S1479-355520150000013002
- Kozlowski, S. W. J., and Klein, K. J. (2000). "A multi-level approach to theory and research," in *Multi-Level Theory, Research and Methods in Organizations: Foundations, Extensions, and New Directions*, eds K. J. Klein and S. W. Kozlowski (San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass), 3–90.
- Kozlowski, S. W., Chao, G. T., Grand, J. A., Braun, M. T., and Kuljanin, G. (2013). Advancing multi-level research design: capturing the dynamics of emergence. *Org. Res. Methods* 16, 581–615. doi: 10.1177/1094428113493119
- LeBreton, J. M., Burgess, J. R., Kaiser, R. B., Atchley, E. K., and James, L. R. (2003). The restriction of variance hypothesis and interrater reliability and agreement: are ratings from multiple sources really dissimilar? *Org. Res. Methods* 6, 80–128. doi: 10.1177/1094428102239427
- Lecca, L. I., Finstad, G. L., Traversini, V., Lulli, L. G., Gualco, B., and Taddei, G. (2020). The role of job support as a target for the management of work-related stress: the state of art. *Qual. Access. Success* 21, 152–158.
- Liaw, Y. J., Chi, N. W., and Chuang, A. (2010). Examining the mechanisms linking transformational leadership, employee customer orientation, and service performance: the mediating roles of perceived supervisor and co-worker support. J. Bus. Psychol. 25, 477–492. doi: 10.1007/s10869-009-9145-x
- Miller, K. I., and Monge, P. R. (1986). Participation, satisfaction, and productivity: a meta-analytic review. *Acad. Manag. J.* 29, 727–753. doi: 10.5465/255942
- Muthén, L. K., and Muthén, B. O. (2007). Mplus User Guide. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén.
- Nielsen, K., Nielsen, M. B., Ogbonnaya, C., Känsälä, M., Saari, E., and Isaksson, K. (2017). Workplace resources to improve both employee well-being and performance: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Work Stress* 31, 101–120. doi: 10.1080/02678373.2017.1304463
- Notelaers, G., Baillien, E., De Witte, H., Einarsen, S., and Vermunt, J. K. (2012). Testing the strain hypothesis of the demand control model to explain

severe bullying at work. *Econ. Ind. Dem.* 34, 69-87. doi: 10.1177/0143831x124 38742

- Notelaers, G., De Witte, H., Van Veldhoven, M. J. P. M., and Vermunt, J. K. (2007). Construction and validation of the short inventory to monitor psychosocial hazards. *Méd. Trav. Ergon.* 44:11.
- Pap, Z., Vîrgă, D., Notelaers, G., and Maricuțoiu, L. (2020). A multilevel model of job insecurity and engagement. J. Manag. Psychol. 35, 529–541. doi: 10.1108/ JMP-02-2020-0089
- Pereira, G. M., and Osburn, H. G. (2007). Effects of participation in decision making on performance and employee attitudes: a quality circles meta-analysis. *J. Bus. Psychol.* 22, 145–153.
- Pettijohn, C. E., Pettijohn, L. S., and Taylor, A. J. (2007). Does salesperson perception of the importance of sales skills improve sales performance, customer orientation, job satisfaction, and organizational commitment, and reduce turnover? J. Pers. Sell. Sales Manag. 27, 75–88. doi: 10.2753/PSS0885-3134270105
- Podsakoff, P. M., MacKenzie, S. B., Lee, J. Y., and Podsakoff, N. P. (2003). Common method biases in behavioral research: a critical review of the literature and recommended remedies. J. Appl. Psychol. 88, 879–903.
- Preacher, K. J., Curran, P. J., and Bauer, D. J. (2006). Computational tools for probing interactions in multiple linear regression, multi-level modeling, and latent curve analysis. *J. Educ. Behav. Stat.* 31, 437–448. doi: 10.3102/ 10769986031004437
- Raudenbush, S. W., and Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE.
- Satorra, A., and Bentler, P. M. (2010). Ensuring positiveness of the scaled difference chi-square test statistic. *Psychometrika* 75:243. doi: 10.1007/s11336-009-9135-y
- Schaufeli, W. B., and Taris, T. W. (2014). "A critical review of the job demandsresources model: implications for improving work and health," in *Bridging Occupational, Organizational and Public Health*, eds G. F. Bauer and O. Hamming (Dordrecht: Springer). doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-5640-3_4
- Schneider, B., Ehrhart, M. G., and Macey, W. H. (2011). "Perspectives on organizational climate and culture," in APA Handbooks in Psychology[®]. APA Handbook of Industrial and Organizational Psychology, Vol. 1. Building and Developing the Organization, ed. S. Zedeck (Washington, DC: American Psychological Association), 373–414.
- Schreurs, B., Van Emmerik, H., De Cuyper, N., Notelaers, G., and De Witte, H. (2011). Job demands-resources and early retirement intention: differences between blue-and white-collar workers. *Econ. Ind. Dem.* 32, 47–68. doi: 10. 1177/0143831X10365931
- Seki, K. S., Ishikawa, H., and Yamazaki, Y. (2016). "Participative climate as a key for creating healthy workplaces," in *Creating Healthy Workplaces*, eds C. Biron and R. J. Burke (Abingdon-on-Thames: Routledge), 209–228.

- Tesluk, P. E., Vance, R. J., and Mathieu, J. E. (1999). Examining employee involvement in the context of participative work environments. *Group Org. Manag.* 24, 271–299. doi: 10.1177/1059601199243003
- van Jaarsveld, D. D., Walker, D. D., and Skarlicki, D. P. (2010). The role of job demands and emotional exhaustion in the relationship between customer and employee incivility. J. Manag. 36, 1486–1504. doi: 10.1177/0149206310368998
- Wang, X., and Wang, H. (2017). How to survive mistreatment by customers. Int. J. Conf. Manag. 28, 464–482. doi: 10.1108/IJCMA-11-2016-0089
- Weber, W. G., Unterrainer, C., and Höge, T. (2020). Psychological research on organisational democracy: a meta-analysis of individual, organisational, and societal outcomes. *Appl. Psychol.* 69, 1009–1071. doi: 10.1111/apps.12205
- Wegge, J., Jeppesen, H. J., Weber, W. G., Pearce, C. L., Silva, S., Pundt, A., et al. (2010). Promoting work motivation in organizations: should employee involvement in organizational leadership become a new tool in the organizational psychologist's kit? J. Pers. Psychol. 9, 154–171. doi: 10.1027/1866-5888/a000025
- Wilson, N. L., and Holmvall, C. M. (2013). The development and validation of the Incivility from customers scale. J. Occup. Health Psychol. 18, 310–326. doi: 10.1037/a0032753
- Yang, F. X., and Lau, V. M. C. (2019). Evil customers, an angel boss and coopetitive co-workers: burnout of frontline employees. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 83, 1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2019.04.004
- Zhu, J. N., Lam, L. W., and Lai, J. Y. (2019). Returning good for evil: a study of customer incivility and extra-role customer service. *Int. J. Hosp. Manag.* 81, 65–72. doi: 10.1016/j.ijhm.2019. 03.004

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2021 Pap, Vîrgă and Notelaers. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Frontiers in Psychology

Paving the way for a greater understanding of human behavior

Discover the latest **Research Topics**



Contact us



